### /// MAGIX



All the content within the help, including texts, graphics, logos, icons, images, videos, audio files, and software, is protected by copyright and is the property of MAGIX Software GmbH or the respective authors. The reproduction, modification, distribution or publication of this content, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of MAGIX Software GmbH is expressly prohibited.

The information provided in this help has been compiled to the best of our knowledge and belief. However, no guarantee is given for the accuracy, completeness, or timeliness of the provided information.

All trademarks, logos, product names and named product names used in this help are the property of their respective owners and protected by copyright and other proprietary rights, including possible registered trademarks of the respective manufacturer.

Please note that privacy policies apply to the use of our software and this help. By using our software and reading this help, you agree to the Privacy Policy. The current privacy policy can be found on our website at https://www.magix.com/int/privacy/.

MAGIX is a registered trademark of MAGIX Software GmbH.

Sequoia and Hybrid Audio Engine are registered trademarks of MAGIX Software GmbH.

ASIO & VST are registered trademarks of Steinberg Media Technologies GmbH.

EUCON is a trademark of Avid Technology.

All other product names are trademarks of their respective owners.

élastique Pro V3 timestretching engine licensed from zplane.development.

Confidential unpublished works. Copyright 2024 Dolby Laboratories. All rights reserved.

This product uses MAGIX patented technology (USP 6,518,492) and MAGIX patent pending technology.

Licensed in part, pursuant to USP 5,801,694 and pending foreign counterparts thereof.

Copyright © MAGIX Software GmbH, 1990 - 2024. All rights reserved.

Version: 17.241114.1050

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

What's New in Sequoia 17?	25
Documentation and Help	
Help	27
Forum	27
PDF Documentation	27
Other Functions in the Help Menu	
Start Selection	
Contact	29
System Requirements	
File Formats	
Installation	31
Sequoia License activation	31
Activate license	32
Renew subscription	34
Moving and restoring licenses	35
Network licenses	35
Borrow licenses	
Notes	
Internet Access	
Restarting the CodeMeter Runtime Routines	
System Boot Problems on Certain Systems	
Offline Activation of Sequoia	
Activation on a Separate Computer with an Internet Connection	
Activation by Email, Fax or Post	
Overview of the Program Interface	
Menus	46
Toolbars	47
Upper Toolbar	48
Search Menu Commands and Help Topics	

Lower Toolbar	
Editing Toolbars	51
Creating Your Own Buttons on Toolbars	52
Docking	53
Docking Windows	
Docker	
Workspaces	
Track Editor	56
Main	57
MIDI	
Audio/EQ/Comments	
Track Head	60
Time Display	61
Transport Console	65
Project Window	
Mouse Modes	
Universal Mode	
Range Mode	72
Object Mode	72
Curve Mode	72
Object/Curve Mode	
Left/Right Mode	73
Cut Mode	73
Pitchshift/Timestretch Mode	74
Draw Volume Mode/Draw Automation Mode	74
Draw Wave Mode	
Spectral Mode	75
Scrubbing Mode (Pre-Listening)	
Zoom Mode	76
Color Mode	76
Temporarily Switching to Other Mouse Modes	

Snap	
Grid	
Displaying Project Windows	81
Configure Project Display	
Arrange Project Windows	
Recalculate Graphic	82
Project Playback	82
Simple Play and Stop	
Playback Range/Loop	
Other Playback Functions in the Play/Rec Menu	
Other Playback Modes in the Play/Rec Menu	86
Move Play Cursor	
Varipitch / Varispeed	
Scrubbing	90
Recording	
Controlling the Recording Levels	94
Recording Modes	95
Recording Options	
MIDI Recording	
Interleaved Recording	
Loop Recording	
Punch Recording	104
Recording Track Outputs	
Section, Scrolling and Zooming	
Zooming	
Zooming by Vertical Mouse Dragging	
Scrolling	
Storing and Recalling Position and Zoom Level	
Multiple Sections	112
Markers	
Setting Markers	

Coloring, Renaming or Deleting Markers	
Moving Markers	115
Other Actions with Markers	
Marker Manager	
Markers after Silence	117
Audio Marker	
Marker List Input	
Ranges	
Selecting and Editing Ranges with the Mouse	
Editing Ranges with the Keyboard	
Unselecting and Reactivating Ranges	
Finding Zero Crossings	
Other Menu Commands for Editing Ranges	
Copying, Pasting and Deleting ranges	
Saving and Restoring Ranges	
Range Mixdown	
Tracks	130
Inserting New Tracks	
Selecting and Moving Tracks	
Track Height	
Deleting Tracks	
Copying and Pasting Tracks	
Selecting Multiple Tracks - Grouping Track Controls	
Editing Track Properties with the Keyboard	
Hiding Tracks	
Folder Tracks	
Revolver Tracks	141
Take Lanes	
Track Freeze	143
Track Options Dialog	
Objects	

Selecting Objects	151
Selecting/Unselecting Single Objects	151
Selecting Multiple Objects/Unselecting Individual Objects/Inverting Selection	151
More Commands for Object Selection in the Menu Object > Select Objects	152
Object Handles	152
Object Handles with Multiple Selections/Object Groups	153
Grouping Objects	154
Grouping and Ungrouping	154
Temporarily Detaching Objects from a Group	155
Moving Objects	156
Moving with the Mouse	156
Moving to a Specified Position	156
Moving Objects Step by Step	157
Original Position	159
Moving Audio Material under the Object	160
Hotspot (snap point)	160
Locking Objects	161
Object Mode	161
Normal Object Mode	162
Lock All Audio in Time	162
Link until silence	162
Link One Track to the Right	162
Link All Tracks to the Right	162
Link one track to the left	162
Link all tracks to the left	162
Link Curves to Objects	163
Link Markers to Objects	163
Temporary Change to Other Object Modes	163
Splitting Objects	163
Splitting Objects Automatically	164
Healing/Unsplitting Objects	164

Copying, Pasting and Duplicating Objects	
Copying and Pasting Objects via the Clipboard	
Duplicating Objects	
Other Actions with Objects	
Renaming and coloring Objects	
Looping Objects	
Trimming Objects	
Muting Objects	
Freezing Objects	
Stereo Objects	
Gluing Objects Together	
Reverberation Tails in Objects	
Replacing an Audio File under the Object	
Removing Silence from Objects	
Editing the Audio Data of the Object	
Editing Objects Externally	
Crossfading Objects	
Auto Crossfade Mode	
Creating Crossfades Manually	
Asymmetric Crossfades	
Crossfade Editor	
Crossfade Position Settings	
Crossfade Editor Object Mode	
Fade Length/Overlap/Shape	
Playback Functions	
Snapshots	
Crossfade Presets	
Multitrack Crossfade	
Lock tracks/crossfades	
Multitrack Presets	
General Crossfade Functions	

Crossfade Editor Preferences	
Object editor	
Basic Functions	
Object Effects	
Fades	
Time/Pitch	
Source Destination Cut	
Source and Destination Tracks	
Commands for 4-point cut	
Set and delete In/Out points	
Cut Commands	
Zoom commands for the 4-point cut	
2 Point Cut	
3 Point Cut	
4 Point Cut	
Multi Source Session - S/D Cut with Multiple Projects	
Multi-Source Session – Creating a New Project	
Opening a New Source Project or Creating one Afterwards	
Selecting a Source for the Cut	
Source Destination Cut mode (S/D special mode)	
S/D Cut Settings	212
MuSyC - Multi-Synchronous Cut	
MuSyC Preparation	
MuSyC Reference Track	
Cutting with the MuSyC Overview Project	
MuSyC Menu Commands	219
MuSyC Take Assistant	
Manual Alignment	
MuSyC System Settings	
Effects	
Effect Slots	

Plug-in Browser	
Effect Dialog Windows	
Effect Chain Presets	
Effect Routing Dialog	
Using Celemony Melodyne and Other ARA2 Plug-ins	
Edit Audio Objects with Melodyne	
Audio to MIDI	
Detecting Object Tempo	
Notes	
External Hardware Effects Integration	
External FX Plug-in	
Export with External Effects	
Applying Effects Offline	
Help for the individual effects	
3D Reverb	
Advanced Dynamics	
BitMachine	
Brilliance Enhancer	
Delay	
DeClicker/DeCrackler	
DeClipper	
Settings and Controls	
DeHisser	
Graphic Display Description	
DeNoiser	
Distortion	
Dynamic Equalizer	
User Presets	
Settings	
EQ116	
Elastic Audio	

FFT Filter	
Remove DC Offset (Offline)	
Swap channels	
Loudness adjustment	
Multiband Dynamics	
Multiband Stereo Enhancer	
Normalize	
Invert phase	
Room Simulator	
Reverse	
Resampling/Timestretching/Pitchshifting	
Change Sample Rate (offline)	
sMax11	
Spectral Cleaning	
Vocoder	
Manager	
Clip Manager ("Clipstore")	
Creating Clips	
Importing Audio Files into the Clipstore	
Display of the Clip List	
Filtering the Clip List	
Sorting the Clip List	
Play Clips	
Insert audio files and clips into projects	
Save and load the Clip List as Clipstore Preset	
File Manager	
Preview Audio Files	
Load Files into Projects from the File Manager	
File Manager Options	
Object Manager	
Track Manager	

Marker manager	
Range Manager	
Take Manager	
Take Manager - Basics	
Selecting Takes	
Take Manager Options	
Takes in Multitrack Recordings	
Source Manager	
VST Instrument Manager	
Routing Manager	
Input	
Output	
AUX	
VCA	
Soundpool Manager	
Info manager	
Automation	
Creating Automation Curves	
Automation Context Menu or Menu Automation	
Ctrl + Alt + Control Element	
Automating the Master Track	
Display of the Automation Curves in the Project	
Display in Automation Lanes	
Display in the Tracks	
Deactivate Automation Curves	
Automation Modes	
Preview Automation (All Tracks)	
Automation Recording in Read Mode	
Set Parameter Value(s)	
Automation Panel	
Object Automation	

Editing Automation Curves	
Selecting a Curve for Editing	
Editing the Automation Curves with the Mouse	
Editing the Curve Shape	
Curve Generator	
Copying and Pasting Automation Curves	
Other Menu Commands for Editing Automation Curves	
Converting Object to Track Automation and vice versa	
Moving Automation Curves with Objects	
Project Tempo	
Constant Project Tempo	
Tempo Changes	
BPM Markers	
Grid Position Markers	
Grid Tapping	
Creating and Editing Tempo Markers with the Mouse	
Change Tempo Globally	
Time Signature Change	
Tempo Map Dialog	
Options in the Tempo Map Dialog	
Properties of Selected Markers	
Tempo Track	
Creating Tempo Tracks	
Editing the Tempo Track	
Tempo Track Head	
Musical Tempo Adjustment	
AudioWarp	
Metronome	
Create Click Track	
VST Plug-ins	
Installing VST Plug-ins	

Load Software Instruments	
Routing of Software Instruments	
Dialog Routing for Multichannel Software Instruments	
Editing the Routing of Software Instruments	
VST Plug-in Dialog	
Plug-in	
Programs	
Sidechain Input	
FX I/O Matrix	
MIDI Plug-ins	
Recording MIDI Plug-ins	
ReWire	
Deactivating VST Plug-ins	
Included Software Instruments	
MAGIX Synths	
Independence	
Revolta 2	
Vita Solo Instruments	
Vita	
Object Synths	
MIDI in Sequoia	
Creating, Importing or Recording MIDI Objects	
Creating a New MIDI Object	
Importing MIDI Files	
Recording MIDI	
Editing MIDI Objects	
Arrange MIDI objects	
MIDI Object Editor	
Extract Controller Curves from MIDI Object	
De-mixing MIDI Objects by MIDI Channels	
Applying MIDI Object and MIDI Track Effects	

MIDI Editor	
Navigating in the MIDI Editor	
Selecting Events	
Event Display	
Editing Selected Events	
Edit Fields	
Step Recording	
Cell Edit Mode	
Velocity mode	
Matrix Editor (Piano Roll)	
Drum Editor	
Controller Editor	
Event List	
MIDI Functions	
Quantize and Snap	
Score Editor	
Linear View Mode	
Page View Mode	
Editing MIDI Notes in the Linear View	
Adjusting and Optimizing the Score.	
Page Settings	
Printing Scores	
Score MusicXML Export	
MIDI Velocity Dynamics	
Use as a Track Effect	
Use as Offline Effect	
MPE	
MPE Track Mode	
The MIDI editor in MPE mode	
Master Channel	
VST3 Note Expressions	

Note Expression Map Editor	
A Note about MPE and Note Expressions	
Lyrics Markers	
MIDI Editor Keyboard Shortcuts	
File	
Edit	
MIDI Functions	
Options	
Mouse mode	
View	
More keyboard shortcuts	
Keyboard	
Arpeggiator	
MIDI Panic – All Notes Off	
Mixer	
Mixer Operation with Mouse and Keyboard	
Operation with the Mouse	
Keyboard Operation	
Select and Group Multiple Controls	
Drag & Drop	
Channel Strips	
In (Input)	511
AUX Sends/Outputs/Side Chains	
Plug-ins	512
Equalizer	
Main	
Control Behavior of the Volume Fader	
Input and output assignment	515
Applying Effects to Multiple Channels Simultaneously.	518
VCA Groups	518
Panorama Editor	

Additional Options for Track Panning	
MS-Processing	
Buses	
Creating AUX busses and Submix busses	
AUX routing	
AUX sends routing dialog	
Master section	
Mix to File	
MP3/AAC preview	
Global Mixer Functions	
Mixer Setup and Help	531
Sends on Fader	
Reset Mixer	
Loading and Saving Mixer Settings	532
Playback Functions	
View	
Solo and Monitor Control	
Global Solo Modes	
Global Solo modes without monitor bus	
Monitoring Section	
Input	
Volume/Output/Plugins	
Talkback	538
Keyboard shortcuts for the monitoring window	538
Monitoring section signal flow	
Mixer Signal Flow	
Surround Sound	
Create New Surround Project	
Converting an Existing Stereo VIP into a Surround Format	
Surround Settings	
Presets	

Channel Configuration	
LFE Filter	546
Track and Object based Surround Panning	546
Track based Surround Panning	546
Object-Based Surround Panning	
Surround Editor	548
Surround Panner VST Plug-ins	
Controls of the Surround Editor	548
Pan Setup	
Panorama Modes in the Surround Editor	552
Pan L/R: Stereo and Mono Signal Processing in Surround Projects	557
Working with Multiple Surround Masters.	
Surround Upmix or Downmix	
Automation in the Surround Editor	560
Recording Surround Automation	
Drawing Surround Automation Curves	561
Surround Effects	
Surround Control Groups	562
Surround Export	
Tools and Assistants	
Undo and Redo	565
Undo History	565
Visualization	
Customizing Visualizations	
Select output or input	
Reseting Visualization	
Peakmeter	
Loudness meter	571
Surround meter	576
Phase Oscilloscope (Vectorscope)	576
Correlation Meter	

Direction meter	
Spectroscope	
Spectrogram	
Bit Meter	
Oscilloscope	
Tuner	
Wave Editing	
Loading Audio Files for Audio Editing	
Destructive and Real-time Wave Editing	
Working in Wave Projects	
Converting Mono/Stereo	
Build Loop (offline)	
CDs and DVDs	586
Importing Audio CDs and DVDs	
Search Title Information Online	
Editing Track Indices and Metadata	
CD Arrangement Mode	
Create Audio CD	
DDP Export	
Create DVD-Audio	602
Batch Processing	
Jobs	605
Source files	
Effects	606
Target format	
Target Files	
Error Handling	610
Opening Batch Processing using the Command Line	610
Watch Folder	611
Synchronization	
Synchronisation Protocols	613

SMPTE settings	616
SMPTE Audio	616
Chase Lock Sync	617
Wordclock Sync	618
SMPTE Generator	618
MIDI Machine Control (MMC)	619
Backup Recording with Two Sequoia Systems	
Calculating Loudness Values	
Waveform Generator	623
WaveColor Audio Search	
Remix Agent - Tempo and Beat Detection	
Audio Quantize	626
Generate MIDI Triggers from Transients	
Video	630
Loading Video Files	630
Video window	630
Video Settings	631
Exporting Video Sound	
Impulse Response Extraction	632
Method	
Chirp Generation	
Reverberation of the Generated Chirp	634
Calculation of the Impulse Response from Original and Reverberated Chirp	636
Chirp Residuals in the Impulse Response	637
Tips and Tricks	
Auto Ducking	639
Transferring Edits	641
Auto-Conforming	
Options	647
Log file	647
Macro Functionality	647

Recording Macros	
Executing Macros	
Creating and Editing Macro Files in a Text Editor	
Executing Macros/Macro Commands at Project Markers	
Executing Macro commands in the Command Search Bar	
Aliases for Macro Commands	
Multi-user Operation/Administration	651
Set up multi-user operation	651
Create new user	652
User properties	
Change user password	
Activate/deactivate multi-user mode	
Set up multi-user operation on a network folder	
AdminCreator tool	
Saving, Importing and Exporting	
Creating New Projects	
Project Properties	
General Project Options	
Snap/Grid	
Mixer Setup	
Information	
Broadcast Wave Manager	
Loading and Saving Projects	
Loading Projects	671
Saving Projects	
Auto Save	
Edit Root VIP	673
Append Project	673
Loading Audio Files	
Loading Audio Files	
Importing Audio Files	

Transferring Metadata from Audio Files	
Options for Loading Audio Files	675
Audio Files with Different Sample Rate	
Loading Audio Files as Raw Data	
Exporting Audio	
Export to	
File naming	
Source	
Generate	
Options	
Presets	
Export List	
Other File Formats	
MIDI Files	
Sequoia Sessions	
AAF/OMF	
Edit Lists (*.edl)	
CD Projects	
Objects	
Obsolete Formats	
Clean up & Backup	
Collecting Project Files	
Deleting Unneeded Files	
Archiving Projects	
Program Preferences	
Resetting Program Settings to Default Settings	
System Options	
Audio Settings	
Audio Devices	
MIDI Settings	717
Hardware Controllers	

Metronome Options	
Recording	
Playback	722
Performance	724
Extended Buffer Settings	726
Program	727
General	
Undo	729
Object Lock Definitions	
Crossfade Editor	730
SD Cut / MuSyC	
Keyboard, Menu & Mouse	730
Keyboard / Menu	730
MIDI Editor/Crossfade Editor/Spectral Cleaning keys	733
Special Keys	
Mouse	
Mouse wheel	735
Design	735
Skin	735
Colors	736
Project Display	737
Effects	744
General	744
Dithering	745
Resampling/Freeze options	
VST/ReWire	
Automation	752
Destructive Effect Calculation	
Loudness	753
Loading and Saving Settings	753
Saving Settings	

Loading Settings	754
Remote Settings Path	755
External Tools	755

# WHAT'S NEW IN SEQUOIA 17?

- Revised design: A sleek, modern flat design ensures a modern visual language and fatigue-free working.
- New export dialog: The export dialog (2679) combines the functions in the menu File > Export... for file export to the various audio formats and the track bouncing dialog in a new, uniform dialog, with the option of exporting to several file formats simultaneously and generating file names from project properties (track names, object names, date etc...).
- **Revised comping**: Comping, i.e. combining sections from different recording takes, can now be carried out directly in the project instead of in a separate Take Composer window. For this purpose, there are the new take lanes (*P*142) below the tracks.
- **Auto-conforming** (*P*643): Transfer cuts from a video recording to a multitrack project using the EDL exchange format.
- AudioWarp (*P*386): Correct timings quickly and efficiently directly on the objects. To do this, warp markers can be set in audio objects, allowing the audio material to be grabbed and moved in order to correct irregularities in a recording or to change the rhythm of the audio material.
- Integration of external hardware: External hardware effects can be conveniently integrated into the Sequoia mixer as a latency-compensated ExternalFX plug-in (#235).
- **MIDI plug-in support**: It is now possible to use MIDI plug-ins (*7*401) such as sequencers, arpeggiators or chord utilities together with virtual instruments on one track.
- Marker tracks: For a better organization and overview, markers are now displayed in a separate track. The height of the track can be freely adjusted so that long marker names are no longer cut off by following markers. The markers (*7*113) can now also be colored, the Marker track head contains buttons for creating, coloring and locking markers.
- Revised dockable mixer: The Mixer (2506) can now be docked anywhere in the program window. The controls adapt dynamically to the available space. It is also possible to increase the height of the mixer window beyond the respective space requirements of the individual sections in the mixer channels, allowing the mixer channel faders to be extended.

- **Redesigned Track Editor**: The Track Editor (*7*56) has been reorganized for better clarity, the important controls for the AUX send, track effects and automation are now together in one section.
- **Dockable plug-in browser**: The plug-in browser (*P*226) is available in a simplified variant as a dockable window that can always remain open. It allows effects to be inserted into tracks and objects simply by dragging and dropping.
- **Help** and **manual** have been completely revised and updated.
- Selectable input of the visualization (*P*1): The input signal of the visualization can now be selected directly on the visualization window from a menu.
- PreSonus FaderPort support: Sequoia now natively supports PreSonus FaderPort V2 controllers and higher (FaderPortV2/FaderPortV2 8/FaderPortV2 16). For more information, see the document PreSonus FaderPort Support in Sequoia EN.pdf in the program folder.
- Softtube Console 1 support
- Many improvements for working in the project window:
  - New, meaningful mouse pointers for the editing areas in the track
  - Numerically adjustable volume directly at the object
  - optimized display of notes in a MIDI object
  - improved default settings for many display options
  - Color button in the object editor sets the object background color.
- VST3 plug-in compatibility and performance improvements.
- ARA2 plug-ins on the track: When loading ARA plug-ins into a track, the plug-in is automatically inserted into every object on the track. This also works with objects added to the track later, for example if an object from another track is moved to the track.
- Overload-proof float recording: If your recording device supports true 32bit float recording, clipping can no longer occur in **32bit (float)** recordings, as levels above OdB are also saved correctly in float format.

# DOCUMENTATION AND HELP

There is a variety of information available to assist you in working with **Sequoia**.

- Help features
- Online support area
- Online user forum
- PDF manual

## Help

The menu item Help (keyboard shortcut: F1) provides detailed explanations of a specific program function at many points in the program. Via menu Help > Help Index... you open the start page of the help in your standard browser. There you can jump to specific topics in the help using the table of contents on the left or search for information in the help using the search box in the upper right.

In addition, there's a search box ( $\mathbb{Z}49$ ) in the upper toolbar provides you with for finding menu items and help topics. You can also perform the search via menu **Help** > **Search...** or keyboard shortcut Ctrl + F.

 $\dot{Q}^{-}$  Using the search field in the program, you search only the keywords and headings of the help. If you do not find what you are looking for there, use the search box in the help itself to search the full text of the help.

## Forum

Also visit the Pro Audio user forum. Here, as a registered user, you enjoy the benefits and support of a professional forum community and can contribute yourself.

## **PDF** Documentation

All information from the help can also be found in a PDF document in the program folder of Sequoia. It can be opened via menu **Help** > Open Manual.... In the program folder there is also a document with the most important keyboard shortcuts to be printed.



**i Note**: In order to read the PDF documents, you will need to install Adobe Acrobat Reader or another PDF viewer on your system.

### **Other Functions in the Help Menu**

**About Sequoia...**: Opens the About Box with copyright notices. You will also find the exact version number of **Sequoia** and your serial number. You will need both if you need to contact customer service.

#### Start selection: see below

**Product registration**: If you have installed a demo version, you can register the full version via this menu item.

**Deactivate program license (P3)...**: The **Sequoia** license allows use on a maximum of 2 computers. You can use this command to deactivate the license on this computer to be able to use it on another computer.

**Download more instruments...**: Selecting this menu item will take you to the MAGIX website, where you can browse through the entire latest range of Vita Solo Instruments and download your desired additional instruments.

**MAGIX Auto-Update**: Use this to check whether product updates are available for **Sequoia**. If so, you can install them right away.

**Language**: Select the language of the program interface and help. **Sequoia** restarts in the updated language.

(i) Help is available in English and German only.

## **Start Selection**

Sequoia Pro 17	Audio: ASIO Voicemeeter AUX Virtual ASIO MIDI In: «ALL>
CREATE NEW	OPEN FILE
Multi-track project	Huti-track prgject
Way file	WAV fie
from template 16 MK 2 Audio Track 2 Track 2 AUX 2 Track CO MSF 4 Tracks Reporter 6 Stereo Track 5 . J Surround 8 MonoTrack 8 IIO 8 Stereo Track 16 IIO 8 Stereo Track 16 IIO 8 Stereo Track 10 0 B Tracks 2 Busses 2 AUX Surround 5 . 1 ITU + Stereo Downmix ITU (-3 dB) Surround 51 ITU	opened last (Z) EditorsumMetricket GemolyLentration GemolyLentration Gemole Biol And Choose VP CrifforgaramDatal, DemolyLentration GemolyLentration Biolecture CrifforgaramDatal, DemolyLina Instrument DemolyVita Instrument DemolyP CrifforgaramDatal, DemolyLina Instrument DemolyLina Instrument DemolyP CrifforgaramDatal, MACRXSequisia Pro 3 TB Betal_DemolySecre_ DemocylBetkeesVP CrifforgaramDatal, MACRXSequisia Pro 3 TB Betal_DemolySecre_ DemocylBetkeesVP CrifforgaramDatal, MACRXSequisia Pro 3 TB Betal_DemolySecre_ DemocylBetkeesVP CrifforgaramDatal, MACRXSequisia Pro 3 TB Betal_DemolySecre_ DemocylBetkeesVP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylSecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylSityIngetKeesVP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,DemolySecre_DemocylPutskyBanesXIP CrifforgaramDatal,
New to Sequoia Pro 17?	
Select preferences keep current settings   Losd now  Losd now  Losd now	Open demo song Open help

The start selection opens every time you start **Sequoia**, but can also be opened from the menu **Help**. It offers several quick options for working with **Sequoia**.

For checking purposes, at the top there is a display for the selected **driver**, the **Audio setup** button takes you to the corresponding settings dialog to change the audio driver, if necessary.

On the left side are options to create a new wave or multitrack project. For the latter, you can directly access the project templates from the New Virtual Project (2657) dialog.

On the right you can open existing projects, choosing from the list of recently edited projects.

Below are useful options for getting started working with Sequoia with access to the demo song and help.

In the drop-down menu **Select preferences** you can load a complete set of program settings. For more information on managing saved program settings, see Loading and saving settings (1753).

**i** Attention: To make it easier for program beginners to switch to **Sequoia**, the program behavior has been changed in some places compared to older versions of **Sequoia**, e.g. the mouse wheel in VIP no longer scrolls horizontally, but vertically. To make the keyboard and mouse behave exactly as in previous versions, select the entry Sequoia 13 Shortcuts/Scroll wheel behavior from the list. For more information, see Keyboard Shortcuts and Edit Menu (\$730) in the Mouse Wheel section.

If you do not want the startup selection dialog to be displayed at every startup, uncheck the Always show at startup option at the very bottom.

## Contact

### Support

Registered users get technical support. For more information, visit our online support area.

#### Sales

If you have questions regarding licensing and upgrades/crossgrades please contact our Sales Department:

**Tel**. +49 (0) 5741-3455-25

Fax +49 (0) 5741 310 768

**Email**: sequoia@magix.net

# SYSTEM REQUIREMENTS

#### Supported operating systems

Microsoft Windows 10 or 11, 64-bit

#### Minimum system requirements

- **Processor**: 2 GHz and higher
- **RAM**: 8 GB
- **Screen resolution**: min. 1280 x 1024 pixels, 2nd monitor recommended.
- **Hard disk**: Memory requirement 2 GB with minimal installation, 90 GB with Independence Sampler Content. SSD recommended.
- Internet connection: Required for registration, activation, downloading additional program content and individual program functions.
- **Audio playback**: Sound card (ASIO-capable sound card recommended).
- **Optional**: CD/DVD recorder, MIDI interface

## **File Formats**

#### Import formats

**Audio**: WAV, Broadcast WAV, Sound Designer II, AAC, AIFF, DDP, FLAC MP3, MPEG, MUS, OGG, SD2, WMA

**Video**: DV-AVI, MPEG-1, MPEG-2, MPEG-4, H.264, HDV HD1, HDV HD2, MXF, MXV, DVCPRO1, AVC-Intra1, QuickTime, WMV(HD)

Image: JPEG, BMP

Additional: dira!Highlander, DIGISPOT, MID, GM, GS, XG, CD-A, DVD-A, CD/DVD data, AAF

#### Export formats

**Audio**: WAV, Broadcast WAV, AAC, AIFF, DDP, FLAC, MP3 , MPEG, MUS, OGG, WMA **Video**: MPEG-2, DV-AVI, QuickTime MOV, MXV

Additional: dira!Highlander, DIGISPOT, MID, CD-A, DVD-A, CD/DVD data, AAF

# INSTALLATION

- 1. If you have an installation DVD: Insert it into the DVD drive.
  - The installation program normally starts up automatically in Windows. If it does not, open Explorer and click the letter of the DVD drive. Double-click to start "start.exe". In the installation screen, you can learn about the contents of the installation DVD, visit our website, or install additional programs such as CodeMeter RuntimeTo manage the license and check its validity by Sequoia, the software Code Meter Runtime with the included CodeMeter Control Center is also required. It is automatically installed together with Sequoia. (#32).
- 2. If you have purchased a download version, run the downloaded installer.
- 3. You can select the language in which you want to install Sequoia.

**i** The program documentation is only available in German and English.

- 4. To start the installation of Sequoia click on "Install program" > "Sequoia".
- 5. Follow the instructions and click "Next" each time. If you choose the "User defined" installation style, you can also specify the destination folder for the program folder and select additional components for installation. In the selection screen, you will see the total required memory for the installation.
- 6. After all files have been copied to the hard drive, confirm the end of the installation by clicking on "Finish".

After the initial installation, you can start the program via the Windows "Start" menu or the desktop link.

After installation, you can add or remove components by starting this installation program again and selecting "Custom" to select or deselect the respective components.

▲ For **Sequoia** to start, a valid license must be present on the computer or on a connected dongle. For more information on this, read the section License Management (#31).

# Sequoia License activation

To start **Sequoia** you need a valid license. This license can either be stored locally on the computer or on a dongle for mobile use on different computers. Depending on the scope of the license, other deployment models are also possible, such as deploying the license on a license server in the local network or lending licenses over a specified period of time.

After purchase, the licenses are made available in a web depot. Activation and transfer to your computer or into a dongle is done via the Program **License Central**. Other administrative

operations, such as moving or renewing licenses, can be performed on your Web Depot website.

To manage the license and check its validity by Sequoia, the software Code Meter Runtime with the included CodeMeter Control Center is also required. It is automatically installed together with Sequoia.

If necessary, start the CodeMeter Control Center program via Windows Start > CodeMeter >

**CodeMeter Control Center**. You can access the interface of the program via the tray icon .

Note: You need version 6.90 of CodeMeter Runtime. License activation does not work with older versions! This version is included in the Sequoia installation program.

### **Activate license**

SEQUOIA	SEQUOIA
LICENSE CENTRAL	LICENSE CENTRAL
Please select one of the following options: Activate license Manage / update license Bug: Sequoia	Trive 20000X-00000X-00000X-00000X Back Continue
Help NAVGRI Software GmbH 2000-2022 v 1.0.1	Help MAGX Software GmbH 2000-2022 + 1.0.1

When **Sequoia** is started, the program **License Central** opens.

Click Activate License . After purchasing their license, you had received an email with a ticket number via the email address provided during registration. Now enter this ticket number here and click on Continue.

(1) If your ticket is a link to your web depot's website, in the form https://depot.license-central.magix.com/get.php?id=XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX-XXXXX, the string at the end is your individual ticket.

You can now transfer this license either to a local file on the computer or to a CodeMeter dongle.

i) For the license transfer to a dongle you need a CodeMeter dongle of the 3rd generation.





Dongles of the 1st and 2nd generation - not suitable

3rd generation dongle - suitable

Also 3rd generation dongles that shipped with a given product code along with an older version of Sequoia will not work with the new licensing system.

Both options are referred to by the CodeMeter licensing system as **CmContainer**. You can think of the local container file as a kind of virtual dongle.



Select the container type. The license manager automatically detects connected CmContainers (dongle or file) via the CodeMeter Runtime program. With Activate now Sequoia transfers the license there.

🚺 To transfer the license from the Web Depot to a local CmContainer, the computer on which you want to use **Sequoia** must be connected to the Internet at least for this transfer. If this is not possible, you can transfer the license to a CodeMeter dongle on another computer, which you can then use on the (offline) computer with **Sequoia**. Or you can use the **file-based license** transfer.

If the license transfer was successful, the license is displayed in the CodeMeter Control Center.

CodeMeter Kontrollzentrum			-		×
Datei Aktion Ansicht Hilfe					
Lizenz Ereignisse					
Magix CmActLicense Firm Coc	Name:	Magix CmActLicense Firm Code			
	Serien-Nr.:	1. A.			
	Version:	CmActLicense 3.00			
	Status:	C Lizenz aktiviert			
	Lizenzaktualisierung	Lizenz löschen			
Der CodeHeter-Dienst wird ausgeführt.					min

### **Renew subscription**

If you purchased a license as a subscription, the license must be renewed at the end of each billing period. To do this, open the program **License Central** and select **Manage/Update License** and then **Auto Update**.



**License Central** checks online if the subscription is still valid and updates the local license to the next expiration date.

() You will be warned in time a few days before the subscription expires when you start **Sequoia**.

### Moving and restoring licenses

#### Via Manage/Update License and Go to web

**depot** you get to the overview of your licenses in your web depot.



ing Licensee			
Name	Activated On	CmContainer	Status
(Dev) Seq16 intern (License Quantity: 1)	-		Available
(Dev) Seq16 intern (License Quantity: 1)	2022-05-05 17:27:10	<ul> <li>130-2652172425 (MX-PC-10433)</li> </ul>	Activated
Activate Licenses	Re-Host Licenses	Restore Licenses	

A license cannot be copied, but only transferred between different CmContainers. It can only exist exactly once, either in the Web Depot or in exactly one CmContainer.

Use **Move Licenses** to transfer a license from a CmContainer back to the Web Depot. It can then be moved again into another CmContainer on another computer or into a dongle.

If a computer or dongle is broken or lost and a CmContainer is no longer usable, the license is not lost. You can transfer it again into a CmContainer with **Restore License**. In this case, it must be ensured that the lost container really no longer exists. It will be marked as invalid and cannot and must not be used again.

For example, if a lost dongle is found again after the license has been restored in another CmContainer and you try to use this dongle with the same license, it will be permanently locked. In this case contact the support, you will have to send in the dongle for reprogramming.

### **Network licenses**

My License

If your purchased license includes the name suffix *net license*, you can make the licenses stored in a CmContainer (local file or dongle) available to other computers in the same local network. Then a CmContainer with the necessary licenses has to be connected on only one computer.

These are so-called "floating" licenses. This means that you can run any number of installations on the network, but only as many of them can be used simultaneously as there are licenses in the container.

#### Running CmContainer as CodeMeter Server

- Install a current CodeMeter Runtime on a network server or on a PC (Windows, Linux, Mac OS X) that is available in the network. If there is a Sequoia installation on the computer in question, the CodeMeter Runtime is already installed.
- 2. Transfer Transfer the licenses to a CmContainer on this computer.
- Start the CodeMeter Control Center with Windows Start > CodeMeter > CodeMeter
   Control Center. Open the program via the tray icon
- 4. Click **WebAdmin** in the lower right corner. Your Internet browser opens with the web interface of the CodeMeter Control Center.
- In the WebAdmin menu, go to Settings > Server > Server Access and click near Network Server on Enable. At Network Port the network port used for client/server communication is displayed.

Dashboard	Container 🗸	License Monitorir	ng v 🛛 Dia	gnosis ~	Configuration ~	Info
Server Co	onfiguration Se	rver Access				
Server	Access Lic	ense Access Permi	ssions	License Tr	ansfer Configuration	on
Netwo	ork Server—					
O Disa	ble					
<ul> <li>Enat</li> </ul>	ole					
Net	work Port:	22350				
CmWA	N Server					
<ul> <li>Disa</li> </ul>	ble					
O Enab	ole					
				A	pply Restore D	efaults

▲ Network communication via this port must not be blocked by the firewall. If the local firewall detects network communication through this port, the firewall may display a warning message. In this case, click on "Allow access" so that a corresponding rule is created in the firewall.

6. Click the **Apply** button. The server is now ready.

**Note**: In the WebAdmin under **Container** all existing CmContainers are listed. Click on a container to view your available license count.
#### Use of the program on the client computers

- 1. Install Sequoia on the client machines.
- 2. Check if the current CodeMeter Runtime is installed and running on the client machines.
- 3. Launch **Sequoia** as usual. The server with the network licenses is automatically found in the network and **Sequoia** starts as long as the number of available licenses is not exhausted.
- 4. If the license server was not found, check the settings of your firewall. If you have any problems, deactivate your firewall as a test. If there are several license servers installed in the network, you can change the license server used at the very bottom of the WebAdmin.



### **Borrow licenses**

If you run a license server with a CmContainer that contains a multi-user license, the clients must be able to access this server over the network to use these licenses. If clients are not on the network, you cannot access the licenses. For this case there are licenses with a special property: it is possible to borrow these licenses to the client for a certain period of time. During this period, the client computer therefore no longer needs to access the license server because it can use the locally stored license.

If you have such licenses, you can use the program Sequoia License Manager for this purpose.

sme	Server	CinContainer	Expires	Type	Total	Borowed	Free	U
Sequoia 16 Enterprise (6001152:1048576)	-local -	130-2652172425	-	Standard License	1	0	1	0
Seguola 16 Enterprise (6001152:1048576)	-local -	130-2652172425		Standard License	1	0	0	1
(6001152:1048576)	- local -	130-2652172425	- expired -	Standard License	0	0	0	0
Sequoia 16 Enterprise (6001152:1048576)	<li>local -</li>	130-3340799583		Borrow Server	10	0	10	C

- Start the Sequoia License Manager program on the client without permanent network access. He must have access to both the CmContainer with the multi-user license (on a dongle or a license server) and the container to which the license is to be borrowed, typically a local CmContainer on this machine.
- 2. Select the container with the license from the list. In the column **Type** the container must be marked with **Borrow Server**.

- 3. Select Borrow License and enter the security password.
- **4**. Select the target container and enter the duration of the rental period. Click **OK** to transfer the license to the target container.
- 5. The computer can now use **Sequoia** for the duration of the rental period. After this period the license is no longer usable. It is automatically returned as soon as the computer has access again to the container from which the license was lent.
- *i* For more information on acquiring appropriate licenses, License Manager and security password, please contact *Sequoia* Sales.

## Notes

## **Internet Access**

Communication with the CodeMeter stick or the local license container is done using network components. For this reason, the TCP/IP protocol must be installed and access to the localhost (IP address 127.0.0.1) must be permitted. An actual Internet connection will not be established. However, access to the CodeMeter stick must not be blocked by a firewall.

**i** Note: Turn your firewall off if you are experiencing problems.

## **Restarting the CodeMeter Runtime Routines**

Should access to the CodeMeter stick be blocked on startup or while the program is running, restarting the CodeMeter Runtime may help. To do this, start the **CodeMeter Control Center** and execute the **Restart CodeMeter service** command in the **Action** menu. This restart of the CodeMeter service can be made even while the program is running.

## System Boot Problems on Certain Systems

When the BIOS tries to boot from the CodeMeter stick, some systems may stall while the system is booting without displaying an error message. If this happens, you can either remove the CodeMeter stick or deactivate the booting of USB devices in the system BIOS.

**(i)** Note: If you experience recurring problems with your dongle please contact our Support (729).

# **Offline Activation of Sequoia**

You can also activate your program on a different computer with an Internet connection if your studio PC does not have an Internet connection.

Activation can even be completed by fax, email or by filling out the form provided by the corresponding button, printing it, and sending it to the MAGIX address indicated.

#### Activation on a Separate Computer with an Internet Connection

You can also activate your program on a different computer with an Internet connection if your studio PC does not have an Internet connection.

1. Insert your dongle and start the program. After starting up the program an activation dialog will appear.

Willkommen!	
Seriennummer eingeben	Sie finden die Seriennummer auf der Rückseite der CD/DVD - Tasche oder sie wurde ihnen per E-Mail übermitteit (Downloadversion).
Seriennummer: Bitte ohne Bindestriche eingeben	P2.
E-Mail-Adresse: Um das Programm zu registrieren	
	Dongle online freischalten
I Programm offline freischalten	
	Beenden

- 2. Enter your serial number and a valid e-mail address in the start dialog.
- **3.** Select "Activate program offline", click the "Activate dongle offline" in the following dialog and then "Open form".

Activate offline	
	Activate the dongle using another computer that is connected to the Internet or fill in the form and send it by email or post.
	Open form
Enter activation code	
	Close

In the form, you will see the serial number and the ComputerID (=usercode).

Activation without direct If you don't have direct using the text documen	ect internet access - using the Service Center access to the internet you can activate using another computer. You can do this t, it contains your personal serial number and unique usercode (computer ID).
Serial number:	
Email address:	
ComputerID:	

4. Now go to www.magix-audio.com via your Internet computer and log into the support area. If you do not yet have a user account, you can create an account.

MAGIX MAGIX Pro Audio - Service Center
Register
Welcome!
If you already have a login, then you can use that information. Otherwise, you have the option to create your own login.
O I already have a login
Email address:
Password:
I don't have any login data, and I would like to register
To continue, please click on the "Continue" button.
Continue

5. After logging in select "Register product".

MAGIX MAGIX Pro Audio - Service Center
User data
Change your user data
My products
An overview of your registered products
ran or on the register ou production
Downloads
Available downloads
Register product
Register a new product here
Contact
Requests to the support team
Neuralattar
Receive the newsletter
Logout
Log out of the Service Center

6. Enter your serial number and click on "Check registration".

MAGIX MAGIX Pro Audio - Service Center
Register product
To register your product, please enter the serial number
This can be found on the back of the product box the manual or on the program CD
or its case. If you purchased a download version it will be in your confirmation email.
Please also indicate where you bought it and the date of purchase.
Sarial number
vena numver.
Purchase location:
Purchase date: 20 🗸 03 🖌 2017 🗸
To continue registering the product, please click on "Check registration".
Cancel Check registration

- 7. Then select your program version and click "Complete registration".
- 8. Click on "My products" in the start dialog of the Service Center.

MAGIX MAGIX Pr	o Audio - Service Center	
My products		Back
You have registered the fol	owing products with us.	
Sequoia 14 Registration date: 10/ Serial number:	01/2017 ( <u>Create a new activation</u> )	
Register Guitar Center proc	<u>uet</u>	
		Back to overview

This will take you to an overview of your registered products.

**9.** Now click on the option "Create new activation" behind the recently registered product and enter your usercode (ComputerID) from the form.

		0.80	
ser code:			
ser code:			

10. When you click on "Continue" you'll see an activation which is also sent by email.



**11.** Return to the activation code dialog on your studio computer and enter the activation code in the corresponding field. Confirm the activation process by clicking "Unlock program".

Activate offline		
Activate dongle offline		
Enter activation code	Enter the activation code that you have received (normally by email), and start the program.	
Activation code: Please enter without dashes	Seq12C-	\$
	Close	Γ

This completes the registration of **Sequoia**. You now have unlimited use of the program.

### Activation by Email, Fax or Post

1. Insert your dongle and start the program. After starting up the program an activation dialog will appear.

Welcome!		
Activate with serial number	The serial number will be in your purchase confirmat email, or on the back of the CD case if you ordered a t version.	ion CD
Serial number: Dashes are added automatically	P	- <b>~</b>
Email address: To register the program		- ~
	Activate dongle online	
	Exit prog	Iram

- 2. Enter your serial number and a valid e-mail address in the start dialog.
- **3.** Select "Activate program offline", click the "Activate dongle offline" in the following dialog and then "Open form".

Activate the dongle using another computer that is connected to the Internet or fill in the form and send it by email or post.
Open form
Enter the activation code that you received (by telephone or support ticket), to start the program.
Close

In the open form, you will see the serial number and the ComputerID (=usercode).

<u>Activation without direct internet access - using the Service Center</u> If you don't have direct access to the internet you can activate using another computer. You can do this using the text document, it contains your personal serial number and unique usercode (computer ID).					
Serial number:					
Email address:					
ComputerID:					

4. Fill out this form and mail, fax or email it to the stated address.

<u>Activation without direct internet access - by email/ post/fax</u> Activation by email/post/fax is an alternative to activation without a direct internet connection using the Service Center. Please fill in the form below completely. When you're finished, add as an attachment and email to upgrade@magix.net

Or print it out and send to: - Fax: + 49 (0)5741 / 310768 - Post : MAGIX AG, Borsigstraße 24, D-32312 Lübbecke, GERMANY

MAGIX will send you the activation code as soon as possible.

# **OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAM INTERFACE**



- **Title bar**: The title bar at the top of the program window contains the program name as well as the name, sample rate and length of the current project.
- **Menu bar**: The menus are located directly below the title bar. Each menu item can be assigned a keyboard shortcut ( $\sqrt[2]{730}$ ).

1

2

3

- **Toolbars**: The two toolbars ( $\nearrow$ 47) contain buttons that can be used to execute commands or toggle functions.
  - -☆- By right-clicking on an icon you can customize the toolbars (*№*51) by removing buttons or adding other buttons.
- Grid bar, range marker track and marker track: Marker track and range marker track (*P*113) are located above the first track of the arranger. Markers can be positioned there. Above it is the grid bar that displays the project time in the selected unit of measurement. Ranges can also be selected here.
- **5 Arranger:** This is where the audio and MIDI objects are arranged on the tracks of the project. Around it there are scroll bars and other controls to move (*P*106) the visible section of the project in the arranger.

6 **Track head**: The track head contains all the controls for a track, such as mute and solo functions or recording activation. At higher vertical zoom levels, some elements are hidden. More information about the individual controls of the track head can be found under Track head ( $\nearrow$ 60).

Arranger, track heads, grid and marker bar together form a **Project window**. Several project windows can be open at the same time.

Track Editor: The Track Editor window is opened by default on the far left of the track heads. It contains controls for all properties of the selected track. More information about the individual controls can be found under Track Editor (256).

Preset **Docker** (754) for various windows: managers, visualization, time display, keyboard, object editor and MIDI editor. Each window in Sequoia can be detached from a Docker by dragging its title bar and freely positioned or docked at a different position. The + button (far right) can be used to open additional windows.

 $\dot{Q}$ - The project window itself is also a docking area where you can place any windows. New project windows are opened by default in this docking area (project dock).

- **Transport console** (*P*65).
- **Status display**: The status display at the bottom of the program window shows information about CPU usage, latency, buffers as well as the progress of longer calculations. Information about commands selected in the menu is also displayed.

 $\dot{\dot{a}}$  For a little more space on the screen, the status display can be hidden via menu View > Toolbars

## Menus

7

8

9

 $\mathbf{1}$ 

In the menus at the top of the program window there are commands to control Sequoia. The vast majority of program functions can be operated more quickly using the controls and windows directly on the program interface of **Sequoia**. Nevertheless, all program functions are also located in the menus, because the menu entries serve as a basis for the definition of keyboard shortcuts (₽730).

(i) The new, revised help does not explain all menu items again in detail in a menu reference, but refers to the corresponding menu items in the description of the program functions. If you are looking for a specific menu item, use the search field ( $\mathbb{P}49$ ) in the upper toolbar. Help for a specific menu item or topic can also be found directly in the help file using the full text search.

Therefore, here is only a brief overview of the contents of the menus:

- **File**: In this menu you will find all commands for importing and exporting files, loading and saving projects and configuring **Sequoia**.
- **Edit**: Here you can find all the commands for range selection and editing functions related to ranges, as well as other assistants for editing projects.
- **Track**: Here are all the commands related to the tracks and the mixer.
- **Object**: All commands for cutting, moving and editing objects are located in this menu.
- **Playback**: All functions related to playback and recording, to positioning the play cursor and to setting and navigating with markers can be found here.
- **Automation**: This menu contains all commands for automation.
- Effects: Use the menu items in this menu to apply the corresponding effects to selected objects.

• Note: The effects are calculated destructively (*№*237) if you activate the option **Apply** effects offline at the very bottom of the menu.

- **CD/DVD**: All functions related to burning CDs and DVDs and collecting and editing metadata can be found in this menu.
- **View**: This menu contains all the view options and commands to show or hide the individual managers and windows and to control the project display.
- **Help**: Here are all commands for program help, unlocking and registration, program update and additional content.

For a better overview, not used menu items can be hidden. If the help mentions menu items that you cannot find in the program, they are probably hidden. Hiding/displaying menu items is also done in the keyboard shortcuts/menu (₹730) dialog in the program preferences.

# Toolbars

Toolbars offer quick access to the most important functions in the program.

By right-clicking a button, you can display the buttons as large icons, toggle the skin (abla735), and customize (abla51) or reset the toolbars.



## **Upper Toolbar**

The following overview shows the default toolbar in the workspace (256) **Default**.

00	B . [Q, ] × ∞ = =   D. C   ½ ½   +
• × 18 19	Image: Weak     Image: Weak     Image: Qeak     Image: Qeak     Image: Qeak       20     21     22     23     24     25
1	New Virtual Project
2	Load project
8	Load audio file
4	Saving and Exporting
6	Mouse mode (⊉68)
6	Object mode (161)
7	Auto Crossfade On/Off
8	Crossfade Editor (₽177)
9	Group
1	Ungroup
1	Undo/Redo

12	Continuous playback while editing (187)
ß	Playback and editing independent of recordingPlayback & Editing independent of Recording (1995)
14	Play
15	Play into the loop
16	Play as loop
Ð	Stop
18	Record
19	Punch RecordingPunch Recording (2104)
20	Recording optionsRecording Options (⊉96)
21	Metronome (₱388) on/off
22	Snap (≉78) on/off
23	Snap menu, see Snap (⊉78)
24	Quantization menu
25	Search menu commands and help topics (

## Search Menu Commands and Help Topics

Sequoia provides an input field for finding menu commands and help topics.



Click in the search field or use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + F** and enter a search term. Up to five menu commands containing the searched term and the corresponding path in the menu are displayed as well as corresponding help topics.



You can execute the commands in the search results directly, if you select a help topic, the help with this topic will be opened.

-☆- You can also use the search field to search for track and object names or to execute specific commands! For more information, see Macro functionality (↗647).

## Lower Toolbar





## **Editing Toolbars**

You can customize the toolbars to your requirements by adding icons, changing their positions or removing the ones you don't need. To do this, right-click to open the context menu and select the option **Edit Toolbars**.

This opens the **Edit Toolbars** window which contains all of the available icons.



Icons that are already on the toolbars are grayed out. The others you can drag with the mouse to one of the toolbars to add them to the bar.

To remove an icon from a toolbar simply drag it off. To change the arrangement of the icons, drag them to the desired position on the bar.

i As long as the **Edit Toolbars** window is open, clicking on the icons will not trigger any function in the program to avoid unwanted changes in the project.

 $\dot{\phi}$  - **Tip**: You can see the respective functions of these additional buttons best via the tooltips. A tooltip is displayed when you move the mouse pointer and hold it over a button in the dialog box.

## **Creating Your Own Buttons on Toolbars**

You can create a button for each menu command from **Sequoia**.

- 1. Click on the **Custom** button. **Custom** The dialog **Customize toolbar icons** opens.
- In the dialog, click on Add new below Icon. Choose an icon to be displayed on the button.



3. Under **Color** you set the color of the symbol. Click in the column **function** to open the complete main menu of **Sequoia**. Select the menu command to be executed with the button.

	Icon	Color	Function		delete	atio
1	€					
			File	•		
2	Add new		Edit	•		
			Ţrack	•	Insert new	Tracks
			ဖာာject	•	Conv Track	(5)
			Play / Rec	•	copy nace	(3)
			Play / Nec	·	Paste Track	(s)

- **4**. For another button, click on **Add new** in the next line. To delete a button, click the field in the column **Delete** in the corresponding row.
- 5. After closing the dialog, the new buttons are available in the Button Palette and can be added to the toolbars as described above.

# Docking

Using docking, you arrange the windows of **Sequoia** on the program interface.

Each window (projects, manager, visualization, object editor, MIDI editor...) can exist on the surface as undocked ("floating") or docked. Undocked windows can be placed on top of other windows, resized as desired and feature a title bar. Docked windows share a screen area with other windows.

### **Docking Windows**

You can dock undocked windows by grabbing them in the title bar and moving them to the designated areas on or in other windows. While moving, arrow icons will appear on the surface of the corresponding target window to show the possible docking positions.



The docking areas have the following meaning:

Dragging on one of the outer arrows will dock the window outside of the existing windows, thus creating a whole new docking area.



Dragging on one of the inner arrows will dock the window in an existing docking area, the two windows will then share the screen space previously occupied by the window alone.

JOIL OF ALL AND ALL AN	2023 CT CLVW			x 2 MR 000	1 1 A Mart 1 (1000
विभिन्नमा समिति	CILLINGANOR				
The second					
ALC: NO. OF TAXABLE PARTY.	397.996 Lan 301.679 End	1.00		CKC	10 A.
Tanpot Descript Diples	Spores Sales Marker	Nexts WD-Editor	V51 V40	Vauelsierung x	
	in in in	-it /a	+	4 4	
	• • • • • • • • •	🖕 🗢 (e), = Dijadel			
idule (055sunde)'Wry! Name SFX radsumertain	2 (0,36,36,34/aug	Bre: Grile     rp.3     7:004.40     rp.     rp.0     rp.0	Outure         Limps           1.12,2006         9.863.162           0.84,2012         2.706.417           0.84,2012         1.362.984	Auflinung Steen Samplent 25548t/s Same 44100 Hz 9548t/s Same 44100 Hz	e   Treeters

When dragging on the circle in the center, the windows are placed on top of each other. They now occupy the screen area together and are grouped in a **Docker**.

2011-01-01/19 2023-03-02.10**	X 2001EHELVIP		•					
N 5 M	a 😴 (201.0	1,000,000	.1.500.000	12,000,000	12 500 500	12,000,000	12.505.000	
initian nii	CILLING STATE				Contraction Contractions	-		
								1
	Pos 307.994 Lor	381.679 0.54	1.000-054			C	83 <b>%</b> 14	
Tangot Diference 1	Sparter Sparen	Nation Walker	Beache	WD-1352 125	-	Vauelsierung x	_	7
								-
jackin (20Soundo)/Wryl Norae SFX indoursertain		COLUMN TRANSPORT	0	7:004 KB 11:12 200 750 KB 01:04 201	Linge A	diaung Steens   Sam Siribiti Stares 4410 Siribiti Stares 4410	plenate   Timestany O Hz O Hz	
_rtaries		The second set		011 MB 01.04.301	c. 1.962.994 9	indica daran 4410	o na	

You can also place and arrange new windows inside a docker itself. To do this, simply move the respective window using the mouse onto one of the arrow symbols in the docker.

E	0114141.17	202	01-02.119*	1 202	CHOLYP		•						1
28	5 M				· 1565.00	0 1000.0	10 11.000	12 888	12 500 30	0.000.0	42.50	000	
	÷¥.	•	**										Ī
1	(n Mare	•			******			1211					
		•	w.w										l
		•											
•				NCEEDIN Pag	397.994 Lan	311.679 0	f 1.003.054				001 5		
	нон (ф. ф.	anara A		1944 19	Spuren ja	Talas Marka St	Beache Beache	wexaw A	101 M	Vaulaeuro	×		
		-m 👅	11 -		) = <b>0</b>	nie Med	s. 7 👷						
		nde) Vinyl Ni znertals riew RORGE	me SFX			7 00.36.30.344	00	Celle 7104 48 700 48 375 48 1 190 48 1 190 48	Datum         Linge           11/12/2006         9.865         H2           11/12/2006         9.865         H2           11/12/2007         2.706         H17           11/12/2007         1.362         H47           11/14/2012         1.362         H47           11/14/2012         1.362         H47	Haddinarg Shen 250-80-5 Sure MARA Sure MARA Sure MARA Sure	c   Sanutenata   3 44100 Hz 44100 Hz 44100 Hz 44100 Hz	medany.	

-``Q'- To prevent unwanted docking of windows at the docking positions, also hold down the **Ctrl** key when dragging the windows with the mouse.

## Docker

A Docker is a group of windows that occupy the same screen area.



🕕 In the project docker, the + button opens the **New Virtual Project** dialog.

- Use the keyboard shortcuts **Ctrl + B** to switch to the Manager/Docker, **Ctrl + P** to switch to the Project Docker.
- With Ctrl + Tab you can switch between the individual tabs within a docker by keystroke.
- Press **Ctrl + F4** to close the active tab.

# Workspaces

Workspaces are used to make the toolbars more clearly arranged and to adapt the window layout to specific tasks.

To do this, you can customize the Toolbars (⊅51) (right-click on the toolbar) so that they contain only the icons required for a specific task such as mastering, editing, or recording. The arrangement, visibility and docking status (see below) of all windows in the Workspace are also saved.

The drop-down menu for the Workspaces is located at the very left of the lower toolbar. Various workspaces are already predefined, the "Default" Workspace is the default. It contains the toolbars in their default configuration and can be used as a starting point for your own customizations.



To customize a Workspace, right click on the drop-down menu and select **Edit Workspace**. In further menus you can select which toolbars are displayed. There are also entries for customizing the toolbars (abla 51). Use **Save Workspace** to save your adjustments, preferably under a new name.

-☆- In the menu View > More > Workspace you will find all workspaces for selection at Select workspace. If you set a keyboard shortcut for it, you can switch the workspaces in this way completely keyboard controlled.

# Track Editor

The track editor shows the settings options for the selected track. It can be shown and hidden with this icon above the track header.

The Track Editor gives you quick access to all the important parameters of the active track. By default, it is located at the left edge of the project window, but like any other **Sequoia** window, it can be docked as desired (abla53).

In the Track Editor, settings of a single track are clearly displayed in individually expandable sections. This allows you to edit all relevant settings of the selected track in the Project window even without an open mixer or with low track heights. The controls correspond to those in a mixer channel, so you can also think of the Track Editor as a single mixer channel for the active track.

i You can also open the Track Editor via the corresponding button of the bottom toolbar (↗50) or via the menu **View** > **Track Editor** (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + Shift + E).

i When docking in landscape mode, a different layout is used, the controls are identical.

## Main

8

9

The section **Main** contains the most important settings for any tracks.



**Phase reverse**: Rotates the phase of the signal by 180 degrees. Right-clicking also takes you to the Stereo Panning dialog/stereo editor (2521).

MIDI: sets the track to MIDI recording.

The speaker icon turns on the Monitoring (↗714), i.e. the playback of incoming signals when the track recording button is activated. "MIDI thru" will be set active here for MIDI tracks.



12

14

**1**5

**Level meter**: The two LED chains show the output signal of the track, and the input signal when monitoring is activated.

#### **1** Volume input field

- **FX**: opens the Effect Routing dialog (alpha230). Right-clicking on this button gives you access to the menu for the track effect chains (alpha230).
  - -\u03c6 If you select the Mixer option in the menu, the mixer will be opened at the track's position.
- **AUX**: Here you can set the AUX sends ( $\nearrow$ 525) or right-click to switch to output assignment ( $\cancel{2}515$ ) or sidechain sends display ( $\cancel{2}400$ ).
- Plug-ins: Here you can reach the track insert effects. Clicking on the empty insert slot opens the plug-in browser (↗226), where you can load a plug-in to the slot. Click on an occupied slot to activate/deactivate the plug-in. Right-clicking on the slot opens the plug-in's interface. In the menu at the insert slot slot exchange or remove the plug-in. The Plug-ins button at the top turns all effects in the respective effect chain on and off. A visual indicator (\*) for plug-ins shows that they were previously active and will be reactivated the next time the Plug-ins button is clicked. The order of the plug-ins can be changed by dragging and dropping a filled slot to another position.
- Use the button **Track Auto** /**Lanes + Obj. Auto** in the **Track Editor** (**756**) to switch the display of the automation curves in the track:
  - In Track Auto mode, track automations are displayed in the track over the objects, object automations are hidden.
  - In the **Lanes + Obj. Auto** mode, the object automations are displayed in the track over the objects, the track automations are displayed in lanes (**#**359).
- Automation mode: Left-click to quickly switch the automation mode (₱362) between the last selected mode and Read. Right-click to access all automation modes.
- An automatable parameter can be controlled directly in the track editor with the **automation controller**. Click on the parameter field above the slider to display the automation menu (\$\alpha\$357) and select the effect and parameter.

## MIDI

The section **MIDI** contains the specific settings for MIDI tracks.



**1 In :** MIDI input menu

2 Out: MIDI output menu

In addition to the hardware MIDI outputs, the menu also gives you quick access to all MAGIX software instruments and lets you send the track's MIDI output to a VST effect.

**3** Channel In: MIDI input channel

4 Channel Out: MIDI output channel

- **5 Program:** With Program you can select the presets of the software instrument selected at **Out**. If a MIDI hardware output is set, the default GM program names are displayed. The program change commands are sent at each playback start.
- **6** Bank MSB/LSB: Additionally device specific bank change messages can be sent to control an external MIDI instrument.

Map: Here you can select a Drum Map (𝒫463) for the assignment of the MIDI notes to device-specific sounds.

8 **Transpose**: Here you can transpose the MIDI output. This function works in real time, i.e. the MIDI data in the MIDI objects is not changed.

*If a drum map is selected, the transpose function will not be available because the pitch is fixed by the drum map.* 

- Selocity Dyn: This button activates the Velocity Dynamics (₱491) as a real-time track effect.
- Input Q: Input quantization. Incoming data is then already quantized during recording according to the MIDI quantization settings (2475). You can restore the original positions with the menu command Object > Quantize > Reset Quantization.
- **MPE**: Sets MIDI recording to MPE mode (*7*495)
- **1 Provide Series 1 Provide**

## Audio/EQ/Comments



- 1 In: This sets the input of the track, which can be the audio input devices, outputs of other tracks or the outputs of software instruments.
- 2 The Out slot determines the audio output device. This can be, for example, a hardware output, the master or a bus.
- **3 Delay**: This sets a delay time for the track.
- **4** Gain: This controls the amplification level of the input signal in dB.
- 5 EQ: The parametric EQ for the track. Right-click to access the advanced settings dialog with six frequency bands.
- **6 Comments**: The Comments area corresponds to the track comment in the Infomanager ( $\cancel{2}356$ ).

# **Track Head**



The track head is displayed with fewer options depending on the vertical zoom level. In order to see all options, you may need to zoom ( $\nearrow$ 106) into the display.

-`Q`- **Tip**: For more space on screen, if you do not need the track head, you can use the **tab** key to switch to the alternative project display mode, where the track head is hidden.

**1** Track number and name: Clicking the track name or the track number selects the track. Repeatedly clicking the track number causes the track's display height to switch between flat and high. Double-clicking on the track names lets you edit them. Right-clicking the track name opens the "Track Options" dialog. By clicking on the arrow you can select further track-related functions from a context menu.





Color selection: If you click on the right edge of a track head, a selection menu will appear for specifying the color (*№*76) of the track and its objects.

# Time Display

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Z

There is a separate time display window so that you can easily read the current position and other information even from a greater distance from the screen. The time display is opened in the docker with three display fields, one for position, one for range length and one for the range end.

<		Object Edito		Objects					MIDI Editor	> +
	Position 003:03:0	007	Range 002:0	Length 2:008	00	Range End	15	Reco 001	rd position :01:000	

Using the context menu of a field (right mouse button) you can add more fields (**Insert field...**), remove existing fields (**Remove field**) or select the time position to be displayed in the field (**Current field...**).

Font:	This is the font type for the display
Units of Measurement:	<ul> <li>Unit of measurement for the display: Choose from Samples,</li> <li>Milliseconds, Hour/Min/Sec, SMPTE (Project Frame Rate), SMPTE</li> <li>(Individual Frame Rate), SMPTE/Milliseconds, Bars, CD MSF, Feet &amp;</li> <li>Frames 16 mm (40 fpf), Feet &amp; Frames 35 mm (16 fpf).</li> <li>If you have multiple time display windows open, by default they all use</li> <li>the same unit of measurement. Activate the <b>Independent time format</b></li> <li>option in the corresponding window to use a different unit of</li> <li>measurement there.</li> <li>By double-clicking on the numerical value, you can edit most values</li> <li>directly in the time display.</li> </ul>

- **Current field...**: **Background color**: Lets you change the background color for the time display.
  - Standard color: Here you can reset the default color for the time display.
  - Position/Start of range: Displays the current position/current playback marker or the beginning of the range. When moving the objects you can see the starting position of the object here. By entering + and in front of the number, you change the position relative by the entered value.
  - Range length: Specify the range length here. When entering a new range length, the range start is retained. If you enter the new range length as a negative number, the range start will be moved instead, the range end will remain.
  - **Range end**: Display of the range end.
  - Object: Display start position, end position, length or file offset of the last clicked object and the summed lengths or the number of selected objects.
  - **Cue time**: Here you can set the current play time as well as the current remaining play time of your cues (*7*86).
  - For the source destination cut you can display and edit the following positions:
    - Source position
    - Source in-point
    - Source out-point
    - Destination position
    - Destination in-point
    - Destination out-point

- **CD position**: The current position of the playback marker is displayed in relation to existing CD track markers:
  - Position from CD start
  - Position until CD end
  - Position from the current CD track
  - Position until CD track end
  - Current CD track number
- Mouse position: This value represents the current mouse position and cannot be edited.
- Mixer value: Displays the value of a currently edited control in the mixer or the volume and pan controls in the track header, and cannot be edited.
- Recording position: This value displays the current recording position.
- **Recording take**: Name of the currently recorded take.
- Recording length (take): This value represents the length of the currently recorded take.
- Recording length (project): This value represents the length of the current recording in the project.
- Remaining recording time: This value indicates how long recording can continue until the hard disk is full.
- Sync timecode input: This value displays the timecode coming in via the SMPTE audio input.
- **Timecode track**: This value shows the timecode position of a Timecode track (*P*616).
- **Total length**: This value shoes the total length pf the project.
- **External length**: This value shows the external length. This is the total length of the project minus the selected area.
- Marker: you can display the name of the current marker, lyric marker or CD track

Move field forward / Move field back	This function can be used to change the order of the fields.
New time display:	This opens a new time display in a separate window. This may be necessary if too many fields in the window can no longer be displayed appropriately.

## **Transport Console**



The transport console contains the buttons for controlling playback, recording and positioning of the play cursor. (Show and hide with keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Shift + T**)

- **1 Ranges**: Use the buttons **1** and **2** to save ranges. Click on the arrow symbol to restore the last range selections.
- **2** Marker: Opens the Marker manager (**#**342).
- **3** Marker 1-12: A current playback position can be saved by clicking on one of the 12 marker buttons. Clicking this button again sets the play cursor to this position.
- **4** Punch In/Out: Sets the in/out point for a punch recording (↗104). With additionally pressed **Alt** key you can set additional Punch In/Out markers.

**5 Recording modes**: Here you can set up the recording mode. The following options are available:

- Standard mode (playback while recording): This is the typical recording mode for multitrack productions. Here, the currently active tracks are recorded. The already existing tracks are played back in sync.
- Playback & editing independent of recording: If you have selected this option, playback of already existing audio is deactivated and the playback marker will remain at the recording start position. Playback can be started manually independently of this and is then used, for example, as a "read after write check". Set the play cursor to a different position and start playback by pressing the "Play" button. This will not interrupt the recording. This way, changes to previously recorded material can be made without affecting the recording process.
- Punch marker mode: In this mode, only the range between the punch in marker and punch out marker is recorded.
- 6 MIDI record modes (∥100): Select from the following MIDI record modes: normal, overdub or replace.
- **Tempo/Signature**: Here you can change the tempo and the time signature of the arrangement. The objects can be adapted (*P*374) to the new speed.
- 8 Scrub Control: Using the Scrub Control wheel you can variably set playback speed. This is helpful when searching for specific audio passages. Right-clicking opens the Scrubbing and Varispeed (*№*89) options.
- **9** Arrows: The arrows below start the slowed down playback forward and backward.
- **(1)** Grid: You can activate the snap (alpha78) here and have the grid displayed (alpha80) here.
- Click: Here you switch on the metronome. A right-click opens the Metronome options window (2388) to configure the pre-count and click volume.
- **12** Loop: Switch to Loop modePlayback Range/Loop (₽83) here.
- **(B)** Sync: This button opens the Synchronization (*P*612) options dialog.
- Mon: Activates monitoring. All tracks with activated recording show the incoming signal on the peak meter. With a right click on the "Mon" button you can select the different monitoring modes. Detailed information about monitoring can be found in Monitoring Setup (₹711).
- **(b) Punch**: Activates the punch recording ( $\mathbb{P}$ 104) mode.
- **Time display**: Displays the playback position. The unit of measurement can be selected by clicking the small triangle.

# **PROJECT WINDOW**

In the Project window the audio and MIDI data are arranged. The basic principle is the same as in almost any DAW:

- Events (in Sequoia: objects) are arranged on the horizontal time axis, which runs from left to right. During recording and playback, the objects are played back one after the other according to their position on the timeline.
- Vertically the project is divided into tracks, objects arranged on different tracks on top of each other are played simultaneously. The volume levels of the tracks can be adjusted separately and each track can be assigned different effects. Each track corresponds to a channel in the Mixer.



- **Project dock**: Switch between different loaded projects here. See Docking (₱53) for more information on docking windows
- 2 Controls above the track heads:

1

d, D

- **S** M The **M** and **S** buttons above the track header of the first track can be used to switch all solo and mute states on and off together.
  - Lock markers: All markers on the marker track are locked against moving.
- Marker menu: Opens a menu containing all commands for all marker types.
- **Grid menu**: Opens a menu that contains all commands related to the grid.
- 3 Marker and range marker track: In these two tracks, markers and range markersMarkers (∥113) are displayed, which can be used to save and restore certain positions and ranges in the project.



# **Mouse Modes**

Different mouse modes can be selected for working in the project window of **Sequoia**. Depending on the mode, the function of mouse-clicks in the project changes. For most tasks the default Universal Mode is sufficient but there are other mouse modes specifically for editing objects, ranges and automation curves.



The menu next to the icon with the current mouse mode can be used to select the different mouse modes.



The various mouse modes can also be chosen through menu **Edit** > **Mouse Mode**. To open this selection menu anywhere in the project window, you can:

- Click and hold the right mouse button and then click the left mouse button or
- Press **Shift** + click right mouse button or
- Press **Shift** + Context menu key (next to the right **Ctrl** key).

### **Universal Mode**

This is the preset mouse mode for **Sequoia**. Depending on the click position within a track, left-clicking performs different functions. By clicking in the upper half you can mark areas and set the playback marker. In the lower half, objects can be selected and moved. Right-clicking opens a context menu.

#### Upper half of the track - ranges

- **Click**: Set Play Cursor
- Shift + click: Select a range between play cursor and click position
- Shift + click outside of an existing range: Extend range to click position
- **Click and drag within existing range**: Move range borders

- **Click and drag without existing range or outside of existing range**: Select a range
- Shift + click + drag within existing range: Move range

#### Lower half of track - objects

- **Click on object**: Select individual objects
- **Ctrl + click on object**: Add single objects to selection
- Shift + click on object: Add all objects between last selected object and clicked object to selection
- Click between objects and drag to the right: Span a selection frame ("object lasso"), all objects touched by it are selected
- Shift + click between objects and drag to the right: Span a selection frame, all objects touched by it are added to the existing selection.
- Click between objects and drag to the left: Span a selection frame, all automation points touched by it are selected
- **Double click on object**: Open the Object Editor (*7*191).
- **Double-click between objects**: Select all objects of the track.
- Clicking on an object + dragging: Move an object, object selection or group of objects to the desired position.
- Shift + click on an object + drag: Move objects with lock of horizontal (time) position, to move to another track.
- Ctrl + click on an object + drag: Duplicate an object, object selection or group of objects and drag to the desired position.

**i** Ctrl and Shift can be combined.

*i* If you want to keep an existing range, move the play cursor by clicking above the track on the grid, not by clicking in the track.

### **Object handles**



Various object parameters can be set on the five object handles, which become visible on selected objects. When moving the mouse pointer over a handle, the mouse pointer changes shape to indicate the handle's function.

- Click on middle handle + drag up/down): Adjust the object volume. The exact value in dB is displayed in the tooltips. This also works with multiple selected objects and object groups.
- Click Side handles (top) + drag right/left: Set the duration of object fade-in and fadeout. The duration can be adjusted more finely by additionally holding down Shift key. With additionally held Alt + key the fades of a multiple selection can be edited together.
- Click Side handles (top) + drag up/down: Adjust the curve shape of the fade-in/fadeout.
- Click on lower handles + drag to the right/left: Set the start and end position of the object. The position can be adjusted more finely by additionally holding down the Shift key.
  - ▲ For objects that are crossfaded with other objects (for example, the auto-crossfade that occurs when you split an object), you can also move the crossfade itself with the mouse. The handle for the start position of the rear object is located a little to the right of the crossfade.

#### Automation curves

- $\dot{\phi}$  For detailed information on automation curves, see the section Automation (2357).
- Double-click on automation curve: Create and delete (double-click again) curve points. Selected points can also be deleted by pressing the Del key.
- **Click on curve point**: Selection of individual curve points.
- **Ctrl + Click on curve point**: Add individual curve points to the selection.
- Shift + click on curve point: Add all curve points between last selected curve point and clicked curve point to selection.

- Clicking between objects and dragging to the left: Spans a selection frame ("curve lasso") for curve points, all curve points touched by it are selected.
- Shift + click between objects and drag to the left: Spans a selection frame, all curve points touched by it are added to the existing selection.
- **Click on Curve Point + Drag**: Move the selected curve points.
- Shift + click on curve point + drag: Move the selected curve points only in the vertical direction, that is, the time positions are preserved.

Holding the **Alt key** in addition to this will move the curve points only horizontally. (So you'll be changing their positions and not their values).

- Click on curve section + drag: Move the curve section. The curve points at the two ends of the section are selected and moved together.
- Click on curve segment in range selection + drag: If there is a range selection, you can move the entire curve vertically with all existing points within the range limits by dragging on a curve segment. This creates two new curve points on the range edges.
- **Right-click on a curve point**: Numerical editing of the value and definition of the curve shape For more information, see Editing automation curves (*7*369)

## Range Mode

The mouse functions of the Universal mode for the upper half of the track apply to the entire track in this mode. Thus, in this mode, only ranges and the playback marker can be manipulated. The Range mode therefore is a "safe mode" because objects or curve points cannot be moved accidentally.

## **Object Mode**

The mouse functions of the Universal mode for the lower half of the track apply to the entire track in this mode. In this mode, you can only edit objects and their start and end position, fade-in and fade-out phase, and object volume. The range selection is retained.

## **Curve Mode**

This mode is exclusively for editing automation curves (abla357).

- **Click on the curve**: Creates a new point; a **double-click** or the **Delete** key deletes it.
- **Click next to the curve + drag**: Selection frame for selecting multiple automation points.
- **Click on point**: Selects point.
- **Ctrl + click on point**: Adds point to selection.
- **Shift + click on a point**: Selects all points between last selected point and clicked point.
- Click on selected point + drag: Move all selected points.
- **Ctrl + click + drag a selected point**: Move only the clicked point if multiple points are selected.
- **Right-click on a curve point**: Numerical editing of the value and definition of the curve shape For more information, see Editing automation curves (#369)
- **Right-click**: Context menu

## **Object/Curve Mode**

This mode is a combination of Object mode and Curve mode. In this mode, you can move objects and edit curves.

To move the play cursor or select ranges in this three modes (Object mode, Curve mode, *Object/Curve mode), click or click and drag on the grid bar above the first track. To select* ranges in the track, for example to delete or copy ranges, double-click the selected range in the grid bar.

# Left/Right Mode

In This mode combines range and object editing, i.e. the functions of the Universal mouse mode on the upper and lower track halves in such a way that you use the left mouse button to access the functions for ranges, and the right mouse button to access those for objects.

In return, there is no context menu in the project window in this mode.

# Cut Mode

In this mode you can quickly split objects. Click on the object with the left mouse button to split it at the corresponding position. When the snap is active, it also affects the mouse pointer according to the snap settings.

-☆- In Program Settings > Keyboard/Menu/Mouse > Special Keys (∥730) you can set a key to temporarily activate the cut mode.

# Pitchshift/Timestretch Mode

In this mode, you can change pitch and playback speed of objects, edit Tempo Markers ( $\sqrt[3]{374}$ ) and Warp Markers ( $\sqrt[3]{386}$ ).

- Click on middle object handle + drag: The pitch of the object can be changed in the range +/- 6 semitones. The pitchshifting algorithm used can be selected in the object editor.
- Click on lower right object handle + drag: Change the length of the object by timestretching. The same time section (original length of the section in the audio file) can be lengthened or shortened by time-stretching, so the object will play faster or slower. The time-stretching algorithm used can be selected in the object editor.
- **Clicking into an object (upper half)** sets a **Warp Marker** into the object.
- Click + drag a Warp Marker: Move the Warp marker (upper half) or move the anchor point of the Warp Marker (lower half).
- Shift + click on grid bar: Create tempo markers. By dragging vertically, you can set the tempo right away.
- Shift + click on tempo maker + drag vertically: Set BPM of tempo marker.
- Alt + click on grid bar: Create grid position markers.
- **Right-click**: Context menu

# Draw Volume Mode/Draw Automation Mode

In these two modes you can draw automation curves (2357) with the left mouse button.

- **Click**: Create a curve point on an existing curve.
- **Click + drag**: Freehand drawing function for automation curves.
- **Shift + Click + Drag**: Create a straight line starting from the previous curve point.
- **Right-click on a curve point**: Numerical editing of the value and definition of the curve shape For more information, see Editing automation curves (*7*369)
- **Right-click**: Context menu

For the most part, the modes have the same function: They work identically when drawing in Automation lanes. But when the automation curves are displayed in the track (aga359), the Draw automation mode edits the active curve and, if **Show all curves (selectable)** is active, the

clicked curve. However, in Draw volume mode, the volume curve is always edited, regardless of which curve is displayed.

## Draw Wave Mode

If you are destructively editing audio files (abla 581), you can draw directly in the waveform of a file in this mouse mode. The display of the waveform changes to a suitable zoom level. This is particularly suitable for manually removing very short interference pulses.

# **Spectral Mode**

With the Spectral mode you can remove noise from an object directly in the project window.

To be able to work particularly effectively with the spectral mode, set the option Spectral display (abla743) for the project display.

The audio material is represented in the spectral display by a spectrogram that shows the frequency components over time. The volume of frequencies is visualized via a color code or via its brightness.

Audible distortion that is louder than the desired signal are usually limited to a certain frequency spectrum. They are highlighted with colors in the spectrogram. A continuous sound is displayed by a pattern consisting of horizontal lines, which correspond to the sound components (overtones) of the sound. An impulse-like noise becomes recognizable as a vertical spike.

Select the noise by clicking in the spectrum and dragging a rectangle around it. With the handles you can still adjust the selection rectangle afterwards.



To avoid an audible gap, extracted components of the original frequency spectrum are interpolated from the audio material surrounding the noise. Confirm the correction by clicking the button with the checkmark.

 -ŷ- You can also edit the left and right channels of the signal separately by activating the option Stereo in 2 waveforms in the Project display options (keyboard shortcut: Shift + Tab) > Object and then dragging the selection rectangle accordingly only over the upper or lower part of the spectrogram.

# Scrubbing Mode (Pre-Listening)

This mouse mode enables you to monitor and control the playback speed (290). In this case, the project can be played back in a forward or reverse scrubbing direction.

- **Left click**: Pre-listen with play speed control.
- **Right-click**: Context menu

### Zoom Mode

Use the right mouse button to zoom ( $\mathbb{P}$ 106) out of the project, and the left mouse button to zoom in.

- Left click: Zoom in
- **Right click**: Zoom out
- **Click + drag** : Zoom in selected area (horizontal)
- Shift + click + drag: Zoom in selected area (vertical)

There's an option in Program Settings > Keyboard/Menu/Mouse > Mouseby which you can zoom horizontally and vertically via selection frame even without the Shift key.

# Color Mode

Color mode enables you to color objects or entire tracks. After selecting the color mode, open the mouse modes menu again, in the lower part of the menu you can now select a color. Further down in the menu there are other color palettes to choose from. Click on a color palette to replace the colors in the menu with those of the selected color palette.



- **Click on object:** The object and the waveform are colored.
- Click between objects + drag: Dragging a selection rectangle and coloring all touched objects.
- Shift + click on object/ right click on object: Colorize the waveform.
- **Ctrl + click on object**: Colorize the object background. - 'Q'- These modifiers also work with the selection rectangle.
- Click on track header: The track and all objects contained in it are colored. The track color is also used as the background color in the track name fields in the Track Editor and Mixer, and on the right edge of the track header. There you also have the option to open the color palette for each track and set a new color for the track. If multiple tracks (*P*135) were selected beforehand, the color selection will apply to all of these.

If you do not like the default color selection, you can change individual colors. At the very bottom of the menu, choose **Select your own color...** and open the **Colors** dialog. There you can change any of the 16 available colors. With **Create new color palette...** you can save the colors together in a new palette, which can then also be selected in the menu.

# **Temporarily Switching to Other Mouse Modes**

By pressing and holding certain keys, you can temporarily switch to another mouse mode. This way you can combine several modes without much clicking.

-☆- In the **Program settings** (*№*730) in the section **Keyboard/menu/mouse**, under **Special keys**, you can specify other keys for switching or set additional temporary key functions for switching mouse modes.

**. (Dot)**: Temporary change to **Object mode**. As long as you keep the button pressed, you can select objects and edit them with the handles. This button is useful in the Draw Automation mode, in the Range mode and in the Cut mode, in which you cannot otherwise access the objects that quickly.

- (hyphen): Temporary change to curve mode. As long as you keep the key pressed, you can edit automation curves in curve mode. For example, you can work in Universal mode and use the slightly different ( $\cancel{2}368$ ) editing options of Curve mode at the touch of a button.

 $\dot{Q}^{-}$  You can also specify a second key for switching to Draw automation mode and then be even more flexible.

**Insert/Number Pad O**: This key is assigned twice, so it works independently of the status of the NumLock key. It allows you to temporarily activate scrub mode and thus move around in the arrangement by clicking.

Z key: Temporary change to Zoom mode. Then you can zoom in by left-clicking and zoom out by right-clicking.

Not defined by default, but available are also a toggle switch for scrub mode (i.e. scrub mode remains active until the key is pressed again) as well as keys for the **Draw automation mode** and the Cut mode.

# Snap

The snap makes it easier to work with the mouse when moving objects and selecting ranges by snapping the moved markers or objects to specific positions, so you don't have to position the mouse exactly and still get exact positions. Beat divisions, markers, object edges, frames or the set quantization value can serve as snap positions.

Snapping means that if a marker, an range border or an object is moved close enough to a possible snap-in position, it automatically jumps to exactly this position, it "snaps" into this position.



() "Close enough" refers to the screen display, i.e. the distance of the object from the desired position in screen pixels. If you have zoomed in to just a few bars, but have the snap set rather coarse (e.g. 1/2 notes), it is possible that objects can be moved to positions between snap positions.



Using the **Snap and Quantize menu** on the top toolbar, you can define the most important snap settings and turn the snap on and off.



The complete snap and grid settings can be reached via the dialog Project options -**General** (*7*659) (keyboard shortcut **I**).

To turn the snap on and off, click the button with the magnet or select Menu View > Grid > Snap Active (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + ').

In the **snap menu** next to it you can select the type of the snap:

- Snap to objects: With snap to objects the range selection, the play cursor and other markers snap to the edges of all objects in the project when they are moved. In addition, either object start or object end snap to all markers and to the edges of the other objects when moving objects. Whether the start or end position of the object snaps depends on whether the object is clicked in the front or rear half to move it. The shape of the mouse pointer indicates which edge is being snapped to:
  - 🖶 snaps to the left edge of the object
  - 🕂 snaps to the right edge of the object
- Snap to beats/bars: This option activates a snap grid that uses beat subdivisions as a basis. The beat snap ensures that when selecting ranges and moving objects and object edges, the play cursor and other markers, the time positions "snap" to defined values determined by the snap width. So, for example, if you have set a beat snap with a one bar snap width, you can click on the grid bar only approximately near the beginning of a bar to place the play cursor exactly at the beginning of the bar.

The beat snap also determines the step size when moving play cursor and range boundaries with the keyboard (**arrow keys** and **shift** + **arrow keys**).

▲ If you have set a very coarse snap width (e.g. 2 bars), but zoomed in strongly, it may seem as if objects cannot be moved at all, because possible snap positions are very far away from the starting position on the screen or outside the visible section.

- Snap to beats/bars (relative): This option also activates a snap grid that uses beat subdivisions as a basis. Relative means that for example the position of an object can only be changed stepwise in the set snap width, as with the normal beat snap, but the distance to the respective snap position remains the same. It therefore does not snaps on the beats, but in each case at the same distance before or behind them.
- Snap to frames: This sets the snap width to the length of one SMPTE frame, according to the project frame rate set at Project Settings > Synchronization. This setting is important for video dubbing, the time positions then correspond exactly to the frames in video files.
- **Frame raster (relative)**: As with the relative beat snap, the frame snap here preserves the relative distance to the respective snap point.
- With Snap to range the grid is similar to the beat grid, except that the snap width is defined by selecting a range before activating the grid. The length of this range then corresponds to one bar, and the snap width can be divided according to the Q value as

with the beat snap.

In the lower part of the menu there is a selection of settings for the snap width for the beat snap:

- Snap to quantization: Select the snap width in the Quantization menu (see below) and activate this setting to use this value also for the beat snap.
- Every 4 bars, 2 bars, Full bar: To keep the menu manageable, all smaller values for the snap width are missing here. Set the values in the quantization menu and select Snap to quantization. Only the very large values for the snap width (which are also not useful as quantization values) can be set directly in the menu. If you absolutely want to set a value other than the quantization value for the snap width, you can do so in the Project Options under Snap/Grid. To do this, go to the menu File > Project properties > Project options....
- Beat: The denominator of the time signature is used as the snap value, i.e. ¼ in 4/4 time and ¼ in 3/8 time. The snap thus follows the time signature and takes time signature changes into account.

In the **Quantization menu** you set the quantization value **Q**, which is used for the audio-(?626) and MIDI- (?475)quantization and also serves as a setting for the snap width in the snap setting **Snap to quantization**. By default, the Q values of audio and MIDI quantization (?718) are linked to each other. Right-clicking on the field opens the MIDI quantization settings.

# Grid

At the top of the project window there is the Grid bar, where the project time is displayed in different units of measurement.

The grid are vertical guide lines that show this time information as an orientation guide over the tracks.



All the grid-related menu commands described below are located in the menu **View** > **Grid**. This submenu can also be accessed by right-clicking on the Grid bar:

- To show or hide the grid, select **Show grid** or press **]**.
- Various line types can be selected at **Grid lines**.

In the lower section of the Grid bar menu or under Grid > Units of Measurement you can choose between different units of measurement: Samples, Hours:Minutes:Seconds, SMPTE (Hours:Minutes:Seconds:Frames), SMPTE/Milliseconds (Hours:Minutes:Seconds:Milliseconds), Beats/Bars and others. Depending on the unit of measurement, the grid spacing dynamically adapts to the zoom level. For example, with the unit of measurement samples, a grid subdivision is drawn every 10000 samples at a low zoom level, and every 1000 at a high zoom level. With the unit of measurement bars, there are main subdivisions (bars) and secondary subdivisions (beats) on the grid, if they can be meaningfully displayed at the selected zoom level.

Show 2nd grid line: Above the grid line a second grid line can be displayed, whose unit of measurement can be set independently from the first grid line so that you can display two units of measurement combined, e.g. bars/beats and time position.



**Exchange grids** allows you to swap the units of measurement of the two grid bars and thus display the grid based on the setting of the other grid bar.

# **Displaying Project Windows**

# **Configure Project Display**

The visual appearance of the project window and the objects it contains can be configured very flexibly. You can switch between two project display modes using the **Tab** key. The default setting switches between the normal view and a simplified view without track heads and with objects without waveform representation.

You can access the display options via the menu **View** > **VIP display mode** > **View Options...** or with the keyboard shortcut **Shift** + **Tab**.

**i** For detailed information on project display options, see **System Options** >**Project Display**.

### **Arrange Project Windows**

By default, each new project window is opened docked in the Project docker. Click on the respective project tab to activate the desired project.

another project.VIP	project.VIP ×	some other proj	ect.VIP
₿ ₽ ₽	a°♥▼ #▼ <mark>/</mark> 1	13	۱5

 $\dot{Q}$  To work with dockers and the associated keyboard shortcuts, read the section Docking ( $\mathbb{Z}$ 53)

To display all open project windows side by side, press the **Enter** key (menu **View** > **Tile**).

To restore the previous view press **Shift + Enter** (Menu **View > Untile**).

If windows become unreachable because in a previous session you were working with multiple monitors, but now only one monitor is connected, you can reach these windows again with the command Menu View > Windows > All windows to main screen.



If additionally the Shift button is pressed when the command is selected, the saved window positions of windows that are not currently open are also adjusted so that they are opened on the main screen.

To close a project, click **x** on the respective project tab or choose Menu **File** > **Close Project**.

# **Recalculate Graphic**

In rare cases, inaccuracies in the display of objects may occur after offline editing. Use menu **View** > **Rebuild graphic data** to update the graphical waveform display for the entire project.

# **Project Playback**

() All the commands for playing the project can also be found in the menu **Playback** to be able to assign keyboard shortcuts to them or change the shortcuts if necessary.

# Simple Play and Stop

By simply clicking on the grid bar or the marker tracks above the first track, you set the play cursor to the desired position in the project. You can also click anywhere in the project in range mouse mode or in the upper half of a track in universal mouse mode to move the play cursor.



() When clicking on the grid bar or in the project, an active snap (arrow78) is respected; when clicking in the marker tracks, the play cursor can be placed at any position.



The **Space bar** or the Play button on the Transport control ( $\angle 65$ ) starts playback at the current play cursor position, the play cursor moves through the arrangement showing the currently played position.

With **Ctrl + Space** only the **selected object(s)** will be played. To do so, the play cursor is moved to the beginning of the first selected object.

Pressing the **space bar** again or the Stop button on the Transport control stops playback. The play cursor jumps back to the start position.

**i** Notes:

- Playback can also be stopped with the **Esc** key. This still works even if the program interface is otherwise unresponsive because the computer is overloaded. This default behavior can be deactivated in the **Program Settings** > **Playback** (*P*722) with the option Esc key stops playback and recording.
- With the option **Spacebar (play/stop) also works in background**, which you can optionally activate in the **Program Settings** > **Playback** (*7*22), starting/stopping also works with the spacebar when *Sequoia* is not active in foreground.

To stop at the current position, press the , key (above the space bar or on the numeric keypad) or the **Pause** key, or click the Play button in the Transport control again.

**(i)** This default behavior can be changed in the **Program Settings** > **Playback** ( $\mathbb{P}722$ ) by selecting **Stop at position** there.

With the command **Restart play** the play cursor jumps back to the starting position during playback and plays again from the beginning.

# **Playback Range/Loop**

By clicking and dragging on the grid bar, you define a playback range. The play cursor is then located at the beginning of the playback range.



Without Loop, playback stops at the end of the playback range.

Moving the play cursor deactivates the playback range, but it can be restored by doubleclicking in the inactive range.

 $\dot{Q}$  With **Shift + Backspace** you can restore the last 5 ranges, more about this in the Ranges (120) section.

The button **Loop** on the transport control (also in the menu **Play/Rec** > **Playback mode** and as keyboard shortcut Shift + L) activates the Loop mode.



The playback range is colored blue. When the play cursor reaches the end of a playback range while loop mode is active, playback repeats at the beginning of the range and continues until playback is stopped.

**i** If no range is defined and **Loop** is active, playback will resume at the start of the project when the end of the project is reached.

	20	121	22	23	24
m Gt		-			
Guitar 01	6			🔒 Rh Guitar	<b>B</b>

When **Loop** is active, the playback range is preserved when the play cursor is moved.

You can set a playback range as a loop and place the play cursor at a position before the loop range and "play" into the loop.

If Loop mode is not active, you can achieve this behavior by **Play In Range/Loop** (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + P**): With this command you start the playback and activate the loop mode simultaneously.

If (the other way around) you want to clear the loop range even though the loop mode is active, move the play cursor by **double-clicking** on the Grid Bar.

() If you start playback behind the loop range, **Loop** will be disabled during playback to indicate that playback will never occur in the loop range.

Playback ranges can also be re-selected during playback, with the play cursor immediately jumping to the new range start. However, the range boundaries can be moved with the mouse without affecting the playback.

 $\dot{\phi}$  - Playback ranges are also always created when selecting ranges in the project window. For more explanations on editing, saving, restoring, etc. of ranges, see the Ranges (#120) section.

# Other Playback Functions in the Play/Rec Menu

#### Play with Pre-Load

#### (Keyboard shortcut: Shift + Space bar)

All playback buffers are preloaded before playback starts. This makes no difference during normal playback, but when **Sequoia** is controlled by MIDI sync, this ensures that playback starts without delay after the arrival of a corresponding MC/MTC command.

### Play Cut

Assuming that a current range selection is to be the basis of an edit, you can use these commands to play back the project at specific positions around a playback range.

Playback is performed with a defined lead pre-roll and post-roll time: when playing back to a point, it starts before the point by the amount of the pre-roll time and ends there; when playing back from a point, it starts at the point and runs for the duration of the post-roll time. Pre-set pre-roll time and post-roll-up time are 2 seconds. You can change the time at **Program Settings** > **Playback** (*P*722).

The commands are also used in the Crossfade Editor (↗184) to play parts of a crossfade, for which a separate pre/post-roll time can be specified in the Crossfade Editor preferences (↗188).

Command	Range selection	Keyboard shortcut
Play to Cut Start (In Point)	Play until the beginning of the range	F5
Play from Cut Start (In Point)	Play from the beginning of the range	F6
Play to Cut end (Out Point)	Play to the end of the range	F7
Play from Cut End (Out Point)	Play from the end of the range	F8

Play over cut	Play until the beginning of the range and after the end of the range. This allows you to simulate cuts: Playback occurs as if the selected range had been deleted.	F4
Play into cut	Playback of the range with pre-roll and post-roll time.	

(i) The menu commands **Fade-out/Fade-in/Play upper audio/Play lower audio** are specifically intended for playback in the Crossfade Editor (∥184) and are only available there.

# Other Playback Modes in the Play/Rec Menu

#### Cue Mode

The Cue Mode is a special live playback mode that can be used in broadcasting and theater for starting feeds such as sound bytes or sound effects. Objects (cues) contained in the first track (cue track) can be played back in sequence with it. Simultaneously, you can record to other tracks.



The cue track is highlighted with a special background color.

The definition of the individual cues can be done via objects or track indices:

Objects: When playback is started by pressing the spacebar, a playback range is selected above the next object after the play cursor and played back. After stopping playback, with the spacebar or automatically at the end of the object, a range above the next object is selected, which is then played at the next playback start, and so on.

Directly bordering or overlapping objects are treated as one object. In multi-track projects, only the objects on the first track are considered cues.

**Track Marker**: CD track indices in the project are considered cues here. To do this, select

Program Settings > Playback (2722) at **Cue Mode** > **At CD Track Indices**. The playback ranges are always set between a CD track index and the next one.

i Note: The Cue mode only works when Loop is not active.

Rec/	
MON	SYNC
PUNCH	LOOP

In the Cue mode, the Recording Mode also changes to **Playback & editing independent of recording** (*P*95). You can recognize this by the display in the transport console.

In this recording mode, the playback of the project is controlled independently of the recording. For example, you can record a narration on one track and select the Cue track as the recording source for another track and then play the cues at the desired points one after the other.

In the **Program preferences** > **Playback** ( $\nearrow$ 722) you can use **Solo switch for first track** to specify that the cue track is automatically soloed in cue mode.

Via the **Pre-roll for Cue Mode** you can enter a delay with which the Cues are played after the playback start. The delay can be recognized in the project by the fact that the start of the playback range above the objects is shifted forward by this amount of time, so playback starts accordingly before the object start.

#### **Change Play Direction**

Activate this option in the menu if you want to play the project backwards. If you change the option while playback is in progress, it will play forward again with the next play back.

#### **Continuous Playback While Editing**

The default behavior of **Sequoia** is that when you select a range, the play cursor is moved to the beginning of that range. If you want to perform editing operations that require range selection during playback, this behavior is disruptive because it interrupts playback and resumes it elsewhere in the project. The **Continuous playback while editing** option prevents the play cursor from being moved to the beginning of the range selection while playback is in progress. This allows you to edit your project even while it is playing.

A However, the play cursor is moved when you click on the grid bar or select an range by clicking + dragging.

#### **Playback at Different Speeds**

With **Play with speed 1 - 4** : you can start playback at four different speeds: 1/4x, 1/2x, 1x and 2x original speed. If you select one of the four menu options while holding down the Shift key, you can individually adjust the speed for the selected option.

## **Move Play Cursor**

In the menu **Play/Rec** > **Move play cursor** there are further commands with keyboard shortcuts to control the play cursor with the keyboard:

- To Beginning/To End: Use the Home and End keys to move the play cursor to the beginning or end of the project. There are other menu commands to move the play cursor to the beginning or end of the selected range or to the beginning of the visible section.
- Left/Right movement in Page/Scroll mode: With these commands you move the play cursor with the cursor keys (right arrow /left arrow). Movement is possible in Page mode or Scroll mode.

In **Page Mode** (keyboard shortcut **Right Arrow/Left Arrow**) the play cursor is moved in the visible section until it reaches the edge of the section, then the section is moved by its entire length so that the play cursor is displayed at the opposite edge of the next or previous section. So the play cursor moves through the project page by page.

In **Scroll mode** (keyboard shortcut **Alt** + **Right arrow**/**Alt** + **Left arrow**), the play cursor is moved to the center of the section and remains there while the project is moved under it.

**Note:** When a range is selected, the Left Arrow/ Right Arrow keys control the start of the range.

 Object edge left/right: These commands move the play cursor to the previous/next object edge of the selected track.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Q / Ctrl + W

Marker left/right: These commands move the play cursor to the previous/next marker in the project.

**Note:** These commands also include audio markers in the object if they are displayed in the project. (Menu File > Program settings > Project display...). Also included are other markers such as CD track indices or tempo markers.

Keyboard shortcut: Alt + Q / Alt + W

#### F2 / F3

These commands are also available on the lower toolbar.

#### 🛤 🛤 🔝 🔛

Section to play cursor / Last stop position: If the option Stop at current position at menu File > Program settings > Playback parameters is not active, the play cursor jumps back to the starting position after stop. With this command you can get the play cursor back to the last stop position.

 $\dot{\phi}$  To keep the play cursor at the same stop position, stop the playback with the **,** key.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + ,

Recall last position(s): This command allows you to set the play cursor to the last five stop positions.

Keyboard shortcut: Backspace

• **to maximum peak for selected objects**: Sets the position of the play cursor to the position in the project where the highest peak level occurs of all selected objects.

### Varipitch / Varispeed

The Varispeed function allows you to set the playback speed of the project in the range of -/+ 200%. Negative values mean that the project will be played backwards. So you can use **Sequoia** like a tape machine with adjustable tape speed.

To use Varispeed, open the **Playback, Scrub and Varispeed Settings** dialog via menu **File** > **Program Preferences** > **Varispeed/Scrub Settings...** or via right-click on the Scrub Control knob of the transport console.

Playback, Scrub and Varispeed Settings ×							
Samplerate	Autoscroll	Varipitch / Varispeed Pitch 1.00000					
	active for Zoom <1s	Halftones 0					
Scrubbing (numeric	c 0)						
OneSpeed	~	BPM Orig 120					
Speed: 0.25		BPM Out 120.00					
Active track only	у	✓ active					
Stop at position							
Device: HD Audio output 1+HD Audio output 2 (Magix Lov > Options							
Play	Play Loop	Stop Help					

In addition to the Varispeed function, this dialog also provides access to important other playback settings (₱722) such as scrub control, autoscroll or the standard output device.

Activate Varipitch with the checkbox **Active**. Now you can set the playback speed with the fader on the right. For an exact setting you can enter the desired values in one of the fields next to it, the other fields will be adjusted accordingly: The speed can be defined as a factor **Pitch**, but also as a pitch change in **semitones** or as a tempo specification, whereby the pitch factor is determined from the specification of the original tempo **BPM Orig** and the target tempo **BPM Out**. **Internal Rate** is the resulting sample rate used during playback, based on the original sample rate and the pitch factor.

 $\dot{\phi}$  This function can also be used during recording!

Examples of use:

- Play passages of a recording more slowly to transcribe the notes of a complicated solo.
- An old studio trick: record a solo along with a slower speed playback in a lower key. If you then play the project at the original speed, you will get a solo in correct pitch and "inhuman" speed!

## Scrubbing

Scrubbing is the process of "going through" the audio material at different speeds to find a specific location by ear. Here, **Sequoia** behaves like the "edit" mode of a tape machine: The motors are switched off, but the tape is still present at the tape head. By turning the tape reels by hand, the tape is slowly moved along the sound head to precisely approach a specific location.

By varying the playback speed, it's possible to quickly approach a position at first, but then also to arrive at the exact position at a reduced speed.

In Sequoia scrubbing can be done by dragging the mouse in a special Scrubbing mouse mode.

Activate the Scrubbing mode with the **Ins**/**O** key on the numeric keypad or the key combination **Alt + Shift + down arrow** or by selecting the corresponding mouse mode ( $\nearrow$ 68) on the upper toolbar  $\blacksquare$ .

If you click and drag into the project starting from the play cursor, you will hear the underlying audio material.

To scrub with the keyboard, use the keyboard shortcuts **Alt + Shift + Left Arrow** and **Alt + Shift + Right Arrow**.

You can also use the scrub control of the Transport console for scrubbing. The more you turn the knob to the right or left, the faster the playback will be in the respective direction. (However, this is actually only useful in combination with a hardware controller).

#### **Scrubbing Modes**

Different scrubbing modes can be set in the **System options** > **Playback** (keyboard shortcut **P**):

- In the default Scrub mode OneSpeed playback is at original speed. If you additionally press the Shift key, playback is at half speed. With the Ctrl key, the scrubbing speed set in the Speed field (default: 1/4) is used.
- Two speed: Two speeds are provided for scrubbing. Depending on the distance of the play cursor to the mouse position, the object is either played fast or slowly, whereby a speed of 0.25 is preset for slow scrubbing. Fast scrubbing is set to 1.0, i.e. original speed. Change the slow playback value in the Speed field.
- Shuttle: The distance between the play cursor and the mouse position is also used for tempo control, but the tempo control is continuous. So the play cursor follows the mouse movement quickly at first, and then the closer it approaches the mouse cursor position, the slower it moves.
- **Absolute**: In this mode, the absolute position of the mouse in the window is used to control the tempo.

Mouse pointer on the left border = double speed backwards

Mouse pointer in the middle = no playback

Mouse pointer on the right border = double speed forwards

The **Scrubbing for active track only** option restricts scrubbing playback to the selected track.

# Recording

For a quick start, **Sequoia** is already set up " from factory " so that a recording can be made immediately:

R		м			n, A	•							
Ľ					#	- /	l 1	5	19	13	ון 👤		21  25
	1 S:	1		_	•								
	SM	• 1	2	oî :	8				6				
	vol	-40		_ _ (	0.0	ŀ		ineni (ie					
•	pan			0	0.0		Take01 0 dB						
	marker	12	3 4 5	6	78	1	9 10 11 12	IN OUT		×			
	144	*				►	₩	â	Standard MON SYN	₩ KC	Normal 👻	bpm 85.0	:
									PUNCH LOC			сыск # 4	

1 Arm the tracks to be recorded to for recording by activating the red record button.

2 By default, monitoring is active, you should now already be able to hear the input signal through the track and the track peak meter should show the level of the input signal.

- i Note: You control the input level with the mixer application of the audio hardware or directly at the audio hardware. The track volume control is used to set the playback or monitoring volume and not the input level.
- **3** If you want to play at a certain tempo by metronome, set the tempo in the transport console and activate the button **CLICK**.
- Start recording with the keyboard shortcut **R** or click on the Record button of the transport console.
- 5 The recording will start and you can immediately see the recorded audio on the track. Clicking Record or Stop again ends the recording. In the subsequent query, you can decide whether to keep or discard the recording.

The play cursor is returned to its starting position. You can now use the recording or record another take at the same place.



The existing object is overwritten by the recording, but the previously recorded material is still available in the project. After the recordings, there is an object in the track that references all the recording takes. You can manage the different take lanes via the Take Lanes ( $\nearrow$ 142).

		6	Vocals		•				ľ	×.			
		s	M 💿 🛋		<b>o</b> ^ *		have the black of	M_ HAA.	1.4	Ander	Alle .		44
		-80	-40 -20		1 12		AND A DECEMPTION OF	N NY Y	J M		9ml	1	1
9	2	vol			0.0								
Ч	~	pan		-	0.0	Т	Take03 0 dB Stereo Pan	-	Take02	0 dE%	Take03	0 dB	ъ
			Lane 1			•	Take01			1- (H			
			Lane 2					)+ • ()	<b>10-</b> 94	<b>3</b>	<b>++ +</b> +	o þenn	-+-
			Lane 3				Taken 20		0	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	- 1000	• en -	

- 1 Select the object on the lane and open the take lanes with the icon on the lane header. All recording takes are displayed under the object.
- 2 Click a take to use that take for the object.
- 3 Click and drag over a take to use a section from this take to combine the different recording takes.

For multitrack recordings, the takes on all tracks will be exchanged accordingly if you leave the recorded objects grouped after recording as preset.

You can now use the object handles (alpha152) or the Crossfade editor (alpha177) to precisely set the transitions between the takes and then edit the project further using the editing functions for ranges (alpha125) or objects (alpha165).

To tailor the recording function to your needs, you can customize the following:

- Input routing: There are controls in the mixer, track header and track editor for assigning recording devices to tracks. In the dialogs Track Settings (↗146), Mixer Settings (↗662) and in the Routing Manager (↗350) there are methods to assign several tracks to several recording devices at once.
- For **monitoring**, i.e. the playing of the input signal during recording, there are a number of different monitoring modes for the audio engine (*2*711), which can be used to configure monitoring for the playback of tracks with effects.
- **Mono/Stereo**: Recordings can be made in mono or stereo files. This means you can record stereo signals into either two mono tracks or one stereo track. You can use the routing functions in the Mixer Settings dialog (*P*664) to adjust several tracks or the entire project accordingly and make the necessary pan settings.
- Files: You set the default folder for projects in Program Preferences > Program > General (\$727). The recorded audio files are saved next to the project file in the project folder in the form project name\_track number. wav. As long as you do your production entirely within Sequoia, you can leave these names on the default defaults. If you want to use the recorded raw material elsewhere or pass it on, you have the option of naming

these files according to specific naming schemes (7148) for better identification.

In the **Record Options dialog** (296) you can specify a different file format for the files and set other options for recording. For even more settings for recording, see Program Preferences > System Options > Recording (/719).

# **Controlling the Recording Levels**

To check the recording level, use the **peak meter** of the track. It is very important that the recorded signal does not exceed the maximum level of OdB at any time. Such digital "clippings" are audible as very unpleasant noise in the recording.



() An exception to this is if your recording device supports real 32bit float recording. Then no more clipping can occur when recording in 32bit (float), as levels above OdB are then also stored correctly.

 $\dot{a}$  -  $\dot{a}$  If your audio material does contain such interference, you can try to save the recording with the Declipper.



The maximum level can be seen as a marker in the peak meter in the track editor and mixer. To reset the maximum level, left click on the peak meter. What the peak meters display depends on whether monitoring is active: If monitoring is active in a track, the peak meters show the level of the input signal; if not, they show the level of the audio signal being played back on the track. The

measurement takes place at the end of the track effect chain, so the level is calculated including the influence of track volume and effects.

With the preset Monitoring switching behavior (₱714) Tape machine monitoring. monitoring is automatically active for all tracks that are armed for recording when playback is stopped. With manual monitoring, monitoring can be switched on and off independently of the playback status.

The level display after the influence of track volume and any effects ensures that the level displays are consistent for recording and playback.

When recording, however, it is sometimes helpful to check the level of the signal directly at the input of the audio hardware, as not only the recording itself but also the input converters can be overloaded if the input signal is too high. To do this, click on the peak meter on the right and select **Peak meter for audio input** from the menu.

_		ດ Add Plug-in						
	Record							
	Monitoring							
	Economy Track							
	Peakmeter pre Fader/FX							
	Peakmeter for audio input							

This option is activated automatically as soon as you arm a track for recording. If you do not want this behavior, deactivate the option **Peak meter on audio input when recording** at the bottom of the monitoring switching behavior in the **Program preferences** > **Audio Setup**.

With the option **Peakmeter Pre-Fader/FX** the measurement takes place after a possible level compensation by the track **Gain** controller.

# **Recording Modes**

The recording can be done in two different transport modes.



You can change the mode in this menu in the Transport Console, in the **Recording Options dialog**, or with the options in the **Playback menu** > **Recording Mode/Punch In**.

### Standard (Playback during Recording)

In this mode, you record additional tracks to existing audio tracks that are being played back. To do this, arm the tracks that are to be additionally recorded. In these tracks, monitoring is activated by default and you hear the input signal you want to record for these tracks. The peak meters of the tracks also react to the input signal.

Recording starts at the playback marker position as soon as you click the **Recording button**.

If a range is selected behind the play cursor on the grid bar and loop mode is also active, recording will not start until the play cursor reaches the start of the range. Before that, **Sequoia** signals by a flashing record button that a recording will be made. In the selected range, recording is done in loop mode.

### Playback & Editing independent of Recording

In this mode, recording takes place completely independently of playback.

As soon as you start recording, the recording starts at the play cursor position. When monitoring is active, the input signal of the recorded tracks is played back. The captured objects are displayed in the project.

The playback marker does not move with the recording. Instead, you can play back the project at any point, playing back the audio material present on the tracks, including the material you just recorded, rather than the input signal (monitoring). Editing operations with areas or objects are also possible independent of the recording. You can use it to edit a project while it is still being recorded.

i The playback option Continuous playback while editing (↗87) is helpful for this.

The recording continues regardless of this until you press the record button again.

### **Recording Options**

With **right-click on the recording button** of the transport console or with menu **Playback** > **Recording options...** (keyboard shortcut:**Shift + R**) you open the dialog **Recording options**.

All recording settings can be changed here. The dialog can be closed and also reopened during a recording. The dialog also allows you to start, pause and stop recording and set markers during recording.For this task there is optional (\$\nothermode{719}\$) also a reduced version of the dialog that contains only the controls for this.

Format	Record mode	Sample rate	Options
Wave Formatgptions Info: No compression (edtable)	<ul> <li>16-bit</li> <li>24-bit</li> <li>32-bit (float)</li> <li>Stereo</li> <li>Mono</li> <li>Interleaved (folder track)</li> <li>Preload</li> </ul>	44100 Hz ✓ Resamp. to 44.1	Monitoring mode: Mixer FX Monitoring / Hybrid Eng V Monitor Playback & editing independent of recording Create object Update object during recording Read CD/DAT marker Pre-Recording (only ASIO and Wave format)
Record start 12:00 🕥 [	Active 01:00:00	ng length 0:000 \$1171 Active	Record offset (samples): 0 Advanced options
Recording device and VM BUS	file path 3-09-27_01.wav	✓ Info	Recording information         Recording time: 00:00:000         Visualizer         Remaining       168:00:00000         Disk memory C: 266:58:08:458
Record standard out	tput Stop F	Take: Recordpause Marker	<- FS Take05 + Auto Comment +
Track 1 ≤< ≥>			Close <u>H</u> elp

#### **Files and Inputs**

On the right side of the dialog you specify the format and paths of the files to be recorded to and the recording devices used.

- Format: Here you can set the respective recording file format (Wave, MP3, MPG, AIFF, Ogg Vorbis and FLAC). In the info box below you'll find information about each of the formats available. This way you can see if the format can be edited directly in Sequoia and which data compression is used.
- **Record Mode:** Select the desired bit resolution for your recording and choose between stereo, mono or interleaved recording.Interleaved is only active if all armed tracks are combined in one folder track. See more at Interleaved recording (*P*102).

 If your recording device supports true 32bit float recording, clipping can no longer occur when recording in **32bit (float)**, as levels above OdB are also saved correctly in float format.

If **Preload** is active, when you start recording with the record button, all playback buffers are loaded first and a confirmation dialog is displayed. After confirming with **OK** the recording is started without delay.

■ **Sample rate**: This option allows you to select the sample rate of the recording. By default, the project sample rate is used. However, you can also record at a different sample rate, in which case a object resampling (*2*677) will be applied to the recorded objects after recording.

**Resamp. to 44.1**: If you have set the recording sample rate to a value other than 44100 Hz and activate this option, **Sequoia** will resample to 44.1 kHz during recording.

This is an deprecated option. Modern audio hardware allows you to set all common sample rates via its driver settings and we recommend working with a uniform sample rate for driver, project and recording.

Recording start: Set the recording start time in this field. The recording is then controlled automatically by the internal system clock to a specific time. With Recording length you determine the duration of the recording. This gives you the option to perform scheduled recordings even in your absence. If no length has been selected, recording continues until the hard disk is full and then stops automatically.

- Recording device: Display and selection of the recording device for the track. With Info you open the driver settings of the recording device.
- **File path**: Specify the path to the files where the data should be recorded. The folder button opens a query for selecting the path and file name. In the menu below the down arrow there are naming schemes to derive the file name from various track properties (track name, track number...). For more information, see Dialog Track Options (#146).
  - Use the <</>> buttons at the very bottom to switch between tracks. However, stereo/mono recording, recording device, and file name are the only options in this dialog, which may differ from track to track. So you can't record wave file on one track and MP3 files on another.
- Record standard output: Enable this option to record the standard output of the operating system, for example the playback of DVD sound, the browser or games. An actual digital recording is implemented, which means that the exact digital data delivered to the sound card driver by the playback software (e.g. player in browser) is stored. To prevent this option from accidentally remaining active, it must be reactivated for each such recording operation.
  - **Note**: Some audio devices integrated in the mainboard (onboard sound) also offer the entire audio output as a recording device, often under the name "Stereomix" or "What You Hear". This also works, but the result of such a recording is not a real digital recording, because the analog output signal is fed back to the analog input inside the audio device, so a double conversion from digital to analog and back takes place.
  - *Tip*: Since everything that is played back in the operating system is actually recorded, you should disable system sounds, website notifications, instant messengers and the like.

#### Options

In the **Options** section of the dialog you will find the most important options for recording. Further options can be found in the Program Preferences > System Options > Recording (\$719), which you can also open directly via this dialog with the button **Advanced Options...**.

- **Monitoring mode**: For detailed information on monitoring, see Program Preferences > System options > Monitoring setup (*7*11).
- **Monitor**: With this button you activate the monitoring. All tracks with activated recording show the incoming signal on the peak meter.

- **Playback and editing independent of recording**: This option switches from standard recording mode to Playback and editing independent of recording (*P*95) mode.
- Create object: All recordings create objects on the corresponding tracks. You could disable this default behavior here.
- Update object during recording: During the recording, the graphical representation of the objects updates. The option is available only for recording to wave files. You could disable this default behavior here.
- **CD/DAT markers read**: DAT devices and some professional CD players output marker information via the SPDIF output (CD track or DAT marker). If this option is active, these markers are transferred to the project, provided that the audio device supports this.
- Pre-recording (ASIO and Wave format only): Use this function to add audio material that you have played before starting the recording to the beginning of the current recording.

 For more information on pre-recording, see Program Preferences> System Options > Recording (₱719).

Recording offset (samples): If recordings exhibit a constant, undesired shift in relation to the existing audio material in the project, set an offset here which can be used for positioning all recordings. The option +ASIO latency can be used to deactivate the compensation of ASIO input and output latency, which is always included by default, for certain recording and monitoring situations, for example when recording the master to a track and additionally recording the input.

**Recording Information**: In this section you can find information about the last recording you made, such as **Recording Time** (length of recording), **Remaining Time** (remaining recording time), and **Disk Space** (remaining space on the hard disk).

**Visualizer**: Opens or closes the visualization window.

**Reset Pk.**: Reset the visualization's peak hold display.

#### **Recording control**

You can also start and stop recording in the Recording Options dialog. The button **Recording** (keyboard shortcut: **A**) starts the recording. **Stop** (keyboard shortcut: **S**) ends the recording.

You can pause the current recording with the button **Recording pause**. Click again on **Pause recording** to resume recording at the same position. Unlike stopping and restarting the

recording, this does not create a new take. When stopping the recording from the paused state, the play cursor remains at the current position, the next recording then starts at this position.

**Take**: Each recording take is given a name and a sequential number. In the name field you can change the preset name that will be used for the next recording. To rename the currently recorded take while it is still recording, enter the name in the take name field and click the button <-. The consecutive number can be increased by one with the + button.

If you press the button **"FS (False Start)** during the recording, the acquired object will be split at the current position - but the recording will continue. The name of the separated part of the take is completed with "FS".

 $\dot{\psi}$  For more information on takes, see Take Manager ( $\mathbb{P}346$ ) and Take Lanes ( $\mathbb{P}142$ ).

**Auto**: During recording, you can use this button to set markers at the current recording position, e.g. to mark an incorrect passage for later correction. If you want to set a further marker, press the + button next to the **Comment** button. With the **Comment** button you can set and name additional markers. These will then appear in the marker bar but will not be recorded in the takes.

# **MIDI** Recording

In **Sequoia** there is no difference between audio and MIDI tracks. Each track can contain both audio and MIDI objects. This allows you to manage software instruments entirely within a single track: The track contains MIDI objects that control a VST instrument whose output is played back through the same track.

However, you can only record from one particular device on a track at a time, so it is not possible to record audio and MIDI to the same track at the same time. By default, audio is recorded on a track

To record MIDI on a track, click the **MIDI** button **MIDI** in the Track Editor, or select **MIDI Record** in the input assignment menu (right-click the record button in the track or the **In** area in the mixer channel). When loading a VST instrument (*P*392) into the track, MIDI recording is automatically turned on.

In **Sequoia** MIDI data is recorded in a similar way as audio data. You create an object for each recording, which overlaps existing objects. As with audio recording, you can record multiple takes that you can combine using the Take Lanes (*7*142).

Input Q: In the MIDI section of the Track Editor next to the Velocity Dynamics button you will also find the button Input Q. If it is active, MIDI notes are already quantized during recording according to the current setting. You can restore the original positions with the menu command Object > Quantize > Reset Quantization.

The peak meter works as an indicator for incoming MIDI signals.

- M	IDI							
In	<all></all>							
MPE	N.Exp. 💌							
Out	1. Microsoft GS W 💌							
Ch.In	all 🔻 Out all 💌							
Prog.	No Change							
BankHi	- LSB -							
Transp.	Map Map ROBOTA 💌							
	Input Q Velocity Dyn							

You can select the MIDI input device in the MIDI section of the Track Editor, by default all available MIDI input ports are selected.

i For more information on configuring the MIDI ports, see **Program** preferences > System options > MIDI (*⊘*717)

MIDI recordings are started just like audio recordings by clicking on the record button in the transport console.

### **MIDI Recording Modes**

MIDI data can be recorded in three different MIDI recording modes. They differ in how newly recorded MIDI data is inserted into the VIP if there are already MIDI objects at the recording position.



In this menu in the transport console or in the menu **Play/Rec** > **MIDI recording mode** you can select the MIDI recording mode.

- Normal: In this recording mode, a new MIDI object is created on top of the existing object for each recording operation, just like with audio recording. The existing object remains unchanged and you get multiple takes that you can select in the Take Manager (\$\not\gamma346\$) and combine in the Take Composer.
- **Overdub**: In this mode, the newly recorded MIDI data is additionally written to the existing MIDI object.
- Replace: In this mode the MIDI data of existing objects will be replaced by the newly recorded ones.

### **Retrospective MIDI recording**

The **Retrospective MIDI recording** allows you to integrate notes played on the keyboard into the project afterwards even without an activated recording, e.g. if you improvise an additional solo to an existing project with a VST instrument.

Activate the option **Retrospective recording** in the program settings (keyboard shortcut: **Y**) > **MIDI** at **Recording** and set the time period for which MIDI inputs should be stored retrospectively with the menu **Buffer**.

- Audio Setup	MIDI Input	MIDI Output
- Audio Devices	Keyboard	Microsoft GS Wavetable Synth
		Info
Metronome		Rename
Recording		1 to to to to
Playback		Reset
- Performance	Global Record Device:	Global Play Device:
Program	<all> ~</all>	Microsoft GS Wavetable Synth 🛛 🗸
General	Recording	
Undo Object Lock Definitions	Record Offset: 0 ms	Retrospective Buffer: 60s V

Then, if at some point you played along to a project on your MIDI keyboard and want to save that performance, choose Playback > Retrospective MIDI recording.

Select whether you want to insert the MIDI data at the position in the project where you played it or at the current position of the play cursor. Accordingly, **Sequoia** inserts a MIDI object the size of the buffer into the track that contains the played notes.



**(i)** Tip: Recording MIDI notes using the "Retrospective MIDI recording" feature also works when stopped, i.e. without simultaneous playback of the project.

### **Interleaved Recording**

You can conduct a multi-channel recording as interleaved recording. This means that an arbitrary number of audio channels are recorded into one wave file.

Here's how you do it:

- 1. Create the desired number of tracks and do the appropriate input routing by assigning a different hardware input to each track. You can mix mono and stereo tracks as you like.
- 2. Select all tracks by clicking the track head of the first track and, with the Shift key held down, the track head of the last track.
- Now choose Track > Insert New Track > New Folder Track from the menu.
- 4. Now right-click on the record button in the track head of the folder track and choose Interleaved (Foldertrack) from the context menu.
- 5. Now activate recording in the folder track with a left click on the record button on the track head.
- 6. Use the record button on the transport console to start recording as usual.



Notes:

- When loading an Interleaved Multi-Channel-Wave a Foldertrack will also be created by default, optionally a surround master will be created. You can deactivate this behavior in the Options for loading audio files" (*2*675).
- Any number of audio tracks can be recorded into an Interleaved file.Loading the file into a folder track with simultaneous creation of a surround master works up to a maximum of 32 tracks.

# Loop Recording

If you want to record in a loop, first select the range in the project window that you want to record.



Then activate the **Loop** button in the Transport Console.



You can place the play cursor in front of the selected range, if Loop is activated the range selection will be kept. Start recording, playback starts from the position of the play cursor. The actual recording starts when the play cursor reaches the loop range.

The range will loop until you stop recording again. A new take is created for each pass.

The Take Manager (abla346) and Take Lanes (abla142) can be used to organize and edit the recording takes.

# **Punch Recording**

In Punch Recording mode, only the range between the punch starter marker and the punch end marker is recorded. Punch recording can be carried out for all recording types described. You activate this mode in the transport console. "Punch-in/Punch-out" is a recording process that can be started and ended while playback is running.



If you have not set punch markers before, they will be set automatically when recording if a range was selected before recording started. If no range is selected, you can also set the In marker during recording to define the recording start position and the Out marker for the recording end position.

If you set the option Prepare all tracks for Track Punch record in the Program Preferences > System Options > Recording (arrow719), you can subsequently add audio tracks to a recording that were not yet armed when the recording was started, or remove individual audio tracks from the recording. To do this, click on the record button of the desired track.

If the recording is started when punch markers have been set, the recording button will flash until the In marker has been reached and again when the Out marker has been passed. It will light continuously during the actual recording between the markers.

If you end the punch recording by clicking the record button again, playback will not be interrupted. However, if you click the **stop** button, playback will also stop.

### Punch Recording with Markers

If the range in which a punch recording is to be made is known precisely in advance, you can use markers to perform the punch process.

1. Select the range to be recorded and click the **In** (sets the Punch In marker) and **Out** (sets the Punch Out marker) buttons in the Transport console (265).



- 2. Now you can set the play cursor in position.
- If **Punch** is activated, start the playback with the "Record" button on the transport console. The actual recording will only take place within the punch range. Punch In Punch Out

When the recording is started and the play cursor is not yet in the punch range, the "Record" button will blink. During punch recording, it lights up red continuously.

By right-clicking on the **In/Out** buttons on the transport control, you reach a menu where you can delete the markers: **Delete Marker** deletes the marker of the respective right-clicked button, **Delete Punch Markers** deletes all regular punch markers.

With **Additional Punch Start Marker** and **Additional Punch End Marker**, any number of additional punch in/out markers can be set. These correspond to a simple marker named **Punch In+** and **Punch Out+**. Whenever the play cursor reaches the project section before these markers during a punch recording in a project with such additional markers, the regular punch in/out markers are moved to the positions of the additional punch markers.

This means that you can mark all the places in a project over which a punch recording is to be made with such additional markers and then complete all punch recordings in one recording pass.

Delete additional punch markers deletes all additional punch markers.

-\cong\_- All punch marker commands can be found in the menu **Playback** > **Marker** and can thus also be provided with keyboard shortcuts.

## **Recording Track Outputs**

It is also possible to record the output of a track, a bus or the master on a track. To select the output of a track as the source for audio recording, right-click the Record button in the Track Head, Track Editor, or Mixer, or click the **Input** button in the **Audio** section of the Track Editor, or at the very top of a mixer track, to open the Track Input menu.



At the very bottom under **Tracks** you can select one of the tracks or masters of the project as the recording source.

For example, you can quickly output an intermediate status of the project without having to think about the export settings by recording the output of the master on a new track.

# Section, Scrolling and Zooming

A **Sequoia** project contains a lot of graphical information: Objects with their waveform representation, automation curves, markers and much more. An overview of the entire project is needed just as much as an exact representation of the fade-in of a single object.



The part of the project in the project window that is visible at the same time is called the **section**, and the size of the display of this section is called the **zoom level**. Changing the zoom level is called **zooming**.

Moving the visible section is called **scrolling**.

## Zooming

There are a number of ways to zoom in **Sequoia** using the keyboard and mouse.

#### Zooming with the mouse wheel

To zoom with the mouse wheel, hold down one of the following modifier keys and turn the mouse wheel. You can zoom in by rolling the mouse wheel upwards. You can zoom out by rolling the mouse wheel downwards.

Description	Modifier
Vertical Zoom	Ctrl + Mouse wheel
Horizontal Zoom	Ctrl + Shift + Mouse wheel
Vertical + Horizontal Zoom	Ctrl + Alt + Mouse wheel
Zoom waveform display	Alt + Mouse wheel

-`Q`- The modifier keys used can be customized in the **Program Settings** under **Keyboard/Menu/Mouse** > **Mouse Wheel**. With the **Reset** button, you can switch there between the default mapping and an alternative mapping where the mouse wheel scrolls horizontally without a modifier key.

#### Zooming with the keyboard

- Use the key combinations Ctrl + right arrow and Ctrl + left arrow to zoom horizontally in the project, i.e. in project time. Alternatively, you can use the up arrow/down arrow keys.
- Use the key combinations Ctrl + up arrow and Ctrl + down arrow to zoom in and out of the waveform display.

Further commands for zoom functions with the corresponding keyboard shortcuts can be found in the View > Horizontal and View > Vertical menus.

#### Zoom using buttons



In the lower right-hand corner of the project window, the + and - buttons may be used for more precise adjustment of the horizontal and vertical zoom levels.

Right click on the zoom buttons or left click on these buttons opens the menus View > Vertical and Horizontal as context menu with all commands for zooming and scrolling.

Buttons for important zoom levels are located in the bottom toolbar.



- 1 Entire project (horizontal)
- 2 Entire project (vertical)
- **3** Vertical zoom to range
- 4 Horizontal zoom to range
- **5** Zoom out of waveform display
- 6 Zoom in on waveform display
- **7** Display waveform normalized (**#**738)

You can add (abla 51) additional zoom buttons via the **Edit Toolbar** dialog from the context menu of the toolbar.

#### Zooming with the scrollbars

The scroll bars can be used for zooming:

- Click and drag the ends of the scroll bars at the bottom and right edges of the project window to change the size of the displayed section or the height of the displayed tracks.
- **Click and drag** the **bars** to move the horizontal or vertical section.
- Double click on the bar sets the zoom level to the maximum value (display of the entire project or all tracks).

The length of the section, i.e. the duration of the project section displayed in the project window, is shown at or on the scroll bar.

00:00:41:17

#### Zoom mouse mode

There is also a special mouse mode for zooming Use the right mouse button to zoom out of the project, and the left mouse button to zoom in. Also, in this mouse mode, you can draw a selection rectangle over the project window to zoom in on a specific time period.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  The Zoom mouse mode can also be temporarily activated by holding the **Z** key.

#### Zoom to selected object

Click this button at the bottom right of the arranger or choose Menu View > Zoom to selected object to adjust the section across all selected objects.

If you click this button again, Sequoia will display the original section again.

i The previous section is always restored when you deactivate the function, regardless of whether the object selection or section was changed while it was active. Attention: It will be restored even if you have switched to another open project in the meantime. This can lead to unexpected results.

#### **Overview mode**

The Overview mode shows the entire project in reduced size below the arranger tracks.


📰 Open the Overview mode via the button in the lower toolbar or via the corresponding menu command in the menu **View**.

In the overview, click and drag to select the section to be displayed in the arranger. By simply clicking in the overview, you position the section at the desired location in the project. Conversely, the selected section in the overview also follows the visible section in the project.



(i) The overview mode only determines the horizontal zoom level, not the height and number of displayed tracks.

## Zooming by Vertical Mouse Dragging

Zoom your project by **clicking and dragging vertically**. At the same time you can change the play cursor position or the range borders by **dragging horizontally**.

This allows you to position the play cursor precisely "in one go".

- 1. Roughly set the desired position by clicking in the marker bar.
- 2. Click in the **Marker bar** above the top track and drag down to zoom in, drag up to zoom out.
- 3. At the same time, correct the play cursor position by dragging horizontally. Dragging up zooms back out.

**(i)** Tip: If you press the **Ctrl** key before releasing the mouse button, the program automatically returns to the old zoom level.

And this is how you select an exact range with this method:

- 1. Using the method described above, position the play cursor where you want the range to begin.
- 2. Now click below the play cursor in the **grid bar** and drag the mouse to the right to roughly define the end of the range.
- 3. Click the end of the range on the grid bar and drag down again to zoom in and adjust the end of the range precisely. Press the **Ctrl** + key and release the mouse.
- () If you do not want to change the zoom level when dragging the mouse, disable this feature in Program Preferences (Y key) > **Keyboard/Menu/Mouse** > **Mouse** with the option **No zoom** when dragging mouse vertically in timeline.

### Scrolling

**Scrolling** is moving the section of the project that is visible in the project window.

#### Autoscroll

By default, the visible section follows the play cursor in **Autoscroll** mode during playback. This means that the section "jumps" to the next time section shortly before the play cursor moves off the right side of the screen (Page Mode). In **Soft Autoscroll** mode, the section moves steadily under the play cursor, which is fixed in the center of the project window.

You can switch between these scrolling modes in the **View** menu. Use the **Scroll** key to turn the autoscroll mode on and off in general, use **Shift + Scroll** to turn the soft autoscroll on. Without autoscroll, the play cursor just moves out of the visible section. To move the visible section of the project back to the play cursor, use the command **Section to play cursor/Last stop position** (keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Alt + ,**). In stopped state, the section jumps together with the play cursor to the position where the playback was stopped.

#### Scrolling with the keyboard

The play cursor can also be moved using the arrow keys on your computer keyboard. If you additionally hold down the **Alt** key, you can move through the project in soft autoscroll mode.

The **Home** and **End** keys move the play cursor and the visible section of the project either to the very beginning or the very end.

To move the visible section without moving the play cursor, use the commands in the menu **View** > **Horizontal** and **Vertical**. Many of these scrolling commands can be executed by keyboard shortcut.

Horizontal:	Half section left	Ctrl + Alt + Arrow left
	Half section right	Ctrl + Alt + Arrow right
	Section to play cursor	Ctrl + Alt + ,
	Section to range start	Ctrl + Alt + B
	Section to range end	Ctrl + Alt + N
	Zoom in	Ctrl + Arrow left, Arrow up
	Zoom out	Ctrl + Arrow right, Arrow down
	Show all	Ctrl + Alt + Arrow up
	Zoom to range	Ctrl + Alt + Arrow down

Vertical positions:	Half section up	Shift + Arrow up
	Half section down	Shift + Arrow down

Tip: Many of these commands are also accessible from the bottom toolbar (₱50). Other scroll buttons can be added (₱51) in the Edit Toolbar dialog.

#### Scrolling with the Mouse



**In the grid and marker bar**: Click and drag on the grid and marker bar with the **Alt** key held down to move the visible horizontal section.

**Using the scroll bars**: By moving the scroll bars, the contents of the window can be moved.

With the mouse wheel: Turn the mouse wheel to move the visible vertical section (i.e. the displayed tracks). Hold down the **Shift** key to move the horizontal section.

-`Q`- The modifier keys used can be customized in the **Program Settings** under **Keyboard/Menu/Mouse** > **Mouse Wheel**. With the **Reset** button, you can switch there between the default mapping and an alternative mapping where the mouse wheel scrolls horizontally without a modifier key.

With the middle mouse button: Click and drag anywhere in the project with the middle mouse button to move the visible section.

### Storing and Recalling Position and Zoom Level

There are four memory locations to save a specific section (zoom level and position) in the project and restore it later. The zoom level can be saved in four additional memory locations.



The buttons for the memory locations are located below the track header of the lowest track.

Left-click a button 1-4 at **Setup** to save the current zoom level and the position of the section in the project. The number on the button is displayed brighter if it is occupied. Left-click on an

occupied button to restore the section. The selected memory location is highlighted in color. To delete a memory location, click on the button with the **Shift** key held down.

Use the buttons at **Zoom** to save and load only the zoom level in the same way.

Corresponding menu commands for this can be found in the menu **View** > **More**. There are keyboard shortcuts for the first three memory locations in each case:

Command	Keyboard shortcut
Store Position and Zoom Level	Ctrl + NumPad 1, 2, 3
Get position and zoom level	NumPad 1, 2, 3
Store Zoom Level	Ctrl + NumPad 4, 5, 6
Get zoom level	NumPad 4, 5, 6

### **Multiple Sections**

You can display up to three **sections** of the same project via menu **View > Sections**.



If you select option **2** for two sections, a second view will open under the project window, whose section can be set independently of the first view. This way, for example, you can view the complete project in one window, while magnifying a specific area in the other.

The **3** (sections) mode can be especially helpful when searching for loop points in a wave window. The upper, large window can display the entire file, while the lower left pane shows the beginning and the lower right pane the end of the loop range.



#### Split range

If you select **Sections** > **Split range**, the project is displayed in three sections. The lower two sections show the start of the range and the end of the range at the maximum zoom level. In

this way, the range limits can be set precisely. **Split range for Video** does the same thing, but sets the zoom level for the range edges to 1 frame for working with video footage.

Use the Page up / Page down keys to switch between the sections.

## Markers

You can use **markers** to indicate places of special importance in your project, for example, in a song arrangement, the beginning of each song part, such as intro, verse, or chorus. The time positions marked in this way can be accessed quickly using a menu entry, button or keyboard shortcut. Selected ranges can also be provided with a **range marker**. In addition to the position, it also has a length and can be used to quickly restore a play range or to export individual time segments of the project to separate files. A project in **Sequoia** can contain any number of markers.

I C M	a'	φ.							
		#*	1 1	5  9	j 13	17	121	125	29
Range			Intro		verse 1		Part 2		
Marker	E E. A. B			check FX		🖊 louder her	el	<b></b> S(	ome solo

- i In addition to these markers, which are displayed on special tracks, there are other markers for marking time positions in projects or objects: Audio markers, markers for CD recording functions and metadata, tempo markers, bar markers, grid position markers. These are shown above the grid bar and discussed elsewhere:
  - Markers for **CD functions** (*7*591) are used to mark CD track positions when a project is to be burned to CD, but also to save metadata for export to compressed formats such as MP3.
  - *Tempo markers, Beat markers* and *Grid position markers* are markers for controlling tempo changes (*P*374) in the project.
  - Audio markers (*7*118) are markers in wave projects that can optionally be displayed in the associated objects.
  - Warp Marker (*7*386) are set in objects and used for time correction of audio events in audio material.
  - Lyrics markers (*7*500) enable you to enter song text, comments or production directions.

Markers are displayed in a special **Marker track** above the top track in the project; for range markers there is also an **Range marker track**. Operation is identical in both tracks; the following explanations on markers and the marker track also apply to the range markers in the range marker track.



The height of the marker tracks can be adjusted by clicking and dragging the lower edge of the track. Depending on the height of the track, the marker names are displayed in such a way that they are optimally legible. Right-clicking on the marker track head opens the Marker manager ( $\gg$ 342).

Starting from the marker, marker lines are drawn over the entire height of the marker track. The option **Show marker lines/range marker lines across all tracks** in the context menu of a marker can be used to display the marker lines across the entire project.

The marker track/range marker track can be hidden separately using Marker track and Range marker track in the context menu of a marker or in the Viewmenu. The markers are then not displayed in the project, but can only be accessed via the marker manager.

Markers can be set with the buttons in the track head of the marker track, by menu command or keystroke and then jumped to directly.

### **Setting Markers**

Markers can be set both in stop state and during playback or recording. They are placed at the current position of the play cursor. All marker commands can be found in the **Play/Rec** > **Marker** menu. You can also access the menu by right-clicking on the marker track or using the menu at the marker track head.

Marker command	Keyboard shortcut
<b>Set markers with number 10</b> : For fast saving of markers use the number keys with held <b>Shift</b> key. Depending on whether a range is selected, an range marker or a simple marker is set.	Shift + 10
<b>Set marker with next higher number</b> : This command or a click on this button in the track header of the marker track sets a new marker with the next higher number.	Shift + '

?

**Set marker with any name**: With this menu command or this button *m* in the track head of the marker track, the marker can be named arbitrarily when it is set.

Set new markers at recording position: This option (active by default) Alt + ? determines whether markers set during recording are set at the current recording position or, if not active, at the playback marker position instead. It is only relevant in the recording mode **Playback & editing independent of** recording (↗95), because in standard recording the play cursor and recording position are the same.

**Get marker**: Clicking on a marker moves the play cursor to the corresponding **1...0** marker position. The marker positions 1...0 can be jumped to directly from the keyboard using the number keys. Clicking on an range marker selects the corresponding playback range.

-☆- **Tip**: With **Alt** + **F-Keys** you can also save and restore ranges with the keyboard, for more information see Saving and restoring rangesSaving and Restoring Ranges (*P*129)

### **Coloring, Renaming or Deleting Markers**

Markers can be assigned colors for more clarity. Select a marker by clicking on it, by clicking with held **Ctrl** key you can add markers to the selection. Then click the Marker Color button or choose **Marker Color...** from the Marker menu. Select a color from the menu.

(i) The menu corresponds to the color menu used to colorize tracks and objects, for more information on colors, see Color mode (↗76)

To **rename** a marker, double-click a marker and change the name in the dialog.

To delete a marker, select the marker by clicking on it, multiple markers can be selected by clicking and holding **Ctrl** key. Then press the **Del** key to delete. In the marker menu there are also commands to delete all markers in the selected range(**Delete markers in range**) or to delete all markers (**Delete all markers**).

## **Moving Markers**

To move a marker, click and drag it to the desired position. You can also select multiple markers by clicking and holding **Ctrl** key and then move them together. To lock the markers against accidental moving, click the **Lock markers** button in the marker track header.

If you move a marker or several selected markers while holding down the **Ctrl** key, all subsequent markers are also moved by the same amount. This also applies to the end of range markers, i.e. if you change their length.

The option in the menu **Object Mode** > **Link Markers to Objects** lets you move markers along with objects in the top track of the project when you move them. Moving objects in object mode **Link all tracks to the right** then moves the markers independently of the track of the moved object.

Via the submenu **Link markers** of the marker menu vou can specify in detail how existing and newly set markers behave when moving objects: In the upper section **Current marker** you define whether the marker at the playback position is moved along with objects of the first track (**First track**), of the selected track (**Current track**), all tracks (**All tracks**) or not at all (**No tracks**) when moving them. The lower section **New Marker** defines which behavior is applied to newly set markers. For example, you can first set markers to be moved with the objects and set fixed markers at a later time.

 $\dot{\phi}$  For a clearer representation of which markers are moved along with objects on which tracks when you move them, use the **RefTrk** column in the marker manager (aaga342). For each marker, it specifies the track (or all tracks or no track) whose objects move this marker.

### **Other Actions with Markers**

To select a range between two markers, first click on the first marker and, holding down the **Shift** key, click on the second marker or double-click in a free area in the marker track between the two markers.

Note: The click position is important for overlapping range markers: The range is selected between the next range marker end before the click position to the next range marker start after the click position.

**Marker on range borders**: Use this function to place a start maker **S** and an end marker **E** at the borders of a selected range.

Use the function keys **F2** and **F3** or the shortcuts **Alt + W/Alt + Q** to quickly jump back and forth between the marker positions or select Menu **Play/Rec > Move Play Cursor > Marker left/right**.

To quickly switch between range markers, use the keyboard shortcuts **Shift + Alt + W/Shift + Alt + Q** or select **Play/Rec > Move play cursor > Select previous/next range marker**).

### Marker Manager

The marker manager lists all of the markers contained in the current project and makes it possible to jump directly from the list to them or to play them. To display the Marker Manager,

right click the track head of the marker tracks or select from the **Marker menu** or **View** > **Manager** menu **Marker Manager...** or use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + Alt + M**.

Detailed information about this is can be found in the chapter Manager > Marker Manager (2342).

### **Markers after Silence**

Set Markers	after Silence				×
<u>M</u> in.time (m 500	ns) Thr <u>esho</u> lo A -35	d ^	<u>S</u> tart number: <u>P</u> refix:	0	<u>OK</u> <u>C</u> ancel
			<u>A</u> dd Time (ms):	0	<u>H</u> elp
		1	Min. distance between markers (sec):	30	
			Delete marke	ers with prefix	Split objects
	~	~	Delete a	ll markers	<u>T</u> est

"Silence" is defined as a place in the audio material where the level falls below a minimum level, the **Threshold (dB)** for a certain **Minimum time (ms)**.

For naming the generated markers you can enter a **Start number** from which the markers are incremented, additionally you can enter additional characters/letters with **Prefix** which are prefixed to the marker number. This makes it easier to distinguish them from existing markers.

**Add time (ms)**: Here you can enter the time span by which the markers will be shifted backwards (to the left).

**Delete markers with prefix**: Deletes all markers that have the given prefix. This allows you, for example, to delete all markers that were created by a previous application of **Markers after Silence...**.

Delete all markers: Deletes all markers in the project

**Test**: With the button **Test** you can generate the markers temporarily at first to check if the correct markers are generated with the set threshold and time constants. If too many or too few markers are displayed, change the values and click Test again until you are satisfied with the result. Then click **OK** to close the dialog and finally create the markers.

**Split objects**: If you select this option, the object will be additionally split at the generated markers.

## Audio Marker

In Wave Projects (wave files) markers can be stored directly in the audio file (\*.wav). They are thus also available in other projects or applications. When wave files containing markers are loaded into a virtual project, these markers can be displayed at the top of the object.

Markers in wave files set in other audio applications (e.g. MAGIX SOUND FORGE Pro) are also recognized.

The display of audio markers is disabled by default. To display audio markers, activate the option **Audio marker** in the **Objects** section of the View Options ( $\nearrow$ 737) dialog in the **Program settings**.





If you right-click an object and choose **Wave Editing...**, the audio file will be opened for destructive editing as a wave project.

Markers that you set in the wave project appear in the virtual project as audio markers in the object.

If the audio marker display is turned on, you can right-click the top of an audio object in the virtual project to open a menu that lists all the audio markers. Select an audio maker to move the play cursor to its position. The option **List all audio markers of the track** in the menu determines whether the menu contains only the audio markers of the clicked object or of all objects of the track.

#### Set New Audio Marker

To set a new audio marker directly from the virtual project, choose the command **Set new audio marker**. Use this command to set an audio marker in the selected audio object at the play cursor position. If there is already a marker at this position in the virtual project, its name is taken also for the audio marker.

#### VIP Marker to Audio Marker/Audio Marker to VIP Marker

Select an object and choose **Play/Rec** > **Marker** > **Copy audio marker to VIP marker** to copy the audio markers of the audio file to the virtual project according to the object position within its object boundaries.

Copy VIP markers to audio marker vice versa, copies all markers of the project that are temporally between the object boundaries to the audio file of the object.

#### Audio Marker Manager

The Audio Marker Manager is a special variant of the CD Index Manager and is used to conveniently edit all audio markers of an audio file. For information on operation, refer to CD 



**(i)** Note: The Audio Marker timings in the Manager refer to time positions in the audio file, not to positions in the virtual project.

## Marker List Input

With the marker list input, a larger number of markers (e.g. a handwritten marker list of a recording session) can be entered quickly and effectively into the project. Open the marker list input with menu Play/Rec > Marker > Input marker list... or keyboard shortcut Ctrl + Shift + L

And this is how you enter markers:

- 1. Enter the time position of the marker into the Marker time editing field. In the field on the right of the time entry you can set the unit of measurement. For the time "001:02:010" enter only "00102010", in the edit field the numbers move automatically to the left, colons don't have to be typed.
- 2. If necessary, press the **tab** key to change the default marker name.
- 3. Use the **Enter key** to enter the marker. The marker is created, then the time input field is selected again and you can enter the next marker.
- 4. When you have entered all markers, click **OK** and exit the marker list entry.

Marker List Input	×
Marker <u>T</u> ime: 035:01:000 Bars Beat Marker <u>N</u> ame:	Marker Auto Number Generate Marker Name Prefix: Cue
Next Marker (Enter)	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel

The default marker name results from the settings in the input fields **Prefix** and **Number**.

- The **Prefix field** specifies a fixed part of the marker name, while the **Number field** contains the sequence number, which is incremented by one with each new marker.
- If Generate marker names is deactivated, the entered marker name is no longer changed and thus remains as a name for the creation of further markers. However, the marker number continues to count up with each marker applied.

# Ranges

You can select parts of the arrangement as **Range** to perform cutting operations: The objects and automations within a range can be cut or copied and pasted to another location. The range selection can extend over any number of tracks, and the selection range is not limited to objects and does not have to coincide with the object edges. During the cutting operations, the objects are split at the range boundaries.

## Selecting and Editing Ranges with the Mouse

To set a range, click and drag the mouse on the tracks over the objects. In the Universal mouse mode  $\blacksquare$ , you must click in the upper half of the track to do this, otherwise you will move the objects. You can also use the Range mouse mode  $\blacksquare$  and can thus use the whole track for range selection.

 $\bar{}$  You can see from this shape of the mouse pointer that an range selection is possible: igsqcup



Ranges can also extend over several tracks

When selecting a range, a corresponding playback range (↗83) is always specified as well. Moving the play cursor therefore always cancels the range selection. However, it can be restored with Shift + Backspace (see below).

You can edit an already selected range. To do this, click inside the range selection and drag in the appropriate direction:

Drag the playback range borders on the grid bar to change only the time selection. **Shift** + click and drag in the range on the grid bar to move the whole range.



First drag up or down to add more tracks to the selection or remove tracks from the selection. The time selection (horizontal) is retained.

Chorus			ъ
VocFX2			
Violins3			
Bass	ъ	Bass	Ъ
Drums			

First drag to the right or left to edit time and track selection.

Chorus			ъ
VocFX2			
Violins3			
Bass	Ъ	Bass	ъ
Drums			

• A **double-click in the playback range** on the grid bar switches between three different variants of the range selection: Range over current track, Range over all tracks and Range not over tracks (playback range only).

69		71	
Chorus		(	ъ
VocFX2			
Violins3			
Bass	ъ	Bass	ъ
Drums			

i) If a range was selected over several but not all tracks, the track selection is lost in the process.

-\u03c6 For the mouse actions to expand/reduce the selection over the tracks and the double-click actions, there are also menu items in the menu *Edit* > *Range* > *Edit Range* that can be provided with keyboard shortcuts:

*Extend/reduce Range top/bottom* and *Range not over/over current/over all tracks* and *Remove range*.

## **Editing Ranges with the Keyboard**

In the menu **Edit** > **Range** > **Edit Range** are the commands to control the range selection with the keyboard.

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Range all	Set the range over the entire duration of the project. Repeatedly applying the keyboard shortcut toggles between Range over Selected Track, Range over All Tracks, and Playback Range Only.	A
Move Range start left/right	The start of the range is shifted one grid unit (\$\angle 78) to the left or right.	Arrow left/right Alt + Num ÷/×
Move Range end left/right	The end of the range is shifted one grid unit to the left or right.	Shift + Arrow right/left Alt + Num -/+
Flip range left / right	The current range is flipped by its length to the left or right. With <b>Flip Range left</b> , its new end corresponds to its former beginning, with <b>Flip Range right</b> , its new beginning corresponds to its former end.	Ctrl + Shift + Arrow left/right
Range start to left marker	The start of the range is moved to the nearest marker to the left.	Shift + F2

Range end to right marker	<ul> <li>The end of the range is moved to the nearest marker to the right.</li> <li>Note: These commands also include audio markers in the object if they are displayed in the project. (Menu File &gt; Program settings &gt; Project display). Also taken into account are other markers such as CD track indices or tempo markers.</li> </ul>	Shift + F3
Range over all Selected Objects	The range is set over all selected objects. It includes all tracks between the top and bottom selected object over the time duration of the leftmost and rightmost selected objects. $\dot{\nabla}$ - So with this command you can quickly define a range by clicking the first object in the desired time period, holding down the Ctrl key and clicking the last object, and then proscing <b>Shift</b> + -	Shift + -
	pressing <b>Sime</b> ·	

### **Unselecting and Reactivating Ranges**

If you move the play cursor to another position, by mouse click into the project or a command from the menu Play/Rec > Move Play Cursor, the range selection is removed.

(i) A double-click on the Grid bar also cancels the playback range ( $\mathbb{Z}$ 82).

To restore a previous range selection, enter the keyboard shortcut **Shift + Backspace** or choose Menu Edit > Range > Recall last range. By repeatedly executing the command, you can restore the last five ranges. You can also execute this function by clicking this button in the Transport Console.



## **Finding Zero Crossings**

"Zero crossing" is what we call a sample value that lies between a positive and a negative sample value (ideally 0 or almost 0). If samples are not cut at zero crossings, audible value jumps can occur when these samples are cut directly one after the other.



(i) When Auto Crossfade modeAuto Crossfade Mode (∥176) is activated, zero crossings do not matter because objects are then faded in and out at their boundaries.

If you do not want to fade in the samples, for example to best preserve the transients of percussive audio, you can use the commands under menu **Edit** > **Range** > **Edit Range** > **Find Zero Crossings** to move the range boundaries to the zero crossings.

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Beginning of Range - > 0	The range start is shifted to the right to the next zero crossing.	Ctrl + Page Up
Beginning of Range <- 0	The range start is shifted to the left to the next zero crossing.	Shift + Page up
End of Range -> 0	The range end is shifted to the right to the next zero crossing.	Ctrl + Page Down
Beginning of Range <- 0	The range end is shifted to the left to the next zero crossing.	Shift + Page down
0 -> Range <- 0	The range limits are shifted inward to the nearest zero crossings	

Regardless of which tracks the range selection includes, the zero crossings are sought in the object that is under the range boundary in the current track. If there is no object there, the search is made in the top track that contains an object at the corresponding time position. In any case, after the zero-crossing search, the range selection extends only over the track of the analyzed object.

### **Other Menu Commands for Editing Ranges**

In addition to the above commands for editing ranges, which come with keyboard shortcuts by default, there are other commands for range manipulation in the menu **Edit** > Range > **Edit range**.

**Move range ends to object edges**: With **Range start to left object edge** the range start is moved to the nearest object edge to the left. It is irrelevant on which track this object is located. With **Range end to the right object edge** the range end is moved to the nearest object edge to the right.

**Extend range to start or end of project**: With **Range to Beginning** the range start is moved to the start of the project, with **Range to end** the range end is moved to the end of the project.

**Range length**: With the commands at **Range length** you can set the range, starting at the play cursor, to the length of 1, 2, 4, 8 and 16 beats.

**Range Manager**: The Range ManagerRange Manager (#344) displays all saved ranges of the current project. Keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Alt + Shift + B** 

**Range editor**: With the range editor you can numerically edit the beginning, end and length of the selected range in different units of measurement.

Range Edit	or				×	
Range Start		Range Le	Range Length		Range End	
Samples:	1.587.600	Samples:	970.200	Samples:	2.557.800	
Millisec.:	36.000 ms	Millisec.:	22.000 ms	Millisec.:	58.000 ms	
SMPTE:	00:00:36:00	SMPTE:	00:00:22:00	SMPTE:	00:00:58:00	
Bar:	019:01:000	Bar:	011:00:000	Bar:	030:01:000	
			0//	<u> </u>		
		L	<u>U</u> K	Cancel	Help	

You open the Range editor via menu **Edit** > **More** > **Range editor...** 

Adjustments to the parameters exhibit themselves as follows:

- Change start of range -> Range end remains constant
- Change range length -> Range start remains constant
- Change range end -> Range start remains constant

### Copying, Pasting and Deleting ranges

Various edit operations can be performed with the selected range. The content of the selected range can be copied to the clipboard (also called "clip" here) or cut, deleted, overwritten with silence, or pasted via the clipboard elsewhere in the project.

#### **i** Notes:

- The menu commands and keyboard shortcuts for the edit operations apply to selected objects as well as to selected ranges. Depending on whether objects or a range is selected, the corresponding operations are performed. If both objects and a range are selected, at Copy, Cut and Replace with silence the range selection always has priority, at Delete the order of selection decides: The last thing selected is deleted, range or object.
- The object modes (*P*161) are also respected during cutting operations with ranges, i.e. if a corresponding object mode with rippling is set (e.g. *Link all tracks to the right*), subsequent objects will also be moved forward to fill the gap when cutting ranges.

### Сору

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Сору	The selected range is copied to the clipboard. The previous contents of the clipboard will be lost.	C Ctrl + C Ctrl + Ins
Copy as	This operation is available only for Wave projects. There you can save the selected range directly into a new wave file.	Shift + C
Copy to ClipStore	The selected range is copied and stored as an entry in the Clip manager (\$\nothing327\$). This allows you to perform several copy actions in succession and preserve the respective clipboard contents. This operation is not available for wave projects.	Ctrl + Shift + C
Copy + Clear	<ul> <li>Copies the current range to the clipboard, removes it from the project, and replaces it with silence.</li> <li><i>This command is very similar to the command Cut</i>, but no rippling of subsequent audio material is performed here, even if an Object Mode with rippling is active.</li> <li>This operation is not available for wave projects.</li> </ul>	Ctrl + Alt + C

### Cut

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Cut	The selected range is copied to the clipboard and deleted from the project. In wave projects, the subsequent audio material is rippled, the audio file becomes shorter by the cut part. In virtual projects, the subsequent material is rippled or not according to the set Object Mode.	X Ctrl + X Shift + Del
Cut with time/ripple	The selected range is copied to the clipboard and deleted from the project. The subsequent material is rippled, even in virtual projects, regardless of the object mode set.	Ctrl + Alt + X

	Cut to Clipstore The selected range is deleted from the project and stored as an entry in the clip manager (1€327). This allows you to perform several cut actions in succession and preserve the respective clipboard contents. The subsequent material is rippled or not according to the set Object Mode. This operation is not available for wave projects.				
F	Paste				
	Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut		
	Paste / Insert Clip	The data from the clip is inserted at the position of the play cursor, or, if there is a range selection, at the beginning of the range. The length of the selected range does not matter, the content of the clip will always be inserted completely. In virtual projects, the content of the clip is inserted starting from the selected track; if the clip contains multiple tracks, only as many tracks are inserted as there are target tracks down in the project available; the remaining tracks of the clip are skipped. In wave projects, the subsequent audio material is moved to the back, the audio file becomes longer by the inserted part. In virtual projects, according to the set Object Mode, the following material is moved to the back (rippled) or overwritten with the content of the clip. A new range is defined over the inserted data.	V Ctrl + V Shift + Ins		
	Paste from ClipStore	<ul> <li>Clips selected in the Clip Manager are inserted at the play cursor position or at the beginning of the selected range.</li> <li><i>Caution: For multitrack clips, only as many tracks of the clip are inserted as tracks are selected in the project. If you want to insert several tracks, select a range over several tracks in the project beforehand accordingly.</i></li> </ul>	Ctrl + Umschalt + V		
	Paste with time/ripple	Like <b>Paste/Insert Clip</b> , but the following material is always moved to the back (rippled), even in virtual projects, regardless of the Object Mode set.	Ctrl + Alt + V		

Overwrite with clip	Like <b>Paste/Insert Clip</b> , but the subsequent material is always overwritten.	Alt + V Ins
Mix with clip	This operation is available only for Wave projects. The content of the clip will be mixed with the audio file. Since both components are added to the mix at 100% each, there is a risk of overdriving.	
Crossfade with clip	This operation is available only for Wave projects. The content of the range is crossfaded with the content of the clip. Here the position of the play cursor determines the end of the clip with which the audio file is to be crossfaded. The length of the clip sets the length of the crossfade.	

### Delete

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Delete	All audio data and automation data in virtual projects in the selected range will be deleted. In wave projects, the subsequent audio material is rippled, the audio file becomes shorter by the deleted part. In virtual projects, the subsequent material is rippled or not according to the set Object Mode.	Del
Ripple Delete	All audio data and automation data in virtual projects in the selected range will be deleted. The subsequent material is rippled, even in virtual projects, regardless of the object mode set.	Ctrl + Del
Extract	This command deletes all data of the project that <i>is not</i> within the selected range. In virtual projects, all tracks are preserved, even if they do not contain an object in the selected range. $-\dot{\bigtriangledown}$ - Single objects can be extracted with the Object > Edit > Trim Object (\$\$\alpha\$168).	

#### Silence

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Insert Silence	This command inserts silence - in other words, time - on all tracks from the current play cursor position or at the beginning of the selected range. If there are objects at this position, they are split and the corresponding parts are moved behind the silence together with the following data. If a range is selected, its length is used as a default for the time span to be inserted. The selected range remains after the operation. The project is extended by the length of the inserted object.	
Clear	All audio data in the selected range will be deleted. The data behind this will not be moved, silence will be added behind the affected range. The function thus corresponds to a <b>Delete</b> without rippling, for virtual projects regardless of the selected object mode.	Alt + Del

## Saving and Restoring Ranges

You can save the current range selection in a **Range marker** to restore this selection at a later time. Only the playback range is saved, not the track selection. Similar to the **marker track**, these range markers are displayed in a separate **range marker track**. For more information on marker and range marker tracks, read the section **Marker** Markers (*P*113)

All saved range markers can be listed and managed in the **Marker manager** ( $\cancel{7}342$ ).

#### Quickly Saving and Restoring ranges with the Keyboard

The keyboard shortcuts for saving markersSetting Markers ( $\nearrow$ 114) (Shift + 1...0) can also be used to save ranges if a range was selected before the keyboard shortcut is applied.

For reasons of compatibility with older program versions, the keyboard shortcuts **Alt** + function keys (F2...F10) are also available specifically for saving/restoring ranges. You can restore these ranges using the keyboard shortcuts Ctrl + F2...F10.

In the second Alt + F9 is also not available, because this keyboard shortcut is used for other functions. This leaves 8 quick accesses for range markers (F2,F3,F5...F8,F10)

With Alt + F11 you can save range markers and name them.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Restoring a range is also possible during playback. This allows you to switch between different ranges at the touch of a button to compare them by ear.

You can also use the keyboard shortcut **Shift** + **Ctrl** + **F2...F10** to simply restore the length of a saved area, which then starts at the current position of the play cursor and has the length of the saved area.

### Range Mixdown

The Mixdown function lets you combine a selected range into a single audio object. The objects involved are then removed from the tracks. You can use the feature to free up resources as real-time effects are rendered, to indicate finished ranges as such, or just to simplify the project.

To perform a range mixdown, select **File** > **Advanced Export** > **Range Mixdown** from the menu.

If the bit depth of the objects in the project is more than 16 bits, you can decide in a query dialog whether the new file should be saved in 32-bit float or 16-bit format:

- 32 Bit (Float): The new file will be saved in 32 bit float format. Select this option if audio material in 24-bit or 32-bit float format is involved in the mixdown and the high resolution should be preserved.
- 16 bit (integer): The new file will be saved in 16 bit format. Select this option if 24-bit or 32-bit float objects are involved in the mixdown and the final product is to be used in the form of 16-bit audio (e.g. as an audio CD). In this case, the 24/32 bit files in the project are converted to 16 bit using dithering.

The object with mixdown file is placed on the active track. If this track was used in the project, i.e. contains volume, pan settings or effects, these now also affect the mixdown object. Since the mixdown should sound exactly like the corresponding area in the project before, it is recommended to create and select a new track before executing this function.

# Tracks

Multiple simultaneously played or recorded audio or MIDI objects are placed on top of each other on different tracks. Each track corresponds to a mixer channel (2506). This allows you to adjust the volume of all objects on a track together, apply effects to them, and mute or solo them.

A new **Sequoia** project is created with a specified number of tracks. Using **project templates**, mixer and surround setups, you can already assign certain properties to the tracks, e.g. create a certain number of tracks as busses (*P*525).

#### **Inserting New Tracks**

New tracks can also be inserted using the commands in the menu **Track** > **Insert new tracks**:

- Append empty track: With this function you create a new track and add it as the last track to the project.
- Append multiple empty tracks...: Use this command to add multiple empty tracks to the project. Enter the number in the dialog at Number of new tracks and confirm with OK.

**I** The maximum track count in **Sequoia** is limited to 999 stereo tracks.

- **Insert empty track**: Use this command to insert an empty track after the selected track.
- Insert multiple empty tracks...: Use this command to insert multiple empty tracks after the selected track.

·ŷ⁻ To quickly insert a new track below the existing tracks, you can also double-click in the empty area below the track headers. Drag&Drop of an audio file from the File Manager/Explorer/Clipstore or an object from the project into the free area below the last track also creates a new track. If an object has been moved from within the project for this purpose, the track properties of the source track are adopted.

You can also insert individual special tracks:

- **New MIDI track**: With this command you insert a MIDI track behind the selected track.
  - Image: "MIDI" track just means that MIDI input recording is enabled for this track. A track can contain MIDI and audio objects and the recording mode can also be changed later.
- New Tempo Track: see Tempo Track (#382) in the Tempo editing section.
- New video track: see video Video (*P*630).
- New folder track: see Folder tracks (*7*138).
- New surround folder: This option is only available if a surround master exists, a new folder track is created whose subtracks are routed to the individual surround channels of the master accordingly.
- New Submix Bus/New AUX Bus: Use this command to insert new buses (*P*525).

New Surround Bus/New Surround AUX Bus: A surround bus corresponds to a normal submix bus with surround functionality. All tracks routed to a surround bus get the Surround Editor instead of the normal Panorama knob, which can be used to adjust the surround position of the output signal of this track.

If there is no Surround master in the project when a Surround bus is created, a Surround master is created at the same time, whose individual channels are routed to the hardware outputs that are specified for this purpose in the Surround Setup dialog (\$\not\screws43)\$. see Surround Sound (\$\not\screws42)\$.

New Surround Master: You can also mix your project as a surround version afterwards. For this purpose, use this command to create a Surround master. You can then route the tracks individually to the surround master exclusively or additionally. All tracks routed to a surround master receive the Surround Editor instead of the normal Panorama knob, which can be used to adjust the surround position of the output signal of this track. Once you have created a surround master, you can also route only the output signal of individual objects to this surround bus and arrange them in the surround panorama independently of the track panorama settings. Read more on this in Working with multiple Masters (#558).

### Selecting and Moving Tracks

Individual tracks are selected by clicking on the track header ( $\nearrow$ 135) or into the track. When you select objects, the track of the last object you clicked on is also selected.

To switch between individual tracks using the keyboard, use the keyboard shortcuts **Alt + up arrow** and **Alt + down arrow** or menu **Track** > **More** > **Select tracks** > **Activate next/previous track**.

To add individual tracks to the selection, hold down the **Ctrl key** and click on the **track head**. To select multiple consecutive tracks, select the first track and click the track header of the last track with the **Shift** key held.

Use the keyboard shortcuts **Shift + Alt + up/down arrow** or the menu commands Menu **Track** > **More**> **Select tracks** > **Add next/previous track to selection** to add adjacent tracks to the track selection. Use the menu **Track** > **More** > **Select tracks** > **Select all tracks** to select all tracks. In the mixer and project window, you can also use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + A**. In the project window, you must first click on a track name in the track header.

To select only the active track from a multiple selection of tracks and deselect all other tracks, use the menu **Track** > **More** > **Select tracks** > **Select only active track** or the keyboard shortcut **Shift + Alt + Enter**.

To move one or more selected tracks, click on the track name in the track header of a track and drag the mouse up or down to the desired position between the other tracks; possible insertion positions are highlighted.

## **Track Height**

The height of a track can be adjusted individually for each track by pulling the lower edge of the track head. To set the track height of all tracks together, use the vertical scroll bar on the right (see also the topic Scrolling ( $\nearrow$ 109) above).

In the menu **Track** > **Track size** there are further possibilities:

To maximize a track, select **Maximize track** (keyboard shortcut: **Alt + Enter**). When you run the command again, the previous track size is restored.

🚺 Maximized here means sufficiently high for the volume and pan sliders to be visible in the track header.

- The magnification of individual tracks is preserved when zooming with the scroll bar. To bring all tracks back to a uniform height, use the command **Minimize none**.
- If you activate the option Maximize track automatically in the menu, the selected track will be automatically maximized and minimized again when you select another track.

## **Deleting Tracks**

To delete selected tracks, select Menu **Track > Delete Tracks**.



i lf other tracks are routed to these tracks, a warning is issued, also if the track still contains objects.

## **Copying and Pasting Tracks**

You can copy or cut tracks via the clipboard and paste them into the same or other projects.

To copy one or more selected tracks, choose Menu **Track > Copy Track(s)**. With menu **Track** > More > Cut Track(s) the tracks are copied to the clipboard and deleted from the project. All track properties and contents are copied. When inserting, you can specify which of them will be inserted.

With **Paste Track(s)...** you paste all tracks copied to the clipboard below a selected track.

Copy tracks: Options	×
Copy:	
2 gbjects	
Automation	
AUX sends and routing	
Plug-ins and EQ	
Track names and colors	
Adapt gbject sample rate	
Insert <u>n</u> ew tracks	
Insert missing tracks, busses or VSTI	
Force creation of new VSTi instances	
Insert 1 track(s)	
Don't ghow this again (except when Shift key pressed) OK Cancel	

**Copy**: Here you can specify which track properties and contents are to be inserted.

- **Objects**: All objects including their effects and automations.
- Automation: All automation curves of the track. Note that always all automations are inserted. If you have automated plug-ins in the copied track but do not copy the plug-ins as well, you get automation curves without a target. These are displayed in the automation menu with ???.
- AUX sends and routing: The value of the AUX send controls as well as the audio and MIDI input and output routing. Note also the Insert missing tracks, busses and VSTi option below.
- Plugin-ins and EQ: All track effects as well as the plug-in instruments and effects loaded into the track.
- **Track names and colors**: The track names are important insofar the assignment of the copied routing is based on the track names.
- Adjust object sample rate: This option is only available if tracks are to be inserted into a project whose sample rate differs from the sample rate of the objects of the copied tracks. In this case, the objects of the inserted tracks are adapted to the sample rate of the project using Object resampling. If you don't want this to occur, you can deactivate this option.

**Insert new tracks**: If you uncheck this box, no new tracks will be inserted, but the target project will be overwritten with the clipboard content. If exactly one track is selected in the target

project, the target project will be overwritten with all the tracks from the clipboard. However, if multiple tracks are selected in the target project, only these selected tracks will be overwritten.

-\grac{1}{2}- Thus you can also use this function, for example, to transfer properties of one track such as plug-ins, automations or routings to another.

If the clipboard contains more tracks than were selected in the target project, additional tracks are created if the option **Add missing tracks**, **busses and VSTi** is active.

Add missing tracks, busses and VSTi : If you paste the copied tracks into another project and the AUX sends and routing option is active, this option ensures that the routing targets, AUX and submix busses are created if they are not copied with. All track settings of the additional tracks (e. g. plug-ins in the AUX busses, VSTi plug-ins as MIDI Out targets of tracks with MIDI objects, audio tracks for single outputs of VSTis) are taken over.

**Attention**: AUX and Submix busses are only created if there aren't already busses with the same name in the target project. Otherwise, the existing buses and their effect settings are used.

**Force creation of new VSTi instances**: If this option is active, the aforementioned rule is overridden and a new instance of a VSTi is created, even though a VSTi with the same name already exists in the project into which the tracks are inserted.

**i Note**: The audio tracks of VSTi single outputs are also created including their insert and aux send effects, with additional AUX busses with effects if necessary. However, if these buses are again routed to buses, those buses will not be inserted any more.

The dialog remembers the settings, so for further insert operations with the selected settings you can skip opening the options dialog by setting the **Don't show this again** option in the lower right corner. If you need the dialog again, you can reopen it by holding down the **Shift** key while selecting the **Insert Track(s)...** menu command.

## Selecting Multiple Tracks - Grouping Track Controls

To select multiple tracks, click on the track number or in the track name area while holding **Ctrl** key or **Shift** key.

This groups the track controls. The corresponding controls are changed on all tracks of the selection when one of the involved controls is changed.

Now, when you operate a button or control on one track, the corresponding controls of the other tracks in the group change with it. This applies to most of the track's parameters, only certain settings, such as plug-ins or the comment field, are not edited together.

This group behavior also applies in the mixer. In this case, the multitrack selection exists in addition to control groups Select and Group Multiple Controls (alpha509) previously created in the mixer, if the same controls are included.

When selecting audio inputs and outputs, all available inputs or outputs can optionally be distributed to the selected tracks.

- 1. Select multiple tracks.
- 2. Assign an output to one of the tracks, e.g. in the **Audio** section of the **Track Editor**.
- Click on **OK** in the query dialog (Multi I/O Routing).
- 4. The output is assigned to the first selected track, subsequent tracks get the output with the next higher number.



🚺 If more tracks are selected than outputs are available, the assignment for the remaining tracks remains unchanged.

To remove a track from an existing multi-track selection, **Ctrl**-click in the track name area.

As soon as you click on a track that is not part of the multiple selection, the multiple selection is resolved. If you always want to adjust certain tracks together, you can keep the multiple selection by grouping the tracks.

To do this, choose **Track Properties** > **Group Track Controls** from the **Track** menu or the Track Head context menu. The grouping of the tracks is now preserved, even if you select a different track. To ungroup, select **Track Properties** > **Ungroup Track Control**.



**I) Note**: Please note that a control element can only be in one control group at a time. Overlapping control groups cannot exist.

### **Editing Track Properties with the Keyboard**

Most of the properties of a track, such as recording status, recording readiness, mute or solo status, can be set with the mouse using the corresponding buttons in the Mixer, Track head or Track editor.

However, in the menu **Track** > **More** > **Track properties** there are also special menu items for all these properties to be able to set these properties with the keyboard.



Property

Description

Keyboard shortcut

Mute	Mutes selected tracks. Alt + M				
Mute/Inactive	Mutes and additionally disables the selected track.	Ctrl + Alt + M			
Solo	Switches selected tracks solo.	Alt + S			
Solo-exclusive	Exclusively solo selected tracks, all other tracks are muted	Shift + Alt + S			
Record	Activates selected tracks for recording	Alt + R			
Monitoring	Activates Manual monitoring for the selected track	Ctrl + Alt + Shift + F			
Lock	The selected tracks are fixed (locked).	Alt + L			
Rename track	Activates the text input field for the track name of the last selected track	Ctrl + Shift + N			
Edit volume	Numerical input of the volume in dB.	Ctrl + Shift + K			
Edit pan	Numerical input of the track panorama in dB (- 100100).	Ctrl + Shift + P			
Track phase invert	Inverts the phase of the selected track	н			

The menu contains even more entries up to the Global Solo Modes (7534) to which no keyboard shortcuts are assigned by default, but which can be assigned.

## **Hiding Tracks**

If the project window contains tracks that are not being used, you can hide these tracks and mixer channels to create a less cluttered interface. To do this, open the **Track Manager** (#340) (menu **View** > **Manager** > **Track Manager**) and deactivate the corresponding checkbox in the columns **Arrangement** and **Mixer** to hide the tracks.

	00	2	₽							
Track	Name	<u>M</u> ute	<u>S</u> olo	<u>R</u> ecord	Mo <u>n</u> o	<u>L</u> ock	Group	Arran	Mixer	Freeze
1.	Fng Gt							✓	✓	
2.	Trem Gt							✓	✓ _	
3.	Rh Gt 1							✓	✓ _	
4.	Rh Gt 2							✓	✓ _	
5.	Ld Gt High							✓	✓ _	
6.	Ld Gt Low							✓	✓ _	
7.	Solo Gt							~	✓ _	

You can also select multiple tracks and hide them together using the **Ctrl** + left-click and **Shift** + left-click keyboard shortcuts.

By clicking the checkboxes in the Track Manager again, you can make the hidden tracks and channels visible again.

For more track visibility commands, see menu **Track** > **Track visibility (arranger or mixer)**. Select one or more tracks and then select one of the options:

- Select all track routing targets: The track selection is expanded to include the tracks (busses and masters) to which the selected tracks are routed.
- Select all track routing sources: The track selection (typically buses or masters) is extended by the tracks routed to these tracks.

You can execute these commands before the following ones, e.g. to hide tracks together with their buses or to display only the tracks that are routed to a certain bus.

- Show only selected tracks: All unselected tracks are hidden.
- Hide selected tracks
- Show all tracks
- Synchronize Mixer and Arranger: The visibility of the tracks in the mixer is matched to that in the arranger.

## **Folder Tracks**

Folder tracks can help you keep a better overview of your arrangement by combining all tracks that belong together into one folder.

#### Combine tracks in a folder track

To combine tracks in a folder track, select the tracks, right-click on the track header and select **Move track(s) to folder track** > **Move track(s) to new folder track** from the context menu.

-\grace{-} Use *Move track(s) to new submix folder track* to create the folder track as a submix bus (see below).

You can drag additional tracks to a folder track by clicking on the track name or a free area in the track header and dragging the track to the track header of the folder track or by choosing **Move track(s) to folder track** in the context menu of the track and then the name of the folder track. Individual tracks can be removed from the expanded folder track again in the same way. Or you can select **Remove track(s) from folder** in the context menu.

When you delete a folder track, you can optionally delete all tracks contained in the folder as well.

*The context menu commands mentioned can also be found in the menu* **Track** > **More** so that you can assign keyboard shortcuts to them.

#### Track header and track properties

The volume control is used to control the volume of all tracks together. The functions **Mute**, **Solo**, **Record Arm**, **Monitoring** and **Lock** affect all tracks contained in the folder track. By rightclicking on the Record Arm button, you can set further track properties for all tracks in the folder track collectively, up to the selection of the hardware input. This assigns multiple inputs to the tracks in ascending order, if available. Right-click on the track name to open the **Track Properties dialog**. It contains only a few options:

- **Color**: This sets the color of the frame around the tracks in the arranger and mixer.
- **Track type Submix Bus**: If you activate this option, the folder track additionally becomes a submix bus and the contained tracks are routed to this bus. This means:
  - The volume and pan controls of the folder track no longer control the individual tracks, but the properties of the bus.
  - The folder track can also contain track effects, be frozen and so on, in short, it becomes a normal submix bus.
  - It also has the properties of a folder track in that it can be expanded and collapsed and can display the objects of the tracks it contains.
- Audio recording Interleaved: This option can be used to record multi-channel files, e.g. in surround formats, into a single audio file. Conversely, when loading such multi-channel audio files, folder tracks can also be created automatically, with this option then active. In this use case, the folder track is not used to bundle tracks to facilitate shuffling, but as a marker for a group of tracks containing such objects.

#### Display

With the folder icon at the track header you can open and close a folder track.

-\overline{c}- For keyboard operation of this function, use menu command **Track** > **Track Size** > **Display** subtracks.

When **collapsed**, the tracks it contains are hidden below the folder track in the arranger.



*i* In the Mixer, the tracks are still displayed, but are indicated by the frame color of the folder track.

When **expanded**, the contained tracks are displayed below the folder track. They get a frame with the track color of the folder track to indicate their belonging to the folder track.



#### Cut operations in folder tracks

In the folder track itself, all objects of the contained tracks are displayed in a minimized view by default. You can select ranges in the folder track in the same way as in a simple track; this range selection then always spans over all the tracks it contains. Range-based editing operations in the folder track therefore always affect all tracks of the folder track.

You can select one of the tracks contained in the folder track as a **reference track** by clicking the triangle next to the track name.

Vocals	_	N N	
S M •		Folder Referenze Track	- Contraction - Contraction - Contraction
	$\sim$	None	A SAM S A SAM SAM SAM
		Maximum	A 40 A 10
11 Violins		Vocals	
5 11		VocFX1	
12 Bass		VocFX2	

The objects on the reference track will then be displayed in the folder track and can be edited there in the usual way.



i However, please note: Even if only the objects of the reference track are displayed in the folder track, cutting operations with ranges still affect all tracks of the folder track!

When selecting **Maximum**, no reference track is selected. Instead, a waveform display of the loudest signal of the tracks at a given time is displayed.

## **Revolver Tracks**

Revolver tracks are variants of a track in terms of the objects placed on it. You can thus quickly compare different variants of recordings with each other.

With this button at the track head or **Ctrl + right click** somewhere on the track head you open the revolver track context menu, in which the associated commands are located.

With **New revolver track (copy)** you create an initially identical copy of the existing track. Now you can edit the objects and thus create a new cut version of the track.

The revolver track button lights up to indicate that there are revolver tracks on the track. An asterisk appears in front of the track name.

8 *Vocals.01	Play Cursors
9 VocFX1	New empty revolver track New revolver track (copy) Delete revolver track
10 VocFX2	Previous revolver track     Alt+Page up       Next revolver track     Alt+Page down
11 Violins SM■■ ✓	Vocals (01) - 24.04.2023 18:38:25 Vocals.01 (*02)

In the lower part of the menu you can directly select the different revolver tracks. Use the keyboard shortcuts **Alt + Page Up / Alt + Page Down** (Previous revolver track/Next revolver track) to switch between revolver tracks.

Of course, the context menu may also be used to create a new, empty revolver track or to delete the current one.

### **Take Lanes**

 $\dot{\phi}$  To understand the function of the Take Lanes, we recommend that you also read the introductory explanations on the topic **Takes** in the section Take Manager (2346)!

The **Take Lanes** can be used to display the individual recording passes (takes) for the objects of a selected track one below the other. This allows you to combine the best parts of each take of an object to create the perfect shot. This function is also called "comping".



You open the Take Lanes of a track with this symbol at the track header or with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + Enter** 

In the Take Lanes, all existing takes of the objects of the track are displayed below the respective object.

		P	
53	S M O M R *	an antipera gan	And any and the fighter
$\sim$		Take07 0 dB	<u>6</u>
	S Lane 1	Take07	
	S Lane 2	Take08	
	S Lane 3	Take09	

The active take can then be selected by simply clicking on a take. There are two ways to combine sections from different takes:

- In **Universal Mouse Mode** IN : Click and drag over a take to insert that section of the take into the track. The object in the track is split at the corresponding positions and the take is changed in the newly created object. The sections of the takes used for each object are highlighted in the Take Lanes. Click in another Take Lane below or above a section to select a different take for that section.
- In Range mouse mode is the section of the take is also selected by clicking and dragging, but copying to the track is not done until you press **Shift + C** afterwards. Also, in this mouse mode it is possible to select ranges in takes and copy them to any place in the track using **Copy** and **Paste** (Ctrl + C / Ctrl + V).

The takes are always based on the original recording positions and are synchronized in time. If different timings occur in the takes (e.g. varying onset of a singer) and you move an object, this change also affects the other takes, so that the timing would have to be corrected again when you change the take again. So it's better to finish comping the takes first and correct the timing errors afterwards.

i With copy/paste in the range mouse mode you can also correct the timing already during comping, since in this case the audio material does not have to be inserted synchronously in time, but you should not change the takes afterwards either.

Like changing complete takes in the Take Manager, comping in the Take Lanes works across multiple tracks: If there is a group of objects in multiple tracks after a multitrack recording, you can comp in one track in the Take Lanes, and the takes in the other tracks will also be swapped.

This is based on the object grouping. If you don't want to swap takes for one or more tracks or want to combine them differently, break up the group and create other object groups.



If an object group does not have corresponding takes on all tracks, you can recognize this by the fact that these takes are displayed in a different color in the take lanes of the tracks in which they are present.

If you activate the Solo button at the take lanes S, you will play the complete take of the corresponding lane instead of the objects of the track.

## **Track Freeze**

Use Track Freeze to render the selected track into a wave file that replaces all objects in the active track. The object and track effects are included so that the CPU is relieved of computationally intensive real-time effect calculations. The frozen track is stored in an internal VIP and can also be edited there. When "unfreezing", these edits are transferred to the source project.

To freeze a track, select **Track > Track freeze > Freeze track** from the menu, or right-click the track head and select Track Freeze from the context menu (keyboard shortcut: Alt + Shift + **F**).

The track is rendered into a wave file with the current volume, all effects and automations, and then replaced by a track in default setting containing a single object with this wave file.

**(i)** Note: The created object is slightly longer because the decay/reverberation time is included. The length of the reverberation time when freezing can be specified by the parameter Maximum reverb time for objects without fade out in Program preferences > System *Options* > Playback (*№*722).

With Menu Track > Track Freeze > Edit Track Freeze you open the internal freeze project where the frozen track is stored. You can make any changes there, just like in any other project, from object editing to effect calculations in object and track to inserting other audio files. When you save the Freeze project, it is rendered and the changes are applied to the source project.

With menu Track > Track freeze > Unfreeze track (keyboard shortcut: Alt + Shift +U) you unfreeze the track. The wave file created during the track freeze is removed and replaced by the track from the freeze VIP. Changes made in the freeze project are taken over to the track.

**i Note**: If you have added additional tracks in the Freeze project, you will not be able to run Unfreeze track

#### Freeze Track for AUX Busses/Submix Busses

Submix and AUX bus tracks can also be frozen.

#### Submix Bus

- Tracks that have been routed to the frozen submix bus remain unchanged.
- The Submix bus input is muted.
- The file created while freezing is inserted into the submix track as an audio object.
- The outputs of tracks that are routed to the submix bus are marked with red frames in the Track Editor and Mixer.
- Changes made to these tracks after the freeze will have no effect on the playback of the frozen submix bus.
#### AUX bus

- The AUX send settings of the tracks are taken into account during the freeze, but not the Object AUX sends.
- Tracks routed onto the frozen AUX bus remain unchanged.
- The AUX bus input is muted.
- The corresponding AUX send controls of the tracks are marked with red frames in Track Editor and Mixer.
- The file created while freezing is inserted into the AUX track as an audio object
- Changes made after freezing on tracks sending to the AUX bus will not affect playback of the frozen AUX bus.

If you have changed anything in tracks that are routed to a frozen Submix or AUX bus, you should "unfreeze" the bus with the command **Unfreeze track** and immediately freeze it again at the current state with Freeze track.

#### **Freezing VST Instruments**

You can also freeze tracks with software instruments. For a simple routing (₹393) (audio+MIDI in one track) you can simply freeze the track as described above. You can then use the function **Edit Track Freeze** to make changes to the track's MIDI object.

As soon as the VSTi uses multiple tracks for audio or MIDI and additional individual outputs are used, you must use the Freeze function in the **VSTi Manager** to ensure that all tracks involved are frozen.

To do this, select the instrument in the VSTi Manager and go to **Functions** and select **Freeze**. This replaces the audio signal of all audio return tracks with audio objects. The frozen instrument will no longer be controlled by tracks with MIDI files and will be disabled (alpha404).

Unlike a simple track freeze with audio files or a VSTi hosted within a track, the MIDI data is not part of the freeze project. Therefore, to edit the freeze data of the individual outputs, you cannot use the function **Edit track freeze**. (There is no data at all on these tracks).

The MIDI objects are still in the project, but their contents are not used and later changes in them do not affect the instruments output. So if you want to make changes to the MIDI data of frozen VSTi, first select the **Unfreeze** option in the VSTi Manager, make the desired changes to the MIDI object, and then freeze the instrument again.

▲ You could also freeze the individual tracks of the instrument outputs this way, because tracks can be frozen even if they do not contain any objects. This creates an audio file from the audio of the single output and the effects in this track. Since the instrument and also the corresponding MIDI track are still active, you would then have to deactivate the relevant individual output directly in the instrument in order to avoid the track being played twice. For reasons of clarity, we do not recommend this procedure at all!

## **Track Options Dialog**

The dialog **Track Options** shows all settings of the selected track. Most of the settings here can now be adjusted more quickly in the Track head, Track editor or Mixer, it is in this respect a legacy dialog of older **Sequoia** versions with a simpler interface. But it also contains a few controls that make it easier to set certain track properties for several tracks together.

To display the Track Settings dialog, right-click Track Name or Track Number in the Track Head or Track Editor, or select Menu **Track** > **Track Options...** (keyboard shortcut: **Alt + I**).



The **Max** option in the lower left corner of the dialog can be used to switch between two different views, where the settings for audio and MIDI are displayed either on two different views Audio and MIDI or together in one view.

In the field **Track name** at the bottom the track name can be displayed and changed, with the <</>> buttons you change the displayed track.

#### Audio

Here you make settings for recording and playing back audio on the tracks.

- Record/Playback: Recording and playback device for the track. Submix busses can also be selected for playback.
- All tracks: The recording or playback device selected for this track is used for all tracks.
- **Track/Dev +**: Use this button to assign successive input or output channels to successive tracks (channel pairs for stereo tracks). Clicking this button switches to the

next track and simultaneously sets the next device for this track, e.g. from an output pair 1+2 to 3+4.

The **+** - button next to the two **Track/Dev +** simultaneously switches to the next recording and playback device.

() If there are no further devices, the assignment for the next tracks is started again from the first device.

- **Color**: Setting the track color and the color of objectsRenaming and coloring Objects (*P*166) placed on it.
- **Track type**: This indicates if the track is an AUX or Submix bus (*№*525). A single track can also be both. In addition, a track can also be marked as a Timecode track (*№*616) or a Economy (*№*713).
- Timeshift/Delay: Use this field to set a time offset for an entire track. Positive values cause the playback of this track to be delayed by the entered amount. Negative values result in earlier playback of the track. All other tracks and the play cursor will be delayed in relation to the entered value. To the right of the input field you can select the unit of the time delay.
- Effects/Routing: This button opens the Effects routing dialogEffect Routing Dialog (*2*30) for the corresponding track.

#### MIDI

Here you make settings for recording and playing back **MIDI** on the tracks.

- Record Dev./Playback Dev.: MIDI input and output device selection. The list of playback devices also includes all VST instruments.
- **All tracks**: The recording or playback device selected for this track is used for all tracks.
- **VST Instrument Editor**: Opens the graphical interface of an included VST instrument.
- **MPE**: Sets MIDI recording to MPE mode (*P*495)
- Note Expression Map: Here you can select a VST3 Note Expression Map (#497).

**Record controller curves while playing**: If this option is active, incoming MIDI CC events (controllers) are written to automation curves for these controller values during playback. This is a legacy option that was once used for MIDI remote control of digital mixer hardware. Attention, the function is independent of whether recording is active for a track.

**Play/Thru parameter**: For detailed information about these parameters see Track Editor > **MIDI**!

**MIDI Thru active**: Corresponds to activating monitoring (speaker symbol) in audio tracks, i.e. incoming MIDI data is forwarded to the output.

#### Recording

The section "Record" contains settings for recording audio and MIDI.

**Rec** corresponds to the recording readiness for the track, **Audio/MIDI** determines whether you want to record MIDI or audio.

**File**: File name of the audio file to record to on this track. Since these names are only used internally, as long as you do your production entirely within **Sequoia**, you can leave these names at the defaults. If you want to use the recorded raw material elsewhere or pass it on, you have the option of naming these files according to specific naming schemes for better identification. To do this, click **All Tracks** and choose an option from the menu:

- **Filename\_track number**: Enter any filename in the field **File** and select this option to use this name on all other tracks, appending the respective track number, e.g. funky\_01.wav, funky\_02.wav..
- Project name\_track number: (default) Uses the project name on all tracks, supplemented by the track number, e.g. demo\_01.wav, demo\_02.wav..
- **Track name**: Uses the track name of each track as file name, e.g. Drums.wav, Bass.wav...
- **Track number\_Track name**: Uses the track number and the track name of each track as file names for the audio recording, for example, 01\_Drums.wav, 02\_Bass.wav, etc.
- Project name\_Track name: Transfers the project name to all tracks and adds the corresponding track name to them, for example demo\_Drums.wav, demo\_Bass.wav, etc.
- **Track number\_take name** and other options with take name: These options correspond to the optional Recording setting (*2*719) **Save each take in a new file**, but allow a bit more flexibility in naming the files.

The last two options are also in the menu, but they are not used to define the file name, but vice versa to define the track names based on the file or object names:

- Set track name to first object name: Tracks are named after the name of the first object in the track.
- Set track name to first object file name: Tracks are named after the audio file name of the first object in the track.

With these commands you can name the tracks according to the file names after importing several files one below the other, e.g. stems from a remix kit.

#### Audio options

Stereo/Mono determines whether the recording on the track should be in Stereo or in Mono. This also determines whether you can select individual inputs or input pairs on the recording device.

(i) In the track's input routing *Input*) (*₱*515) (right-click on **Rec** in the track head) you can also specify stereo processing for tracks recorded in mono (**Mono In / Stereo FX**).

- The option **Record only to RAM** allows recording to be done directly in the system RAM.
- Interleaved (folder track) is only available for folder tracks and activates a interleaved recording (*7*102) for them.

## OBJECTS

The audio data is represented in **Sequoia** projects by **objects** in the tracks. Objects are playable and editable entities in the project window of **Sequoia**, which can be moved, copied or cut on the tracks as desired.

An object is an representation of an audio file or part of it and contains references to the underlying audio files, which are visualized in a waveform display. An audio object accesses audio data and adds a variety of object-specific settings in real time: Volume, pan, object length, sound changes, fades, pitch changes, time stretching, AUX send taps, and effects. All these settings are only added to the original material afterwards, which itself remains untouched on the hard disk (non-destructive editing).

(i) MIDI data is also represented by objects. MIDI objects contain playback instructions for MIDI devices or VST instruments in MIDI format. Unlike audio objects, MIDI data is stored together with the objects and is directly linked to the respective objects. For MIDI objects, read the chapter MIDI (₱440)!



There are various **handles** ( $\nearrow$ 152) on the objects that can be used to directly change the most important object properties: start time, length, fade-in and fade-out, and object volume. Other object properties, such as panorama, AUX send, object effects or time stretching can be set in the **Object Editor** ( $\cancel{7}$ 191).

Objects that overlap in a track can be blended into each other. For more precise setting of such a crossfade there is a **Crossfade Editor**.

With the lock icon at the bottom you can lock an object and thus protect it against accidental changes.

The visual appearance of the objects can be configured very flexibly. You can access the display options via the menu View > VIP display > Project display... or with the keyboard shortcut Shift + Tab. For detailed information on the project display options, see the section in the System options >Project display.

## **Selecting Objects**

#### Selecting/Unselecting Single Objects

Click on an object to select it. If an object is selected, it changes its background color and handles appear at the corners and in the middle of the object.



The selection can be canceled by clicking with the **Ctrl** key held down or by clicking next to the object.

## Selecting Multiple Objects/Unselecting Individual Objects/Inverting Selection

- Select several individual objects by holding down the **Ctrl** key and clicking on them.
- To select several consecutive objects, click the first object and then, while holding Shift key, click the last object. This will also select all objects that are between the first and last selected objects.
- **Lasso selection**: To select all objects in a certain screen area, left-click in the lower part of a track on a free space and draw a selection frame (lasso) around the objects.

• The objects do not have to be enclosed by the lasso, it is enough if they are touched by the lasso.

- If there is no free space between objects, it is sometimes difficult to drag a lasso without moving an object. In this case, select the menu command Object > Select objects > Object lasso (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + L). After that, you can click and drag once in an object without moving the object as usual, but dragging a lasso to select the object. After the selection, the mouse resumes its old behavior: The next click and drag on an object has the usual effect again the object is moved.
- To select all objects of a track, **double-click** in the lower part of a track on a free space.
- To deselect a single object of a multiple selection, click on it while holding the **Ctrl** key.
- To deselect all objects, click in a free area in the lower part of a track next to the objects.

Also if you click on an object that has not been selected so far, the existing selection will be canceled and the new object will be selected.



(i) Note: The phrase "into the lower part of the track" refers to working with the Universal mouse mode. In this mode, ranges are selected in the upper part of the track. In other mouse modes (object mode, object/curve mode) the entire track can be used.

#### More Commands for Object Selection in the Menu Object > **Select Objects**

- **Select objects under play cursor/range**: All objects located under the play cursor or within a selected range will be selected.
- **Select all objects**: All objects in the project are selected. Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + A
- Select previous/next object: With these commands you can navigate through the objects of a track with the keyboard. In conjunction with the keyboard commands for moving objects step-by-step (2157) and changing object start, fade, and length, you can edit the objects completely keyboard-controlled.

Keyboard shortcut: < / > or Ctrl + Alt + Q / Ctrl + Alt + W

Add previous object/next object to selection: This adds the previous or next object of the track to the selection.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + Shift + W / Ctrl + Alt + Shift + W

- **Toggle selection**: An existing object selection can be reversed (inverted). This means that all unselected objects will be selected and all selected objects will be deselected.
- **Remove object selection**: This allows you to cancel the object selection without a mouse click.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + A

## **Object Handles**

If an object has been selected, handles appear at the upper corners and at the center of the object. These handles allow you to set the most important object parameters directly in the project window.



- To fade an object in and out, drag horizontally on the **fade handles** top left and top right. Pull vertically on the handles to adjust the curve shape. You can use the Object Editor to precisely adjust the curve shape.
- The volume handle at the top center of the object can be used to change the object volume.

The volume handle can also be configured in the view options in a way that the height of the handle corresponds to the set object volume. To do this, deactivate the **Volume handles on top** option in the **Object** section.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  The object volume can also be changed at the numerical display by dragging the mouse vertically.



- The **lock symbol** is used to lock objects (*P*161).
- The **length handles** are at the bottom left and right corners. They can be used to change the length of an object and the start time in the referenced audio file.



By default, the length handles are hidden by the object footer. However, when you move the mouse over the bottom ends of the object, you can tell when you can use the length handles by the change in the shape of the mouse pointer.

Note: If two objects have a crossfade (*ℤ*175), the crossfade can be moved with the mouse at the leading edge of the second object. However, the length handle of the object is still available. It is located at the bottom of the object directly at the object edge. Pay attention to the change in the shape of the mouse pointer!

#### **Object Handles with Multiple Selections/Object Groups**

If several objects or a group of objects have been selected, the following rules apply when moving the object handles:

The volume handles are moved together, a change to one involved volume handle is applied to all objects of the selection/group.

Object start, object end and the fades can be set separately for each object. To set the handles for all objects of a selection/group, press the **Alt** key before clicking the handle.

## **Grouping Objects**

Multiple objects selected together can be edited together. However, such a multiple selection exists only as long as no other object is selected. In order to always select several related objects together, they can be combined into a **group**. When you select an object of an object group, all objects of the group are always selected as well. They can now only be moved as a group; the distances between the objects in the group are retained. All changes you make to an object are applied to all group members.

(i) Note: The same restrictions apply here regarding the editing of object fades as for a multiple selection of objectsObject Handles with Multiple Selections/Object Groups (7153).

#### **Grouping and Ungrouping**

To group objects, select all objects to be grouped and either click the "Group" icon in the toolbar or select **Object** > **Groups** > **Group objects** in the menu or in the context menu of an object.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + G

To ungroup the group of objects, select it and either click the "Ungroup" icon in the toolbar or choose **Object** > **Groups** > **Ungroup objects** from the menu or the context menu of an object.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + U

Each object group is assigned an internal number in sequence. This number is displayed in a dedicated column in the Object manager (#338). Optionally, you can display this number on the object by activating the **Group number** option in the project view options ( $\prescript{P737}$ ) (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + Tab**) under **Objects** There you can also activate the option **Group** colors at Waveform color. Then the objects of each group get their own automatically assigned color. This will ensure that you can easily distinguish the groups from each other.



#### **Temporarily Detaching Objects from a Group**

Sometimes you want to edit the object position or volume of a single object of the group separately. Normally, you would have to ungroup, edit the individual object, and then regroup all objects. To make this tedious and error-prone procedure easier, there are some special commands:

- With menu Object > Groups > Temporarily exclude object from group (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + U or Shift + click on the "Ungroup" button) you ungroup the last clicked object from an existing group. The object can now be selected and edited separately, but remembers that it belonged to a group. You can also edit other objects as you go along, and even detach other objects from this or any other group. If you select this object later and execute the function again, the object will be added to the group again.
- With menu **Object** > **Groups** > **Temporarily exclude all objects from groups** (Shift + Alt + click on the "Ungroup" button) you temporarily ungroup all objects from their groups. Now all group objects can be edited separately.



To indicate this state, the button for "Ungroup" flashes.

The groups are restored by calling the function again or by pressing the flashing button for "Ungroup".



i) When saving the project, the temporary states are ignored and the project is saved as if all objects are in their groups.

You can also combine groups with other groups or objects to form higher-level groups. When such groups are ungrouped, the grouping status of their elements is retained. However, this only affects the top level. Further ungrouping of the groups always leads to individual objects, regardless of how deeply nested the group structure was before.

This allows you to combine objects that are grouped vertically after a multi-track recording into horizontal groups. This means you can also combine the objects that are grouped vertically after a multi-track recording into horizontal groups. When these groups are ungrouped, the vertical grouping is retained.

## **Moving Objects**

#### Moving with the Mouse

Simple moving of objects with the mouse is possible in the mouse modes **Universal mode**, **Object mode** and **Object curve mode** : Click with the left mouse button on the object (in Universal mode: the lower half of the object) and drag it the desired place. You can also move an object to another track.

If you want to move an object beyond the visible section, first drag the object in the appropriate direction and move the mouse pointer onto the scroll bars at the window borders. The arrangement scrolls in the corresponding direction and you can move the object to the now visible tracks or time sections.

To avoid accidentally moving objects already when selecting them, activate the option **2nd click required to move object** in the **Program preferences** under **Keyboard/Menu/Mouse** > **Mouse**. Then objects have to be clicked again extra to move them, the first click only selects the object.

For multiple selections or groups, all involved objects are moved together when one involved object is moved. But be careful: If one of the objects is locked, no object can be moved!

When moving objects, the object modes (↗161) also apply. This means that, for example, in mode, Link one track to the right all subsequent objects are moved as well.

#### Moving to a Specified Position

The following options can be used to move an object to a specified position:

Menu Object > Move Objects > Move Object...: This allows you to enter start position for a selected object numerically. With the unit field on the far right of the dialog you can select the unit of measurement used. For a multiple selection or group of objects, the foremost and topmost object of the selection is moved to the position and the other objects are moved by the same amount.

<sup>-\</sup>u00fc<sup>-</sup> When moving objects to other tracks, the time position is preserved if you press the Shift key while moving.

- In the Object editor you can also enter the desired position in the Fades view at Object start.
- In the **Object manager** you can set the object position in the column **Position**.
- Menu Object > Move objects > Object start/object end to play cursor position: The selected objects are moved to the play cursor position. For a multiple selection/group, the start of the foremost object is taken as the reference point, regardless of the track; for "Object end to play cursor position", the end of the rearmost object is used.
- **Object hotspot to play cursor position** moves an object so that its hotspot (*P*160) is placed at the play cursor.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + P

- If multiple objects are selected, the hotspot of the foremost object is considered the reference point, even if other objects have hotspots that are further ahead. If the foremost object does not have a hotspot, its object start applies, even if other objects have hotspots.
- Menu Object > Move objects > Object start to end of previous object/Object end to start of next object: A selected object is moved to the previous/next object so that it is directly adjacent to it. In the case of a multiple selection/group, the active object is the reference point.
- Menu Object > Move objects > Arrange objects...: This allows you to enter the pause between multiple objects numerically and set it to a uniform value. Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Alt + A
  - Attention: the function works in such a way that the pauses before the selected objects are changed. This also affects the first selected object (exception: it is the first object on the track). So if you only want to change the distances between several objects, do not include the first object in the selection.

#### Moving Objects Step by Step

In the menu **Object** > **Move Objects** > **Object Move Step 1/2** you will find a large number of commands that allow you to move objects, change start and end time, volume, fades and much more. This menu is not designed to be operated with the mouse, but contains a series of keyboard shortcuts that follow a logical principle:

Select one object for simple object editing. If you have selected two objects for editing, you can edit them both independently of each other as well as together.

Each of the commands below is available in two step sizes. The step sizes can be set with menu **Object** > **Move objects** > **Object/Fade step settings...**.

Step Width for Object Move Commands X				
Step Width 1		Step Width 2		OK
Samples:	4.410 ~	Samples:	8.820	Canad
Millisec.:	100 ms	Millisec.:	200 ms	
SMPTE:	00:00:00:02	SMPTE:	00:00:00:05	
Bars:	000:00:076	Bars:	000:00:153	

Keyboard shortcuts with the **Ctrl** key edit the **left object**, with the **Alt** key edit the right object. The commands in the following table are executed with **Step size 1**. To execute the commands with **Step size 2**, additionally hold down the **Shift** key. Use the number keys **0...9** to determine the function:

Left object to the left	Ctrl + 1
Right object to the left	Alt + 1*
Left object to the right	Ctrl + 2
Right object to the right	$A t + 2^*$
Move object(s) left	Ctrl + Alt + 1
Move object(s) right	Ctrl + Alt + 2
Object(s) track downwards	Ctrl + Alt + Shift + Arrow down
Object(s) track upwards	Ctrl + Alt + Shift + Arrow up
Object start to the left	Ctrl + 3
Object start to the right	Ctrl + 4
Object end to the left	Alt + 3
Object end to the right	Alt + 4
Move crossfade left	Ctrl + Alt + 3
Move crossfade right	Ctrl + Alt + 4
Fade-in handles to the left	Ctrl + 5

Fade-in handles to the right	Ctrl + 6
Fade-out handles to the left	Alt + 5
Fade-out handles to the right	Alt + 6
Increase left volume	Ctrl + 8
Decrease left volume	Ctrl + 7
Increase right volume	Alt + 8
Decrease right volume	Alt + 7
Increase volume	Ctrl + Alt + 8
Decrease volume	Ctrl + Alt + 7
Left object content to the left	Ctrl + 9
Left object content to the right	Ctrl + 0
Right object content to the left	Alt + 9
Right object content to the right	Alt + 0
Object(s) content to the left	Ctrl + Alt + 9
Move Object(s) content right	Ctrl + Alt + 0
Additional key for step size 2	Shift key

\*If only one object is selected, the commands for moving the second object (**Alt** key) also affect this object, but take the object mode into account, i.e. subsequent objects are moved if a corresponding object mode is set.

- $\dot{Q}$ - A simpler alternative for moving objects step by step can be found in the **Object Editor**. In the *Fades* section, in the *Position* area, you can click on the arrows next to the position values and thus change these positions step by step according to the step size set below.

#### **Original Position**

The original position of objects is the time position at which they were originally recorded. It is stored in the audio files and is important for assigning audio material to recording takes and thus for the function of the Take Manager ( $\nearrow$ 346).

With menu **Object** > **Move objects** > **Object to original time position** or keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Alt + O** the object is moved to the original recording position.

With menu **Object** > **Move objects** > **Set original time position** the current position is set as original position.

-\u03c6 Only objects created in **Sequoia** by a recording have an original position, objects created by a file import do not. So you can use this command to integrate imported files as takes into a recording session.

With **Edit original time position...** you edit the original position numerically.

#### Moving Audio Material under the Object

If you also press the *right* **Ctrl key** when moving an object, it is not the object that is moved, but the audio material under the object. However, for this to work, audio must still be available outside the object boundaries, i.e. the object must be shorter than the audio file it refers to.

Similarly, dragging the length handles on the left or right edge of the object while holding down the right **Ctrl** key moves the object start or end along with the audio. In other words, the object is lengthened or shortened, but starts or ends at the same point in the audio.

If you additionally hold down the **Shift** key to the right **Ctrl** key, you move the opposite object edge together with the audio material.

#### Hotspot (snap point)

Sometimes the start of an object does not align with the beat in the arrangement, for example, if a recording includes an upbeat, an accidental, or a snare pickup. To be able to move such an object to fit the beat grid, you can use the **Set Hotspot** function to give the object a special snap point that serves as a reference point for the snap ( $\sqrt[2]{78}$ ) instead of the leading edge.

Select an object and place the play cursor at the desired position over the object. Select **Object** > **Hotspot** > **Set Hotspot** in the menu or the keyboard shortcut **Shift + H** to set the hotspot within the object.



A vertical line represents this in the object. From now on, this object snaps to its hotspot at the respective snap positions.

Use **Delete hotspot** to delete the hotspots of the selected objects.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Use the Object hotspot to play cursor position (2156) (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + P) function to move a selected object so that its hotspot is on the play cursor position.

## **Locking Objects**

By locking you can protect objects against unintentional changes.

- To lock an object, click the lock icon at the bottom of an object or choose Menu Object > Edit objects > Lock Objects.
- Clicking again on the lock icon or menu Object > Edit objects > Unlock objects unlocks the object again.

By default, locking prevents objects only from moving. In the program preferences for **locking objects** (↗729) (menu **Object** > **Lock objects** > **Lock definitions...**) you can define further object properties (deletion, change of length, fades or volume...) to be locked for locked objects.



To lock all objects on a track, click the lock icon in the track head or track editor. Right-click on a lock symbol to assign the track to one of 16 lock groups. Membership of such a group can be identified by the different colored dots on the lock

symbol 🙆 . Clicking on the lock symbol in a lock group locks or unlocks all members of the lock group.

You can temporarily disable the lock function by holding down the **Alt** key while clicking objects.

## **Object Mode**

The object mode determines whether subsequent or previous objects are moved as well when an object is moved or ranges are inserted or removed from the project ("Ripple").



You can also select the different object modes from the Edit > Object Mode menu.

## Normal Object Mode

In this mode you move objects one by one without affecting the position of the other objects.

#### Lock All Audio in Time

This mode locks all objects against moving and thus prevents objects from being moved accidentally. By simultaneously holding down the **Alt** key while clicking on an object, the lock can be temporarily removed.



() Note: You can lock individual objects against moving by clicking the lock symbol on the object. It is still possible to change the start and end time then. In the System Options under Program > Object Lock Definitions (2729), you can specify against which changes exactly locked objects should be locked. You lock all objects of a track with the lock symbol at the track head.

#### Link until silence

If an object is selected and moved, all objects on this track adjacent to the right are moved together with the object. This way parts of a project, if separated by pauses, remain unaffected from moving.

#### Link One Track to the Right

In this mode, all objects on the selected track that are to the right of the clicked object are moved together with it.

#### Link All Tracks to the Right

In this mode, all objects in the project that are to the right of the clicked object are moved together with it.

#### Link one track to the left

In this mode, all objects on the current track that are to the left of the clicked object are moved together with it.

#### Link all tracks to the left

In this mode, all objects in the project that are to the left of the clicked object are moved together with it.

## Link Curves to Objects

In this mode, all automation curve points of the track automation are moved together with the objects. If you delete the object, the automation data is also deleted.



This object mode is an option, which means that it can be combined with other object modes.

#### Link Markers to Objects

With this option, when you move objects in the top arranger track, you can also move the markers with them. Moving objects in object mode Link all tracks to the right then moves the markers independently of the track of the moved object.

Using the submenu **Connect markers** in the **Markers** menu you can specify in detail how existing and newly set markers behave when moving objects. More info under Markers ( $\nearrow$ 115).

## **Temporary Change to Other Object Modes**

By pressing and holding certain keys, you can temporarily switch to another object mode. This way you can combine several modes without much clicking.

- 🔆 In the **Program preferences** (1730) in the section **Keyboard/menu/mouse**, under **Special keys**, you can specify other keys for switching or set additional temporary key functions for switching object modes.

With the **K** key the object mode **Link one track to the right** is temporarily activated, with **L** the object mode **Link all tracks to the right** is activated. So you could also work in a way that you only use the normal object mode and activate the rippling modes with the keyboard if needed.

The special keys also work in reverse: If, for example, the object mode Link all tracks to the **right** is active, the normal object mode can be temporarily set by pressing the **L** key.

## **Splitting Objects**

Use this option to split an object into two independent objects. To split objects, use menu Object > Edit objects > Split objects or the keyboard shortcut T.

If additionally a range ( $\nearrow$ 120) is selected over the objects, the split occurs at the two range edges edges, if necessary.

The following rules apply:

- If there is a range selection, all objects located under the range edges will be split, regardless of the object selection.
- Without range selection, selected objects are split at the play cursor.
- If no object is selected under the play cursor, only the object on the current track will be split.
- All objects created by the object split will be selected.
  - $\dot{\nabla}$  This way you can also use the function to cut off a part of an object at the end by placing the play cursor on the desired cut edge on the object and then pressing the **T** and the **Del** key.

When **Auto crossfade mode** is active, a short crossfade is automatically created. When using the command **Split objects with alternative (linear) fade** alternative crossfade settings are used for this crossfade. These settings are specified in the Crossfade Editor Preset (*P*185) **Default\_Crossfade\_Alt**.

-\grig- Tip: The two new objects maintain their object effects. For example, you can add variety to a loop by first applying an effect to an object as a whole, then cutting it into individual parts, and then varying the effect parameters in the individual parts.

#### **Splitting Objects Automatically**

In the menu **Object** > **Edit objects** or menu **Edit** > **Split** you can find further functions to split objects:

- Split objects on marker positions: Selected objects are split at the project marker positions. The newly created objects are named after the markers that are at the beginning of these objects.
- Split objects on track marker positions: Selected objects are split at CD track indexes in the project.
- Split objects on audio marker positions: Selected objects are split at audio markers (*7*118) in the object.

#### Healing/Unsplitting Objects

Use the command Menu **Object** > **Edit objects** > **Heal/Unsplit Object** to rejoin split objects without additional audio rendering. To do this, the objects in the VIP must be positioned exactly beside each another, and the audio material must be connected. Thus, the objects must refer to different but directly consecutive audio material of the same audio file. Without these

conditions, the command will not be available. You can then use the command **Glue objects** for this, a new file will be created by this containing the contents of the two objects.

Typically these conditions are given directly after the splitting of an object, undoing unwanted object splits is therefore also a main purpose of this function.

Select the previously split objects and execute the command. All object properties of the second object, like fades and effects, will be discarded. The resulting object retains only the properties of the first object.

## **Copying, Pasting and Duplicating Objects**

#### Copying and Pasting Objects via the Clipboard

Objects can be copied, cut and pasted via the clipboard, which is also called "clip" in **Sequoia**.

The menu entries (Menu Edit > Copy/Cut/Paste/...) and the corresponding keyboard shortcuts for the cut functions (Ctrl + C, Ctrl + V...) are the same as for copying and pasting ranges. Depending on whether objects or a range is selected, the corresponding operations are performed. If both objects and a range are selected, the range selection has priority with Copy, Cut and Replace with silence. At Delete the order of selection decides: The last selected is deleted, range or object.

There are also menu commands to explicitly copy, cut, paste and delete objects. They are located at Menu Object > Edit objects.

The edit operations in the menu **Edit** work for objects in the same way as for ranges in virtual projects. In fact, the "clip" created when copying objects is nothing more than a range from the virtual project that includes all the objects involved. For detailed information on the different variants of copying, pasting, and deleting via the clipboard, therefore, read the section Copying and Pasting Ranges (*P*125).

(i) In *Sequoia* there is the Clip Manager ("Clipstore") (∅327) where all copied objects are kept.

#### **Duplicating Objects**

**Simple duplicate**: Click and drag on selected objects while holding the **Ctrl** key to duplicate them.

The **New Object** command in the **Object** > **More** menu creates a new object by inserting the last selected audio object at the play cursor position of the selected track.

**Duplicate and move**: Use the command **Duplicate** in the menu **Object** > **Edit objects** to duplicate selected objects. The duplicates are placed behind the original objects at a distance of one grid unit. When object snap is active, the objects are placed directly behind the originals;

with a multiple selection, the first duplicate is inserted at the point where the last original of the object selection ends.

Keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + D** 

**Duplicate multiple**: This function allows selected objects to be duplicated several times in succession. Enter the number of copies and the spacing or total length.

Multiple O	bject Copy		×
Number of Objects: 10		<u>0</u> K	
Group created Objects		<u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	
Delta Time	•	Duration	
Samples:	352.800	Samples:	3.528.000
Millisec.:	8.000 ms	Millisec.:	80.000 ms
SMPTE:	00:00:08:00	SMPTE:	00:01:20:00
Bars:	004:00:000	Bars:	040:00:000

- **Number of objects**: Specify the number of duplicates here.
- **Group created objects**: The duplicated objects can be optionally grouped.
- Delta Time: Set the distance between each object's starting point here. The default length is set to that of the object you wish to duplicate. The objects follow each other seamlessly in this setting.
- Duration: As an alternative to the time difference, the total duration of original + duplicates can be selected here. The duration is the time between the start time of the original and the start time of the last copy.

## **Other Actions with Objects**

#### **Renaming and coloring Objects**

#### **Object name**

Each object has a name. By default, this corresponds to the filename of the imported or recorded file. It is displayed by default at the bottom of the object.



If the provide the display options for objects, see System options >View options (𝒫740).

To change the name, use menu **Object** > **Object name/color** > **Object name...**, the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl** + **N** or the Object editor (*7*191).

#### **Object Colors**

Each object can be assigned a **foreground color** (coloring of the waveform) and a **background color**.

You have the following options in doing so:

- If no color is explicitly assigned to the objects, the default colors (∥736) are used.
- The **background color** of *selected* objects always corresponds to the default color defined for it.
- Use menu Object > Object name/color > Object background color... or Object foreground color... to explicitly assign colors.
- Set both colors by clicking objects in Color mouse mode (∥76).
- If you set a track color (**Track Head** or **Track Properties** dialog), the foreground and background color of all objects on that track will also be set to that color.
- With the corresponding option (Use automatic sample colors for record) in the color settings a random color is used for recorded objects.
- ▲ The foreground color assigned in this way is used only if the option **Predefined color setting** is set at **Waveform color**. With other display options, the foreground color is determined for example by the track color, group membership or object content (WaveColor). For more on the various options for the **waveform color**, see **System options** >**View Options** (*P*743).

#### **Looping Objects**

When an object is "looped", the object or an object part is played repeatedly. Loop objects are suited, for example, to quick creation of full drum tracks from one single drum loop.

An object is normally played back between the object start and end. A looped object is also played from the object start, but after reaching the loop end point, the specified loop range between loop start and loop end is repeated until the object end.





To loop an object, select the object and a range over the object to specify loop start and end points. If only the object is selected, but no range over the object is selected, the object start time will be the same as the loop start and the entire object will be looped.

Select Menu Object > Edit objects or in the context menu of an object Edit objects > Build loop objects or press Ctrl + L.

The object is now looped. The end of the object can be extended to the right as far as desired, repeating the audio material between the loop start and loop end. The loop area is marked in the object by vertical lines.

-G If you split a looped object in one of the loop passes and deactivate Loop in the newly created object, this object will finish playing exactly from the loop you started.



The loop can also be edited in detail with the **Object editor**. Activate the loop mode for selected objects by activating this button in the Object Editor, tab **Time/Pitch** in the section **Loop**. When Loop is activated, you can precisely set the loop start, loop length and loop end within the object individually.

## **Trimming Objects**

**Trimming** objects cuts away the parts of objects that are outside a selected range.



The range does not have to be within the object boundaries. If the affected objects are completely within the range, the command has no function.

- 1. Select the objects to be trimmed.
- 2. Then select a range. The range does not have to be selected directly over the objects, all selected objects will be trimmed to the length of the range regardless of their track.
- Choose Trim objects from the menu Object > Edit objects or from the context menu of an object or the keyboard shortcut Ctrl + T.

**4**. All selected objects that have extended beyond the range boundaries now start and end at the range boundaries.

## **Muting Objects**

Use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + M** or the "Mute" button in the object editor to mute selected objects.



By right-clicking the button you can also mute only the left or right channel.

**i** Note: If you have selected multiple objects and want to mute them together using the object editor, check the **Apply to all** check box and then turn on mute.

#### **Freezing Objects**

Similar to the Track Freeze ( $\nearrow$ 143) function, there is also an Object Freeze function. As with "frozen" tracks, all object effects are calculated into a wave file and do not require any further processing power. MIDI objects are replaced by an audio object that contains the audio output of the software instrument. For this, the audio signal must be routed to the same track that plays the MIDI object (see Routing of software instruments ( $\cancel{393}$ )).

To freeze an object, select Menu **Object** > **Freeze Objects** > **Freeze Objects** or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Alt + F**.

The function **Edit object freeze** allows subsequent editing of the freeze's source material in the freeze VIP, as with tracks.

With **Unfreeze Objects** (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Alt + U**) the original object can be brought back into the arranger window.

**Caution**: This also applies to the object freeze: Do not create any new tracks in the freeze VIP, otherwise the "Unfreeze Objects" function will no longer be possible.

Object unfreeze can also be switched on and off with the **Freeze** option in the Object editor (*7*191).

i Notes:

- If more than one object is selected, the Freeze Objects function will be applied to each individual object. To create one object from several objects, select the function Glue objects. In this case, however, you have no possibility of subsequent editing as with the object or track freeze.
- Fade-in and fade-out of the object are not included, but transferred to the newly created object. Optionally, the object volume can also be excluded from the freeze. To do this, activate the option Object freeze without object volume at Program preferences > Effects > Resampling/Freeze. However, this only works if the default effect order (volume at the end of the effect chain) has not been changed, see also reverb tails in the object)

#### **Stereo Objects**

Objects can reference mono or stereo files. Pairs of mono files, where a stereo source has been recorded on two mono tracks, can also be loaded and edited together as one object.

The files must be named the same and end with  $\_L$  and  $\_R$ . Then you can activate the option **Load L&R files as stereo** in the dialog Options for loading audio files ( $\nearrow$ 675). You can then select both files together when loading via the **file manager** or via menu **File > Load audio file...** and they will be loaded together into one object.



In the File manager you will find corresponding commands in the context menu of files to append \_L or \_R to the file name. You can also use the command **Add \_L and \_R to file name** 

**alternately** to apply the command to a series of files, provided that the files are in the correct order in the list. This can be achieved by having the recorded files contain the track number as part of the name and, as is usual when recording in mono pairs, having the mono tracks next to each other. In **Sequoia** you will find the corresponding options for this in the dialog Track settings (*7*148) at **File name** at the button **All tracks**.

To convert mono objects into stereo objects in the project, select the two objects and use the command Menu **Object** > **Edit object** > **Stereo object from mono objects**. The objects do not have to have the same start or end time, nor do they have to be placed on directly adjacent tracks, but they should overlap in time. The stereo object replaces the upper object and preserves its object effects. It contains on the left channel the audio data of the upper object and on the right channel the audio data of the lower object.

Attention: When the objects no longer overlap in time, the audio data of the lower object will be shifted.

You can also combine two complete tracks with mono objects into stereo tracks with stereo objects. The tracks must be directly below each other and all objects must have the same start and end positions. To do this, select the command Menu **Track** > **Stereo object from mono objects (whole track)**.

#### **Gluing Objects Together**

You can glue two or more objects on a track together to form one object. This also executes an **object freeze**, which means that the object effects, except for the fade-in and fade-out of an object, are calculated into a new audio file and placed in the "FreezeData" folder of the project folder.

Unlike the object freeze with multiple objects selected, however, gluing together combines all objects into a single file, including all objects and gaps that lie on the track in between. If objects are selected on multiple tracks, one object is created per track.

To glue two or more objects together into one object, select both objects or, in case of multiple objects, the first and the last object, and choose **Glue objects** from the menu **Object > Edit objects** or from the context menu of the objects or press the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Alt + G**. If only one object was selected, it will be glued together with the object to the right of it.



There is also a toolbar icon for the function, it is hidden but can be added to a toolbar via Edit toolbars (251).

#### i It is not possible to glue MIDI and audio objects together

For the glued object, the **Freeze** option is also set in the Object Editor. If you deactivate the option or select **Unfreeze Objects** in the menu **Object** > **Freeze Objects** (keyboard shortcut:

**Ctrl + Alt + U**), the object will be separated into its old components again. Likewise, subsequent editing of the glued-together objects is possible with **Edit Object Freeze**.

**i** Note: In order to keep mono objects from changing into stereo objects during gluing, activate the option Keep mono if possible in the System options > Effects > Resampling/bouncing.

#### **Reverberation Tails in Objects**

If you use echo or reverb effects in the object, reverb tails at the end of an object usually do not decay. This is because, by default, effects are inserted into an object's effects chain before the volume. And at each end of the object, when editing operations with Auto Crossfade are made, short fades are applied, which then also fade out the reverb tail.

To change this behavior, open the **Effect Routing** dialog via the **FX** button in the Object Editor.



For a reverb tail to decay, change the effect order so that the reverb is placed after the volume.



The decay time depends on the option **Maximum reverb time for objects without fade-out**, which is located in the Playback options ( $\nearrow$ 722).

#### **Replacing an Audio File under the Object**

Replacing an Audio File under the Object



To exchange the audio file referenced by the object, open the **object editor** and switch to the **Fades** view. Click the folder icon to the right of the audio file name and select a new audio file.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  Tip: Click in the field with the file name and press **Ctrl + Shift + C** to copy the file name with complete path to the clipboard.

#### Copying or Renaming Audio Files under the Object

You can also specify a new name for the file that the object will use by typing the name at **Audio file** and pressing the **Enter** key. In the confirmation dialog you can specify whether the current file should be copied or renamed. If a copy is created, you can optionally specify whether all objects should use the copy or only the current object.

#### **Removing Silence from Objects**

Use this function to separate objects at the points where silence occurs and at the points where it ends. So after applying the command, the objects are divided into several objects containing either silence or no silence. The objects containing silence are also selected, so they can be deleted afterwards with the "Del" key.

Select the objects from which you want to remove silence and choose Menu **Edit** > **Silence** > **Strip Silence...** 

Strip silence	×
Options Threshold for silence detection (dB): -60.0	
Threshold for signal detection (dB): -50.0	
Minimum length of silence: 100 ms	
<ul> <li>✓ Crossfades</li> <li>✓ Sample-exact calculation</li> </ul>	
<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp	

You can specify a threshold value for both silence and wanted signal in the dialog.

**Threshold for silence detection (dB)**: If the signal falls below this value, the object will be split at the corresponding position.

Threshold value for used signal (dB): If the signal rises above this value, the object will also be split.

The **Minimum length of silence** parameter specifies the minimum length that silent passages should last in order to be selected and thus enabled for deletion. This way, you can remove very short passages of silences from the cut.

With the **Crossfades** option, you create crossfades between at the split positions of the objects.

**Sample-exact calculation**: With a new, improved algorithm, the processing speed of this function can be significantly increased. If absolute accuracy is not important when cutting, disable the option for a speed advantage.

The ranges in the objects identified as silence are not deleted, but are only outside the object boundaries afterwards. You can therefore correct the result of the function later if too much has been cut out.

#### Editing the Audio Data of the Object

Audio objects refer to audio files that are open in the background and contain work instructions on how to process these files. In **Sequoia**, most editing can be done directly on the objects in the project without changing the original audio.

However, for certain use cases it may be advantageous to edit the audio data directly. In doing so, you no longer edit only objects in the virtual project, but the audio files stored on the hard disk itself. This type of audio editing is also called "destructive" or "offline" editing.

To open an audio file of an object directly, double-click it while holding **Ctrl + Shift** key. Alternatively, you can also select the option **Wave Editing...** in the **Object** menu.



The range in the audio file used by the object is selected as range in the wave project.

If you edit an audio file that is used in several objects with **Wave editing...**, all objects in the VIP will then access the edited audio file and the edits will affect each of these objects.

If you want to edit the audio file only for a specific object, select **Object** > **Edit** > **Edit** a **copy of wave content...**. **Sequoia** will create a copy of the audio material and add this to the project folder. The selected object now refers to the copy that has been created. After editing, the copy and the original audio are available as Take (?346) for the object.

For more information on destructive editing of audio files, read the section Editing audio files (\$\sigma 581)!

## **Editing Objects Externally**

You can edit the audio file of an object with external audio editing programs such as MAGIX SOUND FORGE Pro. After editing, it is then available in the VIP in its edited form.

To configure the transfer, use the dialog **External Tools** ( $\protect{P755}$ ) in the menu **File** > **Program Preferences**. If everything is configured correctly, then there are entries at the very bottom of the context menu of objects for transferring them to the external programs.

## **Crossfading Objects**

Only one object can be played in a track at a time. When one object is moved over another, it covers the one preceding it in time. The covered part of an object is not played. If you move the rear object back again, the invisible part of the front object can be made visible again and thus audible.

However, it is possible to crossfade two overlapping objects.



#### Auto Crossfade Mode

The auto crossfade mode is activated with this button on the upper toolbar or with **Auto-Crossfade active** in the menu **Edit** > **Crossfade**.

If **Auto-Crossfade** is active, all objects created by cuts (copy/paste of ranges or objects, split objects or trim) or by recording automatically receive a fade at the object start and at the object end or a crossfade.

Optionally, fades can also be applied to objects created by loading audio files, see the Create fades for new objects when auto-crossfade mode is active option in the Program Preferences > Program > General.

Also, a crossfade is automatically created as soon as an object is moved over another object. Any possible fade-out on the front objects is hereby lost. If the trailing object has a fade-in, a crossfade shorter than or equal to the length of this fade-in is created, depending on the duration of the overlap; without a fade-in, the default crossfade is applied.

Editing objects with the handles in the arrangement changes slightly: the fade-out of the front object and fade-in of the back object are moved together when you change object start or object position of the back object. The fade-in handle of the rear object controls the length of the crossfade and thus also the fade-out length of the front object.

The default crossfade settings used with Auto-crossfade are stored in the Crossfade Editor preset (*185*) **Default\_CrossFade** and can be customized in the Crossfade Editor.

 $\dot{\psi}$  Crossfades can be edited in great detail with the Crossfade editor (277).

#### **Creating Crossfades Manually**

Sometimes it is not desired that a crossfade is created when moving objects over each other and that the fade-out and fade-in of the objects are coupled. In this case, disable the **Auto-Crossfade** option.

To manually create a crossfade between two objects, right-click the fade-in handle of the trailing object and choose **Crossfade active** from the context menu. You can also find the option as **Allow crossfade (to the left)** in the menu **Edit** > **Crossfade** and in the context menu of objects.

You can also remove a crossfade with auto crossfade mode active by right-clicking a crossfade and deselecting **Crossfade active** in the context menu.

#### Asymmetric Crossfades

The standard crossfade is symmetrical, which means that length, curve shape and position of the fade in the object (overlap) are coupled for fade-out and fade-in. Right-click the fade-in handle of the rear object and select **Asymmetric Crossfade** from the context menu to set fade-in and fade-out separately. You can also find the option in the menu **Edit** > **Crossfade** and in the context menu of objects.

## **Crossfade Editor**

The Crossfade Editor provides you with a powerful tool for editing crossfades between objects. All functions can be executed with the mouse as well as with the keyboard.

In conjunction with the Source-Destination Editing (201), you achieve a completely cutpoint-oriented mode of operation.

To edit a crossfade with the Crossfade Editor, select an object or select a region over a crossfade and open the Crossfade Editor.

The Crossfade Editor is opened with this button on the upper toolbar, via menu Edit > Crossfade > Crossfade Editor or with the keyboard shortcut Shift + F.



Above the crossfade editor, a special view of the project window is displayed, in which the visible section of the project is arranged around the crossfade. The crossfade is divided into two superimposed tracks, the upper one containing the fade-out, the lower one the fade-in. The audio data of the objects involved is displayed in full, i.e. also beyond the object boundaries, with the audio data that cannot be heard in the project being grayed out.

#### **Crossfade Position Settings**

The position of the Fade Out and Fade In reference point can be moved with the minus and plus buttons. The \* button moves the respective point to the position of the play cursor.



(i) The reference point can be at any position between the start of the fade and the end of the object, the exact position is determined by the **Overlap** (see below).



For the +/- buttons, 3 step sizes can be set, whose values can be changed in the Crossfade Editor Preferences.

#### **Keyboard Shortcut:**

Fade Out +/-	Num +/-
Fade In +/-	Ctrl + Num +/-
Step size 1,2,3	1,2,3
Fade out to play cursor	Num *
Fade In to play cursor	Ctrl + Num *

By double-clicking the corresponding input field, you can also edit the time position of the fade reference points directly. Keyboard shortcuts: Shift + S for the fade out position, Ctrl + S for the fade in position, **F** for the Point Offset.

When **Position Link** (keyboard shortcut: I) is active, fade-in and fade-out are moved together. By pressing the **Alt** key while editing a fade, this link can be temporarily deactivated.

The audio of the front object ("fade-out") is generally kept on the timeline to avoid changes to crossfades placed temporally in front of it.

The behavior of the fade-in and subsequent audio material when moving positions is also determined by the selected **Move Mode**:

# MOVE MODE Classical Lock Audio Move FadeIn+Audio

The **Classical** mode (keyboard shortcut: **C**) is optimized for the operations that occur during editing classical music, while the **Lock Audio** mode (keyboard shortcut: **A**) is optimized for synchronous editing (e.g. for film dubbing). The **Move Fade-In + Audio** mode (keyboard shortcut: **M**) is only used in special cases.

Depending on the selected combination of **Position Link** and **Move Mode**, the following behavior results:

#### Position link active

#### Moving the fade out

- **Classical mode**: The entire rear object (audio and fade) is moved as well.
- **Lock Audio**: The fade-in of the rear object is moved, its audio is not moved.
- Move Fade-In + Audio: The entire rear object (audio and fade) is moved. Since this Move mode is no different from Classical mode with Position Link active, you will always want to use it with Position Link inactive. For this, there's the Crossfade Editor Preference Ignore position link status in "Audio with fade in" move mode. When this is active, the position link state is ignored in this mode. In this case, the rear object remains unchanged and only the fade-out is moved. This makes the crossfade asymmetrical, i.e. the fade-in and -out positions are no longer in the same position.

#### Ion Move the fade-in

- **Classical mode**: The audio of the rear object is moved "under" the object in the opposite direction, the fade-in and fade-out positions remain unchanged.
- Lock Audio: The fade-out of the front object is moved so the entire crossfade is moved over the objects.
- Fade-In + Audio: The entire rear object and crossfade (fade-out and fade-in) is moved. If the Crossfade Editor Preference Ignore position link status in "Audio with fade in" move mode is active, the fade-out remains unchanged. This makes the crossfade asymmetrical.

#### Position link inactive

#### Move the fade out

In all move modes the fade-out is moved relative to the audio, the fade-in remains unchanged.

#### Move the fade-in

- **Classical mode**: The rear object (audio material and fade-in) is moved.
- **Lock Audio**: The fade-in reference point is moved over the audio material.
- **Fade-In + Audio**: The rear object (audio and fade-in) is moved.

#### Moving with the Mouse



- **1** By dragging on the audio material in use, you can move the entire fade-in object along with the crossfade in **Classical** and **Fade-In + Audio** mode. The "Fade-out" object cannot be moved.
- **2** By dragging on the fade position handles you can change the fade position relative to the audio material (Overlap).
- **3** Drag the fade handle of the fade-in object to set the fade length of the fade-in.

#### **Crossfade Editor Object Mode**

Because subsequent objects are moved when you work on cuts and crossfades in Classical mode, to protect subsequent edits you probably want to use the Object mode **Link one track** while you are working in the Crossfade Editor. By default, this mode is automatically loaded when the Crossfade Editor is opened. In the project itself, however, you may prefer to work in **Normal Object Mode**. Therefore, the Crossfade Editor has a separate setting for the object mode (*P*161), which becomes active as soon as you open the Crossfade Editor.

OBJECT MODE	
Link one Track	
Preferences Auto <u>Z</u> oom	

When you exit the Crossfade Editor, the mode that was set in the project is restored.
-\grac{1}{2}- If you want to use the same object mode as in the Arranger, select **Use Global Mode** in the Crossfade Editor preferences for **Preset Object Mode**.

### Fade Length/Overlap/Shape

Use the **Form Link** button (keyboard shortcut: **N**) to specify whether the shape of the fades can be set together or or independently.

The fades can be set always independently if you also press the **Alt** key while adjusting to temporarily disable the link state.

**(i)** Tip: Shift + N / Shift + I operates the position and shape links simultaneously.

#### Fade Length

Set the fade length with the **Length** sliders. The faders are logarithmically scaled, which means that the shorter the fade length, the more precisely it can be adjusted. For a finer adjustment, additionally press the **Shift** key.

By double-clicking the corresponding input field, you can also edit the fade lengths directly. Keyboard shortcuts: fade-out length **L** or **Shift + L**, fade-in length **Ctrl + L** 

In the project window, the fades can be changed using the fade length handles.

#### Overlap

The **Overlap** determines the location of the reference point within the fade, i.e. how much of the fade takes place inside and how much outside the object boundaries.

For the fade-out, you determine the object end of the fade-out object by positioning the reference point.

**0%** means that the fade-out occurs completely before the object's end - the fade is completely inside the object and to the left of the reference point. At **50%** the fade is 50% inside and 50% outside the object, at **100%** the fade is completely outside the object and to the right of the reference point.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Keyboard shortcut for the fade-out Overlap value: **E** or **Shift + E** 

Similarly, you determine the object start of the fade-in object by positioning the fade-in reference point.

**0%** means that the fade-in takes place completely behind the start position - the fade is completely inside the object and to the right of the reference point. At the value **50%** the fade is 50% inside and 50% outside the object, at **100%** the fade is completely outside the object and to the left of the reference point.

#### $\dot{\phi}$ Keyboard shortcut for the fade-in Overlap value: **Ctrl + E**

If you activate the option **Keep fade** (keyboard shortcut: **K**), use the **Overlap** faders to move the reference point relative to the crossfade. If the option is not active, you move the crossfade relative to the reference point.

With the **Align**- function you connect the overlaps of linked fades so that the values of fade-in and fade-out together always add up to 100%.

In the crossfade editor project window, drag the "Overlap" handle to set the fade relative to the reference point.

This handle is not visible by default. To do this, activate the option Fade handles for overlap in the Project displaysettings (keyboard shortcut: Shift + Tab) in the section Objects.



Right-click the **Keep Fade** button (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + K**) to open a context menu that lets you set the fade reference points to default values.

#### Fade Shape

The selection menu **Form** contains mathematical functions for the shape of the fades. In addition to the linear form, various sine/cosine as well as exponential and logarithmic curves are available.

With the shape faders you can change every fade curve from linear (0%) to its original form (100%). At a value of -100% the curve is inverted. Parameter values larger than 100% or smaller than -100% create additional distortions in the curve.

-ˈo͡ː Keyboard shortcut for fade-out waveform: **H**, **Shift + H** Keyboard shortcut for fade-in waveform: **Ctrl + H** 

The **PowerLock** option couples the shape parameters when the link function is active. This function ensures a constant amplitude level in the parameter range between -100% and +100%. When you load a new curve shape, the complementary parameter value for the other curve is automatically used.



The dB display below the faders shows the relative level of the object at the fade reference point.



#### Volume/Level

Use the level fader (keyboard shortcut:  $\mathbf{V}$ ) to set a relative change in the object levels of the fade-in objects.

### **Playback Functions**

- PLAY PLAY PLAY Play Pre/Post
- 1 Playback in the pre-roll time until the end of the fade-out.
- **2** Playback from the beginning of the fade-in until the end of the post-roll time.
- **3** Playback of the entire crossfade, including pre- and post-roll time.

The Play Pre/Post option decides whether the playback of the crossfade including pre/post roll is performed when starting playback with the space bar. If it is disabled, playback will start from the current play cursor position. If it is activated, the play cursor is first moved in front of the crossfade according to the pre-roll time and then playback is started.

(i) All crossfade playback functions can also be found in the *Play/Rec* menu > Play cut ( $\mathbb{P}85$ ).

#### Keyboard control of the crossfade playback

Spacebar or In+Out Playback button: The crossfade is played back with pre- and postroll time.

The Play Pre/Post option must be active, otherwise playback will start from the playback marker.

- **Alt + Space**: The audio will be played from the playback marker.
- Shift + Space or upper small play button: The audio material of the fade-out object is played with pre-roll time.
- **Ctrl + Space** or lower small play button: The audio material of the fade-out object will be played back with post-roll time.
- **F7**: The fade-out objects are played back without fade until the "fade-out" reference point ("out point").
- **F6**: The fade-in objects are played back without fade from the "fade-in" reference point ("in point").
- **F8**: The unused audio of the fade-out objects is played from the "Fade-out" reference point ("out point").

- **F5**: The unused audio of the fade-in objects is played back until the "fade-in" reference point ("in point")
- Shift + Alt + Space: The upper audio material (also called "tail") is played from the playback marker position.
- **Ctrl + Alt + Space**: The lower audio material (also called "head") is played from the playback marker position.

### **Snapshots**

You can save different variants for the crossfade currently being edited in the 8 snapshots. To do this, click the corresponding button on the left while holding down the **Shift** key. If there was no snapshot saved on the button before, a simple left-click is also sufficient. You can also save the snapshots using the **Ctrl** key + number pad keys 1 - 8. Snapshots can also be loaded, saved or deleted via the context menu of the buttons.



Used snapshots are highlighted in blue, the active snapshot is additionally marked with red text

You load saved snapshots by left-clicking the buttons. This allows you to quickly compare different crossfade variants.

As soon as you exit the Crossfade Editor or switch to the next or previous fade, the snapshots are lost. Running **Revert** does not delete the snapshots.

### **Crossfade Presets**

The parameters of a crossfade (fade lengths, overlaps, point offset, curve shape, symmetry) can be saved in presets for further use. The saved presets are applied by selecting them from the **Presets** menu. The "fade-out" reference point of a crossfade and the reference points of a single fade-in or fade-out are retained.



To save the current settings in the Crossfade Editor as a crossfade preset, click the **Write** button and assign a new name. The saved preset will now appear in the **Presets** list.

#### **Standard Crossfade Presets**

There are a number of standard crossfade presets that are applied at various points in the program during cutting operations when the **Auto Crossfade Mode** is activated. You can use the Crossfade Editor to adapt these default crossfades to your needs by loading them, modifying them accordingly, and saving them again under these default names.

**Default\_CrossFade** is applied with all cut operations. It is a very short, symmetrical, linear crossfade designed to produce cuts that are as inaudible as possible. In cuts where a simple fade is created, the objects are "cropped", i.e. the fade is completely inside. For cuts that create a crossfade (e.g. splitting an object), the fade in the front object is completely outside (100% overlap) and in the back object completely inside (0% overlap).

**Default\_CrossFade\_Alt** is linked to the menu command **Split objects with alternate (linear) crossfade** (*P*163) (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + T**). It is also linear, slightly longer and symmetrical to the split point, but with an overlap of 50%.

**Default\_CrossFade\_SD** corresponds with the default application for source destination commands. This crossfade is optimized for fading similar signals, i.e. as a root cosine 50/50 fade. Adjust the standard length to suit your requirements.

**Default\_FadeFromBlack** and **Default\_FadeToBlack** are linked to the blackfade source destination commands. A standard fade-in and a standard fade-out are stored here, which can be applied contextually. Customize this preset to your most common use case.

In multi-user mode (₱651) each user can use his own presets.

### Multitrack Crossfade

You can edit crossfades on multiple tracks together. For this purpose, the objects involved must be grouped (≇154) beforehand. Objects created in a multitrack recording are already grouped.

After opening the crossfade editor, you can zoom out in the integrated project view until you see all the tracks where the grouped objects with crossfades are located. If you now change a crossfade, the changes also affect the crossfades of the other tracks.



### Lock tracks/crossfades

If you do not want to include the fades of a particular track in the edit, you can lock that track. Use the Lock button in the track head of the track to do so. The Crossfade Editor automatically switches the locked track into object mode **Lock all audio**, so that objects are not accidentally moved against each other.

### **Multitrack Presets**



The **MultiTrack** option lets you specify when loading crossfade presets whether the preset should be loaded on multiple crossfades on multiple tracks or only on the selected crossfade of the active track. (Shortcut: T).

**i Note**: The option for loading on all crossfades must be activated before loading the preset.

**Saving presets**: Also when saving, you can specify with an active **MultiTrack** option that the preset should be saved as a multitrack crossfade.

If the option is active, the preset is saved as a multitrack crossfade preset. For example, for a two-track crossfade it gets the extension MT02.cfp, for a three-track MT03.cfp and so on.

For example, if you load the saved "Crossfade\_MT03.cfp" preset on a two-track crossfade, you will get a message that the number of tracks does not match. You can still continue loading, it will load the crossfade settings for the two selected tracks only.

### **General Crossfade Functions**

- OK: (Keyboard shortcut: O) confirms all changes to the current crossfade and closes the crossfade editor.
- **Cancel**: (Keyboard shortcut: **Esc**) discards all changes to the current crossfade and closes the crossfade editor.
- Revert: (Keyboard shortcut: R) discards all changes to the current crossfade and opens the crossfade again with its original parameters. Saved snapshots for the current crossfade are retained.
- Back/Forward: (Keyboard shortcut: U / X) accepts all changes to the current fade and reopens the crossfade editor for the previous or next fade in the current track, or for multitrack crossfades in the reference track displayed in the title bar of the crossfade editor.

#### Symmetrically adjusting the fades

The option "Symmetrical" **Sym.** causes an adjustment of the fade-in to the fade-out. **Position Link** and **Form Link** are switched on.

FADE				
Previo <u>u</u> s	Ne <u>x</u> t Fade			
<mark>√</mark> S <u>y</u> m.	<u>R</u> evert			

When opening the Crossfade Editor with a symmetrical fade, the option is active. The state of the option indicates whether the requirements for a symmetrical crossfade are still met. These are:

- Point offset: 0
- The length of Fade In/Out are the same
- Overlaps add up to 100%

#### AutoZoom

If **AutoZoom** is active, the visible section is adjusted after changes to position, fade lengths or overlap so that the crossfade is always placed in the center of the Crossfade Editor project window and is fully visible. The size of the display can be set in the Crossfade Editor Preferences (button **Preferences**).

When clicking the AutoZoom option with the **Shift** key held down, the visible section is moved to the crossfade position without changing the zoom factor, the AutoZoom function remains deactivated.

### **Crossfade Editor Preferences**

Clicking the **Settings** button opens the Crossfade Editor Preferences in the program settings:

Position changes				
Nudge steps (ms) Default m	Default move Mode			
Step 1 1	Classical $\checkmark$			
Step 2 10 Default o	bject Mode			
Remember last stepwidth	It linked positions/parameters			
Playback	Operation			
Default Pre/Post Play	Imable Undo			
Post-roll time (sec): 2	Restrict VIP-Mouse-handling according to move modes			
Display	□ No object movement with mouse in linked "Classical" move mode			
Default horizontal auto-zoom	☐ Ignore position link state in "Audio with FadeIn" move mode			
Crossfade part of screen (%): 30 Minimal screen range (ms): 10	□ Ignore mixer keys (Arrows, PgUp, □ PgDn, Home)			
Remember horizontal zoom width	Keep focus			
Vertical auto-zoom of wave form	Center crossfade for zooming			
Dim unused audio	Always center crossfade			

#### **Position changes**

**Nudge Steps**: Select up to three step sizes for the crossfade editor. You can also enter fractions of milliseconds like 0.2 ms.

**Remember last step width**: If this option is active, then the last step size selected will be used with the next edit.

**Default Move/Object Mode**: When the crossfade editor is opened, the mode set here is used.

**Default linked positions/parameters**: With this setting, the crossfade editor opens preset with position link enabled for fade-out and fade-in.

#### Playback

**Default Pre/Post Play**: Here you decide whether option **Play Pre/Post** should be active for the playback button by default.

**Pre-roll timePost-roll time**: Here you determine the pre- and post-roll time in seconds for the corresponding playback functions in the crossfade editor and in the menu **Play/Rec** > **Play cut**.

#### Display

**Default Horizontal Auto zoom**: Set the status of the "Auto zoom" button when the Crossfade Editor is opened.

**Crossfade part of screen (%)**: Specify how much of the screen the crossfade should occupy when the Crossfade Editor is opened or after Autozoom. If you enter the value 0, the value for the **Minimal screen range (ms)** will be used.

**Remember horizontal zoom width**: If you select this option, the next time you open the Crossfade Editor, the last set horizontal zoom level will be recalled.

**Vertical auto zoom of waveform**: This scales the graphical representation of the sampled data of each object independently to a maximum. This allows you to better detect transients, but the waveform data of the objects no longer reflects the level relationships between the objects.

**Dim unused audio**: You can disable the visual attenuation of the unused audio for better visual juxtaposition of the upper and lower objects here.

#### Operation

Enable undo: Here you turn on/off the "Undo" function.

**Restrict mouse operations**: If active, restrict mouse operations in the project window to actions that are executable according to the current position link state and move mode to avoid operating errors.

**No object movement with mouse in linked "Classical" mode**: This locks the movement of linked objects in "Classical" mode.

**Ignore position link status in "Audio with fade-in" move mode**: This turns off the link status in "Audio with fade-in" move mode. The background is that the Audio with Fade mode with active Position Link is not very useful and you will mostly disable the Link status for it. This option will save you a few clicks.

**Ignore mixer keys**: This disables the mixer key shortcuts Page up, Page down, Home and Arrow keys for a selected fader to be able to use these keys for inputs in the project window.

**Keep focus**: Activate this option so that the crossfade editor always remains in focus, even after mouse operations in the project window.

**Center crossfade for zooming**: If this option is active, the crossfade is always displayed centered when zooming.

**Always center crossfade**: If this option is active, the crossfade is always displayed centered when zooming or moving objects.

## **Object editor**

The heart of object-oriented work is the Object editor, which can act as a "real-time channel strip" tool for single or multiple objects.



**i Note**: There is an object editor for MIDI objects as well. For detailed information, see the section MIDI object editor (7443).



The object editor is divided into three sections - FX, Fades, and Time/Pitch. To edit objects, the object editor can always remain open, its display always adapts to the selected object, for a multiple selection, this is the object that was last added to the selection.

To open the object editor, select objects and choose Menu **Object > Object Editor...** or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + O** or double-click the object. The Object Editor opens in the Docker (754).

### **Basic Functions**

٢

FX

 $\mathbf{x}$ 

 $\bigcirc$ 

- On the left there are buttons to switch between the three different views of the Object editor:
  - **FX**: Setting of audio effects, e.g. gain, AUX sends, FX plug-ins, EQ, panorama, automation and volume.
  - **Fades**: Settings for the object in the project and for the file, e.g. Fade-in, Fade-out, Wave file, Wave position, Object position
  - **Time/Pitch**: Here you can set time stretch / pitch shift algorithms and loops.

**i Note**: By right-clicking in a free area, you can select different color schemes (skins) for the object editor display. The skins with the name suffix "Editor Max" display all three views together in one window.

The right section is the same in all three views:

$\mathbf{R}_{\text{Ruitar 01}}^{\text{Ruitar 01}}$	<b>4</b> 0 1 2 <sup>5</sup> 4
Apply to a 6 Bypass FX	9 🕨
8 Freeze Comments:	10 <sup>°</sup> 11 12 13
14	

- **1** This text field displays the object name, which can also be edited here.
- By clicking on the square next to it you can set the background color of the object.
- Use the arrow buttons to move between objects on the tracks. They are not available when multiple objects are selected.
   Keyboard shortcut: < / > or Ctrl + Alt + Q / Ctrl + Alt + W
- **Reset**: Resets the selected object to the original (neutral) setting.
- **1-4**: **Snapshots for object editor settings**. These snapshots can be used on all objects in the project, so you can use them to transfer effect settings from one object to one (or more) other objects.

Click one of the buttons to save. To load the snapshot, click this button again. To overwrite a saved snapshot, click the button while holding down the **Shift** key. The active snapshot is marked by a bullet point.

In the context menu of the snapshots you can load and save snapshots and also delete them. There, the object settings can also be saved to a file or loaded from a file in order to use them across projects. The file names of the saved object settings are listed in the lower section of the menu.

In the **load options** you can define which settings should be loaded from the snapshots.

6 Apply to all: If you activate the "Apply to all" option, all selected objects will be updated when the object editor is open. All modified settings after the selection will be applied to all other selected objects.

In the menu under the small arrow vou can specify which settings are to be transferred. There are two different options for the volume, **relative** or **absolute**. **Example**: You have changed the level in an object from -7dB to -3dB, i.e. increased it by 4dB. If you transfer the volume to another object with volume -2dB **relatively**, it will have -2dB + 4dB = +2dB afterwards. If you transfer the volume **absolutely**, it will also have -3dB afterwards.

The **Plug-ins** option initially refers only to the fact that a specific plug-in is loaded into an object. The actual parameter settings of a plug-in are transferred only when the plug-in's interface is opened and closed. This can lead to a situation where you have adjusted a plug-in on one object and then accidentally open the same plug-in on another object, overwriting the settings. For this reason, there is an option in the menu **Transfer plug-in changes (open dialogs) now** to explicitly update the same plug-in in all other objects without closing the plug-in dialog. **Transfer all plug-ins now** transfers the parameters of all plug-ins to all selected objects.

- **Bypass FX**: This deactivates all object effects, EQ/panorama settings, and AUX sends.
- 8 Freeze: Switches object freeze (↗169) on and off.
- Play/Stop: This button corresponds to the normal playback function, except when
   Solo is active in the object editor (see below).
- **Phi**: The Phi button causes a 180 degree phase rotation. By right-clicking on the Phi button you can invert the left or right channel individually.
- **1 Lock**: Lock Object (∥161).
- Solo: When playing with the play button in the object editor (keyboard shortcut: **spacebar** with focus on object editor), playback starts from the beginning of the selected object and mutes all other objects.
- **Mute**: This button mutes the selected object. By right-clicking you can also mute the left and right channels individually.
- **Comments**: You can enter comments relevant to the selected object in this field.

### **Object Effects**

The **FX** view contains all the settings for the object effects.



In addition to the effects in the tracks and in the master channel of the mixer, you can also apply effects in audio objects. This allows you to selectively apply effects that you only need at a certain point in the arrangement, and you don't have to set up an extra track for an AUX send effect or automate a track effect for it.

The effects " stick to" the objects, therefore all settings are preserved when moving or copying the objects. Even if you split an object ( $\nearrow$ 163), the new object inherits all the effects of the original object.

It is also possible to use the object effects via the Effects menu or via the context menu on the object.

 $(\mathbf{i})$  Level and pan of the object as well as the volume controls in the track are calculated by default after the object effects.

The dialog is divided into different sections (Gain, AUX, Plug-ins, EQ, Pan, Vol, Automation). Some of the sections have a menu 🔄 . From this menu you can:

- **copy** the settings of the section and **paste** them into the same section of another object,
- reset the settings of the section and
- **apply** the settings of the section to all selected objects.



 $\bigcirc$  For transferring all settings to the other selected objects, see Apply to all (abla193)

#### Gain and AUX Sends

**Gain**: Here you can set the gain for the object.

 $\dot{\dot{Q}}$  If you normalize an object with a very low level, the volume fader in the object is at its maximum value after that and the object volume can no longer be changed so easily with the fader. In such cases, it is a good idea to enter the numerical value from the object volume at Gain (simply by copying and pasting) and set the object volume to 0.

**AUX sends**: AUX sends 1-4 are displayed in the object editor. Use the respective slider to set the send level.

**(i)** Object AUX sends are fixed to **Post**, i.e. after volume and pan, you cannot change this position.

Any object can send to all available AUX busses. Right-click the small rectangular button in the header to open the extended AUX Send dialog where you can edit all AUX Send paths. Click this button on the left to bypass all AUX sends (bypass function).

#### Plug-ins and EQ

Use the Plug-in section to apply effect plug-ins to objects.

Clicking on the empty insert slot opens the plug-in browser ( $\nearrow$ 226), where you can load a plug-in to the slot. Click on an occupied slot to activate/deactivate the plug-in. Right-clicking on the slot opens the plug-in's interface. In the menu at the insert slot  $\square$  you reach further functions, e.g. you can open the plug-in browser again to exchange or remove the plug-in.

The **Plug-ins** button at the top turns all effects in the respective effect chain on and off. A visual indicator (\*) for plug-ins shows that they were previously active and will be reactivated the next time the **Plug-ins** button is clicked. The order of the plug-ins can be changed by dragging and dropping a filled slot to another position.

The **FX** button opens a simplified Effect routing dialog (*№*230) for changing the plug-in order. Use the **T** menu next to the "FX" button to save or load object effect settings to a file.

The button **Offline FX** opens a menu that contains roughly the same entries as the menu **Effects** in the main menu, with the difference that here the effects are applied offline (237) to the object's audio file. It is also possible to edit either the left or right channels individually.

At **EQ** you can directly adjust four frequency bands of the EQ116 Parametric Equalizer using the rotary controls. By clicking the small rectangular button in the header you switch the equalizer on/off. Right-click on the knobs or the button to open the interface of the EQ116, where you can edit all frequency bands.

#### Pan

Here you can edit the panorama position as well as the stereo width. Right-clicking on a knob opens the Panorama Editor dialog (2521).

If surround busses or masters are present in the project, additional panels appear that let you apply track-based or object-based surround panning (2546).



Right-click in the surround panorama box below to open the Surround editor (2548).

#### Vol

**Vol.**: The volume can be controlled using this fader. Double-clicking on the fader sets it back to 0 dB.

Norm.: normalizes the maximum level of the object to OdB.

#### Automation



Here you can configure settings for object automation. Select the parameter to be automated in the menus. Use the **Show** option to make the parameter's automation curve visible in the objects.

Activate the Draw automation mode button and draw the object automation curve into the object.

(i) More information on object automation can be found in the section Automation (₱366)

### Fades

In this view you can set the Start, Length, End time positions and Fade parameters for the selected object. In the **Content** section you can change the audio file used by the object.

100	Fade-in		Fade-out 🔍	Content	Position	Rh Guitar 02
	32	Length	32	Audio File:	Object Start / Position:	<b>↑ ↓ ← →</b> り 1 2 3 4
r X				2_28_M24.ogg	066:04:153 • • • •	Apply to all a
×				Takes:	Object Length	Bypass FX
Ender	<b>T</b> 17				001:02:247 • • + +	Freeze
rescs	2		$\langle \tilde{z} \rangle$	Wave Position:	Object End:	φen SM
	<u> </u>			003:01:198	068:03:016	Comments:
Time/Pitch	100		100	Timestamp:	Step Size:	
mingritten	100	Curve	100	131:01:035 Deat Reverse	000:00:076 Deat	

#### Fade In/Fade Out



Fade in and fade out can be edited in this area. In the fields **Length** you can specify the fade lengths numerically in ms.

The sliders can be used to adjust the curve shape of the fades. Double-click the fader to switch the fade between **Linear** and the last setting. For the default curve shapes, there are corresponding buttons to the left and right of the graph. In the **Curve** fields you can specify the curve shape numerically (-100...100).

There are more options in the menus next to **Fade In** and **Fade Out S** :

- **Reset** removes the fade completely.
- Allow crossfade (to the left) decides whether the object cuts off an object in front of it or whether it forms a crossfade (*2*175) with it.
- Asymmetric crossfade (to the left) removes the coupling between the fade out of the previous object and fade in of the current object for such crossfades.
- Linear, Exp. (exponential), Log. (logarithmic), Cos. (Cosine) and Sin. (Sine) correspond to the preset waveforms of the buttons. With Load... you can apply additional waveforms from the crossfade editor (*P*181) in the object editor.
- The following three options specify the proportion of the fade that should be inside or outside the original object boundaries, see Fade-Overlap (*7*181) in the Crossfade Editor.
  - Fade inside: The fade is located completely within the object, overlap is 0%.
  - **Fade symmetrical**: The fade is symmetric to object borders, overlap is 50%.
  - **Fade outside**: The fade is completely outside of the original object edge, overlap is 100%.

The object will be lengthened accordingly. The original object edge, which now serves as the "axis" of the fade, so to speak, is shown as a dashed line. For an overlap above 0%,

audio must still be present outside the object boundaries so that the object can still be faded in or out. For example, if the object start coincides exactly with the beginning of the audio file, it will no longer be possible to fade in when the overlap is greater than 0%.

- With Get global crossfade the crossfade settings are set according to the default settings for automatic crossfades. With Set global crossfade the current crossfade settings can be set as default values for automatic crossfades.
- **Note**: For detailed crossfade editing, you can also use the professional crossfade editor (*₱*177) (Keyboard shortcut: Shift + F).

#### Content

**Audio file**: Here the referenced audio file of the object can be exchanged, copied and renamed. For more information see Changing the audio file under the object ( $\nearrow$ 173)

**Takes**: Select here the desired take ( $\nearrow$ 346) that the object uses.

**Wave Position**: The start position of the object within the audio file. This can be moved with the arrow buttons, this corresponds to the function Moving audio material under the object (7160).

**Timestamp**: The value corresponds to the original position (↗159).

**Gear**: The gear button opens the Broadcast Wave Manager (P667), which allows you to assign metadata to the underlying audio files.

**Reverse**: With this option the object will be played backwards.

#### Position

With these controls you can enter the object parameters **object start/position**, **object length** or **object end** numerically.

With the arrow buttons behind the values you can change the positions step by step. In the field **step size** you specify the step size for the arrow buttons. The graphics behind the buttons clarify their function.

When changing the object length step by step, the object end is kept fixed und the object start moves in the object. If you want to change the length without moving the start, change the position of the object end instead. When entering the object length numerically, it is always the end of the object that is adjusted.

By clicking on the unit of measurement to the right of the step size, the unit of measurement can be changed. In the lower part of the menu you will find presets for the respectively selected

unit of measurement, e.g. for the unit of measurement bar/beats different musical step sizes (1/16, 1/8 ...)



### Time/Pitch

		Timestretch / Pitchshift		Reset	Loop		Rh Guitar 02	
FX	Pitch (Half step) 0.00	Pitch Factor: 1.00000	Original BPM: 120.000 •		Loop-Start:	+=+		01234
×	Stretch Length: 000:00:000	Stretch Factor: 1.00000	BPM: 120.000	Edit 🗘	Loop-Length:	+-	Bypass FX Ereeze	
rades	Mode: Standard				Loop-End:		Comments:	Ψ∎́SM
Time/Pitch	Elastic Audio		ch automation) djustment		Step Size: 000:00:076			

#### Timestretch/Pitchshift

In this view, objects can be changed in pitch (pitch shifting) and tempo (time stretching). Except in "Resampling" mode, this can be done simultaneously and independently.

The upper knob controls the pitch shifting (**Pitchshifting**). You can also enter the pitch change in the fields **Pitch** in semitones and cents or as **Pitch factor** relative to the initial value.

-  $\dot{\Box}$ - If you move the mouse over the field **Pitch**, you can set the pitch change in 10 cent steps with the **mouse wheel**, in cent steps with **Ctrl + mouse wheel** and in semitone steps with **Shift + mouse wheel**.

The lower knob controls the tempo change (**Timestretching**). You can also enter the tempo change in the fields **Stretch Length** as a length change or **Stretch Factor** as a relative factor to the initial value, or enter the desired tempo in **BPM** (Beats Per Minute).

To calculate the stretch factor from the BPM input, the original tempo is needed.



A question mark next to the entry field indicates that the displayed value is a default value and may not correct.

You can either enter the original tempo manually or let the program calculate it. To do this, click on the arrow next to the value.



- Get tempo from loop/range length: A range section above the object is used to calculate tempo. Select the option and enter how many quarter notes should be included in the selection.
- Analyze tempo from audio material: Melodyne will calculate the tempo. Melodyne must be installed for this. More on this at Melodyne integration (*P*232).
- Analyze and round off tempo from audio material: The calculated tempo will be rounded off to a whole BPM value.
- Transfer object tempo to project tempo: The calculated object tempo is used as project tempo.

**Mode**: Four algorithms may be used for realtime time stretching and pitch shifting: **élastique Pro**, **élastique Efficient**, **Resample** and **Monophonic Voice**.

The button **Edit** opens an extended display of the timestretching/pitchshifting parameters.

(i) Read more about the algorithms and the advanced parameters at Resampling/Timestretching/Pitchshifting (↗312) in the Effects section.

The **Elastic Audio** (*№*277) button opens the selected object in the Elastic Audio editor.

**Elastic Audio(use Pitch Automation)**: If the option is active, pitch shifting is performed using Elastic Audio (*2*77), the pitch shifting controls in the object editor are then disabled.

**Use musical tempo adjustment**: adjusts the playback tempo of the object to the project tempo (tempo map). For more information, see the section Musical Tempo Adjustment (#384)

#### Loop

Here you will find the settings for looping objects. For more information, see section Looping objects (2167).

# SOURCE DESTINATION CUT

As an important editing function in **Sequoia**, source-destination cutting is particularly suitable for classical music productions, for montage work, and for current productions, whereby editing operations can be performed while a recording is still in progress.

The source-destination cutting method effectively and intuitively combines the advantages of a linear audio editing suite, consisting of a player and recording device, with those of a non-linear editor. In a special source-destination cut mode (210), two screen areas allow simultaneous and independent display and playback of the source tracks and the destination tracks. The lower monitor area (Source) displays the source material, i.e. all of the tracks recorded (including all of its takes).



The upper area contains the target tracks (Destination). Here the edited material can be arranged using the mouse or the keyboard. You can move independently in both areas, scroll the section, zoom and play. You can move through the source while the destination is being played back to prepare for the next cut.

The actual editing takes place via markers. In and out markers in the source are used to define the material that is to be copied to a marker position in the destination by the cut command.

This function can be used to quickly perform editing processes that would otherwise be very time-consuming. For example, you can use 4-point editing to replace a section of your multitrack project with a slower version of the arrangement. With this process the subsequent audio material is moved on the new cut borders synchronously over all tracks.

You can use the source-destination cut features in any multitrack project. There are also additional modes available, i.e. S/D Special Mode (2210) and Multi-Source Session (2209) and the Multi-Synchronous Cut (213).

## **Source and Destination Tracks**

A **Source track** is a track with source material. In Source tracks, set the In Point (Source) and Out Point (Source) markers to select the audio material to be cut.

The audio material of the source track is compiled in the **Destination track**. Set here the In Point (Destination) and Out Point (Destination) markers to indicate the area where audio material will be inserted.



To define a track as a source or destination track, click the arrow to the right of the track name in **Track Editor** or **Track Head**.

These and other commands for this can also be found in the menu **Track** > **Source/Destination**:

- Normal/Source/Destination: Set the mode for the selected track and the tracks below it, depending on the number set at track number.
   Keyboard shortcut: S (Source) / D (Destination)
- Source/Destination track number...: Set the number of consecutive source-destination tracks in this dialog.
- Swap source and destination: With this command, source and destination tracks swap modes.
- Shift source down/up: The selected source track changes to normal mode and the respective track above or below it becomes the new source track. Keyboard shortcut: Alt + Page up/down

A track can also be both source and destination, e.g. to cut audio forward within a track from a later time period.

You can also define source and destination markers in different project types, for example, the destination markers in the current virtual project and the source markers in a wave project (audio file). A wave project can only be used as a source.

To perform cuts between different virtual projects, either create a multi-source session or define additional source projects via the Source Manager ( $\nearrow$ 349).

## **Commands for 4-point cut**

All commands for the 4-point cut can be accessed via the menu **Edit** > **Source/destination cut**.

There are buttons on the upper toolbar for the most important commands for executing cuts and setting and deleting In and Out markers. These are turned off by default. They are displayed when you select the workspace (256) **SD editing**.

### Set and delete In/Out points

An In Point marker defines the start point of a cut and an Out Point marker defines the end point of a cut.

The In and Out Point markers can be set with the keyboard or with buttons in the upper toolbar. To display the source-destination cut buttons, it is best to switch to the Workspace (756) **SD-Editing** (menu at the bottom left of the program window).

#### 🕨 🕘 🕨 🔌 🚺

There are buttons for the most important commands for setting and deleting the source/destination markers.

Command	Keyboard shortcut
In Point (Source)	Ctrl + Home
Out Point (Source)	Ctrl + End
In Point (Dest.)	Shift + Home
Out Point (Dest.)	Shift + End
Delete source points	Ctrl + Alt + Page Down
Delete destination points	Ctrl + Alt + Page Up

All commands for setting and deleting the In/Out markers in Source and Destination are located in the menu **Edit** > **Source/Destination Cut** > **Set/Delete In/Out Point(s)**. For In and Out points there are commands to set and to delete, respectively for Source, Destination or unspecifically for Source or Destination. You can use the latter in **Source-destination cut mode**; the command then always takes effect depending on the focused project section. Source markers are set in the active source section and destination markers in the destination section.

The keyboard shortcuts for these commands are logically structured: Home/End determines In/Out, + Ctrl for the source points, + Shift for the destination points, + Alt to delete the respective points. The non-specific keyboard shortcuts are composed of Home/End for In/Out, with Ctrl + Shift for setting and Alt for deleting the points.

Set In Point	Ctrl+Shift+Home
Set In Point (Dest.)	Shift+Home
Set In Point (Source)	Ctrl+Home
Set Out Point	Ctrl+Shift+End
Set Out Point (Dest.)	Shift+End
Set Out Point (Source)	Ctrl+End
Delete In Point	Alt+Home
Delete In Point (Dest.)	Alt+Shift+Home
Delete In Point (Source)	Ctrl+Alt+Home
DeleteOut Point	Alt+End
Delete Out Point (Dest.)	Alt+Shift+End
Delete Out Point (Source)	Ctrl+Alt+End
Delete Destination Points	Ctrl+Alt+Page up
Delete Source Points	Ctrl+Alt+Page down

You can delete both edit markers with the commands **Delete destination points** and **Delete source points**.

### **Cut Commands**

**Insert cut**: This command executes the cut process. Audio material present in destination tracks is overwritten.



Keyboard shortcut: F9

**Insert with ripple**: This command also executes the cut process. Audio material present in destination tracks is moved forward.



Keyboard shortcut: **F10** 

**Delete and ripple**: This command deletes the cut range in the destination tracks and closes the resulting gap by moving the following audio material.

### ×

#### Keyboard shortcut: F11

**Delete silence**: This command deletes the cut range in destination tracks. Following audio material is not moved.

×

Keyboard shortcut: **F12** 

#### Cut commands with crossfades

If the Auto Crossfade mode is active, crossfades are created accordingly for the cut commands. For the shape of the crossfades, a special crossfade preset (*7*185) **Default\_CrossFade\_SD** is used. The preset can be customized in the Crossfade Editor.

Every common cut command is also available in the variant **Blackfade**. Here, the beginning and end of an object are faded in or out. These blackfade cuts use the crossfade presets **Default\_FadeFromBlack** and **Default\_FadeToBlack**.

For keyboard shortcuts the keyboard shortcuts of the normal editing commands + **Shift** key are used

Blackfade insert	Shift + F9
Blackfade insert with ripple	Shift + F10
Blackfade Delete and Ripple	Shift + F11
Blackfade delete silence	Shift + F12

#### Other cut commands

**Insert with time stretching**: In this case, the source material is time-stretched between the destination in-point and destination out-point. Existing material in the destination tracks is replaced with the material from the source tracks.

This enables the timing of drum loops to be adjusted to the existing arrangement, without the need to apply complicated operations. The time-stretching is done non-destructively.

Keyboard shortcut: Alt + F9

**Insert at Source Position**: You can use this cut command in a dubbing cut. The original time position of the source material is used as the destination position. You don't need to set any Destination markers, markers that were previously set will be ignored. The cut retains the time position of the source material.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + F9

### Zoom commands for the 4-point cut

The commands **Jump to In Point/Out Point** move the play cursor to the Destination In or Out point. If no corresponding Destination point is set, the program jumps to the Source In/Out point.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Page Up/Page Down

The commands **Zoom to In Point/Out Point** move the play cursor to the Destination In or Out point and additionally adjust the zoom level according to the 4 point cut preferences (*7*212). The preset value is a time of 2000 ms.

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + Page Up/Page Down

## 2 Point Cut

In a 2-point cut, one cut marker is set for the source track and one for the destination track. The source material will be transferred according to the set cut marker into the destination track. The 2-point cut offers you three different options:

1. You define the In Point (Source) and the In Point (Destination).

With the cut, all audio from the source track is inserted after the In point at the In point of the destination track.

ource :000	In Dest 20:20:000	<b>0</b> 0:				
Abspielmarker- und Bereich						
Objekt-Manipulations-Areal	Objekt-Manipulations-Areal					
Summer Summer Summer						
0 dB	<b>G</b>					

2. You define the Out Point (Source) and the Out Point (Destination). When cutting, all audio material on the source track before the out point is inserted

before the out point of the target track, starting from the beginning of the target track.

00:00:00:000	Out Source	00:00:20:000	Out Dest	00:
		ions-Areal		
0 dB	~ &			

3. You define the In Point (Source) and the Out Point (Destination).

When cutting, all source material behind the In Point is inserted, starting from the beginning of the target track to the Out Point of the target track.



## **3 Point Cut**

In a 3-point cut, a range is defined by setting an in and out point on either the source or destination track, while the third cut marker is set on the other track. This means that only one of the four section markers is not set. The cut is made with the length specified by the complete In/Out Point pair.

If you have set the In and Out points in the destination track, but only the In point in the source track, the source material is cut into the destination track from the In point (source) with the length specified by the destination In/Out points.

Source 🚶	000	In Dest	>00	Out Dest	1 00
Abspie	marker- und Bereichsmanipulation				
Objekt-	Vanipulations-Areal				
	bitert. Bright bertriff bo-			<b>110-4</b> 11	<b>200</b>
	bittert. Brittie bermille be-			-	>00
0 dB					Դ

If you have set the In and Out points in the source track, but only the In point in the destination track, the source material specified by the In/Out points of the source will be cut into the destination track from the In point (destination) when cutting.



If you have set the In and Out points in the target track, but only the Out point in the source track, the source material is cut into the target track before the Out point (source) with the length specified by the target In/Out points.

00:00:00:000	Out Source	In Dest 00	Out Dest 00
Abspielmarker- und			
Objekt-Manipulation:			
bellens picturel- De	all a brand bab		0
benensteringen und - ite	till a brandi bab		8
0 dB			6

If you have set the In and Out points in the source track, but only the Out point in the destination track, the source material specified by the source In/Out points will be cut into the destination track before the Out point (destination).

ource 🔰	:000	Out Source	00:00:20:000	Out Dest 00
Abspiel				
Objekt-				
(bottome)	Mileste Bargo	a Bratantik Bib-	- 14- 800 - (806-14)- (1	
	Nillert- Britt	e in the line of t		angelt - Br - 140- Bh
0 dB				6

## 4 Point Cut

"4-point edit" allows you to set all 4 cut markers. While doing this you work with two ranges, the source range and the destination range. The following applies:

- The length of the cut is determined by the In/Out point range of the source.
- The In/Out Point range of the destination will be replaced by the audio of the source.

If the source and destination ranges have different lengths:

If the destination range is shorter than the source range, the audio following the out point (destination) is shifted to the right so that the source audio is completely fitted in and the following destination material is not overwritten.

ource 0:000	Out Source In De	st 0:20:0K	Out Dest		1 00:0
Abspielmarker- und	Bereichsmanipulations				
Objekt-Manipulation	s-Areal		0 dB	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	
(antimit all and a lite			())~()~()		×00
(antitial particular de			<u> </u>		
0 dB					°.

If the destination range is longer than the source range, the source range is inserted and the audio material following the out point (destination) is moved to the left so that it moves up to the inserted material.



Note: A 4 point cut can also be performed as a time stretch cut (menu Edit > Source/Destination Cut > Insert with time stretching; Shortcut: Alt + F9). In this process the contents of the source range are stretched or compressed to the length of the destination range. The main application of this is dubbing cut. Please note that time stretching has its limitations and can result in audio artifacts. Preset in Sequoia is a stretch factor range from 0.5 to 2.0. If you want to stretch or compress the pasted material more than that, you can do it in the Object Editor or with the Pitchshift/Timestretch mouse mode.

## Multi Source Session - S/D Cut with Multiple Projects

With source-destination editing with multiple projects (multi-source session), audio material from one project is transferred to another using the source-destination editing functions.

In a multi-source session, there are multiple projects, a destination project and at least one source project. Ranges from the source projects can be transferred to the destination project using the source-destination cut.

In a Multi-source session it is easier to sort audio material in context, such as source projects for cues, dialogs, MuSyC VIPs, or or multiple virtual projects for compiling a CD.

### Multi-Source Session - Creating a New Project

In the **File** menu, select **New virtual project...**. Enable the **Multi Source Session** option and specify the number of source projects you want. Confirm this by clicking **OK**.

```
Multi Source Session, Source Number: 1
```

A destination project and the desired number of source projects are then created by **Sequoia**.

sdV0*	2022-08-29.1/8*							
EI SM			-10.00 10.000	- 20 10 20 000	- 10 10 10 000	1000.0000	100.00 10 000	
<b>EXMIN</b>								
		The second second						
int in	- III (							
	_							
2.912								
5 M 🔳	K 🖬 🛙							
THE R. LEWIS								
	••••	<b>.</b>						
10 C								
<b>BORDER</b>		44 01 02 000						
un.p	1004	Pos 0.00.0000 Lan	14				18.1	-10 TA
2023-06-29-4	11NP* x 2023	-08-29-ws2.VIP* 2022-08-29-w	c110P*					1
			- 50 50 50 500	- 10 10 10 100				
	- Č	1 10 10 10 10	, 90 90 10 900	, 10 10 20 000	, 90 90 30 900	,000.00	+ 00 00 10 MM	_
			, NO NO 10 000	, 00 10 20 000	, NO DE 20 800	1, 00 50 KD 500	, 00 NO 50 MM	
S M .			, 90 90 10 100	, 30 M 20 MM	, 90 00 31 000	, 40 50 KD 500	, of 10 10 mm	
S M				900 MC 201 000	1, 60 00 30 000	1000	1,90,90,90,90	
				<b>MB IT IN M</b>	, 40 M 31 MH	, et et et	, 40 94 54 249	
				199 E 20 199	, <del>10</del> 10 30 000	, 40 (0 al) 000	, tot do too mee	
				199 K. 199 K.	199 KK 199	, 40 M 40 MM	, 100 00 10 mm	
				199 KE 199	, 10 10 2 10 10	, in the sec	and of the law	
				A III A A	946 K 66 Kr.	, in 20 ml	and as an an	
				, N 10 2 10	900 X 00 H	, in 20 and and	, and an on an	
				And the first of the second	400 KE KI WI y	, 101 50 40 mm	, nati da da ma	
				, N III 7,2 PM	400 KC 60 MJ	, 10 20 40 ml	******* ****	
						, 101 20 40 100		
		Terretories of the second seco		v fill at 20 mm hjólan Spuren Marker <b>Channe</b>	(H H X H	, 101 20 40 100	не и ни н на и ни н (36)	
				v fill it 20 me Nøfer Spurer Merker Dourse	UK 10 50 MM	, in the second se	не ке не на , соста	
		Terretoria de la consecuencia de		v fill at 20 mm Norther Sporee: Marker Doctor M Pagement	y te 30 30 Mil	, 101 50 40 mm	ни и и и и на и и и и (343)	
		Note the second se	, 46 24 11 mm The second sec	v bi liti 20 994 Njakim Spuren Marker Source 19 Silani Jaja and Source MARCH Source	148 35 38 36	, 10 10 10	******* ****	- 1
S M S M S M S M S M S M S M S M S M S M		The intermediate of the second	, HE SH 10 MM	v bill itt ja mei hjäller Sporen Marker David 19 19 20 Jahr vij de auf Document MARS Science Offer vij de auf Document MARS Science Offer vij de auf Document MARS Science	y 48 30 30 900	, 1929 40 MB	ни и и и (36)	- 1

Notes: The individual windows can each be maximized. You can then continue to switch between the last activated source project and the destination project by using the Page up and Page down keys to switch. You can also use the tabs at the top of the project docker to switch between the individual source projects and the destination project.

### **Opening a New Source Project or Creating one Afterwards**

To subsequently integrate a new source project into an existing multi-source session, select the **Source** entry in this project from the context menu of the Track head or the Track editor. Assign the project to an opened destination project via Source list ( $\nearrow$ 349). On the source tracks of the project, you can now compile your cut in the usual way and transfer it to the destination project.

### Selecting a Source for the Cut

Normally, you always cut from the last active source project. In all other projects, the source markers are grayed out. Activate the window of another source project to select it as the source. You can also select the source project in the source list (\$\not\gamma349\$).

## Source Destination Cut mode (S/D special mode)

The **Source Destination Cut mode** function from the sets the project window to a special mode consisting of two separate track areas, whereby the destination tracks are located at the top and the source tracks are at the bottom. This mode is primarily intended for editing readymixed stereo and surround projects. To specifically set an existing audio track of your project as source or destination track, select this track as source or destination already before switching to the special mode.

You activate the source-destination cut mode with the button on the toolbar (WorkspaceWorkspaces (256) S/D-Editing) or menu Edit > Source/destination cut > Source destination cut mode

	Abspelmente Objekt Manne Billettin- Billettin & Mannet Billion- Billion
pan 0.0	0 d8
1234 1234	00:00:37:719
setup zoom	Dstin 0.00:09:200 DstOut DstPos 0:00:11:537
# S M #•	00.00:00: In Source 0.00:10:000
2 s: 2 S	(tor al antical light a court - allow all the a- it to bart all - its
ته فا شر شر مذ	have a second and the second of the second s
vol 0.0	0 d8
3 S: 3 🔫	
SM 📕 🖬 🖬 🕄	Absplaterker- and Densizher republicity Area
ie e e e e e e e	

In both track areas, you can change visible section and zoom level independently from each other. The currently active track area is displayed highlighted. You can switch between source and destination area by simply clicking on a corresponding track or by using the buttons **Page up** and **Page down**.

In both track areas, the play cursor can be moved and ranges can be selected independently. Playback control always takes place in the active track area. However, you can change the track area without affecting the playback and make changes there.

Recording and loading audio files is always done in the source track area at the bottom.

In the source-destination cut mode, proceed as follows:

Assembling raw material in the source: The raw material can consist of several recording takes that are to be assembled. Thereby you can record directly into the source

track or load already existing audio files into the source track.

- Marking important spots in the raw material: Mark the use of an instrument in the different recording takes to better compare the recordings. You can use project markers on the timeline of the source track and audio markers directly in the audio material for marking.
- Cut commands/Setting In and Out points: All cut commands (*P*203) as well as the setting of the cut markers (*P*206) work in the same way in S/D special mode like with normal source destination cut.

### S/D Cut Settings

You can reach the settings dialog for the source-destination cut via the menu **Edit** > **Source/Destination cut** > **4-point cut preferences** or via the **Program Preferences** dialog > **SD cut/ MuSyC**.

Cut Operation	
Copy Markers with Cut	Operation after Cut:
CD Markers only	<ul> <li>None</li> <li>Activate destination</li> <li>Select objects</li> </ul>
Move Destination In Point after Cut	O Edit cut in Crossfade Editor
Source/Destination Options	
Display normalized waveform in S / D Mo	Synchronize zoom in all S/D projects
Use destination mixer for sources	Assign S/D tracks by range when setting in/out points

Cut operations:

- **Copy markers with cut**: The set markers will be taken over to the destination during cutting.
- **CD markers only**: During editing, only CD markers are transferred to the destination.
- Move Destination In Point destination after cut: This option causes the In Point in the destination after each cut to be placed at the end of the current cut. You can then immediately cut more material without having to set the Destination In Point manually each time.

#### Operation after cut:

- **None**: With this option you avoid the change of focus to the destination and leave the focus in the source.
- **Activate destination**: This option activates the destination after the cut.
- **Select objects**: After a cut is made, the object cut into the destination is selected.
- Edit cut in crossfade editor: After a cut is made, the last object inserted into the destination opens in the Crossfade Editor (177).

#### Source Destination Options:

- The setting Zoom to In/Out Point with ... ms is related to the commands in menu Edit > Source/Destination Cut > Zoom to In/Out Point (206). Specify the time in milliseconds for the zoom display for the in/out-point. The keyboard shortcut Ctrl + Alt + Shift + Page up/Page down moves the play cursor in the currently selected track by the zoom factor to the in/out-point. The preset value is a time of 2000 ms.
- Vertical auto zoom in S/D mode: This option activates the vertical auto zoom in Source Destination Cut mode. With this, the tracks are optimized vertically depending on the window size, i.e. the visible wave section is displayed normalized to 100%.
- Synchronize zoom in all S/D projects: If this option is active, the zoom factors are synchronized in all source destination projects and the MuSyC overview project.
- Use destination mixer for source projects: Source projects and destination project are played through the same mixer when this option is active. This mixer is also opened when the overview project is active in MuSyC. Folders and buses are ignored during the assignment, a uniform routing applies. Mute/Solo keyboard shortcuts and track head controls control this mixer in all projects.
- Assign S/D tracks by range when setting in/out-points: This option integrates tracks that have not been defined as source or destination track in the cutting process. If you drag a range in a track that was not previously defined as a source or destination track, the placement of a source or destination marker at the edge of a range will define this track automatically as source or destination track (depending on the marker), and this will be indicated accordingly in the track head.

## MuSyC - Multi-Synchronous Cut

The **multi-synchronous cut** (MuSyC) facilitates the editing of multitrack recordings with a very large number of tracks and with several successive recording takes, as is often the case with classical music recordings.

For pop music or similar, recordings of multiple takes of the same section can be made *on top of each other* in the same section of the project. The tempo and musical position is clearly defined, often guided by a click track or pre-recorded guide track. Takes are created that can be exchanged on the object and conveniently selected and combined using Take Manager (#346) and the Take lanes (#142).

In classical recordings, working with takes in this way is impractical: a large number of tracks are often recorded, but they are never treated separately. The tempo is free, there is no guide track, and the interaction between orchestra and conductor should be as smooth as possible. An additional ongoing dialogue between the conductor or sound engineer would be required in order to synchronize the recording in the project with existing takes during the recording.

Therefore, the recording simply runs through during such recording sessions and after it the recording is available in different takes in one or more source projects *one after the other*.

If the recordings are later to be edited together with the source destination cut, this creates the problem of having to constantly jump back and forth in the project or switch between projects to compare takes and find the right sections. This is where multi-synchronous cut comes in handy:

Based on a content analysis of the audio material, different recording takes of the same passage of a piece of music are recognized and displayed one below the other in a special **overview project**. Each take of a multitrack recording is represented by a single reference object on its own track, with musical passages recognized as the same being displayed on top of each other.

The selection of the takes is done by selecting the track of the reference object and the selection of a time section (Source In/Out points). Without changing the project window or manually moving the play cursor, the takes can be compared and combined in a similar way to comping with the take lanes. "Visual time stretching"(**time alignment**) is used to synchronize passages that belong together musically, even with slightly different tempos: The waveforms are slightly compressed or stretched to synchronize the takes. However, this display only applies to the overview project; the audio material is displayed normally in the destination project.

				+	Tschaikowsky.VIP*		_		_		
		Ξ.	Take 1		Take 2	Take	3	Take 4			
00:00:00:000	In Dest		00-01-40-000		00:00:00:00	In So	surce >	Cout Sour	ce :00   00	:10:00:00	_
		ns-Areal	00.01.40.000	П							
66 -9	64 🖘			H	63		64	65		66	
66 🖘	64 49			11							
- <b>66 ~</b> 0	64 49			1	63		64	65		66	
	eto			÷							
66 🖘	64 +9			-	63		64	65		66	
00:02:09:262	1		+ -		(00:15:11:00			_			+ -
Doe 0:01:09:063	Leo		4. 41		Poe 00:05:23:12	Len	00:27	30:18 End	00:27:30:22		+1
105 0.01.00.000					105 00.05.25.12	Len	00.21	50.10 [End	00.21.30.22		1.
00:00:00:000	🤇 In Sou	rce )	1 00:0	1:40:	00COut Source	00:02:3	30:000		100:03:20:000	00:04:10	000
63					-		•				
				-		_					
64 TIME											
			·····				**				
65 TIME											
				•••			0 <b>0</b> 000				
GG TIME			-1-10								_

In the overview project below the take is selected, the area to be used from the take is defined by the source markers. In the source project on the right, you can also see the source markers. When performing the cut, the source material from all tracks is cut into the Destination project at the position **Destination In**.

### **MuSyC Preparation**

Before performing multi-synchronous cut, the **Sequoia** session must be prepared accordingly. To do this, open the dialog **Multi-Synchronous Cut (MuSyC) - Preparation** with menu **Edit** > **Multi-synchronous cut** > **MuSyC Preparation...** 

Multi-Synchronous Cut (MuSyC) - Preparation	×					
1. Select source proje	ct(s)					
Project	Reference track					
G:\Users Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia 16	2023-01-19\source 3 "T: 3"					
Open source manager	What is a reference track?					
2. Select overview pro	oject					
G:\Users' \Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia 16	2023-01-19\source_takes MuS					
3. Select destination p	roject					
G:\Users' \Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia 16\	2023-01-19\source_takes Desti					
4. Cutting takes						
Open Take Assistant	Why do I need the Take Assistant?					
5. Check settings						
Start check	ОК					
Options						
Copy source project markers to audio markers						
Correct start of takes						
Start time alignment after analysis						
Ignore <u>f</u> alse starts						
Manual alignment	<u>S</u> tart analysis <u>H</u> elp					

 Select source projects: You are working with MuSyC in a multi source session (209). Source and destination project means that the project in which the cut version is created is different from the one in which the raw data was recorded. All source projects are displayed in the list.

You use the Source manager ( $\nearrow$ 349), which can also be opened from here with the button, to specify which of the loaded projects act as source projects:

- a Load all the source projects you want to use.
- b Select the projects in the Source Manager and press the button Add active source project to the list (S+). Unused source projects can be deleted from the source list by selecting them and pressing the Del key.
- c Activate the source projects one by one and set the reference track (see below).
- Select overview project: The overview project is displayed in the field, an existing overview project can be loaded via the folder button. With Create overview project a overview project (218) can be created for the current MuSyC session, if one does not already exist. The button opens the dialog New project.
- 3. **Select destination project**: In the same way, a destination project can be loaded here and, if necessary, a new one can be created.
- - $\dot{Q}$  When saving a MuSyC overview project, a **Sequoia** session file (\*. samx) is suggested to be saved together with the project, which contains all opened projects and their layout. This allows you to load overview project, source and destination projects together at a later time.
- 4. **Cutting takes**: For the analysis to work, it is essential that all takes in the source projects are in separate objects. The Take assistant (*P*213) helps to find takes based on silence in the reference track of the source project and to cut the objects on all tracks at these locations to create new takes that MuSyC can use for analysis.
- 5. **Check settings**: Click **Start Check** to verify the current settings. If a green **OK** appears, everything is set correctly.
- 6. **Options**: Before starting the analysis you can set some more options:
  - a **Copy source project markers to audio markers**: Use this option to convert source project markers into audio markers.
  - b Correct start of takes: This option automatically shortens the start of takes after analysis. Improved analysis results may be achieved if this is done prior to analysis. To prevent the time adjustment at the beginning of the music from being inaccurate, the beginnings of the takes must not contain several seconds of silence or other sounds that do not belong to the music. You can find help with this task using the Take assistant (*P*221).
  - c Start time alignment after analysis: This option starts the time alignment automatically after analysis. If you leave this option off, you can check the overview project after the analysis and correct it if necessary before you start the time adjustment (Edit menu > Multi-Synchronous Cut > Time Alignment > Align all objects).
  - **d Ignore false starts**: Use this option to ensure that false start takes are excluded from the analysis.
- 7. With **Start analysis** the analysis of the source material is started and the overview project is filled with the takes found: Takes recognized as the same are arranged one below the other, all other takes are arranged one behind the other on the first track.
- 8. Now you can edit your takes from within the overview project (*№*218) using the source-destination edit.

### MuSyC Reference Track

The reference track is the track in the source project that is used to identify the various takes in the source project that are to be displayed synchronized in the overview project. It is therefore the "master track" for the multi-synchronous cut.

Any mono or stereo track of the source project can serve as a reference track. Typically, you will use the track of the main microphones as a reference track. A rough mix can also be created in a new track and this can be selected as the reference track.

The reference track is the track that is selected in the source project at the moment when the analysis is started and the overview project is created. At the top of the **Multi-synchronous cut preparation** dialog, in the list of source projects, you can see which track is set as the reference track in the **Reference Track** column for each source project.

1. Select source project(s)		
Project	Reference track	
G:\Users Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia 16\2023-01-19\source 3 "T: 3"		
Open source manager What is a r	eference track?	

**i** Note: Make sure that the reference track contains audio material as continuously as possible, i.e. that there are no long pauses.

### **Cutting with the MuSyC Overview Project**

After the analysis, the takes of the reference tracks of the source projects are arranged in the overview project. The overview project does not display the entire audio material in the chronological sequence of takes determined by the recording, as normal projects do. Instead, it presents an overview mode for better handling of all takes of all source projects collected, sorted by musical context.

The representation of the objects on the tracks is used to sort and select the takes: The takes - with all tracks on each - from the source projects are represented by a single reference object for each one. Matching takes are displayed synchronized in time one above the other, different takes one after the other. Small time deviations are compensated visually by the time alignment. The adjusted objects are marked with **TIME**.

The takes in the overview project are thus "proxies" for a particular take in a particular source project: the selection of the track and the positioning of the play cursor determine which take it is. Accordingly, the play cursor is also moved to the appropriate position in the associated source project.

In the overview project, therefore, only exactly one track can be active at a time, which thereby determines the active take. When you start playback, this take will be played back from the playback position. If you change the active track during playback, you can compare takes this way. Click in the track header or on an object to do this.

(i) Normally the reference track of the source project is played. To play the entire source project, use **Edit > Multi-synchronous cut > Play source**. The default behavior can be changed in the system settings for MuSyC (see below).

If you select a range in a take in the overview project or set a source-in or source-out marker, the markers are set to match the take or the corresponding range is selected in the corresponding source project. This connection between these time positions in an object of the overview project and those of the associated take in the source project is independent of the position of the object in the overview project. The positions in the overview project are meant to mark audio material as "simultaneous" that is present in the source project in succession. You can therefore also move the objects in the overview project to correct errors in the analysis or to manually arrange the objects one below the other and thus use them as different recording takes of the same musical material.

**i Note**: If, after analysis, you move objects that represent different takes of the same piece and for which you have performed a time alignment to visually align the takes, you must perform the time alignment again after moving it (menu **Edit > Multi-synchronous cut > Time** *alignment* > *Align selected objects*). The time reference is always the top object.

So you use the overview project to select audio in the source project for an edit. Then, when you perform an edit, the audio is copied from the source project to the destination project; the overview project is not involved. You can perform the actual editing using the sourcedestination cut functions, as described in detail above. However, it is also possible to simply copy and paste a range selection from a take from the source to the destination project without SD functions.

**i** To do this, the option **Command "Copy" copies source when called in overview** must remain active in the SD-Edit/MuSyC- options. If it is deactivated, the copied area contains only the content of the object from the overview project, i.e. only the contents of the reference track from the source project.

## MuSyC Menu Commands

The menu **Edit > Multi-synchronous cut** contains further commands for multi-synchronous cut:

- **Object Alignment:** 
  - Recalculate object position: The analysis for arranging the takes is repeated. If you additionally select a range, only this range will be taken into account during analysis and reordering.

- **Optimize project overview**: This command provides a more compact display of the overview project. Longer takes are preferably placed in the upper tracks. The longest take is moved to the top track, which is used as reference for the time adjustment.
- Find Audio...: This function can be used to search for similar audio material across all loaded projects. The search uses the algorithms from multi-synchronous cut, but can also be used independently. Select a range in the audio material. The menu **Search in** can be used to limit the search to specific projects or the active project. Start searching. In the dialog, the search hits are listed, in which project they were found in which object at which position and how certain this search hit is (column **Relevance**).
- **Time alignment**: The commands in this submenu control the time alignment of the objects in the overview project, i.e. the visual adjustment of object starts and lengths to the take in the top track of the overview project.
  - With **Align all objects** the display of all objects is adjusted. Adjusted objects are marked with **TIME**.
  - Align selected objects adjusts only selected objects.
  - With **Reset selected objects** you can reset the time adjustment.
  - Show true timing: Use this option in the menu to toggle the option Show true timings in overview in the MuSyC system settings. For more information, see MuSyC settings (#223).

**Fast insert**: You can use fast insert to speed up your work: This assumes that directly consecutive time ranges are combined one after the other from the different takes.

- 1. In the Overview project, select a range or place the In Point marker at the beginning and the Play marker at the end of a section in a take that you want to cut.
- 2. Run **Fast Insert**. (Again, keyboard shortcuts help)
- 3. The section is copied to the destination project in the normal way.
- **4**. The In Point marker in the overview project is moved to the end of the area just inserted.
- 5. In the take that you want to cut the next section from, place the play cursor at the end of the section and perform the next fast insert cut.

**Play source/Play destination**: These commands can be used to play the respective projects, regardless of whether they are currently focused. For a meaningful use you should link them with keyboard shortcuts.

**Activate overview (MuSyC)**: After executing a cut, the Destination project is activated. With this command you activate the overview project again. This command should also be linked to a keyboard shortcut.

**4 Point Cut Preferences...**: Opens the MuSyC settings (*₱*223) in the system settings.

### MuSyC Take Assistant

For the analysis to work, it is essential that all takes in the source projects are in separate objects. The Take assistant helps to find takes based on silence in the reference track of the source project and to cut the objects on all tracks at these locations to create new takes that MuSyC can use for analysis.

And this is how you work with the Take assistant:

Place the play marker in front of the object you want to edit, which is typically an object on the reference track of a source project, and then open the assistant.



**1** Silence level: This specifies a threshold value in dB below which the signal will be considered silence.

**Min. duration**: This value specifies how long the level in a part of the object must be at least below the specified silence level for its ends to be suggested as potential cutting positions.

+/- buttons: Use this to change these values step by step. To change the values directly, click in a field and drag the mouse up or down. Or enter the value numerically and press the Enter key to confirm.

2 Use the buttons >> and << to move between the suggested cutting positions, i.e. to the start and end positions of the detected silence sections.

- 3 Left/Right Object: New objects are created when the objects are cut. In these areas, you can specify a new Object name (which acts as take name) and a new Object color for the objects to the right and left of the playback marker, which will be applied when the corresponding checkboxes are active and a cut is performed using the OK>> button.
- **Oelete**: Use this button to delete the objects to the left or right of the playback marker position. The deletion will also be executed when pressing **OK>>** if the corresponding checkbox next to the Delete button is enabled.
- Pressing OK>> performs a cut at the play cursor position and applies all settings for Right object and Left object for which the checkbox is set.
- **6** Set Cut cuts the objects apart at the playback marker location without applying the changes for the right and left object.
- **Overview**: With this button you zoom out the project for a better overview, so that it is completely visible.

The checkboxes in the Left and Right object sections are set automatically, according to a workflow where the **OK>>** button is used to step through the object and cut out the sections with silence one by one and create new takes:

- The checkbox for **Delete** is automatically activated if the new object created by the cut consists of silence, i.e. for the left object if the playback marker is at the end of a section with silence, for the right one correspondingly at the beginning of the silence section.
- If the new object does not consist of silence, i.e. a new take is created, the checkboxes for Object name/Object color are activated. If the name of the old object ends in a number, the number on the right is increased by 1 and the number on the left is decreased by 1 as the new name. The object color is set to a slightly different hue from the old object.

If the silence is detected correctly and you set the cuts one after the other with the OK>> key, this creates a series of new takes with ascending numbering and color gradient.

## **Manual Alignment**

In certain cases, the automatic analysis to determine equal takes fails:

- There are similar or identical musical contents that cannot be logically distinguished by an algorithm (repetitions in music).
- Several independent pieces of music were recorded within one source project.
- Recording takes are not separated by object boundaries (continuous objects), e.g. for cyclic recordings of a passage in a single take/object.
- In the case of non-musical material or mixed material (e.g. speech or presentation)

Sometimes the analysis cannot be used in principle and it is still desired to combine different successive recordings, for example different variants of a recording of a jazz piece. The analysis would clearly classify the takes as different, since certainly there were not the same notes played in the solo parts. Still, it would be nice to use the best solos from the different takes.

The arrangement of the different takes below each other (and thus the definition as "same section") can also be done manually in these cases.

In the **MuSyC preparation** dialog select the option **Manual alignment**at the bottom. In this case, objects are created for all takes of the source projects (i.e. all objects in the respective reference tracks) one after the other on the first track of the overview project. The objects can now be manually moved on top of each other if you want them to serve as takes of the same piece.

 $\dot{\phi}$  If more tracks are needed for the takes than are initially available, a new track can be created automatically by dragging an object into the empty area below the last track.

## **MuSyC System Settings**

In the system settings in the section **SD Cut/MuSyC** (menu **Edit** > **Multi-synchronous cut** > **4 Point cut preferences...** there are some settings that impact working with MuSyC:

- Automatic synchronization between projects: These options concern the automatic alignment of certain positions between overview project and destination project. They are preset all on, so all positions are always kept equal. Destination to overview play cursor + ranges means, for example, that a change of the play cursor position and range selection in the Destination project is transferred to the Overview project. Similarly, the option works in the other direction and also the two other options for Source and Destination In markers. If necessary, you can deactivate individual synchronizations here.
- Overview project settings:
  - Show true timing in overview: If this option is active, the reference objects will be displayed in the overview project without time alignment, but the waveforms will be synchronized with the play cursor. This enables the actual timing of the takes to be observed.
  - Play source project instead of overview project: By default, only the reference track of the respective take is played when the overview project is played back. With menu Edit > Multi-synchronous cut > Play source the source project can be played if necessary. If the option is active, the source project is always played.

- **Command "Copy" copies source when called from overview**: This option (active by default) causes that when copying a range in the overview project, the corresponding range from the source project is copied to the clipboard instead. This way you can also use the overview project to move audio data by using Copy and Paste without using the Source/Destination cut commands. If you explicitly want to copy the reference objects from the overview project, deactivate the option.
- Automatic cut adaptation while cutting from overview to destination: For cuts from the overview project into the destination project, the default crossfades are used and automatically placed so that the cuts are as inaudible as possible. For this purpose, another musical content analysis is performed in the close-up area around the cut to ensure perfect transitions.

# EFFECTS

**Sequoia** contains a variety of effects for a wide range of applications. With a few exceptions, all effects can be used in real time, i.e. they are calculated during playback and the effect settings can be changed during playback and also automated (2357). During recording, the recorded material is written to the hard disk without effects, but they can be heard during recording through software FX monitoring.



For more information on software FX monitoring, see the Program settings section at Monitoring settings (2711)

Real-time effects can be applied to different positions in a project:

- Object effects with the plug-in slots in the Object editor (194) or via the menu Effects
- **Track effects** with the plug-in slots in Track Editor, Track Header and Mixer or via menu Track > More > Track effects
- **Master effects** with the plug-in slots in the section **Master plug-ins** in the mixer

All real-time effects can also be used as offline effects (237). Some other effects are also only available as offline effects. In this case, the effects are calculated directly into the audio file. After that, no CPU resources are used for the effect during playback, but the parameters of the effects cannot be changed afterwards.

The effects contained in **Sequoia** can be roughly divided into the following categories, to which the top three folders in the tree structure of the plug-in browser (226) correspond:

- Internal effects: These are the oldest effects in Sequoia, they are integrated into the main program.
- **MAGIX Plug-ins**: These effects are VST plug-in effects from MAGIX.
- **VST plugins**: All other third-party VST effects.

## **Effect Slots**

At each point where effects can be used (object, track, master) there are effect slots for inserting the effects.



Effect slots in the object editor, track editor, mixer and track head

Clicking on the empty insert slot opens the plug-in browser (226), where you can load a plug-in to the slot. Click on an occupied slot to activate/deactivate the plug-in. Right-clicking on the slot opens the plug-in's interface. In the menu at the insert slot vou reach further functions, e.g. you can open the plug-in browser again to exchange or remove the plug-in.

The **Plug-ins** button at the top turns all effects in the respective effect chain on and off. A visual indicator (\*) for plug-ins shows that they were previously active and will be reactivated the next time the **Plug-ins** button is clicked. The order of the plug-ins can be changed by dragging and dropping a filled slot to another position.

## **Plug-in Browser**

The Plug-in Browser is used to load instruments and effects into the slots at objects, tracks, and the master. It offers centralized access to all available plug-ins and instruments.

The plug-in browser can be opened in two variants:

- By clicking on a **plug-in slot** in the object editor or in the track, you open it specifically for this slot as a "big" variant.
  - $\dot{\phi}$  For this purpose, there is the program-wide keyboard shortcut **B**. This opens the plug-in browser for the track effects of the selected track.
- Use the menu View > Plug-in Browser to open it as an independent, non-modal window that can remain permanently open floating or integrated into a dock at any location. It opens by default in the Manager/Docker at the bottom of the screen.

The plug-ins selected in this window will always be applied to the currently selected object or track when you add them by clicking on Add or by pressing Enter. The current i selection is therefore displayed in the title bar of the window.

 $\dot{\phi}$  You can also drag and drop effects from this window directly onto tracks and objects.



#### Plug-in browser at the plug-in slot



#### Plug-in browser in dock

- **1** Full text search: After opening the Plug-in browser, the input field is selected for the full text search. Simply start typing and enter the name or part of the name of the plug-in you're looking for. The search function filters the plug-in list below and selects the first search result. Then press **Enter** to load the selected plug-in into the slot.
- **Presets**: If the **Presets** option is activated, all internal presets of a plug-in are listed in the plug-in list in a further level and can also be found with the full text search.

**3** Plug-in list: In the list, all plug-ins and optionally their presets are listed in a tree structure, depending on the setting at **(5)**. Use the arrow keys to move around the list to select a plug-in. **Ctrl + left arrow** collapses the entire tree, **Ctrl + right arrow** expands the entire tree.

**Instruments/Effects**: The display can switch between instruments and effects. Instruments are only used at track level and can therefore only appear there.

**5** Path/Manufacturer/Category: The tree structure can be sorted according to location on disk, plug-in manufacturer or plug-in category.

**6 Recently used**: This view lists the most recently used plug-ins.

**Favorites**: You can mark your favorite plug-ins and presets with a star. If Favorites is active, only your favorites will display in the list.

Double-click **New Folder** to create folders that can be renamed by double-clicking their names. Drag & drop to sort your favorites into folders – you can also move a folder within another folder. Favorites are accessible via the plug-in slot menu and the folders are displayed there as sub-menus.

C PX_TremoloPan     Trem Gt	No effect Plug-in Browser		
SM 🖬 🖬 📽	Favorites •	Coloration •	colorFX Tape Machine
40 -40 -20 -40 6 0	Recently Used	Reverbs •	colorFX Tube Distortion
vol -29.8	Effect Routing	Multi FX 🕨	Vandal
Q Vandal_SE ▼	Bypass	Delays •	
3 Rh Gt 1	Show Effect dialog	Vandal_SE	
SM 🛯 🖬 🖬 🔐	Сору	Add plug-in to Favorites	was teal of the same like

8 Here you can see whether a plug-in is VST2 or VST3, and whether it's a 32-bit or 64-bit version.

**9** Add: Loads the effect or instrument into the effect chain, opens its interface and closes the plug-in browser. The opening of the effect dialog and the closing of the plug-in browser after adding the plug-in can be deactivated with the respective option.

**Options**: Here you can open a menu with settings. You can scan for new plug-ins or presets and open the VST settings (*№*750).

**(f) Effect routing**: The effect routing dialog (*P*230) of the track, master or object is displayed here. In this you can change the effect order, display or delete effects.

**(i)** This section is not displayed in the dockable Plug-in Browser.

## **Effect Dialog Windows**

Most effects have their own settings dialog, which is opened by right-clicking on an effect slot. The following controls can be found on the upper edge of all internal effects and most MAGIX plug-ins:

	Parameters when opening the dialog     Image: A image: B image: A i
	Note: Not all controls are available in all effect windows.
0	<b>Bypass</b> : This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.
0	<b>Automation mode</b> : Left-click to quickly switch the automation mode (₱362) between the last selected mode and Read. Right click opens the automation menu.
3	<ul> <li>Presets: Here you can load presets for the effect. Use the arrows next to the preset name to select the next/previous preset, the menu button  opens the preset menu with the complete list of available presets.</li> <li>Preset files from other folders can be accessed via Load at the bottom of the menu.</li> <li>There you can also delete presets. With the Save button you can save the current settings as a preset. The self-created presets are also displayed in the selection menu.</li> <li>All presets are stored in the folder C: \Program Data\MAGIX\Sequoia 17\fx-preset.</li> <li>If you select the entry Parameters when opening the dialog, all changes made since opening the dialog will be undone.</li> </ul>
4	<b>A/B comparison</b> : This allows you to directly compare two alternative settings of a dialog. Use the arrow button in the center to copy a setting to the other memory location.
6	<b>Reset</b> : This sets all the parameters of the effect to the default values.
6	Play button: Starts and stops playback.
7	<b>Help</b> : Opens the help for the effect. For some plug-in effects, the help button is located in the interface of the effect itself.

Below this bar, the actual effect window is displayed, where the settings for the effect are made.



1 Note: For help on the menu in VST plug-in windows, please refer to the section VST plug-in dialogVST Plug-in Dialog (7396)!

When you close the dialog, the current settings are applied and, if necessary, transferred to the other objects or tracks of a multiple selection, see Applying an effect to multiple channels simultaneously (2518) in the Mixer section.

To temporarily hide all open effect windows without closing them, choose **View** > **Windows** > **Hide/Show Effect Windows** from the menu. Select the command again to display them again.

## **Effect Chain Presets**

In the **Track Editor** and mixer channel, right-click on the **FX** button or click the menu button next to it decess the track effects settings menu. There you will find menu commands to copy the entire "chain" of effects of a track together and paste them into other tracks. You can also reset all effects and save the effect settings as a preset to a file and load them from a file.

In the lower section of the menu there are, in submenus, the presets supplied and, after saving, your own presets. The track effect settings have the file extension .trk and are located in the default folder for the effect presets (C:\Program Data\MAGIX\Sequoia 17\fxpreset) in the subfolder TrackFX, for Master in the subfolder MasterFX. Subfolders in these folders correspond to the submenus in the menu Track effect settings. The subfolders can therefore be used to organize your own track effect settings in the menus. For multi-level menus, you can create folders inside the folders for this purpose.



The track effect settings also include the effect routing, i.e. the order of the effects in the processing chain and the placement of the AUX sends. You can therefore also access track effect settings via the **Load** Save buttons in the effect routing dialog (230).

Analogously, the storage option for effect chains is also available for object effects. The menu for the effect presets can be found in the object editor on the tab **FX** at the FX button below the effect slots. The presets are stored in the subfolder ObjectFX.

# **Effect Routing Dialog**

The effect routing dialog lists all effects used in the respective context (track, object or master), as well as the possible positions for routing the signal to an AUX send/Submix bus, master or hardware output. This allows you to configure the order of effects and positioning of the track's outputs.

This dialog can be opened in the object editor and in a mixer channel/track with the **FX** button. Menu commands for this are also available in the menu **Object** > **Object Effects** > **Object** Effect Routing... and menu Track > Track Effect Settings > Effect Routing...

5	Effe	ct Routing - T: 2		×
-4	ур	ass Effects		<b>7</b> 2 *
	M	Gain		
Ċ	ł	Stereo Pan		
Ċ	FX	EQ116	1	<b>ū ⊙ ▼ ▲</b>
9	⊨	AUX/Output (Pre)	ß	
	<b>₽</b>	Volume	Č	
	⊨	AUX/Output (Post)		
	Ļ	Primary output		
Plug	-in L	atency 7 0		
	Sav	e 👩 Load		8 ок

1

3

- When you move the mouse over an element, controls for that element become visible:
  - Deletes the entry from the effect chain.

Displays the user interface of the effect. For AUX outputs, the AUX Send Routing dialog (\$\not\sigma 527\$) is displayed, and for pan, the corresponding Panning dialog (\$\not\sigma 521\$).
 The arrow keys move the element in the chain.

- **2** Use the arrow keys to move selected effects in the chain.
  - The entries AUX (Direct/Pre/Post) indicate the points in the effects chain where the signal for the AUX send busses is tapped. By default, Pre and Post are located directly before and after the volume, as with physical mixing consoles, but they can also be moved to a different position in the chain, just like the effects.
    You also define the positions for additional track output routings (*P*515). Notes:
    - Exception: Object AUX sends always remain in the last position.
    - The AUX/Output (Direct) entry is not displayed until a corresponding routing has been created.
    - Bypass Effects: The effects of the chain can be deactivated together here.

- **On/Off**: This allows each effect to be turned off individually.
- 6 Save/Load: Use these buttons to save and load the settings of the complete effect chain (#230). These settings can be accessed via the menu on the FX button at various points in the program.
- Plug-in latency: Sequoia works with latency compensation for all plug-ins. The plug-ins report their latency to Sequoia, which converts this value into a time offset for the audio material. Here you can read the latency reported by the plug-in.
- 8 Click **OK** to close the FX routing dialog.

## Using Celemony Melodyne and Other ARA2 Plug-ins

Melodyne is a software that lets you make detailed edits of pitch, timing and spectrum of audio material, as well as change the melody of individual instruments within a complete mixes. When used as a plug-in, the special program interface of Melodyne ARA2 is used (**ARA** = Audio Random Access). Unlike normal VST plugins, the plug-in has access not only to the currently processed audio data, but to all audio data that the object can access. Since Celemony has also made this technology available to other plug-in manufacturers, there are now a number of other ARA-compatible plug-ins. The following ARA2 plug-ins are supported by **Sequoia**:

- Celemony Melodyne
- Steinberg Spectralayers 11
- SyncroArts
  - VocAlign Pro 6
  - VocAlign Ultra,
  - VocAlign Project,
  - RePitch
  - revoiceProMonitor,
  - revoiceProLink,
- Acon Digital Acoustica
- Soundradix

- Auto Align 2
- Auto Align Post 2
- IRCAM
  - ASAP Spectral Surface
  - ASAP Pitches Brew
- RipX Rip Link

Melodyne essential, the basic version of Melodyne, is included with Sequoia. You can find more information about Melodyne capabilities and its various editions on the manufacturer's website from Celemony.



To avoid compatibility problems, we strongly recommend that you update Melodyne to the latest version.

## Edit Audio Objects with Melodyne

To edit one or multiple audio objects with Melodyne, select them, right click and select Edit audio file in Melodyne from the context menu.

This loads Melodyne for these objects as an object effect, analyzes the objects and opens the Melodyne interface. In this, the last object selected is displayed in the Melodyne-typical "blob" representation.



The blob view is a mix of piano roll and waveform display.

You can copy, move, lengthen, shorten and play back all notes here. The extent of the editing options available depends on the Melodyne edition installed, ranging from simple pitch and timing changes to detailed intonation control in polyphonic material and spectral editing, across multiple tracks.



**(i)** Tip: To help you exploit Melodyne to its full potential, we recommend watching the video tutorials on the Celemony website.

If you select another object, the display in the Melodyne window will adjust accordingly.

Trumpets	ø
Bass	Ŷ

The "blobs" of the other objects can be displayed for reference purposes by activating this icon on the left of the Melodyne window.

If the objects originate from different tracks, corresponding tracks are also created in Melodyne (Melodyne studio only). The track names from Sequoia are adopted.

## Audio to MIDI

If an audio object has been analyzed or edited using Melodyne, you will also see the pitch on the audio object as a piano roll, similar to how MIDI objects in VIP are represented.



You can use the Audio to MIDI... command from the object's context menu or the Object menu to create a new MIDI object from this data.



The MIDI object will be added to the track directly below the audio object. If there are already objects there, the MIDI object will be inserted into a newly created track.

## **Detecting Object Tempo**

If Melodyne is installed, it can also be used to detect the tempo of objects. More about this in the section Object editor, Pitchshifting/Timestretching (/199).

Original BPM: 120.000 т

Get tempo from loop/range length...

Analyze tempo from audio material

Analyze and round tempo from audio material

Transfer object tempo to project tempo

### Notes

- The ARA integration requires the VST3 version of the Melodyne plug-in.
- Melodyne integration via ARA only works if you use Melodyne as an object effect. The fastest way to do this is to use the command from the context menu of objects. You can, however, load Melodyne via the Plug-in Browser into a slot in the Object Editor or via the menu Effects. When loading Melodyne (or another ARA plug-in) into the track, the plug-in is automatically inserted into every object on the track. This also works with objects added to the track later, for example if an object from another track is moved to the track.
- If Melodyne is loaded in an audio object, double-clicking on the object will open the Melodyne Editor, not the Object Editor. You can still access the object editor via the context menu, the **Object** menu or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + O**.
- Melodyne can't be used simultaneously with Sequoia tempo and pitch functions (Elastic Audio, Timestretching/Pitchshifting, musical tempo adjustment).
- When an audio object is split, Melodyne's edits are applied to both resulting objects, as they are when an object is duplicated using the commands **Duplicate objects multiple** or **Ctrl + Drag Mouse**. However, Melodyne edits are **not** transferred when you copy and paste an object onto the clipboard!
- The Object editor functions **Reverse** and **Loop** aren't possible.

## **External Hardware Effects Integration**

In general, hardware effects could be integrated by routing the audio signal into the effects device via a dedicated output, and its output in turn via a dedicated input back into **Sequoia**. This could also be achieved with normal input and output routing. However, external effects can be integrated more conveniently with the special **External FX plug-in**. The advantages:

■ You do not need to create additional tracks to use external effects. Additional routing is not required, you can use your external effects exactly as you are used to with plug-in

effects.

- You can specify the latencies of the effects for consideration in latency compensation.
   These latencies can be measured in the plug-in.
- Presets can be saved and loaded in the plug-in. When you hard-assign your hardware effects to specific inputs and outputs on your audio hardware in the studio, you can use your hardware effects anywhere in the project with one click.

● Note: The External FX plug-in only works if the Hybrid Audio Engine (₱711) is used.

## **External FX Plug-in**



- **1** Bypass: Disables the effect.
- Presets: Use the Save button to save the current settings of the plug-in to a preset. To load a preset, select it from the list box.

The current preset is displayed as the effect name in the plug-in slots.



3 At **Send Device**, select the output to which your device is connected. At **Return Device**, select the input to which your device is connected.

**4** Use **Send Gain** and **Return Gain** to trim the output and input levels.

5 With **Auto-Detect** you measure the total latency ("round-trip") of the effect, which consists of the latency of the inputs and outputs as well as the latency of the effect device itself. It is used for latency compensation during recording and playback, so that the effect is applied sample-accurately. When you click this button, a short pulse (ping) is sent to the effect device and the time delay with which it arrives at the effect input is measured.

6 Mono: This allows you to switch both the signal sent to the effect and the "return" signal to mono.

## **Export with External Effects**

Since the effects processing does not take place within **Sequoia**, you must perform the final rendering in the export dialog using the **Realtime export** option. This plays back the project and writes the output to a file in real time.

Alternatively, you can play back the project and record the affected tracks into new tracks. Then you can still edit and re-export the project if the external hardware is not available (anymore):

- 1. If you have used the External FX plugin in multiple tracks or multiple external FX return tracks, first create a Submix bus and route all these tracks to the bus.
- 2. Create a new track and set as recording source this bus, if it concerns only one track, this track. To do this, right-click the Record button of the newly created track and select the bus from the menu at the very bottom at **tracks**.
- **3.** Activate recording in the new track, click Record and record the complete track or the bus with the effect output.
- 4. You can now export the project using the Export dialog without having to activate **Realtime export**.

This approach also has the advantage that you can continue working on the project and no longer need to export the project in real time each time, as long as you don't make any changes that affect tracks that use external effects. Remember to then mute either the bus or track with the external effects, or the recorded track, as they will now both be played back in the project.

# **Applying Effects Offline**

All real-time effects can also be used as **offline effects**. In this case, the effects are calculated directly into the audio file. After that, no CPU resources will be used for the effect during playback, but the parameters of the effects cannot be changed afterwards and the audio file will be permanently modified. We therefore sometimes speak of "destructive" effects.

To apply effects offline in the virtual project, select **Process effects offline** at the very bottom of the **Effects** menu. When editing wave projects (2581) the option is always active, because there the effects, like all other edits, are always applied offline, i.e. destructively.

Certain effects marked with **(offline)** in the **Effects** menu are always calculated offline, regardless of this setting.

With the menu items **Edit left/right channel only** above it you can limit the editing to one channel of a stereo object or a stereo wave project.

### **Applying Offline Effects to Objects**

To ensure the **Undo** function for effects applied to objects offline, the original, unprocessed audio material must be preserved. The effects are therefore calculated on a copy of the audio material and the object is adjusted to refer to the processed copy. You can decide on a case-by-case basis whether the Undo function is really needed, because to create the copy, the option **Create copy** must also be active in the effects dialog. You will save time and hard disk space if no copy of the audio file is created.

In the upper section of the dialog **Options for destructive effect calculation** (**Program settings** > **Effects**) you define how this copy should be created.

You can also access these settings via the Options... at the bottom of the effect dialogs in offline mode).

Destructive effect calculation in objects	
File handling for effect calculation: if "Create Copy" is active:	
Write effect to a FX file (FX.wav)	~
Extended name for Effect Files (e.gFX_Dehisser_07-20-2003_11-30	-00.wav)
O Save Effect File in original file resolution	
Save Effect File in 24 Bit resolution	
Save Effect File in highest resolution (32)	Bit Float)
Destructive effect calculation in Wave Project Crossfade with original material at effect start and effect end (length in ms):	ts 200
Calculation includes samples before object start and after object end:	0
Preview time (seconds):	4
Maximum length of edit range for Spectral Cleaning (seconds): (memory critical)	30

- Append effect to original file: The audio data with the included effect will be appended to the original file. The data is saved in original resolution and no additional files are created. The disadvantage of this option is that the original audio file is extended, which can be a problem if it is to be used in other projects.
- Write effect to an FX file (\_FX.wav): All effects applied to a file are written to a separate file with the same name + suffix \_FX so that the original audio file remains untouched. Additional effects are always added to the end of the effect file.
- Generate a new FX file for each effect: All offline effects are saved in separate files with sequential numbers. Alternatively, these files can be given detailed names featuring effect descriptions and the date.

In addition, you can set here whether the effect file should be saved in the format of the output file, in 24-bit format or in 32-bit float format.

### **Destructive Effects Calculation in Wave Projects**

When applying an effect "offline" in wave projects, the result of the effect calculation is always included in the audio file. The options of the offline effect calculation on VIP objects described above are not taken into account.

No permanent copies of the edited audio material are created, as it is desired that the original audio material is permanently changed when editing wave projects. Temporary files are created for the undo function during editing. To do this, the **Undo** option for audio files must be activated in **Program settings** under **Program > Undo**) and the **Create copy** option must be activated in the effect dialog for the respective effect processing.

If an effect is applied only to a range in the audio file, you can optionally add a crossfade between the effect and the original at the beginning and end of the range. At **Length of crossfade in milliseconds** you can specify its length.

### Other options (virtual projects and wave projects)

**Calculate additional samples before object start and after object end**: Some effects require that they be calculated over a longer period of time than that ultimately used in the audio file or object. Here you can specify this additional buffer.

**Preview time (seconds)**: Here you can set the amount of time that will be used for the preview function (**Play/Stop** button in the effect dialog) to preview the effects.

**Maximum length of edit range for spectral cleaning (seconds):** Enter how long (maximum) the audio material should be edited during spectral cleaning.

# Help for the individual effects

In the following sections, the effects are described one after the other, sorted alphabetically. The effects not listed here are VST plug-ins, these have their own help file which you can open via the **?** button in the plug-ins' interface.

## **3D Reverb**

**3D Reverb** is a unique and powerful algorithmic reverb effect. It creates the sound of a wide range of acoustic spaces, from small rooms to large concert halls, and works equally well in stereo and 3D multi-channel applications with up to 10 audio channels.

When used on a surround AUX bus or surround master, input signals are routed into the virtual room according to their 3D panning, which supports the spatial impression of Surround sound mixes.

The calculation of early reflections is based on a geometric spatial model that is automatically adjusted to the audio channel configuration to obtain a reflection pattern that exactly matches the positioning of the incoming audio signals. This allows the existing 3D panning in a project to be used directly to create reverberation that matches the placement of the source signal to produce an impressive 3D sound. Late reflections are based on a feedback delay network with 16 delay lines (FDN16).

Decay times range from <100 ms to infinity and are independently adjustable for high and low frequencies. There is an attenuation filter for further processing of the room signal frequency spectrum. The early reflections can be diffused, the late reflections can be made more lively using modulation. On the output side, there is an equalizer and a Spatial Balance control for adjusting the spatial placement of the reverb signal.



### Overview



- **Peak meter:** The peak meters for the input and output signal are located at the top left and right. See Peak Meter (2568)
- **Visualization:** There are three different views for visualizing the generated reverb signal: impulse response, spectrum or waveform display. See Visualization (*7*243)
- **8 Room:** This is where you'll find the controls for editing the early reflections, which include an equalizer for attenuating reflections and controls for room size and decay time. See Room (*2*44)
- **Color:** Here you can access the controls for the sound processing of the late reflections as well as a crossfader for adjusting the mixing ratio between early and late reflections. See Color (#245)
- **Output:** This is where you'll find the controls for processing the output signal: an equalizer, the Spatial Balance control for positioning in 3D space, and the controls for output level and mixing between dry and reverberated signals. See Output (#245)
- **6 Presets and Settings:** In the Presets and settings area, you can load presets and also access additional settings and the bypass function. See Presets and Settings (#247)

### **Peak Meter**



At the input and the output of the effect there is a peak meter section where you can check the input and output level of the channels.

The number of peak meters displayed dynamically adjusts to the number of channels used by the plug-in.

If clipping (level above 0 dB) has occurred in a channel, the red clipping indicator lights up. The indicator can be reset with a single click.

### Visualization

At the top center is a visualization area where the input and output signal can be displayed as a spectrum, waveform or impulse response of the reverb effect.



**Impulse Response** The graph shows the reflections generated by the reverb algorithm including all processing with reference to frequency and time.

*i* If changes have been made to the parameters, it will take a moment for the display to update.

**Spectrum:** This displays the frequency distribution of the input signal (gray) and the output signal (blue) in real time.

**Waveform:** Waveform represents the envelope of the waveform of the input signal (gray) and the output signal (blue).

### Room

อ



*i* The value can also be entered numerically by clicking on the value under a control. Use the Tab key to move to the next value.

**Size:** Sets the room size and thus the timing of the early reflections. The larger the room, the more clearly separated the early reflections are perceived by the listener.

In combination with the mixing ratio between early and late reflections, see the section on Color (₱245), which can be used to determine how far away the sound source appears.

- **Decay:** Determines the decay time, i.e. how often the signal is reflected between the "walls" of the virtual room and how much sound is absorbed in the process.
- **3 LF Decay:** Here you can set the factor (25%-400%) by which the decay time for the low frequencies should be shorter or longer.

**LF X-Over:** Crossover frequency for the LF decay time. Determines at which crossover frequency the LF Decay is applied.

**Equalizer:** With the equalizer you can influence the frequency behavior of the room reflections. Drag the two dashed lines to adjust the attenuation for the low and high frequencies. The blue dot controls a peak filter: the horizontal position determines the frequency, the vertical position the boost or cut by that frequency. Use the mouse wheel to adjust the resonance of the filter.

### Color



**1 Early/Late Reflections:** This control adjusts the mix ratio between early and late reflections.

**2 Density:** There are two different models for calculating late reflections, **Density Normal** and **High**. Normal is more suitable for small rooms, High for large rooms.

**3 Diffusion:** This control determines the amount of diffusion applied to the early reflections. The diffusion determines the density or scattering of the individual reflections. At low values, the individual reflections can be perceived separately, at higher values they tend to merge.

Movement/Speed: The delay times of the later reflections can be modulated for a more natural sound. Movement sets the strength of the modulation and Speed sets the modulation frequency.



### Output

1

2

Output EQ: For the final sound shaping of the reverb signal there is an equalizer consisting of a low cut (high pass filter) for the complete removal of the low frequencies and a low and a high shelving filter for boosting and cutting the low and high frequencies. Drag the dashed line to adjust the low cut frequency. The two blue dots control the frequency and boost/cut of the low and high shelf filters.

**Spatial Balance:** Use these controls to adjust the 3D position of the reverb signal.



4

**Wet Level:** The output level of the reverb signal can be adjusted independently of the dry/wet mix.

Mix: Specifies the mix ratio of the original sound and the processed signal. Use the lock symbol 🗊 to freeze the slider so that it won't change when you load a preset. This makes it easier to compare different presets within the context of a mix.

### **Presets and Settings**

You can select presets, adjust view settings and temporarily disable the effect at the top of the plug-in window.



### **User Presets**

To save your own presets, select **Save as...** from the menu. You can set a category and a preset name. Once you have created your own presets, the Preset menu contains a second section entitled **USER**, where you can find your own presets, organized by category.



Changed Factory or User presets get an asterisk in front of the name.



With **Revert changes** you restore the settings of the preset, with **Save** you save the changes in the preset. Changes to Factory Presets cannot be saved, but you can save them as a User Preset using **Save as...**.

You can rename a user preset with **Rename...** and delete it with **Delete**.

You can also organize your user presets by using **Open user presets folder** to open the folder with the user presets. The categories in the Preset menu correspond to subfolders in this folder, the preset names to the file names of the presets. If you have moved or renamed files there, run **Reload user presets** so that these changes are applied to the preset menu.

## **Advanced Dynamics**

All dynamic effects have a common working principle: the level of an audio signal is amplified, and the degree of amplification is simultaneously controlled by the level of this signal. When the level goes above or below a certain point (Threshold), the amplification changes to achieve a certain effect: For example, you get a compressor when the amplification is reduced above the threshold, or a noise gate when the amplification is reduced to 0 below the threshold, suppressing the signal.

The Advanced Dynamics effect processes the dynamics of a signal through a combination of several dynamics stages: a noise gate, two compressor/expander stages, and a limiter. The

resulting characteristic curve of this dynamic effect can be edited graphically and parametrically.



1

Characteristic curve: The characteristic curve represents the transfer function from the input level to the output level. When you play back audio, you will see the current input and output levels of the signal as a white cloud of dots over the characteristic curve. With this Dynamic Scope the change of levels is constantly visualized by Advanced Dynamics.

You can edit the transfer characteristic graphically by moving the points on the curve or parametrically by changing the parameters of the characteristic sections with the sliders.

-\overline{c}- If you right-click on a point, you will get an input field in which you can directly enter the position of a point in the characteristic curve.

### 2

The control points **G** and **L** of the characteristic curve control the upper and lower limit of the characteristic curve , the **Gate** and the **Limiter**. Below the characteristic curve are the associated parameters.

■ Gate (G): Level (in dB) determines the minimum level at the input. All signals below this level will have an output signal level of 0 dB. The gate level can be set in the graphic by moving the point **G** horizontally.

### Limiter (L):

- **Thresh.**: (Threshold) determines the maximum level at the output in dB.
- Hard: If Hard is active, the output signal is hard limited to the set threshold value. This means that no sample may exceed the set limiter level. Of course, the signal is not simply cut off at this limit. The used algorithm brings the signal as close as possible to the limit without changing the original sound.
  - i In the characteristic curve display, when hard limiting to levels below 0 dB, the area of the characteristic curve that is never reached as a result is marked with **Limited Zone**.

If **Hard** is not active, the algorithm controls according to the set transfer characteristic and and levels above OdB can be present at the output. This allows you to use the limiter as an "analog" limiter for analog sound shaping. Then additionally use the dedicated "brickwall" limiter sMax11 (₹315), to prevent clipping.

# The points **1** and **2** control the two characteristic curve sections for the compressor/expander stages.

The horizontal position determines the thresholds of the stages (**Thresholds**), the vertical positions result in different rises for the curve sections, which can also be expressed as **Ratio**:

With a ratio < 1 the stage works as an expander, with settings > 1 as a compressor. If a stage works as a compressor, it means that the gain above the **threshold** is reduced: For example, with a set **ratio** of 2, this means that if the input level is increased by 3 dB, the output level will only be increased by 1.5 dB. High levels (above the threshold) are therefore amplified less than low levels, reducing the dynamic range and compressing the signal. The larger the ratio value, the stronger the compression.



3

The dynamic range of an input signal (exemplarily marked by the green lines) is reduced by the compressor.

If a stage works as an expander, it means that the gain above the **threshold** is increased: For example, with a set **ratio** of 0.5, this means that increasing the input level by 3 dB will increase the output level by 6 dB. High levels (above the threshold) are thus amplified more than low levels, increasing the dynamic range and expanding the signal. The smaller the ratio value, the stronger the expansion.



The dynamic range of an input signal (exemplarily marked by the green lines) is increased by the expander.

- **Envelope**: The time constants regulate the sound characteristics significantly, so certain time constants can lead to distortion effects or to "pumping".
  - Attack: Time span between crossing the threshold and the maximum impact of the effect in milliseconds.
  - **Release**: Time span until the effect processing of the signal is completely withdrawn in milliseconds.
- **Soft**: With this parameter you specify a rounding of the characteristic curve at the folding points. If the change between uncompressed and compressed signal is clearly apparent, i.e. the signal level fluctuates around the folding point, "Soft" achieves a smoother transition.
  - **Mode**: These are typical use cases for the **Advanced Dynamics**. They specify settings that make the graphical editing of the characteristic curve easier. The mode selection limits the number of applicable parameters, e.g. when used as a pure limiter.

#### **Reaction**:

4

6

7

- Peak: The peak levels of the signal are used for control, the effect reacts quickly to level peaks.
- RMS (Root Mean Square): This mode uses the average loudness of the signal

   this corresponds to the behavior of many analog dynamic effect devices. The time constant for the averaging is based on the length of the Attack
   parameter.
- **Fast**: Use this option if the dynamics are to be affected only slightly. The maximum level at the output never exceeds the threshold value of the limiter.
- Preview: When this option is active, the dynamics section works in preview mode. This means that not only the current input signal is analyzed, but also upcoming signals. The dynamic stage is not surprised by sudden level peaks, and attack phases that are too steep are smoothed out. To reproduce the sound behavior of analog dynamic effects, it is better to deactivate the preview. The length of the look-ahead may be entered in the Samples field.


# **BitMachine**

There are some situations where a more imperfect, lo-fi sound would suit a drum loop or synthesizer sound perfectly. Remember that the first hardware samplers from the '80s that usually only ran at 8 or 12-bit rates and at low sample rates.

With the BitMachine, changing the sound with such an "antique" device is no problem. You can use the BitMachine to bring back to life the times when minimalist and scratchy sound chips in home computers were commonplace.



The BitMachine opens up a gateway to "acoustic time travel" where you can encounter bit and sample rate reduction and downstream filters based on analog models. The effect also has a modulation section with which you can control individual parameters using an oscillator (LFO) or the input signal.

We have designed a range of "typical" presets to demonstrate the time travel abilities of the BitMachine. These can be opened at the top right of the interface.

#### Section **REDUCTION**:

BITS: This slider controls the resolution of the audio material. Turning the dial to the left results in 16-bit quantization, and thereby CD quality. The further it is turned to the right, the lesser the signal dynamic becomes. In extreme cases (1-bit), there are only "on" or "off" states.

In the intermediate levels, you'll notice an increase in the background noise and a decrease in the dynamics. For example, 8-bit quantization will exhibit dynamics of only 48 dB. Quieter points in the material sound noisy and very quiet points sound "capped". This effect is amplified the more you turn the dial to the left, until it starts crackling or "groaning".

SAMPLERATE: Das · Audiomaterial · wird · mit · diesem · Regler · "calculated down", · i.e. · the · internal · sampling rate · is · reduced. This creates a division ratio between the old and new rates; according to this ratio, samples are "dropped" at various points in the data stream.

**i** Note: The two smaller controllers in this section are explained at **MODULATION**.

#### Section **FILTER**:

The filter in the BitMachine is a digital model of one of the most well-known filters in music electronics. The filter in question is the 'Chamberlin 2-pole' filter, which was used in old

Oberheim synthesizers. Filters of this type sound extremely musical. They can also be used in quite creative ways in the BitMachine and don't necessarily have to be used only to smoothen out artifacts.

The filter works in low pass mode – according to the settings, it lets through low frequency (or medium) material and dampens the highs and medium ranges.

- **FREQ**: With this control you determine the "cutoff frequency" of the filter. Filtering starts above this frequency.
- **RESO**: This allows the signal to be strongly boosted ("resonance") in a range around the cutoff frequency. This makes sharp, cutting sounds possible. The effect becomes even clearer when you vary the cut-off frequency.
- DRIVE: Both of the individual filters of the connections mentioned above have the ability to overmodulate themselves internally. With the DRIVE dial, you can regulate the amount of overmodulation. What happens is that the parameters of the internal workings of the filter interact with one another. So increasing DRIVE weakens the resonance, but at the same time, the signal receives more volume, more bass and becomes acoustically fuller.

**i** Note: The two smaller controllers in this section are explained at **MODULATION**.

#### Section **MODULATION**:

By using the settings in the **MODULATION** section, you can automate your effects.

A low-frequency oscillator (LFO for short), whose tempo and waveform can be controlled, can be used to modulate the parameters in the sections **REDUCTION** and **FILTER**. The strength of the modulation is determined by the four small knobs under their parameters.

Note that the parameters must not be set to their maximum value, because then the modulation has no influence. The modulation is always added to the set value.

- As **waveforms** for the LFO sine, square or random values are possible.
- The LFO speed is specified with the **SPEED** dial. If **SYNC** is active, the LFO follows the song tempo and uses musical values (e.g. ¼ notes). Without SYNC you can set the tempo manually (in Hz).
- Envelope-Follower: With the lowest button at the LFO waveforms the volume of the signal is used for modulation, you can adjust the sensitivity with the GAIN knob. The SPEED knob is used to control the speed of the envelope follower (the display therefore changes to milliseconds). Short times result in a fast response to the input signal, longer times make the envelope rise and fall more slowly.

# **Brilliance Enhancer**

With the Brilliance Enhancer you can compensate for sound losses in the high frequencies and give the audio material a silky sheen.

Such losses occur with MP3 compression or with old tape recordings. Unlike an equalizer, which only boosts existing frequencies, the Brilliance Enhancer calculates new harmonics from the existing signal and thus noticeably freshens up the sound. You can also use the Brilliance Enhancer well in pop or rock as a mastering effect if you want to increase transparency and brilliance of the sound.



In the filter graph there are two curves, the orange curve for the original signal and the blue curve for the processed signal.

With the **scale options**you can adapt the signal display to your needs. The options correspond to those in the FFT filter (288)

**Overlap**: This parameter controls the overlap of the time windows for the calculations of the spectrum. Higher values improve the result, but also increase CPU load.

**Resolution**: With this parameter you can select the internal resolution of the algorithm. Higher resolutions do not automatically mean better results - the optimal setting depends on the audio signal.

Use **Minimum frequency** and **Maximum frequency** to set the lower limit and upper limit of the frequency range to be enriched with new harmonics. **Strength** determines the intensity with which the new harmonics are added.

### **Options**:

- Transient optimization: If this option is activated, transients will be freshened up by the addition of higher frequencies. Older or compressed pop and jazz recordings benefit especially from this setting. The setting is less suitable for tonal material, as odd harmonics can be generated.
- Inverse: If this switch is activated, you will only hear the newly generated harmonics that are added.
- **Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

# Delay

This effect is deprecated. It is still included in Sequoia to ensure compatibility for old projects. For its purpose, however, there are now better and more flexible plugins such as the essentialFX Stereo Delay, Vintage FX Ecox or coreFX Delay.



**Mix Balance in %:** Here you can enter the ratio of the original signal to the echo/reverb signal in percent. If you turn on the **Link** option, the values always add up to 100%.

**Mode:** With mode you can select the basic character of the effect.

**Echo delay/reverb time**: This controller sets the delay between the individual echoes or the original signal and the first echo in milliseconds. In the "Reverb" mode, the fader controls the reverb time.

**BPM**: Enter the current tempo in BPM, which automatically sets a delay value that corresponds to a quarter note in this tempo.

**Decay / reverb coloration**: Here you can set the decay value for simulating the size of the room and, in the case of reverb, the sound both numerically and using the fader. A ping-pong effect is also available for the delay modes.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

# DeClicker/DeCrackler

The DeClicker removes crackling and single clicking noises that are typical of scratched records. The DeCrackler algorithm was developed specifically to remove crackling noises, making it easier to remove crackling from old records.



The DeClicker is on the left side of the dialog, and the DeCrackler is on the right.

# **Settings and Controls**

Parameters	Description
DeClicker Sensitivity	This parameter determines the DeClicker's sensitivity to noise.
DeClicker Mix	This parameter influences the intensity at which the DeClicker engages at the detected areas in the audio material.
DeCrackler Sensitivity	Use this parameter to determine the DeCrackler's sensitivity to noise.

DeCrackler Mix	Use this parameter to influence the intensity at which the DeCrackler engages at the detected areas in the audio material.
Inverse	If this switch is activated, you will hear only the part of the signal that is removed by the algorithm. If the parameters are set optimally, the complete noise and just moderate components of the desired signal will be audible. If the parameters <b>Sensitivity</b> are set too high, parts of the useful signal are also filtered, which can then lead to tonal changes.
Bypass	This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

In the graphic, the processed audio material is continuously displayed as a **waveform** and as a **spectrogram** and you can see at which points the DeClicker (red) or the DeCrackler (blue) become active.



The left border of the graphic display features the reduction display for the DeClicker. It indicates by how many decibels a detected click has been reduced. The right border features the reduction display for the DeCrackler. This indicates how many decibels the crackling has been reduced.

**View options**: This opens a settings dialog to configure the signal display. Select the right and left channel or the mean value from both left and right (L+R) as a source for the waveform, spectrogram or the two reduction displays. The settings are applied by closing the dialog.

	Left	Right	L+R
Waveform			
Spectrogram			
Reduction displays	0	0	9

# DeClipper

The **DeClipper** is a tool for removing overmodulation and distortions. Overmodulated passages are recalculated, or interpolated, based on the material immediately surrounding them.

The de-clipping algorithm is suitable for material featuring clearly audible overmodulation, e.g. distorted piano or vocals.



# Signal display

The signal display shows you the edited material as a continuous waveform. The **Clip level** is shown as a red limiting line. You can see from the blue markings where the DeClipper has been applied. The meter to the right of the waveform display also shows the intervention of the effect.

# **Settings and Controls**

Parameters	Feature
Clip level	Here you specify the level at which the algorithm considers samples to be overdriven and corrects them if necessary.

Mix	Use this parameter to set the intensity of the reduction in % at which the DeClipper alters the audio material.
Volume	This setting makes it possible to lower the output level, because the corrected output will tend to be a bit louder than the input signal as a result of waveform interpolation.
Limiter	This option limits the peaks that exceed the maximum level. Level peaks higher than the maximum value can be caused by interpolation.
Reset	Set the peak meters to its original position here.

### Analysis/Options

Parameters	Feature
Min. clip length	Set the minimum count of consecutive overmodulated samples for clipping detection.
Kind of clipping	Optimizes clipping detection by setting the applicable setting for the material – <b>Analog</b> , <b>Digital</b> or <b>Analog + Digital</b> .
Inverse	If is activated, only the part of the signal that is changed by the algorithm will be audible.
Bypass	This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

### **Possible Applications**

- Some DAT recorders have a protective analog switch, so that the level never reaches the digital mains (0 dB). In this case, a value of -0.5 dB or less is suitable.
- With an input of, for example, -6 dB, all samples above half the control level are registered as overmodulated and recalculated. In this way, an analog damaged signal can be repaired.

# DeHisser

The DeHisser is used to eliminate uniform, low-level white noise typically caused by microphone preamps or AD converters. Unlike for the DeNoiser, a Noise Sample is not required.



# **Graphic Display Description**

The vertical axis to the left shows the level of the spectrum, while for the horizontal axis you may choose between displaying frequency or notes.

The yellow curve displays the original spectrum of the signal. Here, the spectral analysis is performed over the first second at the beginning of the selected audio section.

The light blue curve represents the spectrum after manipulation by the algorithm.

The dark blue line represents the threshold of the **Absorption** parameter.

If the threshold is higher than the level of the spectrum (i.e. the dark blue line is above the yellow curve), the signal for De-hissing will be filtered out for these frequencies.

# **Settings and Controls**

Parameters Description

Absorption (1-100)	With this parameter a threshold value will be set for differentiating the signal from noise. The right setting for this parameter is crucial for good results. In comparison to noise reduction, where this setting will be automatically determined from a noise sample, with the de-hisser, you have to determine the noise level manually in relation to an absolute noise level. Low settings can lead to incomplete noise removal or increased artifacts. High settings can cause discoloration of the original audio, phase-like distortion or chirping modulation effects. The louder the noise, the more precisely your should try to set the DeHisser.
Reduction (0-30) dB	Set the noise reduction here. The highest possible reduction value is 30 dB. In practice, extremely quiet passages, like the slow fading out of one instrument prove to be critical – here the noise level can exceed that of the audio signal. Limit yourself to a lower <b>Reduction</b> value (-10 -15 dB) to avoid side effects like artifacts.
Music style	Minimize artifacts by selecting a fitting music style to aid in determining transients in the signal and by de-hissing only between them.
Inverse	If this switch is activated, you will hear only the part of the signal that is removed by the algorithm. If the correction parameters are set optimally, only the noise will be audible. If the correction parameters are too high, parts of the music or speech signal will also be filtered, which will discolor the music. When Inverse is active, the Reduction parameter will have no influence.
Scale options	The scale options correspond to those in the FFT filter.
Overlap	This parameter controls the overlap of the time windows for the calculations of the spectrum. Higher values improve the result, but also increase CPU load.
Resolution	This parameter allows you to select the internal resolution of the algorithm. Higher resolutions do not automatically mean better results - the optimal setting depends on the audio signal.

### Operation

- 1. Find a critical place in the audio material to preview. Critical points are the quietest points, since the noise here has a relatively high level compared to the useful signal.
- 2. Set the **Reduction** parameter to the highest value (-30 dB).

- 3. Slowly increase the value of the **Absorption** setting. There are four stages in this process:
  - a **Stage 1**: If the value is very low, no noise will be removed.
  - **b Stage 2**: The noise is partially removed. Depending on the level of the noise signal, a small number of artifacts may be introduced.
  - c Stage 3: The noise is completely removed.
  - d **Stage 4**: If the value is very high, not only will the noise be removed, but also a part of the signal. The audio material will lose its brilliance and sound duller. Click **Inverse**" to hear the removed parts of the audio signal.
  - e Optimal settings are usually available in **Stage 3**, where the noise signal will already be removed, but the audio signal is played back unaltered.

-\u03c6- It often helps to listen to the critical parts with high volume and additionally boosted treble.

4. If the noise cannot be removed without affecting the sound, now reduce the value for the parameter **Reduction** until you achieve the best possible compromise between reducing the noise on the one hand and still having an acceptable effect on the sound of the audio material on the other.

To remove humming noise, please use the DeNoiser.

# DeNoiser

With the DeNoiser function, you can effectively remove annoying background noise from audio material without its sound suffering to any significant extent. To do this, the algorithm requires a noise sample. The function is especially useful for eliminating consistent, long-lasting noise such as mains hum, fan noise, noise from inferior sound cards, tape noise or feedback.



### Noise sample

For noise removal, the DeNoiser needs a sample of the noise signal, the noise sample.

Before opening the Denoiser dialog for this, select an area in the object or wave project where only the noise can be heard and choose Menu **Effects** > **Restoration** > **Get Noise Sample**. Especially for hissing, as a rule, you will usually get better effects with longer noise samples.

At **File** the noise print just captured is displayed. In the selection list you will find more noise prints of typical noise such as camera noise, mains hum or tape hiss, which you can use if you cannot find a place in the audio material that contains only the noise. At **Info** you will find information about the length, type and format of the set noise sample. The **Save** button allows you to save the noise sample for later use. With **Load** you can import any wave file as a noise sample. With **Play** you can play the selected noise print.

Wizard opens the Noise Print Wizard, which can help you capture the noise sample.

The **Noise Print Assistant** offers two additional ways to create a noise sample in addition to the menu item **Get Noise Sample**.

1. Noise print length			
Range length or internal standard length			
User length Auto ms			
2. Create noise print from audio			
Take noise print from range start or play cursor: Pick!			
Take noise print from position with small level:			
< Play 0/0 Start search			
Search options: Start search in object:			
G Object start			
Range start or play cursor			
Length of search in object:			
To the end of the object			
10 minutes maximum			

Use **Set noise print length** to set the length of the noise print. With the option **Range length** or internal default length, if a range is selected, the range length is used. If no range is selected, a default length is used. With **User Length** you can explicitly set the length for the noise sample.

For **Create noise print from audio** there are two methods to create the noise print:

- **Take noise print from range start or play cursor**: With the button **Pick!** the noise sample is picked from the beginning of an existing range selection, otherwise from the position of the play cursor.
- Take noise print from position with low level: This scans the audio material for low level positions and extracts the noise sample at such a position. After setting the search options (see below), press the button Start search. You can cancel the search by pressing "Esc".

After the search, you can switch between the found passages with the buttons << and >> and listen to them with **Play**. With **OK** you accept the current position as Noise Print and close the wizard.

#### Search options

- **Start search in Object Object start**: The search area starts at object start.
- Start of the search in the object Range start or play cursor: The search starts at the start of the range if a range was previously defined. Otherwise the search starts at the

play cursor.

- Length of search in the object To the end of the object: The search for soft passages stretches until object end.
- **Search length in object x minutes maximum**: Enter the search length in minutes here.

### **Filter graphic**

The filter on the left can be used to additionally filter the noise sample to improve the results.

The graph shows the **original spectrum** of the noise as *yellow* curve and the corrected spectrum used by the algorithm to remove the noise as *blue* curve. If the effect is active (e.g. during playback or monitoring) you can also observe the input spectrum as *light blue* curve and the output spectrum (*orange* curve).

The *violet* curve can be drawn freely and is used for **filtering of the noise spectrum**. For filter parameters and drawing tools, please refer to FFT Filter (*⊉*287).

### **Artifact suppression**

The applied algorithm can leave a metallic chirping or twittering sound, the so-called artifact noise. The level of artifacts is lower than that of the original noise - usually in the order of -20 dB - but due to its synthetic character the ear reacts quite sensitively to it. The settings at **Artifact suppression** are used to suppress these artifacts. Please note that choosing high values can also worsen the quality of the playback result.

**Smooth attack**: This parameter controls the attack during noise reduction. At high delay, the artifacts are effectively suppressed. However, this can degrade the timing and impulsiveness of the audio material. In case of speech or singing, high values will not always produce the best results. This method of artifact suppression is recommended for orchestral instrument.

**Smooth release**: Use this parameter reduce an overly strong reduction of the release phase. However, artifacts can again be amplified at high values. So find the most acceptable compromise between artifact suppression and impulse performance.

**Static smooth**: This smoothes the corrected spectrum of the noise that the noise removal algorithm uses. You can also see this in the graphical display: the blue curve is smoothed as the values increase. The artifacts are thus reduced. For speech, singing or pop music, high values usually lead to good results. With orchestral instruments, on the other hand, high values for this parameter can lead to an unpleasant roughening of the sound.

**Transient sustain**: With this parameter you can influence the algorithm in such a way that the noise removal works more reservedly with transients. This leads to a significant improvement in noisy jazz or pop recordings, for example.

# Correction

This parameter causes the noise sample spectrum to be raised or lowered (dark blue curve). Low settings may result in incomplete removal of the noise or increased occurrence of artifacts. High settings may cause the results to deteriorate. These phenomena depend mainly on the type of noise, and the nature of the original material also plays a role. Note that a higher level of noise does not automatically require a higher correction value.

### Mix

Here you can set noise damping in decibels, between 0 dB and -40 dB.

In many cases it is most definitely advantageous to not completely remove noises: for example when working with gramophone recordings, it can be desirable to leave some of that "gramophone feeling" in. In reportage, a complete cancellation of background noise is also usually not desirable. In addition, the imperfect suppression of the noise also reduces artifacts that occur.

### Options

**Adaptive correction**: This enables continuous automatic adjustment of the value for the parameter **Correction**. Using "Adaptive correction" makes most sense with distortions with variable noise levels.

**Dampen tonal noise to maximum**: If the material to be removed is tonal noise such as humming or camera noise, activate this switch. This means that the "Correction" parameter only affects the non-tonal signal components (noise). This can lead to better results, since attenuating tonal signal components produces fewer artifacts than attenuating non-tonal noise. The value for the **resolution** should be at least 4096.

**De-Rumble**: Frequencies below 40 Hz will be considerably dampened. This way impact noise like footsteps or rumbling on records can be removed.

**Inverse:** If this switch is activated, you will hear only the part of the signal that is removed by the algorithm. If the parameters are optimally tuned you will only hear all the noise and only a small portion of the used signal If the parameters are set insufficiently, larger components of the music or speech signal become audible.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

### Procedure for the adjustment

To find optimal settings for noise removal from your material, proceed as follows:

- 1. Search for a good **Correction** setting. The noise should just not be heard anymore. If artifacts occur, they should not be suppressed by a very high value for "Correction". The result could otherwise sound dull.
- 2. To suppress artifacts, increase the values for **Smooth Attack** and/or **Static Smooth**. Which parameter is the more appropriate depends on the audio material.
- **3.** To improve the result, you can now slightly reduce **Correction**. In the process, the artifacts will reinforce themselves again. Now raise the **Smooth attack** and/or **Static smooth**parameters .
- 4. A high value for **Overlap** will further increase quality.
- 5. Increase the parameter **Transient sustain** until an increase in the disturbance is perceptible at the transients (with noise, this effect manifests itself as a kind of noise modulation). Now turn the fader back a little.
- 6. For difficult cases, we recommend the freehand draw **filter curve** for the noise sample. Here, problematic areas can be influenced by frequency-selective boosting or cutting of the noise spectrum.
- 7. If a convincing result cannot be achieved in very difficult cases, you can at least attenuate the noise by reducing the **Mix** value.

# Distortion

 This effect is obsolete. It is no longer offered in the plugin browser, since better and more flexible plugins for its purpose are now available, such as Vandal or colorFX Tube Distorsion. However, it is still available for old projects to ensure compatibility.

Use this dialog to distort audio material using a nonlinear transfer characteristic. The signal becomes louder and overtones are added.



By adjusting the starting point of the distortion (**Threshold**), you can achieve a soft, analogsounding distortion (overdrive), or a hard, digital-sounding distortion (threshold at 0 dB). The **Level** setting determines the strength of the distortion.

# **Dynamic Equalizer**

ก

With the Dynamic Equalizer, the frequency spectrum of a signal can be processed depending on the level. This means that the effect of a single filter band can be controlled depending on the strength of the occurrence of certain frequencies in the input signal. In other words, you remove an "interfering" frequency only where it occurs more strongly, but leave it unprocessed in other places.

Unlike the Multiband Dynamics (296) effect, where the signal is split into different bands by filters and then dynamics processing is applied to these bands separately, the Dynamic Equalizer processes the signal as a whole and the dynamics of each band are affected only by the frequency components that occur in that band. As a result, there are fewer phase changes between the frequency components in the signal, which means that fewer unwanted artifacts can occur.



Filter curves and filter symbols: Each filter band is symbolized by a colored circle.
The filter curve of the individual band is represented by the transparent colored area
below the circle. The thick white line shows the resulting filter curve of all bands. In
the background, the light gray line shows the resulting frequency spectrum of the
signal in real time, and, somewhat paler, the original spectrum of the signal.

2

**Band selection**: The Plus button can be used to add filter bands. With a single click on the colored area a band can be selected for editing, a double click on the colored area deletes the band.

The On/Off button can be used to deactivate the bands individually.

3

6

Filter Type: Here you set the filter type of the selected band.

High Pass Low Shelving Band Pass



The small number next to the symbol indicates the slope (slew rate) of the filter. By clicking on the 3 dots on the icon, you can change the slope for high, low and bandpass in the range between 1 (6dB/octave) and 4 (36dB per octave). The other filters are fixed at 2 (12dB/octave).

**Filter parameters**: In this area the characteristic values of the filter band are set: Frequency for the cut-off frequency, Gain for the increase or decrease of the filter, Q for the bandwidth of the filter.

You can set these values graphically in the filter graph by moving the circle in the filter graph accordingly: Frequency and gain result from the position of the circle in the filter graph. The Q value of the filter (in the case of the peaking filter) is set with the mouse wheel.

**Channel processing**: In this menu you determine whether the filter band affects both stereo channels, one channel at a time, or the mid or side signal. If one of the options Left/Right/Center/Side) is selected, the filter curve of the band is colorcoded accordingly:

- Left: Green
- Right: Red
- Mid: Yellow
- Side: Blue

This function is not available for multichannel files.



Band Dynamics: Click the On/Off icon to activate Band Dynamics for the selected band. The gain of a band is then affected by the corresponding frequency component of the input signal. The parameters correspond to those in a compressor or expander:

- Attack/Release determine as time constants how fast the dynamics react to level changes.
- **Threshold** sets the threshold at which the band dynamics affect the gain.
- Ratio determines the direction and strength of the gain correction: values <1 result in an expansion, values > 1 in a compression.
- **B** Global settings These settings affect all bands.
  - Global Scale: This control allows you to boost or attenuate the Gain values of all filter bands together. Negative values are also possible, reversing the effect of the EQ.
  - Mono Below: This is a global high pass for the side signal. Below the cut-off frequency, the side signal is attenuated. In the filter graphic, this additional filter is displayed with a green line.
  - Stereo Width: Controls the amount of side signal in all bands and thus the stereo width of the overall signal.
  - Output Gain: This allows you to compensate for level differences between the input and output signals.
- **Scale**: With the +/- zoom buttons you can change the value range of the scale.
- Peak meter

7



To save your own presets, select **Save as...** from the menu. You can set a category and a preset name. Once you have created your own presets, the Preset menu contains a second section **USER**, where you can find your own presets, organized by category.



Changed factory or user presets get an asterisk in front of the name.

Sector State Action and Sector Sec

With **Revert changes** you restore the settings of the preset, with **Save** you save the changes in the preset. Changes to Factory Presets cannot be saved, but you can save them as a User Preset using **Save as...**.

You can rename a user preset with **Rename...** and delete it with **Delete**.

You can also organize your user presets by using **Open user presets folder** to open the folder with the user presets. The categories in the Preset menu correspond to subfolders in this folder, the preset names to the file names of the presets. If you have moved or renamed files there, run **Reload user presets** so that these changes are applied to the preset menu.

# Settings

Show tooltips: Here you can disable the tooltips.

**Disable dynamic labels**: This allows you to switch the labels of the control elements: By default, a control will display the set value only when you hover the mouse over it, and its function otherwise. If the check mark is active, the set value is always displayed.

**Disable FFT analyzer/ Disable peak meters/Enable OpenGL rendering/Frame Rate limiting**: With these options you can accelerate the performance of graphical display in case of overload.

**Oversampling**: For a balance between available processing power and required quality, you can set the oversampling between off and 8x.

**Zoom level**: This allows you to display the plug-in interface in different sizes.



# EQ116

The EQ116 is a 6-channel fully parametric equalizer for influencing the frequency response of audio signals.

# Graphic displays

The upper part of the dialog contains the **filter graphic**. This graphic provides you with several frequency-related information:

- Magnitude: The amplitude increase or decrease resulting from the individual band settings.
- Group delay/Phase: (switchable in the scale options). The group delay describes the frequency-dependent time delay when the signal passes through, while the phase shows the dependence of the phase from the frequency.
- **Original**: This curve shows the original frequency response in real time.
- **Result**: This curve shows the frequency response after processing by the effect.

You customize the display of the filter graph in the **Scale Options dialog** and by using the horizontal and vertical scroll bars.

Frequency Display			
Freq.:	@ lin.	🥥 log.	
Freq. log.:	🥥 Hz	Pitches	
Value display			
Value range:			
Min: 120 dB Max: 20 dB			
Curve display			
Line style:	<i>©</i> Bars	Curve	
Phase instead of Group delay			
Hide real time spectrum lines			
Real time offset: 45 dB			

- Frequency axes: The frequency can be plotted linearly or logarithmically. If you select the logarithmic display, either the frequencies or the musical pitch (notes) can be used for the frequency on the x-axis.
- Value display: At Value display you define the minimum and maximum value of the level values.
- **Curve display**: The curves can be displayed roughly as bars or as interpolated curves.
- Hide real-time curves: With this option you can hide the real-time curves.
- Real-time offset: Offset for displaying the realtime curves so that they do not obscure the amplitude response.

**Volume**: Use this control to adjust the level to compensate for level changes caused by the filter.

In / Out indicators: The peak meters show the input and output level in dB.

**Reset (meter):** Reset the in and out displays.

# **Editing the Characteristic Curve**

**Filter graphic**: The parameters **Gain** and **Frequency** of a band can be changed in the graphic by moving the corresponding circle. The bandwidth (Q) can be adjusted with the mouse wheel.





In the input field you can change the values of the parameters by dragging the mouse vertically or enter numerical values.

A selected parameter can also be adjusted using the slider next to the parameters. You always select the parameter for all bands together.

Over the input field and the slider you can also use the mouse wheel for value changes. While doing so, hold the **Shift** key for finer changes.



**1** Band On/Off: Switching the band on and off. In the filter graphic, the corresponding circle also disappears.

**2** Gain: These controllers allow you to raise or lower the filter. With a gain of OdB the band is also deactivated (neutral setting).

- **3** Freq. (Frequency): Here you set the cutoff frequency of the individual filters between 10 Hz and 24 kHz.
- **Q (Bandwidth)**: Here you set the bandwidth of the individual filters between 0.10 and 10.
- Type: Here you set the filter type between Peak, Low Shelving, High Shelving, High Pass and Low Pass.
- Slew Rate (slope): For High Pass and Low Pass , choose between a slope of 6dB/octave, 12dB/octave, 24dB/octave or 36dB/octave. For Low shelving and High shelving, select between 6 dB/octave and 12 dB/octave. The filter type Peak is fixed at 12dB/octave.

### Mode

With **Mode** you set the working mode of the **EQ116**.

- **Normal**: Minimum phase EQ, corresponds to the operation of the 4-band parametric equalizer of older **Sequoia** versions (compatibility mode ).
- **Oversampling**: The effect internally works with a higher sample rate compared to the first mode. Especially for higher frequencies, a more precise frequency response can be reached, and fewer aliasing artifacts arise. The disadvantage is that this mode requires more computing power.
- Linear phase: The equalizer works without frequency-dependent phase shifts. A fundamentally different algorithm is used than in the first two modes. The Linear phase mode sounds more neutral and less colorful, and the amplitude of the overall signal is also less affected, since there are no amplification and cancellation effects due to the phase shift. However, the EQ requires more computing power in this mode. In addition, artifacts ("pre-ringing") can occur at higher frequencies when processing impulsive audio material.

🚺 In Linear phase mode, the parameters of the EQ116 cannot be automated.

# **Elastic Audio**

Elastic Audio is a specialized editor that lets you selectively change the pitch of audio material. Automated resampling or pitch shifting as well as pitch detection for monophonic signals are used.

To open the Elastic Audio effect, use:

- Keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Shift + E**
- Menu Effects > Time/Pitch > Elastic Audio
- The button in the Time/Pitch tab of the object editor (199).

### **Editing modes**

The Elastic Audio Editor can be used in Relative mode or in Direct mode.

-`g`- If you want Elastic Audio to always open in **Direct** mode, select **Startup Mode Direct** in the Elastic Audio menu **View**.

### **Relative Mode**

Here you edit the pitch curve (automation of the change in pitch over time) as a relative pitch deviation. This is similar to the Pitch Bend controller progression for MIDI data.



Editing can be done with a free-hand curve, quantized "step" curves, or using the Curve Bend tool. The "curve smooth" parameter enables smoothing of the automation curve. This avoids too steep changes in the pitch curve during playback.

Overview of the graphic display in the "Relative" mode:

**Y-axis**: Displays the pitch shift in semitone steps (within a range of -24 to +24 semitones).

**Orange curve:** Pitch automation curve as relative detuning of the original pitch.

**Dark blue line**: 0 line as a reference line to the edited pitch curve.

#### **Direct Mode**

In Direct mode, the pitch is drawn directly, changes are absolute. To be able to adjust the pitch accordingly, the original pitch must be determined by a preceding pitch analysis of the audio

material. This only produces meaningful results for tonal, monophonic material such as solo vocals, solo instruments, and speech.



Start the analysis function with the pitch **Detection** button. After analysis the VIP objects are divided into individual slice objects according to the recognized pitches. The average pitch of a slice object determines its position in the graphical representation, independent of the concrete course of the pitch curve inside the slice object.

First, all slices are selected. Click in an empty area with the Selection tool to deselect all slices. Now you can select single slices by clicking on them, select multiple slices by additionally holding **Ctrl-** or **Shift-key**.

Two handles are created on the pitch curve at the boundaries of the slice objects. These handles can be moved in order to produce an increasing or decreasing pitch characteristic, but still keeping the small changes in the basic frequency (vibrato).

Besides the pitch trace feature, this mode also provides functions for automatic pitch correction (**Tune!**).



Overview of the graphic display in the "Direct" mode:

Orange curve: display of the editable pitch curve Gray line: Original pitch curve

**Y-axis**: In the keyboard display on the left edge of the window you can see the pitches as notes. In the keyboard view you can deactivate individual pitches by clicking on them so that they aren't used in the automatic pitch correction or in quantized drawing. The corresponding keys will then be grayed out.

Selecting **Key** and **Scale** under **Edit slice object** disables all pitches on the keyboard that are not included in the corresponding scale.

# **Flexible Controls**

On the right side of the dialog are a number of flexible controls that can be opened and closed individually.

 $\dot{\phi}$  In the lowest section of the **View** menu in the editor, you can define which control elements should be visible in the respective mode (Relative/Direct).

### View



**Waveform**: This turns the waveform display on and off.

1...4: Save the zoom depth and position of the current window view here. For this purpose, 4 memory locations are available via the buttons. Click a button to save the zoom depth and position. Click a button again to restore the saved zoom level. To save a new zoom level to a "occupied" button, click it with the **Shift** key held down.

Clicking on the button while holding down the Ctrl key restores only the horizontal position of the saved zoom level.

### Keyboard Shortcut:

Save: Ctrl + numeric keypad 4 ... Ctrl + numeric keypad 6

Restore: Numeric keypad 4...6

Zoom 100%: Zoom to the entire audio material of the current track.



In the second vertical zooming.

**Refresh:** This updates the graphical display of the material. Length changes of objects (with the Resampling algorithm) are adjusted. When synchronization of project view and Elastic Audio is active (View menu > Horizontal > Synchronize VIP in the Elastic Audio window), the effects on the project are also displayed in the project window.

### Edit VIP Object (Relative Mode)

<ul> <li>Edit VIP-object</li> </ul>	×		
Track-selection:			
Trem Gt	-		
Synchronize tracks			
Algorithm:			
Standard	-		
Curve smooth: 0.000			
Options Reset			

Track selection: If objects from multiple tracks were selected when you opened Elastic Audio, select the edited track here.

Algorithm: You can choose between the modes élastique Pro, élastique Efficient, Resample and Monophonic Voice.



i Detailed information about these algorithms can be found in Resampling/Timestretching/Pitchshifting (#312).

**Curve smooth**: This parameter causes the entered pitch curve to be smoothed by a time constant (specified in ms).

**Options**: Here you will find further setting options depending on the selected algorithm.

Reset: This will completely undo any changes made to automation curves or voices of selected objects.

### Edit Slice Object (Direct Mode)

<ul> <li>Edit slice-object</li> </ul>			
Кеу:	C 💌		
Scale: Chroma	tic 💌		
Pitch contour: Tune!			
Contour smooth:	10.00		
Average pitch:	Tune!		
Res	set		

Key: Here's where you can set the key of the scale. This setting is not taken into account for the chromatic scale.

**Scale**: Here you select the type of scale (Major, Minor, Harmonic Minor, Pentatonic and Chromatic).

**Pitch contour Tune!**This button quantizes the pitch of the selected slices according to the selected scale.

**Contour smooth**: This function sets the quantization level (lower values quantize harder). As a result, the small pitch fluctuations (e.g. vibrato) that always occur with natural sound sources disappear, creating an unnatural mechanical sound.

**Average Pitch Tune!**: This quantizes the average slice pitch of the selected slices. The respective sections of the pitch curve of the slice objects are shifted as a whole, thus adjusting the average pitch. Pitch variations within a slice object are preserved.



- Prerequisite for the automatic correction is the detection of the slice pitch (*Pitch* > *Detection*).
- The calculated average pitch of slice objects with glissandi will often not correspond to the pitch that the human ear assigns to these slices. In this case, automatic correction of the mid pitches does not give satisfactory results. This can be remedied, for example, by removing the glissando passage by manually changing the slice boundaries (Ctrl key and curve bend tool) or by splitting the slice.

**Reset**: This command resets the selected slices. The gray curve then corresponds to the orange one and the slice object is reset to the original mean pitch.

### Harmonizer

Use the Harmonizer to add additional voices to the object

▼ Harmonizer ×			
Chord: Major 136			
Humanize:	0	0.00	
📕 Harmonic adjustment			
Create voices			

i The Harmonizer is only available in Direct mode with the algorithm **Monophonic voice**.

**Chord**: Here you can select the chord that the added voices will produce when the **Harmonic Adjustment** option is active.

If **Harmonic Adjustment** is not active, the voices will follow the key set in the **Edit Slice Object** section. The set chord then only serves as a guideline.

**Humanize**: Here you can set a "human touch" by detuning the individual voices more or less strongly against each other.

Create voices: Use this button to recreate parallel voices.

#### Pitch

•	Pitch	×
	Detection	

**Detection**: Use this button to start the pitch analysis. As a result, the absolute pitches are displayed graphically in the Elastic Audio Editor. This function is essential for further editing steps in Direct mode and must therefore always be executed first before you perform other editing operations.

### Toolbar

2

Various tools are available for editing the slice objects and the pitch curve.

You can assign different tools to the left and right mouse buttons. The tool assigned to the left mouse button is displayed in blue, the tool assigned to the right mouse button in red. To assign, click on the desired button with the corresponding mouse button. Only the zoom tool automatically uses both mouse buttons.

# **1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8**

- **Selection tool (arrow)**: Allows you to move slice objects, handles, or the pitch curve vertically. This modifies the pitch of slice objects as a whole. Slice objects and curve handles can also be selected. Selection frames and multiple selection with Ctrl or Shift key are possible.
  - **Freehand drawing function**: You can use the pencil tool to draw the pitch curve freely.
- **Orawing pen for quantized drawing**: In quantized drawing, drawn line snaps to semitone steps (Relative mode) or to the notes of the scale selected at **Tune** (Direct mode).
  - -\grig- With both drawing pens, press the **Shift** key additionally to draw a straight line. With the **Ctrl** key additionally held down, the slice objects are united while drawing.

4	<b>Curve Bend Tool:</b> You can use this tool to bend the pitch envelope between two neighboring handles. This changes the curve in the range between the curve handles, the handles themselves remain unchanged. The curve is bent at the clicked point. In combination with moving the curve handles at the slice object boundaries, you can thus bend the pitch curve while preserving the microtonal structures.
5	<b>Scissors</b> : By simply clicking on the curve with the Scissors tool, you create additional slice objects and curve handles. To join slice objects back together, draw the curve over the slice objects using the Pen tool with the <b>Ctrl</b> key held down.
6	<b>Eraser</b> : Use the eraser to reset the orange curve to the initial value at the clicked position.
7	<b>Navigation tool</b> : Use the navigation tool to move the visible section vertically and horizontally.
8	<b>Zoom tool</b> : Click with the left mouse button to zoom into the display; zoom out with the right mouse button. By clicking and dragging, you can span a selection frame, which is then zoomed into.

Numerical input of the pitch (Selection tool ① and Curve bend tool ④): Double-clicking on a slice object, a handle or the curve opens a field in which you can enter the pitch numerically. Changes have a different effect depending on the tool; with the Selection tool active, the entire curve section is shifted; with the Curve bend tool, the curve is bent accordingly.

# **Playback Control**



- **Reset**: All pitch curves are reset.
- **Bypass:** The project will be played back without the processing.
- **Stop/Play**: The playback of the project is started or stopped.
- **Play Solo**: Only the objects active in the Elastic Audio Editor are played.

### **Display Options**



Grid: With this button you switch the display of the grid on or off.

**Single Object mode**: The maximum horizontal zoom level is limited to one object.

**Synchronization mode for VIP and Elastic Audio Editor**: The horizontal zoom levels and visible sections of both windows are synchronized.

**Docked view mode**: When this button is active, the project window is placed below the Elastic Audio Editor.

### Applying Elastic Audio to Objects on Multiple Tracks.

Elastic Audio processes all the objects you have previously selected. The objects can also be from different tracks. In this case, use **Track selection** at **Edit VIP object** to select the track to be edited. The objects of the other tracks are displayed in gray in the background for control purposes.

If the option **Synchronize tracks** is active, in Relative mode the pitch changes of the object of the selected track are transferred to the objects of the other tracks.



### Keyboard shortcuts and Mouse Wheel

#### Navigating with the mouse wheel

Horizontal scrolling	Mouse wheel	
Vertical scrolling	Ctrl + Shift + Mouse wheel	
Horizontal zooming	Ctrl + Mouse wheel	
Vertical zoom	Alt + Mouse wheel	
Horizontal and vertical zooming	Ctrl + Alt + Mouse wheel	

#### **Keyboard shortcuts**

Play solo/stop	Ctrl + Spacebar
Play/Stop	Spacebar
Select all	Ctrl + A

Refresh view	А
Undo	Ctrl + Z
Select tool for the left mouse button	Ctrl + 1-8
Select tools for the right mouse button.	Ctrl + Shift + 1-8
Show/Hide pitch curve	Shift + Alt + P
Show/hide objects from other tracks	Ctrl + Alt + T
Direct Mode	Ctrl + Up arrow
Relative Mode	Ctrl+Down Arrow
Play cursor to the left	Left arrow
Play cursor to the right	Right arrow
Horizontal zoom in	Ctrl + Left arrow
Horizontal zoom out	Ctrl + Right arrow
Change scale tuning (Frequency for "A" concert pitch).	Shift + R
Show/hide "View"	Shift + A
Show/hide "Edit VIP object"	Shift + O
Show/hide "Pitch"	Shift + F
Show/hide "Edit slice object"	Shift + S
Save zoom snapshot 1, 2, 3	Ctrl + Numeric keypad 4,5,6
Load zoom snapshot 1, 2, 3 without vertical zoom	Alt + Numeric keypad 4,5,6
Load zoom snapshot 1, 2, 3 without vertical zoom	Numeric keypad 4,5,6

# **FFT** Filter



The FFT filter is used for precise, linear-phase filtering of signals.

The graphical view shows 3 curves, the vertical axis shows the volume in dB, while the horizontal axis shows the frequency in Hertz or the pitch in notes. The yellow curve represents the frequency response of the input signal, the blue curve the frequency response resulting from applying the red filter curve.

**Drawing tools**: You can edit the red filter curve in the graphical view with the drawing tools during playback and immediately hear how the sound of the edited audio signal changes. By clicking the left and right mouse buttons on the symbols, you select a drawing tool for each of these keys



1

**Pen for free-hand drawing**: This tool allows you to draw any curve you need. Hold the "Shift" key down to draw straight lines.

**Pen for quantized drawing**: Use this tool to draw stepped filter curves; the quantization steps depend upon the set resolution. If you hold down the **Shift** key, you will draw straight lines.



**Bump tool**: Click with this tool above or below the curve to bend the curve/frequency area. The further away you place the bump tool from the curve when clicking, the wider the deformed curve area becomes. This effect can be intensified by simultaneously holding down the **Ctrl** key.

4

**Navigation tool**: With the navigation tool you can move the visible section vertically and horizontally once you have zoomed into the display.



7

**Magnifying glass/zoom tool**: Click the mouse to zoom into the display. Click and drag to expand an area, which is then displayed as a zoom area.

Next to the drawing tools are buttons for actions with the filter curve as a whole:

### • 1234567

- **Snapshot**: The real-time display of the spectrum is paused and a still image is displayed.
- **2 Save**: Save the filter curve in a text file.
- **3 Load**: Load the filter curve from a text file.
- Copy: Copy the filter curve as text data to the clipboard (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + C).
- Paste: Paste the filter curve from the clipboard.
   Use these commands to transfer a filter curve between different instances of the FFT filter.
- 6 Analysis tool: Creates a filter curve by spectral analysis. For this purpose, audio material is analyzed from the current track starting from the playback marker position. You can then save this filter curve and use it to filter the frequency response of another object.
  - **Invert current filter curve**: This inverts the current filter curve. This function allows you to correct the frequency response of rooms or speakers, for example.

Reset: This button resets the curve of the FFT filter.

Scale options: Options for displaying the filter curve.
Freq	uency Disp	play
Freq.:	@ lin.	🥥 log.
Freq. log.:	i Hz	Pitches
Va	alue display	v
Zoom ratio o o none	of filter cur 5:1 <i>(i</i> ) 1	ve: 0:1 <i>(</i> 20:1
Scaling dB:	@ lin.	🥥 log.
Value range:	1	
Min: <u>-120</u>	dB Max:	20 dB
Cı	ırve displa	У
Line style:	<i>i</i> Bars	🥥 Curve

- Frequency display: The frequency can be plotted linearly or logarithmically. If you select the logarithmic display, either the frequencies or the musical pitch (notes) can be used for the frequency on the x-axis.
- Value display: The filter curve can be stretched on the y-axis in the ratio 5:1, 10:1 or 20:1. When the filter curve is stretched, a second dB scale is displayed on the right side of the graph. Note that then the display of the filter curve is no longer to scale with the display of the frequency responses.
   Also for the dB values a linear or the logarithmic representation is possible. At Value range you define the minimum and maximum value of the display.
- **Curve display**: The curves can be displayed roughly as bars or as interpolated curves.

**Overlap**: This parameter controls the overlap of the time windows for the calculations of the spectrum. Higher values improve the result, but also increase CPU load.

**Resolution**: With this parameter you can select the internal resolution of the algorithm. Higher resolutions do not automatically mean better results - the optimal setting depends on the audio signal.

**Strength**: This controller pinches or stretches the filter curve. This is especially necessary if the filter curve was created by analysis or the Sound Cloner function (see below ). Then use this slider to control the amount of correction to the frequency response.

**Vol.**: With this control you can adjust the level behind the filter. Use the peak meters for **In** and **Out**.

**Inverse**: Reverses the effect of the filter, only the frequencies removed by the filter are then reproduced.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

## **Sound Cloner Function**

With the Sound Cloner feature you can determine the sound characteristic of a selected object and transfer it to another one. To do this, first determine a spectral image of the object that you want to use as a sound template and save it as a Sound Clone Preset. After that you can apply the Sound Clone to other audio material. The filter curve of a Sound Clone preset is not taken directly into the FFT filter, but the target audio material is also analyzed and then a combined filter curve is generated that matches the spectrum of the target audio material to the spectrum of the Sound Clone preset.

- 1. Load audio material whose sound you want to use as a reference. Set the play cursor to a position representative of the desired sound spectrum.
- Load the FFT filter as an object effect.
- 3. Now click on the button Learn.

With the options **File** or **FX-Input** you can determine whether the unprocessed audio material of the audio file is analyzed or the input signal of the FFT filter is used. Effects that lie in the object before the FFT filter are included in the analysis in this case. This way you can further edit the sound before analyzing it, e.g. with an EQ.

- 4. After the analysis is complete, a save dialog opens. Save the newly created sound clone under a meaningful name (e.g. Late 50s Jazz).
- 5. Now select the object whose sound is to be adjusted and load the FFT filter here as well. Also place the play cursor at a position that is representative of the object's sound spectrum.
- 6. Now select the Sound Clone preset. The sound spectrum of the object is adjusted to the sound of the Sound Clone preset using the filter curve.

Use the Strength slider to control the intensity of the sound characteristic transmission.

The FFT Filter can also be operated as a track or master effect as a sound cloner. It is always important to remember: the play cursor and the selected track determine the audio material that is the basis for the analysis of the sound spectrum, both when creating the Sound Clone preset and when loading the Sound Clone.

Preset is 20 seconds of analysis, you can also set the length individually by selecting a range over audio material.

The menu **Presets** contains, in addition to the created Sound Clone presets, a number of universally usable filter settings.

# Remove DC Offset (Offline)

This function removes the DC offset component from an audio file or object. DC offset can occur, for example, in a microphone recording due to A/D conversion. This component shows itself in a constant shift of the waveform around the zero line. The DC voltage component can lead to inaccurate results in subsequent effect calculations.



i The effect processing is done destructively as an offline effect in the audio file of an object. See Applying effects offline (237)

Analyze			<u>0</u> K
DC Offset	left channel:	-74.6 dB	<u>C</u> ancel
	right channel:	-78.4 dB	Help
Options			
DC Offset Thresh	old:	-90.0 dB	
Process stere	o channels independent	ły	

#### **Options**:

- You can specify a minimum DC offset threshold above which DC offset removal is to be performed.
- Process stereo channels separately: If you switch off the option, the left and right channels will be processed with the same value. This makes the calculation faster, especially with many long files.

## Swap channels

Applied as an object effect, the application of the effect corresponds to the function **Swap object channels** in the menu **s** of the section **Pan** on the tab **FX** of the object editor (*P*194).

You can also find a corresponding function for an object or track in the panorama editor (2521), (right-click on the Pan slider) if you activate the options **Copy L > R** and **Copy R > L** at the same time.

When used offline, this function swaps the audio data of the right and left channels of a stereo file.

## Loudness adjustment

The global loudness settings need to set in order to calculate loudness values. Settings	
Program Loudness - I           Target level:         -23.0           LUFS         Tolerance lower:           0.0         upper:           0.0         LU	
Preset: V Save	
Loudness Range - LRA	
Limit dynamics:	
Maximum value: 15 V LU Method: Loudness Range Dynami V	
Matching the loudness target level by using the dynamic limiter instead of object volume	
Maximum True Peak Level - TPmax	
Threshold: -1.0 dBTP Action at overload: Lower Level V	
Short Program	
Maximum duration of a short program: 30 v seconds	
Threshold Max. Momentary (Mmax):     8.0      LU	
O Threshold Max. Short-term (Smax): 3.0 ∨ LU	
Apply to normal programs	
Uniform normalization of selected objects FX calculation: Off	/
Normalize surround and stereo files based on stereo loudness	
Help Of Carrow	
Teb Quice	

Loudness normalization is performed in this dialog. In this process, the object level is adjusted so that its loudness corresponds to a loudness standard.

( For more information on loudness standards (e.g. EBU R128), refer to Loudnessmeter (↗571).

The loudness calculation is based on the values defined in the **program settings** under **Effects** > **Loudness**. You can reach the settings via the button **Settings**.

## Settings

Basic Settings				
Loudness Norm:	EBU R128		~	
The implementations ( - EBU R128 ( - ITU BS.177	correspond to the (Updated: June 20 '0-3 and 1771-1 (U	noms: 014) Jpdated: August 2012)	Measurement Parameters	
Program Loudness				
Target Value:		-23.0 (EBU R1	28) ~ LUFS	
Tolerance Range:		Upper Tolerance Level:	0.00 V LU	
rolerance hange.		Lower Tolerance Level:	0.00 V LU	
Maximum True Peak	/alue			
Clipping Threshold:		-1.0 (EBU R12	8) V dBTP	
Save Options				
Write Loudness Val	ues into Files Who	en Saving (BWF - EBU T	ech 3285v2).	
Create XML Protoco	ol next to Audio Fi	le		
Save Momentary and Short-term Progressions				
Display Calculated	Values in Open Lo	oudness Meter		
Don't Calculate Lou	idness Data after	Recording		
Loudness Normalization for Export to Database				
Display Loudness V	alues in Level An	alysis		

**Loudness standard**: Select here the standard between **EBU R128** or **ITU-R BS.1770/1771** in its current version. By selecting **user** you can set your own measurement parameters (*7*575) and your own **overload threshold** (Maximum True Peak Level).

Here you can also set the **Target value** in LUFS for the program loudness and specify the tolerance range. These values are used in the Loudness Adjustment dialog and in the Loudness meter.

You have the following **Save options**:

- Write loudness values when saving to files (BWF EBU Tech 3285v2): The loudness values are written to the BWF chunk.
- Create XML protocols and save parallel to file: With this option XML files are created during exporting, bouncing, batch processing or calculating loudness values. You can name these XML files like audio files, e.g. "file.wav.xml" or "file.mp3.xml". These files

contain separate data for stereo and Surround streams. The loudness values for Max Momentary and Max Short-Term progressions can be saved as XML files with the additional option **Save Momentary and Short-Term Progression**.

- Display Calculated Values in Open Loudness Meter
- Don't calculate loudness data after recording.
- Loudness normalization for export to database
- Display loudness values in level analysis.

#### **Dynamic Limiting (Loudness Range Normalization)**

Loudness Range - LRA					
Limit dynamics:					
Maximum value:	15 ~	LU	Method:	Loudness Range Dynami $ \smallsetminus $ .	
Matching the loudness target level by using the dynamic limiter instead of object volume					

Dynamic limiting is a part of the dialog for loudness normalization and enables the limiting of object dynamics in order to even out loudness variation within the audio material.

Activating the check box Limit dynamics turns the algorithm on.

Set the **Maximum value** for the dynamic range. The target value for the loudness range depends on the listening environment. For example, a loudness range of approximately 6 LU is good for a car whereas a setting of more than 20 LU can be used for a movie theater.

You can choose between two **procedures**:

Loudness Range Dynamics: This setting calculates an automation curve that dampens loud material and boosts quiet material. The automation points can also be adjusted manually. The "Loudness Range Dynamics" plug-in is inserted into the Object Editor (\$\alpha\$191) and can be used to control the loudness range (LRA).

Rd Para	meters when openir	ng the 🔻 🕇 🖡	] ▶ 5 ?
Loudnes	ss Range	Program L	oudness
Original LRA:	17.5 LU	Loudness:	15.0 <b>LU</b>
Target LRA:	$\bigcirc$	Target level:	$\bigcirc$
Reset	15.0 LU	Reset	15.0 LU
			Bypass

Loudness Range Dynamics in the Object Editor

Leveler (Advanced Dynamics): The "Advanced Dynamics" plug-in is inserted into the Object Editor. Here the dynamics are automatically set to achieve the target loudness range.

If the option **Matching the loudness target level by the using dynamic limiter instead of the object volume** is active, the adjustment of the loudness range to the target value is performed by the leveler or the loudness range dynamics. In this case the object volume is not changed.

#### Action when clipping occurs

Maximum True Peak Level - TPmax					
Threshold:	-1.0	dBTP	Action at overload:	Lower Level	~

When the clipping threshold for the maximum peak level (Maximum True Peak Level) is exceeded, you have the following the options:

- Show warning
- Decrease level
- Activate sMax11 (Master)

**Short Program**: The term "short programs" is used in broadcasting to describe short pieces such as trailers or commercials.

- Maximum duration of a short program: Here you can select or enter the length of time for the short program. You can also shut the maximum duration off (0.0 Off).
- Threshold Max. Momentary (Mmax): Maximum value for the momentary loudness of the short program. If this value is exceeded, the loudness normalization will compensate by decreasing the loudness of the piece.

- Threshold Max. Short-term (Smax): Maximum value for the Short-term loudness of the short program. If this value is exceeded, the loudness normalization will compensate by decreasing the loudness of the piece.
- Apply to normal programs: This option applies the Mmax and Smax settings globally and not just for short programs.

**Uniform normalization of selected objects**: This option corrects all selected objects using the same value. This retains the level ratio between the objects. Note that the loudest object co-determines the value for all others. This could cause the loudness of the other objects to be below the target value for the program loudness.

#### Effect calculation

- **Off**: Only the audio material of the object is used for loudness analysis.
- **Objects only**: This means that the object effects only are taken into account during the calculation of the loudness value.
- **Including master**: Object, track and master effects are included in the loudness calculation.

# **Multiband Dynamics**

Multiband Dynamics lets you edit dynamics with up to four independent frequency bands. The entire signal is split into individual frequency bands in this case. The dynamics are then edited separately for each band.

The combination of the individual bands is 100% phase-neutral, and thanks to the FIR complement filter technique no discoloration of the frequency response occurs. In other words: If there is no dynamic editing in the individual bands, i.e. the signal is only split into the bands and then reassembled, the audio material will be perfectly compiled to the state it was before. The advantage of dynamics manipulation across multiple frequency bands versus a standard process is that the danger of pumping and other side-effects sinks drastically. For instance, the function is able to prevent bass peaks from reducing the entire signal. Multi-band technology also lets you specifically edit individual frequency ranges.

Characteristics		Frequency Separation / Gain Enhancement/Reduction					
Band: ® 1 0 2 0 3 0 0 60 40 20 -20 -40 -60 -80 Copy to All	4 0	View dB: O I 0.2 0.2 0.8 -2.0 -3.3 -4.8 -6.7 -9.2 -12 -12 -12 -12 -40 dB Cutoff Freq. 0.4	in. I log. Fi 0.08 0.14 0.27	req. 0 lin. 9 la 050 0.94 1.8	ng. 33 63 11.7	KHZ 25 20 15 10 5 .0 .15 .15 .15 .20 .20 .20 .20 .25 KHZ Ref	in Enh.
Setup		Band 1	Band 2	Band 3	Band 4	Out (All)	In Out
Bands: 3 💌	Gain dB	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	[	elip 0
Band Separation: Normal Link Bands Advanced Mode Look ahead 12000 Samples Bypass Dyn.	Ratio Thresh.d8 Attack ms Release ms Gate d0 Mode	4 20 7 4 20 7 20.0 100.0 -100 Solo Comp. Max ▼	7.10 7 -8.0 20.0 100.0 Comp. Max ▼	4 30 7 -6.0 20.0 100.0 -100 Solo	4 30 7 -6.0 20.0 100.0 -100 Solo Comp. Max ▼	0.0	-3 -6 -10 -20 -30 -40 -60 -60 Reset

### Frequency separation/Gain enhancement/Reduction

In the **Frequency separation / Gain Enhancement/Reduction**area, you'll find the parameters for the filter bank. The graphic display shows the frequency of separate bands. The left axis label shows damping in -dB, the top label shows frequency in kHz. The individual curves are color labeled.



#### **Separation frequencies**

Drag the dashed lines in the graphical representation to set the crossover frequencies of the individual filter bands. The number of separation frequencies depends on the number of

selected bands (**Bands** parameter in the **Setup** area). The border frequencies for the deepest and the highest band (high-cut and low-cut) are shown. The border frequencies are those frequencies where the filter dampening is -3 dB. For mid bands (band pass 1 and band pass 2) the mid frequencies and bandwidths are displayed. The bandwidth in this case is the distance between the two separation frequencies. These also correspond to the cut points of the neighboring frequency curves.

## Characteristics

The graphic element to the side shows the **dynamics characteristic curve**. It illustrates the ratio from the input level (upper axis in dB) to the output level (left axis in dB).



**Band**: You can select a band , the characteristics curve of the selected band is displayed in white, while the other bands appear as lines in their corresponding color. The band selection always follows the currently edited dynamic parameter.

**Copy to All**: After pressing this button the parameters of the selected band are applied to all bands. If you also have **Link bands** (in the **Setup** area) selected, the values for all bands remain coupled to one another.

## Setup



Control

Description

Bands	Here you can select the number of bands, between 1 and 4. Set to "1", no separation into different frequencies takes place, and the algorithm works like a standard dynamics effect. The CPU load rises with increasing number of bands.
Band separation	With this parameter, different properties of the filters are influenced simultaneously, so that the "selectivity" is increased. With a higher setting for the band separation, the slope of the filter curves increases, i.e. the transition range between two bands becomes smaller and the attenuation in the stop band increases.
Link bands	When this option is active, the changes to the dynamic parameters affect all bands. Often, it isn't necessary to set dynamic parameters for each band separately. For rough adjustment at the beginning, it is often appropriate to adjust the parameters together at first. If you have activated <b>Link bands</b> , it does not mean that all parameters in all bands will have the same values. Initially, only the parameters that were changed after switching on "Link bands" are the same. If you want all bands to have the same settings, click <b>Copy to All</b> below the characteristic curve.
Advanced Mode	If this option is selected, the processing routines of the Advanced Dynamics (#248) effect are used internally.
Look ahead	When this option is selected, the dynamics section works with "look- ahead". This setting affects all bands.
Bypass dyn. (bypass dynamics):	The dynamic processing of the individual bands is deactivated. This function serves to compare the editing results with the original.
Bypass all	This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.



## Parameters for the dynamic sections

-\overline{c}- Click in an input field (Gain, Ratio, Threshold, Attack, Release or Gate) to control the parameter with the slider next to the input fields.

## Control Description

Gain (dB)	Here you can set the level at the output end of the dynamics phase for each band separately. Please note that the graphic display can cannot be fully display the influence of this control. If you set the controller too high, overdriving may occur - in this case the characteristic curve would have to continue upwards beyond the limit of the graphic display.
Ratio (factor)	This parameter controls the strength of the respective effect. 1.0 means no effect. Clicking the button beside it resets the ratio to 1.00.
Thresh. (dB)	This is the input threshold value above and below which the corresponding effect is applied.
Attack (ms)	Here you can set the time frame between the crossing of the threshold and the maximum extent of the effect.
Release (ms)	Here you can set the time frame between the falling off of the threshold and the complete dissipation of the effect.
Gate Level (-dB)	This parameter specifies below which volume the level should be set to 0.

Solo	In "Solo" mode the frequency bands can be monitored one at a time. This
	function particularly alleviates adjusting the filter parameters. For instance, you can locate a critical frequency range of a mix before editing the dynamics.
Out (All)	Here you can set the overall output of the entire effect. The graphic display does not reflect this setting. Use the fader to balance the level difference

caused by the dynamics processing.

## **Dynamics Mode**

Dynamics Mode	Description
Comp. Max	Dynamics of the frequency band is limited in such a way that loud passages above a certain threshold are amplified less, raising the overall volume. This setting is often used to increase the loudness.
Compressor	The effect on dynamics is similar to a classic compressor: The dynamics of a frequency band is limited in that loud passages above a certain threshold are limited in their amplification. Use this settings if you want to achieve sound alteration through compression without raising the overall volume.
Expander	The dynamics of a frequency band are increased, loud sequences remain loud, quiet sequences become even quieter. Dynamics expansion is often used for recording speech with a high noise level. The expansion causes the level of the speech to be raised while the noise is suppressed.
Gate	Here, very quiet passages below the Threshold Level are dampened or set to zero. This way, you can effectively suppress noise during the pauses between takes. Even at high compression (ratio > 5), the gate function is still useful to avoid strong increases in the quietest of passages and background noise. If different threshold values are entered in different bands, with a bit of skill, drum loops may be "chopped up".
Limiter	Only the loudest passages are limited (above the threshold). Quiet passages remain unchanged. Limiters are used to reduce the occurrence of big level peaks without reducing the master dynamics.

Limiter 100%	Performs the same editing as the Limiter, but the level is immediately
	raised to 0 dB - this corresponds to a subsequent normalization. This
	corresponds to a subsequent normalization.
	$\dot{\phi}$ - If you want to use the Limiter as protection against overmodulation, you
	should take into account that the Limiter can only reliably prevent

should take into account that the Limiter can only reliably prevent overmodulation in a single band. If the bands are mixed together, the sum can again result in overstepping the threshold level set for the bands.

### Strategies for coping with the flood of parameters

A multiband compressor like Multiband Dynamics naturally has a lot of parameters. Here are a few tips on how to adjust:

- If you need to alter the **dynamics of all bands**, rather than one individual band, the following approach may be useful:
  - 1. Common setting for all bands
    - a Select the mode that corresponds the most with your needs. If you want to increase the volume of the audio material, select **Comp. max**. If you want to achieve an improvement of the sound characteristics, an increase of the "transparency", an improvement of the speech intelligibility, a refreshing of old recordings, crisper basses, etc., without increasing the loudness, use the **Compressor**. The selection of this mode only applies to the selected band.
    - b Click **Copy to all bands**. Selecting this mode ensures that all bands feature the applied setting.
    - c Activate **Link bands**. Any changes you perform in the current band are automatically mirrored on the other bands.
    - d Change the parameters of all bands until the audio sounds right.
  - 2. Fine adjustment for the individual bands
    - a Turn off Link bands.
    - **b** Activate **Solo** mode for a band. Individual bands may now be isolated, making the task of optimizing settings for each band easier. The optimal time constants usually have lower values in the high frequency bands because the waveforms are shorter here.

- c If you can't find satisfactory settings for a band, try to change the split frequency setting for the selected band. A narrow band setting may help prevent "pumping" artifacts in the sound.
- **T**o edit a specific and **critical frequency range only**, a different approach may be taken:
  - 1. Turn off Link bands.
  - 2. Activate **Solo** mode for the band that contains the critical frequency range.
  - **3.** Change the separation frequencies for the band so that they can effectively filter out the critical area. Now the dynamic editing can begin. First, select a suitable mode.
  - 4. Limiter mode or **Compressor** mode are suitable for the dynamic limiting of critical frequencies, i.e. for sibilant sounds.
  - 5. Use the **Bypass dyn.** checkbox to compare the processed and unprocessed bands.
  - **6**. Now switch off the Solo mode and compare the original signal with the processed using **Bypass all**.
- Presets: Compare the presets provided and use a suitable preset as a starting point for finding the optimal settings. In most cases, even loading a relevant preset will produce good results. But if you really want the very best sound or volume increase result, you'll often have to apply these settings manually.
- Compare at same volume: Activate and deactivate the effect with **Bypass** and adjust the volume with the slider **Volume** until the audio level with processing equals the level without processing. Use this method to compare the sound differences without allowing the dynamics processing to alter the volume levels.



## **Multiband Stereo Enhancer**

2

3

The Multiband Stereo Enhancer allows manipulation and correction of the stereo image in three independent frequency bands.

- **Filter graphic**: The graphic shows you the frequency responses of the individual bands. The left axis label displays damping in -dB, the top axis label frequencies in kHz. The labeling can be either linear or logarithmic
  - **Crossover frequencies**: Drag the dashed vertical lines to change the crossover frequencies of the three filter bands. The displayed values in kHz correspond to the intersection points of the adjacent frequency curves.

**Band Separation**: This parameter influences different properties of the filters simultaneously, so that the "separation sharpness " increases. With a higher setting for the band separation, the slope of the filter curves increases, i.e. the transition range between two bands becomes smaller and the attenuation in the stop band increases.

Multiband: If this is active, the stereo enhancer works in three frequency bands.

**Direction Pan**: Here you can choose between two modes for the operation of the pan controls: If Directional Pan is off, the pan controls operate conventionally. The entire stereo signal is shifted in the panorama. If the mode is active, only the mono part (the center signal) is considered in the panorama adjustment. The panorama control functions as a directional mix controller. A centered vocals recording can thereby later be moved to the left or right of the stereo balance. The difference component (the side signal), which contains the sound sources that are located off center, remains unchanged.

Under Bass/Mid/High there are controls for stereo manipulation of the corresponding band:

**5 Base width control**: Here you set the base width between 0 and 200. 0 means mono, 100 corresponds to unchanged base width (stereo) and a value of 200 means maximum base width (differential signal).

Depending on the correlation between left and right, there may be an increase in level when the base width is reduced. In the extreme case of maximum correlation, which occurs when the left and right channels are identical, and a set base width of 0 (mono), a level increase of 3 dB occurs.

When the base width is increased (values above 100), the mono compatibility decreases. If, on the other hand, you reduce the base width, mono compatibility is maintained.

- 6 Panorama controller: Here you set the panorama for the individual bands. Next to the slider the attenuation for left and right is displayed in dB. If the **direction pan** mode is active, the controllers operate as direction mixers. In this case, only the mono component (mid signal) is taken into account.
- **Gain**: Adjusts the level of the respective band.

4

- 8 Solo: With Solo the frequency bands can be listened to individually. This option makes it easier to set the filter parameters. As an example, you can isolate a specific frequency range of a mix, and change the aspect of the stereo image for the range.
- 9 Maximize: This control compresses the side signal, increasing stereo transparency without affecting mono compatibility. In multiband mode, this setting affects the middle band.
- In/Out: The peak meters show the input and output level in dB. Reset on these displays resets the display of the maximum level of In and Out.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

## Normalize

**(1**)

The **Normalize** function raises the level of an audio object to the maximum possible level without clipping the material. This is done by searching for the largest signal peak in the audio material and raising the level of the object so that this point is set to exactly 0 dB (or any other value between 1% and 400% of the level).

Keyboard shortcut: Shift + N

	400 5	Working Mode	Quick access
Normalize to:	100.00 % 0.00 dB	200%  Virtual Destructive	<u>S</u> et Parameters
Peak Maximum: Peak change:	-13.43 dB dB	95%     Multiple object selection       50%     independent normalization	on <u>G</u> et Parameters

**Normalize to**: Here you define the value to which the audio material should be normalized by entering it in the input field in % or dB, adjusting it at the slider or selecting one of the preset values (50, 95, 100 or 200%).

**Peak Maximum**: Displays the maximum level determined for the selected range or object.

**Peak Change**: Displays the level change to be applied according to the selected normalization level and the detected peak maximum.

#### Working Mode

- Virtual: No sample data is changed, only the object level is adjusted.
  - -ŷ- You can also apply this function to an object by clicking the **Norm.** button below the volume fader in the **Object Editor**. This normalizes to OdB.
- Destructive: Normalization is performed directly in the audio file, changing the stored data on the hard disk. In the dialog there is now an option Create Copy (on by default). The copy enables you to undo the normalization.

#### Multiple object selection

 Independent normalization: Each object is normalized according to its own maximum (peak) level. ■ **Unified normalization**: (default) The maximum level of all selected objects is determined and each object is normalized based on this value.

**Quick access**: Use the button **Set parameters** to set the current settings of the dialog as parameters for the function **Normalize (Quick access)**.

Keyboard shortcut: **N** 

Use the Get Parameters button to set the current Quick Access parameters in the dialog.

# Invert phase

As a real-time effect in tracks and objects, this function corresponds to the phase switch in the object editor, mixer channel and track head. You will also find a corresponding function for objects and tracks in the panorama editor ( $\gg$ 521), (right-click on the Pan slider).

For audio files, this function inverts the data of the sample within the marked area along the zero line, i.e. its phase is inverted. Negative values become positive and vice versa.

# **Room Simulator**

The Room Simulator is a reverb effect that simulates the reverberation of any room using its impulse response ("reverb tail"). A room impulse response is the reverberation of a very short, impulsive sound, such as a bang. You can additionally manipulate the impulse response with the various parameters in the dialog. This way you edit the reverb properties (reverberation time, damping...) similar to algorithmic, digital reverb effects. In addition, however, you have the option of fundamentally determining the reverb character by selecting the impulse response.

A graphic representation of the impulse response and the envelope allows an overview of the impulse response manipulation using the Room Simulator parameters dialog.



1

**Banks and presets**: In the header of the dialog you can choose from a series of banks and corresponding presets.

The default installation of Sequoia only installs a small selection of presets and impulse responses for the room simulator. You can get the rest of the presets and impulse responses by installing additional content via menu Help > Download instruments and sounds....

The presets contain both the parameter settings of the dialog and the reference to a specific impulse response. The impulse response can be any sample, supplied impulse responses have the file extension **\*.IMR**.



#### Impulse Response:

File: Initially, the impulse response defined in the selected preset is selected here. From the menu you can select another impulse response from the folder of the loaded bank.

To select the audio files opened in the program here as the impulse response, select the preset bank **Loaded projects**.

At **Info** you get information about the length of the impulse response and whether it is in mono or stereo.

■ With the button **Play** the impulse response is played.

- With **Load** any wave file can be loaded for use as impulse response.
- **3 View dB lin./log.**: The graphic display with the impulse response has linear amplitude scaling. This settings corresponds to the common display of samples. The representation in logarithmic amplitude scaling corresponds to the human loudness perception.
- Freehand envelope: The amplitude curve of the impulse response can be edited by drawing the yellow freehand envelope into the graphic with the mouse. You can use this to attenuate or cancel individual early reflections of the impulse response. With the zoom controls (Min, Max, +, -) you can zoom into the time course of the impulse response to find problematic reflections and edit them exactly. By clicking on the Reset Freehand Envelope button you can reset the yellow envelope curve.
- **5 Pre-Delay**: The **Pre-Delay** value delays the entire impulse response by a period of 1ms to 100 ms.
- 6 Convert I. R. to Mono: If you select the Convert I.A. to Mono option, stereo impulse responses will be converted to mono. The convolution is calculated in stereo in the surround case in n channels corresponding to the number of group channels.
- Calculate mono: If active, the entire reverb is calculated in mono only, which reduces the required computing power. The input signal and the impulse response, if stereo, are converted to mono before convolution. For surround application, all channels of the group are summed to a mono signal.

#### 8 Envelope I.R./Equalizer:

Use these controls to influence the duration and sound of the reverb by editing the impulse response.

**Envelope I.A.**: The envelope of the impulse response (light blue curve in the graphic) allows to fade in and out the impulse response. The edits made by the envelope are shown in the graph of the impulse response (red curve).

- By fading in the impulse response you influence the proportion of early reflections in the reverb signal, Env. Time defines the length of the early reflections, Early Refl. defines how much of it is faded in.
- At Late rev. you can fade out the reverberation by fading out the end of the impulse response. With Length you can reduce the duration of the Hall effect by shortening the impulse response. This will be cut off, so that an unnatural decay can occur, therefore combine the shortening with the fading by the parameter Late Rev.

#### Equalizer:

- **Low**: Using this parameter you can adjust the low frequency component of the reverb.
- **High**: Using this parameter, you can adjust the high frequency component of the reverb.
- **FFT-EQ**: The reverb signal can be post-processed with an additional **FFT filter** (*1*/287).
- 9 Mix/Out: With these sliders you adjust the mixing ratio of the Dry and Wet signals as well as with Out the overall level.

**Wet/I/O**: The level meters show the generated reverb signal (Wet) as well as the input and output signal level. **Reset** resets the markings of the highest levels of the level indicators.

**Parameter Presets**: Here you can select, save, load and delete presets, which are composed of the parameters for the envelopes, frequency response and mix. The presets can thus be combined with different impulse responses.

#### **(**

**Performance/Options**: Room simulation by convolution is relatively computationally expensive. With the settings at **Performance Options** you can set different qualities for the effect with different levels of computing effort.

Quality: In the two modes Normal and Normal Advanced the room simulation is only calculated with half the sampling rate. In most cases this will be quite enough, since natural impulse responses and even impulse responses generated by digital reverb devices rarely posses components above 10 kHz (you can check this in the spectral representation of the integrated FFT Filter). The two Normal modes differ in the quality of the resampling applied, with the resampling quality applied in the "Normal/Advanced" mode being higher. The required calculation performance is slightly raised in this mode.

In the **High** mode, the entire frequency scale will be calculated. The CPU load doubles in comparison to the **Normal** mode.

Block length: This parameter determines the block length used for calculation. Short block lengths raises the number of the required calculation operations causing CPU load to increase. Long blocks lead to irregular CPU loads. The parameter has no effect on the calculation results. The Opt. Latency settings adjusts the internal block length in such a way as to keep the latency as low as possible without influencing the performance too much. The Opt. performance setting sets the internal block length so that the performance is as good as possible without letting the latency become too large.

**Note**: It doesn't make sense to set a value smaller than the set ASIO buffer size. If the value corresponds to the ASIO buffer size, the room simulator processing is latency-free with the "high quality" setting.

Get/Set Settings: This allows you to save and load quality options. When you have found a fitting setting, click on Set. This saves the setting. If you want to reload the saved setting, click the button Get.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

#### Tips and tricks

By applying effects to the impulse response you can influence the reverb character in many ways beyond the possibilities offered by the room simulator:

- If you apply menu **Effects** > **Sample manipulation** > **Reverse** to an impulse response, you get a reverse reverb.
- The application of time-stretching ( $\sqrt{2}$ 312) to the impulse response allows the room size to be changed without altering the resonant behavior of the room.
- Apply an pulse-like decaying envelope to any shorter samples and use the result as an impulse response - this creates the most exotic reverb effects.
- Interesting reverb sounds are also created when you use samples of percussion instruments as impulse responses.
- Via Menu Object > Impulse response extraction... (7632) you open an assistant that supports you in creating your own impulse responses for use in the room simulator.

## Reverse

In offline editing, this function reverses the sample's data in the wave project within the selected range along the timeline so that it plays from back to front. For objects, this is equivalent to setting the **Backwards** option in the **Fades** view of the Object Editor.



A Note that when using it in the object, some functions (Musical Tempo Adjustment, AudioWarping, Elastic Audio, Melodyne) are no longer available.

# **Resampling/Timestretching/Pitchshifting**

In this dialog, under Algorithm, some advanced settings can be made for the Timestretching/Pitchshifting in objects (199) as well as the settings when applying this effect offline.



Algorithm:

- Resample: Samplers and PCM synthesizers use this method when transposing samples. Time factor and pitch are dependent upon each other: the shorter the audio material, the higher the pitch and vice versa. The effect is comparable with changing the playback speed on record players or tape recorders.
  - ▲ By default, resampling is used for objects created when you load audio files whose sample rate differs from the project sample rate. Once objects are resampled in real time, some other effects cannot be applied. Read the notes at Audio files with different sample rate (*P*677)
- élastique Pro/élastique Efficient: This Élastique algorithm, licensed from the zPlane company, is the default algorithm for timestretching and pitchshifting. If the CPU load threatens to become too high due to the real-time use of élastique Pro, you could reduce the computing load by using élastique Efficient, at the price of lower sound quality.
- Monophonic Voice: This is a special timestretching and pitchshifting for monophonic vocals, speech or solo instruments. The audio material should not contain any background noise, even strong reverb can reduce the quality.

**Correction formant factor**: (not with algorithm élastique Efficient) With this option, the formants that determine the basic character of a voice are preserved during pitch changes. However, the formants can also be shifted by +/- 12 semitones to achieve intentional voice alterations.

**Use stereo M/S mode**: (only with élastique algorithm) With this option the audio signal is interpreted as M/S signal, that is, the left channel is processed as center signal and the right channel as side signal. This may give you better results with stereo signals. To convert to an M/S signal use the MS <-> LR option in the stereo editor (7521) of the object.

The parameters **Time factor** and **Pitch (semitones)** are used to set pitch and tempo changes.

-ġ- In Pitchshift/Timestretch mouse mode (↗74), these parameters can be set directly on the object using the handles.

In the area **Time factor calculation** you can calculate the required time factor from the original length and original tempo as well as the desired new length or tempo. Unlike the parameters in the object editor, the length is specified here as the resulting length and not as a change in length.

With **OK** you apply the effect offline, for objects the settings are transferred to the object editor.

# Change Sample Rate (offline)

The effect processing is done destructively as an offline effect in the audio file of an object. See Applying effects offline (↗237)

This feature lets you change the sample rate of an audio file. This process is also called "Resampling".

Resampling changes the number of recorded samples per second. If the sample rate is increased, the change is made almost completely without loss. Extra samples are interpolated and the file size increases. When changing to a lower sample rate, some samples are removed and the file size decreases. This results in a loss of overtones.

Change Sample Rate			×
New Sample Rate 44100 O <u>9</u> 6 kHz O 48 kHz	Phase settings <ul> <li>Linear phase</li> <li>Intermediate phase</li> </ul>	Maintains optimal phase stability for the entire frequency range. The impulse fidelity of transients may vary due to pre-/post-ringing.	Help
● <u>4</u> 4.1 kHz ○ <u>3</u> 2 kHz ○ <u>2</u> 2.05 kHz	O Minimum phase		Ok Cancel

For the phase setting, you can choose between **Linear Phase**, **Intermediate Phase** and **Minimum Phase**. For most use cases, the **Intermediate** setting delivers best results. When you want to have a better preservation of the phases of the audio at all frequencies, you can chose **Linear**, for the price of the introduction of pre-/post-ringing at the transients. With the setting **Minimal** the transients are best preserved, but then the fluctuations of the phases in the lower frequencies are larger.

**Note**: Sample rate adjustment can also take place during recording or playback, for example during object resampling, when using audio files with a sample rate different from the project sample rate, or when using Varipitch (*№*89). You set the quality of the resampling used in this process in the System settings > Resampling quality options... (*№*748).

## sMax11



The Maximizer **sMax11** is a hard (brickwall) limiter with input gain that allows you to increase the loudness of your audio signal. Specify an input gain (**Gain In**), the signal will be amplified by this level. At the same time, the sMax11 ensures that the signal does not exceed the output level (**Gain Out**). With the parameters **Mode** and **Release** time you can, depending on the audio material, influence the necessary control processes.

**Gain In**: This value specifies how much the signal should be increased (maximal). **Reset (Gain In)**: Resets the "Gain-in" parameter.

Gain Out: Maximum output level. Reset (Gain Out): Resets the "Gain-out" parameter.

**Link**: Gain In and Out are coupled, i.e. the Gain Out is reduced by the same value as the Gain In value is increased. For example, with the Link option turned on, you can increase the gain-in without increasing the output volume. This makes it easier to recognize distortions that appear as a result of a gain-in value set too high.

**Release**: Time span until the effect processing of the signal is completely withdrawn in milliseconds.

**Mode**: Control behavior of the effect. Select the mode most appropriate for your application:

**Balanced**: Lowest level of distortion with transparent sound, robust to use. Appropriate for example for speech recordings.

- **Fast**: Addresses slightly faster than "Balanced". The mode corresponds to the behavior of the hard limiter in the Advanced Dynamics compressor.
- **Aggressive**: Very short attack time, suitable for especially sharp transients for this reason. For signals with dominant percussive components, the hardness of the beats is preserved. Distortions are masked by the beat.
- **Hard clipper**: In this mode the regulation is switched off. Level peaks are simply cut off, which can lead to strong distortions. This mode is appropriate for example to accentuate the transients of individual beats even stronger.

Displays:

- Mod.: Modification of the signal in dB. This does not take the input gain component into account. Only the level of processing necessary to intercept the level peaks is shown.
- **In/Out**: The peak meters show the input and output level in dB. **Reset** resets the peak meters.

**True Peak** : As the level above which the signal is considered overdriven (clip), you can also select the maximum peak level (Maximum True Peak Level), which you set in the loudness adjustment ( $\mathbb{A}^{292}$ ). When limiting the signal, inter-sample peaks are then also taken into account to prevent distortion during D/A conversion at the analog output.

Instructions:

- 1. First, turn on the **Link** option. This way, volume will stay constant and you can better compare your changes.
- 2. Now, raise the input amplification **Gain In** until the sound changes become unacceptable.
- 3. Now turn down the **Gain In** a little bit.
- 4. You can also minimize distortions by raising the **Release** time. However, this will reduce the compression effect and the increase in loudness.
- 5. Switch **Bypass** on once in a while.
- 6. When you have found the optimal setting, turn off the Link option and set the Out Gain to 0 dB.

# **Spectral Cleaning**

With Spectral Cleaning you can remove distortions (like coughing, whistling, or singular claps) from a recording without influencing the wanted signal.



(i) The effect processing is done destructively as an offline effect in the audio file of an object. See Applying effects offline (*P*237)

The music is represented in the Spectral Cleaning Editor by a spectrogram. This displays the frequency proportions in a time curve. The volume of frequencies is visualized via a color code or via its brightness.



Audible distortion that is louder than the desired signal are usually limited to a certain frequency spectrum. They are highlighted with colors in the spectrogram. A sustained tone is represented by a pattern of horizontal lines corresponding to the tonal components and overtones of the tone. You will recognize a pulse-like disturbance as a vertical peak.

In Spectral Cleaning, you mark disturbances in the frequency spectrum with the drawing tool to remove them. To avoid an audible gap, components of the original frequency spectrum that have been removed are supplemented from the signal that surrounds the interference.



Spectral Cleaning is suitable for the removal of short, impulsive noises, such as crackling, coughing or short drop-outs. To eliminate permanent noise such as humming or static, please use the DeHisser (\$\nothermole261)\$ or the DeNoiser (\$\nothermole264)\$.

## Operation

1. Select the object and place the play cursor approximately at the location of the disturbance. Then open the Spectral Cleaning Editor via the menu **Effects** > **Restoration**.

2. Select the drawing tool. The mouse pointer will turn into a pen icon. Then mark the interference by selecting a rectangle around the interference signal. You can also highlight and remove multiple interferences in the editing window.

You can change the selection with the handles on the frame. The Selection tool and the Drawing tool can be used to move a selection. With the **Alt** key held down, it can only be moved horizontally (time), with the **Shift** key held down, it can only be moved vertically (frequency).

Use the keyboard shortcuts **Ctrl + X**, **Ctrl + C** and **Ctrl + V** to cut, copy and paste markings. This only copies the settings of the rectangle, and not any audio material.

Double-clicking on a marking expands it vertically to cover the entire frequency spectrum.

- **3.** If you set the cursor in front of the selected distortions and press **Play**, you will hear the result of the noise removal in the preview function.
- 4. Three buttons are displayed at each marking after the marking is selected:
  - Delete: If you click this button, the marking will be removed.
  - **Original**: With the flash button you can display the original signal containing the
  - B disturbance for comparison purposes.

**Bypass (B)**: Once you have drawn in the selection, you can already monitor the results of noise removal during playback. If, however, you do press the "Bypass" button, you will continue to hear the original signal.

- 5. Sometimes it will also be necessary to modify the effect parameters (see below under "Editing Modes").
- 6. When you are satisfied with the result, click the **Calculate** button. The editing is included in the audio material.

There are a number of keyboard shortcuts for navigation and playback, you can also use them to save and load custom zoom levels. For a list, open Program Settings > Keyboard, Menu, and Mouse > Spectral Cleaning Shortcuts.

## Toolbar

Assign a tool to the left and right mouse buttons by left-clicking or right-clicking the button. The tool for the left mouse button is displayed in blue and the right mouse button in red.



**1** Selector

tool

This tool allows you to modify existing selection frames. The selection size can be adjusted at the edges, and by dragging in the center it can be moved as a whole.

- **2** Drawing With this tool you can create new selection frames and also change the tool selection size and position the selection frame.
- **3** Navigation If you are working at a high zoom level so that you cannot see the entire tool contents of the selected object, use this tool to move the displayed window section.



**2 Zoom tool** Zoom into the display with this tool by left-clicking. Click and drag to select a zoom area.

## **Editing Modes**

With the **Mode** setting you can specify how you want to remove the distortion. All marked disturbances are processed with the selected mode depending on the **Intensity** controller.

- Crossfade: In this preset mode, the noise is replaced by the areas immediately adjacent to the marking.
- Crossfade (hard): This mode behaves like "Crossfade", but its effect is somewhat stronger. Thus, more severe disturbances can be better suppressed. It is especially important to mark the interference precisely when doing this.
- **Crossfade (from left)/(from right)**: In this mode, the noise is replaced only by the area immediately adjacent to the left or right of the marking.
- **Gap:** This mode is especially useful for very short dropouts.
- Damping: This mode dampens the selected noise. The surrounding audio material is not included. In this way no artifacts will be created, but there may be unexpected silence or even a drop-out. Use this mode only when the noise is present in a very narrow frequency range or when the surrounding signal is very quiet.
- **Fade In**: This mode is similar to the "Damping" mode. The signal will not, however, be uniformly dampened, but rather faded in. This means that frequency-selective fade-ins can be created.
- **Fade out**: In this mode, the marked interference signal is faded out over time. Use "Fade out" e.g. in case of disturbances at the end of a song.

**Intensity**: With this parameter you can adjust the strength of the processing.

**(i)** Note: The "Mode" and "Intensity" settings can be set individually for each marking. Select multiple markings (click with held **Ctrl** key) to change them for these markings together.

**Resolution**: Determines the resolution of the applied FFT (Fast Fourier Transformation). Lower values often produce a more effective removal of the disturbance, but also result in more tonal artifacts. They are also suitable for short interferences with powerful transients, such as clicks.

Higher values are recommended for longer noises such as coughs etc. For optimal results first try editing an area with a low resolution, remove a transient part and then eliminate the rest of it with a higher resolution.

**(i)** Note: The setting **Resolution** applies to all edits and cannot be customized for each selection.

**Gain**: This allows you to apply a level boost to compensate for a drop in volume caused by the interpolation. This is particularly suitable for removing gaps when editing multitrack recordings.

**Threshold**: With this setting you can limit interpolation to certain amplitudes in the spectrum. Thus, louder disturbances can be removed from the spectrum without affecting background noise.

**i** Note: This function will only be effective with a set **Range** and should be used in the editing mode **Damping** where possible.

**Range**: The range defines the volume window in which the interpolation is performed around the set **threshold value**. Quieter or louder signal components outside this range will not be affected.

**Channel left/right**: These buttons show you the corresponding channel in the spectrogram. If the interference only affects one channel, you can switch off the other channels leaving them unaffected.

**Track selection**: If you have selected several objects from different tracks, determine here for which track the calculation should be performed.

**Note**: To be able to perform a multiple selection, please make sure that the selected objects are of the same length and have the same start time.

**Single, Group, All**: With these options you determine whether the calculation should be applied only to the selected single track, to all objects of a group or to all tracks.

## **Click Marker**

Use the **click marker** buttons to mark specific locations with click markers and quickly jump to different markers in the spectrogram.



1 This allows you to set new click markers. Click markers appear as a "C" in the marker bar of the edit window.

- With jump to the following marker (keyboard shortcut: +) and jump to the preceding marker (keyboard shortcut: -)you can quickly navigate between the markers in the spectrogram. If you only want to consider click markers, but not existing audio or project markers, additionally hold down the Ctrl key while clicking.
- **3** Use the button **Apply marking to all click markers** to copy the current selection frame to all positions where there is a click marker. This allows you to use the settings of the current marking on all click marker positions.
- 4 This allows you to delete a click marker at the play cursor position.
- **5** With the button **Automatically set click markers** you can search for clicks in the entire project and have them marked automatically. Use the slider to set the sensitivity of the search.
  - ☆ The project markers are also displayed on the marker bar of the editing window. You can therefore mark conspicuous places in the project window before you open the Spectral Cleaning dialog. To convert a project marker into a click marker in the spectrogram, click the corresponding marker in the Spectral Cleaning marker bar and click the **Set Click Marker** button.

## Harmonics

This function allows you to remove individual noises, e.g. 50 Hz hum together with their harmonic overtones. To do this, select a single tone in the editing window with as little margin as possible. If the calculation for harmonics is activated, the corresponding harmonics are automatically provided with an editing rectangle above the selected fundamental in the editing window.

Changing the root always leads to a change in the harmonics. In the settings dialog you can determine whether or not harmonics should be observed during calculation and if so, which ones in particular.

Using the option **Continued harmonics** it is even possible to have the harmonics above the 32nd harmonic removed as well.

#### **Effects**

Process harmor	lics	Mode: Intensity (%): Threshold (df): Channet: V Crostisk 1000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0
Inten	sity (%)	
Even	Odd	
32 🗌 100.0	31 🗌 100.0	
30 🗌 100.0	29 🗌 100.0	
28 🗌 100.0	27 🗌 100.0	
26 🗌 100.0	25 🗌 100.0	
24 🗌 100.0	23 🗌 100.0	
22 🗌 100.0	21 🗌 100.0	Stop Eley Eley Loop Play Inverse Est. Options D.Crindle Copy Culculate Cancel Scip
20 🗌 100.0	<b>19</b> 100.0	
18 🗌 100.0	17 🗌 100.0	
16 🗌 100.0	<b>15</b> 🗌 100.0	
14 🗌 100.0	13 🗌 100.0	
12 🗌 100.0	11 🗌 100.0	
10 🗌 100.0	09 🗌 100.0	
08 🗌 100.0	07 🗌 100.0	
06 🗌 100.0	05 🗌 100.0	
04 🗾 100.0	03 📕 100.0	
02 📕 100.0	01 100.0	
Fundamental frequency (Hz): 150.5		
Bandwidth: 🤍 👄 Ab:	solute 🛛 🧖 Relative	
Continued barm	onics	
Uniformed inten	sitv	
Process betwee	n harmonics	

Process harmonics: If active, the harmonics are included in the editing.

**Intensity (%):** Customized selection of which harmonics are to be observed during calculation. For each harmonic, you can specify the strength to be used. You can adjust the settings for the root (1 harmonic) to up to 32 harmonics. In addition you can use the "Continued harmonics" option to include harmonics in the calculation.

Even/Odd: Selection of even and odd harmonics.

**Fundamental frequency**: This displays the fundamental frequency of the bottom most selection in the editing window and can be changed by entering a value or by moving it in the editing window.

**Bandwidth absolute/relative**: With the setting **Absolute** the height, i.e. the frequency range of the harmonics is equal to that of the selected fundamental. At **Relative**, the frequency range increases at the higher frequency harmonics to better capture the acoustically relevant areas.

**Continued harmonics:** With this option any harmonics above 32 harmonics are included in the calculation with a linear dropping curve in order to achieve a thorough removal of all possible harmonics.

**Uniform intensity**: This means that the level set for 1 harmonic is also used for all other harmonics.

**Process between harmonics:** If you activate this option, Spectral Cleaning will treat the areas between harmonics. If you deactivate one or more harmonics, their ranges will be processed up to the next active harmonics.

### Scale options

Here you can make settings for the display.

**Color scheme**: Select a color scheme for display here.

**Show Grid** shades the display of the grid in the spectrogram.

**Frequency scaling**: Here you can switch the spectrum display from linear to logarithmic. This is recommend for editing low frequency ranges. This results in the low frequencies being triggered higher up whilst still displaying the entire frequency spectrum. With **Zoom** the influence of the logarithmic display can be adjusted even more precisely to your individual needs.

**i** Note: Frequency scaling can be switched between linear and logarithmic using a button in the editing window.

**Display resolution:** This setting allows you to display the spectrogram with a different resolution, thus achieving either a better temporal or a better spectral resolution for the selection of the contained interferences.

**(i)** Note: The calculation is performed independently of the selected display resolution.

**Contrast, Brightness:** Adjust contrast and brightness of the spectral display, e.g. to make very quiet audio material more visible.

## **Playback Section**

At the bottom of the editing window are controls for playback control, offline effect calculation, and undo.

- **Stop**: Stops playback (keyboard shortcut: **space**)
- **Play**: Plays from the play marker position (keyboard shortcut: **space**)
- **Solo**: Plays the track to be edited solo (keyboard shortcut: S)
- **Loop**: Repeats playback within a selected range (keyboard shortcut: **L**)
- Play Inverse: Plays the difference signal i.e. the removed sound components (keyboard shortcut: ()

- **Mixer**: Opens the mixer (keyboard shortcut: **M**)
- **Ext. options**: Opens the settings dialog for offline effect calculation
- **Create copy**: Creates a copy of the existing file during calculation as a prerequisite for a later undo in the virtual project.
- **Calculate**: Executes the calculation and closes the dialog (keyboard shortcut: **Enter** key)
- With the option Leave dialog open you can keep the dialog open after the calculation and make further edits on the same object. In this case you can use the arrow buttons next to Calculate to undo and redo the calculations.



## Vocoder

The vocoder works as follows: Carrier material (e.g. a string instrument pad or synth chord) is affected by a modulator (e.g. language or singing) to give the impression that the pad sound is "speaking" or "singing". Additionally, rhythmic pads can be created by modulating an area with a drum loop.

This works by transmitting the modulator's frequency characteristics (language) to the carrier (chord).

A vocoder thus always has two inputs and one output. Since **Sequoia** effects usually have only one input, the carrier signal is obtained within the effect, continuously mixable from white noise and any wave file. However, it is also possible to use the signal of another track as a carrier via the **sidechain** function. In addition, carrier and modulator can be swapped, using the input
signal of the vocoder effect as carrier and the sidechain signal as modulator. Finally, it is also possible without sidechain by using one stereo channel of the input signal as a carrier and the other as a modulator.

The Vocoder also offers a real-time FFT filter for editing of the Vocoder signal.

#### **Filter Curves**

The yellow line corresponds to the frequency response of the modulator, the light blue line represents the carrier signal. The red line is a freely drawable FFT filter (287). You can draw in the frequency response to optimize the results of the vocoder. The dark blue line is the resulting filter curve of the vocoder.

**Reset**: This button resets the red filter curve to its initial state.

#### **Dynamic Filter**

**Timing (Release):** Affects the speed of the dynamic filter adjustment to the modulator spectrum. As the release value increases, the Vocoder follows the modulator slower and slower, and the sound changes sound softer and feature more reverb in the carrier. To improve the clarity of spoken words, this parameter should be set to a low value.

**Dynamic (Reduction)**: This parameter affects the dynamics of the modulator signal for reducing the modulation depth of the dynamic filter.

This prevents two often undesired side effects of modulation. On the one hand the volume change of the modulator signal is added to the output signal in a slightly more moderate form, which may improve the power of the vocoder voice. On the other hand, the low-level portions of the modulator signal are ignored in order to prevent modulation of the carrier by breathing or noise.

As an alternative to using dynamic reduction directly in the vocoder, it is possible to adjust the signal dynamics of the modulator signal or the resulting signal using the dynamic tools integrated in **Sequoia**.

**Resolution (filter bands)**: Dynamic filter resolution (approximately dependant upon the number of filter bands). The best results are achieved with medium to high resolution.

**Pitch (Filter shift):** The dynamic filter of the Vocoder shifts the frequency up or down to create certain pitch effects. For the clearest speech results, it is recommended not to change this parameter.

**Formant**: Stretches the dynamic filter curves to manipulate the formants. This changes the characteristics of the Vocoder voice.

**Overlapping:** This internal parameter changes the overlapping of the time window for the modulator signal spectrum calculation. On the "low" setting, the Vocoder sounds softer and more melodic, but some of the clarity of speech may be lost.

#### **Carrier signal**

**Sample selection list**: The desired carrier signal can be selected here. All open audio files appear in the selection list, as well as special carrier samples loaded from the "Vocoder" folder. Preferred carrier samples consist of material with even frequencies e.g. orchestral chords, broad synthesizer sweeps, sound of the wind, etc.

**Sidechain**: The sidechain option is available for the vocoder when you operate the effect as a track or master effect and the track is not a surround master.

**Sample (dB)**: This fader adjusts the proportion of the carrier sample.

**Noise (dB)**: This slider allows white noise to be mixed into the carrier. This is above all useful if the carrier material can't be modulated well or sounds too uneven. Whispering voices can also be produced in this fashion.

Volume (dB): Adjusts the vocoder output level.

#### Options

**Modulator <=> Carrier**: Swaps modulator and carrier signals. This is particularly useful if the "stereo channel as carrier" option is used.

**Stereo channel as carrier**: If this option is active, the sample from the selection list is no longer used as the carrier signal, but a channel of the input signal. The other channel will continue acting as a modulator.

**Bypass**: This allows you to temporarily disable the effect in order to compare the unprocessed signal with the processed signal.

## MANAGER

The managers combine frequently required management and control functions, for example for markers, objects or tracks, in one window.

Managers can be opened within the Docker, but can also be displayed as separate windows. Multiple managers in various different views can be opened simultaneously and independently of one another.

You can open the Docker providing quick access to all managers and other windows via menu **View** > **Manager/Docker**; you can also access individual managers via the **Manager** submenu below.

The following manager windows are available:	

Manager	Keyboard shortcut
ClipStore	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + C
File Manager	Ctrl + Shift + B
Object Manager	Ctrl + Shift + O
Track Manager	Ctrl + Shift + S
Marker Manager	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + M
Range Manager	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + B
Take Manager	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + T
Source Manager	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + S
VST Instruments Manager	Ctrl + Shift + I
Routing Manager	Ctrl + Shift + Alt + R
Soundpool Manager	
Info manager	

### Clip Manager ("Clipstore")

**Sequoia** contains a Clip Manager in which all audio files of all loaded projects are displayed together with "clips" from these projects in a common list for cross-project use.

A clip is a selection of single or multiple objects or a range selection from a project that can be stored in the Clipstore for further use in the same or other projects.

You can think of it as an extensive functional extension of the clipboard. After you have copied parts of a project to the clipboard (or in **Sequoia** briefly called "Clip") with Ctrl+C, you can now (but only now!) paste them into the same or another open project. The next copy operation overwrites the clipboard and the old clip is no longer available. In the Clipstore you can keep such copied project components and save them together with the project. Even project independent Clip Lists can be saved and loaded as Clipstore presets.

Note: Technically, the clips are small stand-alone project files. They are stored in the ClipStore subfolder next to the project from which they originate. As a project, a clip contains not only the reference to the audio files but also all other object-related settings (effects, fades, timestretching, etc.) as well as volume and panorama automation.

To display the Clip Manager, choose **View** > **Manager** > **Clipstore** or keyboard shortcut **Ctrl** + **Shift** + **Alt** + **C**. The manager opens either as a separate window or in the Docker (254).

			👛 🗄 🚉 📃	00	🝸 🔹 🗄 💐 🛃 manual sort	÷
Type	Name	orig.Position Length	Date	Sampler	Directory	Object names
1.	01Drums+Perc flac	150:01:206	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\01Drums+Perc.flac	
10	02Bass flac	150:01:206	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\Sequo\02Bassflac	
1	03Guitars flac	150:01:206	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\Seq\03Guitars.flac	
10	04Vocals flac	117:00:177	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\Seq\04Vocalsflac	
14	05BgVocals flac	100:02:118	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\S\05BgVocals.flac	
10	06SFX.flac	002:01:088	08.11.2018 08:49:32	44100 Hz C:\Program	nData\MAGIX\Sequoi\06SFX.flac	

### **Creating Clips**

To create clips in the clip list, you can:

- Select single or multiple objects or a range in the project and drag and drop them from the project window into the clipstore or
- Select single or multiple objects, or select a range across one or more tracks in the project, and use menu Edit > Copy > Copy to ClipStore (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + C) or Cut to ClipStore (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + X).

You can now name the clip. The default is the name of the object. If multiple objects were selected, you can create individual clips for each selected object if the option **Create one clip for each selected object** is enabled, otherwise a clip with multiple objects (folder clip) is inserted. A folder clip is always created from a selected range over several tracks.

-\overline{characteristics -\overline{characteristics} - \overline{characteristics} - Enable the Insert new clips at list start option in the Clipstore Options so that new clips are always sorted at the top of the clip list.

If a folder is selected in the clip list, the new clips are created in that folder. The clips are saved together with the project and are shown again in the clipstore when the project is reopened.

### Importing Audio Files into the Clipstore

If you want to import audio files into your project but are not yet sure exactly how and where you want to use them, you can also use the clipstore as a collection of materials by first collecting the audio files in the clipstore and then loading them into the project from there later. To load audio files into the Clipstore, you can:

- Drag & drop files from the Windows Explorer or Sequoia File Manager on the Clipstore tab or directly into the clip list.
- select the files in the Windows Explorer or the Sequoia File manager, copy them with
   Ctrl + C and right-click in the clip list and select Paste files from clipboard.
- In the dialog Load audio file... in the menu File > Import activate the option Load files only to the clipstore, then the files are not loaded into the project, but only into the clip list. Also if you open an entry from a database connected to Sequoia such as DigaSystem using drag & drop, the selected file will only appear in the Clip list, not the current project.

### **Display of the Clip List**

The clip list contains:

- The audio files of all open projects,
- other audio files that have been imported into the clipstore and
- the clips created by copying (♥328) from a project or loaded via clipstore presetSave and load the Clip List as Clipstore Preset (♥335)

A star in the **Type** column in front of the name indicates that the audio file is used in the current project. The label **Clip** in the column **Type** shows that it is a clip.

Colored entries in the clipstore belong to the current project. This means that they are either audio files referenced by the current project or imported into the clipstore, or clips generated from this project. Entries that are not highlighted belong to other projects that are open at the same time or are audio files opened independently of the projects.

These clipstore elements assigned to the active project are saved with the project and are available again in the clipstore the next time you open it. To assign a clip from the list from another open project to the active project, right-click on an entry and select **Assign selected clips to current VIP**. As a clip can only ever be assigned to one project, a copy of the clip is created.

Clips containing multiple objects can be expanded by clicking the **+** icon in front of the clip name or by pressing **Ctrl + Enter** to display the individual objects.

To view the file location of each item in the Clip List, select **Show Clip in File Browser** from the item's context menu. The **Sequoia** file manager opens and the file is displayed.

**Folders** can also be created in the clipstore for a better overview. To do so, right-click in the manager and select **Add new folder...** Specify a name for the folder and confirm with **OK**. You can now move clip list entries to this folder using the mouse. With the small **+/-** symbol in front of a folder you can open and close it. Folders in the Clipstore are saved and loaded together with your project.

### **Filtering the Clip List**

To find files or clips in the Clip List faster, it can be filtered in various ways.

#### **Clipstore Options**

In the upper part of the **Options** menu in the manager toolbar, there are several options to hide certain types of entries in the Clip List:

💛 🗹 manual sort	<u>s</u>	
A	ut	Show only clips of current project
		Hide wave files used in active project
		Always hide wave files

- Show only clips from the current project: All entries that are not highlighted in color, i.e. files from projects other than the current project, are hidden.
- Hide wave files used in the active project: The audio files used in the active project (those marked with \*) are hidden. This means that only unused audio files in the active project and files from other loaded projects are displayed.
- **Always hide wave files**: Audio files are generally hidden and only clips are displayed.

#### **Search Feature**

To search the list for entries, enter their names fully or in part into the ClipStore toolbar query field and click the magnifying glass symbol.

The Clip List then only displays clips or audio files that contain the search term in the file or clip name. To find the file associated with a clip on the hard disk, right-click on the clip and select the entry **Show clip in file browser** in the context menu. The file manager is opened (if necessary) in the path of the file and the file is selected.

#### Tags

Clipstore entries can be provided with "tags" (keywords), according to which the clips and audio files can be categorized. The list can then be filtered by these tags.

To add a tag, double-click in the **tags** column in the list and enter the name. You can also enter multiple tags. Since tags can also contain spaces, use a semicolon (;) as separator.

**i** If the column **Tags** is not displayed, right-click on the list header and select **Tags**.

You can now assign the tag to any other list item by selecting an entry and choosing the corresponding tag from the submenu in the context menu item **Add tag**. Any number of tags can be assigned to a clip.

With the **Edit tag list...** context menu item of the clip list, you can create, edit and remove tags in a separate dialog.

Drums Bass	Add
Guitars Vocals	Edit
SFX	Delete

The list can also be sorted by tags by clicking on the **tags** column header.

$\mathbb{Y}$	- 🕂 🔻 🗹	manua	B fi
	Drums	N	Т
Data∖	Bass	3	1
Data∖	0033		n
Data∖	Guitars		
Data∖	Vocals		
Data∖	SEX		
Data \			
	Reset		

By clicking on the Filter icon in the Clip Manager toolbar, you can filter the list by a specific tag.

To set the tag, click on the small triangle and select the tag from the menu.

### Sorting the Clip List

By clicking a property in the list header, you can sort the clips in ascending or descending order by the property you clicked. Any previous manual sorting is lost in the process.



If the **Manual sorting** option is active in the clipstore toolbar, you can sort the entries in the list manually, i.e. you can move clips to the desired position with the mouse. Or you can use the arrow symbol buttons to move selected entries up or down in the list.



Moving selected clips with the arrow keys enables, sorting by property in the list header disables the **Manual sorting** option.

### **Play Clips**



A selected entry can be played back using the playback button on the ClipStore toolbar. If the "Auto play" button (lock symbol) is activated, all selected list entries will be immediately played back. This way it is possible to go through the file list using the arrow keys and listen to each file immediately. You can stop playback by clicking on the playback button again.

By clicking in the waveform preview you can jump to a specific location in longer files.

To minimize the loading time at playback start, you can preload all clips in the clipstore using the **Preload All Clips option** in the Options menu to start them without delay. Also the Clip List entries that are not yet part of a project are also opened in the background for this.

**(i) Note**: Playback is not routed through the Mixer or internal effects. The audio device selected under **Global playback device** in the **playback parameters** (keyboard shortcut: **P**) is used for playback.

### Insert audio files and clips into projects

To insert clip list elements into a project, you have several options:

- Select entries and drag them from the Clip Manager into the project at the desired position.
- To insert clips at the playback marker position, select them in the clipstore and choose Menu Edit > Insert > Insert from Clipstore (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + V). Single selected clips can be inserted by double-clicking or by pressing the Enter key (only when the Clip Manager is in focus).
- Right-click on the clip in the Clip Manager > Load clip into project or Insert clip at play cursor position.



**i Tip:** When inserting multiple entries, you should sort the entries in the Clip List beforehand, because by default the list order determines the order of insertion.

If a multitrack clip contains more tracks than exist in the project below the track on which it is to be inserted, you can optionally either create additional tracks or insert only as many tracks of the clip as the project can accommodate.

If the clip contains track automations, you can specify when loading whether the automations should be transferred to the track, discarded or merged with existing track automations:

- Select **Replace Automation** to load automation from the clip. An existing automation on the tracks will be overwritten.
- Select Keep Automation to not load the automation of the clip. Existing automation is retained.
- Select Merge Automation to combine the automation of the clip and the track.

More options for positioning in the project can be found in the **Load Options** in the Settings menu (gear icon on the Clipstore toolbar).

Loading options for audio files and virtual clips     ① Use Clipstore order     ① Load in alphabetical order     ① Use sync positions (timestamp) of waves or clips	
<ul> <li>Loading options for audio files only</li> <li>Load files to the selected track (in a row)</li> <li>Load files to different tracks (one below the other)</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Load L&amp;R files as stereo</li> <li>Automatically group loaded objects</li> <li>Load multichannel files into a folder track</li> </ul>	

**Use Clipstore order:** Audio files and clips are arranged in the order of the clip list.

**Load in alphabetical order:** The selected files are sorted alphabetically in the VIP. For clips, the clip name is relevant.

**Use sync positions (timestamp) of waves or clips**: Broadcast wave files containing timestamps are positioned precisely at this position in the VIP. Clips are loaded at the same time position from which they were copied.

**Load all files to selected track**: The selected files are loaded successively in one of the selected tracks.

**Load files one below the other**: The files are now sorted in vertical order from the selected track to the next one. If necessary, an additional track is added.

**Automatically load L&R files as stereo**: Mono files with the extensions \_L/\_R can be loaded into a stereo object with this option, see Stereo objectsStereo Objects (*7*170).

**Automatically group loaded objects**: All loaded files are grouped. They can be ungrouped at any time.

**Load multichannel files into a folder track:** This option is activated by default. When loading multi-channel files (i.e. files with more than two channels), it is assumed that these are Surround files in Interleaved format. A folder track ( $\nearrow$ 138) with the required number of tracks is created and routed to the surround master (that is recreated if necessary). The tracks in the folder track get the surround panning according to the determined surround format. If this option is not active, the individual channels are loaded onto the selected track and the tracks below it.

### Save and load the Clip List as Clipstore Preset

📕 You can save the clip list using the Save button in the Manager toolbar. It is available across projects, so that it can be loaded into Sequoia at any time and the content can be used for other projects. To do this, click on the "Load" button in the manager toolbar.

The fx preset folder from Sequoia is used as default when saving and loading. You can also choose a different storage location if you want. The clipstore preset is saved with the extension \*.clp. It is a text file that you can view and edit with a text editor.

When loading clipstore presets, the current clipstore content is preserved and the content from the loaded clipstore preset is added to the list. The list entries of the clipstore preset are also assigned to the current project and become part of the project after saving. They will be available in the clipstore the next time you load it.

### **File Manager**

1

2

Sequoia contains a file manager that can be used to preview files and load them directly into projects. The file manager allows you to create favorite folders and access the recently opened folders.

To display the file manager, select menu **View > Manager > File Manager**.

## Keyboard Shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + B 6 5 8

The file manager works in a similar way to Windows Explorer. Folder and files are listed with folder and file icons.

The list can be sorted by clicking on the respective column header. Another click switches between ascending and descending sorting. In the context menu of the column header you can select the displayed columns.

10

3	On the right side is the <b>folder list</b> , which works just like the one in Windows Explorer. It can be hidden in the file manager options.
4	The <b>drive selection menu</b> allows you to quickly switch between all available storage media.
6	Use the <b>Favorites menu</b> to switch to frequently used folders. It initially contains various default folders of the system, the current project folder and all recently visited folders. With <b>Add current folder as favorite</b> you add the current folder to the list, you can specify a name.
6	Use the buttons to switch to the parent folder and re-read the file list.
0	The <b>display filter</b> allows you to limit the display to certain media types, e.g. only WAV, MIDI or project files. The default setting is "All media".
8	The <b>search field</b> allows you to search the current folder for folders or files. Enter a search term in the input field and click the binoculars icon or press the Enter key.
9	File preview controls
10	File Manager Options

### **Preview Audio Files**

A selected audio file can be previewed using the Play button. With activated **Auto-Play** (lock symbol) the audio file will be played as soon as it is selected. This way it is possible to go through the file list using the arrow keys and listen to each file immediately. You can stop the playback by clicking the Play button again. Use the slider to adjust the volume.



Next to the playback control a small preview of the file will be displayed, in the waveform you can move the preview playback position to any place in the file.

Playback is not performed via the mixer or internal effects, but via the global playback device selected in the playback parameters (keyboard shortcut: P). If no playback occurs, check to ensure that the routing settings for the device are correct.



**Looped Preview**: Previewing the selected file happens in a loop.

**BPM Sync**: This option allows you to preview the selected file in the project tempo. The original BPM is specified in this case by the length of the file. During playback, doubleclicking loops inserts them into your project as loop objects at the next bar start.

**Note**: To preview certain media data, e.g. in WMA format, you have to convert these files to .wav format. Conversion is carried out automatically in the background.

### Load Files into Projects from the File Manager

To load selected media files from the file manager into a project:

- Drag and drop them to the desired position.
- Right-click on it and select Load file. If the File Manager window is selected, you can also press the Enter key.
- Double-click on the file. (Not with a multiple selection).

The file(s) will be inserted into the last selected project beginning from the selected track at the play cursor position.

The loading options (**2**338), in which you can specify whether the file should be copied to the project folder, how to proceed with multiple files, and others, first appear. Use **Do not show dialog again, settings always apply** to prevent this dialog from being displayed every time.

**Insert file into new track**: The keyboard shortcut **Alt + Enter** creates a new track into which the selected file is inserted. The track that is created is named according to the file.

**Open the file as wave project**: To do this, drag and drop the audio file from the list to the tab bar of the project docker or to the title bar of the program window.

#### File Manager Context Menu

In the context menu of a file in the file list you have access to further file operations. These are on the one hand the common standard actions for folders and files: **Select All, Rename, Copy, Cut, Paste** and **Delete**.

Note: Deleted files are always sent to the Windows recycle bin. The keyboard shortcut Shift +
 Del plus a confirmation deletes the file permanently without sending it to the Trash.

In addition, you con open the files via the default application (**Open in linked program**, show it in the Windows explorer (**Open in Windows Explorer** and copy the path to the files into the clipboard (**Copy path to clipboard**). Also you can display the respective file's **properties**.

**Calculate loudness values**: You can have the loudness values calculated (*P*623), for BWF WAV files the loudness values are written into the file as metadata (compliant with EBU 3344).

**Analyze audio**: When analyzing audio, **Sequoia** also calculates loudness values for all selected files and just displays the result in a report window.

### File Manager Options

You can access the options via the cogwheel icon on the far right.

**Show directory tree**: To hide the folder structure on the left side of the file manager, uncheck this option.

**Read format information of files**: The file manager lists folder contents and search results faster if you disable this option.

Load options: Here you set the options for loading files.

Ite options correspond to those in the Load audio file (₱675) dialog.

Extended File Search: Additional criteria for the advanced file search are available here.

**Search in subfolders**: You can limit the search to files in the current folder by disabling this option.

**Load (selected) search results into the clipstore**: This option is only available if a search has been performed. You can then load all or the selected list entries into the clipstore (#327) by selecting this option.

### **Object Manager**

The Object manager lists all objects contained in the current project and makes it possible to edit selected object parameters.

To show the Object manager, choose **View** > **Manager** > **Object Manager** from the menu or keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + O**.

	5 B							
Track	Position	Name						Origin
■ 1. [Fng Gt] ■ 2. [Tr 1 Gt]			2					
🛢 3. [Rh Gt 1]								
	001:01:000	Rh Guitar 01	000:00:185	001:01:185	0.00 dB		0 dB	058:01
~_	001:01:197	Rh Guitar 01	000:01:206	001:03:019	0.00 dB	125	0 dB	058:01
- <b>-</b>	001:02:352	Rh Guitar 01	000:01-235	001:04:203	0.00 dB		0 dB	058:0:
-	001:04:159	Rh Guitar 01	000:13336	002:01:196	0.00 dB		0 dB	059:01
-	002:01:157	Rh Guitar 01	000:00:234	002:02:007	0.00 dB		0 dB	059:02
-	002:01:348	Rh Guitar 01	000:01:040	002:03:005	0.00 dB		0 dB	059:03
	002:02:349	Rh Guitar 01	000:00:097	002:03:063	0.00 dB	14	0 dB	060:01
-	002:03:172	Rh Guitar 01	000:00:266	002:04:054	0.00 dB		0 dB	060:01
i Le	002-04-174	Rh Guiltar 01	000-00-200	003-01-000	0.00 48	15	0 AR	060-0:

The objects are displayed in a tree structure sorted by tracks. Tracks are only listed if they also actually contain objects.

1

To expand and collapse a track, click the plus symbol in front of the track number. If you drag and drop objects from the list to a position in the arranger, they will be moved to that position. If you hold down the **Ctrl** key while doing this, you will copy the objects

 $\dot{\phi}$  In the context menu of a list entry you can find commands to edit objects directly from the Object Manager, to open the Object Editor for this object and to duplicate or delete the object.

2 The list can be sorted by clicking on the respective column header. Another click switches between ascending and descending sorting. In the context menu of the column header you can select the displayed columns.

-\governoise -\governoise -\governoise If you select **No tree structure** in the Object Manager options, you can sort the list across all tracks, otherwise it will only sort within the respective track.

- 3 The parameters displayed in the respective columns (object name, start time, length,...) can be edited directly in the object manager:
  - Double-click on a parameter and enter a new value.
  - Numerical values can also be changed by dragging with the mouse, additionally press Ctrl for larger value change. The tab key advances to the next editable value.

6.524 m 00.05.07 For time specifications, you can change the unit of

measurement used to the right of the number.

- In the **Object name** column you can switch between the text fields with arrow up/down.
- **Selecting objects**: Select objects with the checkbox in front of the object name. This is also immediately visible in the project window.

With **Shift + Click** all displayed objects are selected.

If an object that is part of a group is selected, the other objects of the group will also be selected in the project window and object manager.

-\overline{c}- You can recognize grouped objects by the number of the object group in the "Group" column.

**Search objects**: Enter a search term in the input field and press Enter or click the binoculars button to search for object or audio file names. The list of objects is filtered by the search term.

You can export the Object manager information as a text file. The following information will be saved:

- Project name and Project path
- Track and object name
- Start position in the project
- Path of source file

6

7

8

-\grig - Using the menu under the Options button, you can open the **List Export Options** dialog, where you can customize the saved information.

You can find this file in the project folder (\$Projectname\_objects.txt).

You can also execute the list export via the menu File > Advanced export > List export without having to open the Manager.

Use the plus/minus buttons on the toolbar to expand and collapse the track object display throughout the window.

- **Options**: In addition to the already mentioned options for the object manager, there are some more options in the menu below the button:
  - Show only objects from active track: The list will be limited to the objects of the active track.
  - Scroll list during playback: During playback, the currently playing object is highlighted. If this option is active, the list scrolls during playback to keep this highlighting visible.

### **Track Manager**

The track manager displays all tracks contained in the current project and allows direct access to various track properties such as "Solo", "Mute" and "Record" as well as hiding tracks in the project window or mixer.

To display the Track Manager, select **View** > **Manager** > **Track Manager** from the menu or keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + S**.

	ø		¢								
	N 5	6	7	Record	Mogo	Lock	Group				Track
<1.	Fng Gt	<b>•</b>	Ψ					~	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
2.	Trem Gt							~	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
3.	Ah Gt 1			-				-	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
4.	1 Gt2 (2)			3				4	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
5.	Ld Gt High			<b>Y</b> .				~	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
6.	Ld Gt Low							~	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
	Solo Gt							~	~	Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
	Vocals									Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
	VocFX1									Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
💷 10.	VocFX2									Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
	Violins									Samplitude_Demo_without_Indep	
								<b>2</b>			

2

3

4

- 1 The track manager contains all of the tracks in the current project. To select tracks in the project window, activate the checkbox at the very front or double-click the track number. If the track is outside the visible section, the project window scrolls to this position.
  - You can rename tracks by double-clicking on the track names and entering a new name. The **Tab** key or **Arrow up/down** switches to the next name.
  - Various track properties are listed next to a track. To select multiple tracks in the Track Manager to edit these properties (Mute, Solo, Record...) together, click on the track name while holding **Ctrl** key or **Shift** key.
    - $\dot{\phi}$  In this way, you can also select multiple tracks in the project window by first selecting them in the Track Manager and then clicking the checkbox at the very front.

**Reorder tracks in the track manager**: Grab them with the mouse and drag them vertically to the desired position.

**Delete tracks**: Select one or more tracks and press the **Del** key. **Insert new tracks**: Right-click a track entry and select **Insert New Track**. You can also add or insert folder tracks, submix buses, AUX buses, or surround buses. The **Track Options** (*P*146) are also made available by right-clicking.

**Show and hide tracks**: In the column **Arrangement** or **Mixer**, deactivate the checkbox to hide a track in the Project window or Mixer.

i Hidden tracks will continue to play and objects contained on them will continue to be processed (e.g. moved) if they are part of a group that also contains objects on non-hidden tracks.

**Search for tracks**: Enter a track name or part of a track name in the input field and press Enter or click on the binoculars to search for tracks. The tracks found are selected and can be worked on together.

**Export text file**: Click the **Export text** button and **Sequoia** will create a text file with a listing of the tracks used in your project. With the button next to it you can import a track list from a text file.

You can also execute the list export via the menu File > Advanced export > List export without having to open the Manager.

## Coptions:

6

7

1

Hide sub-tracks of folder tracks/surround folder tracks: Tracks contained in Folder tracks/Surround folder tracks are not displayed in the list when you enable these options.

### Marker manager

The Marker manager lists all markers contained in the current project and allows you to jump to or play them directly from the list.

To display the Marker Manager, choose **View** > **Manager** > **Marker Manager** from the menu or use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + Alt + M**.



In the column **Type** all markers of the project are listed. Use the checkbox in the **Selection** column to select markers to move them, color them or delete them together. Double-clicking the checkbox moves the play cursor to the marker position.

In the context menu of a marker in the list, you can redefine selected markers as CD Track Index, CD Subindex, CD Pause, CD End, or Position markers, insert new markers, rename marker names, edit marker positions (numerically enter absolute position), move markers (numerically enter a relative position change), and delete markers.

If you select two markers, you can use the context menu to set a **Range between** selected markers.



This button opens the CD-Index-Manager (₱594).

8



**Export marker**: You can export Marker manager information as a text file. To do this, click the **Export text** button in the toolbar. The Windows text editor opens with an excerpt from the marker manager list. The following information will be saved:

- Project name
- Marker position in project
- Marker type
- Marker name
- ISRC (International Standard Recording Code) for CD track indexes

You can find this file in the project folder (Projectname\_marker.txt).

 You can also execute the list export via the menu File > Advanced export > List export without having to open the Manager.

- Copy selected markers into selected object(s): This allows you to transfer markers from the project to the audio file of an object. This corresponds to the function Copy VIP markers to audio markers (2118), with the difference that here you can select the markers to be transferred. Select the markers to be transferred and the objects under the markers into which the markers are to be transferred before you execute the function.
- **Color**: Click on the color field to select another marker color.
- Project markers/audio markers/warp markers: Switch the display between displaying the project markers and the Audio markers (↗118) or Warp markers (↗386)

### **Range Manager**

The Range manager displays all of the stored ranges in the project and makes it possible to select them directly from a list.

To display the Range Manager, choose **View** > **Manager** > **Range Manager** from the menu or keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Shift + Alt + B**.



6 **Export ranges**: This allows you to export the information of the Range Manager as a text file. To do this, click the Export text button in the toolbar. The Windows text editor opens with an excerpt from the Range List. The following information will be saved:

- Project name
- Range
- Start
- Length
- End

You can find this file in the project folder (Projectname\_ranges.txt).



You can also execute the list export via the menu File > Advanced export > List export without having to open the Manager.

List export options: This allows you to customize the information that is saved during export.

### **Take Manager**

The take manager offers you a convenient option for selecting and organizing recording takes, loop recordings ( $\nearrow$ 103), and offline object edits ( $\cancel{174}$ ).

Menu:

7

#### View > Manager > Take Manager

Keyboard Shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Alt + T

<i>m</i>	🕨 🖌 Repla	ce takes on all	l tracks	\$		
Name		Length			Track	
Take01	001:01:000	000:03:336	routing_0	05.09.202	01	C:\Users\Rajk\routing_01_M24.wav
Take02	001:01:000	000:03:336	routing_0	05.09.202 (	01	C:\Users\Rajk\routing_01_M24.wav
Take03	001:01:000	000:03:336	routing_0	05.09.202 (	01	C:\Users\Rajk\routing_01_M24.wav
✓ Take04	001:01:000	000:03:336	routing_0	05.09.202	01	C:\Users\Rajk\routing_01_M24.wav

When graphically comping with the Take Lanes ( $\nearrow$ 142), you cut together the perfect take from different take sections.

**i Note**: Also after offline effect calculations, a new take is created and displayed in the Take Manager. To do this, the option **Create copy** must be active in the offline effect dialog.

### Take Manager - Basics

**Sequoia** stores in each recorded file not only audio and MIDI data, but also additional information about at which time position and in which track in the arranger the file was recorded (original position). This data is stored in the audio file and in the MIDI object as take information. When working with multitrack recordings the takes also contain information like, for example, which other tracks were involved in the recording. This allows all recorded material to be assigned to a time period and thus identified as a take of a particular recording.

So you can record multiple takes on the same tracks at the same time position on top of each other. The existing data is not overwritten, but, depending on the Recording options (₹719), the new recordings are appended to the recording file or are saved in a new file.

Now, when you select an object and open the Take Manager, all the audio in the project is searched for takes from the same track and with the same original position, and the matches are displayed as takes.

**Note**: The Take Manager lists only objects created by recording and not objects created by importing audio files.

### **Selecting Takes**

In the Take Manager, takes matching the selected object are displayed in a list. With default settings, this refers to all the takes from the same track and original position. The current object take can be identified by the checkmark preceding the name in the take list.

To select a take for the object, place a check mark before the desired take, or press Enter after you have selected the corresponding take in the take manager.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Select a take directly in the arranger window by applying **Ctrl + right click** to the object.

Take01	
1 MALLA	
Take01	Takes auf allen Spuren austauschen
Take03	Take-Manager
al Alaka an	Take-Composer
illiodajak 🗸	1: 00:00:00:00 Take01 (Trk 1, 23.04.2021 19:58:12) 2021-04-22_01_24.wav
Take03	2: 00:00:00:00 Take02 (Trk 1, 23.04.2021 19558:16) 2021-04-22_01_24.wav

**Rename take**: Using the context menu of the take, you can rename it and edit the recording position. Multiple selection is also possible here.

Edit recording position: This option enables you to make changes in the position field of the take manager.

Delete Take: You can use the context menu of the take to delete it in the Take Manager. Multiple selection is also possible here. When you have deleted all takes except the last one, you can decide by query whether you want to delete also the referenced file in addition to the last take. However, make sure that the audio file you are about to delete is not used in other projects.

**(i) Note**: If the audio file is no longer referenced by objects but contains multiple takes, you don't have to delete each take first to remove the file from disk entirely. Instead, use the **Remove Unused Samples** (\$\angle 703) function from the **File** > **Clean up & Backup** menu.

**(i)** Note: For a better overview, convenient take naming options are already available during recording in the recording window (796).

### **Take Manager Options**

The options can be used to filter the take list.



Filter record position: Only those takes are displayed that have the same original time position as the selected object. This option should be disabled only in exceptional cases.

Filter too short takes: Only takes that are at least as long as the currently selected take are shown. This allows you to filter out recording takes that were canceled earlier due to errors.

Show all multi-track takes: Takes of all tracks will be shown. This option should only be activated in exceptional cases, e.g. to find "lost" takes.

### **Takes in Multitrack Recordings**

In multitrack recordings, each recording creates takes on each recording track that are classified as belonging together. Simultaneously recorded objects are grouped and also given the same take name.

Replace takes on all tracks: If this option is enabled, you replace all takes of a multitrack recording in one go when you replace the take in one object of a track.



i Note: Since the "Take Manager" display always refers to the last object clicked, you can change the reference track by selecting an object on another track.

### Source Manager

The Source Manager shows all source and destination projects contained in the current session and makes it possible to directly activate projects and place them in the foreground. In order to show the source list, select **View** > **Manager** > **Source manager...**.

#### Keyboard Shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Alt + S

S+ 🛉	ŧ	🖌 manual sort	
Тур			Directory
🗸 Dest.	[0]	2022-09-05.VIP	C:\Users\rajko.aust\Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia ONE\\2022-09-05.VIP
Source	[1]	Samplitude Mixing De	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Sampli\Samplitude Mixing Demo - You Are.VIP
-		sd2.VIP	C:\Users\rajko.aust\Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia ONE\2022-08-24\sd2.VI

To add a project to the source list, click the **S+** button ("Add active source project to list") in the source list toolbar. However, the source list only shows an entry if there is at least one project with a destination track in the current session.

Activate individual projects in a session by clicking the checkbox in front of the project type.

Source list entries can be sorted according to increasing or decreasing type, creation number, name and project file. To sort projects manually using drag & drop, activate the **Manual sort** check box first.

**Tip**: You can remove projects from the source list and close them simultaneously by selecting the project in the list and pressing the **Del** key. A confirmation request prevents deleting a project that has not yet been saved.

● For more information, see the chapter Source-destination cut (₱209).

### **VST Instrument Manager**

The VSTi manager enables easy display, insertion and deletion of VST, MAGIX, and Rewire instruments in the current project.

Menu: View > Manager > VST Instruments Manager Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + I



- **Instrument**: All software instruments (VST/Rewire) present in the project are listed. Right-clicking on an instrument opens the instrument's plug-in dialog. Press the **Del** key to remove a selected instrument from the project. To display the individual outputs and MIDI inputs with their assigned tracks, click the plus sign next to the instrument.
- **Output Routing**: By right-clicking on an output or clicking on the triangle, you can select a track to be supplied with the respective individual output. The assigned output then appears in the plug-in slot of the target track. Select an output channel and press the **Del** key to cancel the routing to a track.
- MIDI track/channel: These columns list the MIDI input tracks of the instrument and the channels used for them. By right-clicking on an entry at MIDI Track or clicking on the triangle, you can select a track whose MIDI output is used by the instrument.
   Insert MIDI track creates a new track in MIDI recording mode and routes its MIDI output to the instrument. Remove MIDI input removes a MIDI routing to the instrument. At MIDI channel the output channel can be set for a used MIDI track.
- 4 With **Functions** you can access the Freeze and Unfreeze (*№*145) functions for the loaded VST instruments. Here you can also create new tracks for individual outputs and delete or reset selected instruments/outputs.

With **Rename VSTi** you can rename a VSTi instance. If you use multiple instances of the same VSTi, this will help you distinguish them in the mixer and project window.

Opens the Routing settings for multi channel software instruments (#393).

### **Routing Manager**

6

The Routing manager provides you with a matrix display of the inputs, outputs, AUX sends and VCA groups of all tracks.

Menu:View > Manager > Routing ManagerKeyboard Shortcut:Ctrl + Alt + Shift + R

Outp	ut								
Track	Name	1							6
1.	Git								
2.	Keys I								
3.	Keys r								
4.	voc								
5.	voc 2								
6.	trp								
7.	base								
8.	fl								
9.	Master	×	4						

The Routing Manager is divided into four sections, Input, Output, AUX and VCA for assigning hardware inputs, outputs (hardware, submix busses, master), AUX sends and assigning VCA groups (2518) in the mixer.

#### Input

Input				$\sim$						
Track		Name								
1.	Git		<b>~</b>							
2.	Keys I			✓						
3.	Keys ı				✓					
4.	voc					✓				
5.	voc 2						✓			
6.	trp							~		
7.	base								✓	
8.	fl									✓
9.	AUX	1	4	*						
10.	AUX	2	4	4						

In the rows all tracks are displayed, in the columns the available inputs.

Assign the available inputs to the tracks of your project by simply clicking in the matrix fields. Another click cancels an existing routing.

#### Output

				Ha	rdw	/are	e Ou	itpu	ıts	Tra	icks			Ma	ster
Outp	ut		~												
Track	Nam														М
1.	Git														~
2.	Keys I														~
3.	Keys r														✓
4.	voc														✓
5.	voc 2														✓
6.	trp														✓
7.	base														<b>~</b>
8.	fl														<b>~</b>
9.	Master	~	~												

In the rows all tracks are displayed, in the columns the hardware outputs, followed by the tracks and the master. In the above illustration, all tracks are routed to the master.

Assign the available outputs (hardware outputs, masters, or busses) to the tracks of your project by clicking in the matrix fields. Another click cancels an existing routing.

By clicking the corresponding matrix field behind the available outputs (in the Tracks section) you route the output of the track to another track. In doing so, you convert this track into a submix bus.

Output		$\sim$					
Track	Name						
1. Git					~	~	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>

In the context menu of a matrix field, you can define the selected output as "Direct Out" (controller display red), "Pre-Fader-Out" (controller display yellow) or as "Post-Fader-Out" (controller display orange). There you can also open the Stereo panorama dialog (\$\alphi\$521) for panorama setting of the respective output.

#### Assigning Multiple Consecutive Tracks to the Same Input or Output:

- 1. Click in the matrix field for the respective input or output of the first track you want to assign.
- 2. With the **Shift** key held down, click the matrix field for the same input or output of the last track you want to assign.

Track	Name	1	2	3	4
1.	Git	<b>~</b>			
2.	Keys I	×			
3.	Keys r	¥			
4.	voc	¥			
5.	voc 2	¥			
6.	trp	¥			
7.	base	1			
8.	fl	1			

This assigns these tracks and all tracks in between to the same input or output.

# Assigning Multiple Consecutive Tracks to Consecutive Inputs/Outputs (Diagonally):

- 1. Click in the matrix field for the respective input or output of the first track you want to assign.
- 2. With the Shift key held down, following the diagonal in the matrix, click the matrix field for the corresponding input or output of the last track you want to assign.

Track	Name	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1.	Git	✓							
2.	Keys I		✓						
3.	Keys r			✓					
4.	voc				✓				
5.	voc 2					✓			
6.	trp						✓		
7.	base							✓	
8.	fl								*

This assigns these tracks and all tracks in between to corresponding successive inputs or outputs.

#### AUX

Similarly, you can also route the individual tracks to AUX buses (abla527). Clicking a field sets the AUX send of the track to OdB. By default, the AUX Send is created as "Post". If routing is to be made to a track that is not an AUX bus, you can optionally have the track converted to an AUX bus.

i Since the purpose of AUX busses is to send variable signal components, the manager is primarily used here to provide an overview of which tracks have sends to the AUX busses at all.

In the context menu of a field you can switch the selected AUX send to "Pre-Fader Send" (field highlighted in yellow) or "Direct Out" (field highlighted in red).

In the AUX view, existing sidechain sends (aga399) are also displayed (> symbol). In the context menu you can open the Stereo panorama (aga521) dialog for the respective AUX bus.

### VCA

Here you can select each track as master of a VCA Group (2518) and assign it as many tracks as you like.

VCA		$\sim$			
Track	Name				
1.	Git				
2.	Keys I			✓	
3.	Keys r			✓	
4.	voc			✓	
5.	voc 2				
6.	trp				
7.	base				
8.	fl				

In the above example, track 3 is set as the master of a VCA group. By clicking on the "VCA" button in the respective mixer channel, you can see that the status of the fader has changed: "Fader is VCA master". Volume faders 2...4 are now controlled by the VCA group in track 3. You can recognize this by the additional "ghost" fader knobs above the faders.

### Soundpool Manager

In the Soundpool Manager you can integrate you Soundpool loop content in a clear form. You can access the Soundpools via the clearly laid out database view, which lets you arrange the display of the loops according to styles, instruments and pitch.

A Soundpool consists of one or more styles. Styles are sound libraries that belong together and cover a certain musical style. The sounds (sample or MIDI loops) of one style all have a certain tempo. You can mix loops from different styles, and the tempos will be adjusted accordingly. Within a style, loops are ordered according to instruments, and one instrument folder contains different sounds. Each sound can have a different pitch (except for drums and effects sounds).

<b>3</b> n4	)⊧ <b>⊳</b> 5 I	1								6	
Styles \land 🔺		× 🔺					BPM			type	
2Step - Selecta	Choir	-	2_chord_g	uitar			120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
60s - Super Sixties	Drums		2_guitars				120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
80s - Too Hot 🖉 🌈	lute		60s e-guit		0		120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
Blues - Feel the Blues	<b>.</b>		60s e-guit	a	4		120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
Blues - Muddy Buddy	Guitar		60ssologu	ita			120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
Chart Hits - Fade Out	Harp		60ssologu				120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
Chart Hits - Pretty in			60ssologu				120			Audio (OGG)	C-major
Chillen Chiller											
2 Styles, an instrument s	elected, 29 Loops.		C:\Users\	Public	:\Docı	ımer	nts\M4	AGD	X\Common\Sou	ndpools\Shop\60	)s - Super Sixties\

The Soundpool display consists of several lists: First, all styles available in the database are shown. The second list contains the instruments. The third list, "Name", contains the list of the sounds found. The respective name, tempo, length in bars (1, 2, or 4 beats), and type is listed for them. The different pitches are displayed above that (if available).

The list of samples found is created after entry selection in the first two lists. With **Ctrl** + click you can reduce or expand a selection. No selection (**Ctrl** + click on a single selected element) shows all entries from this category.

-\grig- If you select an instrument, e.g. "Drums" and "Percussion" and no style, then all drums and percussion samples in the whole database will be displayed.

Loops can be loaded by double clicking, drag & drop, or by double clicking the corresponding pitch. The objects will be inserted directly behind one another so that complete accompanying tracks can be compiled quickly.

**Full text search**: Above right in the search field you can search the list of samples found for a specific sound file name.

Options:

1

2

3

4

- Add styles: This option allows you to add new MAGIX Sound Pools. To do this, select the folder or disk where the sound pools are stored.
- Normally, loops can be previewed just by clicking them, even during project playback. If Automatic playback is deactivated, then use the playback button in the manager 5.
- The option Hide instruments without available loops completely hides instrument groups in the Soundpool manager for which there are no loops present in a certain style (instead of being grayed out).
- Reset Soundpool will reset the Soundpool database so you can re-import the Soundpools later.
- Every detected Soundpool (on CD/DVD or on the hard drive) is added to the database and displayed there, even if the corresponding medium is currently not in the drive or if the Soundpool has been deleted or moved. The option Clean up Soundpool removes these entries from the database.

**5 Type**: There are audio and MIDI loops. Audio loops (.wav or .ogg) are normal (looped) audio objects that can be used anywhere in the project. MIDI loops (MIDI objects) contain MIDI data + the controlled synthesizer (Vita or Revolta). This is automatically loaded to the track where you place the MIDI loop. This means that you will need to use a new track for each additional MIDI loop which controls a different sound. However, the same loop in another pitch is possible.

### Info manager

In the Info Manager, you can add text comments for the selected object, the selected track or the entire project.

💠 Info				— ×
	PROJECT COMMENTS	TRACK COMMENTS	OBJECT COMMENTS	
	Recording Session with Jimi, John and Paul	this guitar was slightly out of tune, replace?	1st solo	

The project comments are also displayed in the Project information (2665). They are also saved in the project folder in a separate text file in ASCII format (\*.asc) so that they can also be accessed without opening the project. The track comments correspond to the comment field at the bottom of the Track Editor, the comments of an object correspond to those in the field on the right in the Object Editor.

## **AUTOMATION**

When mixer settings such as volume, pan or effect settings are to change during the course of the project, for example when fading in tracks, moving audio signals in the panorama or changing parameters of effects, we speak of automation.

The display and recording of this automation is done using automation curves. An unlimited number of automation curves are available on each track. You can record automation movements on track and master level during playback in automation curves. All automation curves (track, master and object automation) can be edited or directly drawn in.

- At track level, dynamic automation of volume, pan, surround, AUX sends, effects and MIDI controllers is available.
- At object level, you can automate the volume, AUX sends, and VST plug-ins.
- At master level, you can automate the volume, EQs, VST plug-ins, and MIDI controllers.

### **Creating Automation Curves**

The most important automation curves volume and pan can be activated for the selected track with the **vol** and **pan** buttons at the track header ( $\mathbb{P}60$ ) or via keyboard shortcut:

Volume: Alt + K Alt + P Pan:

If other parameters are to be automated, you can set the parameter either

- in the Automation context menu or menu Automation or
- in the track head of an Automation Lane or
- via keyboard shortcut Ctrl + Alt + Control element in the Mixer or the interface of a plugin or
- in the VST parameters dialog.

### Automation Context Menu or Menu Automation

In the Automation menu or Automation context menu (click on the parameter field over the Automation slider at the very bottom of the **Main** section of the **Track Editor**) you can select an automation parameter.



() The Automation menu and the Automation context menu contain the same entries, so in the following we will refer to this as **Automation menu** in general.

At the bottom of the menu, depending on the loaded plug-ins and effects, all available parameters are listed in submenus. Select the parameter you want.

All existing active or inactive automation curves are listed at the top of the menu. There you can select a curve that you can control during playback using the automation slider in the track editor. Also all commands in submenu **Edit selected curve...** refer to this curve.

The curve of the selected parameter is displayed in a new **Automation Lane**. The curves can also be displayed directly in the track, for details see Display of automation curves in the project (2360).

### Ctrl + Alt + Control Element

This is the fastest and smoothest way to automate a plug-in parameter. In the mixer or track editor, click a control (volume, pan, aux sends, EQ) or in the interface of a plug-in, click the control of a parameter while holding down the **Ctrl** and **Alt** keys. In the stopped state, a corresponding curve is only created; during playback, a change in the parameter is recorded directly, regardless of the selected automation mode ( $\sqrt[3]{362}$ ).

(i) Note: This works only with tracks, and not for the automation of object effects (abla366).

With plug-ins, this function can also be carried out by first selecting the menu item **Automate next parameter** in the menu **Plug-in** of the VST plug-in dialog (2396) and then moving a control element.

### Automating the Master Track

Volume and effect settings for the master track can be automated. To edit these track curves, you must display the master track in the arranger. To do this, in the context menu of the automation button of the master in the mixer window, select **Show master track in arranger**. An additional track called "Master" is now displayed in the arranger.



You can also make the master track visible in the project window via the track manager (𝒫340): To do this, activate the track **Master** in the column **Arrangement** at the very bottom.

### **Display of the Automation Curves in the Project**

There are different options in which form and to which extent automation curves are displayed in the project. The automations can be displayed either individually in separate **Automation Lanes** or above the objects in the track.

### **Display in Automation Lanes**



Click the symbol at the bottom left of the track header or select **Expand Automation Lanes** in the Automation menu (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Shift + Enter**) to expand and collapse the automation lanes.

 Also if an automation curve has been created using the methods described above, the automation lanes are expanded.

If there are no automation curves, an empty Automation Lane is displayed.



Automation Lane track head

- 1 Click the button to hide the Automation Lane. The curve remains active.
- **2** Click on the **+** button to create a new lane below the last automation lane.
- **3** Automation on/off: Used to activate/deactivate the respective curve.
- 4 Automation mode: Automation mode of the track
- **6 Parameter Menu**: Click on the triangular button on the right to open a menu where in the upper section, you can choose an automation curve to display in the automation lane. In the lower section of the menu, you can also select any other parameter to create a new automation curve that will be displayed in the lane.
- **6 Parameter field**: The current parameter value at the play cursor position will be displayed here. In stopped state, this value can be modified by vertically dragging the button on the right. You can also edit the curve numerically using this method.
  - *Tip: Use the commands in the submenu* **Show lanes** to quickly display automation lanes for all existing automation curves of a specific type. Use **Show lanes for all curves** in this submenu to show the automation lanes for all existing automation curves.

### **Display in the Tracks**

Use the button **Track Auto** /Lanes + Obj. Auto in the **Track Editor** (256) to switch the display of the automation curves in the track:

- In **Track Auto** mode, track automations are displayed in the track over the objects, object automations are hidden.
- In the **Lanes + Obj. Auto** mode, the object automations are displayed in the track over the objects, the track automations are displayed in lanes (*7*359).

When you collapse the Automation Lanes in the **Track Auto** mode, the automation curves are displayed directly above the objects in the track.

Since it can quickly become confusing with many automation curves in the track, there are various options for how the automation curves are displayed in the track. Choose from the following options in the Automation menu:

**Show Only Selected Curve**. Only the selected curve is displayed.


Show all curves (not selectable). All automation curves are displayed. The unselected automation curves are displayed paler and cannot be selected with the mouse.



Show all curves (selectable). Again, the unselected automation curves are displayed somewhat paler, but can be selected by clicking on them with the mouse in Universal Mode, (Object) Curve Mode, and Draw Automation Mode.



When displaying the automation curves in lanes, you can use the submenu **Show lanes** to restrict the display of the automation lanes to certain types of automation: **Volume**, **Panorama**, **AUX Sends**, **EQ** or **Plug-in parameters**. **Show lanes for all curves** resets this filter.

To hide the automation curves completely, select **Hide Automation** in the Automation menu. The automations remain active.

### **Deactivate Automation Curves**

Use the On/Off button in the track head of the automation lanes or **Edit selected curve** > **Inactive** in the Automation menu to deactivate an automation curve without deleting it, to temporarily bypass an automation. The automation curve is shown as a dashed line in Track and Automation Lane.



 $\dot{\phi}$  To deactivate all automations of a track , select the automation mode **Off**. To disable all automation in all tracks, select the automation mode **Off** in the **Automation Panel** ( $\mathbb{P}$ 365).

## **Automation Modes**

The automation modes define how automation data should be saved or displayed. You can set the automation mode for each track. The **Automation Panel** can be used to set the automation modes for all tracks simultaneously.

You set the automation mode:

- In the automation menu at **Automation mode**
- By right-clicking on the automation button in the mixer channel or track editor. A left click on the button switches between the last activated mode and the Read mode
- In the Automation Panel (**/**365)

**Off**: In Off mode, all automation functions are disabled.

**Read**: In Read mode, all recorded automations are played back. This is the default automation mode of a track.

**Touch (use Fadertouch on/off)**: In Touch mode, automations are recorded. Recording starts as soon as you touch a control element of the track with the mouse or from your external controller. As soon as you release the control, the automation recording stops. The parameter moves back to the value previously recorded at this point. You can set the duration of the return time in the **Program settings** (keyboard shortcut: **Y**) at **Effects > Automation > Automation Release Time**.

**Latch (use Fadertouch on only)**: Also in Latch mode, automation data is recorded from the first touch of the control. However, if you release the control, the automation will continue with the last value until you stop playback or switch to another mode.

**Overwrite mode (write always)**: In Overwrite mode, automation data is recorded as soon as playback starts, regardless of whether you touch the control or not. Automation continues until you stop playback or switch to another mode.

i Even if other curves are active, only the selected curve is recorded immediately after playback starts, as it does not make sense to overwrite all automations at once. For the other active curves, the mode works like the latch mode, the automation curve is overwritten as soon as the parameter is changed.

# **Trim (relative adjustment)**: Trim mode is a special Touch mode that can only be used for **volume automation**.

Trim mode allows you to edit existing volume automations relatively. Use Trim mode when you want to increase or decrease the volume of a track without changing any existing automation.

The volume knob is no longer used for direct volume control in Trim mode, but to increase or decrease the current volume. It is therefore always initially set to 0 dB and does not move with the current automation data during playback as it would otherwise.

Drag it during playback to increase or decrease the volume of the existing automation. The difference value in dB is displayed on the fader. After release it jumps back to OdB.

Trim mode can also be used when playback is stopped. All points of the automation curve are changed simultaneously then. If an range is selected, the change will only be applied within the range. This inevitably results in value jumps at the range edges.

**i** Note: For other automation parameters, Trim mode behaves like Touch mode.

The **Copy to all tracks** menu option sets the automation mode of the last selected track globally for all tracks.

Write only existing curves: This menu option prevents a new automation curve from being created in tracks in Touch, Latch or Overwrite mode for each parameter change.

This is especially helpful if you want to change effect parameters while recording automations, but do not want automation curves to be created for these changes.

 $\dot{Q}$  - In the Automation Panel ( $\mathbb{A}$ 365) the curves to be recorded can be filtered by volume, aux sends and plug-in.

### **Preview Automation (All Tracks)**

Suppose you have a project that already contains automations. Now you want to add a new section at the end of the project and make changes to the mix there.

This creates a problem: When a track is in Read mode, you cannot change an already automated parameter because it is controlled by the automation curve. But if a writing automation mode (Touch, Latch, Overwrite) is active, setting a new parameter value in the curve will create a transition between the last old curve point and the new value, which you may not want. In addition, new curves are created for parameters that were previously not automated, which means that these parameters are also changed in the previous section of the project.

With **Preview Automation** you can temporarily bypass all writing automations in such a case, make the necessary settings and then cleanly separate the different automated sections. To do this, proceed as follows:

- 1. Activate a writing automation mode (Touch, Latch, Overwrite)
- 2. Enable the **Preview automation** option via the Automation menu or the **PREVIEW** button in the Automation panel (₹365).

- **3.** Start playback. You can now change the settings for already automated parameters, existing automations will not be changed. However, if you change a parameter that was not previously automated, a new automation curve is created. It contains only one point with the existing value (not the changed one).
- 4. Stop playback, the play cursor jumps back to the beginning of the new section.
- 5. Then select **Set parameter value(s)** > **Jump to current value** in the automation menu or use the button in the Automation Panel (₹365).
- 6. This ensures that a subsequent recording of automation data does not affect any parameters in the previous section.
- 7. You can now deactivate the option **Preview automation** and continue working with the automation modes as normal.

### Automation Recording in Read Mode

Another way to insert new automations without affecting the parameters in the rest of the project through the curves is to record in **Read mode**.

Actually, automated parameters cannot be changed in Read mode. But if you hold down the key combination **Ctrl + Alt** during playback while changing a control of the mixer or an effect, this movement will be recorded. As long this key combination is held down, you can also automate the selected parameters in Read Mode.

When stopped, clicking a Mixer or FX control with the same Ctrl + Alt key combination creates an inactive curve, which you can then edit further in "Draw Automation" mouse mode.

## Set Parameter Value(s)

This command from the Automation menu creates new automation points in all active and inactive automation curves of the selected or all tracks according to the currently set parameters. This allows, in connection with the option **Automation Preview** (?363), to explicitly write the automation of the entire project at a certain point, in order to prevent existing parameters from being changed by new automations and unwanted transitions from occurring.

The commands correspond to the buttons in the Automation Panel ( $\nearrow$ 365) at **MANUAL WRITE** and are applied to the automation curves according to the filter options selected there.

- **Jump to current value**: New points are inserted as jumps in all automation curves.
- Glide to current value: New points are inserted in all automation curves as a transition to the previous value.

Write to start/Write to end: The current value of the automated parameters is continued to the project start or end. In other words, an automation point is created at the play cursor position and all other automation points before or after it are removed.

#### Shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + #

A popup menu appears at the mouse pointer, select the corresponding option with another keystroke (underlined letter of the option).

 $\dot{\phi}$  Tip: These functions can be controlled more flexibly in the Automation Panel!

## **Automation Panel**

อ

2

The Automation Panel allows you to edit the automation modes of all tracks together. It is also possible to write automation values manually.

The aim of this window is to be able to switch as elegantly as possible between the mere adjusting of parameters and automating them.

▲ Note: To understand this dialog, we strongly recommend that you also read the sections Automation Modes (#362) and Preview Automation (All Tracks) (#363)!



MODE: These buttons allow you to switch automation modes for all tracks together.
Regardless of this, it is still possible to select a different automation mode for individual tracks, for example, so as not to accidentally overwrite them. In this case, several buttons are active and the number of tracks in the respective mode is displayed on the button.

**PREVIEW** : Activates the mode **Automation preview** where parameters can be changed but no recording takes place. Use this mode also to write automation values manually.

**3 PARAMETERS:** These filters allow you to disable automation writing for certain types of parameters (volume, pan, AUX sends, plug-in parameters). This allows you to protect their automation curves in tracks from changes, even though these tracks are in a writing automation mode or when values are written manually (see below). The parameters disabled at **Parameters** are controlled by their curves in Read mode, regardless of the selected automation mode.

In the area **MANUAL WRITE** it is possible to explicitly write values into the automation curves without having to edit them with the mouse or record an automation. The following filter options can be used to limit the selection of parameters / curves for which manual writing is to be performed.

All Tracks/Selected Tracks/Selected Curve: Depending on the selection, the functions Write to Start/End and Jump/Glide to Current Value create new values in all tracks, only in the selected tracks or only in the selected curve.

Only apply to changed values: If this option is active, automation points are only created in the curves where the current parameter value is different from the curve during manual writing.

**6** Write to start/Write to end: The current value of the automated parameters is continued to the project start or end. In other words, an automation point is created at the play cursor position and all other automation points before or after it are removed.

**6** Jump/Glide to current value: These buttons correspond to the menu commands in the Automation > Set Parameter Values menu, but the filter options make them more flexible to use.

These functions are only available in the Preview mode (Preview automation) (263).

## **Object Automation**

4

In objects you can automate the volume, pan, AUX send level and effect parameters of the object effects.

In the Track Editor, select **Lanes+Obj. Auto** or select **Show Lanes and Object Automation** in the Automation menu. All track automation curves are displayed in the Automation Lanes and you can now draw and edit the object automation curves on the objects.

In the Track Editor, select **Track Auto** or the **Show Track Automation** option in the Automation menu to toggle the display again.

i Recording object automation during playback as with tracks is not possible, you can only draw in automations as curves and edit these curves.

For automating object parameters, select an object and open the Object editor (↗191).

Automation	Rd
🖌 Show	
EQ116	-
12: 1 Freq	-
372.7 Hz	2

In the lower section of the menu  $\blacksquare$  , select the parameter to be automated.

• Both drop-down menus open the automation menu. When automating effect parameters, the upper menu displays the effect and the lower menu displays the parameter.

Now switch to the mouse mode Draw Automation ( $\nearrow$ 68) using the button below and draw the parameter changes directly onto the object with the pen.

-`Q`- To switch between displaying track and object automations, you can also use the **Show** checkbox at the top of the **Automation** section.

To transfer volume and panorama automation from a track to an object, select the option **Edit selected curve** > **Convert track to object automation** in the Automation menu. Conversely, object automation can be transferred to the track using the command **Convert object to track automation**.

## **Editing Automation Curves**

The automation curves can be edited in different ways. In addition to editing with the mouse in the project window, there are various commands for editing in the automation menu at **Edit selected curve...**.

## Selecting a Curve for Editing

- In the Automation Lanes, select a curve for editing by clicking directly on the curve or in the according the Automation Lane track header. If the curve is not displayed in any Automation Lane, select the corresponding parameter from the Automation menu.
- In the track select the curve in the upper part of the automation menu. If the display option (↗360) Show all curves (selectable) is active, you can select the curve by clicking on it.

-ŷ- Sometimes you want to explicitly have no curve selected, but still have the curves visible in the track, for example, to edit the underlying objects. To do this, select Show all curves (not selectable) and No effect (track) in the Automation menu.

- In the automation menu, you can switch from curve to curve using the menu commands
   Select next curve and Select previous curve.
- For object automations, the curve is selected in the automation menu of the object editor.

Attention: To edit object curves you have to use the automation menu in the object editor, the menus in main menu and track editor refer to track automation.

### Editing the Automation Curves with the Mouse

For this purpose you can use the Universal mode, besides there are some other mouse modes especially for editing the curves.

The complete details about editing the curves in the Universal mode and in the other modes can be found in the section Mouse Modes ( $\nearrow$ 68). Here is just a brief overview and the main differences of the modes:

■ In **Universal mouse mode** (*P*71) , you can create and edit individual curve points by double clicking. Individual points, curve segments (the line between two curve points) and all curve points in a range selection can be moved with the mouse.

-ŷ- If you select the option Use snap for automation curve points in (System options > Program > General), you can move the automation points only to the time positions set in the grid.

- With the Curve mode or the combined Object/Curve mode you specifically edit curves. Selecting multiple curve points with a selection frame is easier and curve points can be created with a single click. In return, no curve segments can be moved.
- With **Draw automation** mode you can freely draw (*P*74) curves. This allows more complex waveforms to be created more accurately. Straight lines can be created with additionally pressed **Shift** key. In return, you cannot move curve points in this mode.
  - The Draw volume mode as a special case of the Draw Automation mode always draws a volume curve in the track, no matter which automation curve is displayed in the track.

To facilitate the editing of small automation values of the volume curve, you can zoom this curve towards the zero line. The commands for this are located in the menu **View** > **Vertical**.

Command	Description	Keyboard shortcut
Zoom In Volume Automation	Increases the volume curve.	Ctrl + Shift + Arrow up
Zoom Out Volume Automation	Decreases the volume curve.	Ctrl + Shift + Arrow down
Zoom default volume automation	Restores the default zoom value, the entire automation curve is displayed.	

## **Editing the Curve Shape**

Right-click on an automation curve point to open the dialog for numerical editing of the value and editing of the curve shape.

The dialog can also be opened with the command **Edit next node at cursor position** in the Automation menu or the keyboard shortcut **Alt + A**. The dialog will open at the point of the selected curve of the selected track that is closest to the current playback position.

In the input field you can enter the desired value numerically or change it with the mouse wheel. With the **Shift** key held down at the same time, change the value in smaller steps (factor 1/10) with the **Ctrl** key held down at the same time, change the value in larger steps (factor 10).



As long as the dialog is open, you can use the **Tab** key to jump to the next curve point. Close the entry field by pressing the Enter key.

With **Curve shape** you can define how the curve goes from the selected curve point to the next. The possible curve shapes correspond to the curves for objects fade in and outFade In/Fade Out (#197). The slider can be used to fine-tune the waveform.

### **Curve Generator**

The Curve Generator creates an automation curve from simple waveforms in sync with the clock grid or depending on the object volume level in the track.

To open the curve generator, select **Edit Selected Curve** > **Create...** in the Automation menu.

One cycle per	Form
<ul> <li>eighth</li> </ul>	NN   sawtooth decrescent
fourth	MI is sawtooth increasingly
half	III i rectangle
whole note	✓ ○ triangle
Option Option Scan envelope first normalise	

With the **Beat-based** option, the shape of the automation curve is based on the beat of the arrangement. At **Shape** you can choose between 4 different basic shapes for the automation curve: 2 sawtooth shapes, rectangle and triangle shape. With **One cycle per...** you can specify whether this waveform should be cycled once per eighth, quarter, half or whole note.

Click on **Options** to open an additional dialog to control the style and intensity of the influence of the beat on the automation curve.

- **Limitation** determines the minimum and maximum value of the envelope.
- Delay at minimum/maximum in %: Set here how long the maximum/minimum value is kept. This allows variations of the fundamental waveform, such as trapezoidal shapes for triangular waves or different pulse widths for square waves.

Options for environment	velope calculation (B	Delay for minimum:	0 • %
Maximum:	100 %	for maximum: shifting:	
	OK	<u>C</u> ancel	<u>H</u> elp

**Shift in %** shifts the entire curve in the beat grid.

Scan Envelope: Use this option to create an automation curve from the volume envelope of the track's objects.



**Normalize first**: This function normalizes the level of the audio object before the object is scanned to create an automation curve.

Generate curve points in selected range only: If this option is active, curve points are generated only in the selected range.

## **Copying and Pasting Automation Curves**

The commands Copy, Paste and Paste in selected tracks in the Automation menu can be used to copy automation curves partially or completely and paste them into the same or other automation curves.

**Copy** copies the selected curve completely. When a range is selected, only the section of the curve in the range is copied. Curve points selected individually or by selection frame can also be copied and are considered as a copied range.

**Paste** inserts the copied curve points into a selected curve. This works both with the same curve in the track, a curve for the same parameter on another track and even with any other parameters.



() The curve must be present and selected on the target track. So if you copy a volume curve from one track, then select another track and choose Paste, it will only work if you activate the volume curve on that track first. (Keyboard shortcut: Alt + K)

If the curve was copied completely (without range selection), it will completely replace the automation on the target curve. A copied curve range is pasted from the position of the play cursor.

With **Paste in selected tracks** you can transfer a copied curve to several other tracks simultaneously. The curve is always transferred to the same parameter in the target tracks. A corresponding automation curve must be present in the target track, otherwise no curve points will be inserted.

### **Other Menu Commands for Editing Automation Curves**

- Create new point at play cursor position: A new point is created on the curve at the playback position. It also opens the editor for the value and waveform. Keyboard shortcut: Shift + A
- Invert: The curve will be inverted. The smallest values become the largest and vice versa, so the curve is mirrored at the 50% line.
- **Thin out**: When recording automation curves, the automation points are set at very small intervals. This function reduces the number of automation points, whereby the course of the automation is still accurately displayed and reproduced afterwards.
- **Thin out automatically**: If this option is active, the command **Thin out** is automatically executed after each recording or drawing of automation curves.
- **Curve color...**: Use the command to open the color selection dialog. This allows you to assign a different color to the active curve. The 16 colors shown below at **Custom Colors** correspond to the palette you can select in Color Mouse mode (*P*76).
- Logarithmic: This option lets you switch volume curves to logarithmic display. Thus the metric of the curve, i.e. the assignment of the curve height to the volume levels, corresponds better to the control behavior of real mixing consoles. When changing the display, you can optionally scale the values on the curve. This allows you to correct values that were drawn in the respective other display mode.
- **Delete**: The selected automation curve will be deleted.
- Delete all curves: All curves of all selected tracks or of the selected object will be deleted.

### Converting Object to Track Automation and vice versa

With **Convert track to object automation** you transfer the volume or panorama automation in the track to selected objects, with **Convert object to track automation** vice versa the object automations to the track.

If automations already exist in affected objects or tracks, you will be asked whether you want to overwrite the existing automation curves or overlay them with the new curve. Overwrite replaces the curve, when overlaying the values of the curves are added. The initial curves in the track or object are set to 0, so that nothing changes in the resulting volume or panorama curve.

### **Moving Automation Curves with Objects**

If you want to move objects on the timeline and move the automations to the new position as well, activate the option **Link curves to objects** in the menu **Edit** > **Object mode** or in the menu at the button for the Object mode ( $\nearrow$ 161) on the upper toolbar.

When moving objects, all curve points from the object start to the next object are now moved. When you move an object to the left, existing curve points before the object are deleted, they are also not restored when you move the object back. In the same way, when you move the curve to the right, the following curve points are deleted when you reach the next object.

If you want to keep these automations, do not move the object to the new position, but select it and copy it. Then place the play cursor at the desired target position and paste the object there.

If you have automated an effect on a track and move an object from that track to another track, the automations will be reassigned correctly there if the effect is also present on that track. If the effect is missing from the target track, such automations are cached in a hidden automation curve so that the automation curve can be reassigned once you move the object back to a track where the effect is present. Such curves are marked with ??? in the automation menu.

-\cong\_- You can also create the effect on the target track afterwards. To reassign the automation, copy the "orphaned" curve, select the effect parameter in the Automation menu, and paste the curve.

# **PROJECT TEMPO**

Specifying a tempo in the project establishes the link between the project time and the musical time. Musical time indications (bars, quarter notes...) are needed at various places in the program:

- For the Beat grid (178) as a basis for beat-accurate edits
- For MIDI events, whose time positions are always musically defined
- For effects such as delays or modulation effects, when delay times or modulation frequencies are to be defined in musical time units.
- For VST instruments like drum samplers with their own sequencer
- For the grid display with the unit bars & beats
- For sending MIDI synchronization data (7612).

The project tempo can be constant over the duration of the project or it can vary, controlled by tempo markers or a tempo track.

## **Constant Project Tempo**

By default, a **Sequoia** project has a constant project tempo. This tempo is a project property and is displayed in the transport console.



Double-click on the BMP value to enter a new tempo, use the small arrow to open a menu to select a tempo and open a tap tempo dialog where you can tap in the tempo using the **T** key.

In the Project Properties dialog (*P*661) (keyboard shortcut: **I**), you can determine the tempo by selecting a range that should correspond to a certain number of bars and then clicking the **Get BPM from sel. range** button.

## **Tempo Changes**

You can define changes of tempo in the course of the project by inserting **tempo markers** on the marker bar.

The menu commands for inserting tempo markers can be found in the marker menu (rightclick on the marker bar or via the marker button **I** ) in the submenu **Tempo marker** and in the menu **Edit** > **Tempo**.



i With variable tempo, the current values for tempo (BPM) and time signature at the current play cursor position are displayed in the transport console.

There are two different ways to define tempo changes:

### **BPM Markers**

If your arrangement requires an explicit tempo change at a specific time position in the project, set the new tempo in BPM by entering a **BPM marker** (red). The beat grid adjusts to the new tempo accordingly.

									90.00	0							
Į	1	1:2	1:3	1:4	<b>2</b>	1:2	1:3	:4	3	1:2	1:3	1:4	4	1:2	1:3	:4	5
I																	

Place the play cursor where you want to insert the tempo change and right-click in the marker bar to open the marker menu and select **tempo marker > Set tempo change**.

The dialog **Tempo and time signature** opens with the properties of the tempo marker, enter the desired tempo there in BPM (beats per minute) and confirm with **OK**.

Tempo and Signature	Х
Time position in project: Marker name: 009:01:000 Bars Beat	
BPM 169.241 Signature 4 / 4 Options:	
Only signature change	
Interpolate tempo to preceding marker	
Ignore this marker (Bypass)	
<u>Ok</u> <u>H</u> elp	

If you enable the Interpolate tempo to preceding marker option, the old tempo will be changed steadily starting from the previous tempo marker over the time span to the new tempo marker and the new tempo value will be reached at the current tempo marker. This way you realize tempo changes (musically "ritardando" or "accelerando").

The tempo markers are set to the next snap point near the playback position when the snap is active. Drag the tempo marker while holding down the **Alt** key to temporarily bypass the snap function.

i Note: For audio objects in the project to adapt to tempo changes by tempo markers, Musical Tempo Adjustment (₹384) must be active in the Object Editor.

### **Grid Position Markers**

If you use audio material in the project in which the tempo varies, you can adjust the beat grid to match the audio material by reflecting these variations with appropriate small tempo changes in the project. But it would not be practical to directly control this changing tempo with all its fluctuations and enter corresponding BPM markers. Instead, you take an indirect route by entering **Grid position markers** (green).

Grid position markers assign a specific musical position to a specific time position. You define the tempo indirectly by adjusting the tempo before the marker so that the desired musical position is reached exactly at the marker position.



In the tempo track ( $\nearrow$ 382), you can see the effects of the beat grid change on the tempo. In this example, there are quite drastic tempo variations for better illustration.

In practice, you use grid position markers in such a way that you insert markers at regular intervals (for example, by "tapping in" (2376)) and then move them in the project exactly to the corresponding transients in the audio material, thus adjusting the beat grid to the fluctuating tempo.

To insert grid position markers, right-click in the Marker bar to open the Marker menu and choose **Tempo Markers** > **Set Grid Position marker**.

• The grid position marker is set without opening the **Tempo and Time signature dialog**. The option **Interpolate tempo to previous marker** in the dialog is enabled by default, since it is assumed that continuous tempo variations will be captured with the input of grid position markers.

## **Grid Tapping**

You can also set grid position markers "live" during playback. This allows you to adjust a beat grid to music with a fluctuating tempo, for example, to synchronize a drum computer to the music in a remix:

1. To do so, assign the menu command **Set grid position marker** a keyboard shortcut of your choice, e.g."+".

- 2. Switch the tempo map to grid fit mode by clicking the marker bar on the right and selecting **Tempo marker** > **Tempo map grid fit mode**.
- **3.** Now press "+" in time with the rhythm during playback and tap in the beat grid. At the moment the key is pressed, setting the grid position marker moves the nearest exact bar position in the beat grid to the current playback position.
- **4**. This creates a beat grid that perfectly matches the tempo of the music. Small inaccuracies can be compensated by moving the markers with the mouse.
- $\dot{\nabla}$  First, tap once per measure at the whole measure boundaries to roughly capture the tempo. Then, in a second pass, work on finer tempo fluctuations in the "beats" grid.



### Creating and Editing Tempo Markers with the Mouse

In Pitchshift/Timestretch mouse mode (arrow74) and you can create and edit tempo markers on the marker bar with the mouse.

Select the **Pitchshift/Timestretch mode** from the Mouse Mode menu on the top toolbar or menu **Edit** > **Mouse Mode**.

- **Create BPM markers**: **Shift + click on grid bar**. If you keep holding the mouse button and drag the mouse vertically, you can set the tempo right away.
- Setting the tempo of the BPM marker: Shift + click on BPM marker + drag vertically.
- Create grid position markers: Alt + click on grid bar.

• The Grid Position markers are immediately converted to BPM markers in BPM mode. In raster mode, you can create only raster position markers with the mouse.

Moving tempo markers without adjusting time positions: Alt + click on BPM marker + drag horizontally. This allows you to manipulate the beat grid and adapt it to existing audio events.

## Change Tempo Globally

If you have inserted tempo markers in a project and subsequently want to change the tempo of the project as a whole, you would have to adjust each individual tempo change accordingly. To simplify this, you can use the command **Tempo** > **Change tempo globally...** in the menu **Edit** to open a dialog in which you can change the tempo of the project as a whole by a certain factor. The entered factor is applied to each tempo marker.

## **Time Signature Change**

To change the time signature (e.g. from 4/4 to 3/4) from a certain musical position, insert a **time signature marker** (blue). To do this, select **Set time signature marker** in the menu **Edit** > **Tempo** or in the marker menu > **Tempo marker**.

The time signature has no influence on the project tempo. It determines the display of subdivisions in the grid ( $\nearrow$ 80) and the grid length ( $\cancel{7}$ 78) with the setting **Beats** and the note display in the note editor.



The first measure is in 4/4, with 4 divisions, from measure 2 in 3/8 with only three divisions in 1/8 steps

Time signature markers can only be inserted at whole bar boundaries and, when moved, can also only be positioned at the beginnings of bars.

## Tempo Map Dialog

The Tempo Map dialog contains the list of all tempo markers, their properties and a number of options on how to handle the markers. In the dialog, additional markers can also be created and selected or all tempo markers can be deleted.

Open the dialog with **Tempo Map Dialog...** in the marker menu (right-click on the marker bar) or in the **Edit** > **Tempo** menu.

Tempo-Map		×
3:1         (166.9 bpm)           5:1         (164.5 bpm)           6:1         (169.2 bpm)           8:1         (164.5 bpm)           9:1         (164.5 bpm)           9:1         (164.5 bpm)           9:1         (165.2 bpm)           10:1         (165.9 bpm)           11:1         (165.9 bpm)           12:1         (166.9 bpm)           13:1         (166.9 bpm)           14:1         (166.2 bpm)           15:1         (159.2 bpm)           16:1         (159.2 bpm)           16:1         (159.2 bpm)           17:1         (164.0 bpm)           18:1         (165.2 bpm)           21:1         (152.2 bpm)           21:1         (152.2 bpm)           21:1         (152.2 bpm)           21:1         (152.4 bpm)           21:1         (157.4 bpm)           31:1         (156.6 bpm)           32:1         (157.4 bpm)	003:01:000 005:01:000 006:01:000 007:01:000 009:01:000 010:01:000 011:01:000 011:01:000 013:01:000 014:01:000 014:01:000 016:01:000 016:01:000 017:01:000 019:01:000 022:01:000 022:01:000 022:01:000 025:01:000 035:01:000 035:01:000 035:01:000 035:01:000 035:01:000 035:01:000 037:01:000 037:01:000 039:01	Options       Ignore AI Tempo Markers. Use Project Tempo         Ide tempo marker (not in TS-Mouse Mode)         Retain musical position after tempo changes         MIDI objects         Audio object positions         Tempo marker positions         Retain time position of object's after tempo changes:         At all appointed tracks (Lock)         Properties of selected marker         Position:       Marker name:         BPM       Signature         Options:       Signature         Only signature       Delete marker         Interpolate tempo to preceding marker         New Marker       Delete marked marker         BPM Mode       Delete all tempo markers
Play-Marker/Son	Play Loop	Ok Heb

In the list on the left, all tempo markers are listed with their musical position, time signature and BPM value. With **Play Marker/Stop** the project can be played from the position of a marker, with **Play Loop** the area around the marker is played in a loop.

You can choose between two modes for displaying and editing all tempo markers: BPM mode and grid mode. In the respective modes all tempo markers are converted into the corresponding format, i.e. in **BPM mode** all tempo markers are displayed as BPM markers, in Grid mode as grid position markers.

Using the buttons, you can switch between BPM markers and Grid position markers at any time. The tempo markers remain the same, only the type of display changes. For example, first adjust the beat grid in Grid mode to a MIDI recording with many tempo changes. Now switch on the BPM mode and insert musical tempo changes for single sections.

() You can also switch between the modes using the commands in the Markers menu > **Tempo** *marker* or in the *Edit* > *Tempo* menu.

### **Options in the Tempo Map Dialog**

Ignore all tempo markers, use project tempo: This option ignores all tempo markers in the project, so that only the project tempo is relevant.

-\cong\_- This option can also be switched on and off via menu commands and at the track head of the tempo track.

**Hide tempo markers**: Enable this option to hide the tempo markers in the arranger. However, they are always displayed when you select the Pitchshift/Timestretch mouse mode, because in this mode there are special mouse actions for editing tempo markers (*7*377).

#### Retain musical position after tempo changes

If a BPM marker is changed or a Grid position marker ( $\nearrow$ 376) is moved, this influences the following markers and audio/MIDI in the project. There are two options for this: Either the time position is preserved or the musical position.

The time position is the absolute position, the musical position is flexible and depends on the beat grid. If the musical position is to be preserved, the positions of the objects or markers must be adjusted to the changed beat grid, thus changing their absolute time position in the project. If the time position is maintained, their musical position changes accordingly.

The behavior of markers, audio and MIDI objects when changing tempo markers can be set individually: By default, MIDI objects and tempo markers keep the musical position, all other markers and audio objects keep the time position.



Example: A MIDI object is placed at bar 6:1 at tempo 80 BPM. When the tempo becomes 120 BPM, the object is moved back and is thus still placed at 6:1.

#### 1 Notes:

- Audio objects for which the Musical tempo adjustment (*7*384) is active behave like MIDI objects and are also moved.
- If you drag a tempo marker in Timestretch mouse mode (*P*377) while holding down the **Alt** key, the time position of an object is always preserved.

**For all locked tracks**: If you generally want to preserve the time position of all objects in a track during tempo changes, select this option and activate the button for locking all track objects in the respective track head.

### **Properties of Selected Markers**

For the tempo marker selected in the list on the left, the properties are displayed here. If you have created a new marker at the play cursor position directly in the Tempo Map dialog using **New Marker**, set the properties of this marker here.

Properties of selected m	narker
Position:	Marker name:
009:01:000 Bars Beat	
BPM 164.545	Signature 4 / 4
Options:	
Tempo and Signa	ture
<ul> <li>Only signature</li> </ul>	
Beat position (Muster)	sical pos) 009:01:000 Bars Beat
Ignore this marker	(Bypass)
Interpolate tempo	to preceding marker

**Position**: Time position of the selected marker

**Marker name**: You can also assign names for tempo markers

BPM: Tempo in BPM When entering a grid position marker, the value cannot be edited. It updates to the tempo at that marker from the **Beat position** currently assigned to the grid position marker when you click into it.

**Time signature**: A time signature can be assigned to each tempo marker. If you switch to **Only signature** at **Options**, the current tempo marker becomes a Time signature marker.

With **Beat position (musical pos.)** you convert a selected BPM marker into a Grid position marker ( $\sqrt{7376}$ ). The position can be adjusted in the editing field.

**Ignore this marker**: Ignored markers have no effect, this allows you to override the effect of a marker without deleting it. With grid position markers, this happens automatically if nonsensical beat positions are created by moving or entering them, e.g. if grid position markers are swapped (bar 20 before bar 19) or moved in such a way that this beat position, starting from a previous tempo marker, can no longer be reached by tempo interpolation.

Interpolate tempo to previous marker: Activate this option if you want the tempo to change steadily starting from the previous tempo marker over the time span to the new tempo marker and reach the new tempo value at the current tempo marker. This way you realize gradually tempo changes (musically "ritardando" or "accelerando").



**(i)** Note: The settings apply to the marker currently selected in the marker list. So you can set the marker properties, such as the type or tempo, only after creating a new marker.

Properties of a single marker can also be edited without opening the **Tempo Map dialog**. Double-click on an existing tempo marker or right-click on a curve point in the tempo track to open the **Tempo and Signature** dialog for that marker, which displays the properties of a single marker.

## **Tempo Track**

With the tempo track you can display the course of the tempo as a curve in a separate track. The Tempo Track is a graphic display of the project's tempo map (\$\not\2378)\$ as an automation curve (\$\not\2357)\$. Each automation point of the curve corresponds to a tempo marker. Changes to tempo markers are automatically transferred to the Tempo Track and vice versa.



BPM markers, a tempo ramp (>) and a time signature change (3/8) and the tempo track below.

The Tempo Track head provides quick access to the most important commands for placing and editing tempo markers.

(i) **Note:** You still have the option of displaying the "tempo" automation curve as one of many automation curves in any other track, instead of displaying it in a separate Tempo Track. However, you will then be missing the special controls in the track head of the tempo track. When you create a separate tempo track, the tempo automation curve of the other track is removed.

### **Creating Tempo Tracks**

To create a Tempo Track, select **Track > Insert new Tracks > New Tempo Track**.



Tempo automation behaves somewhat differently than the other track automations: For example, in the case of a leaping tempo change, the two automation points (old and new

tempo) are coupled together, and the automation drawing mode creates new automation points only by clicking, not clicking and dragging.

Note: In the tempo track the beat grid is constantly active (regardless of the system option Program > General > Use snap for automation curve points). The grid can be temporarily deactivated with the Alt key.

### **Editing the Tempo Track**

**i** The tempo track can only be edited in BPM mode, in snap mode it serves solely as a display.

#### **Insert Tempo Changes**

Double-click in the Universal mode (single click in Curve mode) on the desired position in the tempo curve. With the new curve point, a new tempo marker also appears in the marker bar.

Drag the newly created curve point up or down to change the tempo. You can see that there are actually two automation points created at the same time position, one is connected to the previous point and can only be moved horizontally to adjust the time position of the tempo change. The other can only be moved vertically and is used to set the tempo.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  If the tempo change is very small, it may happen that the points are on top of each other and you can only reach the point for the time position with the mouse. For the tempo change, you can therefore also drag the curve behind the point for the tempo.



If you hold down the **Shift** key while moving a point, only the vertical position (tempo) can be moved, whereby the tempo can then be set more precisely.

**Right click** on a curve point opens the **Tempo and Signature dialog** (*7*375), which allows you to change the properties of a tempo marker and the values numerically.

#### **Insert Tempo Gradient**

To insert a tempo gradient:

- Holding down the Shift key while double-clicking (Universal mode) or single-clicking (in Curve mode/Automation Draw mode) to create a curve point will create a tempo gradient to the previous BPM marker. Only one point is created, which can be moved in both directions (position and tempo).
- If you hold down the **Alt** key while clicking and moving a curve point, you convert tempo leaps to both adjacent tempo markers into tempo gradients. The two points are combined into one point that can be moved freely.
- Hold down the Ctrl and Shift keys and click a curve point to toggle between tempo gradient from the previous tempo marker and a tempo leap.

### **Tempo Track Head**



- **1** Tempo automation on/off: You can disable tempo automation entirely with this button. This corresponds to the option **Ignore all tempo markers, use project tempo** in the Tempo Map dialog (₱378).
- **2 Current tempo**: The dropdown menu under the arrow corresponds to the one in the transport console and contains a selection of preset tempos, as well as the tap tempo feature.
- 3 Open Tempo Map dialog
- 4 Insert new tempo marker
- **5** Insert new **time signature change**
- 6 Insert new grid position marker
- 7 Switch between Grid mode/BPM mode (₹378).

## **Musical Tempo Adjustment**

Musical tempo adjustment automatically adjusts audio objects to match tempo changes in the project. This means that if the project tempo changes, the tempo of the audio objects and their start position adapts to these tempo changes. In order to maintain the musical position (bar position), the start position of the objects is moved and time stretching is used so that the object tempo is adapted to the current project tempo at all times.



Tempo adjustment even works with tempo gradients.

To use the musical tempo adjustment, in the **Time/Pitch** view of the Object editor, select **Use musical tempo adjustment**.



**Note**: For sound pool samples, musical tempo adjustment is enabled by default. If audio files are loaded via the File manager with the BPM Sync (₱336) pre-listening option active, tempo adjustment is also activated.

To determine the time stretching factor for the tempo adjustment, the audio files must have a valid original tempo, which is displayed in the object editor at **Original BPM**. For files recorded in **Sequoia**, the original tempo of the objects corresponds to the project tempo. You can also add a tempo to any other audio files by opening them as a wave project (7581) and setting the project tempo (7374)



A question mark next to the field indicates that the displayed value is a default value and may not correct.

You can either enter the original tempo manually or let the program calculate it. Options for detecting the BPM value are located in the menu next to the value



**Apply Tempo from Loop/Range...**: To determine the tempo, select a range over the object and specify how many quarter notes the selection includes.

**Analyze tempo from audio material**: **Melodyne** will calculate the tempo. Melodyne must be installed for this. More on this at Melodyne integration (*7*232).

Musical tempo adjustment cannot be used simultaneously with Elastic Audio (#277) (pitch automation), ARA (Melodyne integration) (#232), or object resampling.

The indicator field in the object editor will show you which of these options is currently being used:

- **PA**: Pitch-Automation (Elastic Audio)
- **TA**: Tempo adjustment
- SRA(Sample Rate Adjustment): Adjustment of the sample rate of audio objects by object resampling that was applied when the sample rate of the wave file differs from the project sample rate. If sample rate adjustment has been carried out automatically, you will be asked if you want to remove it when you activate tempo automation.
- **ARA**: Melodyne-Plug-in
- Notes:
  - The positions of object automations and audio quantization markers (*P*626) will be taken into account and changed accordingly.
  - The Remix Agent (7625) cannot be run.
  - The tempo adjustment is not available for objects that have an active loop (167) or an object that plays backward (198).

## **AudioWarp**

With the help of Audio Warping it is possible to selectively shift audio material within an object in time. This allows temporal inaccuracies in recordings to be corrected.

For this purpose, **Warp Markers** can be set in objects. These Warp Markers can then be moved, whereby the audio material in front of the Warp Marker is temporally compressed and the audio material behind it is stretched or vice versa. This time-stretching is effective until the next Warp Markers in the object.



In the picture you can see the typical procedure: To fit the beat in the middle to the beat grid, a Warp Marker was also set on the beats before and after it. By moving the middle Warp Marker, audio material in front of and behind it was compressed and stretched so that the beat at the now exactly desired position in the project.

To set and edit Warp Markers, switch to **Pitchshift/timestretch mouse mode**. Warp Markers that have already been set are also only visible in this mouse mode.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  - Tip: To quickly change the mouse mode, right-click anywhere in the project, hold the mouse button, and also left-click.



To set a Warp Marker, click in the upper half of the object at the desired position. An auxiliary line at the mouse cursor over the entire height of the object makes setting easier.



Click and drag the Warp Marker in the upper half of the object to move the point in time in the audio material below the Warp Marker to the desired position. All audio material before and after the Warp Marker until the next Warp Marker (or the object start or object end) will be compressed (played faster) or stretched (played slower) accordingly.



To move the anchor position, i.e. the original position of the Warp Marker in the object to be moved, click and drag the Warp Marker in the lower half of the object.

• You will notice that even in this case it is not the marker that moves, but the audio material, because the target position of the Warp Marker remains the same, only the time-stretching of the audio material is adjusted to the new anchor position.

For audio warping, the Musical tempo adjustment (₹384) must be active in the objects. This is automatically activated when you set the first Warp Marker. This also means that the restrictions that apply to Musical Tempo Adjustment (no objects with loop, reverse effect, Melodyne, Elastic Audio or object resampling) also apply to Audio Warping.

Right-clicking on a Warp Marker brings up a context menu where you can use **Warp marker active** to temporarily disable this marker, as well as delete this Warp Marker or all Warp Markers in the object .

## Metronome

There is a metronome for acoustic indication of the current tempo.



Activate the metronome with the button **CLICK** on the transport console, the menu command **Metronome active** in the menu **Edit** > **Tempo** or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + #**.

In the same menu, in the menu **File** > **Program Settings** or by right-clicking on the **CLICK** button on the transport console, open the **Metronome Settings**, where you can configure the metronome.

		Metronome
Ac Ac Pr re	ctive during <u>p</u> lay ctive during rec recount for cording ( <u>m</u> easu	yback ording Play <u>V</u> IP during precount ures): 0 Pr <u>e</u> count clicks only
🖲 Au	udio Metronome	e
	First Beat	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\fx-preset\Met
	Beats	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\fx-preset\Met
	Vo <u>l</u> ume:	0.0 dB
	Device:	<stereo master=""></stereo>
⊖ MI	IDI Metronome MIDI output d	MIDI C <u>h</u> annel: 10 First Beat Beats Note Value: 37 37
	Microsoft GS	Wavetable Synth Velocity: 127 64

- Active during playback/Active during recording: Set here whether the metronome is activated during recording, playback or for both.
- Precount For Recording (Measures): Here you can specify the number of beats that the metronome will count in before the recording starts. With Play VIP during the pre-count

active, the playback starts already during the pre-count.

Pre-count clicks only: With this option enabled, the metronome will stop with the start of the recording.

The metronome can be operated as an audio or MIDI metronome. The audio metronome plays samples, the MIDI metronome outputs MIDI notes via a MIDI hardware device.

#### **Audio Metronome**

- First beat/beats: This setting allows you to specify individual samples for the metronome for the first beat of each measure (First beat) and the other beats of the measure (Beats). The two metronome sounds "Metronome1.wav" and "Metronome2.wav" from the "fx-preset" folder of the program folder are preset.
- **Volume**: This slider controls the volume of the audio metronome sounds.
- Audio device: Set a hardware output as output device for the metronome here. Stereo
   Master is set as default.

#### **MIDI** Metronome

MIDI output device: Here you can set a MIDI output to send MIDI notes for the metronome clicks. A suitable MIDI sound generator (e.g. drum module) must then be connected there, or you use the preset system software synthesizer (Microsoft GS Wavetable Synth).

() It is not possible to use the MIDI metronome with software synthesizers.

- **MIDI channel**: Set the MIDI channel here. Channel 10, the default channel for drum sounds, is preset.
- First beat / Beats / Note Value / Velocity: Set the note values and the velocities for the first beat of each bar or the other beats of the bar here.

### **Create Click Track**

Use the menu command **Edit** > **Tempo** > **Create Click Track...** to create a new track above the first track in the project. The track (named as "Click") contains an audio object that contains all metronome clicks. In the dialog you can set whether the object should be created for a selected range, from the beginning of the project to the end of the last object or over the entire length of the project.

A Clicktrack has some advantages over using the metronome:

- You can control the click volume in the mixer and turn the metronome on and off by muting the click track.
- For more flexible monitoring, you can route the metronome signal to busses.
- The metronome can be activated during recording only in certain sections.
- The Clicktrack works better than the metronome when you work with the **Varipitch** (*1*89) function.

- $\dot{Q}$ - *Tip: Enable* **Musical Tempo Adjustment** *in the Click Track object so that the click track adjusts to subsequent changes in tempo or tempo map.* 

# VST PLUG-INS

VST is an interface that allows third-party audio software to run as instruments (VSTi) or effects (VST effects) in the form of plug-ins in **Sequoia**. **Sequoia** supports VST effects and instruments according to the VST standard VST2 and VST3.

The plug-ins can be used as 32bit or 64bit plug-in version. Older plugins, which are only available as 32bit program versions, are addressed via a so-called "bridge", i.e. a program mechanism that translates between both formats. However, since this costs additional performance and also stability and compatibility may suffer, we recommend using the 64bit version of the plugins if available.

Like the internal effects, VST effects can be used in various places to shape the sound, and many of the included effects are also designed as VST effects (MAGIX plug-ins).

VST instruments are used for virtual sound generation and are controlled by MIDI objects on the tracks. Their output signal is available as a track input signal and thus also as a channel in the mixer. In this way, the audio signals of a VST instrument can be further edited with all the options offered by the mixer, including the EQ, effects and routing.

## Installing VST Plug-ins

The VST plug-ins provided by **Sequoia** are detected automatically and can be used immediately. To use third-party plug-ins in **Sequoia**, you must tell **Sequoia** in which folder they have been installed. To do this, proceed as follows:

- Install each VST plug-in according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer. In most cases the plug-in installer suggests a default folder (e.g. C:\Program Files\VST): these System VST folders are included in the plug-in scan by Sequoia by default. But you can also use any other folder. If you already have VST plug-ins installed on your system, it is best to use the existing folder.
- Open the system settings (shortcut "Y") and go to Effects > VST/Rewire. Under the VST plug-in folder list, click Add... and enter the folder path.

VST folders		
C:\Program Files\VSTPlugins\ (Sys	tem)	
C:\Program Files\Common Files\VS	T3\ (System)	
Add	Remove	Scan
Scan user and system VST fold	ders automatically for new plug	j-ins
Activate ReWire		

- 3. Click **Scan** and choose **Scan VST Folders** from the menu to start the plug-in search. This scan may take some time for many installed plug-ins and instruments. Not only are all the plug-ins imported, but they are also checked for usability within the program. Incompatible or incorrectly installed plug-ins and those that cause the plug-in search to crash are also included in the list and flagged as unusable, so that they are skipped during the next scan and cannot cause problems again. To scan these plug-ins again, use the menu item **Scan failed plug-ins**.
- 4. The newly found plug-ins can be used immediately.
- $\dot{Q}$  Tip: For a complete reset of the VST settings and a new scan of all plug-ins, delete the file VSTPlugins.ini in the folder C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Sequoia 17. You must then specify all paths again.

If you activate the option **Scan user and system VST folders automatically for new plug-ins**, the list of plug-ins is automatically updated after every program startup when the track settings or plug-in browser are opened for the first time. This means that the program searches for newly installed plug-ins and removes uninstalled plug-ins from the list. This search is performed only once per working session, and the next time you access the track settings it'll open immediately.

You can also specify and scan any number of plug-in folders.

-`ģ´- Tips

- If you add VST plug-in subfolders into the main VST folder (e.g. "Equalizer", "Filters", "Modulation"), these will also be displayed as subfolders in the Plug-in browser.
- The command for a new plug-in scan is also in the menu that you can open with the arrow button on each plug-in slot ( $\mathbb{P}225$ ).

## Load Software Instruments

Loading a software instrument can be done at different places in the program:

■ Loading via the **Plug-in browser**:

 $\dot{\nabla}$  This is the recommended method, because the Plug-in browser (226) offers a full-text search for instruments and also their presets, and other ways to organize the plug-ins.

- Select the track.
- Open the Plug-in Browser (key: **B** or click **Add Plug-in...** in an empty plug-in slot in Mixer, Track Head or in the Plug-in section of the Track Editor).
- Filter the browser list with the button **Instruments** and select the instrument in the list.

• Load an instrument by selecting it as **MIDI output device** for a track:

- In the MIDI section of the Track Editor under Out
- In the track output context menu (right click on the **Mute** button in the **track head** or in the **Mixer** at the very bottom of a channel under **Out**) in the submenu **MIDI**
- In the Keyboard window (2504)

A rather large menu appears, giving you direct access to all presets of all included software instruments (MAGIX Synths). All other plug-ins can be found in the submenu

#### New instrument.

You can also use the same menu to remove an instrument by selecting **No VSTi (audio recording)** from the menu at the top.

■ Alternatively, you can load software instruments directly in VSTi Manager (*2*349). To do this, click in the list on **<EMPTY>**, the menu **New instrument** also opens.

**i** Note that in this case one or more new tracks are always created!

A track can only have one **MIDI Out** destination at a time. If you load an instrument in a track that already sends MIDI to another instrument that is also only controlled by this track, this instrument would consequently not be controlled at all. In this case, **Sequoia** will ask if you want to delete this "orphaned" instrument or keep it loaded so you can re-route it in the VSTi manager.

## **Routing of Software Instruments**

You can assign a software instrument as a MIDI output device to each track. You can also route the audio output channels of software instruments to any tracks of the project. MIDI

(send) and audio (return) of a software instrument can be present together on one track, but they do not have to be.

### **Dialog Routing for Multichannel Software Instruments**

When loading a software instrument, the Routing dialog for multi-channel software instruments opens, in which you can configure the typical routings for a software instrument directly when loading.



(i) The dialog opens only if the instrument has more outputs than a simple stereo output pair. If there is only one output, it will be inserted immediately with the option **Simple**. To control this instrument then from one or more other MIDI tracks, you have to route them manually (see below).

) Simple: (Kee	Audio and MIDI t p the Instrument	completely on one	ne track. single track.)		
_	-				<b>Y</b>
Multi-tim Rec are	bral: Route the a ommended if the controlled by seve	udio returns to a n VSTi can play sev eral MIDI tracks.	ew track separate reral sounds at the	e from the MIDI track. e same time "multi-tim	j brally'' which
Multi-Ch	annel: Create ne	w tracks for Instrur	ment outputs.		
(The appl	e individual output y effects separate	t signals will be rou ely for them.)	ted to individual a	audio tracks, so you c	an mix and

Simple: Audio and MIDI together on the same track The software instrument is completely managed in the current track. The track sends MIDI to the instrument and receives the instrument's audio signal. Multiple outputs will be mixed together before the mixer effects.

Extended options: You can specify that for VSTi with multiple outputs, only the first stereo output is routed to the current track.

Multitimbral: Route audio to its own track separate from MIDI: Typically, so-called multitimbral sound generators, which can play back multiple sounds controlled by different MIDI channels at the same time, use multiple MIDI tracks, with each track controlling a specific sound program (part) on a specified MIDI channel. The simplest solution for this is to create the current track as the first (and only ) MIDI control track and route all outputs to a new

audio-only track. You can then gradually create more MIDI tracks that use the sound generator.

In the **Extended Options** you can also specify that only the first stereo output is routed to the audio track. In addition, you can decide to **don't show the audio return track in the arranger** here. This is useful because these audio tracks do not contain objects or information. In the mixer, these tracks are visible.

**(i)** Note: To display hidden tracks again in the arranger window, use the Track manager ( $\mathbb{P}340$ ).

**Multi-Channel: Create multiple new tracks for instrument outputs**: Choose this option to automatically create new tracks for all VSTi audio outputs. The newly created tracks are named accordingly. The mono/stereo configuration is done automatically by **Sequoia** (default).

#### Extended options:

- **Stereo/Mono (standard)**: Information delivered from the plug-in is used for routing.
- **All as mono**: This option forces individual outputs to be treated as mono outputs.
- **All as stereo**: This option forces individual outputs to be treated as stereo outputs.
- Audio/MIDI combined (tracks also send MIDI): Activate this checkbox to route the MIDI output of each single output track to this instrument as well. A different MIDI channel is automatically assigned for each track in ascending order.
- Don't show the audio return tracks in the arranger: This is useful because the audio tracks in the arranger do not contain any objects or information. In the mixer, these tracks are visible.

The checkboxes at the very bottom allow you to determine whether this dialog is automatically displayed when inserting a new software instrument into a track and/or when performing actions in the VSTi Manager.

If you have disabled automatic opening, the last selected option will be applied when loading new software instruments. To display the dialog again or to change the options, you can also open this dialog in the VSTi Manager (\$\not\cap{349}\$) at **Routing Settings**.

### **Editing the Routing of Software Instruments**

To route an **audio output** of a software instrument to a specific track:

- Use the VST Instrument Manager
- Select an audio output of a software instrument from the context menu **Track input**. You open it via the Track head of the track (right click on **Rec**), via **In** in the **Audio** section of the Track editor or in the mixer via the **In** button at the very top of the mixer channel.

From the **Instrument Outputs** submenu, select the output of the software instrument that you want to sound on this track. The menu item is indicated by a check mark. By repeating the process, you can also route multiple outputs of an instrument to one track, or the outputs of other instruments. Deactivation of the instrument outputs works in the same way.

To route the **MIDI output** of a track to the input of a VSTi, open the MIDI output device menu as described at Loading software instruments (**#**392):

- In the MIDI section of the Track Editor under Out
- In the track output context menu (right click on the Mute button in the Track head or in the Mixer at the very bottom of the channel under Out) in the submenu MIDI
- In the Keyboard window (⊅504)

At the top of this menu, the loaded VST instruments are listed and you can select one of them.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  You can differentiate several instances of the same VST plug-ins by the number (index) in front of the name of the software instrument.

i Multiple routing of a track MIDI output to multiple instruments is not possible!

## VST Plug-in Dialog

The plug-in dialog is initially opened when a VST plug-in is loaded. After it was closed, it can be reopened by right-clicking on the plug-in slot in various places in the program (track editor, track head, mixer, object editor). For instrument plug-ins, you can also open it in the VST Instrument Manager (?349) or via the menu **Track > More > VST Instrument Editor**.

### **Plug-in**

Various settings for the plug-in can be made in the menu **Plug-in**:

**Plug-in dialog/Parameter dialog**: By default, each plug-in is displayed with its graphical interface. Alternatively, the **Parameter dialog** can be displayed. In this dialog you can select eight parameters of the plug-in, which can then be controlled via sliders. This dialog is also used if the plug-in does not have its own graphical interface.
arameter		Automati
01: predelay 🔹	0.3m(0ms) (A)	
02: size 👻	29% (A)	
03: ER absorptn 👻	89% (A)	
04: decay 👻	0.29sec (A)	
05: diffusion 👻	41% (A)	
06: ER : tail 🔹	40:60 (A)	
07: width 🔹	72% (A)	
08: dry mix 👻	61% (A)	

The parameter selection is saved for each plug-in so that you can use the same parameters the next time you use the plug-in. This makes frequently used parameters of the respective plug-in available immediately after loading.

*·<sup>`</sup>Q*<sup>·</sup> The keyboard commands **F6** and **Shift + F6** can be used to quickly switch between the two displays.

**FX I/O Matrix** (only with maintenance contract): This opens the FX I/O Matrix FX I/O Matrix (7400). This allows you to change the channel assignment of the inputs and outputs of effect plug-ins. This is particularly useful for correcting incorrect channel assignments for surround effects.

**Bypass:** Deactivates the instrument and mutes it. Note that some instruments consume processing power even when they are bypassed. For this reason you should remove these instruments completely if you don't need them anymore.

**Monitoring**: This option must be active if the instrument should be heard when playing live and recording. If you want monitoring to be enabled in the track whenever a track is armed for recording, select **Tape monitoring** in the **System options** > **Audio setup** > **Monitoring behavior**.

**Receive MIDI**: This option is always on for VST instruments. For MIDI controllable VST effects (e.g. vocoder plug-in with integrated synthesizer), you can activate this option so that the effect is available as a routing target for the MIDI output of a track and the audio effect can therefore be controlled via MIDI.

**Send MIDI**: If you activate this option, MIDI data sent from a VST plug-in can be used as MIDI input of another track.

**Process MIDI only**: You cannot influence this option. It indicates that the plug-in has been loaded as **MIDI plug-in** (see below).

**Permanent options:** These additional settings apply to all instances of the respective plug-in.

**i) Note:** We recommend, that you alter the Permanent Options only if compatibility problems occur. If you have made changes here, please reload the project afterwards!

Restrict to 1 CPU only: All instances of VSTi will be calculated only on one CPU. This way you can avoid a multi CPU conflict between different instances of the same plug-in. If you activate this option for an effect plug-in, all track and object effects on tracks that use this plug-in are calculated on one CPU only.

Note: When using UAD cards, this option is activated by default.

Force calculation for silent input: If you have individual tracks calculated as economy tracks via the Playback Engine (713), Sequoia normally does not process track effects if there is no audio signal present for a while. This decreases the load on the CPU. However, with this plug-in option you can make the plug-in in the track always calculate audio data, even if no audio signal is currently passing through the effect. This is recommended for reverb or delay plug-ins with long decay times and generally for all plug-ins that produce audio independently of their input.

**i Note**: When using the Hybrid Engine, also empty or silent tracks are calculated by default instead. You can change this behavior in the performance options (\$724) (keyboard shortcut: **Y**) with the options **Deactivate muted tracks for ASIO** and **Deactivate FX on** empty or silent tracks for ASIO.

**No automatic copying:** This option prevents automatic copying of plug-ins when you split or copy objects.

Load/Save patches/banks: Save an instrument's settings and sounds here. The standard formats for this are: \*.fxp for patches or \*.fxb for whole banks. Some instruments have their own patch/bank format. Settings are then usually loaded and saved directly via the instrument's interface.

**Randomize parameters**: Use this function to set all parameters of an instrument to a random value. For synthesizers, this option can lead to surprising results and provides interesting results for the sound design thanks to the random generation of a new sound. However, it should be noted that parameters are only set randomly if they can also be reached from the interface. With some very complex virtual synthesizers or modular systems, some parameters may not be adjustable using this option. Also note that randomly setting arbitrary parameters could generate very extreme sounds. This may lead to no sound being produced at all or extremely loud volumes and frequency ranges being reached. For this reason you should keep an eye on the monitoring volume while experimenting with this function.

Automate next parameter: The next parameter which you change during playback will be recorded via automation. You can also achieve this by holding down the Ctrl + Alt key together while changing the parameter with the mouse.

**Hardware Controller Easy Learn**: If you activate this function, you can learn your hardware controller by moving the plug-in element you want to train and by moving the element you selected at the hardware controller.

Pay attention to the following when doing this:

- When you are finished assigning the controls be sure to switch "Hardware Controller Easy Learn" off to avoid making any unwanted changes to the settings.
- The hardware controller element must first be learned in the hardware controller setup and cannot be left empty.
- Learned elements permanently modify the internal mode in the hardware controller setup. The assignment is also available later for other projects.
- Assignment can be cleared again with the **Restore modes** button beside the internal mode in the hardware controller setup
- Detailed information about mapping hardware controllers can be found in the included PDF document Hardware Controller.pdf in the section Customizing Controllers.

## Programs

Programs features the presets for the corresponding plug-in.

Only the internal presets according to the VST standard are displayed. Many VST plug-ins have their own manufacturer-specific preset management, which is only available through the plugin's interface.



For VST instruments: If an instrument has presets, they will also appear on the track that uses this plug-in in the MIDI section of the Track Editor at **Program**. If your MIDI input device can send Program Change messages, you can select programs of the instrument directly in this way.

# Sidechain Input

The sidechain is a second stereo input pair that can be used primarily by dynamics effects to control levels using a separate signal from one or more other tracks rather than the program signal itself.

A typical example for using a sidechain send is to control a compressor for the bass using the kick drum signal. This way, every time the kick drum sounds, the bass will be lowered.

If an appropriately equipped VST/ MAGIX plug-in (e.g. AM-Munition) and also the internal Advanced Dynamics effect are loaded in a track or master, you can select one or more tracks of the project as a sidechain source in the lower part of the **Sidechain-Input** menu. When a source is activated, a sidechain bus is created in the corresponding track. This bus is not shown as a mixer channel like normal tracks or busses, it only sends to the sidechain input of the plugin.

In the VST standard, there is no special labeling of VST effect inputs specifically as sidechain inputs. Sequoia assumes for all VST-FX that have more than two inputs that inputs 3/4 can be used as sidechain.

**Side chain in:** Activates and deactivates the sidechain function.

Side chain solo: With this option you can listen to the sidechain signal. The effect will be switched to "Bypass", and only the input of the Sidechains will be output. When closing the plug-in dialog, the "Side chain solo" function is automatically reset. "Side chain solo" is also ideal for acoustic control when applying the sidechain filter.

**Side chain filter**: The sidechain signal can be filtered by a Parametric equalizer (275).

### Show Sidechains



With a right-click in the **AUX** section of the mixer and Track Editor you can also display the sidechain sends.

An internal sidechain bus is created in the tracks used for the sidechain signal and the sidechain send control is assigned for the destination track. Unlike AUX Sends, the track name is preceded by a > character. The signal tap of the sidechain send is preset to "Pre-Fader" (fader display in yellow). This keeps the sidechain signal independent of the channel's volume.

Right-click to switch the selected sidechain to "Direct Out" (fader display in red) or "Post-Fader Out" (fader display in orange), or open the Stereo panorama dialog for panorama definition (2521) of the respective sidechain send.



() You can get a good overview of all assigned sidechain sends in the matrix display of the Routing Manager (7350).

# FX I/O Matrix

This function is only available with an existing Sequoia maintenance contract.

The FX I/O Matrix allows you to distribute the channels of the signal that is sent to a plug-in slot to the input channels of the VST plug-in. The output channels of the VST plug-in can in

turn be assigned to the output channels of the plug-in slot. This is helpful, for example, to correct incorrect channel assignments for surround effects in surround buses.

You can open the FX I/O Matrix by selecting **FX I/O Matrix** in the **Plug-in** menu of the VST plug-in window (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl+F6**).



The left-hand matrix allows you to route the track signal (rows) and the sidechain inputsSidechain Input (\$\alpha\$399) to the plug-in inputs (columns). Use the right-hand matrix to route the plug-in outputs (columns) back to the track channels (rows). The sidechain input channels are only displayed if sidechaining is available and activated in the plugin, i.e. a track signal is routed to the sidechain input.

**i** Sidechain routing is only available with a **Sequoia** maintenance contract.

There are two buttons for each matrix: **Restore default routing** 11 and **Remove all routings** 11 and **Remove all routings** 11 The buttons above apply to both matrices.

# **MIDI Plug-ins**

The term MIDI plug-in is actually not a "proper" term within the VST standard. Rather, it was coined by users themselves to refer to those VSTi plug-ins that process MIDI input and generate MIDI output from it without generating audio themselves, for example, arpeggiators, chord helpers, or MIDI sequencer plug-ins.

In previous versions of **Sequoia**, the integration of such plug-ins was quite cumbersome: the MIDI plug-in had to be loaded on a separate track, because a track could only contain only one

VSTi. Then the MIDI output of the plug-in had to be activated and on another track the actual synthesizer had to be loaded and the MIDI output of the MIDI plug-in had to be selected as MIDI input. The integration of several such plug-ins was not possible at all, since there was only one such "internal" MIDI bus.

As a more comfortable solution there is now the possibility to load VSTis as MIDI plugins.They can be loaded in the same track together with a VST instrument, it is also possible to load several MIDI plug-ins (e.g. Chord+Arpeggiator) in a row.

To add a plug-in as a MIDI plug-in, open the track's plug-in browser and select it. Now click on the small triangle next to **Add** and select **Use as MIDI plug-in**. You can also hold down the **Alt**-key while clicking on **Add** (or the **+** icon directly on the plug-in).



The MIDI plug-in is always inserted before an instrument in the track effect chain. You can now add more MIDI plug-ins, they will be inserted after the first MIDI plug-in before the instrument.

igta The use of MIDI plug-ins is only possible when using the hybrid engine (atriangle 711).

## **Recording MIDI Plug-ins**

The MIDI plug-in processes the MIDI input signals of the track and the MIDI of the track objects. This means that during a MIDI recording the input of the track is recorded and not the output of the MIDI plug-in. In the example of an arpeggiator, this means the held long notes, not the fast short ones. If you want to record the *output* of a MIDI plug-in, you must activate **Send MIDI** in the **Plug-in** menu of the Plug-in window to be able to select the MIDI output of the plug-in on another track as an additional MIDI input and record it there. (This corresponds to the approach in older versions of **Sequoia**)

Select a plug-in's MIDI output as an additional track MIDI input by right-clicking the track's Record button and activating it at **MIDI Sender Plug-ins**.



▲ Unfortunately, it is currently not possible to select only the MIDI output of a plug-in as the input device on a track. The unprocessed keyboard inputs are therefore also recorded on this track. As a workaround, you can either select an unused MIDI input device or delete the additional notes in the MIDI object after recording.

# ReWire

ReWire is a software protocol that allows you to remotely control another software within **Sequoia**. This virtually "wires" another DAW software to **Sequoia**, for example, meaning the ReWire application (client) receives MIDI data from **Sequoia** and sends your audio output back to and allows direct data exchange. The applications' transport functions, such as play and fast-forward/rewind, are linked by ReWire.

ReWire-compatible client applications (like, for example, Propellerheads Reason) can be integrated into **Sequoia** as software synthesizers.

By default, the ReWire functionality is not activated. You enable it by checking the **Activate ReWire** checkbox in the Program Preferences (key: "Y") at **Effects > VST/Rewire** (*№*750). After that, installed ReWire applications can be used as instrument in **Sequoia**.

All ReWire client applications appear as a separate section in the plug-in list of the **Plug-in browser** and are loaded like a software instrument (VSTi). The client application should always be launched after **Sequoia** and should be closed before exiting **Sequoia**.

Some client applications can be opened directly from the host by right-clicking on the name in the MIDI Out slot. Otherwise you have to start your client application manually, it automatically detects the existence of a host application and opens in a special client mode.

The ReWire application can be controlled with MIDI, just like a software instrument. The client application runs, starts, and stops synchronous to the time position of **Sequoia**. Tempo and playback range are taken over.

When using ReWire the MIDI channel of MIDI notes and events is not important and is replaced by the ReWire MIDI bus system. Here, the MIDI object of a track controls a ReWire MIDI bus. This way, all events of a MIDI object in a track refer to this ReWire bus, regardless of which channel number the events originally had. Multi-timbral MIDI objects (like those created in the MIDI file import) cannot be played correctly with ReWire. You can, however, access the ReWire client across multiple tracks on various ReWire MIDI busses.

ReWire supports up to 4096 buses. A ReWire client reports only the actually available MIDI busses to the host (**Sequoia**). You can select the bus (e.g. in Reason: the receiving instrument) within the track in the MIDI Out Channel menu of **Sequoia**.

You can place individual output signals of the ReWire client on different tracks. To do this, directly when loading the Rewire client, use the routing for multichannel software instruments (1/393) or the VSTi Manager (1/349).

**i** It is not possible to use **Sequoia** as a client in other ReWire applications.

# **Deactivating VST Plug-ins**

Plug-ins can also be completely deactivated so that memory space can be freed up. When reactivating the plug-in, its last state is completely restored.

To deactivate a plug-in, click the corresponding plug-in slot using **Shift + Alt**.



To distinguish the deactivation from the simple bypass, the name is supplemented by asterisk symbols \*\*.

# **Included Software Instruments**

The VST instruments shipped with **Sequoia** Independence, **Revolta 2**, **Vita** and the **Vita Solo Instruments** are referred to as **MAGIX Synths**.

To ensure compatibility with older projects, you can optionally still use some of the old, no longer developed **Object synths** in **Sequoia**.

## **MAGIX Synths**

Several software synthesizers/samplers are integrated in **Sequoia**, based on VST plug-in technology:

- **Independence**: a sampler with 70 GB of content.
- Revolta 2: A polyphonic analog synthesizer based on subtractive sound synthesis with frequency modulation. Sounds in Revolta 2 don't use samples as a foundation they are calculated in real time from your computer processor. Revolta 2 is particularly suited for electronic music, with lead, sequencer and pad sounds as well as bass and effects.
- Vita: A sampler with realistic-sounding, "classical" instrumental sounds like different guitars (Power Chords, clean electric guitar, acoustic guitar, bass guitar), different pianos, percussion, strings, brass, woodwinds (each as an individual set & as an

ensemble set), and much more.

Vita Solo Instruments is a collection of different sample players based on Vita sampler technology and with customized interfaces for each of the instruments.

## Independence

The Independence sampler gives you access to hundreds of music-oriented software functions. The intuitive user interface and file management system, the ultra fast streaming integration, multi-core processor support and the Auto-RAM-Cleaner makes it possible to store and use a huge number of instruments in seconds.



i Detailed information about "Independence" can be found in the included PDF document.

## Revolta 2

The Revolta 2 is polyphonic with up to 12 voices. It includes an additional noise generator, step sequencer and is equipped with an extremely flexible modulation matrix. Its effects section of 9 different effects and presets, designed by a famous designer, make its a full-fledged synthesizer for all kinds of lead, sequence, and pad sounds.

Revolta 2 has a number of ready programmed presets. The sounds were created by professional sound designers and already show " out of the box" the great potential of this instrument. However, we would still like to encourage you to try out the various controls to experiment around as much as you like. The sky's the limit to your creativity.

## **Revolta 2 - Interface**

The Revolta 2 interface can be displayed in two sizes. In rack mode only the elements necessary for preset loading are visible:



Clicking the "Edit" button opens the entire user interface.

**1. Main parameter**: Here the volume, panorama position, pitch characteristics ("transpose") and the play modes (POLY, MONO, LEGATO) can be set. GLIDE controls the portamento time.

**2. Oscillator section**: Two oscillators are available with a smoothly adjustable curve form and a noise generator. The two oscillators can be detuned against each other and frequency modulate with each other.

**3. AMP:** This is the volume envelope. With this you can control the timing of a sound's volume. A(ttack) stands for the volume increase at the beginning, D(ecay) for the duration of the volume drop to a proportion of the maximum volume specified by S(ustain). R(elease) is the length of time it takes for the sound to fade out. VEL specifies how much the envelope depends on the velocity.

**4. FILTER:** Here you can switch on a filter which influences the sound. With FILTER TYPE you can select the kind of filter you want to use. "Cutoff" controls the filter frequency and "Resonance" controls the strength of the emphasized filter frequency. "VEL" indicates how much the velocity influences the filter frequency, using "KEY" you can change the filter frequency depending on the note value ("keytracking"). The filter envelope (ADSR slider) influences the filter frequency depending on the time. "env mod" controls the intensity of the filter envelope, "drive" allows you to overdrive the filter.

5. FX1/FX2: Here you can mix in 2 different effects out of a total of 9 available effects.

**6. LFO1/LFO2/STEPSEQUENCER**: Two LFOs and the step sequencer can be used to modulate single parameters of Revolta 2.

**7. Options and modulation matrix**: The two buttons open Revolta's options page for general and preset-specific settings and the modulation matrix. In the modulation matrix, modulation sources are connected with modulation targets. Simple modulations like an oscillator, where the pitch will be modulated via an LFO (vibrato), may be set quicker directly on the interface. Much more complex modulations are possible in the matrix, because the matrix offers more modulation sources (e.g. MIDI controller, oscillators) and the modulation source may influence more targets.

	<b>1-8</b> 9-16		MODULATION	I N	IATRIX		
midi lea	m source		amount		destination	active	reset
0	Constant Value (100%)		-100]	⊳[	Filter input		0
	Constant Value (100%)	_⊳[	+100	$\triangleright$	Filter output		0
0	Midi CC: 007 Volume		+100	Þ	Output volume		0
0	Midi CC: 010 Pan	_⊳[	+100	$\triangleright$	Pan position		0
0	Midi CC: 011 Expression		+100	$\triangleright$	Filter cutoff frequency		0
0		]≬[	[0]	$\triangleright$			0
0			[0]	Þ			0
			[0]	⊳[			0

**8. VALUE DISPLAY**: The value display shows the exact value of the parameter which was just modified. You can also check the usage of the twelve voices.

**9. Preset section**: Select different Revolta presets here. Each sound can be tested briefly using the loudspeaker symbol; an A-B comparison between two sounds is also possible (e.g. edited and original preset).

# Vita Solo Instruments

Vita Solo Instruments are sample players that have an interface specifically tailored to the corresponding instrument.

The basic controls are identical for all these Vita Solo Instruments.



One click on the arrow symbol opens a drop-out menu where you can determine the general sound of the instrument. If "ECO" appears in the description, this refers to especially performance-improving settings which may not sound so "smooth". You can also save the settings you changed in order to add them to your favorites lists for later use.



This controls the general volume of the instrument.



You can turn the instrument keyboard on or off with this switch.

Because these samplers are enhanced for each instrument by tuned effects, the rest of controls function analogously to the already familiar synthesizers such as Vita.

## Articulation

Some Vita Solo Instruments have a special feature: In the bass octave (on the keyboard (CO-BO), there are special notes, which let you control the playing style (articulation). An alternative sample set is loaded, which lets the sound even more realistic using various playing

styles natural to the instrument, for example note bending and flageolet on the guitar or staccato on the saxophone.

Articulation is switched on and continues until normal articulation is switched on again through the corresponding note (CO).



In the keyboard of the instrument surface, the keys for switching the articulation are displayed in a different color. In the MIDI Editor here, you can see a practical application of articulation. The notes from 1:4 are played with a different articulation. Before the last note at 2:2, C1 returns to normal articulation.

# Vita

The MAGIX Vita synthesizer specializes in the realistic reproduction of instruments. It works using sampling technology which combines short recordings (samples) of real instruments of various pitch, playing techniques and volume, which are then combined and reproduced.

### **The Vita Interface**

1

2



- **Layer selection/Peak meter:** The Vita sounds, also called layers, can be selected here using the arrows. Right-clicking on this display opens the layer menu.
  - **Main parameter**: Set the volume, panorama position, pitch offset ("Transpose"), and the fundamental frequency ("Master tune") here.

AMP: This is the volume envelope. This allows you to influence the time course of the volume of a sound. A(ttack) stands for the volume increase at the start, D(ecay) for the duration of the volume drop to a proportion of the maximum volume specified by S(ustain). R(elease) is the length of time it takes for the sound to fade out after the note stops.



3

- **FILTER:** Here you can switch on a filter which influences the sound. With FILTER TYPE you can select the kind of filter you want to use. **Cutoff** controls the filter frequency, **Resonance** the amount of emphasis on the filter frequency. **Velocity** indicates how much the velocity influences the filter frequency, using **Gain** you can balance the volume. The filter envelope (ADSR slider) influences the filter frequency depending on the time.
- **5 DELAY**: Here you can switch on an echo effect. **Time** controls the delay time and **Level** controls the strength of the echo sound.
- 6 **REVERB**: Here you can switch on a reverb effect. **Time** controls the delay time and **Level** controls the amount of reverb.
- **VALUE DISPLAY**: This always displays the exact values of the parameter that was just adjusted.
- 8 DYNAMIC SETTINGS: Usually, the relationship between the created volume and MIDI velocity is proportional. Since some MIDI keyboards need too hard a stroke for loud notes or, conversely, deliver too high a velocity for a light stroke, you can compensate for this behavior with the MIDI Input Curve. Using dynamic and dynamic curve you can manipulate the dynamics of a sound, i.e. the relationship between the loudest and quietest sounds.
- **VOICES**: Here you can control the number of voices played simultaneously. If notes stop playing during fast passages, you can increase the number of voices here at the expense of performance.
- **Keyboard**: This allows you to try out the sounds of the Vita.

## Vita - MIDI Specifications

Vita parameter	Control Change #	GeneralMIDI
ModWheel	1	ModWheel
Volume	7	Volume
Pan	10	Pan
Mastertune	14	Mastertune
Sustaining	64	Sustaining
Cutoff	71	Filter Cutoff
Amp Release	72	Release Time
Amp Attack	73	Attack Time
Resonance	74	Resonance
Amp Decay	75	Decay Time
Amp Sustain	80	Button 1
Filter Velocity	81	Button 2
Filter Gain	82	Button 3
Reverb Level	91	Reverb
Reverb Size	92	Tremolo
Delay Level	93	Chorus
Delay time	94	Delay/Vari
Filter Attack	102	-
Filter Decay	103	-
Filter Sustain	104	-
dynamics	108	-
dynamics curve	109	-
MIDI input curve	110	-

## Vita - MIDI Event Types

PitchbendxNoteOnxNoteOffxControlChangexAftertouch0

## **Object Synths**

The object synths are synthesizers loaded as standalone objects that contain both the sound generation and its control in the form of a specially adapted sequencer. Unlike VSTi software synthesizers, which are controlled via MIDI in the same way as MIDI sound generators, synth objects can be moved between tracks at will.

Load object synths via menu **Object** > **Edit MIDI data** >**New Synth Object**. This creates a 4 bar loop object at the current playback marker position. Double-click the object to open the instrument interface of the object synth.

The menu item is only available if the object synths are also installed. For installation start the installation manager with menu Help > Download instruments & sounds...



Use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Space** to play a selected object synth solo.

The following object synths are integrated into **Sequoia**:

- **BeatBox 2**, a virtual drum computer for drum kits with high quality effects
- **Loop Designer** for developing your own drum loops and bass lines
- Robota a complex, four-part drum computer that aids in the generation of sounds as well as working with samples and oscillators (analog sound synthesis).

## BeatBox 2

BeatBox 2 is a 16-voice pattern-based drum machine with hybrid sound generation and step sequencer. The control concept includes sound generation including multi-effect section (one effect per drum instrument), auto-copy and convenient velocity editing.

A drum sound is created in BeatBox 2 using a sample which is combined with a synthetic sound that can be created using up to three different synthesis models (hybrid sound synthesis). BeatBox 2 also enables detailed editing and automation of all sound parameters.

The BeatBox 2 interface has two states. While closed, you can listen to included sounds or those you've made in BeatBox 2 by yourself without using too much window space.



When closed, only the most important controls are displayed:

- **1** Volume controller: Controls the volume.
- **Peak meter and preset name**: The peak meter allows you to visually check the output of the BeatBox 2. Clicking the triangle beside the preset name opens the preset list.

#### **3** Previous/next preset

- **Save preset**: The preset includes the drum kit in use, the pattern, and any possible automations.
- **6 Play/Stop**: The playback control in BeatBox 2 starts BeatBox solo, i.e. without playing the arrangement.
- 6 Edit button: The edit button opens BeatBox 2 for you to program your own beats and sounds.

	Volume mai was neues	X
	Folow 1 2 3 4 ALL 1.2-4	
	PATTERN CLEAR 1 2 4 19 8 16 32 ▶ 🗍 💶 default 💌 III track III all I	
MS 🕕 kick drum 02 🛛 💌		
MS 🕩 snare drum 02 🛛 💌		
MS I hh way halfopen		
MS () ring ding 🦲 💌		
MS ( ) synthetic 💋 💌		
MS () pm hihat		
MS (P)·		
MS (). 🔽	2	
	<b>.</b>	
BeatBox2 Plus Version: 2.0.0.1	1.00 kHz 283 ms 67% 3.04 kHz 21.9dB 15% 50% 8.35k 20% 60	0%
SAMPLE HHat 03 closery		D
Physical Modelling	Exciter Freq Decay Damping Filter Freq Volume Pan Room Reverb	

Maximized BeatBox 2 window

- **Drum kit**: This section is where drum kits (collections of different drum instruments) and the individual drum instruments are loaded.
- 2 Selected drum instrument: The settings in the synthesis section (5) and velocity/automation (4) always affect the selected drum instrument.
- **3 Pattern editor**: Programs the beat sequence. At the top, various patterns (sequences) can be loaded and saved, and various settings can be made for the view and function of the pattern editor. Beats are programmed in the matrix: A row corresponds to a drum instrument, and a column to the specific time position within 1-4 bars If a box is clicked it triggers the corresponding drum instrument located at that time position.
- **Velocity/Automation**: This section has two modes: Velocity and Automation. In the Velocity setting, the velocities for the beats of the selected drum instrument are displayed as bars. In the Automation setting, a sound parameter selected in the Synthesis (**5**) section can be automated.

**5 Synthesis**: The selected sound parameters and effects settings for the selected drum instrument can be edited here.

In the following, the sections of BeatBox 2 will be discussed individually:

#### Drum kit



Drum kit: This section loads drum kits (collections of different drum instruments) and the individual drum instruments. You can also try out an already programmed pattern with different kits or exchange individual drum instruments.



New drum or effect sounds can by added to the current drum kit by drag & drop from Windows Explorer. Drag a wave file to a drum instrument to create a new drum sound based

on this sample BeatBox 2 copies the sample into the sample folder to make sure that the instrument or kit created can be used again later. You can drag a complete folder with wave files to the drum kit to create a kit based on those samples.

#### Context menu

Right clicking a drum instrument always opens a context menu:

- **Copy/Paste**: Copy an instrument from a track and paste it to another one.
- **Empty instrument**: An empty instrument is added. No sound is played, it has no name, and is used to clean up an unused track.
- Default instrument: Adds the standard instrument. It has the standard parameter for all synthesis types and serves as the starting point for your own sounds.
- Reset automation: Some of BeatBox 2's own presets contain automations. These are dynamic sound parameters like filters or pitch changes. This command allows these to be completely removed for the selected instruments.

#### Pattern editor buttons

ก



**Pattern**: Use the <> buttons to switch through the different patterns. The arrow to the right opens a list of all available patterns, and the save button stores the current pattern.

**Clear track/all**: All events for the selected instrument (track) or all events for the pattern (all) are removed by clicking this button.

**Bar selection**: The bar you wish to edit can be selected via the corresponding number button. Use the **Follow** button to select follow mode, i.e. the step display follows the steps of the currently played beat. **All** shows all bars of the pattern.

**(3)** "1>2-4" auto copy: If more than one bar is set as the pattern length, "Auto copy" mode makes sure that the drum notes set in the first bar are automatically placed into the next bars. This also makes it easy to create a continuous beat, even with a loop length of four bars. Notes that are set in the following bars are not affected by the Auto Draw function, so that, for example, a variation can be drawn in very easily only in the 4th bar.

**Bars**: The maximum length of a drum pattern is four beats. The length can be selected via the small scroll bar above the toolbar list.

**Shuffle**: This controller changes the timing of BeatBox 2; if the controller is turned to the right, 1/8th notes in the rhythm will be played more and more as triplets. If that sounds a bit too abstract – simply try it out, ideally with a pure 1/16 hi hat figure; you'll soon see what the shuffle fader is doing.

**Grid**: Set the time resolution for BeatBox here. Choose from 1/8 notes (only for very simple rhythms), 1/16 (default), and 1/32 (for more refined constructions).

#### Pattern Editor - Matrix

6

6

7



This is the heart of BeatBox. With a mouse click on any position in the drum matrix you can create and delete any drum note. Clicking and dragging draws in a series of notes. Together with the velocity editing options (see Velocity), you can easily create drum rolls.

By holding down the Shift key, a rectangle can be drawn, with which the notes lying in the rectangle are selected (lasso selection). Selected notes can be copied by dragging them to a new position. If "Ctrl" is also held down, then existing notes will remain at the target position. Delete all selected notes by right clicking.

Two special commands are available for selection:

**Shift + Double Click**: Select everything in the beat that has been clicked.

#### Ctrl + Shift + Double Click: Select everything

A simple mouse click clears the selection. The selection is automatically cleared after copying. If you want to keep your selection, hold down the Shift key while copying.

Many functions in BeatBox 2 can be controlled with the keyboard. For example, a beat can be triggered with the "Enter" key live in a running pattern. Here's a complete list of the keyboard commands:

#### **General functions**

```
E Open/Close editor
```

#### Pattern editor options

А	"1>2-4" Auto copy
F	Follow
1-4	Display bar 1 4
0	Show all bars
+/-	Grid finer/coarser

#### Selected drum instrument

Cursor up/down	previous/next
Р	Preview
Enter key	Live input
Μ	Mute on/off
S	Solo on/off

### Velocity

In the Velocity Mode the Velocity/Automation section serves for editing the velocity of the individual drum notes for the selected drum instrument.



### Automation

Every parameter for a drum sound, including effects, can be automated, i.e. can change during a pattern. For example, give your snare drums more liveliness by adding a subtle higher pitch to loud beats, or set accents by adding a reverb effect to only individual beats.



2

In the Synthesizer section below, select a parameter for automation with the small blue LED above a parameter knob. More about the parameter controls in the Synthesizer section.





- **Mode switch**: Switches the section between Velocity control (see above) and Automation. When a parameter is selected for automation, this happens automatically.
- **8 Random**: The Random parameter adds random variations to the set automation. This helps make the beats sound more natural because each programmed hit will sound slightly different. The level of the Random parameter is also influenced by the amount controller (see below), i.e. if the amount is at "0", then the randomness will have no effect.
- Amount. The Amount parameter controls the total influence of the automation values and the random factor on the selected parameter. With Amount = 0 the drawn automation has no influence at all, with Amount = max the biggest influence. The effects of the Amount controller on the automation values is made visible by a slightly lighter line in the value bars.
- **5 Automation values**: For the selected parameter, automation values can be drawn in here as bars with the mouse. Automation values can also be drawn between the set notes, the sound of the drum instrument will then change during playback. The automation values are added to the original value of the parameter.

#### Editing velocities and automation values

Hold down the Shift key and use the mouse to select a number of bars for Velocity or Automation. Two special commands are available for selection:

**Shift + Double Click**: Select everything in the beat that has been clicked.

#### Ctrl + Shift + Double Click: Select everything



The **Copy** button copies the selection to the clipboard. If you now drag a selection again within this or any other editor track or automation, you can paste the notes or automation data there using Paste.

The three handles allow the velocity or automation values to be edited together.



The middle handle increases or lowers all values.



With the right or left handle you can fade the values in or out



If you move the handles horizontally you can change the curve shape of the transition. A single click in the automation section cancels the selection again.



**i Note**: A selection of velocity values is equivalent to selecting the corresponding notes in the Matrix Editor track.

### **Synthesizers**

In the lower section of the BeatBox you can set the sound of the selected drum instrument.

The synthesizer of BeatBox 2 is composed of a combination of a simple drum sampler and a synthesizer. There are three different synthesis models possible for the synthesizer: "Phase distortion synth" (FM synthesis), "Filtered noise", and "Physical modeling". The mixed signal of both components, sampler and synthesizer, is then edited by a multi mode filter. An envelope ("envelope generator) controls time-dependent modulations in all components. The details of the synthesis models can be read in the section Synthesis models.



#### Synthesis models

The sound synthesis in BeatBox 2 consists of a simple sampler and a synthesizer which includes three different synthesis modules.

**Sampler**: The sampler plays short sound recordings ("samples") in different pitches. The sampler is intended for creating all kinds of drum sounds; the sounds are static and unnatural if the pitch is not altered. This is why the sampler is combined with one of the three synthesis models.



**Filtered Noise**: White noise is filtered by two band-pass filters with separately adjustable frequency and resonance. This algorithm is suitable for creating synthetic snares and hi-hat sounds.

**Phase Distortion Synth**: Two oscillators with adjustable phase distortion and variable frequency within wide limits modulate each other (FM/crossmodulation/ringmodulation). Depending on the setting, this algorithm can be used to create kick, tom, or metallic percussion sounds; higher values for frequency and modulation level produce noisier sounds for hi-hats or shaker sounds. Since the oscillator frequency can be set exactly according to the musical pitch, this model can be used to produce bass lines or melodies.

**Physical Modelling**: This is a simple physical model of an "abstract" percussion instrument. A fed-back network of delays is oscillated by an impulse of filtered white noise (exciter). Depending on the setting of the exciter, the size of the model (surface), and the damping, a wide spectrum of natural sounding percussion instruments like cymbals, claves, gongs, or triangles can be created.

## **Effect Section**

Each of BeatBox 2's drum instruments includes an effects unit which is fed in after the actual sound synthesis and filtering. Each of these effects units includes a series of high-quality algorithms to add "audio polish" or to place the sound in a production-typical context.



### FX on/off

2

3

4

**Parameter control**: The effect module has four adjustable parameters, the fourth ("Mix") is permanently available and the others have a function depending on the selected algorithm (see below).

Automation: This selects the control's parameter for automation.

**Effects algorithm**: Click the arrow to select an effects algorithm.

The available effect algorithms:

#### Mono Delay (Sync / ms)

Simple, monophone delay effect.

#### Parameters:

- **Time**: Delay time controlled by musical measure (sync) or in milliseconds (ms).
- **Feedback**: Repeats
- **Damping**: Height attenuation of repeats

#### Stereo delay (Sync/ms)

Stereophonic repetitions, adjustable separately per side.

#### Parameters:

- **Left / Right**: Delay times, synced or time
- Feedback: Unlike the mono delay, no repetitions take place only in the center position of the feedback control. When turned to the left, the delay is of the "ping-pong" type, i.e. the signal is sent alternately to one side so that it bounces between the channels. When turned to the right, the delay effect is "dual mono", in which case left and right sides function as two independent time-delay units.

#### Chorus

Produces a typical "floating/shimmering sound" through modulated detuning of a signal to "thicken" its sound or spread it across the stereo field. Detuning is achieved via a short delay, the length of which can be varied by the modulation. This produces the so-called "Doppler" effect.

#### Parameters:

- **Time**: Delay time in milliseconds. This can be understood as the "base" modulation which is stretched or compressed by the modulator.
- **Rate**: Modulation speed
- Depth: Modulation amplitude. Low values modulate only a little; higher values create a clear vibrato.

#### Flanger

Algorithmically similar to chorus, but different in that the delay time is significantly lower and the delay works with repetitions (feedback). A flanger sounds more "cutting" and up-front than a chorus.

#### Parameters:

- **Rate**: Modulation speed
- **Feedback**: Delay feedback
- **Depth**: Modulation amplitude

#### Phaser

A modulation effect just like chorus & flanger, but in this case no detuning takes place. Filter components periodically alter the signal's "phase response" (principle of the "phase shifter"). Characteristic notches are produced in the frequency spectrum response to create so-called "comb filter effects". The phaser effect is suitable for pads and "psychedelic" sounds.

#### Parameters:

- **Rate**: Modulation speed
- **Feedback**: Feedback of filter steps
- **Depth**: Modulation amplitude

#### Room reverb/hall reverb

In the case of reverb there are two realistic simulations of natural reverberation. Sounds receive "atmosphere" to appear lively and "authentic". Room reverb simulates a small space with high echo density. Hall reverb mimics the typical reverb of large concert halls.

Since natural spaces never sound "static" because air molecules are constantly moving and due to the complexity of reflection processes, both algorithms include a modulation parameter which varies the delay time of individual echoes and thereby affects the liveliness of the reverb impression depending on strength.

#### Parameters:

- **Decay**: Reverberation length
- **Damp**: Damping of highs, simulates absorption via air, wall materials, and objects
- **Mod**: Modulation strength.

#### Lo-fi

This algorithm gives the sound a little bit of "grit", or a certain measure of signal destruction depending on its setting. An ideal partner for creative sound design. The simulation of early digital synthesizes or samplers is equally possible since their AD/DA converters were anything but "true" in the character of their sound. The sample rate from the output of the lo-fi effect can be continuously reduced and a generous measure of "aliasing" distortion can be produced alongside the unavoidable loss of highs which results from "down sampling". Bit resolution is clearly changeable, too.

#### Parameters:

- **Rate**: Sample rate
- **Crush**: Number of bits

Lowpass: Low-pass filter at the output to smooth out induced noise

#### Distortion

This overdrive effect works similarly to common guitarist effect pedals. Everything is possible, from light, bluesy signal saturation to hard "metal shred boards". Here a dual-band EQ works on the in and output signals and therefore provides a rich palette of sounds.

#### Parameters:

- **Drive**: Controls the internal level and thereby the overdrive
- **Low**: amount of bass
- **High**: amount of highs

#### Analog Filter 12/24dB

An additional filter can be applied to the entire drum sound.

#### Parameters:

- **Cut-off/Resonance**: Filter frequency and resonance.
- **Type**: Filter type
- **Drive**: Saturation of the filter

#### Vintage compressor

A compressor with special "analog" control behavior for more pressure on bass drums.

#### Parameters:

- Input: Input level.
- Attack/Release: time constants for the compression.
- **Ratio**: compression ratio

## **Loop Designer**

The loop designer unites both stellar design elements of drum'n'bass style in a "device": turned-up beats and rumbling bass lines. With the Loop Designer you can create authentic drum'n'bass sounds without any specialized knowledge. It replaces the Drum 'n' Bass machine available in previous versions.



**(i)** *Tip:* Drum'n'bass tracks usually have between 160 and 180 BPMs. The Loop Designer can also be used for other music styles, e.g. for BigBeat (120 BPM) or TripHop (80-90 BPM).



## **Overview**

The upper half of the synthesizer controls the rhythm section, the lower half controls the bass section. You can mute both sections using the M symbol on the left border. This way you can, for example, turn off the bass section in order to take only the drum section into the project. Only the drum section will then be added to the mixdown file when mixing down the project. Next to this are the volume controls, which control the volume of both sections.

You can preview and stop your drum'n'bass creations using the "play" and "stop" buttons.

Additional buttons:

Saves a pattern.



Loads a saved pattern with all settings.

Undo for all settings made in all sections.

Makes random settings changes in both sections. You can change settings later as you wish.

### **Drum Section**

Here complex, authentic-sounding Jungle-Breakbeats can be put together easily. In professional recording studios Jungle-breakbeats are made by chopping up arbitrary drum loops and putting them back together in a different order. These laborious work steps are significantly simplified by Loop Designer.

The new sequence is determined in the top row, the so-called "step" row. The gray cells represent the individual sections ("beats") into which the loop is separated.

Pick a different note or playback by left-clicking a gray cell. Various notes will be represented with a light bar which "grows" toward the top with each mouse click. This way, each time you click on the gray cell, the bar expands by one step.



2 of 4: Play Drum Loop starting from the second note.

**3 of 4**: Play Drum Loop starting from the third note.

**Full bar**: Play Drum Loop starting from the fourth note.

Reverse symbol; Play in reverse from this position



Stop symbol: Stop playback

The right mouse button deletes the settings of a step cell; the drum loop is played in its original order.



Clicking the double-arrow button generates a random step sequence. You can change this rhythm as you like.



Clicking into the blue field in the left part of the drum section opens a pop-up menu where you can pick the sound of the Drum Loop. When you select another drum loop it will load and be played in the way you programmed it.



In the field under the "steps" row the sound of the loops is defined. The intensity of the settings is determined with a control similar to a peakmeter. The higher the bar, the stronger the influence on the loop is. With the help of the left mouse key, values can be smoothly adjusted. "Volume" controls the loudness (full = loud, empty = quiet), "filter" the filter strength (full = clear, empty = muffled). In the "Flam" row you have the option to make the note repeat itself twice in quick succession. This is how to program rolls and fill ins.

Using the top arrow buttons at the right edge you can load pre-defined pattern settings. The originally set loop will not be changed. The two lower arrow buttons offer presets in the form of standard curves for "volume" and "filter".



The "Filter type" knob selects the type of the filter sound: "BP" stands for "bandpass", "LP" for "low pass" and "HP" for "high pass".

### **Bass Section**

The bass section produces suitable bass lines.

- The first row of the "Notes" row, determines the order of the sounds i.e. the series of notes. Select a cell with the left mouse click, where the lowermost represents the lowest note and the topmost the highest. A right mouse click deletes a cell.
- In the "Octave" row you can specify the octave of the bass.

Just like in the drum section, here you will also find arrow buttons on the right side for opening pre-defined patterns and and a double-arrow button for setting arrows. The filter can be set analogously to the drum section. The arrow button next to the filter area select presets in the form of standard curves.

You can determine the bass sound in the blue selection field at the left side. You can drag loops and WAV sounds into the field using drag & drop just like in the drum section.

Furthermore beneath the step rows there are two knobs for sound alterations.



Use the **Vibrato control** to add small variations to the pitch of the bass note.



The **Decay** control determines how fast the sound decays. On the far right, the sound dies out very quickly; on the far left, the sound is permanent.

## Robota

Robota is a four-voice drum machine with a virtual analog generator and a sample-based synthesizer. Virtual-analog sound generator means that the sounds are synthesized in realtime, i.e generated by a synthesizer. This gives you all of the typical analog sounds of classic drum machines like the Roland TR-808, TR-909 or more modern models like the Korg Electribe or the Jomox X-Base.



In the sample sound generator, samples of drum sounds or other recordings are loaded and used as a basis for creating the sound. After selecting the basic sound generator, the sound characteristics of each of the four voices can be fine-tuned using various controllers.

Robota plays back through a step sequencer with light chaser programming. Thereby 1-4 bars are looped in 1/16 or 1/32 steps. Playback positions can be set at each beat position with a click. In Event mode, the beats per instrument are assigned to the beat grid. In Snapshot mode you can automate various sound settings of the instruments.

## Structure of Sound Generation

The four voices of Robota are built identically. The sound synthesis in Robota is quite complicated because each voice has to generate a large variety of drum sounds, ranging from a

hissing hi-hat to heavy bass drum sounds.

The Robota drum synthesizer consists of an oscillator with a selectable waveform (sine, triangle or sawtooth) or a sample. You can also use a noise generator to add some noise to the mix. The oscillator features a pitch envelope and attack/decay controls. It also features frequency and ring modulation. The modulation depth can be controlled by means of an envelope parameter (FM/rng dcy). This is followed by a "Lo-Fi" section consisting of distortion (rectify, diode rectification), bitrate reduction (crush) and sample reduction (down sample).

The intensity of the Lo-Fi effects can also be adjusted by means of an envelope (lo-fi dcy). This is followed by a multimode filter (low-pass/bandpass/high-pass) with a roll-off of either 12dB or 24dB. A comb filter (a delay line named after its spectral view of peaks and dips that resembles a comb) can also be added. You can also modulate the filter frequency by using an envelope. There is also a compressor that can be adjusted for response time and intensity ('compressor' comp resp) and a tube amp simulation, both of which will provide the necessary final sound pressure.



To simplify this complexity somewhat, not all **parameters (1)** can be changed for a sound, but only those for which this makes sense for the selected drum sound (snare, kick, hi hat, ...). There are four selected parameters, each of which is tailored to the selected preset sound.

**Oscillator Waveform (2)**: The fundamental waveform of the oscillators is selected here. You can choose between a sine, triangle, sawtooth or sample. If **Sample** is selected, you can use the controller to select a sample, i.e. a previously recorded drum sound. You can find these samples in the folder ./MxSynth/Robota/Samples. If you save samples in this folder, they will appear in the selection list.

(3): For each voice Filter Cut-off, Resonance, Tube, Volume and Panorama are always adjustable.

- select	With <b>Select</b> you can choose the instrument you want to edit in the step sequencer.
MS	Click on ${\bf M}$ to set the instrument to mute, ${\bf S}$ for solo.
	You can preview the instrument by pressing the loudspeaker button.

**Master**: With **Volume** you control the overall volume of the Robota. **Distortion** adds a controllable tube distortion to give the sound more power and make it sound rougher. The peak meter is used to check the output level. If this lights up in the red area, decrease the master volume.
### Sound Synthesis - Schematic Illustration







#### Detailed Circuit Diagram of a Robota Voice

#### Description of all control parameters:

- **Pitch Envelope(pitch env)**: controls the amount of pitch drop.
- **Tune**: adjusts the fundamental pitch of the instrument.
- Oscillator Shape (osc shape): The shaper adds additional frequency components to the basic sound of the oscillator by artificially deforming the waveform. A sine wave (shape = 0) can be reshaped up to a square wave (shape = max).
- Oscillator Waveform: The fundamental waveform of the oscillators is selected here. You can choose between a sine, triangle, sawtooth or sample. If "Sample" is selected, you can use the controller to select a sample, i.e. a previously recorded drum sound.
- **Noise**: Here you can adjust the ratio between the oscillator sound and the noise generator.
- Attack: Attack time of the volume envelope. The higher the set value, the greater the length of time it takes for the sound to surge in. The attack value also applies to the LoFi and filter envelopes.
- Decay: Decay time of the volume envelope. The higher the set value, the longer it takes for the sound to fade out.
- **FM/ring modulation frequency (Fm/rng frq)**: Base frequency of the frequency or ring modulation.
- FM Level (fm lvl): FM initially produces a vibrating sound at low frequency, bell-like sound at high frequency and low level, and metallic and finally noisy sound at higher level.
- **Ringmodulation Level (rng lvl)**: Ring modulation generates typical side frequencies.
- **FM/ring modulation decay (Fm/rng dcy)**: Decay time of the FM/ring modulation. With small decay, only the beginning of the drum sound is affected by the modulations.
- **Rectify**: Distorts the audio signal.
- **Crush**: Bitrate reduction. Digital artifacts become audible with higher settings.
- Downsample (dwnsmple): Sample rate reduction is useful for creating the "old school" sounds of older digital drum machines. The higher the set value, the more muffled the sound becomes.
- Lo-Fi decay (lofi dcy): Decay time of the three LoFi effects for a "dirty" sound. Only the beginning of the drum sound of the lo-fi effects is affected if the decay is low. For

instance, this makes the kick of a kick drum sound more interesting.

- **Filter modes (flt mode)** : Mode of the filter:
  - Low-pass (LP) Sound portions above the cut-off frequency are filtered out.
  - **Band pass (BP)** Sound portions above and below the cut-off frequency are filtered out.
  - High-pass (HP) All sound portions below the cut-off frequency are filtered out.

The mode is set in the presets and cannot be changed.

- **Filter Frequency (flt freq)**: Cutoff frequency of the filter.
- **Filter resonance (flt reso)**: Filter resonance. The sound are amplified at the filter cut-off frequency. If the resonance is high, the filter itself can also be used as an oscillator.
- Filter modulation -/+ (flt mod -+): Controls how much and in which direction the filter envelope shifts the filter frequency.
- Filter modulation decay (flt mod dcy): Decay time of the filter envelope. Smaller values with high resonance create a "zapping" sound of the filter, greater values create the typical sweep sound.
- Filter Modulation Velocity (flt mod vel): controls the dependence of the filter modulation depth on the velocity. If this value is increased, louder beats will generate higher filter curves than quieter ones.
- **24dB**: The filter can operate with a slope of 12 dB or 24 dB. The mode is set in the presets and cannot be changed.
- Comb Filter (comb filt on): A comb filter can be switched on here. This is a feedback delay that produces resonant sounds similar to a plucked string. The delay time and the strength of the feedback are linked to the filter parameters (frequency and resonance). The comb filter is set in the presets and cannot be changed.
- **Compressor**: Controls the compressor strength. This lets you increase the "power" of the drum sound.
- **Compressor Response (comp resp)**: controls the time response of the compressor. The lower the value, the faster the compressor readjusts the volume.
- **Tube**: Controls the level of the tube amp simulation. This "saturates" the output signal of the voice and adds warmth to the sound if the settings are moderate. Increasing the

settings makes the sound "dirtier".

**Volume/Pan**: Controls the volume and panorama position of the drum instruments.

#### Sequencer

Classic light chaser programming, just like what you find in most of the classic drum machines and groove boxes, is used to control the drum patterns. The step sequencer consists of 16 individual step buttons with LEDs which correspond to the sections of a bar (16 or 32 beat, whereby only half a bar is displayed).

A flashing button corresponds to the drum sound at this point in the bar. Clicking the button turns the step on and another click will turn it off again.



The maximum length of a drum pattern is four beats. The length can be selected via the small scroll bar above the toolbar list.



The bar you want to edit can be selected with the corresponding **Edit** button. The **Follow** button determines whether the display of the steps of a bar follows the currently played bar.

**1>2-4**: If more than one bar has been activated as pattern length, the "Auto Draw" mode ensures that the drum notes that are set in the first bar are also automatically set in the following bars. This also makes it easy to create a continuous beat, even with a loop length of four bars. Notes that are set in the back bars are not affected by the Auto Draw function, so it is very easy to draw in a variation in the 4th bar only, for example.

#### Programming a new drum pattern:

- 1. Use the slider to select the pattern length.
- 2. Select **Event** mode.
- 3. If you are making changes while playing, deselect **Follow** and use the **Edit** buttons to select the bar you want to edit.
- 4. Use **Select** to select the instrument to be edited.
- 5. The Clear bar button deletes all steps in the current bar for the selected instrument.
- 6. Turn on the corresponding step buttons. The **velocity** control allows you to set the velocity before you set a beat. To change the velocity of a beat, delete it, adjust the new velocity, and set it again.



7. Repeat the process for the other instruments.

#### Snapshots

It is also possible to automate the adjustable sound parameters of a drum sound with **Snapshots**. You do this by storing the sound parameters of a drum instrument on the sequencer's step buttons.

#### Here's how to automate a drum instrument using snapshots:

- 1. Select **Snap** mode.
- 2. If you are making changes while playing, deselect **Follow** and use the **Edit** buttons to select the bar you want to edit.
- **3.** Select an instrument and change its sound to your liking. When playback is stopped, you can trigger an instrument with the **speaker** button.
- 4. Save the sound as a snapshot to one of the step buttons.
- 5. Now change the sound of the drum instrument and save this setting to other step buttons.





When playback is stopped, you can use the arrow keys to jump between snapshots. Use **on** to enable snapshot automation.

#### **Groove Control**

The secret to "groovy" beats is to play back the individual beats delayed or earlier according to certain patterns. For example, the "shuffle" is used with house beats, whereby each even 1/16 is delayed by a certain amount of time.



Robota features **Groove Velocity** and **Groove Swing** presets. **Groove velocity** presets contain a specific offset for each step of a bar, by which the original velocity is increased or decreased. **Groove Swing** presets contain a time offset for each step by which the step is delayed or advanced. The result is a considerably more lively-sounding drum sequence. The strength of each effect can be adjusted with the **%** knob.

### Setups, Drum Kits, Presets and Patterns



An individual drum sound is saved in a "Preset".

The presets of the four voices can be saved together as a "Drum kit"

- All sequence information and snapshots are saved in a "Pattern".
- Everything together (drum kit + pattern) makes a "Setup".

Load/Save: Select presets, drum kits, patterns, and setups using the endless knobs next to the display panels. To save, click the 💷 "Save" button. You can enter a new name in the input field.

**i Note:** A drum kit only saves the names of the presets and not the actual parameters. This means that if you have prepared your own drum sounds by changing existing presets and would like to save these as a drum kit, you first have to save the drum sounds as new presets and then the new drum kit. The same applies to the setups, these also contain only the pattern and the drum kit name. So always save (if necessary) in the order: Presets > Drumkit > Pattern > Setup.

This only applies for creating your own presets. When you save your project, the complete status, synthesizer + sequencer is always saved.

# MIDI IN SEQUOIA

**MIDI** is a standardized command language that helps to control synthesizers.

In addition to the command to play a note (NoteOn, Note Off), there are control commands (Control Change) for internal synthesizer parameters (volume, panorama, the piano pedal, filter settings and others), program change commands (Program Change) to open saved sound programs and for other tasks. These commands are called MIDI events. A MIDI object contains a series of events and the times at which they occur.

Similar to audio objects, MIDI data is represented in **Sequoia** in the form of **MIDI objects**.

MIDI objects do not contain audio data. They are used to control synthesizers (2392) that then create corresponding sounds. They are comparable to music notation that is about to be played by a musician.

You can create MIDI objects by loading MIDI files, recording received MIDI data from a MIDI keyboard, or creating an empty MIDI object and drawing in the notes in the MIDI Editor.

# **Creating, Importing or Recording MIDI Objects**

# **Creating a New MIDI Object**

To create a new MIDI object, select **Object** > **Edit MIDI data** > **New MIDI Object** from the menu.

After calling the function a pop up menu opens from which you can select different templates or an empty MIDI object of a preset length (1...8 bars).

The templates are stored in the program data folder C:\ProgramData\Magix\Sequoia 17\Templates. You can also quickly reach the program data folder via the link \_ ProgramData in the **Sequoia** program folder.

You can extend the pop-up menu with your own templates by copying MIDI files into this folder or exporting MIDI objects from the **MIDI editor** via menu **File** > **Export MIDI...** into this folder.

You can also select a range and choose the function Menu **Object** > **Edit MIDI data** > **New MIDI object in range** to create a new, empty MIDI object within the selected range on the current track.

# **Importing MIDI Files**

To import MIDI files (\*.mid, Standard MIDI Files (SMF) type 0 and 1) as objects into **Sequoia** projects:

- Select menu File > Import > Load MIDI file... and choose the file in the selection dialog or
- Drag and drop the files from Windows Explorer or File Manager into the project.

In the following dialog you can set options for the import.

Import MIDI File	×
ticoticotecno.mid	Tempo (BPM)
Play Length: 135 s	BPM in MIDI File: 135.000
MIDI File Format: 1 Notes in File: 5932	BPM in VIP: 120.0000
Tracks used in File: 7	Import <u>T</u> empo Map
Import MIDI File	
<u>S</u> ingle Track: m	ix to one VIP track
<u>M</u> ulti Track: arrange	e to several VIP tracks Multi Track case)
Don't show this message again	

**Import tempo map**: In the Tempo (BPM) section, the first tempo saved in the MIDI file is displayed at **BPM in MIDI file**. (The MIDI file may well contain other tempo information in the case of tempo changes). If the option is active, all tempo information from the MIDI file is transferred to the project in the form of tempo markers. At **BMP in VIP** the resulting tempo of the project is displayed.

Select the option **Single track: mix to one VIP track**, **Sequoia** inserts the MIDI data into the selected track at the play cursor position as one MIDI object containing all tracks of the MIDI file.

If you select the option **Multitrack: distribute to several VIP tracks**, a MIDI object is created on a separate track for each track of a standard MIDI file type 1. The MIDI objects get the track name from the MIDI file.

If the option **Create new tracks** is active, new tracks will be created for this below the selected track, otherwise existing tracks will be used for the import. Excess tracks of the MIDI file will then not be imported.

-\goggrig- Via menu **Object** > **Edit MIDI data** > **Demix MIDI objects by MIDI channels** you can later distribute the imported MIDI data to several tracks separated by channels.

MIDI files can also be loaded directly into an existing MIDI object via the **File** menu in the MIDI Editor (2446).

# **Recording MIDI**

To find out more about MIDI recording and MIDI recording modes, see MIDI recording (₱100).

# **Editing MIDI Objects**

This section describes how to edit MIDI objects as a whole. For information on editing the content of MIDI objects, see the section MIDI Editor (₹446)

### **Arrange MIDI objects**

MIDI objects can be positioned exactly like audio objects in the project window, the volume may be modified (middle handle), or fades (in or out) may be added (top right and left handles). They can be split, copied and pasted, and trimmed.

The following differences to audio objects exist:

While Split objects creates two objects for audio objects whose object boundaries are shifted accordingly, the function creates two separate MIDI objects for MIDI objects that do not contain MIDI data outside the object boundaries. Also with the function Trim MIDI objects, which you will find in addition to the function Trim objects (168) in the menu Object > Edit the selected objects will not only be trimmed to the current range limits, but all MIDI data outside these object limits will be deleted.
This has the advantage that editing several MIDI objects at the same time in the MIDI Editor becomes clearer, since the MIDI events outside the object boundaries, which cannot be heard anyway, are no longer displayed in the MIDI Editor. The disadvantage is that the events outside the object boundaries can no longer be restored by moving the object boundaries.

You can change the behavior of these two functions by activating the option Soft Split for MIDI objects under System options > MIDI. Then MIDI objects behave during trimming and splitting in the same way as you are used to with audio objects, i.e. the trimmed MIDI data can be restored by moving the object boundaries.

- Changing the volume of MIDI objects with the middle object handle and fading in and out with the handles on the top right and left of the object is controlled by adjusting the velocity (MIDI note on velocity). Many synthesizers do not change the volume, but rather the sound in relation to the velocity level. If you do not want that, adjust the volume in the mixer instead or by using a controller curve (#466) (usually controller 7).
- MIDI objects always control the synthesizer that is set as the output device in the track where it was placed. If you move or copy a MIDI object to another track, a different synthesizer will be controlled or none at all.
- With MIDI Object Freeze via Menu **Object** > **Freeze Object** > **Freeze Object** (*P*169), the audio return signal of a software instrument replaces the MIDI objects with audio objects.

i Note: For this, the audio return signal of your software instrument must be routed (?393) to the MIDI track.

### **MIDI Object Editor**

The MIDI object editor, similar to the audio object editor (*№*191), can be used to edit parameters for MIDI objects and apply MIDI real-time effects such as quantization or transposition.

It is opened with the same menu command (Menu **Object** > **Object Editor**) and keyboard shortcut (**Ctrl** + **O**) as the object editor for audio objects and is also displayed in the same window or tab in the Dock. Unlike audio objects, however, it is opened with **Shift** + **double-click** on the object. Double-click opens the MIDI editor (?446) instead.



**Velocity**: Change the velocity value in the object editor to scale the velocity of the notes in the MIDI object. The slider corresponds to the middle upper handle on the MIDI object.

**MIDI real-time effects**: With these settings the output of the MIDI objects can be changed in realtime, that means settings here do not change the data of the MIDI object:

• **OUT Channel**: If you change the setting from **ALL** to a specific channel, all MIDI data will be output on that channel.

- Program: The program change and bank change commands set here are always sent as soon as the object is played.
- Transp.: Enter a value here to transpose all notes of the object by the specified amount. This parameter can also be set at the middle object handle in Timestretch/Pitchshift mouse mode, as with audio objects.

**Quantize**: This allows you to apply a simple, non-destructive quick quantize to the start positions of note events. For a more flexible and detailed adjustable quantization use the quantization function (#474) in the MIDI editor. However, this changes the notes permanently in the MIDI object, the quantization here can easily be switched off again. With the option **Absolute (VIP)** quantizing is done with respect to the beat grid of the project, **Relative (Obj.)** quantizes relative to the object start.

#### **Options**:

- Mute MIDI Controller: This option disables all MIDI controller events. It is automatically activated if you have used the command Extract Controller Curves from MIDI file in the menu Object > Edit MIDI data to convert the controllers into automation curves for better editing.
- Mute SysEx: Prevents the sending of SysEx data.
- Preserve musical positions: This option corresponds to the musical tempo adjustment for audio objects and ensures that when the tempo changes, the time positions follow the changed musical grid. It should only be deactivated in exceptional cases when MIDI events are to be sent at a specific time in the project, independent of the tempo.

**Position**: The settings here correspond to those in the Audio Object Editor on the tab Fades (*7*198). Use the **Loop** option to create a looped object. Unlike audio objects, a MIDI object can only be looped as a whole.

The controls in the right part of the object editor correspond to those in the audio object editor. See Object editor basic functions (\$\alpha\$191).

### **Extract Controller Curves from MIDI Object**

The function Menu **Object** > **Edit MIDI data** > **Extract controller curves from MIDI object** can be used to convert the MIDI controller data (CC) of an object into Automation curves (2357). This has the advantage that this data can be conveniently edited directly in the Automation Lanes in the project window.



By default, automation curves are displayed in lanes. To view the controller automation curves after executing the function, expand the lanes (keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Alt + Enter**) and select the curves from the automation menu.



The controller events are not removed from the MIDI object. Instead, the option **Mute MIDI Controllers** is activated in the MIDI object editor so that the controllers are not sent twice.



Deactivate this option and the automation curves of the controllers to use the CC controllers from the MIDI object again. However, changes to the automation curves cannot be transferred back to the MIDI object. To finally remove the controllers from the MIDI object, you can use the function **Apply MIDI object and track effects**.



# **De-mixing MIDI Objects by MIDI Channels**

If a selected MIDI object contains MIDI data on multiple MIDI channels, you can use the function in the menu **Object > Edit MIDI data > Demix MIDI objects by MIDI channels** to

distribute the MIDI data to separate MIDI objects, each containing the data of only one channel. The new MIDI objects are placed at the same time position below the original object.

This function is used to distribute the MIDI data of an imported MIDI file of type 0, in which all instruments are present on one track, separately on tracks according to channels in order to control different instruments per channel.

▲ Caution: No new tracks are created in the process. If there are not enough tracks below the original track, the remaining MIDI channels will be missing. Also, existing objects on the tracks below will be overwritten It is therefore recommended to insert the required tracks before executing this function.

# **Applying MIDI Object and MIDI Track Effects**

Both on the track level (**Track Editor**, section **MIDI** or dialog **Track Properties**) and **in the MIDI object editor** there are various MIDI real-time effects that change the pitch and velocity of MIDI notes during playback.

- **Track**: Transposition, MIDI Velocity Dynamics (*P*491)
- **Object**: Velocity, Out Channel, Transpose, Quantize, Mute MIDI Controller

With these effects, you can make MIDI playback flexible, for example, use MIDI Velocity Dynamics to modify the velocity response of your MIDI keyboard as you play it in, or copy a MIDI object and use it transposed in multiple pitches.

If you later want the playback of the MIDI objects to match the notes stored in the objects, you can apply these effects permanently to the MIDI data using the command Menu **Object > Edit MIDI data > Apply MIDI Object and Track Effects**.

Select the MIDI objects and execute the function. The MIDI data of the objects is adjusted and the effects are reset in the MIDI object editor and in the track.

Attention: The function edits only selected MIDI objects, but MIDI track effects affect all MIDI objects of a track. If you have activated MIDI track effects (e.g. transposition) on a track in addition to MIDI object effects, all objects on this track must therefore be selected, since the track effect is reset after the calculation, which means that the unselected objects would now sound different from the selected ones.

# **MIDI Editor**

The MIDI Editor is used to display and edit the contents of the selected MIDI object(s).

To open the MIDI Editor, **double-click** a MIDI object or select Menu **Object** > **MIDI Editor...**. Once opened it displays the MIDI data from the currently active position over the length of the object or within the selected range. i If no MIDI object is selected, it is offered to create one at the play cursor position on the current track. When you select OK, the menu opens with templates for new MIDI objects (P440).

The MIDI editor can be viewed as floating or docked like the other **Sequoia** windows.

Due to the abundance of functions, the MIDI editor has its own **menu**. When this section refers to menus (e.g. Edit menu), it always means the **menus of the MIDI editor**, not the main menu of **Sequoia**!

This menu also has its own keyboard shortcuts for these menu commands, which are only valid when the MIDI editor window is focused. To configure these shortcuts, there is a separate section called **MIDI Editor Shortcuts** in the **System Options** dialog under **Keyboard, Menu & Mouse**. You can quickly access this section of the System Options dialog directly from the MIDI editor, using the **Shortcuts** menu > **Edit Shortcuts...** 

If the MIDI Editor is placed in the Docker (abla 54), you can open the MIDI Editor menu via this button or by right-clicking in a free area of the toolbar.



MIDI files can be edited in five main areas of the MIDI Editor:



You can use these buttons at the top of the MIDI Editor or on the **View** menu to show or hide the different panes (Controller Editor/Events List/Score Editor Linear View) or toggle them (Matrix Editor/Drum Editor/Score Editor Side View).

# Navigating in the MIDI Editor

Moving the visible part, i.e. zooming (₹106) and scrolling, is done with the mouse wheel and the scroll bars exactly as in the project window. If you change the horizontal section with the scroll bars, the section in the project window is also adjusted accordingly, if you press the **Shift** key while doing so.



Two small circles above and below the vertical scroll bar on the right edge of the MIDI Editor screen indicate by lighting up that MIDI notes are outside the currently displayed vertical screen section.

# **Selecting Events**

Basically, changes like moving or deleting notes apply to all selected MIDI events. Changes to the selection in one editor always apply to all other editors as well. For example, you can select a group of notes in the Matrix Editor and then change the velocity of these note groups in the Controller Editor which modifies all selected notes simultaneously.

### Select events with mouse and keyboard

Selection	Mouse action
Select the Event	Left-click on event
Select multiple events	Left click on a free spot + drag (only with selection tool).
Add/Remove event to/from selection	Ctrl + left-click on event
Add/Remove several events to/from selection	Ctrl + left click on a free spot + drag (only with selection tool).

Select a range of events	Left-click on first event, Shift + left-click on last event
Select all events	Ctrl + A Depending on the editor, the selection includes notes (piano roll, score), controller events (controller editor) or all events (list editor).
Unselect all	Left click on a free spot
Set or change current event within a multiple selection.	Left-click on selected event
Select current event, deselect all other events	Double-click on event
Selection of all notes of a pitch	Double-click on free space with this pitch or on the corresponding key on the keyboard on the left (piano roll only)
Selection of all notes of a pitch starting from click position	Alt + double-click on free space with this pitch
Selection of all notes behind click position	Shift + Alt + double-click on free space
Select next/preceding note	Arrow left/right

### Select MIDI controller events together with notes

With this option, which you can reach in the menu **Options** or via the button, associated CC events are also selected when a MIDI note is selected.

Associated controller events are those events that lie between Note On and Note Off of the note.

### **Event Display**

There are different variants of the color representation of events and different possibilities to filter the events by channel, object and track.

### **Color Representation**

There are several ways in which the event color can be used to display properties of the events. In the menu **Options** you can choose between **Velocity colors**, **MIDI channel colors** or **Track colors**. The default mode is **Use velocity colors**.

General:

- **Unselected notes** have a black border, **selected notes** have a red border.
- Notes that are **outside the object boundaries** in the MIDI object have a white border.
- The **current event** has a bright red, wider border. The properties of the current event are displayed in the edit fields (#453) above and can be changed there.
- **Muted events** (keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + M**) are displayed crossed out in Matrix Editor.



The fill color of the events depends on the selected option:

Use velocity colors: With this display, Unselected notes are drawn in blue, Selected notes are drawn in red. The intensity of the red and blue colors indicates the velocity.

Velocity colors: Unselected notes (blue), selected notes (red) and current event (outlined in light red) in the Matrix Editor.

■ Use MIDI channel colors: In MIDI channel color display, MIDI events are distinguished by color according to their MIDI channel.



MIDI channel color display

Use track colors: In track color display, the MIDI events are displayed with the color of the track on which the objects are located to which the MIDI events belong. This setting improves clarity when multiple MIDI objects from different tracks are selected.



Track color display for MIDI events

If no track colors have been set before, randomly selected colors will be assigned for the track color display in the MIDI editor.

### Highlight Current Object and Range

If multiple objects are selected, you can highlight the events of the current object and area. The current object is the last object selected in a multiple selection. It can be changed (as with the current event) by clicking within an existing selection. Also if you select events that do not

belong to the current event, the object of these events becomes the current object. If you create new MIDI events, they will always be inserted into the current object.



The menu lists all objects selected in the project window. You can select the current object there. If the button next to it is activated, areas outside the activated object are darkened and events of other objects are displayed paler. The current object thus appears highlighted.

### **Filter Events**

By default, the MIDI Editor always displays all events of all selected objects. Therefore, for better clarity and editing, there are filters to lock events against editing. These filtered events will still be displayed, but they will be displayed in a paler color. They can no longer be selected, nor can they be moved, copied or changed.

MIDI channel filter: At Options > MIDI channel filter you can select specific MIDI channels to be edited in the MIDI editor. In the preset option All all channels can be edited. As soon as you select individual channels there, events on all channels that are not selected in the menu will be filtered.

### ■ Track display filter: Improvisation a **Г** Piano

Activate Menu **Options** > **VIP track filter** or this button to restrict editing to the events of the objects that are in the current track.

🖵 🖸

The current track is always the track on which the current object is located.

If you additionally activate **Hide filtered events** in the **Options** menu, the filtered events will be hidden completely.

(i) The Event list (#470) provides additional display filters that only function within the list.

# **Editing Selected Events**

Menu items and corresponding keyboard shortcuts for editing selected events are located in the menu **Edit** 

Copy and paste: You can copy selected events using the common keyboard shortcuts
Ctrl + C, Ctrl + X, Ctrl + V and paste them to another play cursor position, even between different objects.

Delete MIDI events: Delete selected events with Del key or Backspace. Press Ctrl + Del or Ctrl + Backspace to delete all MIDI events.

Attention: This affects all events of all selected objects regardless of track and channel filters

Duplicate: Use the keyboard shortcut Ctrl + D to copy selected notes and paste them at the next grid point after the last selected note.

Another method of duplicating works the same way as duplicating objects: Press the **Ctrl** key, click the selected events and drag a copy of these events to a new position.

 $\dot{\phi}$  - Additional commands for editing selected events are located in the menu **MIDI functions**.

### **Edit Fields**

The properties of the current event can also be changed in the editing fields below the editing tools.



**Event**: Event type.

Attention: It is not very useful to change the event type when editing existing events. This can lead to unforeseen results. This field is used to enter other MIDI events like Program Changes that cannot be drawn in via the editors. (See below).

#### Channel

Byte1, Byte 2: The bytes correspond to the two parameter bytes of a MIDI event. For MIDI NoteOn and NoteOff events this corresponds to pitch and velocity. For byte 1, therefore, the note value corresponding to the numeric value is additionally displayed behind the numeric value. For event types other than notes the parameters have a different meaning, for CC e.g. controller type and value, for some events also the second byte is missing (e.g. Prog Ch).

#### Start time

**Length**: This value is only relevant for note events and has no function for other event types. It indirectly controls the position of the NoteOff events associated with the

NoteOn events.



🚺 The display/entry of times is in bars:beats:ticks. The ticks have a default resolution of 384 PPQ, i.e. 384 ticks correspond to a quarter note.

Insert: Inserts a MIDI event with the properties set in the edit fields. Normal MIDI events like notes or CC events are easier to create directly in the editor, you only need this button for creating special MIDI events (see below).

### **Editing MIDI Events**

To edit, click and hold down the left mouse button and drag up or down in the fields to increase or decrease the value. If you additionally press the **Ctrl** key, larger value changes will result. You can also enter the value numerically by double-clicking the edit box and entering the desired value.



**(i)** If multiple events are selected, you can change the corresponding values of the events together. If you also hold down the **Shift** key while dragging with the mouse in the edit field for the *velocity* or complete the input process with *Shift + Enter* key, all selected events will be set to the same velocity.

### Defaults for Velocity and MIDI Channel when Drawing in

The input fields can also be used to change the velocity or channel if you want to draw in new MIDI notes with the mouse.

- 1. To draw MIDI notes on channel 2, draw a note and change the channel in the input field channel.
- 2. If you now draw in further new notes with the mouse, they will all be created on channel 2.
- 3. In the same way, you can change the velocity with which new notes are drawn.



Attention: Only if you change the velocity of a note directly after drawing it, this changed value will be used for the next notes you draw. If you change the velocity of other notes, the velocity of the last note drawn will still be used for new notes.

4. To clearly set the velocity for new notes, deselect MIDI notes (key 1 for the selection tool and then click on an empty space in the editor). The content of the edit fields can be changed even if no event is selected and the values set then apply to new events.

### Entering other MIDI Events Like Program Change Commands (Prog Ch)

You can also use the edit fields to enter MIDI events that cannot be entered via the Piano Roll or the Controller Editor, such as program change commands:

- 1. Place the playback marker in the MIDI Editor where you want to insert the program change.
- 2. Make sure that no MIDI event is selected (menu **Edit** > **Deselect** or key **1** for the selection tool and then click on an empty space in the editor).
- 3. Click on the edit field **Event** and select from the menu **Prog Ch** and set the desired program number at **Byte 1**.
- 4. Click **Insert** to create the program change.

# **Step Recording**

In step recording, notes are entered using a computer keyboard or MIDI keyboard. However, this is not done in real time, but step by step. You can take as much time as you want for the next note.

The notes are added with a predetermined length and after each entry the play cursor moves one step farther. Step length and note length can be specified by the grid and length quantization values. The note length must not be longer than the step width.



Use this button or the command **Step Recording** in the menu **Options** to activate step recording.

A red marker indicates the current insert position and the octave in which the notes will be inserted when you use the computer keyboard.

The following keys are used to enter MIDI notes using Step Recording:

Tab	One step forwards (set pause)
Shift + Tab	One step backwards
Ctrl + Up/Down Arrow	Entry octave upwards/downwards
CDEFGAB	Note entry in current octave
Shift	Enter chords: While the Shift key is pressed, you can enter multiple notes without advancing the play cursor. This is how you create chords.

# Cell Edit Mode

You can switch this mode on and off manually by clicking the **Cell** button next to the horizontal scroll bar.

In Cell Edit mode, you get an alternate view of the MIDI events: the individual time positions of a bar are displayed as a series of cells with on/off states. The actual note lengths of the individual events are no longer taken into account, but a uniform display width is used that corresponds to the set quantization grid. Also the swing and offset settings of the quantization options are made clear by cells of different width and by shifting.

Accordingly, notes are not drawn in this mode by clicking and dragging, but by simple clicking.

The cell edit mode is used for a better overview, especially when displaying MIDI drum instruments, and is particularly suitable for editing MIDI objects in the Drum Editor (7460), where mostly short, percussive events occur. The display remains limited to the essential information of note start position and velocity.

# Velocity mode

If you click the **Vel** button, the events are displayed in velocity mode.

In this mode, the velocities of the events are not represented by their different color intensity, but by the height of the events in the matrix display. The color of the events is always the same in this mode (red/blue or channel/track color).

Click and drag on the top edge of the event to adjust the velocity of the event directly in the Matrix Editor without having to switch to the Controller Editor.



**Note**: For this purpose, the matrix editor must be sufficiently zoomed vertically, since the mouse cursor for setting the velocity is only visible from a certain minimum height of the events.

In the case of a multiple selection, the velocity change *is applied absolutely*, which means that for all notes the velocity is increased or decreased by the same amount, but the maximum and minimum values (127 or 1) cannot be exceeded.

To apply the velocity change *relatively* to a multiple selection, also press the **Ctrl** key.

### i) What does relative value change mean?

An example: Two notes are selected, the first with velocity 30, the second with 60. If you now increase the velocity of the second note by 30, the values at absolute change thereafter are 60 and 90.

If you use relative value change (additionally **Ctrl** pressed) to increase the velocity of the second note by 30, this corresponds to a relative increase of 50%. The first note is also increased by 50% of the initial value of 30, i.e. by 15 to velocity 45. If instead you increase the first note relative by 30 to 60, this corresponds to a change of 100%, the velocity of the second note is increased accordingly to 120. In both cases, the velocity of the second note after the change is still twice that of the first, in other words, the relationship between the initial values is preserved with the relative value change.

To set all selected notes to the same value, additionally press the **Shift** key.

-\grac{1}{2}- Tip: In the **Shortcuts** menu, the functions **Velocity Up** and **Velocity Down** are available. If you assign a keyboard shortcut for these functions, you can also change the velocity via keyboard.

### Matrix Editor (Piano Roll)

The Matrix Editor is the default view of the MIDI Editor and is used to edit MIDI notes in a piano roll view.

There are several editing tools (mouse modes) for creation and editing. You can select the tools by clicking the corresponding icons, by the entries in the menu **Mouse mode** and by the keyboard shortcuts **1...9** and **Shift + M**.



	ΤοοΙ	Кеу	Function
1	Selection	1	Click and drag to select multiple notes. For more info, go to Selecting Events ( $2448$ ). Clicking on a free area will clear an existing selection.

2	Draw Pencil	2	Left click to draw notes. When the snap is active, the start time and length snap to the current quantization settings. Additionally holding down the <b>Alt</b> key overrides an active snap.
3	Drum Pencil	3	Draw in a sequence of notes. The note length and note spacing correspond to the current quantize settings. + <b>Alt key</b> : The pitch of the first note is held for all following drawn notes. Moving the mouse backwards with the mouse button held down removes notes that have just been drawn in.
4	Pattern Pencil	4	Draw in drum or melody patterns. To create a pattern, draw it in, select the notes, and press <b>Ctrl + Shift + P</b> (menu <b>Edit</b> > <b>Create Pattern from Selection</b> ). After that, you can draw in this sequence of notes as a pattern. When drawing in, start at the pitch of the lowest note in the pattern to draw it in at original pitch. However, you can also change the pitch while drawing in. To fix the pitch for single characters corresponding to the first note, additionally press the <b>Alt key</b> . Moving the mouse backwards with the mouse button held down removes notes that have just been drawn in.
5	Velocity adjust	5	Click and drag vertically to change velocity values.
6	Eraser	6	Clicking on the selected note deletes all selected notes. Dragging the mouse deletes all notes underneath the eraser.
7	Magnifier	7	Zoom mode: left click to zoom in horizontally, right click to zoom out. Additionally press the <b>Shift</b> key for vertical zoom. Clicking and dragging over an area zooms into the area.

8	Glue notes	8	Click a note to join that note with the next note of the same pitch. If several notes are selected, all notes of the same pitch are joined together to form a single note.
9	Split notes	9	Selected notes are split into two notes by clicking. If the snap is active, it is split at the next snap position.
1	Mute	Shift + M	Selected notes can be muted or reactivated by clicking on them. The function is also available in the menu <b>MIDI</b> functions.

### Notes

- Drawing mode (2) can be activated from any other mouse mode except Zoom mode by pressing and holding the Shift key before clicking.
- The eraser can be activated at any time by clicking and dragging with the right mouse button. You can, for example, add new notes with the pen using a left-click and remove already drawn notes with a right-click, without having to change the tool.
- The Zoom mode can also be temporarily activated by holding the Z key. After releasing the key, the selected mouse mode is active again.
- The notes created with the Draw modes get the MIDI channel and velocity from the edit fields (≉453) above the piano roll.
- Keyboard shortcuts for switching between mouse modes (tools) may be freely defined (↗730).
- You can select the next/previous note using the left/right arrows. With arrow up/arrow down the pitch of selected notes can be changed step by step.

### **Editing Existing Notes**

Existing notes can be edited in the same way with the selection tool (1), the various drawing tools (2...4) and the zoom tool (7). You can select notes by a single click (see Selecting MIDI events), and click and drag notes to edit their start time, pitch, or note length. Depending on where you click on the note bars several options are available, which are visible by different mouse pointers.



\_\_\_\_→

Change note start time Click + drag the front edge of the notes, the end of the note is preserved

Change note length Click + drag the back edge of the notes.

Shift +	Set note length for all notes of a multiple selection	<b>Shift</b> + click + drag back edge of notes sets all notes of the selection to this length.
Ctrl +	Scale note length relatively for multiple selection	<b>Ctrl</b> + Click + drag back edge of notes extends the selected notes by the same factor.
-	Move note freely	Click + drag the middle of the note. The pitch and start time will be changed.
<b>**</b>	Move note start time only	<b>H</b> + click + drag the middle of the note. The note is only shifted horizontally and the pitch is maintained.
	Change pitch only	<b>Shift</b> + click + drag the middle of the note. Change only the pitch, the position is maintained.
2	Delete note	Right-click on note

The following applies to all changes of note start time and length: Additional pressing of the Alt key overrides an active snap.

If you activate the setting **Matrix editor: use different zones for horizontal and vertical movement** in the menu **Options**, there are two shift zones on the note: If you click the notes in the front half, you can only change the position, in the back half only the pitch.

**Relative movement in grid** (Menu **Options** -> **Relative movement in grid**): If this option is enabled, the distance of an event to the next grid position is preserved during event shifts. This makes it easier, for example, to arrange early entries of instrument groups.

### **Drum Editor**

Clicking this button or using the corresponding command in the **View** menu switches the MIDI Editor to Drum Editor mode.

📃 IIII	1		ģ.	e.		k	Ø	- 🥔	$\mathcal{P}$	1	М	<u>.</u>	٩ ا										5	5 .	:
Event: No	te Off (			1 B		62		te 2: 11	10 Pos:	007	2:02:000			00	0:00:	288		Inse	t			ck Sol	id B	- 🔳	
<b>Display Filte</b>	r: =			Ľ				Map:	GM Gen	eralM	IDI 👻											ver	se		
008:02:000	Snare 1	1	38	D1	109	E							1:4	-	<u> </u>		12		13		1:4		10		2
008:02:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	G#1	88	Ľ	5 M	52 E2	Chinese	e Cym	-		1.1												
008:02:192	Closed HiH	1	42	F#1	76	1	5 M	51 D#2	Ryde C	ym 1															
008:02:192	Bass Drum	1	36	Cl	107	T s	зм	50 D2	High T	om 2			1	i	i.		1		-	i i	i.	1			
008:03:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	G#1	88	H		10.000				12	1.1	1	1				1		1	1.1	11		
008:03:192	Closed HiH	1	42	F#1	76	H	5 M	49 C#2	Long C	rash 1	•	1.	1.1	1		1	1		-		1	1.1	1.1		
008:03:192	Bass Drum	1	36	Cl	107	Ľ	5 M	48 C2	High To	om 1	-		1.1												
008:04:000	Snare 1	1	38	D1	109	1	5 M	47 81	Mid To	m 2															
008:04:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	G#1	88	T s	ξМ	46 A#1	Open H	liHat			11	i	i.		i.	i i	-	ii	i.	1			
008:04:192	Closed HiH	1	42	F#1	76	H			ani dara			12	11	1	1				1		1	1.1	11	1	
009:01:000	Bass Drum	1	36	a	107	H	5 M	45 A1	Mid To	m 1	•	1	11	-	-		-						11		
009:01:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	G#1	88	1	5 M	44 G#1	Pedal H	liHat		1	11.1								П.		11.1		
009:01:192	Closed HiH	1	42	F#1	76	d	10	# Glo	L Glo	100	V 100		U I				U				U.				
009:02:000	Snare 1	1	38	D1	109	1	5 M	43 G1	Low To	m 2				1			Г.				Γ.			1	
009:02:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	C#1	88	E		47.543	dared	ulu-e		n.				n.					1 A				
009:02:192	Closed HiH	1	42	F#1	76	H	5 191	42 7 81	ciosed	ninat	•		11	4	1	Ч		Ц.	1	Ц.	1	Ц.	11	4	
009:03:000	Pedal HiHa	1	44	G#1	88	Ľ	5 M	41 F1	Low To	m 1	•	÷.,	1.1				1								
009:03:192	Closed Hirt	1	42	F#1	/0	ŝ	5 M	40 E1	Snare 2	2	-														
009:03:192	Seese 1	1	30	01	10/	15	5 M	39 D#1	Clap					1											
003:04:000	scale 1	1	30	01	109	T.	E M	38.01	Snare 1		_	1	<b>n</b> '	i	1	ii	п		i	ii				i	+
mute con mute Sys	troller Ex						2 14	50 01	Share J		CEI VH.				1			+	-	1	2	3 4	zoor	1 n •   /	

With the Drum Editor you can edit the contents of a MIDI object in exactly the same way as with the Matrix Editor, which also provides the same tools ( $\nearrow$ 457) for this purpose. However, its "piano roll" is specifically adapted to the processing of drum sequences:

- For each pitch there is a **drum editor track head** instead of simple piano keys. There you can individually for each drum instrument that is, each pitch assign a name and specify an output note and channel. The grid and quantization settings are individually adjustable for each drum instrument.
- There is also velocity scaling per instrument, so a kind of mixer for the individual drum instruments directly at the events.
- Cell mode (*P*456) is used. The display width for each drum event in a cell can also be set individually per instrument in the track head.
- All individual settings for each note can be edited as a whole in a **Drum map** ( $\mathbb{P}463$ ).

### **Drum Editor Track Head**

Each individual note has its own track head in the drum editor. Here, individual settings can be specified for each instrument. To expand a track head to edit the settings, click on it.



Each individual instrument can be soloed  $(\mathbf{S})$  and muted  $(\mathbf{M})$ .

- 2 Note number The output note for the instrument can be set here. At the time of switching to the drum editor, it corresponds to the current note in the MIDI object. You can change it to use a different drum instrument for the notes of this pitch.
  - -☆- To return the display of the notes to the usual order (low notes at the bottom, high notes at the top), select Sort Drum Map from the Map menu at the top. This also gathers together the drum instruments used, so that the drum sequence is displayed in the editor in a more compact way.



A drum pattern, before and after sorting

- A Changes in this field require an application of the mapping when you switch to the matrix editor!
- **3** Instrument Double-click in this field and enter a name for the drum instrument. name
- Menu This menu allows you to assign one of eight different colors to the cells of Grid/quantize a drum instrument. The dialog for the instrument's quantization options is also opened here.
  - **Colors** The dialog corresponds to the dialog for the global quantization options (#475), but the settings for the individual quantization options only apply if an individual grid value is also set for the note.
- 5 K Output channel
- **6** # **Quantization grid**: **Glo** refers to the global value (/2475).
  - **7** L Note length: Glo corresponds to the global value
    - **Display width in cell mode**: With this value you determine the display width of the notes as a percentage of the current grid. The setting has no effect on playback. At "100" the displayed note completely fills the cell.
- ✓ Velocity scaling: The velocity value of each note is multiplied by the % value set here. The scaling is audible, but is not visualized further. The purpose of this setting is to adjust the volume ratios of the individual drum instruments. Software instruments usually include their own mixers.
  - Changes in this field require an application of the mapping when you switch to the matrix editor!

### Drum Maps and Drum Map Editor

Drum synthesizers typically respond to each note of a different pitch with a different sound. Thus, an entire drum kit and a number of additional percussion instruments can be controlled via one MIDI channel. Assigning a MIDI note to a particular drum sound is called "mapping".

#### Map: GM GeneralMIDI

The drum map can be set in the drum editor by clicking in the **Map** menu at the top. You also have the option to set the drum map in the **Track Editor** in the **MIDI** section.

By default, the "GM (General MIDI) Map" is applied to new MIDI objects in the Drum Editor. However, it may happen that your synthesizer uses a different mapping. This means that when you play the drum event, the sound you wish to hear may not be heard (for example, instead of a bass drum, you get a high tom). In this case you have to adjust the mapping.



A Drum map always applies to the entire track and thus always applies to all MIDI objects on a track. You can tell that a Drum map is active on a track when **Map** is visible in the **Transp.** field in the **MIDI** section of the **Track Editor**.

For individual instruments, you can adjust the settings in the Drum Editor track head by changing the note value next to the Solo/Mute buttons.



To be able to reuse your changes to a drum map in later projects and also for more extensive changes up to the creation of a completely new drum map, the use of the drum map editor is recommended. You can then also save your drum map to a file there. Besides the assignment of the pitch in the editor to the output note, the name of the drum instrument, the MIDI channel and the individual grid and length quantization values are also saved.

Map:	GM GeneralMIDI* 👻	
Cre	eate a new Drum Map	
Ор	en Drum Map Editor 👘	
sor	t Drum Map	
GM	GeneralMIDI	
RO	BOTA	
✔ GM	GeneralMIDI*	

In the picture you can see that a new drum map (GM GeneralMIDI\*) has been created because changes to the default mapping have already been made in the track heads of the drum instruments.

Via the menu **Map** > **Open Drum Map Editor...** you open the Drum Map Editor with the current drum map. If you want to create a completely new drum map, use the command **Create a new Drum Map**.

A project may contain various different Drum Maps. All Drum Maps saved in the project can be selected via the menu. If you require a Drum Map from a \*.map file, you will have to load it into the Drum Map editor first so that it can be shown in the menu.

n Maps:	Name: GM Ger	neralMIDI*	Q	uantize Option	s	Quantize Options to a
GeneralMIDI	Pitch	Instrument	Grid	Length	Output note	e Channel
GeneralMIDI*	127 G8		<global></global>	<global></global>	127 G8	10
	126 F#8		<global></global>	<global></global>	126 F#8	10
	125 F8		<global></global>	<global></global>	125 F8	10
	124 E8		<global></global>	<global></global>	124 E8	10
	123 D#8		<global></global>	<global></global>	123 D#8	10
	122 D8		<global></global>	<global></global>	122 D8	10
	121 C#8		<global></global>	<global></global>	121 C#8	10
	120 C8		<global></global>	<global></global>	120 C8	10
	119 B7		<global></global>	<global></global>	119 B7	10
	118 A#7		<global></global>	<global></global>	118 A#7	10
	117 A7		<global></global>	<global></global>	117 A7	10
	116 G#7		<global></global>	<global></global>	116 G#7	10
	115 G7		<global></global>	<global></global>	115 G7	10
	114 F#7		<global></global>	<global></global>	114 F#7	10
	113 F7		<global></global>	<global></global>	113 F7	10
	112 E7		<global></global>	<global></global>	112 E7	10
	111 D#7		<global></global>	<global></global>	111 D#7	10
	110 D7		<global></global>	<global></global>	110 D7	10
	109 C#7		<global></global>	<global></global>	109 C#7	10
	108 C7		<global></global>	<global></global>	108 C7	10
	107 B6		<global></global>	<global></global>	107 B6	10
	106 A#6		<global></global>	<global></global>	106 A#6	10
	105 A6		<global></global>	<global></global>	105 A6	10
	104 G#6		<global></global>	<global></global>	104 G#6	10
	103 G6		<global></global>	<global></global>	103 G6	10
	102 F#6		<global></global>	<global></global>	102 F#6	10
	101 F6		<global></global>	<global></global>	101 F6	10
New Copy	100 E6		<global></global>	<global></global>	100 E6	10
Load Save	99 D#6		<global></global>	<global></global>	99 D#6	10
emove		Instrument to all	Grid to al		Length to all	Channel to a

The **Drum Maps** list on the left lists all the drum maps available in the project. The Drum Map **GM General MIDI** is always available to start off with.

- **New**: This creates a new empty Drum Map.
- Copy: A copy of an existing map is created. This way you can quickly create variations of a Drum Map with various note mappings, which can then be switched from within the drum editor.
- Load/Save: Use this to save a Drum Map (\*.map file). This way you can use a Drum Map you created for a synthesizer in other projects as well. All loaded maps will be displayed in the Map menu of the drum editor.
- **Remove**: Removes the selected Drum Map from the project.

Use the **Name** field to rename the selected Drum Map. The settings (mappings) of the individual notes for each Drum Map selected will be displayed below this in table form. Use the arrow buttons below to change the order of the instruments.

- **Pitch**: This is the incoming MIDI note.
- **Instrument**: Displays the name of the drum instrument, for example, "Snare 1".
- Grid/Length: Here you can set a grid value for the start time and length quantization of the drum events individually for each instrument. If you leave the value at Global, the global values (toolbar in MIDI editor) will be applied.

In addition, the dialog for the individual instrument's quantization settings (2475) can be opened via **Quantize options** to specify detailed quantization settings (swing, window...) for the instrument.

- Output note: This is the note value to which the drum instrument (the incoming MIDI note in the Pitch field) should be mapped.
- **Channel**: You can set a separate MIDI channel for each instrument here. The value set here overrides the channel setting of the MIDI track.

Using the buttons **Instrument, Grid, Length, Channel, Quantize options to all** you can apply the corresponding setting of a selected instrument (except the output note, of course) to all other instruments.

**i** Important: When you switch from Drum Editor mode back to the normal Piano Roll, you will be asked if you wish to apply the mapping or not.

Samplitude	×
Render map settings into midi objects for this track before switching off the Drum Map?	
copy mapping dismiss mapping	

If you did not make any changes in the mapping (track heads or drum map editor), you can ignore the question and just press Escape or Enter.

When **applying the mapping**, the mapping settings are applied to all MIDI objects of the track.

An example: You have changed the output value in the track head of the drum editor for the instrument with pitch 35 ("Basedrum 1" in the GM standard) to 36 ("Basedrum 2"). If mapping is applied, these notes will be replaced by corresponding "real" notes with a pitch of 36. Likewise, the velocity scalings are included in the velocity of the notes in the object.

# **Controller Editor**

The Controller Editor is a graphical editor that allows you to edit the velocity of the notes in the piano roll and other MIDI events such as Pitch Bend, After Touch, Program Change and Continuous Controller events. Continuous Controllers, abbreviated as CC or simply Controller, are used to transfer control values such as filter, volume or pan position.

The Controller Editor is located below the Matrix Editor/Drum Editor and can be shown and hidden with this button or the keyboard shortcut **Alt + V**.

The controller editor is used to display and edit up to four different MIDI controller curves simultaneously.

k l	Velocity		-0		
/ <b>(</b>			3		
Pb Pb	Ctrl 1 ModV	Vheel	4	_	
1 -					

By default, only one controller lane is shown, in which the velocity is displayed. Pull the dividing line beneath the horizontal scroll bar (1) up to enlarge the display of the controller editor. If you now click on one of the controller buttons (2), another controller lane is displayed. In the menu next to it vou can select the controller to be edited. Pitch bend, aftertouch or program change can also be displayed.

An asterisk behind the controller name indicates that the MIDI object already contains data for that controller.

The velocity values of the note events (**3**) are displayed as a colored bar in the controller editor. The color scheme corresponds to that of the notes: In velocity colors mode, a darker and higher bar symbolizes larger values; for the other color modes, see Event display ( $\nearrow$ 449). The bars are located directly below the respective notes.

Also the values of the other controllers are displayed as a bar (**4**), the width of the bar extends to the next event with a different value. Because the controllers typically change more or less continuously in smaller time intervals independently of note events, they appear as ascending or descending ramps. The height of the ramps and their color intensity also represent the last defined value of an event. Selected controller events also appear in red.

The controllers can be edited with the tools (5).

-\overline{c}- To make it easier to edit **Pitch Bend** curves, which typically have very small differences in values, you can use **Ctrl+ Mouse wheel** to zoom vertically into the controller curve.

### Combi tool 📘

(Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + 2)

The Combi tool lets you select events, edit the values of the selected events, and draw straight or freehand lines.

To select individual events, click the corresponding bar. To modify the controller value, click and drag on the bar end. To select multiple events, click in the controller editor and drag a

selection frame. The reference for the selection is the top edge of a bar. Since the selection is two-dimensional, it is thus also possible to select only events in a certain value range.



The selected events can now be edited together with the handles on the selection frame:



6

**Fade in and out**: Drag the handles to fade controller values in and out.

- **Scale values**: Drag the handle to increase or decrease the values relative to each other.
- 3 **Increase/decrease values**: Drag the handle to increase and decrease all values by the same amount.
- Increase/equalize value differences: Starting from the clicked point on the vertical line, the value differences around this point are increased or decreased. Dragging the handle all the way down will result in a straight line at the height of the clicked value, in the other direction it will increase the "amplitude" of an existing curve.
  - **Stretch/compress duration**: Drag at the edges of the selection for temporal stretching or compression of the curve.
- 6 Move selected: Drag the line at the bottom to move the selected curve.

*i* The display of the selection frame with the editing handles can be deactivated by deselecting the **Use CC selection controller** option in the **Options** menu.

The Combi tool is called like this because with the help of additional modifier keys you can quickly switch to the other two tools Because the **Alt** key is used for the drawing tools in controllers for another special function, the modifiers differ depending on whether the velocity or controllers are being edited:
- Velocity:
  - Alt + Click and drag: Switch to freehand drawing.
  - Shift + click and drag : Switch to straight line drawing.
- Controllers:
  - Shift + click and drag: Switch to freehand drawing.
  - Ctrl + Shift + Click and drag : Switch to straight line drawing.
- To delete selected events in the controller editor, press the **Del** key.

#### Freehand drawing

(Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + 2)

With this tool you can draw detailed gradients by clicking and dragging in a controller range. If you drag backwards while drawing, the curve you just drew will be deleted again. Single-click to create a single controller event.

If you edit velocity, no new notes are generated; only existing velocity values are modified. For example, you can easily create crescendi or decrescendi using velocity curves.

Shift + click and drag: This activates the drawing of lines.

**Alt + click and drag**: Activates snapping to the grid points according to the current quantization settings. Thus, when drawing controllers, only one value per raster unit is generated.



#### Draw lines

(Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + 3)

This tool allows you to draw straight lines by clicking and dragging. Click in the controller lane to set the start point, and then drag the end point to the desired location.

If you edit velocity, no new notes are generated; only existing velocity values are modified. For example, you can easily create crescendi or decrescendi using velocity curves.

**Alt + click and drag**: Activates snapping to the grid points according to the current quantization settings. Thus, when drawing controllers, only one value per raster unit is generated.

## **Event List**

Click on this button, menu **View** > **Show Event list** or keyboard shortcut **Alt + L** to open the event list.

The event list displays all MIDI events as a table. It has two main purposes:

- The list can be used to display and edit also MIDI events that are not accessible via the Matrix, Drum or Controller Editor, such as System Exclusive Messages.
- Using the **display filters** above the table columns, you can filter the displayed MIDI events according to certain criteria in order to select specific MIDI events for editing.

Display Filter	r: =	=		=	=	
001:01:000	Note On	3	71	B3	68	
001:01:000	Note On	4	59	B2	67	Ŀ
001:01:000	Note On	4	66	F#3	67	
001:01:096	Note On	3	74	D4	64	
001:01:096	Note On	4	67	G3	67	
001:01:192	Note On	3	73	C#4	64	
001:01:192	Note On	4	66	F#3	67	
001:01:288	Note On	3	76	E4	64	
001:01:288	Note On	4	67	G3	67	
001:02:000	Note On	3	74	D4	64	
001:02:000	Note On	4	66	F#3	67	
001:02:096	Note On	3	78	F#4	64	
001:02:096	Note On	4	67	G3	67	
001:02:192	Note On	3	76	E4	64	
001:02:192	Note On	4	66	F#3	67	
001:02:288	Note On	3	79	G4	64	
mute con	troller	Sh	ow	Note O	ff	
mute Syst	Ex					

Display Filter	: =			=	=		
001:01:000	Note On	3	71	B3	68		ł
001:01:096	Note On	3	74	D4	64	Ľ	(
001:01:192	Note On	3	73	C#4	64		ł

The table lists the events with time position, event type, channel and one or two bytes parameters. For note events, the note name (C1,C#1...) is displayed next to the note number, and for controllers, the type is displayed.

In the Drum Editor, the names of the drum instruments are displayed for note events instead of "Note On". Time position, channel and the two parameter bytes can be edited directly in the list: Click on the value and drag vertically with the mouse to change the value or doubleclick on the value and enter the new value with the keyboard, terminated by the Enter key.

Note: In order for the keyboard shortcuts for selecting events (e.g. Ctrl + A for Select All or the arrow keys for Next/Previous Event) to refer to the event list, the event list must be focused. You can see this by the red border around the list. To focus, click once in the event list.

**Display filter**: For the event type, the channel and the two parameter bytes there are display filters above the columns of the list. This allows you to filter the display of the list according to criteria:

Select an event that has a certain property, for example, a certain pitch, and click the button above the corresponding column. Then only events with the same property (in the example pitch 36 = bass drum) are displayed in the list. Display filters can be combined with one another. For example, you can select all control change events of type 10 (volume) on MIDI channel 6.

Display Filte	r: =	=		=	=	,¢
001:01:000	Note On	3	71	B3	6	<b>v</b> =
001:01:000	Note On	4	59	B2	6	!=
001:01:000	Note On	4	66	F#3	6	- روان ک
001:01:096	Note On	3	74	D4	6	>
001-01-096	Note On	1	67	63	67	

Right-click the filter buttons to adjust the comparison condition. The default setting is =, which means that all events that do not match the selected criterion will be hidden. With condition != the criterion is applied negatively: All events that meet the criterion are hidden. With < and > the events are hidden whose properties are less than or equal or greater than or equal to the selected event. For example, you can filter out all note events with a velocity value of less than or equal to 40.

**System Exclusive Messages**: System Exclusive Messages are device-specific control data for MIDI hardware. You can create such messages using the edit fields (*⊉*453). Double-click on a SysEx event to open a simple text editor where you can edit the data.

System Exclusive blocks consist of a block of data bytes: 0xFO (System Exclusive Start) followed by two bytes of a unique manufacturer ID, then the manufacturer-specific data and finally the end byte 0xF7. For more detailed information refer to the documentation of the device. With **Mute SysEx** you disable the sending of this data.

**Show Note Off**: A note actually always consists of two MIDI events, the Note On and the corresponding Note Off event. In the MIDI Editor, Note On and Note Off are always selected together to edit the note length, since this is determined by the time duration between the two events. The Note Off events are hidden in the list by default, with **Show Note Off** they are displayed as well.

**Mute Controller** corresponds to the option of the same name in the MIDI object editor, see Extract controller curves from MIDI object (2444).

## **MIDI Functions**

The **MIDI functions** menu contains advanced quantization (arrow475
and editing functions for MIDI notes. The commands in this menu are applied to selected events, if no events are selected, to all events.

- Legato: If necessary, notes may be lengthened until the next note to be played in legato.
   Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + L
- Note Quantize (standard): A standard quantization will be used on all selected notes. If no notes are selected, all notes will be quantized. The default action can be set in the Quantization Settings dialog (#475). Default Setting is **Start Q**. This function can be accessed via the **Quantization** button in the MIDI Editor.

#### Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Q

- **Advanced quantize**: In this submenu you can reach the other quantize commands:
  - **Start Q**: The start time of the notes is quantized according to the set grid quantization value. Note lengths remain unaffected.
  - **Start and length Q**: Start time and length of selected notes will be quantized corresponding to the set grid and length quantization values. Quantization is performed with 100% strength ("hard" quantization).
  - **Soft Q**: This command considers the current Soft Q value in the Quantization Options. A Soft Q value less than 100 does not shift the note start time exactly to the grid position, but only by part, according to the strength of the value.
  - Length Q: Only the length of selected notes will be quantized according to the set length quantization value. The start time remains unaffected.
  - **Quantize note ends to grid:** The end of selected notes will be quantized according to the set grid quantization value. The start time remains unaffected, but the note lengths will change.
  - **Undo quantization**: With this command you can undo all quantizations made. This works even after the project has been saved.
  - **Quantize Settings...**: Opens the dialog for the Quantization settings (#475).
- Quantize/thin out controller events: This command replaces selected controller events (#466) with quantized controllers that replicate the controller course, but only values at the grid points corresponding to the set quantization grid are created.
- **Humanize**: To make quantized or drawn notes sound more human and less machine-like, you can use the Humanize function to shift the start time of the selected notes by a random value. This corresponds to the button of the same name in the Quantize Settings dialog (#475), where you can also set the strength of the Humanize function.
- Mute notes: This allows you to mute individual notes and make them audible again.
   Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + M
- Remove note overlaps (polyphonic): Notes are shortened so that notes no longer overlap. However, chords (notes played simultaneously or in very short succession) are recognized and are not corrected.
- Remove double notes (monophonic overlaps): Notes are shortened so that there no longer are any overlaps. This forces monophonic voice leading and removes legato from

monophonic synthesizers.

- Transform Sustain (CC64) to note lengths: This function converts sustain pedal controller events (controller 64) into note lengths. All notes which were started after a "Pedal pressed" event (CC64 > 64) will be extended to the "Pedal released" event (CC64 < 64), and the pedal events removed.</p>
- **Transpose...**: Allows you to transpose the pitch of the selected notes. Enter the shift in semitone steps in the dialog, negative values for a downward shift.
- **MIDI Timestretching...**: This function allows you to edit the tempo of the selected events. Select one of the options in the dialog:
  - **Double/half tempo**: Starting from the start time of the first selected note, the time interval of the following events and the length of the notes are doubled or halved, resulting in a double or half tempo
  - **Scale to range length**: The scale factor is determined based on a selected range, so the selected notes are fitted exactly into the range.
  - **Stretch manually**: Enter an individual scaling factor.
- Retrograde (Reverse): The selected sequence of notes is played backwards, in other words, mirrored at the vertical center axis.
- Melody Inversion: Use this function to mirror the selected notes on a horizontal center axis. The pitch of this axis corresponds to the current note.
  - The current note is the last selected note in case of multiple selection, it is displayed highlighted. You can set the current note in an existing multiple selection by clicking on it.

The current note remains unchanged, but for all other notes the direction of movement of the melody is reversed, i.e. upward movements become downward movements and vice versa.

If no notes are selected, i.e. no current note, the mirroring of all notes of the object is done at the average pitch of all notes  $P_{min} + ((P_{max}-P_{min})/2)$ .

Example: Highest note in object  $P_{max} = 74$ , lowest note  $P_{min} = 42$ 42 + ((74-42)/2) = 42 + 16 = 58

■ **MIDI Velocity Dynamics...**: Offline version of the MIDI Velocity Dynamics (*7*491) effect.

## Quantize and Snap

The quantization grid in the MIDI editor serves two functions:

- When drawing in and moving MIDI events, the grid ensures that the notes snap to the correct positions, analogous to the snap (*7*8) in the Project window.
- Irregularities when recording MIDI can be evened out with quantization. In doing so, the note starts and/or lengths are moved to corresponding grid positions. In addition, you can use functions such as **Soft Q** or **Humanize** to make the quantization less mechanical and adapt it to the rhythmic properties of the project (**Swing**).

#### Snap

You make the most important settings for the grid in the two fields of the toolbar in the MIDI Editor.



Use the button in front to activate or deactivate the snap. When snap is active, the positions and lengths of the notes snap only to multiples of the grid values when they are drawn in and changed with the mouse.

The note length snaps according to the length quantize value, even if the start position is not on the grid (relative grid).

If you hold down the **Alt** key while moving or drawing MIDI events, the snap is temporarily overridden.

In the two menus behind it, you set the grid value for the start position and the length. The setting **Beats** at the Start Position causes quarter notes to serve as the grid unit for time signatures based on quarter notes, and eighth notes for time signatures based on eighth notes. The snap therefore follows the time signature and follows any time signature changes. **#** in the field for the length quantization value means that the length quantization value should correspond to the set start quantization value.

The grid display in the MIDI editor adapts to the set start quantize value. If a swing value (2477) is specified in the quantization options (which are also the basis for the snap), this is also reflected in the grid of the MIDI editor, i.e. the spacing of the grid lines is alternately different.

### Quantization

uantize By clicking the button **Quantize** in the upper right corner of the MIDI Editor or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Q** you quantize all selected MIDI notes with the default quantization.

The preset default quantization is **Start Q** and causes only the start time of the notes to be shifted to the set grid values.

For further control over quantization and to select a different default quantization (Start and Length, Length, or Soft Q), open the Quantize Settings ( $\nearrow$ 475) dialog (see below) by right-clicking this button or using the keyboard shortcut **Alt + Q**.

All quantization functions can always be reached via the menu **MIDI functions** > **Extended quantize**.

If no notes are selected in the MIDI Editor, all notes of all selected MIDI objects will be quantized.

**i** Notes:

- You can also perform quantization of all selected MIDI objects without opening the MIDI Editor, corresponding menu commands are located in the menu **Object** > **Quantize**.
- If the button *Input Q* is active in the section *MIDI* of the *Track Editor*, *MIDI* recordings are already quantized during recording.
- All quantizations are virtual. With Undo Quantize (Menu MIDI Functions > Extended Quantize) you can reset all notes to their original positions. This works even after the project has been saved.

### **Quantization Settings**

You open the quantize settings in the MIDI Editor menu under **MIDI Functions** > **Extended Quantize** > **Quantize Settings...** or in the main menu of **Sequoia** under Menu **Object** > **Quantize** > **MIDI Quantize...** or with the keyboard shortcut **Alt + Q**.

The dialog with the settings is not "modal", i.e. you can leave it open if you wish, and test certain passages with different settings.

Preset	▼ <u>S</u> ave <u>L</u> oad Delete
<b>1</b> 2 3 4 4	<b>2</b> 2 3 4 4
Q Grid	Q Length Display Bars 2
16 💌	#   Time Signature
Options Q Threshold 26 Q Window 93 Select Notes inside the Q Zone Swing Offset 57 0	Humanize          13         Apply Soft Q         25
	"Standard Quantize" Settings     Start Q   Apply Standard Q
Reset Quantization	Default Settings <u>H</u> elp Close

At the top of the dialog, the selected quantization settings are visualized. The blue strokes indicate the target positions for the quantized notes, i.e. the snap points, the length of the strokes corresponds to the velocity for Groove Templates (alpha478). The gray areas around them indicate the quantization window, i.e. the time positions that are affected by the quantization.

At **Display bars/Time signature** you can define how many bars in which time signature the settings window displays. The bar labels of the quantization grid depend on the set time signature.

**Q** grid/length: Quantization grid and length, i.e. the target points within the bar to which the note start times and/or lengths are moved. Both fields match the fields in the MIDI editor's toolbar. With the value **#** for the length parameter you couple the length quantization value to the (start) quantization grid value.

**Q threshold/Q window**: The Q Threshold/Q Window parameters let you limit quantization to specific notes to preserve the naturalness of a MIDI recording.

■ With the **Q Threshold** parameter, notes that are already close enough to the next snap point are excluded from quantization. Only notes that are far enough from the grid will be

quantized.

Conversely, by reducing the size of Q Window, notes that deviate too much from the grid can be excluded from quantization. This makes it possible, for example, to quantize quarter or eighth notes and preserve the in-between sixteenth notes if you reduce the size of the window accordingly.

In summary this means: Events less than the **threshold**-distance or more than the **window**distance from the grid point will not be quantized. The time range affected by the quantization is indicated in gray in the dialog graphic.

For control purposes, the button **Select notes within the Q zone** can be used to select all notes that would be affected by the quantization.

**Swing**: With this value you set a swinging style of playing. Here, the distances between every second grid point are of different lengths, corresponding to a stressed/unstressed playing style.

The number is a percentage. A swing of **50** corresponds to a straight play, all grid distances are of equal length (50% to 50%). This is the default setting.

A swing setting of **67**corresponds to the triplet style of playing, typical of blues or swing music. In this case, the double note length (i.e., an 1/8 in a 1/16 grid) is divided into three time sections, the 1/16 notes are alternately given 2/3 (i.e., 67%) and 1/3 (33%) of the length of the eighth note, in other words, a 1/8 triplet in which the first two notes are tied.

A swing setting of **75** corresponds to a dotted note, two 1/8 notes become a dotted 1/8 and a 1/16 note.

 $\dot{\psi}$  The characteristic swing settings (shuffle) for electronic dance music are between 50 and 66.

**Offset**: By changing the value for the offset, you shift the entire quantization grid. Negative values move the quantization to the left, i.e. backward in time; positive values move to the right, i.e. forward in time. The maximum of 100 corresponds with an offset distance of half the grid width.

The display of the blue snap points in the dialog and the grid in the MIDI editor follows the change of this value.

**Humanize**: The **Humanize** parameter gives you another variation option by allowing you to randomly arrange notes up to a specified distance on positions around the exact quantize value. The setting occurs in % of a 16th note. The specified value thus sets the maximum possible distance of the quantized notes from the exact quantization position.

**Soft Q**: Soft Q is a quantization where the events are not shifted exactly to the grid point, but only partially, how much is determined by the Soft Q value. 100 shifts the event exactly to the quantization grid point, 50 shifts the event to the mid-point between the current position and the quantization grid point, and 0 means no shift at all.

The **Apply Soft Q** command takes the current strength value in the quantize options into account. The standard quantize command always occurs at 100%. In this manner, you can always select between approximation (soft) and hard quantization without having to adjust the quantization options every time.

**Standard quantize settings**: From the list, select the quantize action to be performed when the **Quantize** button is clicked. For information on the various quantization commands, see MIDI functions (2471).

5 0

With the two buttons you can undo or redo the last quantization performed.

**Reset quantization**: All notes will be reset to their original positions.

**Default settings**: The button resets the options to the default settings: **Q threshold**=0, **Q window**=100, **swing**=50 and **offset**=0.

#### Presets:

Here you can select from a number of presets:

- **5-tuplet**: Quantization occurs in fifths
- Magnetic quantize: The "window" value is set to "50", i.e. only 50% of quantization will be included. Only events that are within a range of 25% of the grid width left and right of the grid point will be quantized.
- **Soft quantize**: The "Level" parameter is set to "50", i.e. quantization occurs at a half interval between the current position and the next grid point.
- Swing: The swing parameter is set to "75", i.e. in contrast to the binary rhythm, which features a "swing" value of "50", inclined/un-highlighted counting times will be set to delay. This results in a swing feeling
- **Triplets**: Quantization occurs in triplets.
- **16th offbeat**: The quantization grid's timing is moved forward a 16th note
- **8th offbeat**: The quantization grid's timing is moved forward a 8th note
- **New groove** and **More life for hi-hat** are provided groove templates

Of course you can create and save your own settings as presets.

### **Groove Templates**

A groove template is a freely defined quantization grid. You can apply a rhythmic pattern on all selected MIDI events or Audio objects with Groove Templates. This allows you to make static MIDI patterns more lively, quantize on existing audio drum loops, or implement special metrics like dotted grid values. For MIDI objects, the velocity and note length can optionally be changed

by the groove template in addition to the position. It is also possible to define a rhythmic pattern for drawing in MIDI notes.

A Groove Template enables a freely-definable grid. Usually it has a length of one to four bars and is repeated cyclically. However, the length of the groove templates is basically freely definable. So you could also create a grid based on the bass drum track of an entire song, and then use the MIDI drum pen to draw in a bass that plays exactly to it. The length and start of the groove template are always set to whole bars.

You load the Groove Templates from the Grid Quantize vakue menu on the toolbar. They are located there below the regular grid values.

In the MIDI Editor, you can create new groove templates by yourself by selecting the MIDI events to be used as templates and then choosing the **Edit** menu > **Create Groove Template from Selection** command. The groove template is quantized to whole bar boundaries. So when you create a groove template, make sure it contains enough notes for a whole measure. Or set a corresponding time signature beforehand via tempo marker, for a template with e.g. the length of 2 eighths set a 2/8 time signature first.

In the file selection dialog you can give your Groove Template a name. Subsequently the Groove Template is immediately active and appears in the grid quantization list.

Additional to each note start position both the note length and velocity are saved in the Groove Template. In the **Quantization Settings dialog**, after selecting a groove template, there are two additional options, **Groove Velocity** and **Groove Note Length**, which determine how much these values from the groove template are included in the quantization. The parameters **Swing** and **Offset** are not available when a groove template is used.

You can also create groove templates from audio objects by selecting the audio object you want to use as a template and opening the Audio Quantization Wizard (menu **Object** > **Quantize** > **Extended Audio Quantization** and in the wizard, run the function **Detect Transients** and click **Create Groove**. If you select a range beforehand, only the AQ markers within the selected area will be considered for the template creation.

# **Score Editor**

The Score Editor is integrated in the MIDI Editor and displays the MIDI data of one or more MIDI objects as sheet music. If you move or lengthen MIDI notes in the Matrix Editor, this change will be visible in the score; if you add new notes in the Score Editor, corresponding MIDI note events will be generated in the object.

Each track can contain staffs consisting of a maximum of 48 staves. When editing objects from multiple tracks, the score is composed of the staffs from each track. The staff of a track can be used as an instrument or instrument group within a score. You can get the full score from this by displaying MIDI objects of all tracks in the Score Editor at the same time. A voice excerpt

can be obtained by showing the track of the desired instrument or instrument group only in the score editor.

There are two different views of the Score Editor in the MIDI Editor, the **Linear** mode and the **Page** mode.

### Linear View Mode



This button opens the Score Editor in linear view mode.

The linear view can be displayed in parallel with the matrix (piano roll) and velocity display (controller editor). In this mode it is possible to edit the MIDI data directly in the score.

Note: With parallel note and velocity display, only the velocity values of the notes of the selected stave are displayed in the Velocity Editor (recognizable by its clef highlighted in red).

		¥	dha 📓	25 日		۶ 🌶	🖌 - 🥔	P 🖉	🥙 M		A 16			-	J+ #		-	Quantize	S	
Event	Note									92	Len: 0	00:01:216	Inse	rt			-			- 🚍
°0	٢	1 9	⊧ <b> </b> 8⊤  §	8a 1-9		‡ ↓	n 1	1Ĵ 2ļ	: <u>122</u> ==	120		13	<u>ъ</u> з.,							
	12	13		6 I I	16 1	12 1	13	1 14	17	12	1 12	1 124	1 18		2	3 1	1.4	19	12	•
61	ł	•			ļ.	7	15			j,	÷	1	٢		r : r = r		ď	e		
Arr Gaile			0									_				R.	P -			
Ar Calo	-12	m	<u></u> ₩		$\sim$	μ.	_		)   <u> </u>	h			-	10		u.	2/_			-
																				1
-	1						-	-					-		-		_			
											_									
							_													

The height of the linear note view can be adjusted by moving the line between the Note and Matrix Editors. The horizontal section can be set above the scroll bar, parallel to the matrix view of the MIDI notes.

**Sequoia** automatically adjusts the notation symbol size to the selected section. (**Score** menu > **Automatic Zoom**).

## Page View Mode

This button opens the Score Editor in the Page Mode view.

Page mode displays the notes as if they were on a score sheet and also serves as a print preview. In this mode you cannot enter new notes or make changes to existing note events, but you can optimize the graphical representation of the notes on the score sheet. To do this, you can select notes and assign them to the different staves or voices within a stave.



Scrolling in the page view: Use the vertical scroll bar to scroll from page to page. With Ctrl + mouse wheel you can zoom in and out.

 $\dot{Q}$  Tip: Since the page mode also serves as a print preview, you should first set the page format (in the **Page Settings** tab of the **Score Properties** dialog) to the paper format of your printer before you start designing pages for printing, since the display depends on the page format. You will then see your score exactly as it will be printed.

## **Editing MIDI Notes in the Linear View**

Select notes: Single notes are selected by clicking, multiple notes by clicking with Ctrl- or Shift-key. You can select a group of notes with a selection frame.

Change the pitch, velocity or length for one or more selected notes: The data values of the current note are displayed in the info line above the note view. Changing a parameter may have a comparable effect on all selected notes, just like in the matrix editor.

Move and transpose: To move notes, drag them to the desired position. The info line gives you an orientation about the change of pitch and position. The step size during moving is determined by the quantization grid in the MIDI editor.

**(i) Note**: In "Page" mode, notes may not be drawn with the pencil or moved or copied with the mouse. However, you can use the corresponding menu commands and keyboard shortcuts for this purpose.

**Copy**: Select the desired notes and copy them by holding down the **Ctrl** key and dragging the mouse to the desired position. Or you can use the copy functions of the menu **Edit** in the MIDI Editor.

Insert new notes: Use the mouse mode Draw Notes (pencil icon) to draw new notes. Click the desired position, hold down the mouse key and correct the position and pitch as required. When you release the mouse button, a new note is inserted. The length of the note

corresponds to the selected length quantize value. To quickly select note lengths, you can use the buttons above the notes.



New notes are always inserted into the active stave. For example, to insert a note on the bottom staff (left hand) in a piano system, first click on the clef at the front of the bottom staff.



Only notes that correspond to the current key will be inserted. If you want the note to have an accidental, use the buttons for **accidentals** or the natural sign.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  You can move the note chromatically in semitone steps using the arrow keys. This way, an inserted **F** in C Major may be transformed into an **F#** by pressing the **Up** key.

**Enharmonic shift**: **Sequoia** sets the sharps and flats according to the selected key. It is often the case, however, that an enharmonic shift can considerably optimize the legibility of certain passages. In this case, you can intervene manually.



To shift one or more selected notes enharmonically, click the corresponding button. The function transforms flats into sharps and vice versa.

**Insert clef**: Clef symbols can be inserted at the current play cursor position using the corresponding clef symbol buttons in the active system.



Click on a clef symbol with the eraser or the right mouse button to delete it.

**Time signatures**: The time signature signature symbols are created automatically from the time signature markers of the project. Time signature changes are possible at full bar borders. To do this, create a time signature marker in the **Edit** > **Tempo** menu with the new signature at the desired position. If no time signature changes occur, it is enough to set the time signature of the piece in the transport console.

**Delete notes**: You can delete notes by selecting them and pressing **Del** or by clicking on them with the eraser or with the right mouse button.

The menu command **Score** > **Selected notes: hide/show in score** allows you to remove selected notes from the score display without affecting MIDI playback. Notes hidden in the score are indicated in the matrix editor by a diagonal line. This feature is handy for making trills easier to read, for example, or for removing "control notes" for switching playing styles from the score.

## Adjusting and Optimizing the Score.

The quality of the automatic conversion of MIDI data into a score is usually sufficient for editing MIDI data as efficiency is required here instead of a perfect, ready-to-print display.

The note representation generated from the events of the MIDI objects is always correct in pitch and position. However, this does not mean that the score can be optimally read, since displaying note lengths also plays an important role in this context. In this case, the score permits more flexible interpretation so that the user usually has to intervene. This is a negative example of a poorly readable translation of a piano passage in notation:



Automatic notation with unsuitable display settings...



...and finished editing



The options for customizing the display can be found in the **Score Settings** dialog. Open the dialog by clicking this button.

• Tip: Use two different versions of a piece, one for MIDI sequencing and one for score printing! This way you can change the MIDI events in the version for score printing as you like, even if it then doesn't sound as it should during playback. You may have to increase or decrease the length of a note in order to display the correct note value or the correct pause. It may also be advantageous to remove trills, grace notes, and other ornaments in order to be able to print the score in a more simplified form.

### **Score Settings**

S	core settings				Page	settings						
		Sy	sten	n Setup (for current tr	ack)							
Current Track		Number of st	aves									
Score Demo	-	- 2	ŀ	]		Presets					*	
Ip Track	Name	Clef		Key	Trp.	Chan.		2. Voice		Quant.	Splitpo	int
Score Demo		treble cl	Ŧ	2# D Major / 💌	0.00	Ch 3	Ŧ		Ŧ	32th	-	
2 Score Demo		treble cl	Ŧ	2# D Major / 💌	0.00	Ch 4	Ŧ	-	Ŧ	16th	-	22
3		(inactive)	-									
4		(inactive)	Ŧ									
2000												
			App	ly changes to all staw	5							
Options		Key Signature			🖬 Dir	splay Qua	intia					
			0	ptions (current staff)								
simplify note leng	ths (interpretat	ion)		strict measure	e beat/p	ulse divi	sion					
hide note overlaps		larger beam	roups									
automatic staccato	articulations		🗌 recognize gra	ce note	s							

In this dialog you define all settings for the staves, the interpretation and distribution of the MIDI data to the staves.

At **Current track** you select the track whose settings are being edited and use Number of staves to determine how many staves are created for this track. In the menu **Current track** only the tracks on which the selected objects are located appear. Therefore, if you have selected only one MIDI object, only this track will be displayed in this menu

**Presets**: These are preprogrammed standard settings for certain instruments or instrumentation such as string quartet, piano or orchestra. By selecting a preset, the note image can be made more readable and clearer in just a few steps.

In the table below, the settings of the staves of all involved tracks are listed one below the other. The list of the staves can be scrolled vertically using the **Up/Down** arrow buttons. The active stave is recognizable via the index marked in red.

For each stave there are the following settings:

- **Name**: The name of the stave, on the far left under the clef
- **Clef**: The clef for the stave. Within the stave it is possible to change the clef. With the help of the +/-12 clef option, octave notation is possible.
- **Key**: The key of the stave determines which accidentals apply to the entire stave.

**A Attention:** You cannot insert a key change in a staff. As a workaround, you can create an additional track and select a different key for this track in the score settings.

- **Trp.**: For transposing instruments you can set here an offset by which the notes are transposed (e.g. +2 for trumpet in Bb, -3 or +9 for alto saxophone in Eb).
- **Channel:** A MIDI channel can be specified for the automatic assignment of notes to the different staves. For more on this, see Note Assignment in Multiple Systems below.
- **2. Voice**: A MIDI channel can also be assigned for the automatic assignment of a second voice (direction of the note stem).
- **Quant.**: Using the display quantization you can set the rhythmic resolution of the note display, independently of the actual quantization. For example, you can display a freely recorded and unquantized track in sixteenth notes. The display quantization does not have any influence on note playback, but rather adapts the note display to a grid. Set the value to the smallest note value occurring in the sequence. A display quantization that is too fine can result in an unreadable display.
- **Split point**: The split point is also used to automatically assign the notes to the staves: Notes above the split point are assigned to the upper system, notes below the split point to the system below.

In the lower area, the options for interpreting the active stave are displayed.

Changes to the settings for the options, key and display quantization are applied to all staves by default. With the checkboxes you can change this behavior, so you can also set different options for each stave in a system

#### **Interpretation Options**

In the lower part of the Score Settings dialog there is a section where you can influence how the score is displayed via a number of options.



() These options do not affect the playback, but only the note display.

**Simplify note lengths (interpretation)**: Rests and slurred notes are displayed so that the score is as legible as possible.



Display without option Simplify note lengths; display quantization 16th.



#### Display with option Simplify note lengths (Interpretation)

Hide note overlaps: Use this option to eliminate slurs over successive notes caused by legato playing, for example.



Original



Display with Hide Note Overlaps option

Automatic staccato articulations: With this option, notes that are shorter than the displayed MIDI note get a staccato symbol.



Display with option "Automatic staccato articulations"

Recognize triplets: Activate this option if triplets are present in the MIDI object.

**i Note**: Always set the value for the display quantization one step finer than the smallest triplet values to be detected. For example, to recognize one eighth triplets, display quantization has to be set to at least one sixteenth (or to 1/64 for 1/32 triplets).

**Strict measure beat/pulse division**: With this option, no note and rest values occur that are longer than a bar subgroup (pulse, beat). In some cases longer notes are displayed as multiple slurred notes. This can simplify the legibility of the score.

**Larger beam groups**: Bar groups are partially compiled across beat subgroups. This can also simplify the legibility of the score.

**Recognize grace notes**: Note values which are much shorter than the display quantization value are annotated as grace notes as long as a base note is present.



Original

Display with Recognize Grace Notes" option

Force Polyphonic Notation: The display of the notation always appears polyphonic.

#### **Polyphonic Notation**

Up to two independent voices can be annotated for each note line. The voices differ in the direction of the note stems: the first voice is always notated with the stem pointing upwards, the second with the stem pointing downwards. Pauses are displayed individually for each voice.





Monophonic representation

Polyphonic representation

You can set the voice by selecting the notes and clicking the corresponding buttons:

```
Assign 1st voice (stem direction up)
```



Assign 2nd voice (stem direction down)

By selecting Automatic voice assignment, the defined voice assignment can be canceled.

-\cong\_- Tip: You can also find the corresponding commands in the MIDI Editor menu **Score** and assign keyboard shortcuts to them.

In the case of automatic voice assignment, the MIDI channel of the notes is evaluated for voice assignment: To do this, specify a MIDI channel for the second voice in the **Score properties** dialog. You can set this individually for each stave. All notes on this staff coming from MIDI channels other than the set one will be assigned to the 1st voice. If no MIDI channel is specified for voice assignment and no manual voice assignment has been made, all notes are drawn as 1st voice.

### Note Assignment in Scores with Multiple Staves

The assignment of notes to the different staves can be done both automatically and manually.

When automatically assigning notes to a specific stave, either the MIDI channel of the note event, the pitch or a combination of both properties can serve as criteria. The criteria are set in the Score settings (channel, split point).

To manually assign notes to staves:



Click this button to move the selected notes up one stave.



Click the button to move the selected notes one stave down.

This results in the note being connected to the stave (independently of the MIDI channel or pitch).



This manually defined assignment can be undone by pressing the **Automatic Staff Assignment** button.

## **Page Settings**

The page settings determine the arrangement of the entire score on a paper page for printing. You also determine how the notes are displayed in the page view.



To open the page settings, use this button to open **Score Settings** and then click **Page settings** 

Score settings				Pa	ge se	ttings	
			Paper				
A4 (210 x 297 mm)	-		Page width		210.	0	
			Page height		297.	0	G mm
Orientation			Page N	largins			@ inch
G Portrait		Left	5.0	Righ	t	5.0	
Landscape		Тор	5.0	Botte	m	5.0	
			Layout				
show Bar Numbers			Score size scaling	; (%)		100	
📕 show Page Numbers							
Tempo/Expression		Allegro leggi	ero				
Composer		Edvard Grieg					
additional Text		Lyric Pieces O	p. 62, No. 4				
Lyrics							

Sequoia automatically creates the layout of the score and caters for optimal division of note lines and systems on the page. You only need to specify the **Page size**, **Orientation**, and **Page margins**. For page size, you can find templates for common page formats in the drop-down menu.

**Scale Score Size (%)**: Use this factor to scale the size of the score symbols in relation to the page. This influences how many bars fit into a note line and thus at which points a line break or page break occurs.

With a smaller value you get more bars/staves on a sheet of paper, the note symbols are displayed smaller accordingly.

**Layout**: Under Layout you can show/hide various other layout elements such as bar numbers and page numbers by option and add the tempo label, composer and additional text. Also the lyrics (\$\alpha500\$) can be displayed optionally.

The title of the piece (large text at the top center) corresponds to the object name of the first selected MIDI object. To quickly change the object name you can use the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + N**.

### **Printing Scores**

To print the score sheet, select **Score** > **Print Score** or click the printer button.

The system print dialog will appear, where you can select the printer you want to use and other options, such as selecting the pages and number of copies you want to print. At **Properties...** you can reach further setting options, specific to the selected printer. Be sure to select the

same paper size for printing that you set in the Page settings so that the printout is not scaled or printed in the wrong aspect ratio.

The following elements are only visible on the screen and are not printed:

- The lines which mark the page borders on the monitor
- Mouse Pointer
- The color highlighting of selected notes and the playback area.

(i) Note: When printing to a PDF file, please make sure that you enable the option to embed the fonts in the document so that the notation symbols are displayed correctly in the document.

### Score MusicXML Export

The score can be exported as a MusicXML file for further processing in music notation applications. Many dedicated music notation programs can import MusicXML files. Converters are also available for transforming MusicXML into other formats. You can find out more at www.musicxml.org.

Converting to MusicXML format has the advantage that, unlike with the standard MIDI file format, many manual settings and optimizations of the score, like the number of staves, key, voice allocation, pitch, etc., remain the same.

Create your composition in Sequoia and define score settings here already, so that you can edit or navigate more clearly in the score view. You can then continue editing the score in order to optimize the layout and notation in the familiar environment of your score editing application.

To export to MusicXML, choose **Score** > **Export Score** as **MusicXML...** from the menu.

When exporting MusicXML, all properties of the score such as staves, notes and rests, bar groups, clefs, polyphonic voices, accidentals, enharmonic changes are included but page format, line breaks and system spacing are not. These are also part of the MusicXML format, but since these parameters can only be edited to a limited extent in Sequoia, they are excluded from the MusicXML export.

In the every score editing application processes all MusicXML elements correctly, so it may become necessary to manually correct struck-through bar lines later, or to regroup brackets for "parts".

# **MIDI Velocity Dynamics**

MIDI Velocity Dynamics is a MIDI effect that works on the same principle as audio dynamics effects, assigning a specific output velocity to each input velocity value via a characteristic curve to compress or expand the velocity of MIDI notes. It can be used both in real time as a track effect and offline as a MIDI function in the MIDI Editor for editing MIDI data.

## Use as a Track Effect

By using it as a real-time track effect, you can influence the velocity response of a MIDI keyboard right at the time of recording.

The effect influences the playback of MIDI notes. The notes are recorded with the original velocity, but can already be heard with the altered velocity during recording.

To activate the effect, click the **Velocity Dyn** button in the **MIDI** section of the **Track Editor** or select it from menu **Track** > **More** > **Track Effects** > **MIDI**.

When the effect is activated for the first time, the effect's settings dialog will also open. Changes to the dynamics parameters take effect immediately during playback and MIDI input, and remain so even when you close the dialog.

In the further course you can deactivate and activate the effect with a left click on the **Velocity Dyn** button in the Track Editor. (This corresponds to the **Bypass** option in the dialog). To open the settings dialog again, right click the **Velocity Dyn** button.



In the **Preset** menu you will find a number of presets for various compressor or expander applications that you can use as a basis for individual adjustments.

The effect is controlled by the following dynamics parameters:

- Ratio: Velocity values above the Threshold are affected by this factor, thus controlling the amount of compression (Ratio > 1) and expansion (Ratio < 1).</p>
- Threshold: All velocity values greater than the Threshold value are affected by the Ratio factor. If the Inverse option is active, only the velocity values below the threshold are processed.
- Gain: The gain value is an additional constant value that is added to the velocity, it thus shifts the curve up or down overall. If the Auto option is enabled, the gain parameter is automatically adjusted to achieve the maximum output velocity value with the current Ratio/Treshold settings at maximum input velocity.
- With Limit Maximum and Limit Minimum you can set the minimum and maximum possible velocity value, respectively.

 $\dot{\nabla}$  If you set **Limit Minimum** and **Limit Maximum** to the same value, you can thus set a fixed velocity and simulate a keyboard without velocity, like an organ.

■ **linear, exp, sin/cos**: With the selection of **exp** or **sin/cos** alternative characteristic curves are possible.

## Use as Offline Effect

Select a MIDI object and choose **Effects** > **MIDI Velocity Dynamics** > **MIDI Velocity Dynamics...** from the menu to apply the effect to all notes of a MIDI object. To edit only specific notes of a MIDI object, open the MIDI object in the MIDI Editor (double-click), select the desired events, and then choose **Velocity Dynamics...** from the MIDI Editor's **MIDI Functions** menu.

**i** If no notes are selected in the MIDI Editor, all notes of the event are edited as well.

Preset: [Compression] medium	Delete
Limit Maximum 127 Limit Minimum 1 Affect only notes in limit zone	<ul> <li>Linear</li> <li>Exp</li> <li>Sin/Cos</li> </ul>
Set fixed     110     2.00     46     40       Randomize     10     0.1 10     Inverse     Auto       % relative	Close

The operation of the dynamics parameters is identical to the real-time variant of the effect. The **Apply button** permanently changes the velocity values in the MIDI object and closes the dialog. **Close** closes the dialog without making any changes.

-\$\dots\$'- With the command **Apply MIDI Velocity Dynamics** in the menu **Effects** > **MIDI Velocity Dynamics** you can also use the effect without opening the MIDI Velocity Dynamics dialog, the last values set in the dialog will be used.

In addition to the dynamics functions, there are two other functions in the offline version of the effect:

**Set fixed**: Use this button to set all notes to the specified velocity value.

**Randomize**: With this button you change all velocity values of the notes individually by a random value. Enter the maximum value of random changes in the adjacent field. This allows you, for example, to make programmed sequences with constant velocity sound more human. With the option **% relative** the change of the values is relative, thus louder passages are subject to greater random fluctuations than quiet ones.

**Only for notes in limit zone**: If active, only notes whose velocities are within Limit Minimum and Maximum will be modified. This also allows you to set only notes of a certain range of velocity values to a fixed value or edit them with random variations.

·☆ The two functions are also available as menu commands Set MIDI Velocity to fixed value and Randomize MIDI Velocity in the menu Effects > MIDI Velocity Dynamics. This allows you to use these functions without opening the MIDI Velocity Dynamics dialog, using the last values set in the dialog.

## MPE

**Sequoia** supports the new **MPE** (MIDI Polyphonic Expression) extension. MPE is a new control standard for synths which expands the range of possible expressions which can be produced with these instruments. Unlike OSC, for example, this is not a new protocol, but MPE is conventional MIDI, although the MIDI channel is changed for each individual note.

When MIDI commands for controlling sound parameters (CC, NRPN), or pitch wheel commands for controlling the pitch, are sent to the synthesizer, these are normally applied to all of the notes on a channel. So there is no way to assign different pitch or tone changes for individual notes when playing polyphonic. With MPE, these limitations are removed. This is done by assigning each note to its own channel so that controller and pitch wheel commands can be applied specifically to the note in question.

This enables MIDI controllers which support MPE to produce a much wider range of expressions than a normal keyboard. In addition to aftertouch (the force applied to a key after it is pressed), MPE also offers the ability to "bend" each individual pitch separately to create vibrato and glissandi. An additional Expression Parameter (CC74) is also generated based on the position of the player's finger on the key. Some examples of MPE-compatible MIDI controllers include the Roli SeaBoard (or its mini version, Roli Blocks), the LinnStrument by Roger Linn, or the Soundplane by Madrona Labs.

On the other hand, the sound generators must also support MPE: They must be able to generate a separate, independent synthesizer voice for each MIDI channel. There are many manufacturers who offer MPE-compatible VST synths. An extensive list is available on the website of keyboard manufacturer Roli Labs.

The key properties that MPE-compatible controllers and synths have are:

- For each Note On event, a new channel is created for the note. The channel is not made available for new notes until a Note Off event is sent for the current note. Since at least one more channel (Master Channel) is needed for global control commands like program change and global pitch, the maximum polyphony is thus 15 independent voices.
- CC74, pitch wheel and channel pressure (aftertouch) commands send to the assigned channel are applied to the note in question; CC74 is reserved as a third control dimension for MPE synthesizers (MPE Timbre).
- The pitch bend range that a MIDI note can be pitched up or down using the pitch wheel is set to 48 (+/- 4 octaves). Compared to the normal +/- 2 semitones, this seems like a huge range. But the idea is to give you the greatest possible pitch range to create glissandi from any note.

The MPE specification includes other rules, such as those for handling key pressure, for the Master Channel, and for what happens when the polyphony is exceeded. These rules, however, are not particularly relevant to MPE support in **Sequoia**. To learn more about them, visit www.midi.org.

### **MPE Track Mode**

In order for **Sequoia** to be able to interpret incoming MIDI data as MPE, and in order to be able to edit it as such, the track must be set to MPE mode.

To do this, enable the option **MPE** in the track settings ( $\nearrow$ 146) or in the MIDI section ( $\cancel{7}59$ ) of the Track Editor.

100						- MIDI	
MIDI						In <all></all>	
Record Dev.:	<all> ~</all>	All Tracks	VST Instrument Editor			MPE 🔽 N Exp.	
						Out 1: Surge	
Playback Dev.:	VSTi 1: Surge V	All Tracks		Note Expression Map		Ch.In all 🖃 Out 1	
	Pesseri controller ourses utile Plaving		C/MPC			Prog. 1:	
	<ul> <li>Hecord controller curves while Haying</li> </ul>		MFE		~	BankHi - LSB -	
Playback/Thru pa	ameters:					Transp. • () Map	
						Input Q Velocit	y Dyn

## The MIDI editor in MPE mode

The MIDI editor's MPE mode has some special features which make it easier to edit MPE MIDI.

Due to the very large pitch bend range of 48 semitones, even very small pitch wheel changes produce audible pitch changes. Since these tiny changes are not easy to see in the Controller Editor below, the pitch envelope is displayed as an additional curve on the notes.



When you move a note, the controller/pitch wheel data associated with that note (that is, the data located between a specific Note On/Note Off event on a specific channel) are moved as well.

Tip: To help keep track of which controller data belongs to which note, we recommend enabling the Use MIDI Channel Coloring option (located in the Options menu in the MIDI Editor).



The channel whose controller or note was selected last is always in the foreground.

If this bothers you while dragging a selection frame, additionally hold down the Ctrl key while dragging. The selected channel in the foreground is then retained and only events that are also on this channel are additionally selected. If you want to select events from other channels additionally, also press the Shift key. To make it easier to edit very small pitch bend curves, you can use Ctrl + mouse wheel to zoom vertically into the controller curve.

## **Master Channel**

The MPE standard also requires the definition of a Master Channel. Controllers which are sent over this channel affect all notes, just like normal MIDI. Program Change events must be sent over this channel as well.

MIDI Channel 1 is set as the Master Channel (MPE Lower Channel) in **Sequoia** by default. If you do not need a Master Channel, you can disable it, which will increase the maximum polyphony to 16 voices. You can also disable the Master Channel if you are using Note Expressions (see below).

You can disable the Master Channel in the **Note Expression** menu to the left of the MPE options in the Track Editor, or under **Note Expression Map** in the Track Options.



# **VST3 Note Expressions**

Note Expressions is another way to control VSTi synthesizers with per-note sound parameters for more expressive playing. These are an extension to the VST3 standard. Note Expressions are currently only available for certain synthesizers from the manufacturer Steinberg.

A certain number of sound parameters are provided by the plug-in as Note Expressions, which can then be assigned to MIDI controllers in **Sequoia** via the **Note Expression Map**, which then also only apply per note.

Differences between MPE and VST3 Note Expressions:

- MPE is a MIDI protocol in which notes played at the same time are assigned to different channels when using polyphonic playing: The synthesizer must be capable of receiving notes from different channels and of processing the MIDI controller commands for these notes separately by channel.
- VST3 Note Expressions are an extension to the VST protocol. Sequoia receives MIDI notes on different channels with corresponding controller values and sends the notes to the sound generator on one channel. Additionally, the expression values assigned to the controllers are transmitted to the sound generator per note via the VST interface.
- Therefore, multi-timbral instruments cannot be controlled with MPE, but they can be controlled with Note Expressions.

## Note Expression Map Editor

Open the Note Expression Map Editor in the Note Expression menu: in the Track Editor to the left of the MPE option under **N. Exp.** or in the **Note Expression Map** menu in the Track Options dialog (*P*146).

						- MIC	И		
MIDI						In	<all></all>		
Record Dev.:	2015	All Tracks	VCT Instement Editor			MPE	N.Exp 🔽 🚺	New	
	01LD V	Al Houka	V31 Instrument Ealtor			Out 📑	Surge	_	
Playback Dev.:	VSTi 1: Surge V	Al Tracks		Note Expression Map		Ch.In al	🔹 Ou	t 1	
						Prog. 1			
	Record controller curves while Playing	1	MPE	New	$\sim$	BankHi	LSE	-	
Dischards (Theorem	and the second se					Transp. 🔸	) Map		
Playback/Thru pa	rameters.						nput Q Ve	riocity D	lyn

- 1. Load a VST3 instrument which supports Note Expressions onto the track. Load a preset which has Note Expressions assigned in it as modulation sources, or make these assignments yourself in the VST instrument.
- 2. Now, open the Note Expression Map Editor and click **New** to create a new Note Expression Map. This map is now valid for the loaded patch in this specific plug-in.

w	CC / MIDI Event	Note Expression	Minimum	Maximum	Default
	CC 74 Filter Cutoff	Grain Length	0	127	0
	MIDI Event <pitchbend></pitchbend>	Tuning	-3277	3276	0
	MIDI Event <altertouch></altertouch>	LF0 1 Frequency	0	127	0
New Conv					
Load Sava					
Duble Save	Dtob socia semitores (social	MIDI - 2 MPE - 49/-	1		

- 3. Give the map a descriptive name (e.g. Synth\_Preset).
- **4**. Assignments are made on the right. The three standard MPE parameters CC74 (Timbre), Pitch bend and Aftertouch are already visible by default. If you want to assign the Note Expressions to other controllers, uncheck the **Show assigned only** option below.

- 5. Now, click on the corresponding controller in the Note Expression column and select a parameter from the list to assign it to the controller.
- 6. To create a new map based on an existing one, select a map from the list on the left and click **Copy**. With **Load** and **Save** you can also save the map to a file or load it from a file. **Delete** removes the selected map from the list.
- 7. With **Pitch Scale Semitones** you define which Pitch Bend Range your keyboard uses, MPE controllers use 48, normal keyboards usually 2



**(i)** Note: The Note Expression parameters depend on the set sound program (patch) of the sound generator and are transmitted by the VSTi when the Note Expression Map Editor is opened (and only then). Therefore it is important to keep the order: First set the patch on the tone generator, then select the corresponding map!

## A Note about MPE and Note Expressions

When using Note Expressions, be sure to switch the MIDI Out channel from "All" to a specific channel (e.g. Channel 1) if you are using a multitimbral synth such as Steinberg HALion which is capable of playing multiple patches at the same time, each of which respond only to specific MIDI channels.



When using MPE controllers, it is absolutely important to make sure that all channels are selected for use under MIDI In.



- If you don't have an MPE-capable keyboard, you can still benefit from the advanced capabilities of MPE or Note Expressions by manually changing notes to other channels in MPE mode in the MIDI Editor Event List (/2470) and drawing in corresponding controller values.
- If you are recording with a normal keyboard which normally sends its notes through Channel 1, be sure to disable the MPE Master Channel in the synth or select a different channel on the keyboard.

# Lyrics Markers

Lyrics markers allow you to enter lyrics, comments or stage directions. You can also use the simple markers for this, since they can be named in any way. Using lyrics markers makes certain tasks easier:

With the standard MIDI file format, it has always been possible to store text in the MIDI file at a precise time. Correspondingly, when MIDI files with text (e.g. karaoke MIDI files \*.kar) are imported, lyrics markers are created and then exported along with the MIDI file when it is exported.

Karaoke MIDI files with the extension .kar are not displayed in the file manager, but can be loaded via drag&drop. But since such files are also just ordinary standard MIDI files, you can also simply change the file extension to .mid.

- In the Score editor (₱479), the lyrics markers can be displayed as song lyrics on the score sheet.
- Optionally, lyrics markers can also be displayed on the marker bar, see Program preferences > View options (2737).
- The Time display (*P*61) can be configured to display the name of the current and following lyrics markers in a field.

The Lyrics markers are the META events "Lyric" and "Text" in a standard MIDI file (SMF). When importing a MIDI file, the standard ASCII characters CR and LF present in the text are replaced by the standard Karoke text character / (see below).

There are other standard karaoke control characters that influence the text output in the time display window. The control characters are always placed at the beginning of a marker text.

Character	Meaning	Note
@	Internal karaoke info like song title and version number	Any lyrics marker that starts with @ will be skipped and treated like a comment, so will not be output in the time display.
/	New Line	The following text should start in a new line.

$\backslash$	New verse	Clear screen and start at the top. However, in <b>Sequoia</b> this is treated the same as New Line.
+	Glue	<b>Sequoia</b> automatically starts a new line in the karaoke window (time display) if the pause to the last note is more than 1/3 bar duration. With the + this automatic is switched off and the marker text is taken over into the current line.

## **MIDI Editor Keyboard Shortcuts**

The keyboard shortcuts can be defined freely (except for a few like spacebar for play/stop), open the editor for keyboard shortcuts, menu and mouse via menu **Shortcuts** > **Edit shortcuts...** 

For some basic functions such as scrolling and zooming, all keyboard shortcuts from the VIP are applied. You can explicitly define shortcuts for all commands that are available in the MIDI Editor menu.

## File

Import MIDI	Ctrl + I
Export MIDI	Ctrl + E
Edit	
Undo	Ctrl + Z
Restore	Ctrl + Y
Cut	Ctrl + X
Сору	Ctrl + C
Paste	Ctrl + V
Duplicate	Ctrl + D
Select All	Ctrl + A
Create pattern from selection	Ctrl + P

Delete selected events	Backspace, Del
Delete all MIDI events	Ctrl + Del Ctrl + Backspace
Select previous event	Right arrow
Select next event	Left arrow

## **MIDI** Functions

Legato	Ctrl + L
Quantize notes	Ctrl + Q
Quantize Settings	Alt + Q
Mute notes	Ctrl + M

# Options

Scroll Mode	F
Play clicked notes	Alt + P
Quantization grid active	Ctrl + G
Show quantization grid	Alt + G
MIDI Object Editor	Ctrl + O
Audition Panic - Stop running edit notes	Ctrl + F

## Mouse mode

Selection	1
Draw Pencil	2
Drum Pencil	3
Pattern Pencil	4
Velocity Adjust	5

Eraser	6
Magnifier	7
Glue	8
Split	9
Mute	Shift + M
Velocity/Controller Selection	Ctrl + 1
Velocity/Controller Freehand drawing	Ctrl + 2
Draw Velocity/Controller Line drawing	Ctrl + 3

## View

Show Event list	Alt + L
Show Velocity/Controller Editor	AIt + V

# More keyboard shortcuts

Select next event	Right arrow
Select previous event	Left arrow
Pitch up	Arrow up
Pitch down	Arrow down
Select next grid quantization value	Alt + Arrow down
Select previous grid quantization value	Alt + Arrow up
Select next length quantization value	Alt + Arrow right
Select previous length quantization value	Alt + Arrow left
Move play cursor forward	Page down
Play cursor to next bar	Ctrl + Page down
Move play cursor backward	Page up
Play cursor to previous bar	Ctrl + Page Up

# Keyboard

With the keyboard, software synthesizers (2392) can be played directly via an on-screen keyboard and also recorded.



The keyboard always controls the synthesizer in the track for which MIDI recording has been activated.

You can operate the keyboard with the mouse to play the instrument. The closer to the bottom edge you click on the "virtual keys", the louder the sound will play. Of course, you can't play music properly by clicking with the mouse. (This function is more suitable for testing out sounds quickly). That's why you can also play the keyboard with the keys on your computer keyboard.

- Attention: This only works if the mouse has been clicked in the keyboard once before, otherwise the keyboard entries act as keyboard shortcuts (↗730) for various other Sequoia functions. If the computer keys control the program's keyboard, then the piano keys will display the corresponding keyboard characters.
- Use the vertical arrow buttons to shift the octave range in which the keyboard can be played using the computer keys.
- Use the horizontal arrow buttons to select the next/previous sound of the synthesizer, the list box next to it also lets you select the sounds directly.
  - This button opens the synthesizer editor window for fine-tuning the sound.

## Arpeggiator

.....

\*

The arpeggiator is a playing aid that allows you to automatically generate chords by playing and holding individual keys, either as a normal chord or as a broken chord (arpeggio), i.e. a rapid succession of the chord notes.




- 2 This switch determines whether the played note will generate no chord, a minor chord or a major chord.
- 3 This switch determines the type of arpeggio. In the rightmost position a normal chord is played, the other positions are up, down or up and down. The figures are repeated as long as the note is played.
- 4 The tempo of the arpeggio is set here and can range from 1/4 notes (slow) up to 1/32 notes (very fast).

## MIDI Panic – All Notes Off

When playing together with hardware and software instruments, "hanging" notes can sometimes occur. They are caused when, after a NoteOn command, for some reason the corresponding NoteOff command does not actually get through to the tone generator, so that the tone sounds permanently.

At the very bottom of the menu **Playback** select **MIDI Panic - All notes off** to end the hanging notes. The command sends a NoteOff message to all MIDI devices that have not been disabled in the MIDI options for all 128 notes on all 16 channels. In addition, the Sustain (controller 64) is switched off, the pitch wheel and the modulation are set to 0. An All Notes Off command is sent to all VST instruments used in the project.



If you can set in the MIDI options (₱717) that individual NoteOff events for all notes on all channels are also sent to the VST instruments.

The function can also be executed by clicking the stop button in the transport console again after stopping the project!

# MIXER

Use the menu **View** > **Mixer** to open the mixer window of **Sequoia** (keyboard shortcut: **M**).

The mixer can be used docked or undocked like all windows (see Docking (253)). By default, the Mixer window shares the docking area with the Project windows.

The Mixer combines the settings of the individual tracks such as volume, panorama, input and output routings, aux sends, plug-ins, equalizers and so on, as they are also found in other forms in the track headers or track editors, on a common interface and thus conveys the familiar look of a mixer as you may still know it from the analog way of working in the studio.

There are also additional control functions that can only be found in the Mixer window, with which you can, for example, link track controls, save the overall state of the mixer in snapshots or reset track settings such as panorama or effect settings for all tracks.

As with the Track Editor, individual areas can be expanded and collapsed, the size of the volume controls changes dynamically depending on the window size and, if necessary, a scroll bar is displayed so that the Mixer can always be displayed optimally according to the available screen space.

In the context of mixing consoles we often talk about channels, in Sequoia a track corresponds
 1:1 to a channel, in the following both terms are used synonymously.

►In	1+2		1+	2	7+	8	1+	2	1+	2	1+	2				Setup	?
-	AUX		AUX		AUX		AUX		AUX		AUX					Sends	on Fader
•	AUX U	off	AUX L	Jr off	AUX (	Jr off	AUX I	Ur off		off							
		off		off		off		off		off							
	Plug_inc		Plue		Plugie	14	Pluai		Plug	inc	Plug_ir	10	Magtar	Diug log		Der	(etc
	Plug-ins	-	riuy-ii		Pitty-II	•	riug-ii	•	RSim		Adva		Multi	pand Dy	030 ¥	Auv	FO
-		-		-		-		-		•	a service	•	MB St	ereo Enl	hani •	Aux	LQ
		-		•		•		•		•		•	Dehis	ser	•	Peaks	FX
		-		-		-		-	-	-			Distor	tion ler		Mono	Stereo
	EQ	•	EQ		EQ		EQ		EQ		EQ		Master	EQ		Sna	pshots
		0.0k Hi	0	10.0k Hi	0	10.0k Hi	0	10.0k Hi	Q	10.0k Hi	0	10.0k Hi		10.0k Hi	Q	1	
	U)	5.0k MH	Ŭ	5.0k MH	U	5.0k MH	U	5.0k MH	U	5.0k MH	U	5.0k MH	U	MH S.OK	G	3 4	
		1.0k ML	0	1.0k ML	0	1.0k ML	0	1.0k ML	0	1.0k ML	0	1.0k ML		ML 1.0k		5	
	0	100 Lo	0	100 Lo	0	100 Lo	0	100 Lo	0	100 Lo	0	100 Lo	0	Lo <sup>100</sup>	0	7	
Pan	•								Sun	ound Sub »	Surro Su	und Jb 💓	۲	100 StEn			8
	1	۲	2	•	3	0	4	•	L	0	L	۲	Mono	N			
	Rd	S²	Rd	S	Rd	S	Rd	S <sup>2</sup>	Rd	S	Rd	S	Rd	S		S	Bypass
		М		М		М		М		Μ		М				Μ	Auto Rec
Start		M		M		M		M		M		M	12	-98	3.8 -6.2		
track	· · · ·	12		12		12		12	_					12			
2		<u>•</u>	T	_0	T	_0	T	_0						•			
3	ľ	10		<u>10</u>		10		<u>10</u>					-10	10		hide	e Tracks
	2	20		20		20		20						20		hide	e Master
	•	10		40		40		40						40			
																Solo	Monitor
	_ _4	10		80		80		80	_ _				-80	80	0.00		•
		0.0		6.0		5.8	No.	5.6		0.0		0.0		0	0.0 0.0	0.0	0.0
Marris	VCA F	A Y	VCA Stopp	FX ▼ 8. Thur	VCA Stopp	PX •	Poc	PX •	ALIX	Uncure	Suchte	rtor	PX V	Mactor	ie On		EL
Out	* SurA4		Steps (	se mur tas	steps i	a Cars	+ Sura	ing or i dae	AUX Curr	Mag	SurMa	Ster		Master		-	
Out	SurMa	33	Surf	las	Surk	105	Sun	nas	Sur	Was	Sur	out					

-'ġ- In the program settings (keyboard shortcut Y) at **Design** > **Skins** or by clicking in the upper left corner of the Mixer window you can select alternative mixer skins.

### Mixer Operation with Mouse and Keyboard

### **Operation with the Mouse**

**Mouse wheel:** Move the mouse pointer over a control and turn the mouse wheel to change the value. For finer value changes additionally press the **Shift** key, for larger value changes

#### Mixer

press the **Ctrl** key.

**Click and drag:** The simplest and most intuitive way to operate, as with any graphical interface, is to simply click to toggle functions and drag to change values. However, there are a few special features:

- The accuracy of setting the Level Fader is infinitely variable: Click on the fader and move the mouse pointer to the left or right of the fader while holding down the mouse button, and only then drag the mouse up or down. The farther the mouse cursor is from the selected fader, the smaller the change in value will be.
- Knobs (pots) can be adjusted in two different ways: The default behavior is that you click the knob and move the mouse around it to change the value. Alternatively, you can set the pots to behave like sliders, i.e. you can drag the mouse up and down. (at Program settings > Keyboard/Menu/Mouse > Mouse)

**Click on value range**: Clicking the range below/above sliders and left/right of knobs decreases/increases the value step by step. If the mouse button is held down, the value will continue to change until you release it. The longer you hold down the mouse button, the faster the value changes.

Double-click on numbers: Opens a numeric input field.

**Double-click on control elements**: Sets the control element to the preset value. Doubleclicking again sets the value back to the altered value again.

**Right-click on control elements**: Accesses either a context menu for the corresponding control element or a dialog with additional settings options.

### **Keyboard Operation**

The Mixer can also be operated completely with the keyboard only:

**Arrow keys**: Use the arrow keys to move between controls and activate the selection of a control. With **Shift + Arrow right/left** you can extend the selection with further similar controls on other tracks if necessary (see below).

i You can also switch between adjacent controls on the same track using the up/down arrow keys. Arrow right/left always changes to the adjacent track.

**Page up/page down**: changes the value of the active control. For finer value changes additionally press the **Shift** key, for larger value changes press the **Ctrl** key.

**Home**: sets the control to its default value. If you press the **Home** key again, the element will be reset to the previous value.

**End**: This function corresponds to clicking with the right mouse button, i.e. it opens a settings dialog or a menu.

**Enter key**: opens the numeric input field for a value, switches and opens menus, depending on the selection.

#### For Plug-in slots

- **Enter** opens the plug-in browser
- **Del** deletes a plug-in from the slot.
- **Ctrl + C** copies a plug-in.
- Ctrl + V pastes a copied plug-in. If an occupied slot is selected during insertion, the plugin is inserted before it.

### Select and Group Multiple Controls

You can select multiple controls. First click on a control to select it. Now click on other individual controls with the **Ctrl** key held down to add them to the selection. A click with held **Shift** key adds all controls between the last selected and the clicked one.

Controls selected together are changed together when one of the controls involved is changed.

With **Ctrl + Shift + Click** on a knob or fader you reverse the behavior of the corresponding fader or knob within a multiple selection. It then moves in the opposite direction to the others in the group and when it is moved, the others move in the opposite direction. For example, this feature is useful for moving two grouped faders in opposite directions with a single mouse movement, or for controlling the opposing movement of the panorama controllers on two tracks simultaneously.

To operate a control element that is part of a multiple selection or group individually, click and drag it while holding the **Alt** key.

**Shift** + **Double click** (Keyboard: **Shift** + **Pos1**) on a control sets all controls of the selection to the value of the clicked control.

As soon as you click on a control element that is not part of a multiple selection, the multiple selection is cleared. If you always want to adjust certain controls together, you can keep the multiple selection by grouping the controls together.

Use the first button to group selected controls in the mixer, and the second to ungroup them.

Note: There is, independent of the grouping in the mixer, also the possibility to select several tracks and group them (↗135). In such a multiple selection/grouping of tracks, all controls of the tracks are moved together. If this affects controls that are also grouped in the mixer, this grouping is ignored.

In the mixer, tracks can be selected by clicking on the track name (in the channel below above the output routing) or the track number (below the pan slider).

### Drag & Drop

- Drag and drop of the tracks/channels: You can rearrange the order of the tracks by clicking and dragging on the track number or track name.
- The **plug-in slots** provide drag-and-drop functionality for copying or moving effects to another track:
  - The sequence of effects for VST plug-ins can be changed within the slots of the track using drag & drop.
  - A plug-in can be moved to another track via drag & drop. It is always inserted at the end of the plug-in chain, regardless of whether you drop it on an occupied slot.
  - Drag & Drop with additional held **Ctrl** key copies a plug-in to another track.
  - Drag & drop of the **Plug-ins** button to another track transfers the contents of all plug-in slots to that track.
  - Plug-ins can be dragged from the dockable Plug-in Browser window directly to a plug-in slot in the mixer.
- The **Equalizer settings** can be transferred by dragging & dropping the **EQ** button.
- Drag & Drop the **FX** button: Dragging an FX button (at the bottom of the track under the peak meter) to another track will transfer the entire FX routing (effects, AUX positions...).

# **Channel Strips**

Each mixer channel corresponds to one track in the project. Accordingly, you will find all the setting options in the channel that you also find in the track editor or in the track header. Each channel strip is divided into different sections, which can be opened and closed individually by clicking on the corresponding arrow symbol.

If the mixer window height is too small, only the section names will be displayed instead. They can then be opened accordingly by clicking on the name.

<b>▼ In</b>	2	2		Setup ?
Name	Fng Gt	Trem Gt		-
Gain	0.0	0.0		
Delay	0 smpl	0 smpl		
Pan	2.8 φ	<ul> <li>-5.9</li> <li>φ</li> </ul>		
In	1 ◎	2 ⊚	Mono N 💿	
AUX FX	Rd S	Rd S	Rd SV	S Bypass
EQ Main	• M	• M		M Auto Rec
Start track	-7.5 📕	-29.8	0.0 0.0 -0.1 -6.2	Solo Monitor
	VCA FX -	VCA FX -	FX - MixtoFile On	0.0 0.0
Name	Fng Gt	Trem Gt	Master	AFL

### In (Input)



- 1 Field for selecting the track. Drag the field to rearrange tracks.
- 2 In: Shows the input(s) for recording on the track. Clicking opens a menu with settings for recording, see Input and output assignment (₱515).
- **3 Track name**: Shows the name of the track. Double-click the field to edit the name.
- **4** Gain: Controls input amplification for the channel.
- **5 Delay**: Track delay. For more information, see Track settings (*№*146). Right-click to select the time display format used.

### AUX Sends/Outputs/Side Chains



1 Via right-click menu you can reach the AUX sends dialog (₱528), furthermore the whole section can be switched to display the outputs (₱515) or sidechain sends (₱400).

2 The sliders can be used to set the AUX send values for different AUX buses (₹525). Drag an unnamed control to create a new AUX bus. A left click on the slider deactivates the AUX send. By right-clicking on the fader, you can switch the function of the fader between Pre/Post/Direct-Out (₹527). You can also access advanced settings such as AUX pan editor (₹527).

**3** Bypass indicator/switch. Left click on AUX or this button disables all AUX send signals.

4 The + icon toggles between displaying 2 or 10 send controls.

### **Plug-ins**



- 1 The **Plug-ins** button at the top turns all effects in the channel on and off. A visual indicator (\*) for plug-ins shows that they were previously active and will be activated again the next time you press the **Plug-ins** button.
- A mouse click on an empty insert slot opens the plug-in browser (226), via which you load a plug-in into the slot. Click on an occupied slot to activate/deactivate the plug-in. Right-clicking on the slot opens the plug-in's interface. VST instruments whose output signal is routed to the track are also displayed in the plug-in slot, indicated by a preceding + symbol
- 3 The arrow next to the respective insert slot opens a menu with various functions: For example, you can reopen the plug-in browser to exchange the plug-in or remove the plug-in.
- 4 The + icon toggles between displaying 5 or 12 plug-in slots.

### Equalizer



- This section allows you direct access to the parametric equalizer EQ 116 (275). Although the EQ is always visible in the channel, the effect is not loaded in the track until you change the parameters. You can see that the equalizer is active by the blue button. Click this button to deactivate the equalizer.
- **2** Using the menu with click on **EQ** you can, among other things, copy EQ settings and paste them into the EQ on other tracks.
- 3 Use the knobs to adjust the gain of the 4 bands. Right-click on one of the knobs to display the EQ dialog where you can make more detailed settings.
- In the number fields you can edit gain and frequency of the respective band numerically.

### Main

0.0\*

S

М

H

12

0\_

10

20

40

0.0

CA FX 🔻

S:

StMast

Here you will find the most important controls of the track. If the track is a bus, this area is displayed in a slightly different color.

**1 Panorama**: This adjusts the signal placement in the stereo panorama. The settings of the knob have a different effect on mono and stereo tracks. In a mono track, depending on the control setting you can place the signal more left or right in the stereo panorama. In contrast, in stereo tracks, this lets you control the balance between the left and right channel.

2 Beside the panorama dial, you'll also find a switch to reverse the phase. Right-clicking on either of these controls takes you to the stereo panorama dialog (2521), which allows you to make further settings such as panning laws or changing the stereo width.

If the track is routed to a surround bus (7542) or master, a surround panorama control is displayed at this point. It roughly shows the surround panning of the track, a left click on the control opens a menu with surround panorama presets, a right click opens the surround editor (7548)

#### 3 Track number

**Link**: This button links the channel to the one to the right. All faders, panorama, input, AUX sends, as well as EQ settings and adjustments now affect both channels.

6 Automation mode: Left-click to quickly switch the automation mode (₱362) between the last selected mode and Read.

Right-click to access all automation modes.

**i** For detailed information on automation, refer to the chapter "Automation ( $\mathbb{P}357$ )".

6 Solo: The Solo button mutes all channels except the soloed channels. Keyboard shortcut: Alt + S

A more specific Solo button behavior can be set by right-clicking on it:

Solo-exclusive: This setting switches the active channel to "Solo-exclusive" mode. Only this track will still be audible, all other tracks, including the soloed ones, will be muted. Keyboard shortcut: Shift + Alt + S or Double-click on the button.

**Solo safe**: This setting ensures that all channels that are switched to solo are automatically monitored with the AUX Return channels that they feed.

 $\bullet$  Various global solo modes can also be set in the menu, see Global Solo Modes (abla534).

**Record**: This button activates the track for recording. Right-click to set the recording mode and track inputs.

8 Mute: The Mute button mutes the selected channel. Keyboard shortcut: Alt + M A more specific Mute button behavior can be set by right-clicking on it:

Mute/Inactive: Mutes and also deactivates the selected track. This increases performance as caching and FX processing of this channel are not necessary. Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + M

**Mute Bus Inputs**: This function mutes the bus inputs routed to this channel.

Solume: Controls the level of the track. Depending on whether audio or MIDI objects are playing on the track and whether software instruments are being controlled, the slider can control the level in various ways that you specify in the context menu. See the section Control behavior of the volume slider (2515).

**Note**: The volume control has a maximum value of +12dB. You can set higher values by entering them numerically. To do this, double-click on the volume value display below the peak meter and enter the desired value.

**Monitoring:** By clicking this button you activate the monitoring function. The signal fed to the input is passed on to the output.

**i** For more details on monitoring, see Monitoring Settings (*P*711).

**VCA:** This button opens the VCA menu for the channel. There you set the fader as VCA master or assign the fader to a VCA group, see VCA-Groups (₱518).

**FX**: This button opens the effect routing dialog (*P*230) for the respective track, which you use, among other things, to specify the effect order in which the effects are applied. Right-click the button or click the arrow to open a context menu where you can load preset effect settings. You can also copy, paste, reset, save or load track effect settings (*P*230) here.

**(B)** Track name: Shows the name of the track. Double-click the field to edit the name.

**1** Out: Sets the output for the channel. See Input and output assignment (*№*515)

### **Control Behavior of the Volume Fader**

Depending on whether a track is recording MIDI or audio, and whether the audio signal of a software synthesizer is being processed in that track, the volume fader can perform different control functions.

The audio output of a software synthesizer is in the simplest case (7393) generated, processed and mixed on the same track as the MIDI data that this instrument receives. This gives several options how the volume fader of this track controls the volume of an instrument: the level of the generated audio signal, the velocity of the MIDI notes or the MIDI volume (MIDI controller CC7). These are not identical parameters: It is possible, for example, to place a MIDI instrument played loudly at high velocity quietly in the mix on the audio side and vice versa. For this reason, you can select the mode for volume faders via the fader's context menu:

- Audio track volume: The fader controls the volume of the track's audio output. This is the default setting for new tracks. (This may differ in project templates)
- **MIDI velocity (scaling)**: The slider scales the MIDI velocity of MIDI notes on the track.
- Audio volume and MIDI velocity: The two previous options can also be combined.
- **MIDI Volume (CC7)**: Controller 7 (MIDI Volume) is the standard controller assignment used to control the volume in MIDI sound generators themselves.
- No MIDI Volume (CC7) Change: This option is only available when MIDI Volume is selected and is enabled by default when this option is selected. This has the following reason: The standard behavior of a volume control is that it does not influence the track volume in the OdB position. There is no such "neutral" position for the MIDI controller CC7. Therefore, when switching to CC7, sending the volume control is first prevented with this option. It is automatically deactivated as soon as you pull the volume control.

### Input and output assignment

#### In (Input)

At the very top of the channel strip, you specify the input and recording mode for the track.

• Note: Since tracks in *Sequoia* process MIDI and audio, it is actually not quite correct to speak of audio tracks or MIDI tracks. We use these terms here as shorthand for "tracks that record audio" and "tracks that record MIDI".

#### Mixer

	Record	Alt+R	~	Record	Alt+R
~	1 + 2: VM-VAIO 1+VM-VAIO 2 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO In)			<all></all>	
	3 + 4: VM-VAIO 3+VM-VAIO 4 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO In)			<ol> <li>nanoPAD2 1 PAD</li> </ol>	
	5 + 6: VM-VAIO 5+VM-VAIO 6 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO In)		$\checkmark$	2. microKEY-37 2 KEYBOARD	
	7 + 8: VM-VAIO 7+VM-VAIO 8 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO In)			3. UMC1820 MIDI In	
~	Stereo			4. Midi Fighter Twister 2	
_	Mono			Mono	
	Mono In / Stereo FX			Audio Record	
	Interleaved (folder track)		~	MIDI Record	
~	Audio Record			Instrument Outputs	>
	MIDI Record				
	No VSTi (Audio - Recording)				
	Instrument Outputs	>			
	Tracks	>			

- **Record** arms the track for recording and corresponds to the Record Arm button.
- Below this you can see the available audio and MIDI inputs. Select here the input at which the desired signal is present. For MIDI tracks, <ALL> is preset, which means that all available MIDI input devices are recorded.
- **Stereo**: You can select a pair of inputs and a two-channel stereo input signal will be recorded.
- **Mono**: You can select a single input and a single channel mono input signal will be recorded.
- Mono In / StereoFX You can select a single input and a single-channel mono input signal will be recorded, but the track itself will remain a stereo track where the effect calculation will be performed in stereo.
- Audio recording / MIDI recording determines whether you want to record audio or MIDI input on the track. It is automatically switched to MIDI if you load a software instrument into the track (#392).
- With MIDI tracks, you can select the output of the VSTi whose audio is to be played back on the track at Instrument outputs. This also works for audio tracks: If the track is set to audio, you can select the VSTi output from all VST instruments in the project as audio input there and thus record the audio output of the instruments. The selected hardware audio input of this track will then be ignored.

 See also Routing software instruments (₱393) and VST Instrument Manager (₱349) To record the actual audio input on an audio track again, select **No VSTi (Audio Recording)**.

■ **Tracks**: You can select and record audio output from other tracks, buses, or the master as the track's input.

#### Output

MIDI	MIDI	Bus 1	Bus 2	T: 8	T: 9	T: 10	5.1 Master	
1 + 2	↓ 1+ 2	+StMast	♦StMast	↓+ 1+ 2	<mark>↓ 3 + 4</mark>	3 + 4	Sur Out	
	Visualization							
	Audio devi	ces (Ctrl for m	nultiple outpu	ıts)				
	0. No output							
	6: Bus 1							
	7: Bus 2							
~	11: 5.1 Master						(Post	)
~	(M) Stereo Ma	ster				(P	rimary output	:)
~	1 + 2: VM-VA	IO 1+VM-VAI	D 2 (Voiceme	eter VAIO3 Virt	ual ASIO Out)	(P	rimary output	;)
	3 + 4: VM-VA	IO 3+VM-VAI	0 4 (Voiceme	eter VAIO3 Virt	ual ASIO Out)	N		
	5 + 6: VM-VA	IO 5+VM-VAI	D 6 (Voiceme	eter VAIO3 Virt	ual ASIO Out)	45		
	7 + 8: VM-VA	0 7+VM-VAI	0 8 (Voiceme	eter VAIO3 Virt	ual ASIO Out)		(Monitor Bus	)
	MIDI							>

The stereo master, another stereo output, a Submix bus and/or a surround bus can be selected as the output of the track. In the MIDI section of the menu, you can set the MIDI (VST) output device here. With **No output** you do not assign an output to the channel strip.

The stereo master output is labeled with and (M) and is the default output.

You can route the output signal of a channel to multiple hardware outputs, busses, or masters simultaneously, for example, to create a stereo mix in the same project alongside a surround mix, or for monitoring a mix on different speaker systems.

Select additional stereo audio outputs by clicking on them while holding the **Ctrl** key.

If you set the AUX section of the channel to **Show outputs** by right-clicking on it, you have an overview of the used outputs.



By right-clicking, you can set the selected output as "Direct Out" (knob display red), "Pre-Fader Out" (knob display yellow) or as "Post-Fader Out" (knob display orange) or call up the Stereo panning dialog (2521) for panorama determination for the respective output.

 $\dot{\phi}$  If you have routed a track output to a bus or master with a different number of channels, e.g. a surround bus to an additional stereo master, you can access the UpMix or DownMix matrix with Ctrl + right-click on the fader of the output or via the menu entry at the bottom of the output menu of the bus.

To unassign the output to a single output, click the **Out** button again, hold the **Ctrl** key and select the output you want to disable.

You can also get a good overview of all assigned outputs in the matrix display of the routing manager (₹350).

### Applying Effects to Multiple Channels Simultaneously.

To place multiple instances of the same effect on multiple mixer channels:

- Select the channels to which you want to apply the effect. To do this, first click on the channel number of the first channel to select it. Then hold down the **Shift** key and select the number of the last channel. This also selects all intermediate channels. If you press the **Ctrl** key instead of the **Shift** key, you can add any other channels to the selection.
- 2. Now select an insert effect for one of the selected channels and adjust it to your liking. As soon as you close the effect window, the effect with these settings will be loaded into all selected channels.

A This only works if you close the effect dialog immediately afterwards without opening other effect dialogs first.

- **3.** If you later select multiple channels and make changes to one instance of the effect, those changes will be applied to all instances of the effect in the selected channels.
  - -\overline{Copy effect settings to selected tracks option, separately for effects that you have newly inserted or that you had switched off and reactivated, and for effects that already exist.
- **4**. To remove the effect from all selected channels, it is enough to remove it from one insert slot. All other instances of the effect will be removed as well.

### **VCA Groups**

VCA is the abbreviation for Voltage Controlled Amplifier. These are used in analog mixing consoles. A fader no longer directly controls the level of a channel, but only a control voltage, which in turn adjusts a mixer channel via a voltage regulator (VCA). Since one control voltage can also be used to control several VCAs, the level of several channels can be adjusted together via a VCA group.

Why do you need VCA groups? To adjust the level of several channels together, you could route the channels to a Submix bus and adjust the level of the channels together at the channel fader of the Submix bus. However, if these channels each feed AUX sends that are routed post FX, i.e. are dependent on the level of the channel, these AUX levels (which determine the dry/wet balance of an effect, for example) cannot be controlled via the Submix bus. When using VCA groups, the individual channel signals and the AUX send feeds that depend on them are still controlled.

You can access the VCA group functions of **Sequoia** via the **VCA** buttons of the channels. When you click a VCA button, a context menu shows you whether and via which VCA master (VCA group) the corresponding fader is controlled.



To assign channels to a new VCA group:

- 1. Select the channels that you want to control via a VCA group and click the **VCA** button of one of the channels.
- 2. Select the option Assign to new VCA group.
- **3.** A new VCA master channel is created on the right edge of the mixer in front of the master, to which the selected channels are assigned.
- **4**. The VCA button lights up on the channels and the VCA group number is displayed on the VCA buttons

### Ghost Fader

Even if a channel has been assigned to a VCA group, you can still control the volume of a channel individually. The values are summed and a "ghost fader" appears in the channel showing the resulting level of the channel. When you change the volume in the channel, the ghost fader moves accordingly along with the channel fader.



You can create as many VCA groups as you like. However, each channel can only be controlled by one VCA group at a time. If you assign a channel to another VCA group, the previous assignment is canceled. VCA groups can be controlled by other VCA groups, i.e. you can assign the master fader of a VCA group to a group in turn ("nested" VCAs). This works up to a maximum of four levels.

### Changing a Channel Fader into a VCA Master

Each fader can serve as VCA master for other channels. If you select the option **Fader is VCA Master** in the VCA menu of a channel, this channel appears as a VCA group in the menu.

**(i)** The channel fader still controls the volume of this channel as well.

So you can also do the VCA grouping like this, by creating a new track, activating the **Fader is VCA Master** option there and then selecting this VCA group in the tracks that are to be controlled. The track name is used as the group name in the menu and on the buttons for VCA control.

 $\dot{\psi}$  Since there is little space on the buttons, name your VCA master as briefly as possible.

#### **Remove VCA Group Assignments**

Remove the VCA group assignment for a channel by clicking the group again in the channel's VCA button menu. When deactivating the Fader is VCA Master option in a VCA Master all assignments for this VCA group will be canceled.

-☆- Assigning and deleting VCA assignments can be done in the Routing ManagerVCA (₱354).

### Panorama Editor

Right-click on the Panorama slider in the Track Head, Mixer, Track Editor or Object Editor to open the Panorama Editor.

In addition to panning for objects and tracks, which you can also set with the normal panorama slider, you will find further options for influencing the stereo image and phase settings in this dialog.

Panorama:	Stereo Width:	Сору:	□ L -> R □ R -> L
Center Channel Redu	iction (dB)	Phase:	🗌 Inv. L 🗌 Inv. R
Mode: Pan (StEnh Mono +6 dB	)	Mid-Side:	☐ MS <-> LR

With mono tracks, the signal is converted from mono to stereo in the signal flow at the position of the panorama controller. From this point on, effects or plug-ins can be included in stereo. You can change the routing position in the Effect Routing dialog ( $\mathbb{Z}^{230}$ ).

**Panorama**: Here you can set level distribution between left and right.

Stereo width: Adjusts the stereo base width for each track. No change occurs in the middle position. Towards the left, the stereo signal is gradually replaced by the center signal (mono sum of L+R), thus reducing the stereo base width. If the slider is set to the leftmost position, you will only hear the mono signal. To the right, the side signal (difference of L-R and R-L respectively) is mixed in, thus increasing the stereo base width.



With the Multiband Stereo Enhancer (₱304) you can perform a frequency-selective processing of the stereo base width in three bands.

**Copy**: Here you can change the channels assignment. If you activate **Copy L > R**, only the left channel will be audible on both sides; **Copy R > L** has the same effect for the right channel. If you activate both options, the left and right channels will be swapped.

**Center Channel Reduction** (panning law): To compensate for volume fluctuations during panning, it is common practice to additionally lower the track volume in the pan center position. The setting depends on the audio signal. Usual settings are:

- O dB: This setting is recommended for stereo material. There is no volume reduction in the center position, i.e. when panning to the right, the right channel remains at unchanged volume, when panning to the left, the left channel remains unchanged. The audio material is not changed if set to the center position. With mono signals on a stereo track, this setting may increase the volume if the signal is placed in the center.
- -6 dB: This setting can be used for mono tracks. If set to the middle, the level of the right and left channel is reduced by half.
- For stereo signals **-3dB** or **-4.5dB** are also common settings.

**Phase**: Here you can invert the phase for the stereo channels individually. By default, the Phase button in the Mixer and Track Editor inverts the phases of both stereo channels. You can change this behavior via the option **Use mixer phase switch only on left channel** at **System options** > **Effects** > **General**. Then the phase button only works on the left channel and you can use it to correct the classic "phase shifts" that occur with incorrect wiring and that often affect only one stereo channel.

**Mid-Side**: With the option **MS->LR** you can convert a signal present as Mid/Side into a stereo signal. It is assumed that the mid (mono) signal source is on the left and the side signal is on the right.

**Mode**: Here you can set whether the panorama should be calculated after - Pan - or before - Pan (StEnh post pan) - the stereo width. In addition you'll also find the options "2 Channel Panorama" and "2 Channel Volume":

- **2 Channel Panorama**: If you activate this mode, you can use both knobs to control the panorama of the left and right channels separately.
- 2 Channel Volume: If you activate this mode, you can use both knobs to control the volume of the left and right channels separately.

The parameters are processed in the following order: Copy -> Stereo Width -> Phase Invert -> Panning/Panning Law

### **Additional Options for Track Panning**

In the Panorama editor for tracks there are some more options

📑 Track Panning - F	ng Gt		×
က္ Master ကု Out	3 + 4		+

Use the + button to assign additional outputs (hardware or buses) to a track. The outputs can be switched on and off individually. For each of these outputs there is a separate panorama processing. This allows you, for example, to create a stereo and a surround mix in the same project. To remove the output routing, select **Remove output routing** from the menu **S** on the tab. Click on one of the tabs to open the corresponding Panning editor. If the track is routed to a surround bus or master, the Surround Editor (2548) dialog appears accordingly.

**All Tracks**: Use this function to apply the panning law to all tracks/channels of the project. In the menu you can select whether the panning law should be applied to all tracks or to all tracks except buses. Also the option "Affects primary output only" (see below) can be transferred to all other tracks with this button.

**Affects primary output only**: If the track is routed to multiple outputs (e.g., stereo and surround master), and this option is active, the panorama is applied to the primary output only. This prevents panorama processing from being done twice if a track is routed to another output. In FX routing, panorama processing is moved to the very end of the effects chain, even behind the AUX/Output Post, the standard output for additional outputs.

This option can also be set directly in the Effect Routing dialog. To do this, deactivate the Stereo Pan entry in this dialog.



**Follow track panorama**: If the previously mentioned option is active, the signal of the track is sent to the additional output(s) without panorama processing. If panning is also to be applied to the additional output, you can use this option to make the settings in the Panorama Editor follow those of the primary output.

### **MS-Processing**

"MS" stands for "mid/side" and describes a method in which the stereo information is recorded in a center channel ("M") and a side channel ("S") rather than in two channels left and right.

#### **MS** recordings

With MS microphoning, you get recordings in which there is no left and right channel, but the mid and side parts are in separate channels. You can process MS recordings with the included presets of the dialog **Track Panning**. These are assumed to be stereo files with M on the left and S on the right.

#### Stereo processing of MS original material

To extract the correct stereo picture from an MS file, duplicate the source material and place it on a new track. For the first track, select the "Left channel only" preset. This results in the M signal being played in mono only. On the second track, you can use the preset **Side signal (stereo) (from MS source)** to play back only the S signal in stereo, i.e. +S on the left and -S on the right. Then mix both tracks together with 0 dB each.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Tip: For this use case you can also use the **MS-> LR** option in the dialog.

#### MS processing of stereo original material

Another application is the independent processing of center and side content, even if the source material is in stereo format. Again, duplicate the source material and place it in a new track.

**Mono (get mid signal from stereo source)** extracts the mid part from the output material as the first track, while **Side signal (stereo) (from stereo source)** extracts the side part in stereo as the second track. Here you can subsequently mix both tracks each with OdB.

#### Advanced Mid/Side processing

In addition, presets are available for using stereo signals in mono tracks:

- Mono (get mid signal from stereo source): With this, only the mid component of the stereo signal is used in a mono track.
- Left Channel only: This allows you to use only the left channel of the stereo signal in a mono track.
- Right Channel only: This allows you to use only the right channel of the stereo signal in a mono track.
- Side signal (mono) from stereo source: This allows you to use only the mono side part of the stereo signal in a mono track. This way, you can apply all subsequent object and track effects to the side part as mono effect.
- Side signal (stereo) from stereo source: This allows you to use only the stereo side part of the stereo signal in a stereo track. This allows you to apply all subsequent object and track effects to the side part as stereo effects.

**Convert side signal (mono) to stereo**: This allows you to convert the mono side part of the signal to stereo.

### **Buses**

Busses are used to "collect" audio signals from other tracks to treat them together in the mix. Since in **Sequoia** each track corresponds to a mixer channel, a bus is also initially a normal track with all the properties of a normal track, i.e. it can accommodate track effects and be automated, has an output and an input. But beyond that, there are differences.

- **AUX buses**: An AUX bus differs from a normal track in that you can send the audio signal from any track to this AUX bus. To do this, use the **AUX-Send** slider in the mixer. AUX busses are mostly used for effects like reverb or echo, when they are to be used by multiple tracks at the same time. For this purpose, a signal portion from the corresponding track is sent to the AUX bus ("AUX Send") and effects are applied in the AUX bus. The volume fader of the AUX bus represents "AUX Return".
- **Submix busses**: A Submix bus differs from a simple track in that any track can be routed to this bus instead to the master or an output device. A Submix bus thus combines several tracks. Volume, panning and effects processing can thus be done for all tracks routed to the Submix bus together in this bus. For example, you can combine all drum tracks into one Submix bus, so that the entire drum kit can then be controlled via the volume control of the Submix bus.

Via Menu **Track** > **Track type** or the Track Options Dialog (*7*146) each track can also be configured as AUX and/or Submix bus.

Since a bus represents a normal track in the project window, this track can also contain objects. Normally you will not place objects in a bus yourself, but they will be created, for example, if you freeze the bus  $(\nearrow 143)$ 

To prevent you from accidentally placing objects on a bus track, buses are created as locked by default. 🚨

So, since you usually don't need these tracks in the arranger, to save space you can hide them in the arranger with the command Menu **View > Hide Submix/AUX busses**.



**i** Attention: This function hides the bus tracks even if they are set to visible in the Track Manager in the column **Arrangement**.

For the surround mix there are other bus types:

- A surround bus corresponds to a normal Submix bus with surround functionality. All tracks routed to a surround bus get the Surround Editor instead of the normal Panorama knob, which can be used to adjust the surround position of the output signal of this track. If there is no Surround master in the project when a Surround bus is created, a Surround master is created at the same time, whose individual channels are routed to the hardware outputs that are specified for this purpose in the Surround Setup dialog (7543).
  - Technically, the Surround master is also such a surround bus, which has the additional property of assigning the surround channels to the audio outputs and cannot itself be routed to a Surround bus.



The individual channels of a Surround bus are normally hidden, by clicking on **Sub** >> they can be displayed. If you disable the link button 🖬 , you can also set the channels separately.

Surround AUX bus: If a surround master is available in the project, an AUX bus can also be created as a surround AUX bus. A surround AUX bus allows integration of surround effects. To adjust the surround panning of a surround AUX send of a track, open the (Track/AUX) Surround editor in the context menu of the send control.

### **Creating AUX busses and Submix busses**

To create an AUX bus, select **Insert New Track** > **New AUX Bus** from the **Track** menu. You can also create a new AUX bus by dragging an AUX send control of a previously unused slot in

the AUX section of the Track Editor or Mixer. This creates a new AUX bus automatically. New AUX busses are always inserted at the far right of the mixer before the masters, after existing AUX busses.

To create a Submix bus, select **Insert New Track** > **New Submix Bus** from the **Track** menu. The Submix bus is generated directly after the selected channel.

 $\dot{\phi}$  The Mixer Setup dialog (2662) lets you quickly add multiple buses to the project at once.

### AUX routing



To set the signal tap of the AUX Send control as **Direct Out**, **Pre-Fader** or **Post-Fader** use the context menu of the control:



You can see the positions of these signal taps within the processing chain of a track in the FX routing dialog. Here in the picture they correspond to the default setting. Use the arrow buttons in the upper left corner to move them in the signal flow.

**Direct**: means that the AUX send signal is tapped directly after the **Gain** control, i.e. the input gain. The AUX slider in the mixer channel and track editor is displayed in red.

**Pre**-fader means that the AUX send signal passes through the input gain, equalization and effects processing to be tapped before the volume control. The AUX signal is thus independent of the channel's volume setting. One main use for this is to set a separate monitor mix that then goes to a separate hardware monitor output via the AUX bus. The AUX slider in the mixer channel and track editor is displayed in yellow.

**Post**-fader means that the AUX send signal is tapped after the volume control, after it has passed input gain, equalization and effects. AUX sliders that control newly created AUX sends are preset Post. The AUX slider in Mixer Channel and Track Editor is displayed in orange.

### AUX sends routing dialog

In this dialog you have access to all AUX sends used by a track, even if the corresponding section in the Mixer/Track Editor is minimized. Here you can also create new AUX sends or determine the send value and pan of existing AUX sends.

Open the AUX Send Routing dialog in the context menu of the AUX button of a mixer channel or track editor with **Track AUX Sends...**.

-23.58 AUX 5 On visible Pan Pre	AUX 1 Ø On Ø Pan Ø Pre	AUX 2 Visible Pan Pre	-10.44 AUX 3 visble Pan	-16.19 	AUX 4 On Visible Pan Pre
Info     New AUX Bus       Project: 5 AUX Busses     New AUX Bus       Track: 5 AUX Sends active, 2 AUX Sends Pre Fader     Reset AUX Sends	AUX 5	0 -23.58			
	<<	Info Project: 5 AUX Busses Track: 5 AUX Sends active, 2	AUX Sends Pre Fader	New AU Reset AU	IX Bus >> X Sends Bypass all

You can enter the Send level of the respective AUX bus numerically or drag the orange bar.

**On**: Activates and deactivates an AUX send path.

**Pre**: By default, all AUX buses are routed "post-fader" in **Sequoia**. To switch them to "Pre-Fader", place a checkmark the "Pre" box.

**Visible**: Shows and hides individual send controls in the AUX sections in Track Editor and Mixer.

**Pan:** Opens the Stereo Panorama dialog (abla 521) for the AUX sends. For example, this allows you to adjust the stereo width or invert the phase for the AUX send.

New AUX bus: Creates a new AUX bus.

**Reset AUX Sends**: All AUX settings are reset.

### **Master section**

A master is similar in structure to a track. In the following, only the differences to the controls of the track are described and the controls that are additionally available in the master.

The **In** section is not present, the input signal is composed of all tracks and buses routed to the master. Therefore, there is also no section **AUX**. The Plug-Ins section, here called **Master Plug-Ins** works exactly the same as the one in Tracks. In addition, you can select an export preview function for AAC or MP3 (*P*530) in the plug-in browser here.

The **master equalizer** is identical to the one in the tracks, but there are additional knobs for adjusting the frequencies of the bands.

**Stereo enhancer**: The panorama control is replaced by a stereo base width control. Clicking on **StEn** opens the dialog of the multiband stereo enhancer (?304). With the Stereo Enhancer you change the stereo image of the overall signal separately for three frequency ranges. As with EQ, as long as no adjustments are made, the effect is not active.

**Mono**: This button causes the overall signal to be played back in mono. This can be used to test mono compatibility.

**Normalize (N)**: This is the master normalization. When you click this button, the master level is adjusted so that the loudest part played reaches 0 dB. The basis for this is the maximum level reached during the last playback process, which is displayed above the peak meters.

Note: If the level display is clicked in the stopped state, the play cursor will jump to the position indicated by the level.

**Link**: This button links the left and right channels of the master signal.

**Rd Master automation**: The master can also be automated. However, the master track is hidden by default in the arranger. To edit the automation curves for the master, select **Show master track in arranger** in the context menu of this button.

i For detailed information on automation, refer to the chapter "Automation (↗357)".



Master Plug-ins

Master EQ

Hi

мн

**Master Out**: Only hardware outputs are available in the Master Out menu. Specify the playback device for the master here. Select **Master inactive** if you do not want to use a master output in the project (for example, to use multiple buses routed directly to output channels instead).

### Mix to File

You can perform a mixdown in real time, in which the output of the master is written to a file during playback. You can change your mix during playback, just as mixing was done in the analog studio: The mix is played back and the controls on the mixing console are moved live.

- 1. By clicking the **Mix to File** button you can specify the name and location of the wave file. Once you click **On**, the master output will be written to a wave file during playback.
- 2. Now start the playback of the project. During playback, any parameter may be changed to record any live sound adjustments that are made.
- 3. Stop the playback.
- 4. When you are satisfied with the recording, uncheck the button **On**. Otherwise, each time you start play back, the wave file will be written again, overwriting the previous mix.
- 5. Alternatively, you can click **Mix to File** again. Then a new recording file with a consecutive number is created.
- -☆- You do not necessarily have to use the **Mix to File** function to record mixer movements during playback. Use the Automations (*₹*357) function instead!

### MP3/AAC preview

In the Master Plug-ins section there is a preview function that allows you to prepare your project for MP3 or AAC export. This plug-in lets you preview in the mixer in real time how the exported file will sound with the selected encoder settings.

To do this, you can change the export settings such as bitrate or encoding quality in the plug-in dialog. With **Get settings from MP3 export** you copy the MP3 export settings from the export dialog. **Apply settings to MP3 export** transfers the settings back to the export dialog.

# **Global Mixer Functions**

At the edges of the mixer window there are a number of buttons for cross-track control of the mixer window and mixer behavior.

### Mixer Setup and Help

**Setup** ? **Setup**: Click on the **Setup** button to open the Mixer Setup dialog (*P*662). ? opens the help for the mixer, i.e. the text you are just reading.

### Sends on Fader

With this function you place the small sliders for one AUX path each on the large channel faders. This makes it more convenient to set and compare the AUX send level for the tracks. (This corresponds to the AUX page on digital mixers, as these usually do not have separate AUX controls)



Select an AUX bus from the list box to activate the function. The function can be switched on and off by clicking on the yellow button.



### **Reset Mixer**

The buttons under Resets allow you to reset various properties of the mixer.

Resets	Reset AUX: This resets all AUX sends.
Aux EQ	Reset EQ: This resets all equalizer settings.
Peaks FX	Reset Peaks: This resets the LED peak meters (peak hold display).
Mono Stereo	<b>Reset FX</b> : This removes the effects in all channels.
Track Pan	

**Reset (Mono)**: This resets the entire mixer to its default settings for mono tracks. The tracks are alternately set to 100% Right and Left and all special settings of the Track Panorama settings (2521) are reset.

**Reset (Stereo)**: This resets the entire mixer to its default settings for stereo tracks. The pan controls are set to center position and all special track pan settings are reset.

### Loading and Saving Mixer Settings



You can save the state of the entire mixer into Snapshots. (For hardware mixers this is called "Total Recall"). This includes the levels of all volume and AUX send controls as well as all track effect settings and routings.

Click one of the buttons to save. To load the snapshot, click this button again. To overwrite a saved snapshot, click the button while holding down the **Shift** key. Double-click in the name window to name the snapshots. The last loaded snapshot is highlighted.

**Load mixer settings / Save mixer settings**: With these buttons you can save the current mixer settings to a file (\*.mix) to use them in other projects and load saved mixer settings.

In the context menu of a snapshot button you can reach further functions:

- Load/Save Snapshots: This corresponds to the function of the button, Delete Snapshot deletes the snapshot from the button
- Next Bank/Previous Bank: A project can contain a total of 32 snapshots in 4 banks, use these commands to change the displayed bank.
- Save mixer to file: This corresponds to the function of the Save mixer settings buttons (without snapshots).
- Save mixer with snapshots: Use this option to save the current mixer settings and all snapshots. When loading mixer settings that contain snapshots, you are asked whether the snapshots should also be loaded. If so, the snapshots of the project are overwritten by all snapshots of the file.

- Load mixer from file / Load mixer from file (including track names): You can load mixer settings both with and without track names.
- **Load last mixer:** When loading a snapshot, the current mixer settings are temporarily cached and can be retrieved with the command Load last mixer. This also allows an A-B comparison between the snapshot's and the current settings.
- Include record/monitoring states: If this option is activated, the record arm and monitoring states are also adjusted when loading snapshots and mixer files.

-`Q´- With Menu **View > More > Load Mixer Snapshot** you open a menu from which you can select the desired entry with the arrow keys and confirm it with the Enter key. If you also assign a keyboard shortcut to this menu item, you can switch snapshots in this way completely keyboard controlled.

### **Playback Functions**



**Solo/Mute**: Use the **S** and **M** buttons to toggle all Solo/Mute buttons on and off. Bypass: This button allows you to turn off all effects active in the project except for the volume and pan settings of the channels for comparison purposes. **AutoRec**: This display will light up if the level automation is written in the master.

**Play/Stop:** This button can be used to play and stop the project, a right click opens the transport console.

### View



Hide tracks Hide Tracks/Hide Master: These buttons can be used to hide the tracks or the Hide master master section in the mixer.



**Mixer layout snapshots**: If the arrangement has many tracks, usually only a part of all mixer channels is displayed in the mixer window. The scroll bars at the bottom and right edge of the mixer can be used to move the visible section.

In the Track Manager, you can also hide individual tracks in the mixer ( $\mathbb{Z}137$ ). The four snapshot buttons allow you to save this visibility state of the tracks together with the current section, i.e. the first track displayed in the mixer, and then restore a specific view with one click. To save, click one of the four buttons on the left edge of the mixer. To load the snapshot, click this button again. To overwrite a saved snapshot, Shift-click the button.

·☆- With Menu View > More > Load Mixer Layout Snapshot you open a menu from which you can select the desired entry with the arrow keys and confirm it with the Enter key. If you also assign a keyboard shortcut to this menu item, you can switch the layouts in this way completely keyboard controlled.

### Solo and Monitor Control

At the bottom right, there are basic setting options for the monitor control.

● For more options and settings for monitoring, use the Monitoring Section (₱537).



The Solo knob determines the monitoring volume in solo mode, while the Monitor knob additionally influences the level at the monitor output. The value corresponds to the Volume setting in the Monitoring section (\$\nothermolow 537\$). The monitor output can be selected at the very bottom. This corresponds to the first output device of the monitoring section.

(i) Monitoring via separate monitor buses is only available when using the hybrid engine (₱711).

Via the switch **AFL/PFL** you can tap the signal for solo playback in two different places:

- **PFL**: With PFL (Pre Fader Listen), the signal is tapped before the volume fader and effects, but after the input gain.
- **AFL**: With AFL (After Fader Listen), tracking effects, pan and volume settings are taken into account and affect the monitoring signal.

This switch corresponds to the Global Solo mode Global: Solo PFL

In general, the monitor bus behaves like "Main to Monitor", meaning that the content of the master can be heard at the same time on the monitor bus. As soon as **Solo** is activated, only tracks in solo status are output via the monitor bus.

### Global Solo Modes

The button for selecting the monitor bus allows you to define global default settings for solo playback. This can also be accessed by right-clicking on the solo buttons.

	Global Solo Modes	~	Global: Solo In Place
	Monitor bus inactive ()	~	Global: Solo Safe
	1 + 2: VM-VAIO 1+VM-VAIO 2 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO Out) 3 + 4: VM-VAIO 3+VM-VAIO 4 (Voicemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO Out) 5 - 6: VAIA VAIO 5-0/circemeeter VAIO3 Virtual ASIO Out)		Global: Mute/Solo Sate Pre Sends Global: Solo PFL Global: Solo Exclusive
~	7 + 8: VM-VAIO 5+VM-VAIO 8 (Voicemeeter VAIO 9 Virtual ASIO Out) 7 + 8: VM-VAIO 7+VM-VAIO 8 (Voicemeeter VAIO 9 Virtual ASIO Out) (Monitor Bus)		

**Global: Solo In Place** Solo in Place lets you hear the channels set to Solo in the mixer as they are placed in the stereo image of your mix. Simultaneously, all other channels are muted. This solo mode is typically used during the mixdown to identify single instrument tracks and edit them individually. This option is active by default.

**Global: Solo Safe**. In Solo In Place mode, this option causes any channel switched to Solo to automatically be listened to along with the AUX Return channels it is feeding. This option is active by default.

**Global: Mute/Solo Safe Pre Sends** (only available in Hybrid mode). This is an additional "Solo Safe" function for AUX sends/outs configured as pre or direct sends.

**Global: Solo PFL** (only available in Hybrid mode) You can also access this option via the **AFL/PFL** button. It sets the behavior of the solo tracks to PFL. In this case, the signal is tapped before the fader and effects, but after the input gain. In the deactivated state, the solo tracks are tapped after the fader.

**i** Note: Economy Tracks cannot be monitored with PFL.

**Global: Solo Exclusive**: In this mode, the Solo button switches this channel exclusively to Solo. For all other channels the solo status is cleared. If you also want to listen to the AUX return channels of the "Solo" switched channels, **Global: Solo Safe** must also be active.

Note: If the mode Global: Solo Exclusive is not active, click with Shift + Alt on the "Solo" button of a channel for Solo exclusive. Conversely, if "Solo Exclusive" is active, you can listen to multiple channels at the same time in "Solo" state using the same key combination when you click Solo.

### Global Solo modes without monitor bus

If you cannot or do not want to use the Hybrid Engine or do not want to use a Monitor Bus for other reasons, you can also select **Monitor Bus inactive (---)**. The following differences then exist:

- Solo In Place is always active and cannot be deactivated.
- Also in "Solo in Place" mode it is possible to switch between Pre Fader Listen and After Fader Listen. With a monitor bus, PFL is no longer In Place.
- **Attention**: In this mode it is possible to influence the master level with the monitor control. This means you can set up the listening level in the mixer without using any external volume controllers. The audible result in this case differs from the peak meter display. Therefore, the numerical level values in the mixer are displayed in red. Additionally, the Solo knob influences the volume of the soloed tracks that are played through the master section. However, the internal level for the export remains unchanged.

# **Monitoring Section**



The Monitoring section provides a separate workflow for monitoring inputs, busses or masters. It is possible to switch between four different outputs, each with separate level settings and effect chains, for example to realize monitoring on different pairs of speakers (home system and studio monitors). There is also an independent talkback path for communication between the recording booth and studio.



Dote: Despite the similarity in name with the track monitoring (2711), this is a different, independent function. Track monitoring means listening to an input signal of a track, the Monitoring section is used for general control of the program's audio output.

To display the Monitoring Section, go to the menu **View > Monitoring Section** or use the keyboard shortcut Ctrl + Shift + S.

Monitoring via separate monitor buses is only available when using the hybrid engine (**₽**711).

### Input



**1** Select Source: Default source is the Master, but you can also select any input pair or (stereo) bus as input source. If a surround master is selected, you can open the downmix matrix in the menu to create a stereo downmix. When using a separate monitor bus, you can use **Solo on** Monitoring section to limit soloing to monitor output. **2** Input Offset: Here you can adjust the level of the input signal independent of the selected output.

3 Switch Source: You can switch between 4 different sources.

() If the input is the Master or a bus whose output is routed to the same output device as the output of the monitoring section, the signal is not reproduced via both ways, but the monitoring section has priority.

#### Volume Output 4 << Plua-ins Mono LL RR 4 Phase Offse 0.0 dB 3 10 60 8 6 2 Offsel 0.0 dB 0.0 dB OUT 9 3 Offsel 0.0 dB 4 MUTE12 5.0 dB Offset 0.0 dB

### Volume/Output/Plugins

- **Output selection**: A separate output device can be set for each output. Settings in the ranges **Volume** (except the large knob for the global volume) and **Plug-ins** apply separately to the respective output. To display the settings in these areas for the respective output, activate the corresponding field below **Output**. Use the buttons **1...4** to activate the according output.
- **2 Output level offset**: The controls can be used to trim the monitor output level per output by setting an offset to the global monitor level.
- 3 Device selection: Click the arrow to select the device for the output. The device for output 1 corresponds to the device that can be set under Monitoring (⊅530) in the mixer. If you deactivate the Exclusive option in the menu, other outputs can be activated independently of this output. You can also mark an output as Headphone. For headphone outputs, volume control is only through the offset control, independent of the global monitor level. This state is indicated by **!!** behind the dB display in the large knob.
- 4 The plug-ins panel can be hidden with this button.

Plug-in slots: The plug-in slots work like those in the mixer, track or object editor. A left click on an empty slot opens the Plug-in Browser, a left click on a loaded plug-in deactivates the plug-in, a right click opens the plug-in window. You can even load more than two plug-ins, but only the first two are displayed in the slots. The others can be reached via the FX routing dialog.

- 6 Use the arrow to open the **plug-in menu**.
- A left click on this button deactivates the entire plug-in chain, a right click opens the FX routing dialog.
- 8 The **Peak meter** shows the level behind the large volume control, but before the output offset.
- Solume control: Here you set the global monitoring volume. The value corresponds to the setting Monitor (2534) in the mixer at the bottom right.

- **(1) LL, RR, Mono**: Use these buttons to adjust the mono stereo signal distribution. With **LL** the left input signal is reproduced on both output channels, with **RR** the right signal. **Mono** sums right and left to a mono signal, which is then also reproduced on both output channels.
- **(1) Phase**: Inverts the phase of the right input signal to compensate for possible phase shifts.
- 12 Mute: Mute switch.
- **(B) Dim**: A click on the button reduces the volume by the amount set on the knob.

### Talkback

With the talkback function, you can set up an additional communication path between the recording booth and mixing console.



### Keyboard shortcuts for the monitoring window

To be able to execute the most important monitoring functions quickly without mouse clicks, there are some keyboard shortcuts especially for the monitoring section. These only apply when the monitoring window is open and focused. So you must have clicked in the window at least once after opening it.

-ġ- For talkback, you can define a global keyboard shortcut in the **Program Preferences** (↗730) in the section **Keyboard/Menu/Mouse** under **Special Keys** that also works independently of the focus of the monitoring window.

Alt + 14	Select Input 1-4	Н	Invert phase			
	These keyboard shortcuts     global.	s are				
1, 2	Select Output 1 or 2	В	Open Plug-in browser (Monitor)			
Alt + M, 0	Mute	Shift + B	Open Plug-in browser (Talkback)			
D	Dim	Р	Plug-ins on/off (Monitor)			

L LL (Input L to Output LR)

R

Shift + P Plug-ins on/off (Talkback)

RR (Input R to Output LR) **T** Talkback (momentary)

**N** Mono (Input L+R to Output LR)

Shift + T Talkback on/off



# **Mixer Signal Flow**

The following illustration shows the audio signal flow of a track during playback.



Notes:

- A track can have any number of AUX send, sidechain send, or output routings to busses or hardware outputs; for each routing, one of the three positions in the track effects chain (direct, pre, post) can be specified.
- One output must always be routed Post, this is the Primary Master. It is used for the peak meters in the mixer and is preset as input in the monitoring section.
- The switches **Record Arm** and **Monitoring** are interdependent depending on Monitoring switching behavior (*7*14) and playback state.
- Monitoring cannot be enabled for tracks that use the output of other tracks as input.
- Record Arm is not available for buses.
The bus inputs of a track are only active if the track is an AUX or Submix bus and always receive the sum of all aux sends or out routings of the other tracks, regardless of the playback state.

# SURROUND SOUND

**Sequoia** offers extensive options for mixing audio material in various multichannel formats - from LCR (Left-Center Right) to various 5- and 6-channel formats up to 22.2 3D surround.

A prerequisite for this is a mixer configured with at least one Surround Master corresponding to the target format. Target formats are e.g. 5.0 ITU 5.1 ITU or 7.1 SDDS.

In the **Surround settings**, you can assign existing playback devices to the channels of a surround master. Use the **Surround Editor** to distribute the audio from the tracks of an arrangement that are routed to a surround master across the available surround outputs. In the mixer, the panorama knob in these tracks is replaced by a Surround panorama display.

You can also route individual objects directly to the surround master and distribute them in the surround panorama, regardless of whether the track on which they are placed is routed to a stereo or surround master.

The Surround Editor offers different modes for arranging signals in the surround panorama. Various surround effects are provided in the mixer for mixing in multi-channel formats.

You can create any number of additional master buses, e.g. in addition to a 5.1 mix you can create a 7.1 mix in the same project. A master bus can also be routed to any other surround or stereo master, with the necessary upmix or downmix being performed.

# **Create New Surround Project**

In the **Setup for new Project (VIP)** dialog, select the option **Surround** under **Mixer Setup**. Select the desired format under **Surround Setup** (e.g. 5.1 ITU).

<u>N</u> ame:	2023-05-02								
File <u>P</u> ath:	D:\Recor	D:\Recording_Projects\2023-05-02							
Create New Project Subdirectory									
Presets									
Project	<u>T</u> emplate:		$\sim$						
Mi	xer Setup:	[1] Surround	$\sim$						
Surrou	nd Setup:	5_1 ITU	$\sim$						
		Project Options							

In addition to the audio track channels, the mixer in the new VIP now also contains a Surround Master in the selected format (e.g. 5.1 ITU L, R, C, LFE, Ls, Rs). All mixer channels of the

corresponding project tracks are automatically routed to the Surround Master. The mixer's Stereo Master will be hidden initially, but it can be displayed by clicking the **hide Master** button in the mixer. Routing of the individual mixer channels to both the Surround Master and the Stereo Master is possible.

# **Converting an Existing Stereo VIP into a Surround Format**

Click the **Setup** button in the project's mixer. The **Project Options** > **Mixer Settings** dialog opens.



In the section Master, activate the option Surround Master .

In the list box below you can select your preferred surround format (e.g. 5.1 ITU). For further adjustments and the assignment of the surround channels to the output devices, you can open the dialog Surround Settings (2543) with the button **Setup**.

# **Surround Settings**

The setting of the physical outputs of the surround buses is done in the dialog **Surround settings**.



To open the dialog, use the **Setup...** button in the Surround Editor (2548) or in the Master section of the Mixer Settings (2662).

This window is used to specify the surround format in which the mix will be made. Here you can load various presets (e.g. 5.1 ITU, DD, DTS, LCR, LRS, Quad...) or edit and save your own settings. The filter settings for the LFE (Low Frequency Effect) channel are also set here.

1 ITU						✓ Load Save Delete
udio device setti	ngs:	save/	load in pres	et		Get Default for preset Set Default for current preset
annel configurati	on					
Vame	Short	Median	Frontal	Position x	Position y	Audio device
eft	1	Left	Front	56.0	33.3	1L Out 1 (ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driver Out)
Right	R	Right	Front	-56.0	33.3	1R. Out 2 (ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driver Out)
Center	С	Center	Front	0.0	33.3	3L. —
FE	LFE	Center	Front			3R
eft surround	Ls	Left	Rear	28.0	-33.0	2L. Out 3 (ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driver Out)
Right surround	Rs	Right	Rear	-28.0	-33.0	2R. Out 4 (ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driver Out)
Lock channel p	ositions in S	ourround par	n dialog			A 7
E-Filter						
Active	Cut	off uency (Hz):	100		High freque reduction	-12
	freq	uency (Hz):			(-dB/octar	ve): O FFT EQ (with latency !)

### Presets

Here you can load already created surround formats or save newly created formats. A preset features the Surround buses, their name as an abbreviation, the sequence, and the position coordinates of the speakers. When loading a preset, the assignment of the playback devices is also taken over.

Audio device settings:

- **Load/save in preset**: If the option is active, when saving presets, the current playback device configuration is saved in the preset regardless of the default configuration.
- Get default for preset: This applies the default configuration for the playback devices that was assigned to the active preset.
- Set default for current preset: This assigns the current assignment of the surround busses to the playback devices to the active preset as default configuration. This configuration is applied when the preset is loaded.

# **Channel Configuration**

**Name**: Setting of the name of the individual surround channels. The abbreviation in the following column **Short** is generated from this name. For the abbreviation, the first letter of each word used is used as consecutive letters.

- Left = L
- Right = R
- Center = C
- Left surround = Ls
- Right surround = Rs
- Low Frequency Effect = LFE

These abbreviations are used to label the corresponding channels in the mixer and in the Surround Editor. During surround export, the abbreviation is automatically appended to the file names.

**()** Example: Select the name SurroundMix when Surround bouncing a 5.1 Surround mix as 6 mono files. Then, wave files are created with the names: SurroundMix L.wav, SurroundMix R.wav, SurroundMix C.wav, SurroundMix Ls.wav, SurroundMix Rs.wavund SurroundMix LFE.wavgeneriert.

**Median / Frontal**: These columns describe the position of the respective loudspeaker in relation to the median and frontal levels.

**Position X / Position Y**: This describes the precise position of the speaker in a system of coordinates. You can edit the coordinates manually. The settings refer exclusively to the loudspeaker arrangement in Sound Field Mode.

**Audio device**: Assignment of a physical output of the sound card to the respective surround channel. You can save a default device configuration for each surround preset (see above).

**Lock channel position**: If the option is active, the position of the speakers can no longer be changed in the Surround Panorama Editor in sound field mode. It is always active by default and should only be switched off for special tasks (e.g. variable speaker arrangements).

**Arrow up/arrow down button**: In the configuration table, one line corresponds to one surround channel. Use the arrow buttons to move a selected row down or up in the table.

() The order of the surround channels in this table also determines the order of the channels when they are displayed in the mixer, in the Surround Editor (e.g. Peak Meter), and in the surround effects dialogs.

# **LFE Filter**

For the LFE (Low Frequency Effect) channel, you can activate a filter in the surround settings. You can choose between a 6-band EQ116 (default setting) and an FFT filter.

Cut off frequency: Here you can set the cut-off frequency for the low-pass filter.

**High frequency reduction**: The reduction of the signal above the cut-off frequency is set to 12 dB/octave for the 6-band EQ.

Edit EQ: This opens the dialog for adjusting the corresponding filter.

**Initialize all tracks to stereo position**: Activate this option to obtain a correct downmix for a stereo export of a surround mix, i.e. you can then perform a stereo export from a surround project with the downmix set correctly (\$\alphi\$559).

# Track and Object based Surround Panning

The arrangement of audio in the surround space can be done in two different ways, track based or object based.

### Track based Surround Panning

By default, the audio signal of all objects passes through the channel strip of the corresponding mixer track. This track can be assigned a position in the surround panorama via the Surround Editor (₱548) in the associated channel strip of the mixer. All objects contained in this track are thus also positioned at this point in the surround panorama.

# **Object-Based Surround Panning**

To assign individual objects their own surround position independently of track-based panning, each object can be routed directly to a surround master or another surround submix bus.

To do this, open the object editor of this object by double-clicking on it, switch to the tab **FX** and open the Surround Routing menu in the section **Pan** by clicking on the **Surround** button.



Select a surround bus or master from the menu to route the object to the appropriate bus or master. Hold down the "Ctrl" key while selecting in the object editor to route the object to multiple busses at the same time and thus combine different surround pannings. An additional slider appears in the object editor which can be used to adjust the object's send level to the Surround Bus or Master.



Right-clicking in the surround panorama field below opens the corresponding Surround panorama editor (\$\alphi\_548). Here you can set the positioning in the Surround panorama. Objectbased Surround panning is displayed in the object view in the arranger with the appendix -> Sur.



**i Note**: With object-related surround panning, the audio signal no longer passes through the channel strip of the associated mixer track. All settings made there (AUX send, EQ, etc.) have no effect on this object.

# **Surround Editor**

In the Surround Editor the panning of a track or object on the Surround bus can be set and edited.

Open the Surround Editor for a track by:

- Right-clicking on the surround pan display of the track in the Mixer/Track Editor or
- Right-click on the "pan" button or the pan slider in the track head or
- Choosing Track > More > Pan/Surround Editor....

For object-based surround panning, open the object editor for the respective object by doubleclicking and then right-click on the surround pan display.

### Surround Panner VST Plug-ins

You can also perform surround panning with a third-party VST plug-in. To load the plug-in into the surround editor, select the plug-in in the menu on the output tab at the top of the surround editor or in the left-click menu of the surround pan control in the mixer at Surround Panner **(VST)** or open the plug-in browser via the menu item there.

# **Controls of the Surround Editor**

At **Mode** you can choose from seven different display modes: Sound field mode, Panning law mode, Angle mode, Matrix mode, VBAP mode, and the 3D modes VBAP (3D) and Sound field (3D).



**(i)** Note: The following is an initial description of the controls that exist in all modes except Matrix mode. Other parameters that are specific to certain modes are explained in the section Panorama modes in the Surround Editor (#552).

The speaker channels of the surround setup are shown as blue circular areas. Their position in the Surround Panorama Field is dependent on the selected mode. If a channel is shut off using "Mute", it is displayed as a gray circle. The sound source to be positioned is displayed as a red circular area, with a corresponding setting at **Pan L/R** also as two circular areas.



The following additional information is displayed:

**Name**: The loudspeakers are labeled with the abbreviations specified in the "Surround Setup" window.

**Volume**: The level readout below the speakers indicates the value of the signal portion that is given from the sound source to the assigned surround channel. If a stereo mode (X-Sym., Y-Sym., XY-Sym., Parallel) is set under "Pan L/R", the sum of the levels of both stereo sources is displayed. Click on one of the two sound sources with the Shift key held down to display only the level value of this source.

**Sound field**: Depending on the mode being used in the Surround Editor, the sound field is displayed either as a red surface or as concentric circles.

i You can hide the display elements **Name**, **Volume** and **Sound field**" by deactivating the corresponding options.

**Pan L/R**: In the Surround Editor, both mono and stereo sources can be positioned in the panorama. The function **Pan L/R** determines which way the mono and stereo signals will be arranged. For more information, please read the section Stereo and mono signal processing in Surround projects (*P*557).

**Position**: Normally you drag the sound source with the mouse to the desired position. For precise position information, enter the position directly using the number fields **x/y**. The values can also be changed by dragging the mouse vertically over the number field, or you can use the mouse wheel to make incremental changes.

When dragging the sound source with the mouse on the graphical interface, you can restrict the movement by pressing the following keys simultaneously:

- x + Mouse movement: Only a position change parallel to the x-axis is possible.
   Result: L -> R movement
- **y** + **Mouse movement** or **z** + **Mouse movement**: Only a position change parallel to the y-axis is possible.

Result: Front -> Rear movement

- c + mouse movement: The distance of the sound source to the coordinate origin (position x=0, y=0) remains the same. The result is a circle. Result: Circular movement
- a + Mouse movement: The sound source can only be moved diagonally. A straight line starting from the initial position of the sound source and passing through the coordinate origin of the panoramic field defines the course of this movement.
   Result: Diagonal movement with constant angle.

#### Pan Setup: see Pan Setup (₱551)

**Center**: This parameter controls the portion of the center channel for assignment of the sound source to the front channels. For certain applications (e. g. film sound) it is normal to reserve the center channel exclusively for dialog and to position music and background noises outside of it. A signal placed directly in the center is played back only by the center channel in 5.1 format if the center = 100%; at 0% this is only a phantom sound source that is output by the left and right channels. This parameter is often referred to as "divergence".

**LFE**(Low Frequency Effect): In this field you can determine the level component of the signal that will be routed to the LFE channel.

LFE only: The source is routed only to the LFE channel.

**Input**: Peak meter for the input signal. Mono input signals are displayed in both scales of the input meter.

**Output**: Level meters of the individual channels of the surround bus/master. Only the level components from the audio currently being edited in the Surround Editor are displayed.

**Channel**: Mutes or changes the level of the bus outputs of the Surround Editor to the Surround buses. Deactivated bus outputs/speakers are displayed as gray circles in the panorama field.

Automation: see Automation in the Surround Editor (#560)

**Presets**: Save your own frequently used surround editor settings as a preset. In addition to the position of the sound source, the mode and the settings of Pan L/R are also saved.

 $\dot{\phi}$  All surround presets are available also with a left click on the Surround pan display in the mixer. There are also a couple of pre-defined settings for frequently used pannings.

### Pan Setup

In the **Pan Setup** dialog box, you can define even more advanced settings for the Surround Editor. The dialog window can be opened by clicking on **Pan Setup** in the Surround Editor or by right-clicking on the sound source.



**Soundfield offset (dB)**: If sound sources are positioned directly on a single surround channel, the offset set here is taken into account. Thus, for example, individual compensation can be made if such signals are too prominent.

**Soundfield Character** (only in Sound field or Angle mode): The level drop characteristic of the sound field can be adjusted continuously. **Inv. logar.** produces a quick drop of the sound field and short fades between loudspeakers. **Logarithmic** provides a slow reduction of the sound field and longer transitions between speakers.

**Constant max. sum output level mode**: If this option is activated, the maximum level of all channel outputs of the Surround Panorama Module will not exceed the set value. Unintended fluctuations of the overall level during position changes can thus be compensated. The function is especially useful when you want to move specific sources around the room via automation.

**Link all tracks**: The following settings within the Surround Editor are applied to all tracks of the arranger and changes are always executed in sync on all tracks: Sound Field Offset, Level Drop

Characteristic, Sum Output Volume, Center, Pan Law/Width, LFE Level and Settings, Channel Settings like Level Change or Mute.

**Copy settings to all tracks**: The settings made in this Sound Panorama Module (sound field offset, level drop characteristics, output volume sum constant, center, pan-law/width, LFE level and settings, channel settings such as level changes or mute) are copied to all other tracks once.

### Panorama Modes in the Surround Editor

#### Sound Field Mode

In Sound Field Mode the input signal is displayed as a concentric sound field. Each red line corresponds with a 3dB drop in the sound field level. The loudspeakers are positioned in such a manner that the distance from a single loudspeaker to a neighboring speaker remains constant. This positioning permits a uniform distribution of the sound source across all channels. Level ratios develop between the channels, which could not be achieved in other modes.



**Example of use**: Very accurate localization, particularly for movements.

For movements in constant direction (e.g. overflight of a jet) level conflicts may occur - for this the Angle mode is more suitable.

Width: This parameter influences the sound field width of the loudspeakers.

**Pan Setup...**: The sound field characteristic can be adjusted smoothly. "Invers. logar." produces a quick drop of the sound field and short fades between loudspeakers. "Logarithmic" provides a slow reduction of the sound field and longer transitions between speakers.

**Channel position**: By default, the positions of the speaker channels are fixed in the control panel against accidental shifting. If you deactivate the option **Lock**, you can move the speakers freely in the sound field. You can then additionally activate the option **Y-Sym.**, then when moving one channel, the associated other channel will be moved symmetrically to the Y-axis.

### Panning-Law Mode



This mode uses a surround panorama display familiar from many digital mixing consoles.

The positions of the speakers are shown at the outer edges of the usable panorama. By clicking the "Sound field" option, you can visually display the graphical levels displayed across the Surround channels. The level distribution between two neighboring loudspeakers follows the -3 dB law, which means that a sound source directly in the middle of two neighboring loudspeakers will be emitted at a level of -3 dB.

Example of use: Static 2-dimensional panning, basic rough localization.

Because Panning Law Mode does not enable 100% exact localization, it is not suitable for dynamic panning (e.g. Automation).

**Pan Law**: To compensate for volume fluctuations when panning, you can additionally lower the volume in the pan center position here.

### Angle Mode

Here a sound field is displayed that radiates from the middle point of the circle. The sound source is located on the middle axis of this sound field. The loudspeakers are arranged on a sphere. The level components of a sound source on the respective channels are determined by the angle ratio between the sound source and the loudspeaker as well as the opening angle of the sound field. If the angle of the sound source and the channel correspond with each other (i.e. the middle axis of the sound field is pointing directly at the loudspeaker: angle difference = 0), the level of this channel is highest. The level on a channel drops as the angle difference increases.

**Example of use**: Good localization of direction of movements (e.g. jet flying overhead). Angle Mode is less suitable for distance panning.



Width: This parameter determines the size of the sound field opening angle.

**Pan Setup...**: The sound field characteristic can be adjusted smoothly. "Invers. logar." produces a quick drop of the sound field and short fades between loudspeakers. "Logarithmic" provides a slow reduction of the sound field and longer transitions between speakers.

**Pan Setup – Maximum sum output level constant**: If this function is selected, the maximum level of all channel outputs of the Surround Panorama Module will not exceed the set value. In angle mode, this avoids level drops of the sound field during movements in connection with large opening angles.

### Matrix Mode

In Matrix Mode you can directly enter the level that will go from the input signal to the individual Surround channels.

Double-click on the number field to enter values manually. You can also adjust the levels by dragging them with the mouse. For very fine adjustments, hold down "Shift" key while doing this.

**Examples of use**: Analytical tasks like routing after track bouncing or simultaneous distribution of a signal over several Surround channels. Distribution over 3-dimensional alignments, e.g. 2+2+2 setup.



Differing from the other modes, the settings of **Pan L/R** in Matrix mode have the following meaning.

Pan L/R Mono: The levels of the left and right input signals are adjusted together.

**Pan L/R Stereo**: The levels of the left and right input signals can be adjusted individually. The remaining "Pan L/R" settings do not apply. No mirror sound sources will be formed.

### VBAP

The VBAP mode (Vector Based Amplitude Panning) is characterized by a higher precision when generating phantom sources. It can be used as an alternative for the Sound field mode or

#### the 3D Sound field mode.



The operation differs from the sound field mode only in the point that no specification of the width of a loudspeaker sound field is required.

#### 3D Surround (Sound field/VBAP)

The 3D Surround modes of the Surround Editor, which are available for the Sound Field Mode and VBAP modes, differ from these only in the addition of a 3rd coordinate z to indicate the height of the sound source.

To the right of the top view there is a second, spatial display for the visual adjustment of the height coordinate.



# Pan L/R: Stereo and Mono Signal Processing in Surround Projects



Mode	Stereo signal	Mono signal
Mono	Mono sum is positioned as a single mono sound source in the panorama.	The mono signal is positioned as a single mono sound source in the panorama.
X-Sym:	The left and right channels are symmetrically aligned to the x-axis. For example, this enables you to pan a stereo signal to front L (Left) / LS (Left Surround).	A second (mono) mirrored sound source of this signal is positioned in addition to the original mono source. The x-axis is the mirror axis.

Y-Sym:	The left and right channels are symmetrically aligned to the y-axis. For example, this allows you to pan a stereo signal to front L (Left) /R (Right).	A second (mono) mirrored sound source of this signal is positioned in addition to the original mono source. The y-axis is the mirror axis.
XY-Sym.:	The left and right channels are symmetrically aligned to the x- and y axis. For example, this enables you to pan a stereo signal to front L (Left) / RS (Right Surround).	In addition to the original mono source, a second mirrored sound source is positioned with this signal, mirror-symmetrically with respect to the X and Y axes.
Parallel:	The left and right channels maintain a constant distance from each other when they are moved, they are moved parallel. While dragging a sound source, hold the Ctrl key to change the distance between the sound sources.	The original and mirrored sound sources maintain a constant distance from each other when they are moved, they are moved parallel. While dragging a sound source, hold the Ctrl key to change the distance between the sound sources.
Stereo Thru:	The same level proportions as for a mono source are applied to the different channels, depending on the position of the sound source. However, only the left signal is used for all left channels, and only the right signal for all right channels, and the mono sum for the center and LFE channels.	Identical to the mono mode.

# Working with Multiple Surround Masters.

In **Sequoia** it is possible to create further surround masters in addition to the master defined by the mixer setup when creating a new project (stereo or any surround configuration). This makes it possible to provide different multi-channel mix variants in the same project.

To create a new master, select the command menu **Track** > **Insert new tracks** > **New Surround Master**. The new master is placed in the mixer to the left of the existing one.

Each track / bus can be routed either to each master individually or to several masters.

This means that several different mixing scenarios are now possible:

- Create a 7.1 surround mix, create an additional 5.1 surround master and create a downmix of this mix in 5.1 (see "Surround up or down mix" below).
- Create an additional surround master in the stereo project and route individual tracks (2515) additionally to the surround master and create a simple surround version of your stereo mix.
- For greater control over the additional surround mix, you can use Surround busses or Surround AUX busses.

In a combined routing to stereo and surround masters, the stereo Pan control is displayed on the mixer interface, although a surround editor is also active for the surround mix of this channel. To access the Surround Editor interface, right-click the pan slider to bring up the Panorama Editor (2521) of the track.

At the top of the editor you can now switch to the tab with the surround editor for the track.

🛃 Spur Panorama	ı - Violin 1	_		$\times$
က္ Master ကြ 5.	1 Master			+
Preset:			▼ <u>L</u> ös	chen
Panorama:	Stereo-Breite:	Kopie:	□L->	R

# **Surround Upmix or Downmix**

A master bus can also be routed to any other surround or stereo master, with the necessary upmix or downmix being performed. For example, you can create a stereo mix on an additional stereo master from a project with a surround master or, in addition to a 7.1 surround mix, a 5.1 surround mix.

Open the output menu in the mixer of the corresponding Surround master and select the additional master while holding down the **Ctrl** key.



To open the downmix dialog in which you can set the downmix coefficients, select the corresponding entry at the bottom of the output menu.



In the preset list above there are common presets for downmixes of 5.1 into stereo. Additionally, you can also set and save your own downmix coefficients. The downmix is taken into account during the stereo master export of a project.

# Automation in the Surround Editor

### **Recording Surround Automation**

To automate panning movements, first activate the Automation option in the Surround Editor.



Start playback. If you now move the sound source with the mouse during playback, this movement will be recorded.



Automatio	n
On RE	C
Draw	

It is displayed in the project window as a curve.

•	9 VocFX1	cFX1		
	☐ Rd Surround / X 0.0 % ◊	-	<b>.</b>	
	☐         G         Rd         Surround / Y         ▼           33.9 %         ◊	 $\sim$	THE STREET	

You can edit the automation by using the Automation Draw Mode in the project window.

With object-based panning, i.e. when a single object is separately routed to a surround bus and the Surround Editor has been opened from the Object Editor, the automation is recorded and edited accordingly as an object automation curve.

### **Drawing Surround Automation Curves**

You can also draw in a motion path directly in the Surround Editor. To do this, you must first define the range over whose length the simulated movement extends.

*With object-based panning, this time range always corresponds to the entire object. If the automation should only take place over a shorter section, you must split the object.* 

Now additionally activate the **Draw** option.



Now draw in the desired motion of the sound source in the Surround Editor.



The drawn in motion path is converted into automation curves. The sound source is moved over the selected time period along the complete path at a uniform speed. Here, too, subsequent editing of the curve is possible in the project window.

# **Surround Effects**

All effects can also be used in surround busses and masters. There are some differences here:

- Normal (stereo) plug-in effects are loaded as multiple individual instances into the respective surround channels, and the parameters of the plug-in interface apply equally to all instances.
- Internal effects and surround-capable VST plug-ins such as the 3D Reverb or third-party plug-ins are automatically detected and used as one instance.
- With Sequoia 's internal effects, there is also the option to make separate plug-in settings for each surround channel. In addition, the settings for the different channels can be combined into groups (e.g. one EQ setting for R/L and one for Rs/Ls).

### **Surround Control Groups**

When internal effects are loaded as a surround effect, a new section with controls for the surround channels appears at the top of the effects dialog.

#### R C Ls Rs +s s s s s s B Bypass

The buttons in the top row, named according to the surround channels, allow you to view the effect settings for the respective channel.

Use the **S** buttons to solo the individual surround channels.

The surround channels can be grouped together. This causes:

- All channels of the group are calculated together in one instance of the effect you loaded in the mixer. (But of course still in separate channels).
- The parameters set in the effect dialog affect all channels of the group.
- For dynamic effects (Advanced and Multiband Dynamics), the control signals are compiled from all channels in the group, just as they are compiled from two stereo channels with stereo.

**Form or disband a group**: To form a group, click the **+ -** button in the Surround Effect dialog. Now click on the buttons of the Surround channels that you want to group or ungroup. The corresponding Surround channels will now be marked with points of the same color.



Click the **+** - button again to end group editing. You can now view the effect settings of each group by clicking on one of the associated channels.



# **Surround Export**

Surround Export allows you to render a surround mix. The outputs of the individual surround channels are used as the output signal.

Open the window **Export...** with menu **File > Export...**.

In the **Source** section at **Routing**, select the surround master whose surround mix you want to export. It is also possible to export a stereo downmix at the same time if you select Surround Master (e.g. 5\_1 ITU) + Stereo Master in the list box.

**Format**: With Surround Bouncing you have the choice between the following output formats (Wave or FLAC):

	Ν	Nono tracks	5		
	S	itereo			
		nterleaved	(RIFF64)		
1	~	Wave	Bit depth:	16-bit	~
		MP3	Channels:	Mono tracks	~
		MPEG	Resulting c	Mono tracks Stereo tracks	
		AIFF		Interleaved file (RIFF64)	

If mono tracks are selected, one mono file is saved per surround channel, if stereo tracks are selected, 2 surround channels are saved in one stereo file. RIFF64 (also called RF64) is a format that can be used to combine individual channels of a multitrack production (e.g. for 5.1) into one interleaved file. A single file containing all surround channels is created.

The abbreviations of the individual surround buses defined in the surround settings (P543) are appended to the selected names for the files to be created.

**Example**: You have chosen the file name "5\_1\_Surround" when exporting a 5.1 surround mix into 6 mono files. This will generate the following wave files: "5\_1\_Surround\_L.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_R.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_Ls.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_Rs.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_C.wav" ",5\_1\_Surround\_LFE.wav". For stereo file output, the following files will be generated: "5\_1\_Surround\_LR.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_LsRs.wav", "5\_1\_Surround\_CLFE.wav".

Select the other settings as for the regular export (2679).

# **TOOLS AND ASSISTANTS**

This chapter describes other various assistants and tools that support you when working with **Sequoia**.

# Undo and Redo

In **Sequoia**, when working on virtual projects and on wave projects, you can undo the last work steps by selecting Menu **Edit** > **Undo**, using the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Z**, or the button on the upper toolbar **2**.

You can restore undone operations by choosing Menu **Edit** > **Redo**, keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Y** or button on the top toolbar

The preset maximum number of recorded work steps that can be undone is 99 for virtual projects and 10 for wave projects. The number can be changed in the Undo settings (2729).



- When editing audio material with offline effects (*P*237), the "Undo" function can only be executed if the option **Create copy** is active in the respective effect dialog. The option is active by default. If you are sure that you do not need an "Undo", you can disable this option to save disk space and speed up the application of effects.
- You can undo work steps even after saving a project. However, if you close the project and reopen it later, you will no longer be able to return to a state before saving.

# **Undo History**

Via menu **Edit** > **Undo history...** a list with short descriptions of all work steps that have been recorded for the undo function can be displayed, together with the time at which they were executed. When you click on a work state, the project is set to the state it was in after this work step was performed. This allows you to quickly return to an older state without having to undo all the steps one by one. You can also use the **arrow up/arrow down** keys to move through the individual undo steps.

Undo History	×
Load File in VIP         14:54:18           Delete         14:54:09           Delete         14:52:03           Move Object Start         14:51:59           Move Object End         14:51:55           Move Object Start         14:51:52           Move Objects         14:51:52           Move Object Volume         13:52:51           Load VIP         13:31:21	<u>QK</u> <u>C</u> ancel

The history can be cleared with menu **Edit** > **Delete undo history**, after that undo is no longer possible.

Using the small arrows on the Undo/Redo buttons of the toolbar, you can reach menus through which you can also access the work states from the undo history.

່ວ		<u>}</u>	≻_ ]	Search
	Delete			14:52:03
1	Move Obje	ect St	art	14:51:59
1	Move Obje	14:51:55		
1	Move Obje	14:51:52		
1	Move Obje	ects		14:51:48
C	Change Ol	oject	Volum	ne 13:52:51

# Visualization

The visualization window provides a set of measurement tools for the graphical representation of played or recorded audio. The visualization window can display several of these measuring instruments simultaneously.

To display the visualization window, select Menu **View** > **Visualization** or the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl** + **Alt** + **Shift** + **V**. By default, the visualization opens in the Docker (alpha53) but can then be docked or floated anywhere.

You can open as many visualization windows as you want. Different inputs and outputs (maximum 8 tracks, buses or masters) can be selected for the individual visualization windows.



### **Customizing Visualizations**

The arrangement and selection of measuring instruments is specified in various **visualization layouts**. To select a layout, right-click in the visualization window and select it in the submenu **Visualization layout**.

First load a layout in the desired format (1x1..., 2x2...) and then right-click on the individual sections to replace individual visualizations with others. You can resize the displays by clicking and dragging the dividers.

The following display instruments are available:

- Peak meter (level meter),
- Loudness meter
- Surround Meter
- Phase oscilloscope (vectorscope)
- Correlation meter
- Direction meter
- Spectroscope
- Spectrogram
- Bit meter
- Oscilloscope
- Tuner.

At Presets you will find presets for the selected display instrument.

Via the menu item **Settings...** you can open the dialog **Visualization settings** to completely adapt a measuring instrument to your requirements. In the first tab you can also select the type

of the measuring instrument. In the following tabs there are further settings, depending on the display instrument set. You will find notes on this in the following sections. Custom presets that you save in this dialog are also listed in the **Preset** menu of the context menu.

When you have set all your displays, you can save the whole customized layout under a new name with **Visualization Layout** > **Save Layout...** to load it again later with **Load Layout...**. Custom layouts that are saved in the default layouts folder are also listed in the **visualization layout** menu.

# Select output or input



To select the source for visualization, click on this small triangle in the visualization window or open the submenu **Output** in the context menu. Preset is the **Stereo Master**. At **Outputs** you can choose from the available hardware outputs. An input signal for a track or bus can be selected at **Track input**. **Track visualization (current track)** selects the signal of the currently selected track.

The selection Track visualization can also be found in the menu Track > More...

If **Monitoring** is active for a track, a track visualization shows the input signal of the track.

In the submenu **New visualization window** you will find again the same menu for output selection, a new visualization window for the selected output will be opened. Up to 8 different sources can be displayed in visualization windows.

## **Reseting Visualization**

Double-click on a measuring instrument to reset it or select **Reset this visualization (double-click)** in the context menu. With **Reset all visualizations** all displays in the visualization window are reset.

### Peakmeter

-60 -40 -35 -30 -25 -20 -15 -10 -5 0 5 9	L -								<b>.</b>		'	0.0
	-60	<b>-40</b> -35	-30	-25	-20	-15	-10	-5	o	5	9	
	R			_								0.0

The peak meter displays the level in dB. By default, the peak meter is a combined instrument (**Multimeter**) and displays with the outer, thinner bars a **Peak Program Meter (PPM-Meter)**, and with the inner, thicker bars a **VU Meter**.

If you want to see only the PPM display or only the VU display, select the corresponding display instrument PPM meter or VU meter at **Instrument selection**. When selecting **Multimeter**, you set in the tab **Multimeter** under **Display configuration**, which of the two displays should be shown outside and which inside.

Both meter displays are based on standardized level meters with precisely defined display characteristics. While the PPM meter is a measuring device for peak levels, the VU meter averages the level values over a certain measuring period.

### **PPM-Meter**

The PPM meter displays the instantaneous level of the signal. The level peaks are displayed as a vertical line at the top of the level meter, which moves with a delay for better readability. To the far right of the bars, the peak value is displayed numerically.

**Headroom**: This allows you to set a level offset that is added to the measurement. This is due to the fact that different systems are calibrated differently. For example, a value of 9.0 (IRT) causes the level to be displayed with + 9 dB more.

**Integration time (Q-PPM)**: The response time of the peak meter is delayed by the set value, so that the display does not react quite so quickly at individual level peaks. The inertia generated is modeled on the behavior of analog peak meter displays.

**Return time**: This determines the speed at which the level peaks run back after a maximum.

**Peak hold (ms)**: With this value you specify how long the level peaks should remain at a maximum. With **Manual** the level peaks remain permanently and are only reset when you reset the visualization (double-click).

**DC filter cut-off frequency**: With this high-pass filter you can filter out a DC voltage component so that it is not included in the peak meter measurement.

**Clipping threshold**: This value specifies the dB value above which a level is displayed as clipping. The range of the scale above this value will be marked in red and also the peak level indicator and the numerical value if you exceed this value.

**Minimum number of clipped samples**: This value specifies how many consecutive samples may be above the clipping threshold before the signal is considered clipped.

Activate True Peak measurement: In True Peak measurement, the measurement is performed with fourfold oversampling.

### **PPM-Meter Scale**

In this tab you can set different display options for the scale of the peak meter.

Scale: Choose here from different presets for scale display with different scale divisions and display characteristics as used in different European countries.

**Reference level (scale offset)**: Set the reference level as an additional scale offset here. The scale offset is added to the value on the scale.

Minimum/Maximum: Here you set the minimum and maximum value of the scale.

**Color settings**: Enter the colors and thresholds for overmodulation(clipping), critical, optimal and undermodulated ranges.



**(i) Note**: The color defined for the undermodulated range is only used if you define a threshold value for the optimal range that is above the level minimum.

#### **VU** Meter

For the VU meter there are settings in this tab analog to the PPM for **Headroom**, integration time and the cutoff frequency for an optional DC filter.

The integration time of a VU meter is typically much longer than that of a PPM meter, since an averaged level is to be displayed.

The checkbox +3dB IEC ensures that the VU level headroom is raised by an additional 3dB in accordance with the standard (DIN IEC 60268) relative to the headroom specified at PPM meter.

i If the peak meter is operated as a pure VU meter, you can also display the current peaks with Display current peak hold

Furthermore, the display of the RMS value can be additionally activated. The RMS value is displayed numerically to the right of the VU scale.

The settings for the **VU meter scale** are similar to those for the PPM meter scale.

#### **Presets for the K-Metering System**

K-metering enables uniform reference volumes for different media especially when mastering under normalized listening conditions. The peak hold display continues to show signal peaks and can be used to avoid clipping.

"K-System" refers to a metering system developed by Bob Katz that has become a standard in mastering audio monitoring. K-System Metering enables uniform calibration and monitoring. You can use it to easily exchange audio material between different studios and have matching monitoring results. With K-System Metering it's not so much the loudness, but rather the musical dynamics that take center stage. Thus, a reference volume is set for the 0 dB level, which no longer corresponds to the maximum level, as was usually the case in the past.

According to the program and audio material, three different meter scales can be used:

- K-20: OdB reference at -20dBFS
   K-20 is recommended for audio with large dynamics such as classical or film sound.
- K-14 : OdB reference at -14dBFS
   K-14 is recommended for rock and pop productions or for surround sound.
- K-12: OdB reference at -12dBFS
   K-12 is recommended for radio and television stations.

The corresponding scale for setting up the monitoring volume is calibrated with pink noise. If you set pink noise to OdB, you get a level of 83dB SPL, a volume reference that originated in the film world.

The corresponding presets for this can be found as VU-Meter Presets **K-12 Broadcast**, **K-14 Music** and **K-20 Cinema** in the Visualization Settings dialog and in the context menu of the peak meter at **Presets**.

## Loudness meter

Loudness is the subjective perception of volume when listening to audio material. This sense varies among listeners, depending on several listening conditions such as level, music style, age and even psychological state.

The **EBU Recommendation R128** is a standard for the standardized measurement of loudness with the aim of harmonizing audio productions and level measurements. R128 is based on the ITU-R BS.1770 standard which was established by the International Telecommunications Union.

The core of the measurement of the average loudness impression is the integrated loudness, averaged over the entire duration of the playback. For standardized loudness, the audio material is normalized to a target value of -23 LUFS according to EBU R128.

If compression is applied in the master, files may be created whose true peak level is slightly or even significantly below the maximum level. In this case, to take full advantage of the dynamic range of the files, the compression must be adjusted to reach the target loudness value. For this you can use the loudness adjustment (*₹*292) in the menu Effects > Amplitude.

٣			3.5	1.2	2.2	l in LU (-23)	TPmaxin dBTP
						0.3	-11.4
	<u>ADAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA</u>	ran a a a a				LRA in LU <b>1</b> . 1	Messdauer
		Momentary COROLINO	M				Gate

By switching to leveling and normalizing by loudness, a consistent loudness level can be achieved that can be maintained throughout the production chain. The end result is an even loudness impression for the listener and audio material that contains fewer artifacts caused by excessive dynamic compression.

EBU Recommendation R128 pays special attention to three parameters that are essential for the characteristics of an audio signal:

Program Loudness - Program Loudness: Long-term integrated loudness over the duration of the audio material - measured in LUFS (Loudness Units, referenced to Full Scale) or in LU (referenced to a target value, e.g. -23 LUFS according to EBU R128). This parameter indicates the average program loudness. It calculates the mean value over the length of the piece.

The LU indicator is the level difference to the target value. For example, a measured value of -20 LUFS corresponds to 3LU difference to a target value of -23 LUFS. The graphic display for the relative program loudness in LU would show +3 in this case.

- Maximum True Peak: The maximum value of the audio signal when measured continuously on the time axis in dBTP. When converting digital signals into analog signals, level peaks may occur which were previously not displayed. Therefore the peak level of a true peak meter is typically shown above that of conventional digital meter (Quasi Peak Program Meter QPPM). The R 128 standard permits a maximum True Peak Value of -1dBTP.
- Loudness Range (LRA): Value changes in the loudness measurements of the audio material - measured in LU (Loudness Units). This value shows the difference between loudest and quietest measured value (silence excluded).

The combination of these parameters allow more dynamic mixes without affecting the loudness.

**Momentary** and **Short Term** are other measures of loudness with shorter integration times (3s for Momentary, 400ms for Short Term) that can be used to assess the loudness of individual sound events.

 $\dot{\psi}$  Further information about EBU Recommendation R128 can be found in the Wikipedia!

#### Loudness meter - Parameters

**I in LUFS/LU**: Program loudness value for the "Integrated Loudness" in measured loudness units (LU).



LRA in LU: Loudness Range, measured in LU as a relative value.



True Peak TPmax in dBTP: Peak level measured with oversampling.



Using Oversampling-True Peak Metering according to ITU-R BS.1770 true peaks can be ascertained (dBTP - referenced on Digital Full Scale). The measurement accuracy depends on the oversampling frequency. Oversampling Peak Meters create a good estimate for an audio signal's True Peak.

The R 128 standard permits a maximum True Peak Value of -1dBTP.

**Measurement Duration**: Time indication for the duration of the entire loudness measurement so far - i.e. of program loudness and loudness range.

With the three buttons below you can interrupt the measurement (Pause button), continue (Play button) or reset (Reset button **X**). Pressing the reset button resets all display values.

#### 00:00:05 🖂 🖻 🔳

If the **Gate** indicator in the lower right corner is lit, the level is too low for a certain time. The measuring algorithm then excludes these values from the calculation of the integrated value assuming these parts are silent and therefore can be omitted.



**Loudness Meter - Settings** 

**Basic settings** 

With **Loudness standard** you set the standard the loudness meter should follow. If you select **User** as the loudness standard, you can freely adjust all parameters. If, on the other hand, you select **EBU R128** or **ITU-R BS. 1771**, the parameters are preset according to the selected standard. Parameters prescribed by the standard are grayed out and cannot be changed.

Specified for EBU R128 is the **target loudness** -23 LUFS. This level represents the default value for content production in broadcasting.

**Clipping Threshold**: Set the clipping level, i.e. from what point clipping should be indicated. This value is prescribed to -1dB for EBU R128. This leads to the fact that, for example, a measured True Peak peak level of -0.8 dBTP is already displayed as clipped.

**Automatic reset after play start**: With this option you reset the measurement every time you start playback. This option corresponds to the "Reset" button in the display.

#### **Measuring instruments**

In the **Measuring Instruments** tab you can configure which numeric displays, instruments and other controls should be displayed in the Loudness Meter.

Preset:	)efault		- Save	Load	Delete			
General	Loudness meter	Measuring instruments	Loudness scale	Measurem	ent p 💶 🕨			
Nun	Numerical display							
✓ I - Program loudness								
IRA - Loudness range								
Maximum True Peak value								
Time display								
	Control bar							
	Gate indicator							
Bar	Bar graphs							
	Momentary		📄 Peak hold					
	Short-term Display maximu							
	Program loudness (Integrated)							
Progress display								
Disp	played value:		Momentary	•	-			
Proj	gress length:		60		s			
Enable "Loudness compact view"								
Apply OK Cancel					Cancel			

**Numerical display**: Select the different measurement values for the numerical display, the display of the control bar for starting and pausing the measurement and the gate indicator, which are all displayed on the right of the dialog.

**Bar graphs**: Select which of the three measured variables Momentary , Short and Integrated Loudness should be displayed as bar graphs in the center and whether the maximum values should be displayed numerically or as a peak hold indicator.

**Progress display**: For the Progress graph, select which measurement - **Momentary**, **Short Term**, **Integrated**, **LRA** (Loudness Range) or **M + S** (Momentary + Short) - should be displayed. **Off** hides the Progress display altogether. With the **Progress length** you define which time duration the Progress display represents.

**Enable "Loudness compact view"** : This switches the loudness meter to a simplified view without progress and bar graphs.

Max. True Peak in dBTP	0.9	Program Loudness in LU (-23)	
Loudness Range (LRA) in LU	10.2	9 7	
Max. Momentary in LU	12.0	0.2	
Max. Short-Term in LU	8.7	Master Normalize	
		00:00:14 🔀 🕒 🔳	

#### Loudness Scale

In the tab **Loudness scale** you can select different standardized scales. This also defines the value range of the display. For example, the entry **EBU R128 +9** means that the scaling display extends to +9 LU. At **Scale range** you can set the limits of the LU scales individually.

At **Color Settings** you can define color codes as well as threshold values for the overdriven range, the tolerance range around the target value, the normal range and the undermodulated range.

#### **Measurement Parameters**

In the **Measurement Parameters tab** you can set the time parameters for the **Momentary** measurement and **Short** measurement, the gate thresholds for the **Integrated** measurement, and the lower and upper limits of the **Loudness Range (LRA)** measurement. The specified default values for EBU R128 are especially marked.

**i** These standardized values are initially locked to prevent them from being changed accidentally. They can only be changed if you first select **default** at **Preset**.

In case of a future change of the standards and additional requirements of the broadcasters, you can adjust the affected values here and save them as new presets. Absolute and relative values are displayed in relation to the selected scale. L or LK denote relative scales, LUFS and LKFS denote absolute scales.

# Surround meter

The surround meter displays the levels based on the surround presets or angles set in the surround settings (2543). It shows each speaker's level in a polygon on a sound representative area.



### Phase Oscilloscope (Vectorscope)


The Phase Oscilloscope gives you information about the distribution of the stereo image in your recording. A mono recording would be displayed as a vertical bar in this view. A stereo signal is by contrast shown as "diffuse ball," because multiple instruments were assigned to the mix in different panoramic positions.

The wider the display, the wider the stereo field of the recording. Note that this means that components of the signal are in phase opposition. The signal is less mono-compatible, as these signal components cancel each other out during mono playback.

If the signal display tends to be diagonal the stereo mix is not balanced. A channel would be accordingly louder than the other.

#### **Settings dialog**

You can select different **grid lines**: **LR** (left-right), **MS** (mid-side), **LRMS** (LR+MS) and **Calibrate** to calibrate signals.

Due to the **Pre-amplification mode** the image is always automatically enlarged in such a way that the readability of the distribution of the signal in the stereo image remains guaranteed even at different levels. You can also switch off this mode and set a constant amplification factor instead.

The curve is drawn on top of each other, only after a certain time older traces fade away, resulting in a graph that "averages" over a certain time. **Speed** determines how fast the curve fades. The slower, the denser and more diffuse the representation becomes. Finally, you can also set the **Color** of the curve.

### **Correlation Meter**



With the correlation meter you can read phase shifts between the two stereo channels and thus the degree of mutual cancellation of signal components with 180° phase difference. If the signal indicator is in the left, red area between 90° and 180°, the signal is no longer reproduced properly in mono.

In the settings dialog, you can specify the colors for the mono range, stereo range and monoincompatible range in the **color settings** and also the threshold values from when a signal is considered stereo and from when it is no longer mono-compatible.

## **Direction meter**



The Direction meter displays the signal's detected direction. The width of the plot corresponds to the degree of correlation.

In the settings dialog, you can specify the colors for the mono range, stereo range and monoincompatible range in the **color settings** and also the threshold values from when a signal is considered stereo and from when it is no longer mono-compatible.



# Spectroscope

In the spectroscope, the signal is split into individual frequency ranges (frequency bands). The height of each frequency band displays the volume of the relevant frequency range. This way you can tell if certain frequency bands are over-represented.

#### **Spectroscope Settings**

**Line/bar representation**: Select the desired display type from the list box. Default is **Filled** (smoothed). If you choose **Line (smoothed)** the area under the line is not filled, if you choose **Line** the points are connected by straight lines instead of interpolated curves. If you select one of the numbers, the corresponding number of **bars** will be displayed instead of a line.

Ballistics (only for bars): There are three different modes of bar display.

**Stereo Options**: Left+Right is set as the default (i.e. mono sum). It is also possible to set up two spectroscopes, one each representing the left and the right signal. The side signal can also be represented by selecting Left-Right.

**FFT parameters**: Here you can set the parameters for determining the spectral values by changing **FFT size,overlap** and **window function**.

Time constants: The time constants correspond to those of the peak meter (PPM).

i The settings of the **Spectroscope Scales** correspond to those of the Peak meter (#568).

### Spectrogram

		22k
		20k
		18k
		16k
		14k
No. 2 100 728		12k
		10k
		8k
		6k
and the second		4k
		2k
	and the second second	Ok

In the spectrogram, the signal is represented as frequency components over time. The volume of frequencies is visualized by its brightness. The spectrogram is suitable for identifying noise in recordings that cannot be easily identified acoustically. They are highlighted with colors in the spectrogram.

In the settings you can define the **FFT parameters** and the analyzed **Stereo channels** as in the Spectroscope. For mapping the levels of the individual bands of the spectrum to the brightness values, various **Color schemes** can be selected in the view options. The option **Logarithmic** selects a different mapping formula and produces a slightly brighter graph.

### **Bit Meter**



The bit meter shows you with which bitrate the played signal is calculated and which maximum processing rate is possible.

### Oscilloscope



The oscilloscope displays the signal amplitude over time, i.e. the waveform. This has no practical use, but looks quite pretty :)

## Tuner



The tuner displays the pitch of the analyzed signal. Use the visualization to tune your guitar or other instrument.

The pitch of each string is shown large in the center of the display. The calibration marks show the deviation of the played to the exact pitch. Red triangles on the right and left show whether you need to tune the string higher or lower. With exact tuning the triangles turn green.

In the preset operating mode **Chromatic** the tuner displays the pitch of the notes played in semitone steps. From the list box at the top you can select common tunings for guitar, bass and ukulele. Then only the relevant pitches of the strings for the respective instrument in the corresponding tuning are displayed.

This is how you tune your guitar:

- 1. Select the track to whose input the guitar is connected.
- Open the visualization window (menu View or keyboard shortcut Ctrl + Alt + Shift + V) and select the visualization Tuner in the context menu (right click).
- 3. In the visualization window, click the arrow in the upper left corner and select **Track** visualization (current track).
- 4. Make sure that monitoring  $(\cancel{7}711)$  is active for the track.

5. The pitch of each string played is shown large in the center of the display. The calibration marks show the deviation of the played to the exact pitch. Red triangles to the right and left show the direction the strings should be tuned. If the tuning is exact, the triangles turn green.

# Wave Editing

With *Wave editing*, you no longer edit the objects in the virtual project, but the audio files themselves stored on your hard disk. This type of audio editing is also called "destructive" or "offline" editing.

Audio objects refer to audio files that are open in the background. They refer to the audio data and contain working instructions on how to process this data, i.e. which audio data from the file to use and how to process it with effects.

In **Sequoia**, therefore, all simple editing of individual, finished audio files, such as shortening, cutting, mastering, in other words: the classic applications of a wave editor, can generally also be done in a virtual project. Load your audio file into a project, make the necessary edits to the object, and export the project back to an audio file.

For certain applications, however, it can still be faster and less complicated to edit the audio material directly: For example, if ready-mixed audio files are only to be shortened or recorded raw material is to be cut in advance, i.e. the audio material is to be deliberately changed on the hard disk in order to gain storage space and work more performantly with smaller files. The additional work steps: Creating a project, importing the file and final export are not required.

Also, for audio files used in a virtual project, it can sometimes be helpful to access the audio data directly. An example: you have made a recording, edited different takes together, and in the result you have a large number of objects accessing the same audio file. Now you discover a noise that affects the entire recording. You would now have to make edits to each object separately to eliminate the noise, if you were working purely virtual. At this point it is easier to directly process the audio file, e.g. with the FFT filter. After that all objects use the corrected material.

# Loading Audio Files for Audio Editing

To edit audio files directly in **Sequoia**, open them as a wave project:

Select Menu File > Import > Load audio file.... (Keyboard shortcut: W) If a virtual project is already selected, you must activate the option Load file as wave project in the file selection dialog, otherwise the file will be imported as an object into this project instead.

Drag audio files from the Sequoia file manager or Windows Explorer to the title bar of the program window or project docker.

To open the **audio file of an object in a virtual project**, double-click it while holding the **Shift** key. Alternatively, you can also select the option **Edit audio data** > **Wave Editing...** in the **Object** menu.



The range in the audio file used by the object is selected as range in the wave project.

If you edit an audio file that is used in several objects with **Wave editing...**, all objects in the VIP will then access the edited audio file and the edits will affect each of these objects.

If you want to edit the audio file only for a specific object, select **Object** > **Edit audio data** > **Edit copy of wave project...**. **Sequoia** will create a copy of the audio material and add this to the project folder. The selected object now refers to the copy that has been created. After editing, the edited copy and the original file are available as Take (?346) of the object.

# **Destructive and Real-time Wave Editing**

Audio editing can be done in two different modes: Destructive wave editing and Real-time wave editing.

The destructive wave editing (also called offline editing) is the default mode when using the menu command Object > Edit audio data > Wave editing... or Shift + double-click to open the audio file associated with an object.

 You can change this default behavior by activating the option Open audio files in destructive editing mode in the program settings at Program > General.

 Audio files (e.g. wave files) that are opened directly via the file menu or the File manager in a separate project window (menu File > Import > Load audio file...) open by default in Real-time wave editing mode. Regardless of how the audio file was loaded, you can switch between the two modes using Menu **File** > **Project Properties** > **Destructive Wave Editing Mode**. In destructive mode the wave project is marked in the title bar with the addition **-destructive**.



You can also recognize the mode by the changed background color. In the picture you can see the same wave project in destructive mode on the left, and in real-time mode on the right.

#### **Destructive Editing**

In destructive mode audio files are edited directly on the hard drive. Changes in the project are immediately written to the audio file. To undo edits in this mode with **Ctrl + Z**, the function **Undo enabled** must be on for audio files in the **Program preferences** under **Program > Undo**.

**1** It is not possible to delete audio material from the audio file that is currently used by audio objects in the project.

#### **Real-time Wave Editing**

Real-time wave editing is a compromise between working in the virtual project and destructive editing, combining the advantages of editing directly on the audio material with the advantages of non-destructive virtual working you are used to with objects in virtual projects.

The audio file is opened in its own wave project window, just as in destructive mode, and can be edited there in exactly the same way. In contrast to destructive editing you will notice the following differences:

All editing functions (cut, copy, delete and paste) are non-destructive. Operations are performed much faster because no data is written to disk and no data needs to be copied for the undo function. All changes are made only when the audio file is saved and then included in the audio file as a whole.

() The positions where these operations are performed are marked with dotted lines.

-ŷ- The auto-crossfade option (≈176) can be enabled for any cut or paste operation during real-time audio editing. The crossfades are marked by lines in the waveform. However, the crossfades cannot be edited.

- Real-time effects: For the wave project there is a Mixer window reduced to the master channel (keyboard shortcut M). The effects of the master channel (master plug-ins, EQ, stereo enhancer) can be used in real time as in virtual projects, can be combined and adjusted during playback. Applying effects to the audio file also happens only when saving the wave project.
  - (i) Note: The application of the effects of the menu *Effects* happens immediately and destructively also in the real-time editing mode. Read the section Destructive effect calculation (*№*237) in the Effects chapter.
- Volume curve: If you select the mouse mode Draw volume ✓ or Draw automation ✓, you can draw a volume automation curve in the project window.

# Working in Wave Projects

The audio file will be opened in a separate window (wave project). In the title bar of the wave project window, you will see the name of the file, the bit resolution, the length of the sample and the resulting required memory. Navigation and playback controls with zoom, scroll, range and marker functions are the same as for virtual projects.

Wave projects are played back using the standard audio output device. You can set it at **Program Preferences > System Options > Playback**. (Keyboard shortcut: P)

**Mouse modes**: All mouse modes are available that are useful in the context of editing wave projects: The range mode is replaces the preset universal mode and is used for range selection. The Draw volume and the Draw automation modes is can be used to draw a volume curve in the real-time wave editing mode (\$\sigma 583\$). In Destructive wave editing mode, the volume drawing mode lets you edit the volume directly. Scrubbing mode is , Zoom mode and Spectral mode is work as in virtual projects. The Draw wave mode is (see below) is only available in wave projects.

**Editing**: The same range-related editing functions (P125) as in the VIP can be executed via the **Edit** menu and the corresponding keyboard shortcuts.

**Effects**: The effects of the Effects menu are applied "offline". Please refer to the notes at Destructive effect calculation (240).

**Creating a new wave project by drag & drop**: To create a new wave project as a copy of a part or the whole audio file, select a part or the whole audio data (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + A**) and drag it from the project window to a free area of the program background.

**Import an open wave project into a virtual project**: A wave project or a range from a wave project can be imported into a simultaneously opened virtual project. Activate the desired wave project window, select a range in it if necessary and activate the VIP immediately afterwards.

Menu **Object** > **More** > **New Object** inserts the wave project or the range selected in it as a new object in the VIP in the selected track at the play cursor position.

#### **Waveform Drawing**



In wave projects, you can use the mouse mode **Draw wave** to draw in the waveform of a file. The waveform display shows a suitable zoom level, and the mouse pointer becomes a pencil. Changing the waveform in the wave project window is suitable for manually correcting individual very short glitches or drop-outs.

### **Converting Mono/Stereo**

Under Menu **File** > **Advanced export** > **Convert Mono/Stereo** there are two commands for wave projects only, with which you can split stereo wave projects into two mono files and vice versa.

Stereo Wave > 2 Mono: This saves the left and right channel of a stereo wave project (File.wav) each separately in a mono file (File\_Left.wav, File\_Right.wav).

The function can also be applied to objects in the project. In this case, the objects with stereo files are replaced by two superimposed objects with mono files each, whose panorama positions are set to left and right.

2 Mono > Stereo Wave: This allows two mono audio files to be combined into one stereo audio file. The command opens a dialog that displays all open mono files. With Load file you can load additional files. Select the right and left files from the opened audio files using the ^ buttons. With the button <-> you can swap the channels. Click Merge and specify the name of the new stereo file that will be created in the project folder.

i Note that only files with the same bit depth and sample rate can be connected. The files can be of different length, the resulting length is equal to the longer of the two files.

# Build Loop (offline)

This function is only available for wave projects and helps to create loops that are as seamless as possible. To do this, select an area that should correspond approximately to the finished loop. To find suitable loop areas, start playback in Loop mode and move the area limits to optimize loop playback.

-☆- The menu option *View* > *Sections* > *Split range* can be used very well for this purpose. This displays the wave project in three sections (∥112), with additional view windows for the range boundaries.

Now select the menu **Effects** > **Sample manipulation** > **Build physical loop (offline)**. The function sets the limits of the range to the zero crossings ( $\nearrow$ 123) in order to avoid value jumps at the range limits, which would otherwise be audible as clicks. In addition, the audio material at the end of the loop is cross-faded with audio material from before the start of the loop to ensure a smooth transition from the end of the loop to the start of the loop.

To define the length of the crossfade, set a marker in front of the selected range; the audio material between the marker and the start of the range is then used for the crossfade. Please note that the distance from the marker to the start of the range must not be greater than the range itself so that a crossfade is possible.

# CDs and DVDs

You can import the content of an audio CD or audio DVD to **Sequoia**. For audio CDs the metadata of the tracks is taken over or can be determined via the gnudb online CD database.

You can burn any virtual or wave project directly from Sequoia onto audio CDs or DVDs.

In addition to labeling the individual CD tracks when burning a project, the CD track indices are also used to add metadata for export into MP3 or other compressed formats.

To burn the project in other software, projects can be exported as a wave file with an additional .cue or TOC file containing the position and metadata of the CD tracks.

For digital transfer to a pressing plant in the form of DDP files, you can start the supplied external software **DDP Export** from **Sequoia**.

-☆- To display the buttons for the CD project editing functions on the top toolbar, select the workspace (₱56) *Mastering* 

# Importing Audio CDs and DVDs

Importing audio data from an audio CD or DVD is done completely in the digital domain without any sound loss. The titles are saved as wave files during import and inserted into the project as objects.

#### Importing Audio CDs

To import audio CD tracks into a virtual project, choose Menu **File** > **Import** > **Import Audio CD Track(s)...**. The CD Import dialog opens:

			_				
Title	Start Time	Length	ISRC	Name	Artist	Copy selecte	d Tracks
01	00:03:00	04:49:16		Conquest Of Par	Vangelis		
02	04:52:16	04:08:07		Pulstar	Vangelis	00:00 Track	1
03	09:00:23	04:33:34		Eric's Theme	Vangelis		
04	13:33:57	02:55:33		Italian Song	Vangelis	₩ ▶ Ⅱ	
05	16:29:15	03:27:58		Rotations Logic	Vangelis		
06	19:56:73	05:01:30		The Will Of The	Vangelis	Read Start	Read End
07	24:58:28	04:03:43		Hymne	Vangelis	fiedu Statt	Hedd Life
08	29:01:71	05:40:07		Elsewhere	Vangelis		
09	34:42:03	06:03:23		Apocalypse Des	Vangelis	Tracks selected: 0 Duration: 0:00	
10	40:45:26	02:47:29		The Tao Of Love	Vangelis	Memory: 0 B	
11	43:32:55	03:33:73		The Unknown	Vangelis		
12	47:06:53	05:49:21		L'Opera Sauvage	Vangelis	Select <u>a</u> ll Tracks	gnudb title info
13	52:55:74	03:23:18		Chariots Of Fire	Vangelis		-
14	56:19:17	04:49:07		I Hear You Now	Vangelis	ASUS DRV	V-24D5MT
15	61:08:24	04:00:64		Theme From Ant	Vangelis	1303 011	12403011
16	65:09:13	04:17:12		I'll Find My Way	Vangelis	Maximum $\sim$	
<					>	CD Drive	Options
UPC/8 CD Na CD Art	EAN: ame: tist:	00000000 Conquest ( Vangelis	0000 Xf Paradise	(played by Allegro Milano) 1969	)	Devel ISDC	True Ma
CD inse	Disported Disport CD Tarak Madvas				Head ISRC	lext file	
					Help	Close	
Auto Crossfade Mode Import ISRC ar			Import ISRC and Pause Ma	nxer		_	

- 1. If you have more than one drive installed, click the **CD Drive Options** button and select the desired CD drive. Above the button you can see the name of the selected drive.
- 2. The content of the CD is displayed in the track list. Click gnudb title info to retrieve CD title information from the online CD database gnudb.With Read ISRC you can take over the ISRC codes from the CD, if available. With Text file... you open the system text editor with a text file containing this title information.
- **3.** If you select a track in the list, you can use the playback control to preview the CD track. You can use the slider to access a specific position. To import only a part of a CD track, click at the beginning of the section **Read start** and at the end **Read end**.
- 4. To select multiple titles use the Shift and Ctrl keys, for all titles click **Select all tracks**.

- 5. Some options can be set for the import:
  - Auto crossfade mode: Auto crossfade mode is activated in the project and crossfades are created between the imported titles.
  - Import CD track indices: If this option is enabled, CD track indices are set in the project. The markers contain the metadata from the track list so that when you subsequently export to other formats that support metadata (MP3, CD Text when burning to a CD...) you preserve this information.
  - Import ISRC and Pause indices: The ISRC codes are also transferred to the CD track indices and the CD pause indices are also read from the CD.
- 6. Click Copy selected tracks....
- 7. The **Import Audio** dialog opens. Choose a file name for the audio file. With **File type** and Format settings you can also select a file type other than .wav and thus convert the CD tracks to MP3 already during import, for example.

By default, all CD tracks are saved into one file and only objects per each track are created. If you choose the option Each track in its own file with names, you can select different naming schemes in the menu below that derive the file name from the metadata.

8. Clicking **OK** will copy the audio from the CD drive to your hard disk. You can now copy more tracks from the CD or insert another CD or close the dialog.

#### Importing Audio DVDs

To import audio data from audio DVDs, select CD/DVD or via menu File > Import > Import Audio DVD....

In the dialog **Import DVD-Audio** you proceed exactly as in the dialog **CD import** (see above). However, it is not possible to read in only parts of an audio DVD title, the controls for metadata and title indexes (gnudb, ISRC) do not exist for Audio DVDs.

Importing the audio track(s) from a video DVD is not possible!

### Search Title Information Online

With the online CD title database **gnudb** the title information for an imported CD can be retrieved from the Internet. This query is based on the exact combination of the exact track lengths and order of the tracks on a CD. This also works if the tracks are loaded into the project individually (e.g. as MP3 files) and are in the right order. The track lengths can also deviate by a few seconds from the exact track length, but in general the correct CD is still recognized.

The gnudb title query is available via:

- the button gnudb title info in the dialog Import CD. Here, the database query is based on the track lengths of the inserted CD,
- the button **gnudb title info** in the dialog **Make CD**,
- Menu CD/DVD > Get gnudb title info.... In this case, the search is performed using the CD track indices available in the project.

#### gnudb Options

In case the query does not work, various settings can be made in the menu **CD/DVD** > **gnudb options**:

- gnudb user data: This sets the user data that Sequoia will use when requesting the gnudb. The use of the gnudb is anonymous and the user data is actually arbitrary, but the gnudb may need to handle many requests at once and therefore must be able to identify users. If you have problems accessing because someone happens to access gnudb at the same time using the same preset data, you can change it here.
- gnudb proxy options: If you have problems connecting to the gnudb server, you can choose another server from the list here if necessary or, as a first workaround, set the timeout value higher. An increased work load causes the server to react slowly and a connection cannot be made properly.
- clear gnudb cache: The gnudb online database creates a cache on the local hard disk. The cache contains all files that have already been imported via gnudb online. If necessary, this data can be accessed again at any time without always having to be online. However, you may wish to delete this cache at some point, for example, if it contains erroneous files or if new files are made available online.

#### Search CD Title Online

The gnudb title search can also be used if the exact title lengths are not known, because, for example, after a recording from cassette or record, there is only one large file in which all titles are available one after the other without title indices. Although you can use the function Menu **CD/DVD** > **Indices** > **Indices after silence...** to determine the track lengths based on the pauses, this does not work very well when the tracks segue into each other.

But if you know the album the tracks are from, you can also find out the track names and exact lengths by querying the gnudb CD database online. To do this, proceed as follows:

- 1. Place the recording in the first track.
- From the menu CD/DVD > Search CD online and set track indices..... The Search CD online dialog opens.

Search for CD online	$\times$
Search for your CD manually using the CD name or the artist. The trackmarkers will then be opened from the online database.	
Open Internet search page	
Was your search successful? Once you click on the "Disc-ID" link for your desired CD, you will receive a text site with the title data.	
Copy the Internet link from your browser into the following text field:	1
(e.g. https://gnudb.org/gnudb/rock/940c260b)	
Set CD track marker again	
Apply CD title data <u>Cancel H</u> elp	

- 3. Start up your Internet browser and go to the gnudb search page by pressing the **Open Internet search page** button.
- 4. Enter the name of the album or band into the search field. One or more albums matching the search query will be listed. If you know that a certain album fits your recording, then click on **Details**. It will display the CD track list you were looking for alongside other details.
- 5. Click the link at Disc ID (an 8-digit number/letter combination, e.g. bf102c0e). The gnudb record for this CD is displayed.
- 6. Copy the URL (Internet link) from the address bar of your browser onto the clipboard.
- 7. Go back to **Sequoia** and paste the Internet link into the text box at the bottom of the dialog. Then click on **Apply CD title data**. The CD title indices with the corresponding names are set in the project.

Attention: It may happen that the length of the first track does not match the track length provided by the database if the first track starts very quietly (e.g. intro or applause in live recordings) and thus the start of the recording was too late. As a result, all track markers will be a little bit too far back. In this case, move the second track marker forward while holding down the Ctrl-key; all subsequent track markers will then be moved by the same amount and should be positioned appropriately at the start of each track.

# **Editing Track Indices and Metadata**

Use the Track Indices (also called Track Markers) to divide a project into individual tracks for burning to CD or exporting to multiple individual files.

They can be edited in detail in the CD-Index-Manager (2594), CD Title Indexes can store metadata other than the marker name.

#### Setting Individual Track Indices

Place the play cursor at the desired position and set track indices using the commands in the menu **CD/DVD** > **Indices** or these buttons. The numbering of already set, subsequent indices is automatically adjusted.

#### V V V V III 12345

To display the track index buttons, select the workspace (756) Mastering.



Shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + I

- Set CD Sub indices are used to mark individual sections within a track and can be accessed by some CD players.
   Index
- Set CD The CD pause index is a special sub index (index 0) used to mark the end of a CD track. At this point, some CD players switch to absolute silence during playback until the next track index, and the time in the display runs as a countdown to the start of the next track.



4 Set CD This index marks the end of the CD. When burning and by default when exporting, the project is used from the project start to the end of the last object. If the last object still has a reverb tail after it ends, place a CD end marker at an appropriate distance from the end of the last object to ensure that this audio is exported with it.

You can also use the end index to specify the end of an export to keep additional audio material behind it, such as unused recordings and other material in the project that should not included in the export.

 $\dot{\phi}$  You can also specify the starting point for burning and exporting, because it always starts at the first CD track index, which does not have to be at the project start.

**5** Set

This function inserts track indices at each object in the project. In the submenu Set indices at object edges - Options some additional options Track indices for this function can be set by selecting the corresponding menu item:

at object edges

- Also set pause indices at object ends: This option creates pause indexes at the object ends in addition to the track indexes.
- Time offset for indices at object edges: Select here a time interval with which the indices are set before the object edges.
- No indexes at object crossfades: With this option, no indexes are created at objects that are blended to the previous object via a crossfade.

If the audio files of the objects contain metadata like artist, title, album... (ID3 tags of MP3 files) or ISRC codes from Broadcast Wave files (\$\nother 670)\$, this function transfers them to the track indices.

Use the menu option **Remove Index** to delete an index from the project. To select it, place the play cursor on the index position. Remove all indexes (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Alt + Shift + I) removes all indexes.

The menu option **Set track indices after silence...** opens a special version of the dialog Set markers after silence ( $\nearrow$ 117), which lets you set CD track indices automatically based on detected pauses in the audio material.

### Managing Metadata via Track Indices

**CD Track Indices** were originally intended only for dividing a project into individual titles before burning to CD. With the ability to burn CD text, the indices gained the ability to store the title of a CD track and other metadata. Even though CD burning has become less important than exporting to compressed formats, Sequoia still uses the CD track indices to store such metadata.

Use the function **Set indexes at object edges** to transfer metadata from the objects' audio files to CD track indexes. Afterwards, this data can be edited via the **CD-Text/ID3-Editor**. To export the project to individual files and, in the process, enter the CD track index data in the metadata (ID3 tags) of the exported files, select the option **Each CD track to a file** in the Export dialog (*P*683) at **Split at markers**.

<ul> <li>Source</li> </ul>		
Routing:	Master	~
Track/Object selection:	All audible tracks	~
	Object pre-roll/post-roll: 0	
Time selection:	From project start to last object	~
	Split at markers: Each CD track in a file	~

#### Editing Metadata with the CD Text/ID3 Editor

Via menu **CD/DVD** or button **CD Text** in the **CD Index Manager** you open the dialog **CD Text/ID3 Editor**, where you can edit the metadata of the CD track indices.

The track names correspond to the name of the CD track indices in the project. All other information can only be displayed in this dialog.

Selection:	Disc / Album Track 01 - 071:01:337	^	Previous Track		<u>0</u> K
	Track 02 - 215:04:117 Track 03 - 339:04:189 Track 04 - 475:03:153		Next Track		Cancel
	Track 05 - 564:02:107 Track 06 - 668:01:317 Track 07 - 818:04:240	Ļ	Copy Data to <u>a</u> ll Trac	ks	Load
CDText memory:	2393 letters still available		Refresh memory disp	lay	Save
rack 2					
<u>T</u> itle:	Pulstar		Genre: (CD Text)		
A <u>r</u> tist:	Vangelis		Genre: Easy L (MP3 ID)	istening	×
Song Writer:			Closed/Year:		
Composer:					
Arranger / Publisher:			Disc ID:		
			Supplemental		

Note: The maximum number of usable characters for a CD is 2824. At CD Text Memory, the available remaining number of characters is displayed. After making changes, click Recalculate Display to update the display.

Write ID3 tags to original files: If the metadata comes from MP3 files loaded into the project, this button allows you to write changes made in this dialog back to the MP3 files in question without having to export them separately. With the button **All** you cause this for all such MP3 files in the project.

i To do this, the objects must be on the first track and exactly at the marker positions.

#### **CD** Index Manager

50	Marker	Source Marker	In/Out Point	CD Index Options		Individual Offset
Hiter:	CD Track	CD Subindex	CD Pause	Preemphasis		Line Global CD Offeret
T: 1	00:00:00	I'd Love to Change th	e World 🔺	Copy Protection	on	Use Global CD Oliset
T: 2	00:03:43	How Long		Sec. Gen. Pro	đ.,	
T: 3	00:07:08	Just the Two of Us		_		Offect: mr
T: 4	00:14:26	The Things We Do Fe	or Love	ISRC Code:		onact. ms
T: 5	00:17:58	Adios				
T: 6	00:20:47	Perfidia				Individual Offset of the marked
T: 7	00:23:56	Pepito		Apply to a	I Indices	CD index
T: 8	00:26:54	Pajaro Campana				
1:9	00:30:08	Hard Drive Gold				
1:10	00:32:47	We Used to Know		Global CD Offsets		
T-12	00:36:45	Laste of My Love				
T.12	00.40.15	Tertakel		Default Offset:	0 mr	Put ahead track starts after silence;
T-14	00.43.55	Termode			0 112	delay pause starts
T-15	00.51.01	Sauesky's Blues		Splice Offset:	0 ms	Put ahead track starts on contiguous
T-16	00:57:13	Mack The Knife			•	material
T-17	01-02-29	Roundalay				
T:18	01 06 24	Caravan		Daving (		
T:19	01:09:40	Black Pearl		CD End Offerty	0 ms	
T:20	01:13:25	My Only Man		CD End Oliset;	0	
T:21	01:20:24	Icke & Er				
T:22	01:23:55	Mister Magic				
T:23	01:32:56	A Story Untold		Create		Delete
T:24	01:37:11	Jump	~			
	HMC			Marker	CD <u>T</u> rack	Delete selected Marker
				CD C Aradau	CD 0	Dalata al Madaan
		Move track		CD Subindex	CD Pause	Delete al Markers
Play Mark	ter Stop	<< >>	Advanced >>	Input Mar	kerlist	
Play Loo	p CD Text	<u>H</u> elp	Qose			Text file Show TOC

Keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + Alt + D

In this dialog all markers and CD indices of the project are listed. The **Filter** buttons at the very top of the dialog allow you to show only certain marker/index types. Select an index to change its position and name in the input fields below.

**Play marker** starts playback from the position of the selected marker. **Play Loop** plays a range (pre-roll + post-roll time) looped at the marker position. **Stop** stops playback.

With **CD Text** you open the **CD Text/ID3 Editor** (*№*593), which allows you to edit additional metadata of a CD track.

Use the arrow buttons at **Move track** to change the order of the CD tracks. This also moves the audio material at the title index if it is on the first track.

If you click the button **Advanced**, more options will be displayed:

**CD Index Settings**: Here you can set different flags for the CD tracks: **Preemphasis**, **Copy Protection (SCMS)** and **Second Generation Protection**.

**Preemphasis** means that when the CD is created, the high frequencies are boosted before A/D conversion. During the A/D conversion itself, high-frequency quantization noise is always generated. The audio signal is now written to the CD with the treble boost. During playback, the CD player detects the preemphasis flag and corrects this frequency boost again, resulting in a reduction of quantization noise. In practice, preemphasis is very rarely used because the signal-to-noise ratio during CD creation is already so large that quantization noise is negligible.

You can enter **ISRC code** for each title. With **Apply to all indices** you can transfer the ISRC code to all indices and increase the numerical value by 1, 10, 100 or 1000 in each case. Furthermore, you can transfer the flags individually or collectively to the indices.

**Preemphasis**, **copy protection (SCMS)**, and **second generation protection** may be transferred and copied together for all indexes.

**CD offsets** shift indices relative to their position in the project during the CD burning process to ensure that a track start is played back correctly.

Due to technical limitations, there are delays when playing a track in a CD player compared to latency-free playback on a computer. A CD player needs a certain amount of time between triggering playback and outputting the audio signal at the output. On the CD, the title, pause and end indices should therefore be set somewhat earlier or later than in the corresponding project.

**Note**: Title indices are shifted to the left by the selected time span, end and pause indices to the right.

**Individual Offset**: If you disable **Use Global CD Offset**, you can apply an individual offset value for each track or pause index.

**Global CD Offsets**: The same offset values are applied to all indices. Title indices are written earlier, pause and end indices later.

- Default Offset: Offset value for track indices with silence between tracks. A common value here is about 160...200 ms (12...15 CD frames).
- **Splice Offset**: For direct transitions, without silence between titles, a lower offset value is applied. A common value here is about 67 ms (5 CD frames).
- Pause/CD end offset: Offset value for pause and end indices.

**Create**: Using the corresponding buttons you can create **markers**, **CD tracks**, **CD sub indices** or **CD pause indices**. The index is created at the current play cursor position, its position can

then be changed in the time input field. **Marker list input...** ( $\nearrow$ 119) opens the dialog for quick input of markers from a list.

At **Delete** selected or all markers can be deleted. **Text file...** opens the system text editor with a text file listing all markers and positions (Marker List Export ( $\nearrow$ 344)). Only the marker and CD index types selected at **Filter** above will be exported. **Show TOC...** opens a text window where you can format the TOC as a text file with various options and then pass it to an external text editor in \*.rtf format.

# **CD** Arrangement Mode

This mode activates two automatic mechanisms that make it easier to create projects for burning CDs . You can activate the CD Arrangement mode via the menu CD/DVD > CDArrangement mode or in the general project options (2659)

A default pause of two seconds is inserted between audio files loaded consecutively into the first track. The length of the inserted pauses can be changed via Menu CD/DVD >

#### Set pause time....

With the function Menu CD/DVD > **Set start-pause time...** you set the length of the pause before the first track. The standardized value is 2 seconds and should only be changed in exceptional cases. The start pause time is not visible in the project and is only inserted during burning.

You can change the order of CD tracks by dragging and dropping the track indices of the project. As soon as you drag a title index to another position in front of or behind another title index, an object on the first track located at this title index is moved to this position and the other objects and title indexes are adapted accordingly.

Sort CD T	racks
Do you want to place the 4 before the 3. Track	4. Track "Italian Song" "Eric's Theme" ?
Don't show this message ag	ain
Continue	<u>C</u> ancel

### **Create Audio CD**

To create an audio CD from the active project, choose Menu **CD/DVD** > **Create Audio CD...** or click this button on the top toolbar.

The **Make CD** dialog opens.

œ

Mode		
Bum "On The Fly", All FX	are calculated in real time (	(non destructive)
O Generate a complete new	file for the whole CD (non (	destructive)
O Burn MP3 CD/DVD:		
MP3 $\sim$ N	/IP3 192 kBit/s Stereo	Format options
Options	TOC	Export
Dithering (Triang.)		Export DDP
gnudb title info	Show TOC	Export TOC
	<u>B</u> um CD <u>C</u> a	ancel <u>H</u> elp

**Mode**: There are three different modes how to create the CD.

- **"on-the-fly"**: writing the CD in real time. The project is simultaneously played in the background and the output is written to CD. Sufficient processing power must be available for this, since the burning speed is typically many times the playback speed. For example, if you burn at 24x speed, the computer load during playback must be just under 4.2%. All CD Recorders have safety measures in place to prevent burning failure if the data is not delivered fast enough, but the advantage of high burning speed is then lost due to repeated aborting and restarting. Use this function to burn simple projects, e.g. copies of finished titles.
  - $\dot{\phi}$  To test whether writing in real time is possible, you can also select the option **Simulate recording** in the following dialog.
- Generate a complete new file: Use this function to create your CD if the project is too complex and computationally intensive to burn on-the-fly. The project is first exported to a new audio file. You can also try reducing the burning speed first. However, only blank CDs optimized for very high burning speeds are now available, and they no longer work at low burning speeds (<10). We therefore recommend this method for burning more complex projects such as complete mixes.</p>

 Burn MP3 CD/DVD: This exports all tracks into individual MP3 files according to the selected format option and passes them to the separate burning program MAGIX Speed BurnR to burn them onto a data CD.

#### **Options**:

- **Dithering settings**: The bit depth of the audio output must be reduced from 32bit float to 16bit for burning to CD. The **Dithering options** button displays the dithering mode used for this purpose. You can change it by clicking the button. See Dithering settings (*P*745).
- gnudb title info: In case you burned an imported CD and missed the transfer of the CD track information from the gnudb.org database, you can still add this information to the CD track indices with this button.

**TOC**: **Sequoia** creates a TOC (Table of Contents) file in the project folder with the name of the current project and the extension \*.TOC before writing the CD. This file contains all data about the CD.

**Show TOC**: This opens a text window where you can format the TOC as a text file with various options and then pass it to an external text editor in \*.rtf format.

**Export**: Besides burning to audio or data CD, it is also possible to export the CD only in the form of audio data and a description file.

- **Export TOC**: The project is exported to a single wave file. In addition, a .TOC and a .cue file are generated.
- **Export DDP**: Creates a DDP image for transfer to a pressing plant with the separate program **DDP Export**.

With **Burn CD...** you open the Burn CD dialog where you start the burning process.

**(i)** The dialog can only be opened if there is a recordable CD in the CD burner.

Samplitude is going Please select appropriate s	to record a CD-R according to your specifications. ettings for recording speed and simulation mode and press the "Write' button to continue.
Recording speed For CD burning "On The Fly values:	" CPU usage while playback should be below the following
○ <u>1</u> X (75 frames/sec)	90%
○ <u>2</u> X (150 frames/sec)	45%
○ <u>4</u> X (300 frames/sec)	20%
● <u>M</u> ax: 48 x ∨	10%
Recording options	
Simulate recording	
Prepare CD-R for addit	ional data session(s) (e.g. for CD Extra)
Activate Burn Proof	Burn with CD Text
Number of copies: 1	CD Text Settings
	<u>W</u> rite <u>C</u> ancel

Select the **Write speed** in the menu, below it you can set some more options:

- If in doubt, you can simulate writing with **Simulate recording**: This allows you to test the burning without actually writing data to the blank.
- Prepare CD-R for additional data session(s): The audio CD is not closed and can be supplemented with additional content with a data session.
- Activate Burn Proof: In case on-the-fly burning does not deliver data fast enough, burners provide this safety measure to not destroy the blank. The option should be disabled only in case of problems.
- **Burn with CD Text**: Metadata can be burned onto the CD as CD Text information.
- **CD Text settings**: This opens the CD Text/MP3 ID Editor (*7*593).
- Number of copies: You can also burn several copies of the same CD in a row. After the burning process is finished, the CD will be ejected, then insert the next blank and the next CD will be burned.

With **Write** you start the burning process.

#### **CD Disc Options**

Via menu **CD/DVD** > **CD Disc Options...** you can edit further settings for the current CD.

CD <u>T</u> itle Conquest Of Paradise (played by Allegro Milano) 1:	
UPC/EAN Code	
Number of first CD Track	<u>0</u> K
1	<u>C</u> ancel
Allow Bonus Tracks before Track 1	<u>H</u> elp

**CD Title**: Title of the CD which will be written as CD-Text on the CD.

**UPC/EAN Code**: The EAN code (European Article Code) is a 13 digit number which is used in retail. The 12 digit UPC (Universal Product Code) is exclusively used in Canada and America and can, if necessary, be extended with a final '0'.

**Number of first CD track**: Under some circumstances (such as "track at once" writing), the title number of the first CD track can be set. This is not important in "disc at once" mode, since the CD will always start with title no. 1.

**Allow bonus track before 1st track**: This makes it possible to burn a "hidden track" on the CD that is located before the first regular track (track 2). The "hidden track" may only be accessed on standalone CD players via the "STEP BACKWARD" button.

#### Viewing CD Recorder and Blank CD Information

- To view information about inserted blank CD such as type, number of tracks, number of sessions, total memory, free memory, and status, select Show CDR Disc Information....
- To view information about the active CD recorder drive, select Show CDR Drive Information. These include: Manufacturer, product name, product revision, cache size and various properties supported by the drive (disc-at-once, indices, second generation copies, catalog numbers, ISRC, CD-Text, CD-RW).

# **DDP Export**

An additional program DDP Export will be opened.

This additional program enables the export of a CD project that is compatible with DDP-CD mastering standards. It is opened using the **DDP Export** button in the **Create CD** dialog or menu **CD/DVD** > **DDP Export...**.

Set the name for the audio file to which the audio data for the CD will be written. Sequoia exports the project and then displays the loudness. Then the program **DDP Export** will be opened.



The project can be exported either to hard disk or onto tape (for example, Exabytes EXB-8505, EXB-8500). You can then deliver a project exported to disk to the pressing plant via file transfer.

**Destination for DDP information**: When exporting to hard disc, a destination folder can be specified here. If exporting to tape, enter the path of the tape drive here. With the function **Verify after export** you start an import of the image for verification after the export.

The **Run DDP player after export** option opens the "MAGIX Sequoia DDP Player by Sonoris" directly after export.

**Sources**: The **CD-Info file** (\*.tcd) belonging to the project is created automatically by **Sequoia**. If the DDP export was not started from Sequoia, but directly from the Sequoia program folder, you can select the corresponding files (CD Info \*.tcd + audio file/data file) here. CD info details shows the content of the CD info file.

DDP options: The formats of the 1.01 and 2.00 standard for DDP export can be used and also specify a **Master ID**. This ID is used by the manufacturer for testing purposes.

Tape options: Enter a Volume ID and an Owner ID for archiving.

With **OK** the CD project is exported, creating the following files: DDPID (DDP-Id-Stream), DDPMS (DDP-Map-Stream), Image.DAT (audio data), CDTEXT.BIN (CD text information), PQDESC (PQ description), CHECKSUM.TXT (CRC32) and CHECKSUM.MD5. For electronic transmission to the pressing plant, it is best to pack all files together in an archive (zip, rar...).



**1** Note: Sequoia also creates a WAV file during DDP export. This does not need to be transferred to the manufacturer, since the audio data is already included in the Image DAT file.

# Create DVD-Audio

With **Sequoia** you can burn DVD audio discs with any DVD burner. You can burn DVDs in the formats +R/-R/+RW/-RW.



**Note**: DVD audio discs can only be played back on players with DVD audio capabilities. This is indicated by a visible DVD Audio logo somewhere on the device.

**Sequoia** burns so-called "black discs", i.e. DVD audio without graphic menus.

 ·<sup>↓</sup> You can create video DVDs with menus, videos and slideshows using the video editing and DVD authoring program "MAGIX Movie Studio".

As an alternative to DVD Audio, you can also create an ordinary DVD Video that contains an uncompressed stereo audio track without video.

Like audio CDs, audio DVDs can be burned directly from the program, all you need to do is set track markers. You can burn both an audio CD and an audio DVD from the same project.

Choose Menu **CD/DVD > Create DVD Audio...**. The dialog **Trackbouncing - DVD** opens.

<ul> <li>Create DVD Audio</li> <li>Path</li> <li>DVD Video with stereo audio</li> </ul>	DVD Info Project length: 00:01:12 Max. DVD length: 06:01:12 (2ch 16Bit 48000Hz)
Format ● 16 Bit ○ 24 Bit Sample rate: 48000 ∨ Quality	PAL DVD ONTSC DVD      Source      Only marked range     From VIP Start to last Object End     Complete Project
Options	Surround Trackbouncing
Dithering (Triang.)	<u>O</u> K C <u>a</u> ncel <u>H</u> elp

Select either Create DVD audio or DVD video with stereo audio.

**Note**: Please note that DVD menu authoring is not available for **DVD-Video with Stereo PCM**. For extensive authoring options we recommend "MAGIX Movie Studio".

The actual creation of the DVD image and burning is done with the external program DVDAudio.exe. The path to this program is preset. If the program has been moved, you can set the current installation path with the **Path** button.

Format: You can choose between 16 and 24 bit audio.

**Sample rate**: For **DVD- Video** 48Khz must be used. Therefore, if the project has a different sample rate, resampling must be performed. At **Quality...** you can reach the corresponding settings.

With **DVD-Audio** you can freely choose the sample rate, 44.1 kHz and 48 kHz as well as double and quadruple sample rates of it are possible. Up to 6 discrete audio channels are supported, so configurations like 5.1 surround, stereo or 4.0 are possible.

The only limitation is that the maximum guaranteed data rate of around 10 Mbit/s for hardware players, may not be exceeded. Therefore, for example, with 5.1 Surround 24 bit is only possible up to 48 kHz sample rate, at 96 kHz the 10 Mbit would be exceeded.

The following playback times are approximations for the available space on a single layer DVD-R (44.1 kHz sample rate):

Stereo 16-bit	approx. 7 h
Stereo 24-bit	approx. 4.5 h
5.1 Surround and 24-bit	approx. 1.5 h

#### **Options**:

- **Show maximum amplitude**: Here you can display the maximum level in dB after the export process, in order to be able to set outboard equipment correctly for further processing or to correct the master level. After the export is finished, a corresponding information window appears.
- **Dithering**: Every export process can have its own dithering process, independent of the global settings. This enables dithering to be bypassed or to apply the standard dithering (dithering featuring triangular noise). You can also dither according to the system options or call the dithering options of the system options. The button value in brackets (e.g. **Triang.** or **POW-r 1**) indicates the currently set dithering algorithm.
  - (i) For detailed information, see Dithering ( $\not P745$ ).
- **DVD Info**: Here you can find out details about the **project length**, **maximum DVD length** and choose between **PAL DVD** and **NTSC DVD**.
- **Source:** Specify whether the export should be performed only over the length of the range selected in the project, from the beginning of the project to the last object (plus the reverberation time) or the complete project
- **Surround track bouncing**: Surround audio can only be used with DVD Audio, the project must have a surround master for this. If this option is selected, you will be asked before the export in which surround format the export should take place.

Clicking **OK** first exports the project to one or more audio files according to the settings made, then opens the **Create Disc** dialog.

Select burner and burning speed. The red button creates a DVD image first, and the writing process starts after this is completed.

**(i)** Note: You need twice the space of a DVD on the hard disk, because first the project is exported and then the DVD image is created from this audio data, which is then burned.

# **Batch Processing**

Batch processing allows you to automate work processes. You can specify certain edits for an audio file, which are then applied to all files in a list (the batch) of any size. The definition of the edits, including format conversions and save naming scheme, is called a **job**. You can also

define several such batch jobs, which can be collected in a job list and executed independently one after the other.

Possible editing options are:

- Loudness or peak normalization
- Linear fading (in and out)
- all real-time effects (including restoration and VST effects)
- Time Stretching / Pitch Shifting
- Remove clipping
- Remove DC offset
- File format conversion: bit resolution (8/16/24/32Float), sample rate, stereo/mono settings, data compression, dithering.
- Save in all available export formats.

Settings can be made for the location and naming of the created files as well as how the original is to be kept.

In the **Error Handling** tab, you can also specify how to handle files with errors.

For example, you can normalize a whole folder full of 24-bit wave files, apply 5 ms fades at the beginning and the end of each file, compress them with the multi-band compressor, change them all to 16-bit mono and then save them all as MP3 files.

The process for batch conversion is as follows:

- 1. In the **Source files** tab, select the files for editing.
- 2. In the **Effects** tab, select the required editing processes.
- 3. In the Target format tab, select the output format.
- 4. In the **Target files** tab, specify where and under what names the files should be saved.
- 5. On the **Error Handling** tab you can configure how to handle corrupted files.

#### Jobs

You can run multiple batch jobs in succession. The job list located on the right edge of the batch window is used for this.

With **Save** you can save a job. This allows you to reuse jobs once configured in subsequent sessions by loading them back into the job list with **Load**.

New jobs are created by clicking the **Add job** button. When you click a job, the settings of this job (source files, effects, destination format, destination files) are displayed in the dialog. **Run Jobs** starts batch processing and runs all loaded jobs. **Delete job** removes the selected job.

*i* All jobs remain loaded in the list until you quit *Sequoia*, even if you close the batch window in the meantime.

# **Source files**

Create the list of files you want to edit.

ource files	Effects	Target format	$\underline{T}$ arget files	Error handling			Job list:	
C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program C:\Program	Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag Data \Mag	ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P ix\Samplitude P	ro X8 Suite\ ro X8 Suite\	Demo Mixing De Demo Mixing De	mo \2_29_M24_Rig mo \2_29_M24_Rig	tt 178.wav tt 18.wav tt 175.wav tt 174.wav tt 177.wav tt 177.wav tt 173.wav tt 179.wav tt 176.wav tt 172.wav	Job 1	
							Ad	doj ob
							Ad	dd job lete job
							Ac Del Load	dd job lete job Save
Add	fle	10 file(s)	Complete siz	e:37MB Sel	ected size: 0.0 KB		Ac Del Load	dd job lete job Save cute jobs
Add	file	10 file(s)	Complete siz	e: 3.7 MB Sel	ected size: 0.0 KB		Ac Del Load Exec	dd job lete job Save cute jobs Close

Click **Add File** to open a file browser to select the files you want to include in the list. Multiple selection of files is also possible here. Select **Add directory** to add all of the audio files in a folder (including all subfolders). You can add files in all file formats that **Sequoia** can import. With **Save list** you can save a list of your file selection in \*.m3u format. The option **Detect L&R files** makes it possible to edit left and right files as stereo.

Remove deletes all selected list entries. Remove all deletes the complete list.

# Effects

Here you specify the effect processing for the files:

urce files Effects Target format Ta	rget files Error handling	Job list:
resets:	Save Load Delete	e Job 1
Amplitude	Effect Preset - Mixer Master Channel	
No changes     Normalize to:	No Effect 🗸	•
100.0 ~ % 0.00	dB Load Preset Edit Preset	]
O Change Volume: +0.00	dB Effects	Addub
O Loudness Normalization: Setu	Time Stretching / Pitch Sh. Setup	Delete job
Fades at start and end of project	Remove clipping Setup	Load Sav
Fade In Length: 50	ms Remove DC Offset Setup	Execute jobs

**Normalize to**: You can specify a target maximum amplitude value in % or in dB. For example, a value of 75% corresponds to -2.5dB. You can also enter **volume changes** in dB.

i For detailed information on normalizing, see the section Normalizing (#306).

**Loudness Normalization**: Here you have the possibility to apply a loudness adjustment to bring the selected files to a certain loudness value. For details, please refer to Loudness Adjustment (#292).

Fades at start and end of project: Linear fades can be added to the start and end of files.

**Effect Presets - Mixer Master Channel**: In this section you can use any combination of all realtime effects from **Sequoia** in batch processing. The presets used for this purpose correspond to the mixer snapshots (alpha532). Saved mixer snapshots can be selected from the menu or loaded into batch processing as \*.mix file with **preset**.

To create mixer snapshots for batch processing:

- 1. Load one of the files you want to edit into a new project.
- 2. Load the effects you want to use into the mixer's master channel (at **Master Plug-ins**) and make the necessary settings.
- 3. Save the mixer settings to a mixer preset. To do this, click the **Save Mixer to File** button below the mixer snapshot locations.
- 4. Load the saved mixer snapshot in the **Effects** tab of the batch dialog from the menu.

i You can also use *Edit Preset* to open the Effect Browser (*₹*226) with associated FX Routing dialog directly from the batch processing to edit the effect chain for batch processing. However, the "detour" via the mixer makes it possible to try out the effects on the audio material before using them.

Additional effects: Beside the Mixer effects the non-real-time effects

**Timestretching/Pitchshift**, **Remove clipping** and **Remove DC offset** can be used. The **Setup** buttons open the corresponding effects dialogs.

**Remove silence at start and end** removes silence at the beginning and end of the file.

# **Target format**

Here you specify a destination format for the files. This allows you to convert files to other file formats.

ource files Effects Targ	et format Target files Error hand	Ing	Jobs
Presets: Bit resolution No change 8 Bit 16 Bit 24 Bit 32 Bit Float	File format No change Wave MP3 MPEG Windows Media	Save Load Delete Samplerate New Samplerate: 44100	Job ist:
Stereo/Mono	AIFF OGG Vorbis AAC FLAC	Quality of calculation:	Add job Delete job Load Save
Left & Right     Only Left Channel     Only Right Channel	No compression		Execute jobs
O Mono Mixdown	Format Settings		Close Help

You can choose the bit resolution (8/16/24/32 bit float), the sample rate, stereo/mono/left/right as well as the save format with the corresponding **format settings**.

i To learn more on the subject of sample rate change, see Adjusting the sample rate (₹314). To learn more about file formats, see ExportExporting Audio (₹679).

 $\dot{\phi}$  All settings of this tab can be saved as preset for later use.

# **Target Files**

Here you define where and under which name the processed files are saved and what should happen to the source files.

Batch processing	×
Source files       Effects       Target format       I arget files       Error handling         Replace source files       Save files with new name to the source folder         Save files to this folder:       C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\MAGIX\Sequoia 16 recent\       Image: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\ranko.aust\Documents\Tage: C:\Users\Tage:	"lobs Job list: Job 1
File name prefix: e.g. "(Prefix)Test.wav"	Add job
File name suffix: e.g. "Test(Suffix).wav"	Delete job
Delete jobs from list after processing     Delete source files after processing     Keep folder structure (create subfolders)	Load Save Execute jobs Close Help

**Replace source files**: The original file is replaced with the edited one. If the file is used in a virtual project, the VIP is closed first.

**Save files to the source folder with changed names**: The edited file will be saved in the source folder next to the source file - adding the additional characters to the file name that you can enter in the fields **File name prefix** and **File name suffix**.

**Save file to this folder**: The edited file will be saved in the folder specified here. If you have entered characters in the **file name prefix** and **file name suffix** fields, the file names will also be expanded accordingly.

**Remove file name suffix with numbers**: This option removes numbers added by the **Sequoia** batch processing function (e.g. "\_48kHz" or "\_T001").

**Delete jobs from list after processing**: If you select this option, a job that has been processed will be removed from the list.

**Delete source files after processing**: This option deletes the source files after the job is executed. A confirmation prompt will appear.

**Keep source folder structure:** This option saves all files in the same subfolder structure including the source path. This process creates subfolders as required.

# **Error Handling**

Error handling detects files that deviate from the loudness norm with respect to certain criteria and should therefore be handled separately. These files are stored in a special error folder.

To enable error handling, select the **Activate error folders** option and select a folder where files will be stored. All other files are processed normally and saved in the defined target folder.

urce files Effects Target format Target files Eπor handling	Jobs Job list:
C:\ProgramData\Magix\Sequoia 16 recent\Templates\MIDI\	3001
Ignore files with the following parameters:	
Silence           If the momentary loudness is more than         2.00         Seconds below         -50.0         LUFS	
To much dynamic - Loudness range is bigger than: 15.0 LUFS	Add job
To quiet - Program loudness smaller than: 40.0 LUFS	Delete job Load Save
	Execute jobs
	Close

**Silence**: Sort out files that are below the specified momentary loudness (LUFS) for longer than the specified duration.

Too much dynamic: Sort out all of the files that exceed a certain loudness range (LUFS).

**Too quiet**: Sort out all of the files that fall below a certain loudness (LUFS).

# **Opening Batch Processing using the Command Line**

By calling Sequoia.exe with the command line parameter -batch <job>.xml the batch processing can be executed from the command line. For example, you can use it to perform regular tasks such as converting and archiving completely automated by using batch scripts.

C:\Sequoia\Sequoia.exe -batch "C:\Batchfolder\job.xml" | Out-Null

A The normal Windows command line interpreter, when executing a .bat script, does not wait for a command to complete before executing the next command. If you want to invoke batch processing from batch files and use the results of batch processing later in the script, you must run such scripts in Windows Powershell.

# Watch Folder

The **Watch Folder** feature allows you to automate all audio file edits and conversions that are possible via batch processing as soon as the files are saved to a specific folder. You can do this in the following way:

1. From the **menu, select Edit** > **Watch Folder...**. A dialog opens that is mostly identical to the **batch processing** dialog.

Watch Folder	×
Watch Folder Effects Targetformat Target files Error handling	Jobs Job list:
C:\Users\\Desktop\Watch&Convert\	Job1       Add job       Delete job       Load       Save       Watching
Add folder Remove all	Close Help

- 2. In the Watch Folder tab, add folders to the list of watched folders using Add Folder....
- 3. Define the edits and conversions you need. For details, see Batch Processing (≉604). As with batch processing, you can also define multiple jobs, for example saving in several different formats. These jobs can also be saved for later reuse.
  - i The storage format for Watch Jobs is different from that for Batch Jobs. However, the presets from the *Effects* and *Target format* tabs of the batch processing can also be used for the Watch jobs.
- 4. Once you enable the **Watching** option, all compatible audio files in the watch folders will be processed and saved according to the defined jobs. As soon as new files are encountered in the watch folders, they are processed as well.
- 5. The monitoring function is only active as long as the dialog is open. However, the settings of the dialog are retained until you exit **Sequoia**, so you can continue monitoring with the same settings when you open the dialog again.

To use the Watch Folder feature all the time in the background, you could simply open a second instance of **Sequoia** and keep it open in the background. However, it is better to open **Sequoia** with the special **command line parameter** –watch to avoid hardware conflicts and to save your computer's resources. In this case, Sequoia will only open the Watch Folder dialog and can remain open in the background.

Sequoia.exe -watch [path]\Watchfolder\_Job\_Name.watch.xml



# **Synchronization**

Synchronization allows you to couple other audio programs or studio hardware such as tape machines, drum machines, video recorders, or sequencers to **Sequoia** so that all devices and programs run in time or clock synchronization, i.e. musical tempo, playback or recording speed, and position at the devices involved match.

**Sequoia** can be configured for synchronization as a master (leader) or as a slave (follower). As a master, it generates the synchronization data for other components in the system. As a slave, **Sequoia** receives the synchronization data and follows it during playback and recording.

To switch synchronization on and off, use this button on the transport console or menu **File** > **Project properties** > **Synchronization active** (keyboard shortcut: **G**).



All settings for the different synchronization options are located in the dialog **Synchronization**, which you open with a right click on this button or via menu **File** > **Properties of the project** > **Synchronization settings...** (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + G**).
MIDI Clock Input	MIDI Clock Output	Chase lock sync - adapt
MC Input active	MC Output active	speed by resampling
Device : 2- ZOOM U-24 MIDI V	Device : Microsoft GS Wavetable $\vee$	Active Sync Velocity: 100
BPM : 120	BPM : 120 VIP BPM	Sample exact reference time
MTC Input	MTC output	SMPTE settings
MTC input active	MTC Output active	
Device : 2- ZOOM U-24 MIDI V	Device : Microsoft GS Wavetable ~	Offset: 0 Smpl
		FX : 1.000000
ASIO positioning protocol (APP) input	APP output	Dropout-time
APP input active	APP Output active	(Frames):
Pre-roll time: 500 ms (prevent start errors)	(Make sure that the APP output from the ASIO hardware is supported)	Pre-roll Frames: 0
		23.976 Frames/s
SMPTE audio input	SMPTE audio output	O 24 Frames/s
SMPTE Input active	SMPTE Output active	25 Frames/s     29 97 Frames/s non dmp
Audio In Device (only for ASIO) :	Audio Out Device :	O 29.97 Frames/s drop
HD Audio Line input 1 (ASIO4ALL v. V	HD Audio output 1 (ASIO4ALL v2 Or V	◯ 30 Frames/s
	Recording mode 'Record indeper	dent of Playback':
MTC Output also in stop-status	Sync controls playback or record	ding ~
Autom. Stop in input modus (Slave)		
	Qk	<u>Cancel</u> <u>H</u> elp

## **Synchronisation Protocols**

The protocols (data formats) used for synchronization contain information about the start position, start and stop commands and, in some formats, position information that is constantly transmitted.

**Sequoia** receives and transmits the synchronization protocols **MIDI Clock** (MC), **MIDI Time Code** (MTC), MIDI Machine Control (MMC), ASIO Positioning Protocol (APP) and SMPTE Timecode Audio.

#### **MIDI Clock**

The MIDI Clock is pure tempo information, the time reference is the musical tempo. For this purpose 24 **Timing Clocks** (MIDI System Realtime Message 0xF8) are transmitted per quarter note (24 ppqn - *pulses per quarter note*). Since the MIDI clock is based on the tempo as a reference, the number of ticks output depends on the tempo of the generating device. The receiving device determines the current tempo from the number of clocks received per elapsed time. But beyond that MIDI Clock does not transport any current information about the time position in the project.

With the messages **Start**  $0 \times FA$  (start at project start), **Stop**  $0 \times FC$  and **Continue**  $0 \times FB$  (start at position) the playback of the receiving device can be started and stopped synchronously.

Before each **Start** or **Continue** message, the **Song Position Pointer** (SPP) 0xF2 is also sent. It indicates the current bar position in 1/16 notes and thus allows synchronization of the project positions at least at playback start.

MIDI clock synchronization is suitable for synchronizing devices with tempo and clocks as time reference like hardware sequencers or the LFOs or arpeggiators of external synthesizers.

At **MIDI Clock Input/MIDI Clock Output** in the dialog **Synchronization** you activate the synchronization via MIDI Clock:

- With MC Input active you activate the MIDI clock synchronization of Sequoia as slave (follower). At Device, select the MIDI device from which the MIDI Clock signal is to be received for synchronization.
  - Sequoia is not able to adjust its project tempo to an incoming MIDI clock. Instead you have to set the tempo of the received MIDI clock at **BPM**. The project tempo should also correspond to this value, so that in the project the time display in bars matches the MIDI clock. For synchronization with MIDI Clock we recommend to use **Sequoia** as master or, if possible, to use MTC (see below).
- With MC Output active you activate the MIDI clock synchronization of Sequoia as master (leader). At Device, select the MIDI device through which the MIDI Clock signal is to be sent.

The option **VIP BPM** ensures that the current project tempo is used for the MIDI clock. If you disable it, you can also send the tempo set at **BPM**.

#### MIDI Time Code (MTC)

With the MIDI Time Code (MTC) the current time position is transmitted continuously, via a MIDI port in the form of a SMPTE time code, which is transmitted as **MTC Quarter Frame** (MIDI System Realtime Message 0xF1) four times per frame. Each message contains a part of the absolute time position as data byte. Eight such MTC Quarter Frames result in the transmitted time code as an absolute time position in the project in hours:minutes:seconds:frames. This means that the frame rate in the components involved must be the same for MTC synchronization to work. Therefore, select the same frame rate in the SMPTE settings (see below) and on the device involved.

At **MTC Input/MTC Output** in the dialog **Synchronization** you activate the synchronization via MTC:

With MTC Input active you activate the MTC synchronization of Sequoia as slave (follower). At Device select the MIDI device from which the MTC signal is to be received for synchronization. ■ With **MTC Output active** you activate the MTC synchronization of **Sequoia** as master (leader). At **Device**, select the MIDI device through which the MTC is to be sent.

There is no transmission of the playback state as with MIDI Clock, since it is clear from the change (or non-change) of the time code whether playback is running or not. For this, there are some MTC specific options that affect the playback and recording behavior:

MTC output also in stop state: Eight MTC messages must be transmitted within two frames to transmit a complete timecode. If with Sequoia as master (leader) the time code is transmitted just with the start of the playback, the slave (follower) component synchronizes to the current position only after a delay of one frame, so it is in a wrong position for a short time after a manual position change while in stopped state (moving the play cursor).

If the option is active, the current time position is sent continuously even when playback is stopped to avoid this. The option is also important for devices such as tape recorders or video recorders, so that they can detect these position changes in the stop state and transport the tape to this time position.

- Automatic play start on incoming timecode: If Sequoia receives timecode as a slave (follower), Sequoia starts playback as soon as a timecode is received.
- Automatic stop in input mode (slave): If Sequoia receives MTC as slave (follower) and the corresponding track is ready for recording, Sequoia starts recording as soon as MTC is received. If there is no more MTC, Sequoia stops recording and automatically goes into playback mode. When timecode is received again, Sequoia starts playback. If you want Sequoia to continue recording when you receive MTC again, uncheck this option.

#### **APP (ASIO Positioning Protocol)**

The ASIO Positioning Protocol allows the transmission of synchronization information via the digital inputs or outputs of the sound card (SPDIF, ADAT) or special interfaces (LTC, Video Burst In). This allows you to synchronize with timecode as with SMPTE Audio or MTC without the need for an additional audio or MIDI connection. This protocol is only supported by very few, special audio cards.

Activate the operation as slave (follower) or master (leader) with the corresponding options **APP Input active** or **APP Output** active. With active input, you can set a **Pre-roll time** to ensure stable synchronization.

## **SMPTE** settings

SMPTE Timecode is a conventional synchronization standard for linking different audio and imaging devices via absolute time reference. With each SMPTE message, the exact amount of time that has elapsed since the start of the project is sent.

The SMPTE timecode uses the units hours:minutes:seconds:frames. The concept of "frames" originates from the film and video industry, which the SMPTE code was originally developed for. The frame rate corresponds to the number of frames per second common in film and video.

Go to **SMPTE Settings** and select the appropriate project frame rate here. This frame rate is used for synchronization with MTC and SMPTE Audio. If you use video files in the project, you should also match their frame rate.

- **SMPTE offset**: Here you can specify an offset that is subtracted from the received SMPTE time before the time is used for synchronization. An offset of 01:00:00:00 (1 hour) therefore allows you to synchronize a tape with an SMPTE code that starts at 1 hour. The SMPTE offset behaves relative to the project start time (*P*659).
- **FX**: This legacy option can be used to compensate for synchronization inaccuracies in old projects. It should not be changed for working with current projects.

**Dropout time (frames)**: Specify here after how many consecutive unrecognized frames the synchronization should be considered failed.

**Pre-roll Frames**: Here you can enter a number of frames that **Sequoia** should ignore before synchronization starts. This can be used to respond to the fact that analog devices first need a certain amount of time to reach the correct speed. To prevent **Sequoia** from synchronizing to an invalid time, the preroll frames are skipped before the synchronization takes effect.

## SMPTE Audio

For synchronization with external video or audio devices, you can use the SMPTE audio signal of these devices (slave) or have these devices controlled by a pre-recorded SMPTE signal or one generated in **Sequoia** (master).

With SMPT Input active you activate the SMPTE synchronization of Sequoia as slave (follower). At Audio In Device, select the audio device at which the timecode is received. Playback and recording now follows the received timecode.
 In a track in the Track options (2146) (or menu Track > Track type), activate the Timecode option to set this track as timecode track. Then you can record and playback the timecode on this track and thereby synchronize the external device with Sequoia.

Audio				
Record:	In 1+In 2 (ZOOM	U-24 ASIO Drive	r I 🗸 All Tracks	Track/Dev +
Playback:	Out 3+Out 4 (ZO	OM U-24 ASIO D	riv ~ All Tracks	+ Track/Dev +
Track Type:	Submix Bus	AUX Bus	🗹 Time code	Time Shift / Delay
	Economy			() Smpl

■ With SMPTE Output active you activate the SMPTE synchronization of Sequoia as master (leader). At Audio Out Device, select the audio device that will send the timecode. If no timecode from a previous recording is to be used, you can use the SMPTE generator (*P*618) to generate timecode yourself, which then controls the external devices.

-\grac{1}{2}- In the time display display fields can be configured to show the incoming SMPTE timecode (Sync timecode input) or the content of the Timecode track.

## Chase Lock Sync

With chase lock synchronization, audio playback from **Sequoia** in slave mode exactly follows a received timecode signal by changing the playback speed through real-time resampling. Thus, **Sequoia** is able to synchronously follow a timecode source with variations such as analog tape machines or VCRs over a longer period of time if the timecode is located on a track of a multitrack tape machine, for example.

- **Active**: Here you activate Chase Lock synchronization.
  - **Note**: Note that if Chase Lock is enabled, real-time resampling will also occur during recording according to a received timecode with all possible fluctuations. This causes increased CPU load and may result in unwanted changes to the audio material if this is played later with other timecode references.
- Sync Velocity: The sync velocity influences the speed of the tempo adjustment. The larger the value, the faster Sequoia follows a tempo change of the master device, but the greater the pitch fluctuations in the audio material. The default value for the sync velocity is 100. Increase it if the synchronization is not exact.
- Hardware Pitching: When using hardware pitching, the chase lock synchronization changes the sample rate of the sound card by direct access. This achieves particularly precise synchronization without additional CPU load. However, this feature has to be supported by the sound card.

- Sample exact reference time: If you select this option, Sequoia takes the time position of the sound card as clock reference (timer) and not its own internal timer. This ensures sample-exact synchronization between the recorded audio material and the sync signal.
- *If you use* Wordclock for digital sample rate synchronization of your devices with *Sequoia*, you should not use Chase Lock.

## Wordclock Sync

When digital data streams are exchanged between multiple devices using protocols such as ADAT, SPDIF or MADI, a clock reference must be established throughout the interconnected system. The clock signal is transmitted via the digital input and can come from involved computers, but also external devices like converters or mixers can serve as clock reference. For these systems, there can be only one master but several slaves. This digital word clock is not a time code, no position information is transmitted. The clock signal is just a digital pulse and is used to synchronize the timing between the connected devices and to keep the sample rate constant everywhere to prevent transmission errors. Professional digital audio devices normally feature a word clock input and are able to generate and receive a clock signal.

To set the clock source, use the **Clock Source** menu in the Audio Settings (*7*10). There the ASIO driver of the sound card may provide options to synchronize the sound card to an external clock source.

## **SMPTE Generator**

This function allows you to generate an SMPTE audio signal for synchronization with analog equipment.

1. Create a new track and open the SMPTE generator with menu **Effects** > **SMPTE** generator....

SMPTE Frames	SMPTE Start	Length	Sample Rate	
23.976 Frames/s	Hours: 00	Samples:	44100	<u>0</u> K
24 Frames/s	Minutes: 00	26.460.000	@ 44.1kHz	Cancel
29.97 Frames/s		Millisec.:	048 kHz	
0 29.97 Frames/s drop	Seconds: 00	600.000 ms	<u>○ 9</u> 6 kHz	Help
◯ 30 Frames/s ◯ 30 Frames/s drop	Frames: 00	SMPTE: 00:10:00:00		

2. Set the parameters of the timecode signal to be generated:

- **SMPTE Frames**: Select the frame rate
- SMPTE Start-time in hours, minutes, seconds and frames, default is 00:00:00:00. if the timecode should correspond to the project time.
- You can specify the **length** in samples, milliseconds, or SMPTE code.
- **Sample rate** in 44.1 kHz, 48 kHz or 96 kHz, preset is the project sample rate.
- **3.** Confirm this by clicking on **OK**. In the following dialog you can specify the name and location of the audio file with the timecode (by default SMPTEGENERATOR.wav in the project directory).
- 4. With **OK** you close the dialog, the audio file will be generated and loaded on the selected track.
- 5. Route the output of the track to a free hardware output connected to the SMPTE sync input of the analog device.
  You can also mark the track on which the SMPTE object is located as Timecode track (dialog Track Options or menu Track > Track type > Time code). Then the SMPTE signal of this track is always output via the output specified in the dialog Synchronization (*P*612) at SMPTE Audio Output.

#### **MIDI Machine Control (MMC)**

**Sequoia** supports the synchronization of external devices via MMC. In the project options (menu **Project properties** > **MMC Settings...**) you can configure MMC remote control.

Choose between the working modes **Receive MMC** and **Send MMC**:

- Receive MMC (slave): If Sequoia shall work as slave, activate this option. Sequoia follows JOG shuttle operations, play marker position, track mute, track solo, track input monitoring, track record ready, play, stop, fast forward, rewind, and record commands from external devices.
- Send MMC (master): Sequoia works as master. Whenever you execute commands such as Play Marker Position, Track Mute, Track Solo, Track Input Monitoring, Track Record Ready, Play, Stop, Fast Forward, Rewind, and Record, the external device follows. If you additionally set "Receive MMC", Sequoia receives the current playback position of the device and displays it as an additional blue play cursor in the timeline.

Preset: Reset		✓ Save	
MMC command MIDI device	Receive MMC active (Use MTC Device ~	Transmit MMC ✓ active (Use MTC Device ∨	Options MMC Input ID: 1
Cursor position (full frame) Track mute			MMC Output ID:
Track solo Track input monitoring			Use space key as remote control for external machine
Track record ready			
Play, stop, FF, REW		Transport window only for external machine	
Record		Transport window only for external machine	
		Q	Cancel Help

When playing a range in **Sequoia**, the MMC device stops when the end of the range is reached.

- Transport console only controls external device: If this option is active, the transport console no longer controls the playback and recording of Sequoia, but controls the external MMC device. Play, Stop, Fast Forward, Fast Backward and Rewind no longer have any direct effect on Sequoia playback. The Record button starts the recording in Sequoia synchronously to the playback of the MMC device.
- Use space bar for remote control of external devices: If this option is active, start and stop via space bar control the MMC device.
- Input MIDI device: Select here the MIDI device from which MMC is received.
- **Output MIDI device**: Select here the MIDI device to which MMC is sent.
- **MMC Input-ID**: Enter here the Input MMC ID from **Sequoia**.
- **MMC output ID**: Set the input ID of the MMC device you want to control remotely.

#### List of implemented MMC commands

Command Receive Send

Full frame	yes	yes
Stop	01	01
Play	02	02
Deferred Play	03	-
FFWD	04	-
Rewind	05	-
Record ON	06	06
Record OFF	07	07
Record Pause	08	-
Pause	09	-
Locate	44	44
Variable Play	45	45
Shuttle	47	-
READ location	42 01	-
READ motion control tally	42 48	-
READ record status	42 4d	-
READ track record status	42 4e	-
Track Record Ready	42 4f	40 4f
Track Input Monitoring	42 53	40 53
Track Mute	42 62	40 62
Track Solo	42 77	40 77

#### MAGIX MMC extension

F0 7F <device\_id> 06 6F <...> F7

Set Marker

6F 01 New auto numbered marker

Navigate playback marker to marker left/right	6F 02 n	n = 00 to left marker n = 01 to right marker
Set all tracks RecRdy on/off	6F 03 n	n = 00 off n = 01 on
Set Monitoring Mode	6F 04 n	n = 00 manual monitoring n = 01 tape monitoring
Set Input Monitoring on/off	6F 05 n	n = 00 off n = 01 on
Set Sync Mode on/off	6F 06 n	n = 00 off n = 01 on
Set Loop Mode on/off	6F 07 n	n = 00 off n = 01 on
Set Punch Mode on/off	6F 08 n	n = 00 off n = 01 on
Delete Punch Marker	6F 09	

## Backup Recording with Two Sequoia Systems

To ensure the safety of the recording during important recording sessions, you can work with parallel systems. Instead of using a hardware device to make an additional recording of the stereo sum or a complete multitrack recording, you can very easily make such backup recordings with a second **Sequoia** system, synchronizing the recording control with MMC in the process.

1. You need two DAW systems with Sequoia or Samplitude ProX and a MIDI connection between the two.

• You can let the backup system run uncontrolled. In this case you don't need an MMC connection. This technique runs the backup system the whole time and does not generate objects (takes). A timecode synchronization of the systems using MTC/SMPTE is not necessary as long as the digital recording and the word clock is identical in both systems.

- Select in the MMC settings the appropriate preset Record Backup (Master) or Record Backup (Slave) at the master and slave system.
- Now create an identical project for master and slave, activate the necessary tracks and deactivate the display of the confirmation window at the end of the recording (Program preferences > System options > Recording ) by selecting No confirmation dialog at

**Extended options**. In addition, the recording option **Set cursor to record end position -Next recording starts at this point** should be activated for the slave system. This will add each new take to the end of the project even when an insert punch recording is applied in the master.

4. Alternatively, parallel recording is also possible with the presets **Parallel Systems** (Master) and **Parallel Systems (Slave)**: In addition to the transport functions, Cursor Position, Mute, Solo, Input Monitoring and Record Ready are also transmitted to the other program. This creates an almost identical project on the slave system, with Punch In recordings also inserted in the right place. Only take names and markers are not taken into account. Thus, even after a failure of one of the systems, you get a complete project including take structure.

# **Calculating Loudness Values**

This command calculates the loudness (alpha571) of the master output for the entire project or selected range and displays the loudness values in an information window.

To calculate loudness, select an object or range and choose Menu **Edit** > **Loudness calculation** (master output)..... You can also find the function in the context menu of files in the file manager.

In wave files the loudness values are included in the metadata of the file (according to EBU 3344). For all other files they are only shown.

Click the button **Correct program loudness with master volume** to correct the master level so that the program loudness matches the loudness target value of the selected loudness standard (**Program Settings** > **Effects** > **Loudness**).

# Waveform Generator

The waveform generator provides you with a generator of test signals.

1. You open it via the menu Effects > Waveform Generator...

Format new Wave Project	Waveform	Length	Waveform Parameters
Type: ○ <u>M</u> ono ○ R <u>A</u> M ④ <u>S</u> tereo ④ H <u>D</u>	○ <u>R</u> ectangle ○ <u>T</u> riangle	Samples: 441.000 Millisec	Frequency (Hz): 1000.0
Resolution:	Sine	10.000 ms	-6
<u>1</u> 6 Bit	OCosine	SMPTE:	
<u>3</u> 2 Bit	O Saw (up)	00:00:10:00	
Float	O Saw (down)		
Sample Rate:	◯ White <u>N</u> oise		
44100 V	◯ <u>P</u> ink Noise		
	◯ <u>B</u> rownian Noise	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u>	ancel <u>H</u> elp

- 2. Set the parameters of the test signal:
  - Mono or stereo, in a **resolution** of 16 bit or 32 bit float.
  - **Sampling rates** in the range between 22050 -384000 Hz.
  - Waveform Rectangle, Triangle, Sine, Cosine, Sawtooth (up), Sawtooth (down), White Noise, Pink Noise or Brownian Noise.
- **3**. Set the **length** of the generated signal in samples, milliseconds or as SMPTE time (hh:mm:ss:ff).
- 4. Set the frequency (Hz) and level of the signal at Waveform Parameters.
- 5. Click **OK**. A save dialog will appear where you can specify a file name and location. The default is the project folder. With **OK** the test signal is generated and an object is created on the selected track at the cursor position.

## WaveColor Audio Search

This function allows you to find identical or similar sounding sections within audio files. For this purpose, the analysis data of the WaveColor algorithm are used, which are also used for the color-graded display (\$\nothin{1}737\$) of the sound properties of audio data.

- 1. Audio search works on wave projects. Double-click an audio object while holding down the Shift key to open it as a wave project.
- 2. Select the audio material from which you want to find similar audio material in the wave project and copy it to the clipboard with Ctrl + C.
- 3. Start the audio search with Menu Object > WaveColor Audio Search...
- 4. Set the **Sensitivity** of the detection with the fader in the dialog. Accordingly, more or less markers labeled **Match** are placed in the project at the points where the algorithm

detects similar audio material.

5. After closing the search dialog, the found positions can be jumped to with a mouse click on the respective "match" markers.

## **Remix Agent - Tempo and Beat Detection**

() This is a deprecated program function. The tempo of an audio object can be determined faster and more accurately in the **object editor** (*7*199) in the section *Time/Pitch*!

Remix Agent allows you to perform an analysis of the tempo of longer audio files, typically complete pieces of music from which a remix is to be created. There is an automatic detection of tempo and measure beginnings, which you can then edit manually. At the end you can split the object into individual objects of the length of a bar, match project tempo and object tempo, and write the tempo information to the audio file.

The audio material can have a length between 15 seconds and 10 minutes and should be rhythmic.

Start the Remix Agent via menu **Object** > **Remix Agent...** or from the context menu of objects.

Now follow the instructions in the dialog!

On the last page of the wizard, you decide what to do with the result of the beat analysis:

**Create remix objects**: This option cuts the song bar by bar into individual objects that you can then reuse in the virtual project.

**Audio quantization**: Objects are adjusted to a fixed project tempo, slight tempo fluctuations are corrected by object timestretching. With the option **Use resampling for** small corrections resampling is used instead for small corrections. Optionally, the loop mode can be activated for the objects.

**I** Note: If you subsequently change the tempo of the project, clearly audible pitch changes occur in the remix objects.

**Apply object tempo to arrangement**: The project takes over the found BPM value. With the option **Use crossfades** the remix objects will get default crossfades. If **Grouping** is active, the remix objects are grouped. Optionally, you can save the **tempo** and bar information to the audio file and assign a new background color to the objects.

**Adapt tempo**: You can either apply the tempo of the analyzed audio to the project tempo or apply the project tempo to the tempo of the analyzed audio.

- **Apply arrangement tempo to object tempo**: The object gets the tempo of the project. There are three options for this:
  - **Use timestretching**: With timestretching, the pitch remains constant, but sound changes occur due to timestretching.
  - Use resampling: Resampling changes the pitch but preserves the sound quality.
    - **Note**: If you subsequently change the tempo of the project, clearly audible pitch changes occur.
  - Use audio quantization: Audio quantization applies tempo adjustments to the audio file.

**Save tempo & bar information**: Also here you can additionally write the tempo and beat information into the audio file

- Apply object tempo to arrangement tempo: As with the option Create remix objects the project takes over the determined tempo.
  - Change global settings: Use this option to set the project tempo to the determined value.
  - Adjust tempo map: Tempo markers are placed at the beat boundaries, with Use quarters at each beat. With Use bar pos. instead of tempo markers grid position markers are set instead of tempo markers.
- Save tempo and bar info: If this option is active, the tempo and bar information are saved in the audio file. The objects in the virtual project remain unchanged. Optionally, bar position markers can be set in the project at the bar beginnings (Create bar markers within current range or on each bar beat (Create quarter markers within current range).

# Audio Quantize

Audio quantization is used to match audio material to a beat grid. It is particularly suitable for adjusting drum recordings and other percussive audio material with clearly distinct transients (attack sounds). The objects can be split at the individual drum beats and the objects with the individual beats can be moved to the respective grid positions. If this results in audible gaps, these can be closed by moving the object boundaries or by time-stretching.

Typical application include:

- Correction of minor errors in a drum recording.
- Separation of individual drum beats for targeted application of object effects and creative editing of drum beats.
- Subsequent tempo changes can be made without time-stretching only by adjusting the object positions.

The workflow of audio quantizing consists of a typical sequence of individual steps. In the window **Audio quantization** all steps are combined in one dialog. (Menu **Object** > **Quantize** > **Audio Quantization Wizard...**. The individual steps and some additional functions can also be reached via the menu **Object** > **Quantize** > **Extended Audio Quantize**.



**Detect transients**: All level peaks of the selected objects are marked with beat markers ("AQ").

A beat marker is a special audio marker that is stored directly in the audio file. To make these markers visible, in the View options of the program preferences (keyboard shortcut: Shift + Tab) under Objects activate the option transients (AQ). For detailed information on audio markers, see the section Audio markers (*A*118)

In the menu you can choose between an algorithm optimized for percussive audio and a universal one. The transient detection is started as soon as you move the slider **Sensitivity** and the found transients are updated accordingly. The higher the sensitivity, the more markers are set. By using **Recalculate** and **Delete**, you can recalculate or delete an already created audio material analysis.

2 Consolidate transients: If you edit objects on different tracks that contain different instruments, the positions of the transients will differ slightly, also due to delay differences caused by different microphone distances. To avoid too many cuts and very short objects when splitting the objects later, this command moves beat markers that are on different tracks together within a certain time range (**time window**) (default: 20 ms) to the same position (the foremost one).

**3** Split at Transients: This command splits all selected objects across all tracks at the beat marker positions of all objects. After that, each beat should be present on all tracks as a single object, this is a prerequisite for the subsequent quantization of these objects.

i You don't necessarily have to use the transients of all tracks for the cut: For example, if you want to align all drum tracks to the bass drum and snare tracks, first select only the bass drum and snare track objects and perform transient detection. Then select the objects of all drum tracks and execute the *Split at Transients* command. This splits all objects on each bass drum beat and on each snare beat, but the bass drum and snare objects are not additionally (and unnecessarily) split on the transients of the other drum tracks.

Quantize Object Positions (AQ)/Soft AQ: These commands are used to perform the actual audio quantization. All selected objects will be moved to the corresponding grid positions according to the Quantization settings. The quantization settings correspond mostly to those of the MIDI quantization, but unlike MIDI events, no quantization of the length is provided. Also the presets, which can be loaded and saved at the top of the dialog, correspond to those used in the MIDI quantize dialog. Default resets the options to the default settings: Q threshold=0, Q window=100, Swing=50 and Offset=0.

i For more information about the Quantization settings (₱475) please refer to the MIDI section.

**Soft AQ**: While with **Quantize Object Positions (AQ)** the objects are moved exactly to the grid positions, **Soft AQ** moves them only a bit toward the grid position. The slider **Soft Q** determines how far: if it is set to 50, the new object position is exactly halfway between the starting position and the targeted grid position.

**6 Remove object gaps**: After an object quantization has been performed, gaps may occur between objects, which can cause audible dropouts in the audio signal for certain signals with a long decay phase. The **Remove Object Gaps** command lets you choose between two ways of closing the gaps between audio objects:

- Insert audio from next slice's front: This moves the object start position of the following object to the left until the gap is closed.
- **Timestretching**: The object located in front of the gap is extended by timestretching. You select the respective method in the Audio Quantization Wizard.

The objects that now directly follow each other are crossfaded, according to the set **Overlap(Crossfade) length**.

**6** The **ONE CLICK BUTTON** automatically executes the **Detect transients**, **Consolidate transients**, **Split at transients**, **Quantize slice positions (AQ)**, and **Remove Object Gaps** commands in one go.

The dialog contains some more controls that support the work with audio quantization:

**7** Reset quantization: All objects will be reset to their original positions.

With the two buttons you can undo or redo the last quantization performed.

8 Create Groove: This command creates a groove template from the AQ markers of the selected objects in the selected area, which you can use for audio and MIDI quantization. Make sure that the selected range is full bars long (2 bars is best).

For detailed information on groove templates, see MIDI in Sequoia > MIDI Editor > Quantize and Grid > Groove Templates (₱478)

-`ģ- Tips:

- Before using audio quantization, make sure that the transient display is enabled in the program preferences: In the View options (keyboard shortcut: Shift + Tab) at Objects, the option Transients (AQ) has to be on.
- If you are using a longer recording, first split the objects once so that you have a short representative section of about 8-16 bars as a separate object. The analysis of the transients for a complete song can take a very long time and when adjusting the sensitivity it is constantly repeated. When you have found the appropriate sensitivity for the smaller part, you can select the rest of the objects and enter the found value numerically in the Sensitivity field.

## **Generate MIDI Triggers from Transients**

This function allows you to copy the detected transients of an object to a separate MIDI object.

Select an analyzed object with AQ Markers and choose Menu **Object** > **Quantize** > **Extended Audio Quantize** > **Create MIDI Triggers from Transients**. A new track is created below the object. In it a MIDI object is created which contains the found transients as MIDI events with corresponding velocity. You can now load a VST instrument in the track to duplicate or replace the audio track with additional sounds from drum synthesizers.



# Video

Although **Sequoia** is not intended for video editing, you can also load video files into **Sequoia** to create, edit, or surround mix a movie soundtrack. These are then played along with the project and displayed in a separate video window.

## **Loading Video Files**

This can be done by drag&drop from Windows Explorer or File Manager or via menu **File** > **Import** > **Load video file...**. Supported file formats are MPEG2 (mpg, mpeg, m2v, mp2, vob...), MPEG4 (mp4, mov), AVI, DV, MXV (MAGIX own full frame format) as well as image files in JPG or BMP format.

For the video file, a video object is created in a separate video track above the first audio track. The video object shows its content as thumbnails.



Optionally, the original video sound can also be imported and placed on its own audio track below. This converts the audio data into wave files.

Video objects can be moved and cut just like the other objects. However, it is not possible to fade in or out the objects or to use crossfades.

Note: Since Sequoia very limited capabilities for exporting video files, you typically end up with an audio file at the end of your edits, which you then combine with the video using a separate video editing program. In Sequoia the loaded video serves as a time reference and should therefore not be moved or cut at all if possible.

Video objects do not have an object editor, double-clicking on the video object opens the video window instead. The video object's context menu displays the video's resolution and frame rate at the very top. This frame rate should match the frame rate (2612) of the project. Only then the grid mode and the display of the project time with frames (SMPTE) in the grid bar, time display and video preview window will work correctly.

## Video window

The video window is used to display the video. Open it by double-clicking the video object or from the menu **View**. It can be displayed floating or docked like the other windows.

Right-click in the video window to get some display options:

- With Original aspect ratio the window uses the original aspect ratio of the video, with
   4:3 and 16:9 you can force a different aspect ratio.
- Select **Full Screen** for a full screen display.
- Use Double, Original, Half, or Quarter video size to adjust the video window to the appropriate size of the video. The function is available only when the video window is not docked.

#### **Video Settings**

Using the context menu of the video window and video object or menu **File** > **Properties of the project** you can open the video settings, for further video playback options.

Video Timestamp	Video object drawing
Show video timestamp	Show video thumbnails
Position on video monitor: Bottom $\sim$	O Low resolution (60 lines)
Timestamp font size: Middle $\sim$	<ul> <li>Middle resolution (120 lines)</li> <li>High resolution (200 lines) - need more memory</li> </ul>
Timestamp foreground color:	External Video Monitor
Timestamp background color:	Activate Blackmagic Decklink
	Format:
Video Options	
Extract Audio from Video	ge video cache
Reglace Audio in Video Dou	uble frame rate for interlaced
Playback offset: 000:00:000 Base A	spect ratio: 16:9 Video overlay (Hardware video output)

- Show video timestamp: This option shows the timestamp display in the video window. You can display it in three sizes either at the top, in the center or at the bottom of the project window.
- Video object drawing: The option Show video thumbnails displays thumbnails in the video track in different resolutions. In drawing mode 2 of the View options (≉737) (Tab key), only the first and last frames are displayed.
- External Video Monitor: Enable Blackmagic Decklink allows video output to an external monitor via appropriate video hardware.

- Get Audio from Video: This button allows you to extract audio from a video file and insert wave data into the current project.
- **Replace Audio in Video**: This button executes the **Export video sound** function, which lets you replace an existing audio track in an video file with the project's audio.
- **Playback offset**: Set a positive or negative playback offset in this field.
- **Large video cache**: The video caching cache is increased, which increases the memory footprint, but also makes the program more responsive.
- Double frame rate for interlaced: Here you can double the frame rate when playing back interlaced video to display the videos flicker-free.
- **Aspect ratio**: Select an aspect ratio of either 4:3 or 16:9.
- Current Video Frames Window: An additional video window is opened to display the start and end frame of a selected range or object for range and object selections.
- Video overlay (hardware video output): "Video overlay" indicates that the graphics card calculates the video display and the video picture is positioned on top of the actual Windows screen (overlay). This speeds up the video output and should only be deactivated in case of problems.

#### **Exporting Video Sound**

Select Menu **File** > **Export video** > **Export Video Sound...** to replace to create a new video file from a video and the sound of the project.

Select the original video file at **video source**. At **audio length**, the length of the audio track in the video and the length of the project are specified. If these lengths differ, a warning is issued. On export, the longer component is then truncated.

Under Audio Format the format of the original video sound is displayed. The export of the project is done in this format.

Target file: Click the folder icon to set the new file name.

Pressing **OK** exports the master output of the project and inserts it into a new video file.

# Impulse Response Extraction

**Sequoia** provides an assistant for extracting impulse responses from natural rooms or effect devices for use in the room simulator (2307).

## Method

The chirp method is used to generate the impulse responses, which works as follows:

- 1. A chirp is generated. A chirp is a sinusoidal signal that is varied over a wide frequency range.
- 2. This chirp is then played through loudspeakers in the room to be detected, and the room's "response" is recorded with microphones. Effects units can also be "sampled" in the same way, by playing the chirp through the effects unit and recording it.
- **3.** The impulse response is then calculated from the original and the processed or recorded chirp.

Steps 1 and 3 are carried out in the dialog **Impulse response extraction**, which you open via menu **Object > Impulse response extraction...**.

	Resolution: 32 Bit Float V
*CHIRP.wav v	Sample rate: 48000 Hz
Reverbed chirp	completion. House the
* IR_Maker_02_24.wav ~	Length: 2097152 Samples V 00:43.69
Decay cutoff threshold (dB): -90.0	Min: 50.0 Max: 15000.0
Adapt length to power of 2 Preview	
Create Wave Project only     Insert in current VIP	Create Wave Project only  Insert in current VIP
Insert in current VIP	Insert in current VIP

## **Chirp Generation**

On the right-hand side of the dialog you will find the parameters for chirp generation.

- Resolution: Select between 16-bit and 32-bit float resolutions here. We recommend a 32-bit float resolution.
- **Sample rate**: Select the sample rate here. Note that the sample rates of the played chirp, the reverberated chirp, and the virtual project must match.

**i** Note on sample rate: If you want to work with 96 kHz or 192 kHz, keep in mind that when capturing natural impulse responses, the loudspeaker must be capable of reproducing very high frequencies in order to actually capture the extremely low ultrasonic components of the impulse response. The microphones used also define limits here, so that in practice it is usually sufficient to work with 44.1 kHz or 48 kHz.

Length: Select the length of the chirp in samples, staged in powers of two.
 The longer the chirp length, the better the results, since the influence of constant noises like hissing, traffic noise, or non-linear distortions in the result is reduced. On the other hand, the CPU load increases when processing the impulse response.

**(i)** *Tip*: The chirp should be at least as long as the duration of the reverberation.

■ **Frequency range (Hz)**: Specify the start and end frequency of the chirp here. The frequency range depends on the frequency response of the loudspeaker. You should therefore avoid frequencies that are too low or too high for the speaker to reproduce.

The following options determine how the generated chirp will be used:

- **Create wave project only**: The chirp is written to a wave project only.
- **Insert into current VIP**: The wave project is inserted into the current virtual project.
- Insert into new VIP: The wave project is inserted into a new virtual project. There you can immediately play the chirp and simultaneously re-record the reverberated room in the same virtual project.

Click on **Generate** to generate the chirp. After generating the chirp, the dialog can be closed again.

#### **Reverberation of the Generated Chirp**

#### **Natural Rooms**

To capture the impulse response, the chirp signal is reproduced monophonically in the room using a loudspeaker or loudspeaker combination. The loudspeaker(s) should be placed in the room where the acoustic sound sources such as instruments or singers are located - in an opera house, for example, on the stage or in the orchestra pit.

Individual loudspeakers have a different directional behavior than natural sound sources, they emit less sound energy to the rear. Therefore, it is better to use speaker combinations to radiate the chirp. A proven loudspeaker combination is to have one loudspeaker directed to the front - towards the audience - and a second loudspeaker directed to the back.

**Note:** For the best possible impulse response, always record the reverberation until it has completely decayed. Also avoid any impulsive noise during decay.

#### **Digital Reverb Devices**

When processing the chirp signal with a reverb unit, you should always set the unreverberated, dry portion ("Dry") to zero, so that the original chirp is not mixed in.

**Note**: With the impulse response method you can only simulate linear and time-invariant systems. Effects such as chorus or flanger change the transfer function dependent on time, i.e. they behave according to the time variation, meaning they cannot be simulated. The same applies to effects that feature parameters that are modulated by LFOs. Distortion or compressors have a non-linear behavior and can also not be reproduced. The reverb programs of multi-effects units often use other effects besides the actual reverb, for example chorus effects to cover resonances. Also in these cases, an exact reproduction of the reverb is not possible. The strength of the impulse response method, on the other hand, is the reproduction of natural spaces in high quality.

 $\dot{\phi}$  Use the **External FX Plug-in** (235) for convenient integration of the effects unit!

#### Simultaneous Playback and Recording of the Chirp in Sequoia

- 1. Load the chirp into a track of a project.
- 2. Activate recording in another track and route corresponding input and output devices on these tracks.
- Disable monitoring (e.g. right-click on MON in the Transport Console and select No Audio Monitoring (Peakmeter Only)), as other monitoring settings may cause acoustic feedback.
- If not already done, open the window Visualization in the mode Peakmeter, select the recording track and in the menu of the visualization window Track Visualization (current track).
- 5. Start a test recording that features the complete chirp and adjust the peak control. The recording of the reverberated chirp should be controlled well enough that overmodulation does not occur.
- 6. After the optimal levels have been set, record the reverberated chirp.
- 7. Play the reverberated chirp and check the recording in the visualization window in the spectrogram view for nonlinear distortion, spurious pulses, or aliasing.

# Calculation of the Impulse Response from Original and Reverberated Chirp

Now reopen the dialog **Impulse response extraction** in the menu **Object**. The dialog elements for calculating the impulse response are featured on the left hand side of the dialog.

- Original Chirp: Select the audio file or object that contains the original unprocessed chirp here. Via the ... button you reach a file selection dialog.
  - **i** If the audio file of the original chirp is not available, you can select the **[Manual]** option and set the parameters used to generate the chirp on the right side of the dialog. Note that if the set parameters differ from those of the original chirp used, usable results will no longer be obtained.
- Reverberated Chirp: Here you select the audio file or object that contains the reverberated chirp. In the list field all objects present in the project are listed, with Only objects from active track only objects of the selected track are listed. The letter "T" (for track) and the track numbers are placed in front of the object names in the list.
- Decay cutoff threshold: Here you can specify the threshold of the signal value in dB, below which the impulse response will be cut off.
- Adjust length to power of two: This option fades the impulse response so that the length in samples is slightly less than a power of two. This is used to optimize the performance when using the impulse response in the room simulator.
- **Create wave project only**: The impulse response is saved as an audio file only.
- Insert in current VIP: An object with the impulse response in the current project is additionally created.
- Batch processing in current VIP: This allows to calculate several impulse responses one after the other. The precondition for this is that the same original chirp was always used. Arrange the reverberated chirps under the object of the original chirp one track at a time. The impulse responses are calculated from all objects one after the other. The impulse responses are inserted behind the objects with the reverberated chirps, respectively.

**i** Individual objects can be excluded from batch processing via the **M** button of the tracks.

- **Preview**: Calculates and plays the impulse response.
- **Generate**: Calculates and saves the impulse response.

#### Chirp Residuals in the Impulse Response

It may happen that the calculated impulse responses contain residues of the chirp signal used. Typical causes for this are explained below and remedies are described.

#### Aliasing

When using older digital reverb devices that work with lower internal sampling rates, aliasing may occur. In the spectrogram representation of the recorded chirp, the chirp mirrored in the frequency domain can be easily recognized.

To remedy this, experiment with different sample rates and see if the aliasing component is reduced when you use digital inputs and outputs instead of analog.

Otherwise, only use of a very long chirp will help. The interfering signal then extends in the impulse response over a narrow frequency range (e.g. 12000 Hz - 12100 Hz) and can be removed there with the FFT filter (287).

#### Faulty Impulses during Recording, Reverberation or Signal Transmission

Impulses or impulse-like acoustic sounds also produce chirp residue in the calculated impulse response. The process reacts very sensitively to these noises. Even pulses with a level of less than -50 dB have a disturbing effect.

Causes of faulty pulses:

- Clicks when playing the chirp or recording the reverberated chirp, e.g. when the chirp is not played from the beginning.
- Discontinuity due to premature termination of the recording, e.g. due to an incompletely recorded reverb tail after the end of the chirp.
- Impulsive sounds during recording of natural spaces such as falling objects, footsteps, chairs moving, etc.
- Faulty cables, connectors or similar.

To remedy this, avoid impulsive noises during playback and recording. To determine the cause of the interfering pulses, listen carefully to the reverberated chirp. If the disturbing pulses sound like the recorded room or effect device, the faulty pulses have occurred during playback. If the noise sounds "dry", the faulty impulses occurred during recording. In the spectrogram display of the visualization, these impulses may be recognized as vertical lines.

#### Different Characteristics of the DA-Converter for the Playback of the Chirp and the AD-Converter for the Recording of the Reverberated Chirp

If you're working with different sound cards/devices, a chirp-like noise may occur shortly prior to the start of the impulse response. The pop noise at the beginning of the impulse response sounds "chirped" in this case.

To remedy this, always use the same device for recording and playback.

## Tips and Tricks

#### **Digital Reverb Devices**

- Use the digital in and outputs, provided these are present.
- If only analog in and outputs are available, then these should be used with a 24-bit converter.
- Underdriving worsens the signal noise interval.
- Digital distortion should definitely be avoided.
- The parameter for the mixing the reverberated signal ("dry" component) should be set to zero.
- Draw the chirp completely up until the reverb decays.
- Don't allow any switching on and off clicking sounds to enter the recording of the reverberated chirp.
- The chirp length does not normally need to be longer than one minute. This does not apply if chirp residues appear in the result. Details can be found in the corresponding section above. In practice, a length of 47 sec has proven effective in rooms.
- A bandwidth of 50-15000 Hz is normally sufficient.
- For chirp playback and recording of the reverberated chirp, you should use converters with identical properties (not different devices).

#### Multi-channel Impulse Responses

When recording multichannel impulse responses for surround room simulation, true multichannel recording is not absolutely necessary. The impulse responses for the different positions can also be recorded one after the other.

To synchronize the recordings, record the individual positions in stereo, using a reference microphone for the second stereo channel that always remains in the same position.

The stereo recordings of the impulse responses can now be synchronized perfectly in the virtual project with the reference signal on the second channel. Then you can obtain the surround impulse responses by exporting all the stereo recordings together, muting the channel of the reference microphone in each track

#### **Natural Rooms**

- Slight analog overloads of the speakers or amplifiers used to reproduce the chirp are not problematic, at least when longer chirps are used.
- Avoid digital distortion in the AD/DA converter.
- The louder the chirps are played, the better the signal-to-noise ratio will be in the measurement.
- The longer the chirps are, the better constant noises such as traffic or hissing will be removed from the resulting impulse response. You can also use longer chirps (> 1min) to extract impulse responses with very good signal-to-noise ratio at lower playback volume.
- Be sure to avoid impulsive noise during recording.
- The linear distortions from microphones, amplifiers, speakers transfer to the impulse response. For this reason, use components that are as high-quality as possible. The speaker is normally the weakest link in the chain.

#### Long chirps

Computing impulse responses from longer chirps is very computationally expensive and requires a lot of memory. For example, for chirps with a length of 6 minutes at 44.1 kHz, approx. 700 MB RAM is required. Make sure that enough RAM is present in this case.

The progress bar behaves non-linearly during the calculation, it progresses slower and slower as the number of operations increases towards the end of the calculation.

If you are planning a larger number of calculations, it is recommended to use batch processing in the virtual project.

# **Auto Ducking**

Auto Ducking is a dialog-based tool for creating volume curves for the automated fade-in and fade-out of background music to spoken content. This modifies the volume automation curve

of one or more destination tracks based on the volume of the audio material of one or more source tracks. To do this, proceed as follows:

- 1. Create a montage from speech parts and music.
- 2. Place the audio on different tracks, separated by speech and music.
- 3. Open the Auto Ducking dialog (Menu Edit > Auto Ducking...).

Auto Ducking			×
Preset:	~	Save Load	Delete
Name	Source Duck	Strength (dB)	3.00
1. Video		Fade-in length (ms)	500
<ol> <li>Narrator</li> <li>Interview</li> </ol>		Fade-in offset (%)	0.00
4. Music		Independent Fade-out	
5. Jingle		Fade-out length (ms)	500
6. S: 6		Fade-out offset (%)	0.00
7. S: 7 8. S: 8		Threshold (dB)	-40.00
9. S: 9		Min. intervall (ms)	2000
		Marked range only Absolute (not relative) Duck on object borders	(audio independent) Anwenden

- 4. Specify which tracks (**Duck**) should be affected by the volume of other tracks (**Source**). In this example, the background music and video are affected by two voice tracks.
- 5. Click **Apply**. On the "ducked" track a volume curve will be created, which automatically fades the background music in and out at the points where speech recordings with corresponding levels are available.



The following **Options** are available:

**Strength**: Value in dB by which the tracks are lowered. Negative values allow increases.

Fade-in length: Duration of the fade.

**Fade-in offset**: Time offset of the fade-in. With 0%, the volume change starts at the beginning of the source material. With 100%, the fade is performed completely before the source material.

**Independent Fade-out** If active, the length and offset can be set for fade ins/fade outs independently.

**Fade-out length** Length of the fade at the end of a volume adjustment.

**Fade-out-Offset**: Offset value for fade outs. With 0%, the volume change starts in the source material and ends at the end of the source material. At 100% the fade will happen entirely after the source material.

Threshold: Value in dB that the level of the source audio must exceed to trigger ducking.

**Min.Interval**: Minimum time that the source material may fall below the threshold without stopping ducking in this section. This is useful for example to straddle short pauses in speech.

Only marked ranges: Auto ducking will only be used in the selected range.

**Absolute (not relative)**: When applying ducking, the volume curve is recalculated and existing curve points are deleted. If this option is not active, a relative change takes place, i.e. already existing curve points are adjusted by the value of the change. Note that when ducking is applied multiple times in relative mode, the decreases add up.

**Duck on object borders (audio independent)**: Ducking is done independently of the audio material and is performed on the object edges of the source tracks.

# **Transferring Edits**

If you have made a multitrack recording with a large number of tracks and want to edit them, you can, in order to work more performantly, make the editing with only one track and then apply these edits to the other tracks using the **Transfer Edits** function.

The function relies on the fact that, on the one hand, when setting up a project for recording, the recorded files are named uniformly according to a specific naming scheme (either unique track names or track numbers as a part of the name) and, on the other hand, that the objects of a multitrack recording are always arranged exactly over each other on the tracks.

Here's how you do it:

- 1. Create your recording project.
- 2. Right-click in a track name field at the Track head to open the **Track options** dialog.

- 3. In the lower part of the **recording** dialog, click **All tracks...** and select a naming scheme for the recording files. Select a scheme that includes either the track number or the track name. (Not both, or it will not work later!) If you use the track name, the labels should be unique and the track names should not be changed later.
- 4. Make your recording.
- 5. Select all objects and press the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl+U** to ungroup them.
- 6. Select a reference track from the recording that you want to use for the edit, and delete the objects on all other tracks.
- 7. Carry out your edits in the remaining track. All forms of virtual editing are possible, including transitions and object effects.
- 8. Once the editing is complete, you restore the other tracks, and transfer your edits from the reference track in the process. To do this, open the **Transfer Edits...** dialog from the **Edit** menu.

Set the options in the dialog:

- **Source track**: This is the finished edited reference track whose edits are to be transferred.
- Destination tracks: These are the tracks for which audio material is available and which are to be cut according to the reference track. e.g. track 2...4.
- Create missing tracks: If not already existing, new tracks will be created for the desired number of tracks.
- **Ignore locked tracks**: When transferring, locked tracks are omitted and no objects are created on those tracks.
- Vertical grouping: The objects lying on top of each other are grouped again, so the default state after a multi-track recording is restored.
- **Marked range only**: This limits the edit transfer to the selected part of the project.
- **Filename**: Select here the naming scheme according to which the files of the project were named during recording:

(file name) You can specify a file name in the field below, to which the number(track of the corresponding track is then automatically added.number)

- ...(track The files differ only in the track number. Select this option if a
- number)... scheme with track number was selected when recording.

(track	Select this option if a scheme including the track name was
name)	selected when recording.
Track record	The name for the record file is the one that was set up in the
file name	corresponding track in the track settings.

In the file list, the Source Track file is displayed at the top, marked with an S and its track number. The other tracks are listed underneath, each with the identification D for the destination, the track number and the associated file. If the file does not exist, the file will be marked with **(NOT FOUND)**.

If more tracks are affected than can be viewed, you can review all tracks by clicking the **Test** button. If an error occurs, the first missing file will be shown. You should then check your details and the existing files and their names in the project folder.

Click **OK** to apply all edits and all properties of the reference objects, such as object volume, resampling, and effects, to the other tracks.

## **Auto-Conforming**

Auto-conforming lets you apply edits from a video edit to a multitrack recording made in the same shooting situation.

Suppose a concert performance was simultaneously recorded with **Sequoia** and filmed with a video camera. After that, the video was edited and other material was inserted.



Example of a reference EDL project (created here in **Sequoia**, but the depiction is similar to any video editing program)

If you now want to replace the original sound of the camera with that of the multitrack recording in the video, you would have to select the corresponding sections individually from the recording, export them and load them into the video project at the right places.

Auto-conforming helps by analyzing a cut list of the video in EDL format and transferring the contained cuts that affect this audio recording 1:1 to all tracks of the audio project.

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Oboe			
		+	· • • ·
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Bassoon			
Seq_Demo_RushHour_PercBambusSticks EQ11	5 <u> </u>		
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Perc			
Seq_Demo_RushHour_BassDrum	• •		+
Can Dama Duchklaur Videnhan			
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Xylophon	• • • • •		· · · · ·
Sea Demo BushHour Vibranhone	-		
Seq_benio_Rushribur_vibraphone	-		
Sea Demo RushHour Celesta	· · · · ·		
- Seg Demo RushHour Piano1			
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
- Seg Demo RushHour Piano2	=		
			• * ** **
Seq_Demo_RushHour_V1	· · ·		· · ·
Seq_Demo_RushHour_V2			
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Cello			······
Design Design Design Design			
Seq_Demo_RushHour_Viola			
Can Dama Duchtlaus Dans human	· · · · · ·		
- Sed_nemo_knauunoass	a or an compress :		

Project of the corresponding live recording

You will receive a modified version of the audio recording project, containing only the sections used in the video at the correct positions.

- Concert 🛶	Concert R.	- Concert Re-
Concert	Concert P	Concert Day
	Concert R-	R CONCERT RED
- Concert =	Concert R-	- Concert Reu
-0-10000 000000000000000000000000000000	مستحسب ورجور	
- Concert =	Concert R=	- Concert Rep
	-	
Concert =	Concert R=	- Concert Re¤
Concert>	⊠ Concert i R≃	- Concert Re¤
-0-40 000 00.0000 00.0000	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O	
-« Concert 🛥	Concert R	Concert Re¤
-c-reconstrained black		
	Concert R-	Red Concert Red
- Concert w	Concert P	Concert Der
- concert -	A CONCERT IN	Concert Rea
< Concert >	Concert R	- Concert : Rei
-0-10 COL - 0-10 COL -		
	Concert R-	- Concert Reg
-0-0000 CD 2000 A	مسيسمسه بن يدر بين	
-« Concert 🛥	× Concert R≃	Concert Re¤
« Concert 🗯	Concert : R>	≻ Concert : Reŭ
Consed	Concert D	Concept De
		- Concert Re=
- Concert	Concert P	Concert De
Concert	A CONCERT IN	Concert Rea

Result of the auto-conforming

You can now export this project and, after removing the original sound of the video recordings in the video project, use it as a new sound track.



Attention: In order for the auto-conforming to work, the video recording and the audio recording must be exactly synchronized in time.

Here's how you do it:

1. Open the project with the multitrack audio recording and select **Auto-Conforming...** from the **Edit** menu. The dialog Auto-Conforming will then be opened.

Auto Conform	ing					×	
Referenz	<u>I</u> mport						
Datei	C:\Users\r	ajko.aust\	Documents\MAGIX\Sequ	oia 16\2021-05-05 1	12-55\2021-05-05 1	2	
Kanal	02: A1				×	~	
Reel	01: Sequo	ia			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	~	
Optionen	Referenzspur dem Projekt hinzufügen						
	Vertika	ale Gruppie	rung	✓ Festgesetzte S	puren ignorieren		
Ziel	<mark>∕ Alle S</mark> p	ouren confe	omen				
	Spur	Vergl	Name		^	•	
	✓ 1.	=	Oboe (Seq_Demo_Rush	Hour_Oboe.flac)			
	✓ 2.	=	Bassoon (Seq_Demo_R	ushHour_Bassoo			
	✓ 3.	=	Bambus Sticks (Seq_Demo_RushHour_P				
	☑ 4.	=	Percussion (Seq_Demo_RushHour_Perc				
	5.	=	Bass Drum (Seq_Demo_	RushHour_Bass			
	✓ 6.	=	Xylophone (Seq_Demo_	RushHour_Xylop			
	☑ 7.	=	Vibraphone (Seq_Demo_	_RushHour_Vibr			
	✓ 8.	=	Celesta (Seq_Demo_Rus	shHour_Celesta.f			
	✓ 9.	=	Piano 1 (Seq_Demo_Ru	shHour_Piano1.fl			
	✓ 10.	=	Piano 2 (Seq_Demo_Ru	shHour_Piano2.fl			
	✓ 11.	=	Violin 1 (Seq_Demo_RushHour_V1.flac)				
	✓ 12.	=	Violin 2 (Seq_Demo_RushHour_V2.flac)				
	✓ 13.	=	Cello (Seq_Demo_RushHour_Cello.flac)				
	✓ 14.	14. = Viola (Seq_Demo_RushHour_Viola.flac)					
	15. = Bass (Seq_Demo_RushHour_Bass.flac)						
	✓ 16.	x	Rev 1 (empty)				
	☑ 17.	Х	Rev 2 (empty)		~	1	
Log Datei	Erstelle	en	Anzeigen				
<u>H</u> ilfe				Confor	m <u>A</u> bbruch		

2. With **Import** you load the reference file, i.e. the project of the edited video, in EDL (CMX3600), AAF or **Sequoia** VIP format.

You then have the option to select the frame rate if it differs from the standard frame rate (30fps).

- **3**. At **channel**, select the track that contains the reel(s) of video and original audio that you want to replace.
- 4. Go to **Reel** and select the video file that contains the original sound.

i In EDL format, the reel name can only contain 8 characters. If the channel (track) still contains material from other reels, ensure that the files are named uniquely before editing.

It may also happen that the video footage used is from different reels, if several consecutive takes of the recording were used. Then select the option **All reels with different timecodes**.

▲ The reels of the different takes must be on one track and the timecodes of the different takes must not overlap!

- 5. At **Target** the target tracks are now listed and the objects on the tracks are compared with the length of the reel. Conforming only makes sense for tracks where the length is the same (indicated by a = sign). Use the checkboxes to deactivate individual tracks in order to exclude them from conforming. The **Conform all tracks** option above selects all tracks.
- 6. With **Conform** the editing is executed and the Auto-Conforming dialog is closed.

## Options

Add reference track to the project: For control purposes, you can optionally add the reference track from the EDL as a track to your project. If the corresponding reels (audio or video files) are not available locally, the object references in them will go nowhere, but you can still see the position of the objects.

**Duplicate project:** By default, a copy of the project is created for the conformed version. If you deactivate this option, the conforming is executed directly in the active project.

**Vertical grouping:** By default, the objects lying on top of each other in the individual cuts are grouped together; you can deactivate this here.

**Ignore locked tracks:** By default, locked tracks are excluded from conforming, you can deactivate this here.

## Log file

If the option **Create log file** is active, a log file is generated during conforming and stored in the project folder of the target project. The settings of the dialog (reference file, channel, reels, content of the target display) are stored in this for later review. If you also activate **Open log file**, the log file is opened immediately in the text editor after conforming.

# **Macro Functionality**

With macros you have the possibility to combine frequently needed consecutive commands as a macro and execute them together.

With the control commands used in the macros (referred to as "macro commands" in the following), Sequoia can also be operated via text input, e.g. search for specific object or track names, filter the displayed tracks by name, zoom, scroll and much more!

If you are using an EUCON controller, you can assign softkeys to the macros in the EUControl app. In order for the macros to be available in the EUcontrol app, it must first be restarted.

#### **Recording Macros**

To record macros, click the magnifying glass icon on the command search bar (arrow49) and select **Record Macro** from the menu or select Menu **File** > **Program Preferences** > **Record Macro**.

Search	<u> </u>	?	
		Recent commands	
.00	0.01.00.000	#tfilter	
00.01.00.000		#tfilter vocals	
Applause 1&2 0 dB EQ116		#tfilter perc	
		#fx.eq116	
		#file.import	
		Macros Record macro	
CFE select 100 ms fad		Edit Macros	>
CFE select SD preset	15	SD Macros	>
Swap Objects		Transport Macros	>

For this function, you can also add a dedicated icon to the toolbar (251)

1. Execute the commands consecutively that you want to record together as a macro.

**i Example:** Place the play cursor over the selected object and press the keyboard shortcut "T" to split the object and then use the keyboard combination "Ctrl + D" to duplicate and move.

- 2. If you have executed your command sequence, chose **Record macro** again.
- 3. Now give the newly created macro a name and save it.
**i)** Note: Only simple command sequences without settings dialogs can be recorded in the way described. For more complex macros we recommend editing the macro files in a text editor (see below). This also allows the use of other functions, e.g. crossfade editor functions. A complete list with short descriptions of the commands available can be found in the file MacroCommand.list in the program folder.

#### **Executing Macros**

Macros can be executed using the following methods:

via the context menu of the command search bar

Macros	
Record macro	
Edit Macros	>
SD Macros	>
Transport Macros	>
split_duplicate	

- directly in the command search bar with the command #run
  - #run MacroName

(in our example: #run split duplicate)

- In the Macro menu of keyboard settings/menu settings you can also assign a keyboard shortcut (₽730) to any macro.
- In the toolbars (abla 52) you can assign your own buttons to the macros.
- When playing over specially named project markers (see below).

#### Creating and Editing Macro Files in a Text Editor

Macro files are simple text files. To create a macro file, open a text editor, copy and paste the desired command sequence from the MacroCommand.list file and save the file in the .macro format in the c:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Sequoia 17 > "Macros" folder.



The "AppData" folder is not visible unless the the option Hidden Items is selected on the "View" tab of the Windows Explorer.

To edit existing macro files, open them and insert additional command sequences.

#### Executing Macros/Macro Commands at Project Markers

To execute macros at a specific playback position, you can use project markers.

- Place the play cursor at the desired position in the project and select Menu Play/Rec > Marker > Marker with name....
- 2. Name the macro marker Macro#MacroCommand, e.g. Macro#zoom.1s.
- **3.** This causes the corresponding macro command to be executed each time the play cursor reaches the marker during playback. In this example: The zoom factor, i.e. the screen section displayed, changes to one second.
- 4. Entire macro files with a sequence of macro commands can be executed instead of individual macro commands. To do this, name the marker in the form Macro#run filename.macro.

#### **Executing Macro commands in the Command Search Bar**

In the command search bar, macro commands can be executed by first typing in # as in the following:

- #tfind TrackName
- #tfilter TrackName (Reset using #tfilter, without arguments)
- #mfind MarkerName
- #ofind ObjectName
- #rfind RangeName
- #timeedit.startpos ms -1000
- A complete list with short descriptions of the commands available can be found in the file MacroCommand.list in the program folder.

#### Aliases for Macro Commands

Besides the macros in the folder c:\ProgramData\Magix\Sequoia 17 there is also a special file alias.list.

In this file you can assign your own names for certain macro commands, e.g. "zoom+" and "zoomin" for zooming in:

[Aliases] zoom+=zoom.in zoomin=zoom.in or "zoomout" und "zoom-" for zooming out: [Aliases] zoomout=zoom.out

zoom-=zoom.out

650 / 778

Note: These names cannot be used as macro commands in macro files.

## Multi-user Operation/Administration

If a **Sequoia** workstation is to be used by several users, the administration function can be used to ensure that each user can work with their own user-specific settings.

Each user has their own independent set of preferences that are loaded when they log in:

- Visible and hidden menu entries
- Keyboard shortcut
- Color settings, skins, default folder paths
- Toolbars and icons
- VIP display modes
- Lock options, crossfade editor properties, undo settings, dithering, etc.
- Crossfade presets

Note: Users access a common folder for all effects presets (reverb, room simulator, FFT filter), mixer presets, and color schemes – in short, everything that is saved in .\fx-presets. If you want to protect your personal user presets then you should save these in another folder. However •this means that they •are no longer •displayed •in •the •preset selection lists.

The user settings can also be managed via a network drive and can thus be made available for several different workstations.

### Set up multi-user operation

To set up **Sequoia** for multi-user operation, chose Menu **File** > **Program Settings** > **Administration** or in the System Options at **Load and Save Settings** the button **User Administration**.

If the user administration does not yet contain any entries, you must first create an Admin user and assign a password. Next, the dialog for user management will open.

Jser Name	Login	Last Login Time	Access Limitation	Fixed Setti
dmin	•	Donnerstag, 9. November 2023 16:16:37		
uest				
ohn		Donnerstag, 9. November 2023 16:13:30		
aul		Donnerstag, 9. November 2023 16:16:04		
No. 11	Delete Use	Colt Deserved		Eword Cattings

In this dialog you can create or delete users and change the password of a user. **Sequoia** shows when each user was last logged in, whether there are access restrictions to paths or whether the settings can be permanently changed by the user himself or not.

When multi-user mode is active, this option will only be available to the administrator, i.e. only the administrator may add or delete users and activate/deactivate multi-user operation. This option is grayed out for the regular user, and also in the network operation (₱654).

### Create new user

To set up a new user, click the button **New user** and enter the username and a password (optional). If you want to adopt the settings of an existing user, first select this user and then click on **New user**. The option **Copy all settings from ...** is now active. Confirm with **OK** to copy all settings from an available user to the new user.

## **User properties**

**User access rights** You can assign access rights for the respective user. You can specify some of drives and folders for which write accesses (recording, export...) are allowed. All other folders can then not be written to. Conversely, you can lock individual folders or drives against write access.

**Fixed settings**: The button **Fixed settings** allows you to lock the program settings for a user. For the affected user, this means that the settings can be changed during the program runtime, but after each restart of the program, the settings that were specified when the user was created will apply again.

## Change user password

If multi-user operation is set up, a logged-in user can change his password via **Menu File** > **Program Settings > Change User Password.** 



The administrator can change the passwords of any local user via the administration function; in multi-user operation via a network drive, he must use the **AdminCreator tool** for this purpose (see below).

### Activate/deactivate multi-user mode

Once the administration dialog has been opened and an administrator password has been assigned, Sequoia is in multi-user mode and each user must log in to Sequoia with a valid username/password when starting the program.

Sequoia Logi	n		×
<u>U</u> ser Name:	Admin	~	]
<u>P</u> assword:	•••••		]
<u>0</u> K		<u>C</u> ancel	]

With the option **Use network login** user settings from a network drive can also be used for the login process (see below).

Multi-user mode may be deactivated with the option **Login at program startup**. In this case, the administrator's settings will be used.

If a valid network path for settings ( $\nearrow$ 755) is specified in the program settings at **Save and load** settings, the login screen is still displayed when the program is started. This makes it possible to log in as a network user with a specific user profile or locally without a specific user name.

() You cannot change your identity while the program is running. You will need to exit and restart the program to log in under a different identity.

If you delete the user Admin, **Sequoia** will be completely reset to single-user operation.

**Caution**: All user settings will be lost!

### Set up multi-user operation on a network folder

You can also manage user settings centrally on a network folder to make them available to different workstations on the network. For this purpose, the network folder must contain the settings of the users as well as their login data in a sequoia admin.ini.

Here's how you do it:

- Let each user store a Setting Container (↗753) with their individual settings, collect these containers and name them after the respective users (e.g. Meier.INZ, Schulze.INZ...).
- 2. Place all these containers in the network folder.
- 3. Unzip the file RemoteSetupTools.zip from the program folder to the network folder.
- 4. To create the new users in the sequoia\_admin.ini use the command line program AdminCreator.exe (see below) in the program folder. For new users, a blank password is created, which the user can customize via menu File > Program Settings > Change User Password. With AdminCreator.exe you can also assign passwords to users instantly.

On each **Sequoia** workstation that is to use network user management, the network folder must be set at **Network Path for Settings** in the section **Load and Save Settings**.

Destructive effect calculatio Loudness	n	Remote setting path:
- Import / Export Settings		
Project Options	~	Use remote login by default

Activate the option **Network login as default** to use the network login by default at **Sequoia** startup.

When a user logs in via the network login, their settings are copied from the network folder to a temporary local folder.

#### i Notes:

- Copying the settings from the server is done using the batch file remote\_setup\_ copy\_from\_server.bat. You can customize this file as an administrator. (e.g. additional matching of fx-preset and template folders). The batch file is always searched for on the server first, and then locally.
- In order to display administrator information for all users in an additional text field in the login dialog, create a file named AdminInfo.rtf in the network path. This rtf file should be created with Wordpad in order to ensure correct display.
- Attention: If you have already worked with network logins in older Sequoia versions, please extract the contents of RemoteSetupTools.zip from the program folder to your network folder again, because changes have been made to both AdminCreator.exe and remote setup copy from server.bat.

#### Template usage (project templates, crossfade templates)

- User-specific templates are now stored in fx-preset/user\_name/templates.
- If user-specific templates are present, only these will be displayed to the user when creating new projects. If those templates don't exist then the templates of the local admin will be displayed.
- Templates are now also saved in the INZ container. If there are no user specific templates available, the templates of the local admin will be saved.
- When importing INZ containers, previously available user-specific templates are deleted.
- Recent Files lists and work paths for remote users are saved separately for each remote user in the audio.ini file of the admin (in other sections)
- The current recent files list is kept when importing INZ containers. It is only lost if the audio.ini is overwritten by the admin, e.g. when loading an INZ container.

### AdminCreator tool

Unzip the content of the file RemoteSetupTools.zip into the network folder and start the AdminCreator tool with

```
AdminCreator.exe /T:"c:\ini" /U:"UserName" /P:"UserPassword" /N /R /I
```

- /T:"" = Path for sequoia\_admin.ini (remote), if AdminCreator.exe is not started directly in the network folder.
- /U:"" = user name
- /P:"" = password

If username and password are specified, only the password for the specified user will be changed, no users will be added or removed.

- /1 = All existing users in the sequoia\_admin.ini will be deleted. If /N has not been set, then all settings containers available on the network drive will be added again as users.
- /N = no new user will be added to sequoia\_admin.ini, even in case a new settings container is present. (this makes sense in combination with option /R)
- /R = Users that are contained in sequoia\_admin.ini but for which no setting container exists are removed from sequoia admin.ini.

# SAVING, IMPORTING AND EXPORTING

This chapter covers all topics related to loading and saving project files, project file properties and settings, and importing and exporting media files.

## **Creating New Projects**

To create a new project, go to menu **File** > **New virtual project...** (keyboard shortcut **E**) or click this button in the upper toolbar.

The **New virtual project** dialog opens, where you define the most important properties of the new project. Most of these properties can be changed later.

*i* All settings made here (except for the name of the project) will apply to future new projects, even after the program is closed.

<u>N</u> ame:	Jam Session				
File <u>P</u> ath:	D:\Recor	ding_Projects\Jam Session			
Presets					
Project	<u>T</u> emplate:				
Mi	xer Setup:	~			
Surrou	ind Setup:	~			
		Project Options			
Track Nu 1 Tra 2 Tra 4 Tra 8 Tra Custo	umber: ck cks cks cks m: 16	Sample Rate 44100 V Hz Default Project Length: 1 min 60 min 10 min 74 min			
Multi Source Session, Source Number: 1					

- **Name**: Enter a name for the new project here. By default, the current date is set as the name.
- **File path**: Here you can define in which folder you want to store your project. By default, the new project is created in the default folder for projects, see Program Preferences >

Program > General (2727). The folder icon can be used to browse to another location, the arrow button can be used to select from the last used paths.

- Create new project subfolder: By default, a subfolder is created with the project name in the file path.
- Project template: In this list box you can choose from supplied and your own project templates. These templates are actually ordinary projects. Therefore, you can create your own project templates by saving a project with the command Menu File > More > Save project as template. A new project using a project template gets all its properties, including busses, track states like mute or record, routings, instrument and effect plug-ins, but no objects.

When a project template is selected, the track number, mixer, and surround setup settings are not available.

- Mixer setup: In this list box, you can choose from supplied and own custom mixer presets. These presets include the number and type of tracks and busses, as well as input/output and effect routing. For more information, see Mixer setup (\$\nothermole{7}662\$). If you have selected a mixer preset with surround master, you can select a surround format in the Surround Setup list box below it.
- **Project Options**: The dialog corresponds to the General Project Options dialog (*P*659), where you can make settings such as snap and grid settings, BPM, auto crossfade... for each loaded project. However, the project options here apply to any newly created project.

-\go To set project properties as default for all new projects at a later time, activate the option **Save as default** in the dialog **Project options**.

- Number of tracks: The start track count of the virtual project is defined here. You can add more tracks with Menu Track > Insert New Tracks (*P*131).
- **Sample Rate**: Here you can set the sample rate of the virtual project.
- Default project length: Here you can set the original project length. The length is automatically adjusted when loading audio files or recording and can also change when zooming out.
- Multi Source Session, Number of sources: Here you can enter the number of desired source projects of a multi-source session. Sequoia then creates a destination project and the selected number of source projects.

## **Project Properties**

All project-specific settings dialogs and some special dialogs of the program are combined in one large dialog, from which you can also reach the other settings dialogs via the tree structure on the right. The quickest way to open it is to use the keyboard shortcut **I** or also menu **File** > **Project Properties** > **Project options...**.

Project Options - General			×
Project Options     Auto Save     Auto Save     More Setup     Synchronization     MIDI Machine Control (MMC)     Project Information     Project Information     Project Files     Broadcast Wave     System Options	Project Sample rate (Hz): 44100	Recording Lock recorded objects Group objects after multirecor Editing Destructive Mode Auto Qrossfade Mode	d Ber/BPM Signature 4 / 4 BPM 145.01 PPQ 384 Get BPM from set, range
	Snap/Grid Snap to: Objects @ Beats/Bars @ Beats/Bars Beats (Pative) O Grid/Frames O Frames	CD Arrangement Mode	Display SMPTE with subframes Subframe number: 100 ~
	Snap offset to project start:	Use Snap offset	Randard pitch (Hz) 440.000
		Save as default	QK Cancel Help

Use the bottom entry **System options** in the tree to switch to the tree structure with the Program preferences (2707).

## **General Project Options**

In this dialog you make the most important settings for the current project. This includes global specification of beat and tempo in BPM, recording and editing options, and snap and grid settings.

You open the general project options via menu **File** > **Project properties** > **Project options...** (keyboard shortcut: **I**).

Project Sample rate (Hz): 44100 Project start time: 0 Smpl Project length: 2.646.000 Smpl	Recording Lock recorded objects Group objects after multirecord Editing Destructive Mode Auto Grossfade Mode CD Arrangement Mode	Bar/BPM Signature 4 / 4 BPM 145.01 PPQ 384 Get BPM from sel. range Beats in selected range: 4
Snap/Grid Snap to: Objects Range Beats/Bars Beats (relative) Grid/Frames Frames	current range for snap	Display SMPTE with subframes Subframe number: 100 🗸
Snap offset to project start: 0 \$mpl Use of Show grid Samples	Urrent position for offset	ndard pitch (Hz) 440.000
	Save as default QK	Cancel Help

**Save as default**: If you activate this option before closing the dialog with **OK**, the settings in the dialog will be the default values used in all newly created projects. This also happens if you open this dialog from the dialog New project (2657).

#### Project

- Sample rate (Hz): This displays the sample rate used in the project. If you change this value and the project already contains audio and MIDI objects, you will be asked whether the objects should be adjusted to the modified sample rate. The adjustment is default on, since it is not useful only in rare exceptional cases.
- Project start time: Here you can determine the project start time. This is useful when loading audio files that should be placed at the original time positions (timestamps) of the recording. If a recorder with free running timecode (clock) was used, this would create a gap of many hours in front of the audio, making zooming and navigation difficult. You can compensate for this gap by specifying a project start time. If you change the start time, you will be asked whether you want to leave the objects in the project at the current time positions or whether the time positions should be adjusted. With an adjustment, the objects remain visually at the same time position; without an adjustment, all objects are moved together with the timeline.
- **Project length**: The project length is displayed here in bars and beats.

-ŷ- If the general program preference (↗727) No change of project size when zooming is active, you can extend your project here. If this option is not active, the project will automatically extend when you zoom out further. In this case you can use the Project Length setting here to shorten it again.

#### **Recording/Editing**

Here you can make some settings for recording and editing:

- **Lock recorded objects**: Recorded objects are protected against unintentional moving.
- Group objects after multirecord: Objects that belong together will be grouped after a multitrack recording.
- **Destructive editing mode** (Wave projects only): Switches between destructive editing and real-time audio editing for wave projects (*2*582).

 $\dot{\phi}$  This option can also be set directly in the menu **File** > **Project properties** 

■ Auto crossfade mode (*2*176)/ CD arrangement mode (*2*596): The respective modes are activated when the project is loaded. For more information, read the corresponding linked help topics.

#### Bar/BPM

Set here the global **time signature** (numerator/denominator) and the global tempo in beats per minute (**BPM**). **PPQ** is the timer resolution (Peaks Per Quarter) and determines how many ticks a quarter note is divided into.

-ġ- Tempo and time signature can change during the course of the project, read the chapter Project Tempo (₹374) for more information on this.

You can have the global tempo determined by selecting a range in the project. Select a range in the project by hearing, using the waveforms, and enter the number of beats that comprise your selection in the field next to **Beats in selected range**. Then click **Get BPM from sel. range**, to set the tempo in BPM based on the selected range.

## Snap/Grid

**Snap to**: Here you can switch the grid on and off. Various snap types can be selected:

- **Objects**: Objects snap to the edges of other objects and to markers when moved.
- **Beat**: Musical time measures are used as step size for the grid. In the menu next to the option you can select the unit for snap.
- Beat (relative): A beat grid is also used as a basis, but an object retains its relative distance to the next snap point when it is moved.
- With Snap to range the grid is similar to the beat grid, except that the snap width is defined by selecting a range before activating the grid. The length of this range then corresponds to one bar, and the snap width can be divided according to the Q value as with the beat snap.
- **Frames**: A frame length is used as step size. The exact frame length depends on the set frame rate (SMPTE). Thus, the grid corresponds to the spacing of the frames in a video.
- **Frame grid (relative)**: The step size is also frame, as with the relative beat snap, the relative distance to the snap point is preserved when moving.

 $\dot{\psi}$  For more information on the function of the snap, see Snap (278)

**Snap offset to project start**: Sets the snap offset relative to the beginning of the project. **Use current position for offset** specifies the current position of the play cursor as the grid's zero position.

**Show grid**: When the option is turned on, the grid is displayed, according to the unit of measurement selected in the menu next to it.

Use snap offset also for grid: The snap offset is also used as offset for the grid.

**Show SMPTE with sub-frames**: The SMPTE position is additionally indicated with sub-frames for all e-time specifications in the program. At **Sub-Frame Count**, specify the number of subdivisions for a frame.

**Default Pitch**: In this field you can change the default pitch for the concert pitch a' (440 Hz) if you want to use an alternative tuning for the internal tuner (2580).

## **Mixer Setup**

The **Mixer Setup** dialog lets you quickly assign the desired number of tracks, busses, or masters to a project, automatically assign inputs and outputs to tracks, and initialize track panorama for mono or stereo recording tracks.

The settings of the dialog can be saved and loaded as a preset, whereby it can be flexibly determined which mixer settings are to be changed by loading the preset and which are not.

All changes to mixer, routing and tracks in the dialog are not applied until the dialog is closed with **OK**.

Setup ? In addition to opening the mixer setup via the Project Properties dialog and via menu File > Project Properties > Mixer Setup... (keyboard shortcut: Ctrl + Shift + M), you can also open it in the mixer itself with the Setup button in the upper right corner.

ave Load Delete
Master
Keep current setting
Stereo Master
Surround Master
5_1 ITU V Setup
ensation
``````````````````````````````````````
k (0 for active track) 0

#### Project and Mixer Configuration

Here you set the number of tracks, AUX busses and submix busses and configure the masters as well as the FX routing for all tracks and the stereo master.

**Tracks, submix busses, AUX busses**: The option **Keep current number** works both when saving and loading presets. It is initially activated for tracks, buses and AUX buses. Only if you change one of these numbers, it will be deactivated and only these changes will be included when saving a preset. For example, if you load the "4 Busses + 4 AUXes" preset, the number of tracks will not be changed, because the number of tracks is not included in the preset.

If a mixer preset is loaded that changes the number of tracks, AUX or submix busses, you can set the checkboxes respectively to prevent this. So if you only need four additional submix busses, you can still load the "4 Busses + 4 AUXes" preset and then activate the **Keep current number** option on the AUX busses.

**Surround** adds the desired number of surround submix busses and surround AUX busses respectively. The option only becomes active when a surround master exists or is to be created.

**Master**: Here you can provide the project with a stereo master and/or surround master. The option **Keep current setting** works the same way as for the track numbers. When selecting a surround master, you can also select a surround format from the menu by defining the number

of surround channels and their assignment to the output devices. For more information, see Surround settings (2543).

**FX Routing**: This opens the FX Routing dialog for the current track and the stereo master. Changes here are not applied to the mixer presets.

**Automatic latency compensation**: Automatic latency compensation for plug-ins is preset to on and should only be deactivated in exceptional cases.

### **Device Setup**

In this section you can assign the input and output devices for several tracks simultaneously and make automatic panorama settings for using mono or stereo tracks.

**I/O Devices** specifies whether the routings should be applied to the input devices, output devices, or both.

**Track count (O for all**) / **Start with track (O for active track)** determines to which tracks the routing changes are applied. For example, if you set the number of tracks to 4 and start with track 8, the selected routing preset will be applied to tracks 8-11.

In the menu **Routing** different automatic routing and panorama settings can be selected:

- **Keep current setup**: Similar to the other sections, there is also a flag for keeping the current settings.
- Assign all tracks to stereo master: The tracks and busses are routed to the master. With L/R Panning the track panorama is alternately set to left and right. Use this option if you want to record stereo sources as mono pairs.
- Assign all tracks to available stereo/mono devices: The tracks are assigned to the available output or input devices (\$715) in ascending order according to the option selected at I/O Devices. When routing to mono devices, the track panorama is set alternately to left and right.
- Assign tracks to surround channels: According to the selected surround format for the surround master, the first tracks are routed to the surround master and panned to the individual surround channels.
- Use the setup contained in the preset: When saving a preset, all device assignments are saved, but when loading this preset, only tracks and masters are created and the default assignment is used. If this option is selected, the device routing contained in the preset is also applied.

### Information

Information about the current project is displayed in these dialogs.

#### **Project Information**

Here you can enter metadata about the project that will be stored in the project file, such as project comments, copyright information, and artists and sound engineers involved.

The content of the field **Text comment** is also displayed in the Infomanager at **Project**. It is also stored next to the project in a separate text file in ASCII format (\*.asc).

Use the **Write protection** option to lock the text comment against accidental changes. If you set the **Show comment when opening** option, the Infomanager ( $\nearrow$ 356) opens to display the comment when you open the project.

Name:	jam Session		Text Comment (s	saved in extra .asc file)	
Comment:	jamming with friends	^	a comment		
		~			
Artist:	John				
Engineer:	Andy				
Technican:	Mike				
Keywords:	jam				
Software:					
Copyright:	all rights reserverd				
Subject:			Cut	Copy Paste	
	Set Global Get	Global	Read only	Show on start	

If you want to provide entries in this dialog with the same information more often, fill in the corresponding fields and click on **Set Global**. Next time you can then fill in these fields by clicking on **Get Global**.

#### **Project Status**

Name:	conquest.VIP
Path: C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude	Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\
Ranges:	0
Markers:	17
Creation:	31.05.2022 11:08:44
Last Edit:	25.04.2023 12:36:00
Objects:	16
Complete File Space:	548.5 MB
Vite to Document	

This dialog displays statistical information about the project: project name, path, number of ranges, markers, objects and takes, the date of creation and the last change. In the menu under the button **Clean up...** there are several functions for optimizing the project and deleting unnecessary data.

This does not delete any recorded audio data, for this there is the function Delete unused samples (₱703) in the menu File > Clean up & backup.

- **Remove ARA**: This function removes all ARA plug-in instances from the project.
- Remove obsolete take entries: When working in the take lanes and deleting objects, take entries are sometimes created that no longer have any function. For better performance and to reduce memory requirements, you can use this command to remove these entries.
- Remove all take entries: You can also remove all unused take entries once comping is complete in order to optimize the project.

#### **Project Files**

The **Project Files dialog** lists all audio files used in the project. Files located outside the project folder are listed separately.

Name	Directory	^	Relink file
2_25_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
2_26_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	Select objects
2_27_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude .	
2_28_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	Open file
2_29_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
2_30_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude .	
2_31_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
2_33_24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
3_39_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
3_44_M24.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
Bridgea.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude .	
Bridgeb.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	
Chorus.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	Wave files outside project folder
Dots2.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	Warn when loading
Drums_Bounced.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude	Warn when saving
Piano_bounced.ogg	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplit	ude 🗸	Collect files
<		>	Collect files

Click on a file to select it. With **Re-link File...** you can swap the audio file in the project. Select a new file, all objects that used the old file will be changed to use the new file. Use **Select objects** to select all objects that refer to a file. Use **Open file** to open the selected file as a wave project (**#**581).

At **Wave files outside the project folder** you can activate warnings that are displayed when saving or loading the project as soon as audio files of the project are outside the project folder. With **Collect files...** you open the dialog Collect project files (*P*701) to copy the files collectively into the project folder.

Click on **Write to document** to open the information from **Project status** and **Project files** as a text file in the system text editor.

### **Broadcast Wave Manager**

The Brodcast Wave Extension allows you to store information about an audio file as metadata in an extension of the wave format known as a "chunk" (Broadcast Wave Format, or BWF for short) in the file itself. This metadata can basically be applied in a proprietary manner, but observing the respective EBU and SMPTE guidelines is recommended.

	1	File Description:	
Wave Project:			~
Name	Direc		
[Default for new Wave Projects]			
test.way	D:\.		*
		Originator:	Origination Date:
			04.07.2017 ~
		Originator Reference: USID Format	Origination Time:
			17:45:54
		ISRC: Timestamp: 00:00:43:880	Edit
		Unique Material Identifier (UMID)	
		Country Org. User	
		Loudness: I: -7.5 LUFS, LRA: 1.4 LU, TPmax: -0.5 dBTP, Mmax: -4.7 LUFS, Smar	x: -6.1 LUFS
		Coding History:	
		A=PCM,F=44100,W=16,M=mono,T=SOUND FORGE soft	tware A
<	>		~
Save Save all		Extended options <u>O</u> K <u>C</u> anc	el <u>H</u> elp

**Wave project**: A list of the wave files contained in your project is displayed on the left. To add information to or view information about a file, click the file. The associated BWF information is then displayed on the right side of the dialog. For newly recorded audio material, you can specify metadata to be written to the Broadcast Wave Extension.

This metadata can be read or extracted later and used for further purposes - like managing the audio files in databases.

The entry **Preset for new audio files** contains all the information that should be used within the project for newly created audio files.

With **Save** you write the BWF data to the selected file, **Save All** writes all changes made to the metadata in the dialog to the files.

The following metadata can be saved as BWF data:

- **File description**: This is a freely usable text field (maximum 256 ASCII characters).
- **Originator**: This field (maximum 32 characters) contains information about the origin of the file, for example the name of the engineer.
- Originator Reference: This field (maximum 32 characters) is defined by the originator. This can be an internal reference number, for example. In the area of EBU, the EBU Recommendations R 99-1999 define how this field should be completed. To assign the entry of this property, activate the USID Format option. Afterwards you can format the

entry according to the EBU recommendations.

- Date: The date of the file's creation is displayed and can be edited, e.g. if audio material was saved for the first time as a file, even though the recording is somewhat older and the date needs to be valid as a reference. If the entry is edited in BWF Manager, this value is independent of the date of the file on disk.
- **Time**: This specifies the time when the file is created. As with the date, this is automatically created from the file properties but can be edited retroactively.
- ISRC: Enter the ISRC code of the file here. This is a 12-digit ID number that provides specific information like the originating country of the label, the label's company number, the year, and a sequential title number. ISRCs are used by the music industry for the identification and accounting of music titles. See also the notes below in Importing and Exporting ISRC to and from CD Tracks.
- **Timestamp**: The timestamp saved in the BWF extension is displayed here. This is the project timestamp when the file was recorded. (Elsewhere in **Sequoia**, this is also referred to as the "original position" of the object.) For other applications, this timestamp can provide information on the time on the day of recording. With the button **Edit...** you can edit the timestamp or take it over from the object position. You can also assign the timestamp from the object positions to all audio files or or undo the timestamp assignment.
- Unique Material Identifier (UMID): The specifications for UMID are defined by the SMPTE (Society of Motion Picture and Television Engineers). The corresponding documentation has the code number SMPTE 300M-2000.We recommend observing these guidelines and agreements regarding the use of the UMID before using this feature, especially the sections that specifically apply to how you want to use it. The use of UMID is not absolutely necessary for a valid BWF.
- **Loudness**: With this button you can have the Loudness (*7*571) of the audio file entered into the BWF metadata. Select **Automatically update loudness metadata** to have this information automatically updated when changes are made to the audio in the wave file.
- Coding History: In addition to the information about the format of the file (A: encoding, e.g. PCM; F: sample rate; W: bit depth; B: bit rate; this value is only used for non-transparently encoded material such as MPEG or MP3; M: channel count), each entry of this field contains a value T. This is a string without a comma in which, for example, the serial number of the recording analog tape machine, codecs, dither types, AD converters, or special signal processing applied to the file such as DeNoising can be entered.

When a file is recorded in **Sequoia**, an entry is made. If this file was then edited again, e.g. by bit depth reduction or MPEG encoding, another entry is added. Use of the coding history is regulated in the EBU Recommendation R98-1999.

#### **Advanced Options**

There are some additional options at **Extended Options**:

- Automatic update of loudness data: Here you can automatically update the loudness metadata in BWF files. This corresponds to the option under the button Loudness.
- Save BWF graphic data in wave files: If you activate this option, Sequoia creates a "peak chunk" that stores the graphic information as metadata in the file. Normally, the graphics data in Sequoia is stored in separate peak files (.hO files).
- Read BWF graphic data and use it in Sequoia: If you enable this option, the included "peak chunk" will be used instead of the .hO file.

#### Notes on Importing and Exporting ISRC from and to CD Track Indices

To copy ISRC from wave files to CD track indices, load one or more wave files in succession onto the *first* track and select **CD/DVD** > **Indices** > **Set indices at object edges** from the menu. Only with this procedure the ISRC are taken over from the wave files into the CD track indices, but not when setting CD track indices manually. You can see the ISRC of the imported files in the **ISRC** column of the Marker Manager.

To take over the ISRC entry to the imported WAV files when importing CD tracks, activate the option **Import ISRC and pause indices** in the CD Import dialog (*⊅*587). To see the ISRC entries already in the import dialog, click the **Read ISRC** button.

To transfer the ISRC you have previously set in CD Track Indexes to the wave files, select the settings **Split at markers** and **Each CD track to a file** in the **Export dialog** at **Source**. Because each track requires its own ISRC, it is not possible to enter only one ISRC for all included files.

## **Loading and Saving Projects**

**Note**: To distinguish from wave projects, projects in which references to the wave projects are arranged as objects were called virtual projects (\*.vip) or VIPs for short. In its early days, **Sequoia** worked with "wave projects" (\*.hdp), where the actual samples were stored in a separate sample format; only later wave files were used for this purpose. Since "wave file" can now be used identically to "wave project" except for insignificant details, for the sake of brevity we can simply speak of projects or project files for virtual projects.

## **Loading Projects**

Load saved projects with menu **File** > **Open** > **Virtual project (\*.vip)...**, keyboard shortcut **O** or this button on the top toolbar .

The last 16 files that were opened are listed for quick opening in the menu **File** > **Open recent files**. This menu can also be opened with the keyboard shortcut **Ctrl + Backspace**. To select the file, use the arrow keys and the Enter key; you can also load the first 9 files by pressing the corresponding number.

Via menu **File** > **More** > **Load project without VST plug-ins...** you can load projects that use VST plug-ins that are not installed on the computer or are not compatible with **Sequoia**.

## **Saving Projects**

In the menu File you will find the common commands for saving your project:

**Save** (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + S**): The active project is saved. If it is a newly created project that has not yet been saved, the name and save folder can be selected in a file selection dialog. By default, the name of the project and the project subfolder are used.

**i** By default, new virtual projects (↗657) are created in a project subfolder of the same name, with the current date as the default name. If you assign a different name when you save for the first time, the project subfolder will not be renamed as well, so you may not find the project again as quickly. You can manually rename the project subfolder afterwards, but we recommend that you give the project a proper name already when you create it.

If you want to keep intermediate states of your project saved in separate files, select either **Save as...** (keyboard shortcut: **Shift + S**) and use this command to save the project under a new name. This will keep the last saved state in the file with the old name and you will now continue working on the file with the new name.

Or you can use **Save project copy...** (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + Alt + S**) to save a copy of the project under a different name. By default, the project name is extended by the current date and time. After saving the copy, you continue working on the current project with the original name.

If you just want to give the project a different name, but you want to continue working with the same project, use **Rename Project...** in the menu **File**.

<sup>-☆-</sup> Projects can also be loaded from the File Manager (≉335), where you have full-text search, favorite folders and more.

-\cong\_- An asterisk (\*) at the file name in the project docker tells you that a project has been modified and needs to be saved.

### Auto Save

**Sequoia** can automatically save project files as a backup at regular intervals for safety. In the dialog **Automatic Save**, which you open via menu **File** > **Project Options** > **Automatic Save...**, you can configure this function.

Write time	Backup file		
[25.04.2023 14:00:33]	Samplitude Mixing Demo	You Are_BAK.VIP	View backup project
			Restore backup
Auto Save Mode - Setting	for all projects	Cours in sub-fulder	
Save to activity of the		No Auto Save during play	ack/recording (prevent dron-oute)
Croate backwa file (* )		Auto Save after finished n	ecordina
Create max 10 ba	ckup files (*_bak0.VIP)	Save interval: 10	minutes

In the list you can see the backup files available for the project. If you select a backup by clicking on it, you can open it in a separate project window by clicking on the button **View backup project**. Use the **Restore backup** button to restore the current project to the state of the selected backup. This means that the current project is discarded and the backup project is opened under that name and is now considered the current project. If there are any unsaved changes in the project before, this last state is additionally saved under the project name with the addition \_OLD.

This can become important: You will probably want to restore a backup when you notice an error and want to revert to a version before the error. But at the same time, if you want to keep the latest changes, you can find them in the OLD version of the project.

Activate **Auto save** with the checkbox **Active**. The options are as follows:

Save to original: No separate backup files are created, the project is only saved automatically at specified saving intervals. If the Save to subfolder option is active, the previous version of the file will be moved to the Backup subfolder, overwriting the second to last version. You will then always have two versions of the project with the same name, the current version and the version before that in the backup folder.

- Create backup file (\*\_bak.VIP): Creates a backup file and updates it regularly. If you select the option Save to subfolder, the backup file will be saved and updated in the subfolder Backup. So you always have a current version of the project and a backup version that you can return to with Restore backup. this is the default option.
- Create max. ... backup files (\*\_bakO.VIP): Multiple backup files are saved up to the specified maximum number (\*\_bakO...\*\_bak9). When the maximum number is reached, the oldest backup is deleted and the other backups are renamed so that a current backup can be added. So you always have a current version of the project and at most the specified number of backup versions to which you can return with **Restore backup**.
- No Auto save during playback and recording (prevent drop-outs): Automatic saving during playback and recording is set to inactive to avoid recording errors.
- Auto save after finished recording: When this option is activated, the project is automatically saved directly after a recording has been completed.
- Save interval: Here you define the time interval at which automatic storage takes place. The default setting is 10 minutes.

## Edit Root VIP

When you export a project to a wave file in **Sequoia**, the information from which project it was created is stored in the file. If the file is later used in another project, you can use the function Menu **Object** >**Edit > Edit Root VIP...** to reopen this VIP for editing.

**Example**: You have compiled a CD from several tracks previously created in **Sequoia**, each of which has been saved to individual wave files using the Export function (?679). They are now sitting as audio objects in the arranger window of your new project, and you notice that you still have to change something in one piece. **Edit root VIP...** opens the original project in which you now make the desired changes. When you save, the modified project is re-exported and also updated in the project where you are currently compiling your CD.

## **Append Project**

Use this function to append a project to another project. The objects of a project (for wave projects: the audio data) are copied directly to the end of the other project.

To execute this command:

- 1. First load both projects.
- 2. Switch to the project at the end of which you want to attach the other project.
- 3. Select Menu File > More > Append Project.
- 4. Then switch to the project to be appended. Confirm the operation by selecting **Append** in the query dialog.

For virtual projects, only the objects from the appended project are copied; the mixer settings and automations of the appended project are not copied.

## **Loading Audio Files**

### **Loading Audio Files**

To load an audio file into the current project you have the following options:

Drag and drop one or more files from Windows Explorer into the project at the desired location.

 $\bigcirc$  If you do not drag the file into the project, but to the Project docker (arrow81), you'll open the audio file as a wave project in a separate window to edit it destructively (7581).

- Use the **file manager** ( $\nearrow$ 335). This is the most convenient option, because there you will have an automatic preview function, full text search, favorites folder and others.
- Select menu File > Import > Load audio file (keyboard shortcut: W) or click this icon on the upper toolbar 📷 .

A file selection dialog opens. The small playback control at the bottom of the dialog lets you preview the file before loading it. With the **Autoplay** option enabled, the preview starts automatically as soon as you select the file.

**(**) The pre-listening function uses the default playback device from **Sequoia** (see Loading) options).

To load multiple files at once, expand your selection to include individual files with Ctrl + **mouse click**, for a set of files **Shift + mouse click**.

With the option Load file as wave project you open the audio file as a wave project in a separate window to edit it destructively (abla 581
abla).

The option **Load files only into clipstore** does not include the files in the project, but only creates an entry in the Clip Manager ( $\cancel{7}327$ ) (clipstore).

The Loading options (**#**338) will appear first, where you can specify whether the file should be copied to the project folder, how to deal with multiple files, and more. Use **Do not show this window again** to prevent this dialog from being displayed every time.

## **Importing Audio Files**

The following audio formats are loaded from **Sequoia** directly, i.e. objects are created in the project that reference these files: Wave files (.wav), MP3/MPEG files (.mp3, .mpg, .mus), Quicktime files (.aif), MS Audio files (.asf, .wma), Ogg Vorbis (.ogg), FLAC (.flac) and playlists (.m3u, .cue).

Some compressed file formats cannot be loaded directly. These files must be imported and converted to Wave format in the process. In this case, a file selection dialog will open automatically, where you can specify the name and location of the created file. By default, this is the project folder. The created object refers to this file.

In terms of performance and stability, it may be appropriate to convert files to Wave format, even if **Sequoia** is able to process the files in their original format. In this case, load the desired file with menu **File** > **Import** > **Import audio...** (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl** + **I**).

Even if you prefer to save all audio files loaded into the project as a copy in the project folder right from the start, you can use this menu option when loading.

i In the Loading options (see below) you can specify at **File management** that audio files are always copied and/or converted even during normal loading.

## **Transferring Metadata from Audio Files**

Metadata is information about the content of audio files, such as track name, album or artist. This information is included in many compressed audio formats such as MP3 (ID3 tags), OGG or FLAC. To be able to edit this data in **Sequoia** and use it for later exports or when burning to CD for CD-Text, the data must be imported into **CD Track Indices**. Read the notes in the section Indices (*7*591)!

## **Options for Loading Audio Files**

In this dialog, you specify various options for how audio files should be handled when loaded into a project.

As long as these options have not been set as permanent with the checkbox **Do not show dialog again, settings always apply**, the dialog will appear every time audio files are loaded. However, you can always open it using the **Options** button (gear icon) in the File Manager or the **Options** button in the **Load Audio File** dialog.

Options for loading audio files	
Positioning in project	
<ul> <li>Use selection order of file dialog</li> <li>Load files in alphabetical order</li> <li>Use sync positions (Timestamp) of waves</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Load all files to selected track</li> <li>Load files to different tracks</li> </ul>	
☐ Load L&R files as stereo ☐ Group loaded objects ☑ Load multichannel files into a folder track	
File handling Copy audio files to project folder Convert compressed files to wave format	
OK <u>C</u> ancel	

For the following descriptions, the dialog is shown here as it appears when you load multiple files. When loading a single file, some options are omitted.

#### **Positioning in project**

- Use selection order of file dialog: If this option is selected, Sequoia remembers the order in which the files were selected and then arranges them in that order.
- Load files in alphabetical order: With this option, Sequoia arranges the selected files in alphabetical order in the VIP.
- Use sync positions (timestamp) of waves: Broadcast wave files containing time stamps are positioned precisely at this position in the VIP.
- Load all files consecutively on the selected track: The files are loaded one after the other on the selected track.
- Load all files one below the other: The files are loaded from the selected track one below the other into the next tracks. If necessary, additional tracks are created.
- Load L&R files as stereo: Identically named audio files whose names end with \_L and \_R are loaded as stereo objects.
- **Group loaded objects**: All loaded files are grouped. They can be ungrouped at any time.

■ Load multichannel files into a folder track: This option is activated by default. When loading multi-channel files (i.e. files with more than two channels), it is assumed that these are Surround files in Interleaved format. A Folder track (138) with the required number of tracks is created and routed to the surround master (that is created if necessary). The tracks in the folder track get the surround panning according to the detected surround format. If this option is not active, the individual channels are loaded onto the selected track and the tracks below it.

Other (only when loading via Menu File > Load audio file)

File preview with Windows Media Player Control: Activate the option if the file preview should not be done via the standard playback device but via an embedded Windows Media Player. This uses the system output of Windows. This has the advantage of always having a playback option regardless of the actual use of the audio outputs in Sequoia, but the Windows MME driver used for this often cannot be used simultaneously with ASIO.

#### File handling:

- **Copy audio files to project folder**: The files are copied to the project folder.
- Convert compressed files to wave format: Compressed audio formats such as MP3 can be loaded and played directly from Sequoia. However, this increases the CPU load. Therefore enable this option to convert all files to Wave format on loading.

### Audio Files with Different Sample Rate

If you load audio files whose sample rate differs from the project sample rate, you will be asked how to handle such files in the project.

The samplerate of file "bb_122_swingbeat.wav" is different from VIP samplerate.	Load
File: 48000 Hz VIP project: 44100 Hz	project
	Cancel
Adjustment / Default setup	
Adjust samplerate with:	
O Convert file - offline resampling	
Object resampling (realtime)	
O Change VIP samplerate (existing objects will be played with wrong speed)	
○ No change (file will be played with wrong speed)	
Don't show this message for current VIP (use default setup)	
Uont show this message again (always use default setup)	

The default option **Object resampling** applies real-time resampling to the object created during loading so that it plays back at the correct speed when played back in the project. Note that this will prevent some other effects from being applied:

- Musical Tempo Adjustment
- AudioWarp
- Elastic Audio (pitch automation)

So if you plan to use these effects with this object, choose the first option **Convert file**. In this case, a copy of the audio file is created, which in the process is given the appropriate sample rate by offline resampling.

The option **Adjust VIP sample rate** adjusts the sample rate of the project to the sample rate of the audio file loaded. This will cause all objects already in the project to be played at the wrong speed afterwards.

If **No change** is selected, the file is used with the (wrong) sample rate of the project and played at the wrong speed and pitch.

Select **Do not show this message again for the current VIP** if you want your selection to always apply to the current project, with **Don't show this message again** the selection also applies to all future projects.

-\overline{C}- With the button **Reset all "Don't show this message again" boxes** in the **Program preferences** > **Program** > **General** you can show all such hidden queries again.

## Loading Audio Files as Raw Data

The command Menu **File** > **Import** > **Import as Dump...** lets you import audio files in unknown formats or corrupted audio files where the "header", the part of the file that contains the information about how the sample data is stored in the file, cannot be interpreted, is corrupted, or is not present at all.

Select the file in the file selection dialog, then a dialog will open where you can specify by yourself in which format (bit resolution, byte order, mono or stereo and the sample rate) the sample data is in the file.

The selected file is not a wave the file as dump	file. You can select a	format to import
Cut file header Start position of audio da	ta: 44	Bytes
Bitresolution	, Mac, Atari) 08 Mac, Atari) 08 Mac, Atari)	Bit (0255) Bit (-128127)
Format Mono O Stereo Samplerate: 44100 V	New project type	<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel <u>H</u> elp

With **Start position of data** you can, if the length of the header is known, skip this part during import, default this is the header length of wave files. For other files, you may need to experiment. But you can also enter 0 and import all the data and edit the file after import.

## **Exporting Audio**

With menu **File** > **Export...** (keyboard shortcut: **Ctrl + E**) you save your project to one or more audio files. (This is also referred to as "rendering" or "trackbouncing").

In the **Export**In this dialog all aspects of an export like used tracks, time selection, file formats... can be set very flexibly. dialog, all aspects of an export such as tracks used, time sections, file

formats... can be set very flexibly That's a lot of parameters, so all the settings made in the dialog can be saved together as a preset for later use, so you don't have to start from scratch every time.

The dialog is divided into several sections that can be opened and closed individually. In the collapsed state, a summary of the selected settings is displayed in the heading.

Presets	> Export location	D:\Recording.Projects\Jam Session\	
AAC CBR 128 kBits 44.1 kHz	✓ File naming		
CD Album Tracks WAV 44.1 kHz 16 FLAC 48 kHz 24 Bit MP3 CBR 320 kBits 44.1 kHz MP3 CBR 320 kBits 48 kHz Selected Objects WAV 44.1 kHz 32 Selected Tracks WAV 44.1 kHz 32 Bit WAV 48 kHz 24 Bit	Rename to:	Project Name & Custom Text V	Edit template
	Custom text: Example:	jam session	
		2023-04-26 jam session.wav	
	✓ Source		
WAV CD 44.1 kHz 16 Bit	Routing:	Master ~	
	Track/Object selection:	All audible tracks	
		Object pre-roll/post-roll: 0	
	Time selection:	Complete project ~	Length: 030:00:000
		Split at markers: Any marker ~	
	> Generate	44100 Hz 16 Bit Stereo	
Add Dejete	> Options	Open wave project	
Open export jobs			
		Export	Cagcel Help

## Export to

Here you specify where the exported files will be saved.

In the menu Export to: you can select the project folder (preset) or various default folders

(Music, Desktop, Documents). You can use the folder button it to select other folders in the file system (**Custom folder**). Click on the arrow button to the right of the text field to select a folder from the most recently used export folders. When choosing **Choose folder later** you specify the folder just when you run the export function.

At **Put in subfolder** you can optionally specify an additional subfolder. With **Edit template...** you can define the name of the subfolder as with the file names (see below) using variables from project properties.

**Existing files**: Here you specify how to handle it if files with the same name already exist at the selected location, e.g. if you run an export again with the same settings. If you select the option **Choose new name** you will be asked for a new file name in these cases, if you select **Overwrite** existing files will be overwritten without warning. **Skip** skips the file. **Ask what to do** leaves this choice to you in individual cases.

### File naming

Here you specify how the exported files will be named. The project name is used by default. If several files are created during export, e.g. by splitting at markers or when exporting individual tracks or objects, the file name is generated according to the following rules:

- Single track export: <track number> <track name>
- **Export of individual objects**: <object name> + <track number>, for identical object names in a track additionally + <consecutive number>.
- If Chose file name later (see below), the name entered + consecutive number is used for tracks and objects.
- Split at markers: <MarkerNumber>\_<MarkerName>.
   The project name is not used for the files, but used for the name of an optional playlist (see Options).

Activate **Rename to** for further naming options. In the menu, you will find various combinations of date, project name and a **custom text**, which you can enter in the field below the menu. Use the option **Select file name later** to enter the name in an input field for each export process.

With **Edit template...** you can create your own templates. Click the buttons with the variables to compose the naming scheme. You can also insert any other characters such as spaces or underscores. Characters that Windows interprets as path components, such as  $\$  or :, are not allowed. The <CustomText> variable refers to the text you can enter at **Custom text**. Click on **Save as...** to give the template a name and add it to the **Rename to** menu.

For all of these options, you can see which file name results from the current project with the selected settings at **Example**.

### Source

Here you can specify which audio material from the project should be used for export and how.

#### Routing

This menu is used to specify the outputs whose output is to be written to the files.

- **Master**: (preset) All tracks that are routed directly or indirectly via submix buses to the master output of the mixer are used.
- All outputs (ignore device routing): All tracks are used and rendered by the master, even if they are routed to physical outputs other than the master.
- All outputs (use device routing): All unmuted tracks are exported according to their routing to the individual hardware output devices. Depending on the settings at Format, individual mono files or stereo files for each physical output are generated, or an interleaved multi-channel wave file with the corresponding number of channels.

• The other options under **Track/Object selection** for exporting individual tracks or objects are not available if this routing option is selected.

If a surround master is present, there are the additional options

- **Surround Master**: The surround master is exported, see Surround Export (*2*563).
- Surround + Stereo Master: The surround master and the stereo master are both exported.

#### Track/Object selection

In this menu you determine whether you want to combine the output of all tracks or only selected tracks into one file, create separate files per track, or export individual objects:

- **All audible tracks**: All unmuted tracks are mixed. This is the default option.
- **Selected tracks only**: All selected tracks are mixed.
- All audible tracks individually (Multi-track export): All unmuted tracks and busses are exported individually to files.
- All selected tracks individually (Multi-track export): All unmuted and selected tracks and busses are exported individually.

The individual tracks are always rendered through the entire effects chain, including sub-mix busses and master effects. When sending to AUX busses, the track portion of the AUX bus is also added. In other words, as if the individual tracks were set to solo one after the other, see Global solo mode **Solo Safe**Global Solo Modes (abla534). This behavior can be changed at Options so that the track effects, master effects and the portion from the buses can be deactivated separately.

- Export all selected objects individually: All selected objects will be bounced individually, including the object effects, into a new file. This enables a large number of single objects to be exported quickly to separate files (e.g. for creating sample libraries).
- Glue selected objects together: All selected objects, including object effects, are exported to one new file per track. All objects between the first and the last selected object of a track are glued together.
- **Glue selected objects until silence**: All selected objects, including object effects, are exported to new files. The objects in each track are glued together until the next silence.

When exporting objects, there is an additional setting **Object pre-/post-roll**, which allows you to include additional samples before and after the object boundaries in the file for safety.

**i** Notes:

- If you select Surround Master or All Outputs (Use device routing) for Routing (see above), exporting individual tracks or objects is not available.
- If a selected track is a Submix bus, all tracks routed to this bus will also be exported. This is done recursively, i.e. if these tracks are in turn buses, their sources are also exported. This permits fast mixing of individual groups.

#### **Time Selection**

In this menu you select the time period of the project for export:

**Selected range only**: Only the range selected in the project will be exported.

**(i)** Note: If no range is selected, the complete project will be exported.

- Selected range markers: If several range markers have been selected in the range marker track or in the range manager, these ranges are exported separately.
- From the beginning of the project to the last object: (default) The time selection goes from the beginning of the project to the end of the last object plus the reverb time (\$\not\\$722).
- Complete project: The entire project is used, i.e. including the silence behind the last object until the end of the project.
- **Complete CD**: Time selection goes from the first CD track index to the CD end index.

**(**) Note: If there is no CD end index, the complete project will be exported.

#### **Split at Markers**

This option is only available with the track selection All audible tracks.

Enable the option if you want to export to multiple files:

- Each CD track into one file: Individual files are created, ranging from one CD track index to the next.
- Each CD track to pause marker into a file: Individual files are created, ranging from one CD track index to the next pause index. The sections between the pause index and the next CD track index are not exported.

- Select these options if you want the track information from the CD track indexes to be entered into the metadata (ID3 tags) of the exported files.
- All markers: Individual files are created, each ranging from one marker (all marker types) to the next.

### Generate

Here you specify the format to export to and what to do with the created audio files

#### Format

	Wave
2	MP3
	MPEG
	AIFF
	Ogg Vorbis
	FLAC
	AAC
	WMA

Select the file formats for export here. You can export to several of the available formats at once by enabling the corresponding option. You can select a single format with **double-click**. Click the format name to set the options for that format.

**Sample rate** and **Bit depth** can be selected for all formats in the corresponding menus. The options that are not available for a particular format will be grayed out.

You can use the option **Use current project sample rate** to create presets that are independent of the specific sample rate of the project.

**Dithering**: You can define your own dithering settings for each export, independently of the global settings. You can bypass dithering altogether (**No dithering**), apply the default dithering **Triang.**, or dither according to the system options. The button shows in brackets (e.g. **Triang.** or **POW-r 1**) the currently set dithering algorithm. Dithering Options opens the System-Dithering Settings (*P*745).

**Resampling quality**: With this button you open the program settings for the resampling quality (*P*748) during export.

With **Codec Settings...** you open the settings specific to the respective file format:

#### Wave

Wave (\*.wav files) is the standard format for storing audio files on Windows computers and the recording format used by **Sequoia**. It allows bit depths up to 32bit (float) and any number of audio channels. Use this format for all files that should be further processed and should be in maximum quality.

**Codec**: Leave the setting at **uncompressed**, unless you want to use special compressing wave codecs, which you can select from this list. These codecs are from the early days of computer-based audio processing and are now only used in very rare special cases such as mobile
telephony. When selecting these codecs, you can choose from several preset channels/sample rates/bite depth defaults that override the settings for these parameters in the Export dialog.

#### MP3

MPEG II Layer 3, abbreviated as MP3 (\*.mp3 file) is a widely used file format for audio files that uses lossy compression.

**Encoder quality**: You can choose between a faster encoding and one with high quality. If time is not very tight, you can keep High Quality.

**Bitrate**: The bitrate of the compression can be set from 16 kBit/s to 320 kBit/s. At the highest setting of 320kBit/s, there are no longer any audible differences to uncompressed audio. However, if you plan to process the files later, we recommend using uncompressed formats, since applying effects may cause artifacts resulting from the previous compression.

**Variable bitrate**: The bitrate is dynamically adjusted to the audio material, a lower bitrate is used in quieter places, a higher bitrate in more complex places. Therefore you can no longer specify a fixed bitrate, instead there is a setting for **quality**. A constant bitrate provides streaming capability and maximum compatibility; a variable bitrate provides better audio quality at the same file sizes. Not all playback programs can process VBR correctly, some will result in problems during title length display or when seeking.

**Info text editor**: MP3 files can contain metadata (title, artist, genre...). When exporting with Split at markers, the metadata from the CD track indexes is transferred to the files. This button opens the CD-Text/MP3-ID Editor (2593) for editing the metadata.

#### MPEG

MPEG (\*.mpg, \*.mp2, \*.mus, \*.wav) files, more precisely MPEG-1 Audio Layer 2 is a lossy compressed audio file format. It is a precursor to the popular MPEG 1 Audio Layer 3 format, now known as MP3 for short. While MP3 is essentially used for Internet streaming and portable audio playback, MP2 is still used for digital broadcasting (DAB, DVB) and occasionally for DVDs.

Bitrate: The bitrate of the compression can be set from 64kBit/s to 384 kBit/s.

Stereo options: In addition to stereo and mono, there is also Joint Stereo, where common components of the channels are stored only once, allowing better compression at the expense of channel separation.

**File format**: Here you can select the container format used for the compressed data.

#### AIFF

AIFF (\*.aif files), Audio Interchange File Format, is the standard audio file format on the Mac platform. It has nearly the same properties (lossless, bit depths up to 32bit float) as Wave. Use this format for data exchange with MAC audio software users.

In the special codecs are selectable, so the Codec settings button is not available.

#### **Ogg Vorbis**

Ogg Vorbis (\*.ogg files) is a royalty-free open source audio codec with very good sound characteristics in comparatively small files. It works, similar to MP3, with lossy compression. Not all hardware players can handle this format.

**Bitrate**: The bitrate of the compression can be set from 46 kBit/s to 500 kBit/s (for mono up to 240 kBit/s).

**Variable bitrate**: Constant bitrate provides streaming capability and maximum compatibility, variable bitrate provides better audio quality at the same file sizes. The selected bitrate is then only a guideline, the bitrate changes dynamically depending on the audio material.

**Info text editor**: OGG files can contain metadata (title, artist, genre...). When exporting with **Split at markers**, the metadata from the CD track indexes is transferred to the files. This button opens the CD-Text/MP3-ID Editor (*7*593) for editing the metadata.

#### FLAC

**FLAC** (\*.flac files) is the abbreviation for "Free Lossless Audio Codec". This is a royalty-free open source audio codec that lets you compress your audio to about 50% of the original size. Unlike other compression methods like MP3 or OGG, the full sound quality is kept intact with FLAC. Lossless compression algorithms similar to the zip or rar archives used for file transfers are used.

-\cong\_- FLAC is the only compressed audio format that allows a bit depth of 24bit. It is therefore best suited for space-saving archiving of raw material from 24bit recordings.

The **compression rate** can be set between 0 and 8. This does not affect the quality of the generated files (the compression is lossless), but only the speed of the export: the higher the compression is, the longer it takes.

**Info text editor**: FLAC files can contain metadata (title, artist, genre...). When exporting with **Split at markers**, the metadata from the CD track indexes is transferred to the files. This button opens the CD-Text/MP3-ID Editor (\$\not\sigma 593\$) for editing the metadata.

### AAC

AAC (\*.mp4 files), Advanced Audio Coding is a lossy compressed audio file format primarily used in video and audio streaming and portable audio players.

**Type**: You can choose between different so-called profiles here. In most cases, for maximum compatibility with hardware players and streaming providers, you should keep the AAC LC (Low Complexity) profile. Only at very low bit rates and for special requirements is the use of HE-AAC/HE-AAC v2 (also referred to as AAC+ or AAC+ v2) worthwhile.

**Bitrate mode**: When selecting **Constant Bitrate** you can select a fixed bitrate between 64 and 480kBit/s at **Bitrate**, furthermore you can select different guide values for variable bitrates, furthermore you can find settings for different broadcast standards like DAB+.

**Quality**: Choose between different quality levels here, higher quality also increases the time required for encoding.

**Note**: For AAC export, the sample rate depends on the bit rate. For example, if you load a 44.1 kHz wave file into a 44.1 kHz VIP and then export it as AAC at 128kbit/s, you get a 44.1 kHz sample rate file. If, on the other hand, you export the same file at 256 kbit/s, you get a 48 kHz file.

**Info text editor**: AAC files can contain metadata (title, artist, genre...). When exporting with **Split at markers**, the metadata from the CD track indexes is transferred to the files. This button opens the CD-Text/MP3-ID Editor (\$\not\sigma 593\$) for editing the metadata.

#### WMA

Windows Media (\*.wma files) is a Microsoft audio/video format optimized for streaming purposes. In the dialog, different, rather historical profiles can be selected for streaming in low bitrates. To create additional profiles you need the Windows Media Encoder 9 from Microsoft.

**Info text editor**: WMA files can contain metadata (title, artist, genre...). When exporting with **Split at markers**, the metadata from the CD track indexes is transferred to the files. This button opens the CD-Text/MP3-ID Editor (\$\not\sigma 593\$) for editing the metadata.

The result of these settings is displayed at **Resulting Codec**.

### Channels

Here you define how the stereo channels are treated during export. For some file formats only stereo is possible, then this menu is grayed out.

- **Stereo**: Both channels are output to a stereo file.
- Left & Right: The stereo channels are output separately in two files, filename\_L and filename\_R.

- 'G' The load option **Load L&R files as stereo** allows such file pairs to be automatically treated as stereo files when loaded by loading them into one stereo object.

- **Left channel only**: The left channel is output to a mono file.
- **Right channel only**: The right channel is output to a mono file.
- Mono mix: The left and right channels are mixed together according to the formula (L+R)/2 and output to a mono file.
- Mono: Select this setting if the project contains mono track pairs (panned alternately all the way to the left and right). Mono is formed according to the formula L+R with level reduction (panning law) of -6dB. This ensures that existing center-panned mono signals are also exported with the correct level.
- **Automatic**: Stereo tracks are exported stereo, mono tracks are exported mono.

# Options

**Realtime export**: This option allows you to perform the export in real time. The project is played back so that the output signals of connected hardware effects (235) are included in the export.

**Include master effects**: Deactivate this option if the master effects should not be included in the export. As individual tracks are also exported through the entire effects chain including the master, you should deactivate this option if you want to export individual tracks without master effects as stems, e.g. for a remix.

**Include track effects**: Deactivate this option if the track effects are not to be included in the export.

**Include AUX and submix buses**: Deactivate this option to not include the influence of tracks that are routed to submix busses or that send to AUX busses when exporting them.

This corresponds to the behavior of older versions of Sequoia.

If you export individual objects or glue them together (see above at **Track/object selection**), the track effects are automatically deactivated. If you also select the options **Create new objects** and **Replace object(s)** as **action after Export** (see below), the master effects and the AUX and submix bus effects are also deactivated so that the effects are not used twice.

**Loudness and level analysis**: This option allows you to display the loudness and the maximum level in dB after the export process.

**Export marker file**: If there are CD track indexes in the project, you can use this option to create a cue file (\*.cue) that contains the track information. If the option **Split at markers** is activated at **Source**, a playlist file (\*.m3u) is created instead.

**Embed markers in audio file**: All markers in the project are written to the audio files as audio markers. (only when exporting to Wave format)

Action after export: In this menu you can define what should happen to the created audio files after the export.

- **Create new audio file**: The audio file or files will only be created.
- Open new wave project: The audio file or files will be created and opened as wave projects in new windows.
- Create new objects in VIP: The audio file or audio files are created and inserted as new objects in new tracks in the project.
- **Replace object(s) in VIP**: The objects involved in the export are removed and the

created files are inserted as new objects on the involved tracks.

**Create new VIP**: A new project is created and the new audio material is inserted. 

## **Presets**

The complete settings of the export dialog can be saved to presets.



To delete a preset, select it and choose **Delete**. 

Each preset is included in the menu **File > Export with preset**, so you can perform an export with the settings of a preset without opening the export dialog.

 $\dot{\phi}$  With menu **File** > **Export with previous settings** you repeat an export with the last selected settings.

Use **Open export list...** to open the export list ( $\nearrow$ 689), in which you can perform multiple exports with several presets in one go.

# Export List

With the export list, several projects can be exported one after the other using different export presets. For example, you can output different versions of a project as both stereo and surround mixes, or export different projects together.



i Note: For exporting a project to several different file formats (e.g. Wave and MP3) you can already define several file formats within an export preset in the section **Create**, for this you do not necessarily need the export list. However, the export list is useful when you need several files of the same file format with different settings (e.g. MP3s with different bitrates).

You can access the dialog **Export list** via the menu **File** > **Export list...** or via the button **Open export list...** in the export dialog.

Select projects to export					Idd all open projects Clear	projects
Sources: NEW (8) auoto (8) Sequoia Demo -	Rush Hour 🛞	2023-09-14 14-54 🛞				
Expert presets AAC CBR 128 KBIts 44.1 KHz CD Album Tracks WW 44.1 KHz 16 Bit Deskts CD Album Tracks WW 44.1 KHz 16 Bit FLAC 48 Hz 24 Bit MP3 CBR 320 KBIts 44.1 KHz MP3 CBR 320 KBIts 44.1 KHz Selected Objects WAV 44.1 KHz 32 Bit Deskts Selected Objects WAV 44.1 KHz 32 Bit Selected Tracks WW 44.1 KHz 32 Bit Selected Tracks WW 44.1 KHz 32 Bit WAV CB 44.1 KHz 48 Bit WAV CB 44.1 KHz 16 Bit	C Project > 2023-0: C NEWLYI > auoto.1 • Sequol	t Preset 9-14 14-54.V CD Album Tracks WAV 44.1 kH 9P CD Album Tracks WAV 44.1 kH VIP CD Album Tracks WAV 44.1 kH Ia Demo - R CD Album Tracks WAV 44.1 kH	Output Format 2: Wave 44100 Hz 16 2: Wave 44100 Hz 16 3: Wave 44100 Hz 16 3: Wave 44100 Hz 16 3: Wave 44100 Hz 16	Ovljuvt Cr/Desktop/, Cr/Desktop/, Cr/Desktop/, Cr/Desktop/,	Status Open Compileted Open Processing	0
Preset details Export location Choose folder later Choose Black Streeo MP3 sample rate: 40000 Hz Uptions Open wave project	Current ex Se	port equoia Demo - Rush Hour.VIPEstimated File	size: 51 MBElapsed: I	90:06 Remaining: 00:13	Complete: 34 %	
	Clear list			3 remaining export(s) Star	t exports glose	Help

- 1. At **Sources**, click at **Select projects to export**. You can now define the projects for the export in the menu:
  - Use Add current project/Add all open projects to add the current or all open projects as a source.
  - With Select project from hard disk... you can add further projects via a file selection dialog.
  - There is also a list of recently used projects in the menu, from which you can select projects for export by clicking on them. This list can be filtered by entering name components.

You can remove a project from the selection using the close field at the name (**x**). Use the recycle bin icon **on the right to remove all selected sources**.

 The list on the left shows all export presets. Move the mouse over the preset name to display a summary of the preset's settings at the bottom left of the dialog. To view the complete settings for this preset in an export settings dialog (₱679), click on the preset and then click on the gear icon at the bottom of the summary.

You can also make changes to the settings in this dialog and save these changes with Save preset. You have the choice of overwriting the existing preset or saving the changed preset under a new name.

Use **Export dialog...** to switch to simple export.

**3.** Click the arrow icon to the right of the export preset name to insert an export job with that preset in the export list for each source project.

- 4. You can now add more jobs with other presets.Individual jobs can be removed from the list by clicking on the trash can icon behind the job, and all jobs can be removed by clicking on the trash can icon above the list.
- 5. When you have finished creating the export list, start the exports with **Start exports**.
  - ▲ Attention: The export list is only processed without interruption if no presets are used that require user input. This occurs if you have specified the options Choose file name later or Choose folder later in the preset for the output folder or the file name. Such presets are marked with a warning symbol <sup>(Δ)</sup> in the summary and in the list. Click on the icon next to an export job to specify the storage location for this export. Such jobs are then marked with a check symbol <sup>(2)</sup>. You can click on this icon to change the path specification again before executing the job.

Individual export jobs can be started with the play icon at the list entry 🕨 .

6. The export jobs remain in the list even after the export until the end of the program session. So you can close the list and continue working on the projects involved. You can open the list again later and carry out individual or all exports again. To keep track, you can reset the status of a job using the repeat icon C in front of the individual job or at the top in the column header.

# **Other File Formats**

In addition to loading and saving project files and importing and exporting audio files, **Sequoia** supports a number of other formats.

## **MIDI Files**

-☆- MIDI files can be loaded more conveniently like all other media files and projects from the File Manager (♥335), where you have an automatic preview function, full text search, favorite folders and more.

### Loading MIDI Files

Load standard MIDI files (\*.mid) with menu File > Import > Load MIDI file....

For more information on MIDI import, please also refer to the chapter **MIDI in Sequoia** (2440).

### **Exporting MIDI Files**

With menu **File** > **MIDI Export** > **Export MIDI File...** you export the entire MIDI data of a project into a MIDI file in Standard MIDI File (SMF) format. All changes of the MIDI playback by the track (MIDI section in the track header) and in the MIDI object editor, like transposition or realtime quantization, are taken over into the MIDI file.

MIDI File Format				
<ul> <li>○ single Track (Format 0)</li> <li>● multiple Tracks (Format 1)</li> </ul>				
Тетро Мар				
export Tempo Map				
1 number of interperpolation points inside four beats (for tempo slides)				

Select the desired **MIDI file format**: format 0 exports all MIDI data to one track, format 1 saves several tracks in the MIDI file corresponding to the tracks of the project. The track names are adopted.

With **Export Tempo Map** the tempo map is written to the MIDI file. Since the MIDI file format does not support the continuous tempo progressions from **Sequoia**, such progressions must be simulated in the MIDI file by many individual tempo entries. You define the accuracy for this by specifying the **Number of interpolation points per bar**.

The export is always done with the PPQ resolution of the current VIP. The project markers are also exported in the process.

### **Exporting MIDI Objects**

With Menu **File** > **Export MIDI**... in the MIDI Editor ( $\mathbb{P}446$ ) you can export the MIDI data of a single MIDI object to a file.

With menu **File** > **MIDI Export** > **Export MIDI objects as individual MIDI files...** you export the MIDI data of selected objects into single MIDI files. If multiple objects are selected, the object names of the MIDI objects are always used as file names.

i Note that when exporting individual MIDI objects via these functions, changes to MIDI playback by the track (MIDI section in the track header) and in the MIDI object editor, such as transposition or real-time quantization, are not adopted. Drum maps (P463) of the tracks are transferred, however, that is, the pitches are changed according to the maps.

### MIDI Mixdown

Use Menu File > MIDI Export > MIDI Mixdown... to combine selected MIDI objects into a single new MIDI object. This applies all track and object MIDI effects, just like MIDI export. You can choose to mixdown the selected objects in a selected range or in the whole project.

The new MIDI object is inserted on a new track above the selected track. The objects involved unlike the equivalent function Range Mixdown ( $\mathbb{Z}$ 130) for audio - are not removed from the project, you have to delete them manually.



A You should only merge MIDI objects from tracks that control the same instrument, since this assignment is track-dependent and will be lost when you mix down to a new track. You must then assign the instrument to the new track again ( $\mathbb{P}396$ ).

## Sequoia Sessions

In a **Session** all opened projects can be saved together with their respective window positions. For complex projects that include multiple project files, you can use a session to load all the required projects and their arrangement at once when you resume your work later.

**(i)** The use of Sessions is particularly useful for the Source Destination Cut ( $\mathbb{Z}^{209}$ ) with multiple source projects. At multi-synchronous cut (alpha213), a session is automatically created with the project files involved

Save a session with menu File > More > Save Session....

- Open a session with menu File > Open > Session (\*.samx)....
- () You can open sessions in \*.sam and \*.samx formats, always saved in the newer \*.samx format.

# AAF/OMF

**AAF** is a set of specifications for project interchange (.aaf) files. Media files can be embedded or referenced by link. AAF files can have envelope information, static level information or both. **OMF** is the precursor of the AAF format that could be used for project exchange with very old media applications but it loses track names, markers and automation information during export. It also supports mono files only.

### **Exporting Project as AAF/OMF**

Export the active project with menu **File > Advanced export > Export project as AAF/OMF...**.

AAF/OMF e	xport	×
Track sele	ction	
Export	all tracks	
Track	Name	^
☑ 1.	Fng Gt	
2.	Trem Gt	
✓ 3.	Rh Gt 1	
☑ 4.	Rh Gt 2	
≥ 5.	Ld Gt High	
6.	Ld Gt Low	
	Solo Gt	
8.	Vocals	~
1 3	VOCEA I	
Destination	n path	Format
Name:	Samplitude Mixing Demo - You Are.AAF	AAF
		OOME
Path:	C:\ProgramData\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\M	0.0
Don't     O Don't     O Copy of     Hance     Hance	copy audio material. AAF/OMF refers to original paths. all audio material only the used audio material die length: 2 sec Calculate object effects d audio in AAF	
Compatibil Export Conve	ty / Pro Tools volume automation curves - ProTools compatible t track and object automation et stereo objects automatically into Left/Right tracks	~
Contraction	Export	Cancel

This Picture shows the most compatible export settings for transferring a project to any DAW

The AAF Export transfers the following content:

- Object position/wave offset
- Object fade in/out linear fades only
- Object crossfade linear crossfades only

Object volume

In the second second second second section is a second second

- Object pan (not imported into ProTools)
- Object volume automation
- Track pan automation (not imported into ProTools)
- Track names
- Track Volume
- Track pan (not imported into ProTools)
- Track volume automation
- Track pan automation (not imported into ProTools)
- VIP markers (marker names not imported into ProTools)
- Timecode offset
- Timecode format (24, 25, 30 fps)
- Processing timestamps in audio files

OMF Export transfers the following content:

- Object position/wave offset
- Object fade in/out linear fades only
- Object crossfade linear crossfades only
- Object volume
- Track names

i Note: During AAF/OMF export, media files will always be converted to WAV files. You can't export video files. Corresponding objects are not transferred as well.

**Track selection**: Select the tracks of the project to be exported. With **Export All Tracks** you select all tracks with one click.

**Name/Destination path**: Specify here where you want to export the AAF/OMF file and under which name.

Format: Select here if you want to export the file in AAF format or OMF format.

#### Media files:

■ **Don't copy audio material. AAF/OMF refers to original paths**: If you select this option, no media files will be exported – the AAF/OMF file will only refer to the original media

file paths.

- Copy all audio material: If you select this option, all media files (including those that are only referenced in the Clipstore) will be placed next to the AAF/OMF into the target folder.
- Copy only the used audio material: If you select this option, only the parts of the media files that are actually used in the VIP are copied into the target folder.
  - Handle length: Set an additional length of audio to the exported audio files. This is useful if you want to adjust the crossfades of the objects in the new project.
  - **Calculate object effects**: All effects applied to objects are included in the new audio files.
- **Embed audio in AAF**: If you select this option when exporting, the complete project will be saved as one file containing both the media and the metadata.
- **Note**: Copy the audio material or embed it in the AAF file if you want to give the entire project along with the associated media files to another studio as AAF/OMF.

#### **Compatibility/ ProTools**

- **Export volume automation curves Pro Tools compatible**:
  - **Off**: Object Volume is recognized as ProTools clip gain. The automation curves of the track volume and object volume are ignored.
  - **Export track automation only**: If you select this option, only the track volume automation will be exported. The object volume automation curves are ignored, but the static object volume are recognized as ProTools Clip Gains.
  - **Export object automation only**: If you select this option, only the object volume automation is exported into Track volume automation to be imported into ProTools. The static object volumes are recognized as ProTools Clip Gains. Track volume automation is ignored by ProTools.
  - **Export track and object automation:** If you select this option, track volume automation, object volume automation and static object all will be combined into the volume automation curve for Pro Tools. The static object volumes are thus not reflected as ProTools Clip Gains .
- Convert stereo objects automatically into Left/Right tracks: Stereo objects are not supported by Pro Tools. With this option active, those objects are converted into left/right mono objects and placed on two mono tracks panned accordingly.

Convert 32bit float files to 24 bit: As AAF uses only 24bit audio files, 32bit float files are converted to 24bit with this option on.



i Note: Timestamps saved with ProTools in Frames for improved compatibility.

### Import AAF/OMF

Import AAF files with menu File > Import > Import AAF/OMF....

AAF/OMF Import		×
Samplitude Mixing Company: Product Version: Creation Date: Project: Length:	Demo - You Are.AAF MAGIX Samplitude Samplitude 19.0.0.23331 Apr 25, 2023 13:18:27 GMT Samplitude Mixing Demo - You Are.VIP 00:02:51:20 44100 Hz, 43 Tracks	
Import folder: C:\Users\rajko.aust Options Insert into open Extract all audio Pan odd tracks Convert fade cli Convert left & rig	Documents\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\ project [Samplitude Mixing Demo - You Are.VIP] files from AAF/OMF to left / even tracks to right ps to real fades ht tracks into stereo	
	Import	<u>C</u> ancel

The following content is imported from **AAF** files:

- Objects: Position/Offset, Fade-in/-out (linear only), Crossfades (linear only), Volume, Pan, Volume automation, Pan automation
- Tracks: Name, Volume, Pan, Volume automation, Pan automation
- Project markers
- Timecode: Offset, Format (24,25,30fps)
- Timestamps of the audio files

The following content is imported from **OMF** files:

- Objects: Position/Wave Offset, Fade-in/-out (linear only), Crossfades (linear only), Volume
- Tracks: Name

#### **Options**:

- Insert into open project: Normally a new Sequoia project is created from the AAF/OMF file. This option instead inserts the content into the active project as new tracks below the existing tracks.
- Extract all audio files from the AAF/OMF: If the media data is embedded in the AAF/OMF file, it will be extracted during import and saved as wave files in the project folder.
- Track Panorama Odd/even track to left/right: It is assumed that the tracks of the imported project are present as alternating left and right mono tracks and the panorama of the tracks in the created project is adjusted accordingly.
- Convert fade clips to real fades: Pro Tools uses a special format for clips with fades when saving AAF, where the fades are rendered into separate audio files. In this way, Pro Tools implements special fade curve shapes that the AAF format does not support. Such fade objects therefore also create separate objects for all fades and crossfades when imported into Sequoia. This option converts such fade clips into normal objects with fades. Activate the option if you import AAF files that come from Pro Tools and you do not need these special fade curves. This way you can reduce the number of objects and create a clearer project.
- **Convert left/right tracks to stereo**: If the tracks of the imported project exist as alternating left and right mono tracks, stereo tracks are created for superimposed clips, on which stereo objects (*P*170) are located.

## Edit Lists (\*.edl)

An Edit list is a text file and contains information about the used audio files, video files, object boundaries, object volumes, markers, volume as well as panorama curves of a project. It can be used to transfer **Sequoia** projects to or from other programs.

It does not contain the program specific features of the project like object effects, AUX routings or fade curve shapes, but already much more details than for example an export and import of pure single tracks ("stems").

Save the active project as an **Sequoia** Edit list with menu **File > Advanced Export > Export project as EDL...**.

At **File type** you can select the CMX 3600 compatible format in addition to the **Sequoia** own format **Sequoia EDL**. With the **Compatibility** option, you can create cut lists that are compatible with Premiere Pro, DaVinci Resolve, Media Composer, and Pyramix.

Open Edit lists with menu File > Open > Edit list (\*.edl)....

A new virtual project that resembles the EDL is created. The media files used should be in the same location as at the time of EDL export. If not, there will be an error message. You can then either cancel the import or use **Search** to navigate to a media file that was not found via a file selection dialog. The remaining media files will then be found automatically if they are located in the same folder.

## **CD** Projects

Via menu **File** > **Open** you can load **TOC files** and **DDP Images** which describe the content of an Audio CD:

Table Of Contents (\*.toc): Table of Contents (\*.toc) files describe the contents of an audio CD: the wave project used and the position of the track markers and track names. When loading a TOC file, a new virtual project is created, the audio file is loaded and the track markers are inserted.

TOC files for your own CD projects can be saved in the **Create CD dialog** (₱596).

- CUE files (.cue): Load CUE files via menu File > Import > Load audio file... into an existing virtual project. CUE files together with a wave file also contain the complete data you need to create an audio CD Wave files with a .cue file can also be used by other programs to burn wave files to CDs. To create an additional .cue file, activate the option (#688)Export markers into file during file export and export the project as a single large file, i.e. with the option Split at markers (#683) inactive.
- **DDP Import File**: DDP is an exchange format that can be used to transfer an audio CD as binary data to a pressing plant. When loading a DDP image, a new project is created with the associated track markers and audio data. All files belonging to a DDP image should be located in one folder for this purpose. For more information, read the section DDP Export (*P*600)!

# Objects

Objects can also be saved separately. An object file (\*.obj) contains all the settings of the object editor (alpha191) such as fades, effects, object start and end, but not the actual audio data. The audio file referenced by the object must be in the same location when the object is reloaded.

- Save a selected object with menu File > More > Save object..
- Import an object into the current project at the play cursor position on the selected track with menu File > Open > Session (\*.samx)....

## **Obsolete Formats**

Via menu **File** > **Open** files can be opened in further formats, which originate from the early days of **Sequoia**:

- RAM wave project (\*.rap): This format is only used for loading very old projects. RAM wave projects are loaded directly into RAM.
- HD Wave Project (\*.hdp): HD wave project is also a "historical" term that, as opposed to RAM wave projects, was used for wave projects where the audio data is played back from the hard disk. Every wave file automatically becomes an HD wave project, because the .hdp file is automatically created as soon as a wave file is loaded or recorded into Sequoia. However, with this menu option here you can also load very old HD Wave projects where the sample data was saved in a proprietary file format before \*.wav was used for it.

In the menu **File** > **Advanced Export** > **Convert Mono/Stereo** there are still commands for converting **LR-Waves**. These were special HD Wave projects, where the sample data of a stereo recording is in two separate mono wave files.

- LR-Wave > 2 Mono: Divides one LR-Wave project into two independent mono wave projects.
- LR-Wave > 1 Mono: Mixes the channels of a LR-Wave project together into a mono wave project and lowers the level by 6dB to avoid overloads.
- 2 Mono > LR-Wave: Connects two mono wave projects to one LR-Wave project or stereo wave file.
- **1 Mono > LR-Wave**: Converts a mono wave project to an LR-Wave project with two identical channels.

# Clean up & Backup

In the submenu **Clean up & Backup** in the menu **File** you will find the functions to collect complete projects with all the required files in the project folder, delete any data in it that is no longer needed and save the complete project to a folder or burn it to disc.

# **Collecting Project Files**

In the course of working on a project, besides the files directly recorded in the project folder, media files from various other folders may have been used in the project. To archive projects or share them with others, you can use the function **Collect project files** to ensure that all media files required by the project are located in the project folder.

With Menu **File** > **Clean up & Backup** > **Collect Project Files...** you open a dialog that lists all files that are outside the project folder.

	lata \MAGIX\Sequoia 17 Preview \_Demo \Sequoia Demo - Rush Hour\	
Process	File	Size
	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	155 KB
~	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	95 KB
/	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	71 KB
~	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	49 KB
~	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	153 KB
	C:\Users\Public\Documents\MAGIX\Common\Soundpools\SMS_28\Pop - Guitars Only\P	156 KB
¢		
c I marked fil	es will be added to the project folder.	
<	es will be added to the project folder. ☑ Include Clipstore data	

Use **Copy files** or **Move files** to select whether to keep the files in their original location or move them to the project folder. By default, all files are selected to be copied to the project folder. You can exclude individual files from processing by deselecting them at **Process**.

So if there are files that you want to use later for other projects (e.g. files from sample libraries) and files that are only used within the project, execute the function twice, for each of the files with the appropriate setting.

If you enable the **Create subfolders** option, subfolders will be created in the project folder for the files copied to the project folder.

If you enable the **Include Clipstore data** option, the files in the Clipstore (2327) are also included.

## **Deleting Unneeded Files**

To save hard disk space, the following functions can be used to delete data that is no longer needed in the project:

## Delete virtual project (VIP)

This function allows you to delete projects completely, including the media files they use. Select **File > Clean up & Backup >Delete Virtual Project (VIP)...** 

Delete proje	ect				$\times$
Project:		Open in windows	explorer	Project search.	
Directory File			Size	Date	
C:\\MA	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\ conquest.VIP		549 MB	25.04.2023 12:36:00	
C:\\San	nplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Vita Instrument Demo\	Vita Instrument Dem	50 KB	19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\MA	GIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Remix_Demo\	Remix_and_FX_De		19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\San	nplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Score_Demos\	Bekken.VIP	50 KB	19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\San	nplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Score_Demos\	FunkyPiano.VIP	50 KB	19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\San	nplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Score_Demos\	Mozart Kleine Nacht	50 KB	19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\San	nplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Demo\Surround_Demo_51\	Surround51_Demo		19.04.2023 10:55:30	
C:\\_De	emo\Tutorialdemo_Realtime_Timestretching\	tsdemo.VIP		19.04.2023 10:55:30	
	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25	296 KB	25.04.2023 12:36:00		
Llead audia	flee:				
	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\	296 KB	25.04.2023 12:36:00		
	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\conguest_bak VIP			25.04.2023 12:50:24	
	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\16 I1 Find Mv Wav Home.wav			25.04.2023 10:50:58	
	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\15 Theme From Antarctica way			25.04.2023 10:50:58	
	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\14   Hea	ar You Now.wav	49 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\	13 Chariots Of Fire.wav	34 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\12 L' Op	era Sauvage.wav	37 KB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
$\checkmark$	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\11 The	Unknown Man.wav	36 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	-
	C:\\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\10 The	Tao Of Love.wav	28 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
	C:\\2023-04-25\09 Apocalypse Des Animaux.wav	1	61 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
$\checkmark$	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\	08 Elsewhere.wav	37 KB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
$\checkmark$	C:\\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\2023-04-25\	.07 Hymne.wav	41 MB	25.04.2023 10:50:58	
< <	C^\ \Samnlitude Pm X8 Suite\2023-04-25\06 The Will Of The Wind way			25.04.2023 10:50:58	~
Total mem	ory requirement: 545 MB to delete: 545 MB free: 49	GB	Dele	te Close	

The upper section of the dialog lists all projects (\*.vip) located in the default folder for projects (\*727) (including subfolders). Select the project to delete from the list. With **Open in Windows Explorer** you open the project folder of the selected project in Windows Explorer. Projects that are located outside the default folder can be located via **Find Project...**.

In the lower section of the dialog all used files of the project are listed and can be excluded from deletion by unchecking the checkbox in the column **Delete**. If you now click on **Delete** at the

bottom, all files that will be deleted will be listed once again. Confirm the final deletion with **Delete files**.

**Attention**: There is no additional security prompt, the files are now deleted immediately.

The **Delete Virtual Projects** dialog remains open so that you can delete more projects.

#### **Delete wave project**

This function allows you to delete individual wave projects from the hard disk. All files belonging to a wave project (\*.wav, \*.hdp, \*.h2...) will be deleted together.

Note: A wave project cannot be deleted until it is closed. As long as parts of the wave project are still used by objects, deletion is not possible. There will be a query, after confirming with Delete the data will be deleted immediately.

#### Remove unused samples

This function deletes all unused sections from the audio files of the active virtual project, i.e. the sections in the audio files that are not used by objects in the project and therefore are never played. The objects in the virtual project are adjusted accordingly.

A This function permanently deletes data from the hard disk and has no "Undo" option. Therefore, use it wisely.

If other virtual projects use the same audio files, to be on the safe side, open those projects as well before performing this function to prevent possible data loss.

This function can be used to save hard disk space, but afterwards length corrections of the objects are only possible to a limited extent, because the audio data outside the object boundaries have been removed. For this reason, you can specify a safety reserve for each object at **Save additional samples for each object**. This reserve is additionally left in the audio material before and after the object boundaries. The default value is 22050 samples , which corresponds to 500ms at 44.1 kHz sample rate.

Select File > Clean up & Backup > Remove Unused Samples....

Warning				
This ope If multipl Undo is	eration changes all physical projects and may take a long time ! e VIPs access the same physical projects all VIPs must be opened to avoid data loss not available after this operation.	!		
Save ad	iditional samples for each object: 22050			
ed Audio	files:			
rocess	File	Size	Unused	
1	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\70ies Funk _ 100	827 KB	0.0 KB	
5	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\70ies Funk _ 100	827 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\70ies Funk _ 100	1654 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\60s Soul _ 120 BP	1378 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\60s Soul _ 120 BP	1378 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\60s Soul _ 120 BP	1378 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\60s Soul _ 120 BP	1378 KB	0.0 KB	
	C:\ProgramData\Magix\Samplitude Pro X8 Suite\_Sounds\60s Soul _ 120 BP	2.7 MB	0.0 KB	

The dialog lists all audio files used by the virtual project. The **Size** column shows the total amount of disk space used by the audio files, and next to it, in the **Unused** column, how much of it is not used in the virtual project. Use the checkbox in the column **Process** to select the files to be processed. Files that contain unused audio data are already selected. Uncheck the ones you want to keep completely.

▲ Attention: The list can also contain files that are currently no longer used in the VIP, but still appear as entries in the **Undo history**. These files contain 100% unused samples and would therefore be deleted completely. This can be intentional: For example, if you have completely discarded a recording session, you can thus also delete these unused files. However, if you had opened audio material from other sessions or your own sample library and did not use them later, such files are now also selected for deletion. Therefore, before using the function, clear the Undo history (7565) and close all unused audio files.

 The same function is also executed when archiving a complete project with menu File > Clean up & Backup > Save complete VIP in..., if you activate the option Copy only samples used in VIP there. Then only the audio data that the archived project actually needs will be copied to the new folder.

### **Delete Freeze Data**

Use the function **Freeze data** to delete unused data that was created when freezing tracks (*P*143) or objects (*P*169) but is no longer needed after "unfreezing".

## **Archiving Projects**

You can save a project with all used files to a separate folder or burn it to disc.

#### Save complete VIP in

The complete project with all used media files will be saved to the specified folder. Use this function for backing up projects or if you want to continue editing a project on another computer with **Sequoia**.

Save complete VIP	×
Complete File Space: 57 MB Effect used files: 0.0 KB File Space not used in VIP: 9.5 MB	
Options	
✓ Keep project sub directories: □ Copy unfreeze data	
Copy Revolver track data	
Copy clipstore data	
Copy effect used files (Room simulator, Vocoder)	
Copy only samples used in VIP	
Save additional samples for each object: 22050	
Continue Cancel Help	

Setting the following options will copy more files to the new folder:

- **Keep project subfolders**: If there are subfolders in the project folder, they will also be created in the new folder.
- **Copy unfreeze data**: All data will be copied to the new folder that is needed to continue editing and undoing object or track freezes.
- Copy revolver track data: All Revolver tracks (*7*141) (track variants) are copied as well.

- **Copy Clipstore data**: Copies all files from the clip manager with.
- **Copy video data**: Copies associated video files.
- Copy files used by effects: Files used by effects like room simulator or vocoder are copied as well.

If you activate the option **Copy only samples used in VIP**, only the parts of the audio files that are also used by objects in the project will be copied. With this function you can save memory space. However, by doing so, you accept that the object boundaries in the new project can no longer be moved outward, since all audio data outside the object boundaries is no longer available. Therefore you can use **Save additional samples for each object** to specify a safety range in samples that should additionally remain before and after the object boundaries in the audio data, in order to have a reserve if object fade-ins/fade-outs should be changed afterwards. The default value is 22050 samples , which corresponds to 500ms at 44.1 kHz sample rate.

### Burning Project Backups to CD/DVD

This function allows you to burn complete projects onto multiple CDs or DVDs. The separate burning program **MAGIX Speed BurnR** is used for this purpose.

Of course, you can also burn the project folder to disc using the Windows burn function. However, you must then use the function **Collect project files** to ensure that all the files used are also in the project folder. In addition, using **MAGIX Speed BurnR** has the advantage of being able to burn project backups to multiple discs.

# **PROGRAM PREFERENCES**

All settings dialogs of the program are combined in one large dialog, from which you can also reach any other settings dialog via the tree structure on the right. The fastest way to open it is to use the keyboard shortcut **Y** or also menu **File** > **Program preferences** > **System Options...**.

Audio Setup				×
System Options	Driver System	ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driv	ver	~
MIDI     Hardware Controller     Metronome     Recording     Playback     Performance     Extended Buffer Settings     Program     General	ASIO Setup Clock Source ASIO Buffe => Or	r. 64 / 24 ut 229 (5 ms) + In 130 (3 n	Bit Control Pa ma)	nel
Undo     Object Lock Definitions     Crossfade Editor     Feyboard, Menu & Mouse     Keyboard / Menu     MIDI Editor Shortcuts	Buffer setting VIP object	gs buffer: - 4096 It Latency 4 x 4096 (372)		olution/Driver Communication 16 Bit 24 Bit 32 Bit
Crossfade Editor Shortcuts     Special Keys     Mouse     Mousewheel     ⊡- Design     Skins	Monitoring S Monitoring / The comple used for pro latency is al	etup / Engine Mode: te mixer is working in low cessing live input. This r so effective for live input.	latency mode - including bu nay result in increased CPU Usage of economy tracks	Mixer FX Monitoring / Hybrid Engine us and master FX - and can be load and the complete mixer with higher latency can
	Monitorin	efficiency of the mixer ag g Behaviour:	Tape Monitoring	~ ck
			OK	Cancel Help

In the menu File > Program preferences you will find a whole series of menu items that allow you to directly access a specific settings dialog (e.g. Recording, Playback, View options etc.). In many other menus, too, there are entries for certain settings dialogs that match the corresponding context, such as for the dialog View options in the menu View. For the sake of clarity, these many ways to get to the settings are not all mentioned individually here.

Via the lowest entry **Project options** in the tree you switch to the tree structure with the project-specific settings.

Note: From version 17, unlike in older program versions of **Sequoia**, the changes to the program settings are saved immediately and not only when closing the program. This has the advantage that these changes are preserved even if the program terminates irregularly, for example if it crashes or freezes. However, if the crash was caused by these very changes, in rare cases this could cause the program to crash again every time it is launched. For this reason, the previous program settings are stored in backup files (Sequoia\_64\_backup.ini, Sequoia\_64\_audio\_backup.ini...). To restore the previous program settings, proceed as follows:

- 1. Exit the program.
- 3. Rename all \*\_backup.ini to \*.ini files, thereby overwriting the current settings back to the backed up old settings.
- 4. Restart the program, the old settings are valid again.

## **Resetting Program Settings to Default Settings**

To reset all program settings to the default settings, go to the menu **Help** > **Reset program settings to default**. The current settings are saved in the file BackupSetting.INZ and can be restored via the Start selection dialog (#28) or the **Load and save settings function** (#753).



# **System Options**

## **Audio Settings**

Here you make all settings for driver system, buffers, driver communication and monitoring.

Driver System	
ZOOM U-24 ASIO Driv	/er 🗸
ASIO Setup	
Clock Source: Internal	~
ASIO Buffer: 64 / 24	Bit Control <u>P</u> anel
=> Out 229 (5 ms) + In 130 (3 m	ms)
Buffer settings	Device Resolution/Driver Communication
VIP object buffer: _ 2048	± 0 16 Bit
=> Out Latency 4 x 2048 (186	ms)
Monitoring Setup	
Monitoring / Engine Mode:	Mixer FX Monitoring / Hybrid Engine
The complete mixer is working in low used for processing live input. This m latency is also effective for live input. improve the efficiency of the mixer ag	latency mode - including bus and master FX - and can be may result in increased CPU load and the complete mixer . Usage of economy tracks with higher latency can gain.
Monitoring Behaviour:	Tape Monitoring ~
	Mix Input and Playback

**Driver system**: For the communication between **Sequoia** and your sound card you have the choice between the driver systems ASIO, MME and WDM. To take advantage of all the benefits of the program, we strongly recommend using ASIO.

**MME** is the old "Windows" multimedia driver system with the greatest compatibility, somewhat newer is the **WDM** driver system. These driver systems are suitable for performance-critical recordings with a very high number of tracks; there is then greater security against drop-outs compared to ASIO drivers. However, the following applies to both driver models: There is no possibility of monitoring, unless it is provided by the sound card on the hardware side. Multitrack recordings with multiple sound cards cannot be synchronized.

**ASIO**: Use a sound card model fitted with ASIO drivers if possible. This has some advantages over the MME/WDM driver system:

- There is less latency (input/output delay). This gives you the ability to use software monitoring of inputs and VST instruments, and to record software instruments live.
- ASIO is suitable for multitrack recording with multiple sound cards using the same ASIO driver. The sound cards are synchronized by the ASIO driver.

 Advanced hardware monitoring options are also available by using ASIO Direct Monitoring.

-\u03c6 - For sound cards without an own ASIO driver, but which support WDM, you can use a universal ASIO driver like the included MAGIX Low Latency driver or FlexASIO. These drivers also allow multiple sound cards to be addressed with one driver, but experience has shown that this is not very stable and does not perform very well.

## **ASIO Settings**

ASIO Setup		
Clock Source: Internal		$\sim$
ASIO Buffer:	64 / 24 Bit	Control Panel
=> Out 229 (5 ms	s) + In 130 (3 ms)	
Buffer settings		Device Resolution/Driver Communication
VIP object buffer:	- 4096 +	<ul> <li>16 Bit</li> <li>24 Bit</li> </ul>
=> Out Latency 4	x 4096 (372 ms)	◯ 32 Bit

**Driver System**: Select the driver to use from the list of ASIO devices installed on the system. Use the **Control Panel** button to open the driver's settings dialog. Next to **ASIO Buffer** in the display field you can see the buffer size and bit resolution set in the driver. The output and input latencies are also displayed.

The entries in the menu **Clock Source** are provided by the sound card driver. There some sound cards offer the possibility to synchronize the sound card to an external clock.

**Buffer settings**: At **VIP object buffer** the buffer size for the Economy Engine is set. In the preset Monitoring/Engine mode **Mixer FX Monitoring/Hybrid Engine** it is used only for playback of objects and economy tracks (see below), its size does not matter for recording and monitoring latency. Only when changing the playback position or starting the playback, smaller buffer sizes result in a faster reaction of the program. In the other monitoring modes, processing of track effects also takes place in this engine, so the buffer size plays a role in the playback delay (latency) there.

The VIP object buffer size should be larger than the ASIO buffer size and between 1024 samples and 8096 samples.

**Device Resolution/Driver Communication**: Here you can select the bit resolution for addressing audio devices. The preset value correlates with that of the sound card installed on your system.

The ASIO driver system specifies the bit resolution of the ASIO drivers. **Sequoia** always adopts the bit resolution set in the ASIO driver. The setting determines whether the data received from the sound card is converted to a different bit resolution, performing a dithering (745). Often 32 bit data transmission is dithered to 24 bit or 16 bit. The 32-bit setting is particularly recommended if no dithering is desired or if the input is not via the sound card's A/D converters but directly digital from a DSP card.

With the MME driver system, however, **Sequoia** opens the driver with the bit depth set under Devices/Driver Communication. If the device cannot process the set bit resolution, a correspondingly lower resolution (with dithering) is generated and the MME driver is used with this resolution.

### **Monitoring Setup**

Monitoring refers to listening to the recorded input signals, for example via headphones during recording in the studio. Recording with monitoring including track effects or playing software instruments via MIDI requires processing audio data with low latencies.

Monitoring Setup		
Monitoring / Engine Mode:	1	Mixer FX Monitoring / Hybrid Engine
The complete mixer is working i used for processing live input. latency is also effective for live improve the efficiency of the mix	n low latency mode - including bus a This may result in increased CPU loa nput. Usage of economy tracks with ker again.	nd master FX - and can be d and the complete mixer higher latency can
Monitoring Behaviour:	Tape Monitoring	$\sim$
Peak meter on audio input v	hen recording Mix Input an	d Playback

As long as there are no performance problems, you can leave the setting at the default **Mixer FX Monitoring/Hybrid Engine**. When the computer is pushed to its performance limits by many tracks, effects, and software instruments, you can choose various other monitoring/engine modes from the slider that will lighten the load on the computer while limiting those real-time capabilities. Also when using a driver model other than ASIO and if the sound card offers monitoring on the hardware side, it may be necessary to change the monitoring mode.

i For background information on an audio engine in general and the Hybrid Engine in particular, read the section Hybrid Audio Engine (∥715)!

Explanations for the selected monitoring modes are displayed in the text field below the slider, and a table also opens showing which engines are used for the various audio paths and how the currently selected engine mode affects the latencies.

#### **Monitoring Modes**

No audio monitoring (peak meter only): Display of input levels, but no monitoring. This monitoring setting is only useful if you use an external mixer for audio monitoring. Input signals sent to tracks and VST instruments played via MIDI input cannot be monitored. Objects of the tracks, VSTi controlled via MIDI objects, busses and masters are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.

Hardware Monitoring: Audio monitoring through the sound card. This is the only possible monitoring type with MME drivers. Some sound cards also offer hardware monitoring under ASIO and can then directly process functions like mute/solo, volume and pan. You cannot apply effects to the input signal.
 Input signals applied to tracks cannot be monitored via Sequoia, but only directly via the sound card if it offers the corresponding function.VST instruments played via MIDI input can be monitored with low latency. Objects of the tracks, VSTi controlled via MIDI objects, busses and masters are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.

- Software Monitoring/Economy Engine: (only with ASIO drivers) Audio monitoring while taking the set levels of the recording tracks into account and when recording software instruments. No effects are applied to input signals. Input signals applied to tracks and VST instruments played via MIDI input can be monitored with low latency. Objects of the tracks, VSTi controlled via MIDI objects, busses and masters are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.
- Track FX Monitoring: (only with ASIO drivers) Audio monitoring including the track effects of the recording tracks. However, no bus or master effects are included. Input signals applied to tracks and VST instruments played via MIDI input can be monitored with effects in low latency. Objects of the tracks, VSTi controlled via MIDI objects, busses and masters are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.
- Hardware monitoring/Hybrid Engine: In this case, the complete mixer works in low latency mode. This keeps playback latency to a minimum. The input signals are monitored via the sound card in use.

Input signals applied to tracks cannot be monitored via **Sequoia**, but only directly via the sound card if it offers the corresponding function. Busses and masters and VSTi played via MIDI input or controlled via MIDI objects can be monitored with low latency using effects. Objects of the tracks are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.

Mixer FX Monitoring/Hybrid Engine: The Hybrid Audio Engine allows audio monitoring through the entire mixer, while also calculating track playback in the mixer with short latency.

Input signals of tracks and the output of busses and masters and VSTi played via MIDI Input and controlled via MIDI objects can be monitored with effects at low latency. Objects of the tracks are played back via VIP object buffers with higher latency.

Playback with higher latency does not mean that there will be delays between the tracks, because the latencies are known in the program and are automatically compensated, so internally the playback starts earlier by the corresponding time offset. This also allows the use of effects that add latency independently of the engine latency (e.g. dynamic effects with preview or FFT-based effects).

The following applies to all monitoring modes: The effects of the recorded track are not recorded. However, depending on the monitoring mode used, you will hear the recorded signal with effects during recording and playback.

If the CPU load on your system becomes too high in **Mixer FX Monitoring / Hybrid Engine** mode, select a monitoring/engine mode that best suits your needs while not overloading your system.

If, for example, you want to do without effects monitoring for input signals on principle and completely, software **Monitoring / Economy Engine** could be the right monitoring mode for you.

If you cannot do without monitoring track effects of the incoming input signals, but can do without bus or master effects in the monitor path, then we recommend the monitoring mode **Track EX Monitoring** 

#### Track FX Monitoring

If you monitor the track inputs via your sound card, choose between the monitoring modes Hardware Monitoring or Hardware Monitoring / Hybrid Engine, depending on the performance of your system.

**Note**: If you use "TotalMix" from RME in combination with a hardware monitoring mode, then set the panning law in "TotalMix" to -6dB. This ensures that the recording levels in **Sequoia** correspond to the monitoring levels in "TotalMix".

#### **Economy Tracks**

If you have selected the Hybrid Engine as the monitoring setting, you can take individual tracks out of the Low Latency Engine and have track effects or software instruments calculated with the larger buffer size for VIP objects during playback. This will reduce the load on your system's processor. However, this increases the latency during playback. This latency is automatically compensated during playback, so that there is no time offset even for tracks that are calculated in different engines. But you can no longer record to such tracks with monitoring, and you can no longer play software instruments via live MIDI input.

To switch a track to "Economy", select the track and choose from the menu **Track** > **Track type** > **Economy track**.



The speaker button of an economy track is displayed with a green frame.

#### **Monitoring Behavior**

**Tape monitoring** is the preset monitoring behavior that works like a tape machine: In stopped state and during recording the input signal is played back, during playback the content of the track. During a recording, the input signal is played back, except for punch-in recordings (104), in which case the track content is output outside the punch markers and the input signal is output inside the markers.

**Manual monitoring**: For each track, manually specify whether monitoring is active for the track using the speaker button in the Track head, Track editor, or Mixer. This behavior is only available when the ASIO driver system is used.

**Mix Input and Playback**: If this option is active, the track's input signal is also monitored during playback when track monitoring is activated.

**Peak meter on audio input when recording**: This option (active by default) ensures that the peak meters of the tracks that are armed for recording automatically display the level at the audio input instead of the track level.

In addition to the **System Options** > **Audio Setup**, you can also switch the monitoring settings and switching behavior by right-clicking on the **Mon** button of the Transport control. There you will find two more recording options for MIDI:

- Automatic MIDI record switch on selected track(s): This option ensures that MIDI tracks are always ready for recording as soon as they are selected.
- Automatic MIDI monitoring (Thru) on arming: If this option is active, monitoring is automatically switched on for each MIDI track that you activate for recording, i.e. if you play a MIDI keyboard that is recorded on this track, you will hear the output signal of the software instrument for this track.

#### **Basics - Hybrid Audio Engine**

In the **Audio Engine**, the core of every DAW, mixes the audio data that is present at the inputs and played back from the hard disk, calculates the effects that go with it, and outputs the result via the outputs. The processing takes place block by block: The data is read in small portions into a memory area (buffer), calculations are performed with the data of the buffer and transferred to other buffers, which are then provided to the sound card for output. While one buffer is being filled with new input data, another buffer is being summed with another, effects calculations are taking place on yet another buffer, another buffer is being copied to an output buffer, another output buffer is being read by the sound card for playback. These read, write and compute processes must be synchronized, because if one sub-function cannot provide its results to the next in time, there will be dropouts in recording or playback. In this context, the size of the buffers has a significant influence on the behavior of the audio engine: Large buffers are less sensitive to short load peaks in the system, because the copy operations between the buffers occur less frequently and the parts of the processing chain have more time to catch up with the delays they create. The disadvantage of large buffers is that the engine can respond to changes in parameters by the user (e.g. the volume on a mixer channel or an effect parameter) with a greater delay (latency), since these changes can only take effect with the next buffer.

**Sequoia** uses the **Hybrid Audio Engine** by default. This engine combines two different engines with each other (hence "hybrid"): For real-time functions like monitoring, i.e. the immediate playback of the received audio signal with effects, and for the playback of software instruments played live via MIDI, a low-latency engine with low delay (latency ) and small buffers (ASIO buffer size of the sound card) is used. For the playback of recorded audio data, a second engine (Economy Engine) can be used, which works with much larger buffers (VIP object buffers) and is resource-saving and allows the integration of computationally intensive effects.

The Hybrid Engine thus enables a combination of Low Latency Engine and Economy Engine for track and effect calculation. For example, you can play back many CPU-intensive VST instruments in so-called "Economy" tracks (see below), while only the VST instrument that you are currently playing live is calculated in the Low Latency Engine.

## Audio Devices

In this dialog you can select the devices to be used in **Sequoia** from all installed input and output devices.

✓ 1 + 2:	In 1+In 2 (UMC ASIO Driver In)		Device Info
✓ 3 + 4:	In 3+In 4 (UMC ASIO Driver In)		-
✓ 5 + 6:	In 5+In 6 (UMC ASIO Driver In)		Rename
⊻ 7+8:	In 7+In 8 (UMC ASIO Driver In)		Order:
9+10:	SPDIF 1+SPDIF 2 (UMC ASIO Driver In)		<b></b>
<		>	Reset
ayback	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info
ayback	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 3+Out 4 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info
ayback 2 1 + 2: 3 + 4: 2 5 + 6: 3 - 2	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 3+Out 4 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 5+Out 6 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info
ayback 2 1 + 2: 2 3 + 4: 2 5 + 6: 2 7 + 8: 2 9 + 10:	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 3+Out 4 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 5+Out 6 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 7+Out 8 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info Rename Order:
ayback 2 1+ 2: 3 + 4: 5 + 6: 2 7 + 8: 9 + 10: 2 11 + 12:	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 3+Out 4 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 5+Out 6 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 7+Out 8 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 9+Out 10 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) SPDIF 1+SPDIF 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info Rename Order:
ayback 2 1 + 2: 3 + 4: 2 5 + 6: 2 7 + 8: 2 9 + 10: 2 11 + 12:	Out 1+Out 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 3+Out 4 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 5+Out 6 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 7+Out 8 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) Out 9+Out 10 (UMC ASIO Driver Out) SPDIF 1+SPDIF 2 (UMC ASIO Driver Out)		Device Info Rename Order:

Activate the devices you want to use in **Sequoia** with the checkboxes in front. You can change the order and name with which the devices appear in selection menus. Select a device by clicking on it and use the arrow buttons to move it and the **Rename** button to give it an individual name. The **Reset** button activates all devices. Under ASIO only the first 4 stereo channels are activated by default. If you also hold down the **Shift** key when clicking **Reset**, all inputs/outputs are activated. The button **Device Info** opens the settings window of the sound card driver.

## **MIDI Settings**

MIDI Input	MIDI O	utput					
4- ZOOM U-24 MIDI	Micr	osoft GS Wave	table Syn	th		•	
MIDIIN2 (4- ZOOM U-24 MIDI)	🗹 4- Z	4- ZOOM U-24 MIDI			Info		
	MID 🗹 MID	IOUT2 (4- ZOO	M U-24 N	(IDI)	Inio		
					Rer	name	
					Re	eset	
Global Record Device:	Global	Play Device:					
<all> ~</all>	Microsof	t GS Wavetable	e Synth	$\sim$			
Recording							
Record Offset: 0 ms	Retros	spective	Buffer:	60s	~		
	- Necor	aing				_	
Audio/MIDI Sync							
Active Force Sync: 50	%	☑ Use sampl clock from	e exact re audio de	eference vice			
Automatic Volume Fader Mode for MID	Tracks						
Don't change Volume Fader mode	THOCKS						
O Controller /							
<ul> <li>Midi Velocity scaling</li> </ul>							
Activate SveEv Input		Note On C	haeing				
	_	Canad "All	Matas Off		la eta un		
	S		Notes Off	to v51	Instrum	ents	
Link VIP-Q and MIDI Editor Q		Soft Split f	or MIDI O	bjects			
Deactivate all MIDI functions		OK	C	ancel		Help	

**MIDI inputs and MIDI outputs**: In the lists all MIDI devices present in the system are listed. Devices that you do not want to use in **Sequoia** can be deactivated with the checkboxes. You can change the order and name with which the devices appear in the selection menus. Select a device by clicking on it and use the arrow buttons to move it and the **Rename** button to give it an individual name. This may be necessary to distinguish MIDI devices that work with the USB standard driver without their own driver and for which all the same default name USB MIDI Device is displayed.

**Default input/default output**: The devices set here are used for previewing MIDI files in the file manager and file selection dialogs, and as default input and output devices for new tracks.

**Recording offset**: Here you can enter an offset value in milliseconds by which the recorded MIDI events are shifted back to compensate for a possible latency in MIDI processing.

**Retrospective MIDI recording**: This activates the Retrospective MIDI recording feature. All MIDI inputs are stored in the background even without extra activated recording for a certain time, which can be set at **Buffer**. Via menu **Play/Rec** > **Retroactive MIDI recording** a MIDI object is created in the selected track with this data.

**Audio/MIDI sync**: With **Force Sync** sets the amount with which **Sequoia** synchronizes the MIDI tracks with the audio tracks. On fast systems this setting should be set to 100% in order to get the closest synchronization possible between MIDI and audio. If your system experiences difficulties synchronizing the MIDI tracks with the audio tracks, select a lower force sync value. Normally you will also want to use sample-exact reference times from your audio device (e.g. sound card) for audio/MIDI synchronization.

**Automatic volume fader mode for MIDI tracks**: Set the default behavior of the volume fader in new MIDI tracks here. See the section Control behavior of the volume fader (2515).

Activate SysEx input: Activate/deactivate here the receiving of System Exclusive data from external MIDI devices.

**Use system time for MIDI timestamps** : If this option is activated, the MIDI device driver's time stamp will be ignored. This can help if the driver provides a timestamp that is not synchronized to the audio or is completely wrong. In case of MIDI recording problems with MIDI devices, the option may help.

**Link VIP Q and MIDI Editor Q**: This option causes a linking of the quantization settings of VIP and MIDI Editor, so that a change of the grid and quantization settings in the VIP is applied to the quantization settings of the MIDI Editor and vice versa.

**Note On Chasing**: "Note On Chasing" means that MIDI notes are played even if their start is before the current playback start position, but they should still be sounding at the start time of playback, in other words, if the NoteOn event is before the start time, and the corresponding NoteOff event is behind it.

**Send "All Notes Off" to VST instruments**: By default, the MIDI panic function (**#**505) for ending hanging notes does not send individual NoteOff events for all notes on all channels to VST instruments , but sends an "All Notes Off" MIDI message. However, this command is ignored by some VST instruments. If you deactivate this option, individual NoteOff events are also sent to the VST instruments for all notes on all channels, which then takes a little longer.

Soft split for MIDI objects: see Editing MIDI objects (₱442)

**Deactivate all MIDI functions**: If you do not use MIDI in your project, you can use this option to deactivate all MIDI functions in order to increase program performance.

# Hardware Controllers

In this dialog all settings for the operation of **Sequoia** with hardware controllers are made. For more information, please refer to the separate document Hardware Controller.pdf in

the program folder.

*i* For the new version of the *Presonus FaderPort* controller, there is a newer native support with advanced features. Please refer to the document *PreSonus FaderPort Support EN.pdf* in the program folder for more information.

### **Metronome Options**

For detailed information on metronome settings, see the section *Tempo Editing > Metronome* (#388).

## Recording

In this dialog, various further settings for the recording are made. It can also be accessed via the button **Advanced Options...** directly from the dialog Recording Options (*P*96). Some options from this dialog can also be found here (**Format**, **Record offset in samples**, **Read CD/DAT marker**...). Only the additional options are described below:

Format	Options						
<ul> <li>16 Bit</li> <li>24 Bit</li> <li>32 Bit (Float)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Save each take in a new file</li> <li>Prepare all tracks for Track Punch Record</li> <li>Read CD/DAT Marker</li> <li>Handle audio inputs exclusively</li> </ul>						
Record Offset: 0 Samples	Pre-Recording (ASIO only)	Pre-Recording length:	10s ~				
	Post-Recording	Post-Recording length:	0.5 s 🗸				
Extended options	Extended options						
Show small recording window during recording Show small recording window during punch-in recording							
Confirmation after recording $\sim$							
ASIO dropout warning	gs: No warnings		$\sim$				
Update object dur Record position a	ing recording utoscrolling	Warning when remaining 30 min recording time less than					
<ul> <li>Set cursor to record end position - next recording starts at this position</li> <li>Record Button in Record Options can stop Recording</li> <li>Record button stops playback after standard recording</li> <li>Select recorded objects</li> </ul>							
	bjects						
Take Handling	bjects						

#### **Options**:

- Save each take in a new file: If active, a new file is created for each take of a recording. New takes created manually (+ key at Take in the recording window) and multiple passes of a loop recording are always saved as takes in the same file.
- Prepare all tracks for track punch record: If you enable this option, all assigned input devices will also be opened during playback, so you can start recording on all tracks when you enable recording for a track.
- Treat audio inputs exclusively: This option (active by default) ensures that recording can only be activated in one track at a time if the same input is assigned to multiple tracks. This avoids recording identical audio data on multiple tracks.
- Pre-Recording (ASIO and Wave Format only): If active, this function adds audio material that was present at the input before recording was started to the beginning of the current recording when you activate recording from the stop state or from playback. Preset is 5 seconds, but up to 120 seconds are possible. Move the object start of the recorded objects to the left to make this material visible.
- Post-Recording: If active, up to 2 seconds of additional audio material is recorded in the background even after recording has stopped (default: 0.5 seconds) If you move the end of the object to the right after recording, you can make the additional audio material visible.

#### Extended options:

- Show small recording window during recording/punch-in recording: Use these options to display a small, non-modal recording window with the most important recording controls during direct recording or punch-in recording.
- **Confirmation after recording**: With the options in the menu you can define the behavior when stopping the recording.
  - **No confirmation dialog**: The recording is finished and the recorded material is taken over into the project.
  - **Confirmation after recording**: (default) The recording is stopped and you are asked whether you want to accept the recording or not. If you select **Delete**, you will also be asked whether the recorded audio should also be deleted or not.
  - **Confirmation at record stop, recording continues**: The recording continues at first, and a dialog appears in which you can choose whether you want to accept the recording or delete it; in both cases, the recording is then stopped. Press **Continue**
recording to close the dialog and continue recording.

- Confirmation at record stop, recording continues (protected): The recording continues at first, and the same dialog appears, but the buttons **Delete recording** and **Apply recording** are not available yet. The dialog can be closed immediately by **Continue recording** and closes automatically after 30 seconds. To stop the recording, you must first uncheck the **Prevent record stop** checkbox to be able to click on the two buttons and thus stop the recording. You can use this option as a safety measure against accidental recording stop.
- ASIO drop-out warnings: Specify whether a warning should be issued when ASIO drop-outs occur. Drop-outs are short gaps in recorded audio that occur when a buffer could not be written in time. If Show warnings is selected, a red warning is displayed in the status display when drop-outs occur. At Show warnings and set markers markers are also set at the locations in the project where the drop-outs occurred.
- Update object during recording: If active, the objects created by recording in the project are updated during recording, so they grow as the recording progresses, allowing immediate visual control of the recorded audio.
- Record position autoscroll: If you have activated this option, the visible section is scrolled along with the record position during the recording.
- Warning if remaining recording time is less than ... minutes: If a timed recording was started, a warning is issued if the remaining recording time until the end of the recording falls below the specified time.
- Set cursor to record end position next recording starts at this position: If you have activated this option, the play cursor will be set to the end of the recording after the recording, the next playback or recording will then start from this position.
- Recording button in the recording options can stop recording: If active, the Record button in the Record Options dialog (keyboard shortcut: Shift + R) can both start and stop the recording. By default, the option is off and the recording can only be stopped with the stop button.
- Recording button stops playback after standard recording: If active, you can stop both recording and playback while recording is in progress using the **Recording** button on the transport console.
- Select recorded objects: After finished recording, all recorded objects are selected, if several takes were recorded, the objects with the last take.

#### Take Handling:

- Set take markers in VIP timeline: If active, new takes are indicated by markers in the project.
- 3-digit take number: If active, the take numbers are formed with three digits instead of two, starting with 001, thus avoiding complications when more than 99 takes are generated.
- Short object names: If active, only the take number is used as object name for the recorded objects.
- Initialize comment with take name: Comments that can be inserted during recording using the Comment button in the recording options are given the current take name in the input field.
- No new object on false start (FS) key: No new object is created after pressing the FS (false start) key, only a new take with the same name is created in the same object.

# Playback

The playback options control the behavior during playback. For more information, see the **Play project** (*P*82)

Stop at position	
Spacebar (play/stop) also works in the back	ground
Escape key stops playback and recording (for	or overload situations)
Pre-roll time (seconds): 2	Postroll time (seconds): 2
objects without fade-out (sec.)	
Cue Mode	
<ul> <li>At Object Edges</li> </ul>	Preroll for Cue Mode (ms): 0
At CD Track Indices	Solo switch for first track
Autoscroll	
Active	◯ Soft
Active for zoom <1s	Page
Pause autoscroll after clicking in the an	ranger
Scrubbing (numeric 0)	
OneSpeed ~	
Speed: 0.25	Scrubbing for active track only
Global Play Device: Line (ZOOM U-24 A	Audio) ~

Keyboard shortcut: P

**Stop at position**: if active, the play cursor remains at the current position when playback is stopped.

**Space bar (play/stop) also works in background**: The space bar can also be used for play and stop in **Sequoia** when you are working with another application in the foreground.

**Esc key stops playback and recording**: If active, playback can also be stopped with the **Esc** key. This still works even if the program interface is otherwise unresponsive because the computer is overloaded.

**Pre-roll time/Post-roll time (s)**: See Play cut (⊉85) and Crossfade editor (⊉184)

**Maximum reverberation time for objects without fade-out**: When audio effects such as reverb or echo are applied to objects, the resulting audio becomes longer than the original object. With this value you define for how long after the object end this audio data will be calculated. Values up to 60 seconds are possible.

**Cue mode**, see Cue mode (∥86).

With **Autoscroll** the graphical display constantly moves even before the playback marker leaves the visible section. This way you always keep the overview. Activate the autoscroll mode

with the option **Active**. With **Active for zoom <1s** autoscrolling can be activated separately for very high zoom levels of less than one second, because this leads to very fast movement in the project display, which is often not desirable.

You can choose between **page** and **soft autoscroll mode**. When scrolling page by page, the section changes as soon as the play cursor moves out of the displayed section. With soft scrolling, the play cursor always stays in the center of the section while the project scrolls under it. At smaller buffer sizes ( $\nearrow$ 708) (e.g. < 4096 samples), scrolling will be softer.

**Notes** 

- Note: When using a lot of tracks, autoscroll may cause computer overload, where dropouts may occur during playback. Deactivate Autoscroll mode if this happens.
- In playback mode Continuous playback while editing (#87) Autoscroll is disabled.

**Pause autoscroll after clicking in the arranger**: When this option is active, autoscroll is temporarily disabled after clicking into the arranger (lower half of a track) until playback stops, to make it easier to edit the project while playback is in progress. It will then be active again when playback is resumed.

## Performance

The settings at **Performance** enable system performance optimizations that may not be compatible with certain sound cards or plug-ins in individual cases and are therefore optional.

i In general, if you enable all options, you will get the maximum system performance. If all options are deactivated, maximum compatibility will be achieved.

Multi CPU Support, maximum number of CPUs 5 / 6 (system maximum)
Use more than one CPU for audio processing for improved performance. Disadvantage: may cause incompatibilities with some plug-ins which rely on a strict track processing order. Reduce CPU number if you experience performance issues.
ASIO Priority Boost Advantage: More reliable recording and playback. Disadvantage: may cause incompatibilities with some audio drivers.
Deactivate muted tracks for ASIO Advantage: less CPU load (similar to economy tracks) Disadvantage: slows down mute button response time
Deactivate FX on empty or silent tracks for ASIO Advantage: less CPU load (similar to economy tracks) Disadvantage: may cause incompatibilities with some plug-ins and irregular CPU load.
Switch off hybrid engine for bouncing/export Advantage: All effects will be calculated with the faster economy engine. Disadvantage: For some plug-ins changing the buffer size may cause incompatibilities and problems with latency compensation.
Note:
<ul> <li>Activating all options gives maximum performance.</li> <li>Deactivating all options gives maximum compatiblity.</li> </ul>

- Multi CPU Support: Sequoia supports the use of multi-core CPUs so that different tasks are distributed to different cores. If you have chosen MME or WDM as driver system, audio processing runs mainly on the first core. Disk I/O operations, graphics and video playback are calculated on the other cores. At ASIO the tracks of the mixer with their effects are distributed to the first cores. Object effects, graphics and video playback are distributed to other available cores. By default, Sequoia always uses all cores of the CPU. In case of compatibility problems with certain plug-ins, you can reduce the number of cores used.
- ASIO priority boost: Among all threads of the application, special priority is granted to the ASIO thread. This option increases the reliability of audio recording and playback and is active by default and normally does not need to be changed. Only a few audio drivers are not compatible with this option and require disabling.
- Deactivate muted tracks for ASIO: With this option you reduce the CPU load of your system. However, there are short delays when switching off mute.

- Deactivate FX on empty or silent tracks for ASIO: With this option you reduce the CPU load of your system even more. However, this feature can cause unsteady CPU usage and compatibility issues with some plug-ins.
  - (i) The Recording of track outputs (abla105) is not possible if this option is active.
- Switch off Hybrid Engine for mixdown/export: If you activate this option, all effects will be calculated with the faster Economy Engine during an export process. However, this may cause latency compensation errors with some plug-ins.

# **Extended Buffer Settings**

In this dialog you can optimize the buffer settings for projects, disk caching and plug-in processing. If there are no problems during recording and playback, you do not need to make any changes here.

**Program Buffer/HD Performance**: Here you can save and load presets for buffer settings. Various presets are included, e.g. for scrubbing.

#### Program Buffer (in stereo samples)

- **VIP object buffer**: Since error-free playback is usually more important than fast reaction times, this value should be increased when playing back many tracks. When playing and editing virtual projects, only this setting is important.
- **HD/Scrub buffers**: These buffers are used when playing wave projects. Also test smaller values here to achieve faster response times.
- **Test buffer**: This buffer is only used for real-time previewing when effects are applied offline.
- Buffer count: Specify here how many buffers are to be used. More buffers increase reliability, but also increase memory requirements. This results is longer response times. You can read the current buffer utilization during playback in the status display at the bottom right. A buffer number between 4 and 6 is recommended.

#### Hard Disk Performance/TrackSpeed

TrackSpeed technology lets you significantly increase the number of simultaneously playable hard disk tracks in **Sequoia**. TrackSpeed uses your PC's RAM to intelligently and effectively preload the necessary audio data. By using TrackSpeed, the internal audio engine of **Sequoia** can work with small audio buffers (e.g. 8000 samples or less) even when using many tracks, without performance suffering. This enables very short reaction times to user interventions, e.g. at the mixer and at the object handles.

There are settings available which can be used to customize TrackSpeed to your individual requirements:

- **Activate TrackSpeed**: Check this box to turn on the TrackSpeed functionality.
- Preload file cache while stopped: If this option is enabled, the file cache is preloaded each time the play cursor is positioned. You can recognize this by the message "Cache preloaded" in the status display at the bottom right. After that, the next play start is immediate because all the audio data you need is already loaded.
- Preload before start: This value specifies how much % of the cache is loaded at play start. Larger values delay the start, but increase the playback stability with a large number of tracks.

# Program

# General

This dialog contains various general options for the program's behavior.

Program Settings	
Flogram Settings	
Open new project and recording options at program start	Create fades for new objects when Auto Crossfade Mode is active
Open audio files in destructive editing mode	Show project tooltips
∠ Lock project size against zoom out	Show extended project tooltips
Play cursor independent of range	Use snap for automation curve points
Performance display	Automatically check for online updates
Hide news	Send analysis data to MAGIX
Reset all "Don't show this me	ssage again" boxes
New Virtual Projects: C:\Users\rajko.aust\Docur	nents\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suit
Project Files: C:\Users\rajko.aust\Docur	nents\MAGIX\Samplitude Pro X8 Suit
FTP Download: C:\Users\rajko.aust\Docur	ments \MAGIX \Samplitude Pro X8 Suit
Temporary Files: C:\Users\RAIKO~1 AUS\	
c. toacia in follo 1.A03 t	

#### Program settings:

- Open project and recording options at program start: If active, the Start Selection is not displayed when Sequoia is opened, but an empty project is created and the Recording options dialog (196) is displayed.
- Open audio files in destructive editing mode: If active, audio files loaded as wave projects separately from virtual projects are also opened in destructive wave editing mode (2582).
- Lock project size against zoom out: If active, a project is not automatically lengthened when you zoom out further than the maximum section size.
- Play cursor independent of range: If inactive, the play cursor is set to the start of the range when ranges are selected, whereas moving the playback marker cancels a range selection.
  - Attention: Disable this option only if you really need this range and play cursor behavior that has been changed since many years. Playback and range selection will then no longer work as usual and as described in these instructions (*7*82).
- **Performance display**: Activates the DSP performance display in the lower left corner.
- Automatically check for updates online: If active, Sequoia checks for program updates when the program is started. If your computer does not have Internet access, you can disable this option.
- Create fades for new objects when auto-crossfade mode is active: When loading audio files into a project, even if auto-crossfade mode (*P*176) is active, the objects are created without automatic fades, since it is assumed that the files already contain fades and are to be used unchanged. If you still want fades, enable this option.
- Show project tooltips: If active, additional information is displayed when the mouse pointer rests over a control.
- **Show extended project tooltips**: If enabled, detailed tooltips are displayed.
- Use snap for automation curve points: If active, automation points also snap when moved and snap (*7*8) is active.
- Reset all "Don't show this message again" boxes: Many notification dialogs can be turned off by selecting the "Don't show this message again" option before closing them. Press this button to reactivate all notification dialogs.

Below you can set preset paths for project files:

- **New virtual projects**: Under the path selected here, all new virtual projects as well as the recorded audio files and those created during import are saved.
- Project files: All other files created by Sequoia that cannot be assigned to a specific project are stored under the path specified here.
- **FTP download**: All files downloaded via the integrated FTP client will be saved under this path.
- **Temporary files**: This preset path is directed to the standard temporary files folder. This folder should be on a hard drive or partition with sufficient free storage space.

# Undo

This dialog is used to configure the undo function for virtual projects and wave projects. The function can be activated or deactivated separately for the respective edits. In addition, you can define the number of stored undo steps in each case. A value of 20 means that the last 20 changes in the project can be rolled back.

Always have temporary undo files created as HD Wave projects for RAM Wave projects: If active, for such projects the changes are saved in temporary HD-Wave projects to save RAM.

# **Object Lock Definitions**

Here you determine which functions should be prevented by locking objects or tracks. You can select the following options:

### **Locking Objects**

- **Disable moving**: Objects can no longer be moved horizontally. This avoids unintentional offsets between individual tracks in multitrack recordings.
- **Disable vertical movement**: The objects can no longer be moved between the tracks.
- **Disable volume changes**: The volume handles of the objects are disabled.
- **Disable fade-in/-out**: The fade handles of the objects are disabled.
- **Disable length changes**: The length handles of the objects are deactivated.
- **Disable deleting**: Locked objects cannot be deleted.
- **Lock automation**: The object automation is locked against editing.
- **Disable ripple when objects are locked**: These options control how objects are rippled during range-oriented edit functions (for example, Delete with ripple) and when moving

and deleting objects in the **Link...** object modes (*P*161) when locked objects are on the tracks.

- **All objects**: Ripple is prevented for all objects in the track.
- All objects behind locked objects: Ripple is prevented for all unlocked objects in the track that are behind a locked object.
- **Enable ripple**: Ripple is allowed for all objects that are not locked, even if there are locked objects on the track.

### **Locking Tracks**

Tracks are locked in the track head by activating the lock symbol.

**Disable 4 point cut**: This deactivates the source destination cut function for locked tracks. The edits may no longer be changed.

**Disable crossfade editing**: This disables crossfade editing for locked tracks - the crossfades can no longer be changed.

# **Crossfade Editor**

This page contains the **settings for the Crossfade editor** (*7*188).

i For detailed information on the crossfade editor, see the section **Crossfade editor** (177).

# SD Cut / MuSyC

 For detailed information on MuSyC settings, refer to the chapter Source-Destination-Editing > MuSyC - Multi-Synchronous Cut > MuSyC System Settings (*₱*223).

For detailed information on the source-destination cut settings, see the chapter Sourcedestination cut (₱212).

# Keyboard, Menu & Mouse

# Keyboard / Menu

In this dialog you can assign keyboard shortcuts for all menu items in the main menu of **Sequoia** and change the existing assignments. You can also hide rarely used menu items to make the menus clearer.

+ Al	Show menu item	Hide menu item	Restore of	default	2	
📮 File						^
New Virtual Project (VIP)		E				
Open						
Load Audio File		W				
Import Audio		Ctrl+I				
··· Sound Designer II						
··· Import as Dump						
···· Load Midi File						
··· Load Video File						
Import Audio CD Track(	s)					
···· Import Audio DVD						
Import AAF/OMF						
···· Edit List (*.EDL)		01.0				
Save Project		Ctrl+S				
Save Project as		Shift+S				
Save Project Copy		Ctrl+Alt+S				
Export		Ctrl+E				
Export with previous settings	1					¥
Export list			[	Restore default	2	
Shortcut						
	8.8		Global	Assigned		_
	<b>6</b> 99)	Assign	shortcut	CIII+S		
		Delete	1			
Description		Delete				
Save active project						

For this purpose, the menu is displayed in a tree structure. Submenus can be expanded by clicking on a **+** icon, with **+All** the tree is expanded completely. You can also search for a specific menu item by entering a search term in the input field above and then clicking on the binoculars icon next to it.

+ Al load	Show menu item Hide menu item Restore default	i 🖌
		^
New Virtual Project (VIP)	E	
Open		
· Load Audio File	W	
Import Audio	Ordel	

## **Editing Keyboard Shortcuts**

				Assianed
R	ĝů,	Assign	Global shortcut	R
Description	[	Delete		
Start Record				

- 1. Select a menu item for which you want to create or change a keyboard shortcut.
- 2. If keyboard shortcuts are already defined for the menu item, they are listed at **Assigned** on the right in the **Shortcut** area.

To find out which menu item is assigned to a particular keyboard shortcut, click in the input field at **Shortcut**, press the desired keys and click the binoculars icon next to them. If an assignment exists, the corresponding menu item is selected in the tree structure.

- **3.** To set a new keyboard shortcut, click in the input field at **Shortcut** and press the desired keys. You can use combinations of any key with the modifiers **Shift**, **Alt** and **Ctrl**.
- 4. Click Assign to set the keyboard shortcut for the selected menu item. If you enable the Global Shortcut option, the keyboard shortcut will work throughout the program, even if a window is focused for which separate keyboard shortcuts apply (see below).
- 5. If the key combination is already assigned to another program function, the existing assignment is displayed in a message dialog. Click **Cancel** to cancel the assignment and keep the existing shortcut or **Replace** to permanently reassign the shortcut.
- 6. To remove a keyboard shortcut assignment, click the **Delete** button.

The **Export list** button lets you save the complete list of current keyboard shortcuts as a text or CSV file, or just display it in a separate window.

### Showing and Hiding Menu Items

Select the menu item you want to hide. **Hide menu item**" removes the menu item from the menu. It will then be grayed out in the tree.



Note that after this, the menu item can also no longer be accessed via the assigned keyboard shortcut .

With **Show menu item** you make the hidden menu item visible again. **Restore default** restores the preset state in which all menu items are displayed.

**Save/Load**: Click the **Save** button to save your keyboard and menu settings. Use the **Load** button to load saved settings.

# MIDI Editor/Crossfade Editor/Spectral Cleaning keys

Some windows in **Sequoia** have their own menus that can be controlled by separate keyboard shortcuts. In these dialogs these keyboard shortcuts are defined, similarly to those of the main menu

# **Special Keys**

In the window **Special keys** you define the keys for temporary switching (**?**77) of mouse and object modes, with which you can temporarily switch to other mouse and object modes.

#### **Object modes**

- Temporary key for Link one track/all tracks to the right/left: Activates the function Link one track/all tracks to the right/left, as long as the assigned key is pressed.
- Temporary key for moving object content: Special button for moving the object content with the mouse.
- Temporary toggle for snap: Activates the snap as long as the assigned key is pressed. When the snap is active, the snap is temporarily deactivated.

#### Mouse modes:

- Temporary key for Object mode/Curve mode/Draw automation mode/Zoom mode/Cut mode: Activates the respective mouse mode (268), as long as the assigned key is pressed.
- **Temporary key 1/2 for scrub mode** (Scrubbing mode (*P*90)): Activates scrubbing mode as long as the assigned key is pressed.
  - There are 2 key assignments for this, because in the default setting the key O/Einfg on the numeric keypad is used for this, the function of the key is thus independent of whether NumLock is active or not.
- **Temporary toggle for Scrub mode (790)**: Switches the Scrub mode permanently until the next time playback stops.

#### Other keys:

- **Temporary key for writing automations (#364)**: Activates automation recording as long as the assigned key combination is pressed.
- Temporary switch for mono to stereo: When two files selected in the file manager are loaded into a project via drag & drop, a stereo object is created from both files if this button is held before dragging.
- Activate Talkback: Here you can set a button for the talkback in the monitoring section. The monitoring section has its own fixed keyboard shortcuts. But this one works even if the monitoring window is not selected.
- Multi Tap Sequence Key: Pressing this key separately several times activates special functions. Currently, the button doubles the pre-roll time in the Crossfade Editor. If you press (by default) Ctrl and then the space bar, playback is started with double the pre-roll time, with 2 x Ctrl and space bar with four times the pre-roll time, and so on.

## Mouse

At **Mouse** you can set special options for mouse operation to ensure compatibility with older versions.

- Disable range zoom with double click: Preset on. Deactivate the option if you want to zoom into the project by double-clicking in an empty place of the project.
- Zoom lasso allows vertical zoom without "shift": Preset off. When a selection rectangle is drawn in the project in Zoom mouse mode, the default setting is to zoom into the selection horizontally only. For additional vertical zoom you also need to press the Shift key. With this option active, you can zoom in horizontally and vertically without using the Shift key.
- **Disable zoom by vertical mouse dragging in timeline**: Preset off. Disables the zoom function by dragging the mouse vertically (*7*109).
- Backward compatible use of "Shift" + click to mute/solo/record (instead of Alt + Shift + click): Switches modifier when clicking Solo, Mute and Record to switch Exclusive from Alt + Shift to Shift, according to behavior in older versions.
- Knob characteristics same as for faders: Preset off. When this option is enabled, knobs (pots) can be adjusted like sliders by dragging them up and down.
- 2nd click required to move object: This option requires a second click to moving objects. The first click selects objects and prevents unintentional moving.

- Movement delay: Preset on (200 ms). When selecting an object by clicking on it, you may accidentally move the object. If the movement delay is activated, Sequoia waits for the specified period of time before a movement can be executed.
- Minimum range length: Preset off (100 ms). To protect against accidental range selection of very few ranges, ranges smaller than the specified length are prevented from being selected when the option is active.

# Mouse wheel

At **Mouse wheel** you can change the function of the mouse wheel for zooming and scrolling in the project. Set which modifier (Alt, Ctrl, Shift) triggers which action in combination with the mouse wheel. Actions can also be defined for the middle mouse button.

**Note**: To make it easier for program beginners to switch to **Sequoia**, the mouse wheel in VIP scrolls vertically (tracks) rather than horizontally (time position) by default, in line with the standard behavior of many other DAWs. At **Reset** you can choose to restore the new (vertical scrolling) or the old default behavior (horizontal scrolling).

# Design

# Skin

In this dialog you can choose between different skins for the arranger, the toolbars, the mixer and the transport console. By loading another skin, you can change the color and graphic design of the **Sequoia** program interface.

Skin		
Arranger	Carbon	$\sim$
	Switch available skins together with main skin	
<u>M</u> ixer	Carbon	$\sim$
<u>T</u> ransport	Carbon	$\sim$
Tool <u>b</u> ars	Carbon	$\sim$

You can also choose between the different skins by right-clicking on the drag icon in the upper left corner of a docker's title bar.

# Colors

This is where you adjust all the colors used in the program. These color settings can be optionally loaded and saved as presets.

Preset Dark Horizon	✓ <u>Save</u> <u>Load</u> Delete
Objects/Samples/Project Background	Curves/Grid
Sample Foreground	Volume Curve
Sample Envelope	Pan Curve
Object/Sample Background (top)	Grid Grid Text
Selected Object (top)	Grid Text (dB)
Crossfades	
Arrangement Background (top)	
(color gradient: bottom)	
Selected track	Ī.
Selected track (frame)	
Cue Mode track	
Record track color	
Transparent draw mode	
✓ Use automatic Sample colors for Record	
Restore	
Restore Last Setup Restore Original Setu	2

**Use automatic sample colors for record**: A separate random color is chosen for each recorded object per track.

### Restore

**Restore last setup**: The last status of the color setup, before the dialog was opened, is restored.

**Restore original setup**: Here you can reset the color settings to those of the previous or original color state. Click the button to see a menu containing the various options.

- **Previous state**: The previous color setup will be restored.
- **Original state**: Resets all colors to their default setting.

- Object colors: This option resets all object colors. This may additionally be necessary if you import a project from another computer that had different color settings or if automatic sample color assignment during recording causes objects to deviate from the default object color.
- **Track colors**: The track colors are reset.
- Object colors to track colors: Sets the object foreground colors of the waveforms to the track colors.
- Object background to track colors: Sets the object background colors to the track colors.

# **Project Display**

You can configure the display of the project and the objects in it in great detail. To do this, use the section **Designs** > **Project view** in the **Program preferences**. You can reach the dialog via menu **View** > **VIP display mode** > **View options...** or keyboard shortcut **Shift + Tab**.

In the drop-down menu at the top, you can switch between four different complete sets of options, the **drawing modes**. You can quickly switch between drawing mode 1 and 2 with the **Tab** key without having to open the dialog.

## Waveform display

Waveform display	
✓ Draw samples	◯ Standard
Halve	O Envelope only
Separate stereo	Transparent
✓ Draw envelope	Interleaved
Gray out muted objects/tr	acks
Display compressed wave	eform
Display normalized wavef	om
Include only object fades an	id curves 🗸 🗸

**Draw samples:** Here you can turn the wave form display on and off. When deactivated, volume or pan curves are more clearly visible.

**()** Note: In drawing mode 2, the waveform display is disabled by default.

**Halve:** The display of the samples is switched to half waveforms.



**Separate stereo**: For stereo files, the channels are displayed one above the other.



**Draw envelope**: The envelopes of the objects are drawn.



**Gray-out muted objects/tracks:** Muted objects and tracks will be shown gray.



Display compressed waveform: In compressed waveform display, the assignment of levels to the height of the waveform is not proportional, but compressed in such a way that differences at low levels are displayed larger than at high levels. This makes it easier to see the transition between low level signals and the noise floor.



Image of the waveform without and with compressed display at the same zoom level

Display normalized waveform: If you have activated this function, the waveform of each track is zoomed vertically so that the sample with the highest value exactly fills the track height. Manual vertical zooming of the waveform using the keyboard shortcuts Ctrl + up/down arrow or the buttons for Zoom Wave In and Zoom Wave Out are disabled.
 This option can be switched via this button on the lower toolbar (\$\sigma 50\$).

**Attention**: In this display mode, the volumes of objects can no longer be compared visually, as they always look the same regardless of the object volume setting. Use this view mode when you want to cut objects with very different levels and do not want to constantly change the zoom level of the waveform.

Also include track volume and curve Don't include fades and curves Include only object fades and curves Also include track volume and curve

In this menu, you select how the waveform display is scaled by the object fade-in/out and by the volume curves (track/object). In the preset mode **Include only object fades and curves**, the waveform is only scaled by the object fades and, if applicable, by object volume curves. With **Also include track volume and curve** the track volume or its automation curves are also included. This corresponds to the previous option **Scale with fades/curves**. This scaling makes, for example, the decay of the sound during a fade-out visible as well as volume changes by a volume curve. Even with crossfades, this mode provides a good visual evaluation of the resulting audio signal.



On the right side of this section there are options to control the display of crossfades:

**Standard**: The wave form of the second object is drawn over the wave form of the first one:



**Envelope only**: This drawing mode displays only the envelope of the waveform, so that with crossfades the volume course of both objects becomes very well visible.



**Transparent**: In this drawing mode, the waveforms of the crossfade are superimposed in color. For this, the waveforms appear against a dark background. It is best to combine

this mode with the **alternating red/blue** option for the **waveform color** (see below) so that the the crossfaded regions are optimally visible.





**Interleaved:** In this mode, within a crossfade, a sample of the left object and a sample of the right object are always drawn alternately. Especially if the two neighboring objects have different colors, the fade area can be well visually estimated.



## **Objects**

Objects	
Draw background	Object footer
Use track color	Object name
Large object handles	File name
Object properties	Object volume
Object lock button	Group number
Highlight crossfades	Original position
Draw while move	ISRC
Volume handles on top	Audio marker
Handle for overlap	Transients (AQ)
Optimize MIDI note display vertically	Orig. clip name

- **Draw background**: Activates the background colors of the objects. Every object can be assigned its own color (see Object Color/Name (7166) or in the **Object Editor** under Color).
- **Use track color**: The track color is used as the background color of the objects.
- **Large object handles**: The object handles are displayed larger.
- **Object properties**: Display object settings such as EQ, dynamics, pan, effects, or plug-ins as abbreviations on the object.
- **Object lock symbol**: Display lock symbol for Locking objects (*7*161).
- **Highlight Crossfades**: The crossfades between objects are highlighted.

- **Draw while moving**: The user interface is updated while moving. This option can be deactivated for computers with low processing capabilities.
- **Handle for overlap**: This handle allows you to set the overlap of crossfades without having to open the crossfade editor or object editor.



- Volume handles on top: If active, the volume handle of an object is always displayed at the top regardless of the object volume setting, otherwise it is moved when the volume is adjusted.
- Vertically optimize MIDI note display: In MIDI objects, notes are arranged vertically so that the lowest and highest notes present in the object are placed at the top and bottom of the object to make best use of the available space.
- **Object volume**: Numerical display of the object volume in dB.
- Object footer: The texts displayed on the object are shown in a special area below the waveform
- **Object name**: The object names are displayed.
- **File name**: The file names are displayed.
- Group number: Objects can be grouped in VIPs. The groups are numbered. When viewing these group numbers, you get a quick overview of which objects belong to a group.
- Original position: Display of the original recording position related to the beginning of the project in the set format. By comparing the value in the object with the position on the timeline or the timecode in the video, it is easier to resolve deviations in the synchronization.
- **ISRC**: This option displays the ISRCs in the objects. If the ISRC for an object's file is not specified in the Broadcast Wave File (BWF) entry (*2*670), the ISRC of a CD Track Index at the object is displayed, if available. For this the object must be on the first track.
- Audio markers: This option allows you to display the markers from the audio files in the associated objects. See Audio Markers (*7*118).
- **Transients (AQ)**: Display transients in objects that you have previously created by the Audio Quantization (*P*626).
- **Orig. clip name**: At objects created by loading a clip (*7*327), the clip name is displayed.

### VIP

Project
Buttons/slider
✓ Peak meters
Show border
Arrangement text
Lyric marker
Zoom dependent on window size
Wide play cursor

Various VIP components (buttons/sliders, peak meters, border and arrangement text) can be activated/deactivated here.

- Buttons/slider displays the track head with all mixer controls, i.e. the channel faders, solo buttons, etc. If you always have the Track Editor (756) open, you won't have to use these functionally identical controls here. You can also leave the track head switched on and only hide the **peak meter** for the track head.
- **Show Border**: The tracks are given a border to better separate them from each other.
- Arrangement text: The arrangement text is used to indicate the division of the track into the two editing areas in Universal mouse mode.
- Lyric Marker: Display of the lyrics marker (*7*500)
- **Zoom dependent on window size**: The vertical zoom (track height) adjusts as the window size changes so that the number of tracks displayed remains the same.
- Wide play cursor: By default, the play cursor is displayed 3 pixels wide for better visibility. If you disable the option, it will be only 1 pixel wide.

### Waveform colors

Waveform colors		
Default color settings		
Red/Blue alternation		
O WaveColor colors		_
Comparisonics		$\sim$
Mode		
Standard		$\sim$
Group colors		
<ul> <li>Track colors</li> </ul>		
Spectral view		
Logarithmic	FFT size	
00_Default ~	1024	$\sim$

Default color settings: The waveform contains the color that is preset in the color settings or defined in the Object Editor or Object > Object Color/Name menu.

*i* For more information about object colors, see Renaming and Coloring Objects (*7*167)

- Red/Blue alternation: This display mode always colors the waveform of neighboring objects alternately red and blue. This way, crossfades can be optimally viewed in the "Transparent" and "Interleaved" drawing modes.
- WaveColor colors: With WaveColor, two additional properties of the audio material are visualized in the waveform display using color. The pitch is represented by the hue: Low tones are red, mid tones are green, high tones are blue. The sound characteristics of the audio material are represented by the color saturation: The more tonal and harmonic the signal, the more saturated the color, the more noise there is, the less saturated the color will be.

Various settings can be found in the drop-down menu below: The **default** setting applies intense rainbow colors to the audio signal. The **Comparisonics** preset provides coloring similar to the Comparisonics color display of older versions of **Sequoia**. **Black & White -Pitch** and **Black & White - Noise Factor** displays only the pitch or noise component in

**Pitch** and **Black & White - Noise Factor** displays only the pitch or noise component in grayscale.

Based on WaveColor colors, a special audio search method is also available in the menu **Object** > **WaveColor Audio Search** (2624), which can be used to find regions with the same or similar audio material in wave files.

- **Group colors**: Object groups receive a randomly created individual group color. This allows a quick overview of the objects belonging to the different groups.
- Track colors: When a track has been assigned a color, all objects on that track will automatically receive that color. Accordingly, the waveform color also changes when you move an object to another track. On tracks without color assignment, objects have the default color.
- Spectral view: The audio material is displayed in the spectral view by a spectrogram that shows the frequency components over time. The level of the frequencies is visualized by the color or the brightness in the display.



In the menus under the option you can select the color palette and the FFT size. The smaller you choose this size, the more accurate the display, at the expense of performance. Therefore, for a sluggish display, increase the FFT size. The **Logarithmic** option uses a different mapping of levels to the palette's brightness values, allowing for improved rendering with certain audio material.

# **Effects**

# General

Here you can change the default behavior of effects and effect windows:

- Use mixer phase switch on left channel only
- Keep effects windows on top
- Keep effect windows open when switching project
- Reset bypass when effect/plug-in is opened
- Copy effect settings to selected tracks
- New effects and when enabling effects
- Existing effects (upon closing effects windows)

- Use mixer phase switch only on left channel: By default, the phase button in Mixer and Track editor inverts the phases of both stereo channels. You can change this behavior here to use this switch to correct the classic inverted phase error that occur with incorrect wiring and that often affect only one stereo channel.
- Keep effects windows on top: Effects windows are displayed above all other windows in the system and remain visible even if you bring other programs to the foreground. However, when minimizing the Sequoia program window, they are also minimized.
- **Keep effect windows open when switching project**: When you switch to another project, open effect windows are closed. If the option is active, they remain open.
- Reset bypass when effect/plug-in is opened: If the option is enabled, deactivated effects will be activated as soon as you open their windows.
- **Copy effect settings to selected tracks**: see Apply effect to multiple channels simultaneously (*7*518).

# Dithering

In this dialog you can set the type of dithering and make further settings for dithering.

e noise (Standard dithering) 0.01 16.0) 0.50	)		
0.01 16.0) 0.50			
pow -r			
Use POW-r dither	ring when playing back for		
POW-r #3 (Noise Shaping)  POW-r #3 (Noise Shaping)  master outputs only, use standard ditherin for other outputs			
ng idio material)			
r	Use POW-r dithe master outputs or for other outputs		

#### Dithering Mode:

- No dithering, mathematical rounding: In this mode the conversion of the sample values is done by rounding without dithering.
- Dithering with linearly distributed noise: In this mode, the conversion with dithering is performed with noise in which all amplitude values occur on average with equal frequency.
- Dithering with triangular spread noise (standard dithering): In this mode, audio data at 32-bit float is converted via dithering with a noise where the amplitude values are triangularly distributed. Values in the medium range appear more frequently, and maximum or minimum values appear less frequently. This type of dithering typically produces more subtle results than linear dithering. The noise is not modulated by the signal here, so a decaying signal is immersed in a constant noise signal.
- Dithering depth in bits: The strength of the noise can be adjusted by the parameter
   Dithering depth in bits. This allows you to specify how many bits of the resulting 16 bits

should be affected by dithering. In most cases, values between 0.5 and 2 will produce good results. Always increase the value until no more noise effects are audible.

 Of course, there are no half bits, so the default value of 0.5 seems strange at first. However, since noise is added to the wanted signal, this value causes the last bit of the resulting sample value to be affected by dithering.

#### POW-r Dithering / Smart Dithering:

- **POW-r #1 (dithering)**: This function uses a special dithering curve to minimize quantization noise.
- **POW-r #2 (noise shaping)**: This function uses additional noise shaping across a wide frequency range to extend the dynamic range by 5-10 dB.
- **POW-r #3 (noise shaping)**: This function uses additional, optimized noise shaping to extend the dynamic range by up to 20 dB between 2 kHz and 4 kHz. The human ear is most sensitive to this frequency range.
  - **Noise Shaping** minimizes the errors generated by quantization by shifting the quantization noise in the spectrum to above 10 kHz, the range to which the human ear is less sensitive.

Which dithering mode sounds the best depends mainly on the audio signal.

Use POW-r dithering when playing back for master outputs only, use standard dithering for other outputs: If this option is selected, only the master outputs will be dithered with the POW-r dithering algorithm. The individual outputs will use standard dithering, i.e. dithering with triangular distributed noise.

**Force 16-bit resolution for output (CD mastering quality)**: If you enable this option, dithering is performed during audio playback even if the audio output supports higher bit resolutions. This allows you to listen to the project as it will sound on CD in the end.

### Smart dithering for export/CD burning (switch off dithering dependent on audio material )

- For wave files: This option is set as the default. In this case, dithering will only occur on 16-bit exports and when burning CDs if the bit-depth is not 16 bits. Dithering is not calculated during silence.
- For virtual projects: This option is switched off by default. In this case as well, dithering only occurs if the bit depth does not equal 16 bits.
- Threshold for switching off dithering (Autoblack): Here you set the threshold below which no dithering noise is added.

### What is dithering?

Sequoia processes audio signals internally with an accuracy of 32bit float. When converting to audio data in a lower bit resolution, for example when exporting to 16bit audio files or burning to CD, the audio signal must be quantized. Instead of a very precise value, whose accuracy is also independent of its actual value, the sample value is mapped between its maximum value and 0 to a fixed range of integer values. This works very well for normal levels and without an audible difference. At very low levels, however, this results in sound distortions that occur when, during conversion, at the lowest bit, it must be decided by rounding how the sample value is to be encoded. A very quiet, but especially in the decay phase of recordings well audible so-called "quantization noise" is created.



i Quantization noise can be heard very clearly, for example, in children's toys with sound output, in which samples with very low bit depths of 8 or 4 bits are used.

To mask this effect, dithering adds normal noise (random values) to the audio signal at a very low level. As a result, when quantizing, very quiet signals smoothly transition to "natural" noise as they decay, sounding much more pleasant and unobtrusive.



You can specify individual dithering settings for each export operation. For more information, see the section **Export** ( $\mathbb{P}684$ )!

# **Resampling/Freeze options**

**Resampling quality**: Here you can set which quality settings should be used for resampling (changing the sample rate) at different points in the program. The higher the quality level, the higher the computational load (for real-time application) or the waiting time (for offline resampling).

- **Record resampling**: Real-time resampling when recording at a sample rate that differs from the project sample rate and during chase-lock sync (correction of sample rate fluctuations by a reference source).
- **Playback resampling**: Real-time resampling at Scrubbing (*P*90) and Varispeed (*P*89) and at chase-lock sync.
- **Object resampling for new objects**: Real-time resampling as an object effect applied to objects created when loading audio files with a sample rate different from the project sample rate.
- Offline resampling: Destructive resampling of audio files applied when exporting audio files, importing and burning CDs, and importing audio files with a sample rate different

from the project sample rate with conversion to wave files.



① Offline resampling uses the improved SOX algorithm; for options, see Adjust sample rate (offline) (₹314).

**Time Stretching/Pitchshifting options**: Here you can set the default algorithm (*P*312) for time stretching/pitchshifting to be used for new objects.

#### Freeze options:

- Keep mono if possible: When gluing objects together (*P*171) mono objects are created again from mono objects if possible.
- **Use additional samples for object freeze**: If effects need a certain amount of lead time to sound as desired, this option allows additional samples to be included in the freeze calculation before the object start.
- **Object freeze without object volume**: Wen freezing objects (*7*169) the object volume is not included in the calculation, but is retained as the object volume at the object.
- **Format**(16 bit, 24 bit, 32 bit): Here you can specify the format with which the freeze files are calculated.

# VST/ReWire

	3				
C:\Progran	n Files\VSTPlugins\ (S	ystem)			
C:\Progran	n Files\Common Files\	VST3\ (System)			
Add		Remove	Scan		
Scanu	user and system VST	folders automatically for new plu	n-ins		
		rolders automatically for new play	gana		
Activa	te ReWire				
Searc	n for Music Maker Sto	re instruments in the active MAG	alX account		
Plug-in Buff	ier				
Preset		Save	a Load Delete		
riesel. V Save Load Delete					
-2	Maximum VS	T Buffer Size (0: No Limit, -1: Ap	ply ASIO Buffer Size)		
25	6 VST Automat	tion Resolution (Samples)			
Start a	II object-based plug-in	is on playback			
_					
(If this	option is not activate	d, the plug-ins start when the			
object	is played for the first t	ume.)			
_					

- VST folders: List of search paths for VST plug-in effects and VST instruments. With Add... and Remove you can add and remove search paths.
- Scan: Sequoia performs a VST scan for a selected folder. All plug-ins are checked for their compatibility in Sequoia.
  - More information regarding this dialog and general information on installing VST plugins can be found under Installation of VST Plug-Ins (#391).
- Scan user and system VST folders automatically for new plug-ins: With this option you can set the program to scan automatically at every program start, but especially if you have a lot of plug-ins installed, this will increase the startup time.

Activate ReWire: If this option is activated, rewire-compatible client applications can be integrated into Sequoia as synthesizers.

 $\mathbf{i}$  Additional information about ReWire can be found in the ReWire ( $\mathbb{P}403$ ) chapter.

- Plug-in buffer: The default presets usually cover most applications when working with plug-ins. Try out various presets if you are experiencing problems with plug-ins or DSP cards. You can enter the maximum buffer size that will be applied to VST plug-ins. The following special values apply in this case:
  - **O**: The buffer size is unlimited and is determined automatically.
  - **-1**: The ASIO buffer size is used.
  - **-2**: Default setting. The ASIO buffer size is used in the Hybrid Engine and the VIP buffer size in the Economy Engine.

The VST buffer size is by default equal to the VIP buffer size To use the ASIO buffer size in the Hybrid Engine, enter the value "-2" or select the Forced ASIO buffers (Hybrid) preset. The Forced VIP buffers (use UAD & Powercore in economy engine) preset minimizes latency with UAD/Powercore plug-ins.

- VST Automation Resolution: In the Hybrid Engine, the ASIO buffer size is used. To achieve a better resolution of the automation also in the "Economy Engine", which works with VIP buffers, you can enter a correspondingly lower value here.
- Start all object-based plug-ins on playback: The advantage of object effects is that effects generate computational load only while the object in question is playing. However, some plug-ins cause delays at startup. This option therefore allows you to specify that the plug-ins on objects are always started when project playback is started, regardless of whether the object in question is being played.

# Automation



**Automation Release Time (ms)**: This sets the release time in ms for the write automation modes. When an existing automation curve is updated, i.e. new values are received for this curve, the already existing values of this curve are prevented from being used. As soon as no more new values are received, the value moves back to the original value of the curve over this period of time.

**Arranger update interval (ms)**: This field sets the display update interval when recording automations.

**VST automation resolution (samples)**: This is the time constant for sending automation values to VST plug-ins. When automation data is recorded, values are captured if they have changed within this time window. During playback, the values are sent to the VST plug-in at this interval.

**Note**: VST2 does not support sample-exact automation, only parameter changes at buffer limits. To increase the automation resolution, enter low sample values here. Lower values can lead to a higher load on the CPU for automated effects.

**Send MIDI Controller Automation Data**: Here you can globally activate or deactivate the sending of MIDI controller data.

**MIDI Resolution (ms)**: Time constant for sending the MIDI controller values. In this time interval the MIDI controller values are sent.

# **Destructive Effect Calculation**

The Destructive Effects (*2*37) options specify the form in which edited audio is saved when destructive effects are applied, if the original material is to be preserved for the Undo function.

# Loudness

In this dialog window you can specify the basic settings for loudness normalization compliant with EBU R128/ ITU-R BS.1771. These values are used in the Loudness Adjustment (292) dialog and in the Loudness meter (2571). Read there for more information!

# Loading and Saving Settings

In this section you can save and load all program settings, project templates and other settings together. Thus, it is possible to save the complete program settings on a mobile storage medium and transfer them to other **Sequoia** workstations.

Import / Export Program Settings		×
Program     General     Undo     Object Lock Definitions     SD Cut / MuSyC     Crossfade Editor     Keyboard / Menu     MIDI Editor Shortcuts     Crossfade Editor Shortcuts     Special Cleaning Shortcuts     Special Keys     Mouse     Mouse     Mouse     Mouse     Mouse     Mouse     Sectal Cleaning Shortcuts     Special Keys     Mouse     Mouse	▲ Sefault 22.11.2021_11:19:17 creator:Admm          Image: Settings         Image: Set	)
Resampling / Bouncing VST / ReWire	Save	Load and restart
Project Options     Seture	Remote setting path:	
	User Administration QK	Cancel Help

# **Saving Settings**

Use the **Save** button to save your current project and program settings in a **Setting Container file (\*.INZ)**. This always saves all program settings. By selecting the individual options in the tree structure when saving, you merely specify which options are pre-selected when you later select the file for loading. So they are a reminder for you that a setting container was intended only for a certain subset of settings. From now on, the saved file will appear as a preset entry in the list box at the top.

Sequoia settings are provided for the following dialogs:

- General Settings (*7*727)
- Project display (∥737) and window positions
- Audio (1708)/MIDI (1717) Options
- Toolbars (∥47)
- User administration (*P*651) (users and user-specific settings in multi-user mode)
- Default project settings (*P*659)
- Default crossfade templates (*P*177)
- Project templates (*7*658)

# **Loading Settings**

Select a Settings Container from the list box above or click the folder button to load a \*.INZ file from any folder.

Then specify in the tree structure which settings and templates should actually be loaded from the selected container file. Now press **Load and restart** to activate the settings. **Sequoia** then restarts. In addition, a backup container is created that contains the last settings before loading.



The Settings containers are stored in the program data folder C:\ProgramData\Magix\Sequoia 17.

There, in the **Customize** subfolder, you will also find a number of "INI patches" that do not contain complete sets of configuration files (\*.ini), but only enable or disable individual settings. These may also be loaded just like a Settings Container via the folder button. After selection is confirmed, a separate dialog window featuring explanations about the respective INI patch will appear.

(i) **Note**: In multi-user mode (*7*651), loading Setting Containers is not possible for users with the Fixed Settings (*7*652) property and for users logged in via network login.

# **Remote Settings Path**

As a logged in administrator (2651) you define here the network path in which the settings for multiple users can be managed. Read more in Setting up multi-user operation on network drive.

<ul> <li>Destructive effect calculation</li> <li>Loudness</li> </ul>		Remote setting path:	
- Import / Export Settings			
Project Options	~	Use remote login by default	

With the **Use remote login by default**option , login defaults to the login data for users stored on the specified network drive.

With **User administration**: open as a logged in administrator into the user administration, for all others the button is without function.

# **External Tools**

This dialog is used to configure the transfer of objects to other audio programs for editing.

Menu content:						
Edit in Sound Edit in Audaci Open in Wind	Forge Pro ty Iows Explorer				Add Rem	2 iove 3
Title:	Edit in Sound Forge P				5	
Command:	C:\Program Files\SOU	ND FORGE\SOUND	FORGE Pro 17\Fo	rge17.exe	6	
Arguments:	\$(fileName) "/REGION	I:\$(objectBegin),\$	(objectLength)" /I	NOLOGO	7	>>
Create cop		Release file t	emporarily	Copyert to WA	V before transf	er
			ок	Cancel	Help	
						.::

**Menu content**: All entries in this list create an entry in the context menu of an object. This entry can then be used to transfer the object to the corresponding external editor and edit it there.

2 Add: Click here to create a new list entry. A file selection dialog opens where you can select the executable file in the program folder. If SOUND FORGE or SpectraLayers are installed, you can use the menu next to the button to immediately create suitable entries with all the correct arguments for these programs.

The entry Open in Windows Explorer opens an Explorer window at the location of the object's audio file and selects it.

**3 Remove**: Deletes the selected entry. After deleting an entry and closing the dialog with **OK**, the entry is no longer displayed in the context menu of objects.

- **4 Up/Down**: This can be used to change the order of the menu items.
- **5** Title: Enter text for the menu entry here.
- **6 Command**: Here the name of the program with path is displayed. Use the ... Button to open the file selection dialog, which allows you to select another file.
- Arguments: Additional arguments for the external program can be specified here. In the menu next to it >> you can find predefined variables to insert into this command line to pass object parameters, such as object start and end, to the external program if the program supports it.
- 8 Create copy: This option, as with other destructive effect edits (#237) of objects, ensures that the edits are made on a copy of the audio data to allow undoing.
- **Release file temporarily**: This option is enabled by default and ensures that the file from Sequoia is released during editing in the external program so that changes can be written to this file. If no change is intended by the external program (such as when viewing in Explorer), this option can be disabled. This allows the project to be played back in Sequoia even after the external tool has been started.
- Convert to Wave before transfer: Since some editors cannot open MP3, FLAC or video files, files in these formats are converted to Wave before opening the external editor and saved under a different name. However, this will prevent you from transferring the file back to the virtual project. We recommend that you activate this option when working with these editors. This means the content of an object will always be converted to wave before transferring to the editor and the object will be adjusted for editing.
  - -☆- Keyboard shortcuts can also be assigned to the context menu items. The corresponding entries in the tree structure at **Keyboard shortcuts and Edit menu** (*№*730) are located at the very bottom at Menu *File* > *Program Preferences*.
## INDEX

AAF/OMF 693, 697 Activate license 32 Activate next/previous track 132 Activate SysEx input 718 Activation 38 AdminCreator tool 655 Administration 651 Advanced Dynamics 248 Alias 650 Align (Crossfade Editor) 181 All windows to main screen 82 alternative mixer skins 507 Apply MIDI object and track effects 446 ARA 232 Arrange objects 157 Arrange project windows 81 ASIO 708 ASIO Positioning Protocol (APP) 613 Audio devices 715 Audio marker 118 Audio Metronome 389 Audio to MIDI 234 Audio/MIDI synchronization 718 AudioWarp 386 Auto Backup 672 Auto crossfade mode 176

Auto ducking 639

Auto Quantize 626 Auto Save 672 Autoblack 747 Auto-Conforming 643 Automation 357 Automation modes 362 Automation recording in read mode 364 Draw Automation Mode 74 Edit automation curves 367 Latch 362 Object automation 366 Overwrite 362 Read 362 Touch 362 Trim 362 Write only existing curves 363 Automation curve curve shape 369 Automation Lanes 359 Autoscroll 110 Auto-Scroll 722 Auto-Update 28 AUX routing 527 AUX send 528

В

Batch Processing 604 BeatBox 2 414 BPM marker 375 Brilliance Enhancer 256 Broadcast Wave Manager 667 Buffer settings 710, 726 Burn backup to CD/DVD 706 Bus 525 Bypass 247

С

Calculate loudness values 623 CD Arrangement Mode 596 CD Disc Options 599 CD offsets 595 CD Online Search to Set Title Marker 600 CD Title / Index Manager 594 CD/DVD 586 CDR Disc Information 600 Change user password 653 Chased Notes 718 Chirp 633 Clean up 700 Clock Source 618 Clone 287 CodeMeter 32 CodeMeter Control Center 32 CodeMeter stick 38 Colors 736 Comparisonics display 743 Contact 29 Continuous playback while editing 87 Copy audio marker to VIP marker 118 Copy Protection (SCMS) 595 Copy to all tracks 363 Copy VIP markers to audio marker 119 Create CD 596 Create DVD-Audio 602

Create new user 652 Crossfade Editor 177 AutoZoom 188 Crossfade Presets 185 Fade Shape 182 Multitrack Crossfade 186 Overlap 181 Snapshots 185 Symmetrically adjusting the fades 188 Volume/Level 183 Crossfade editor Crossfade editor object mode 180 Crossfade position settings 178 Fade length 181 Playback functions 184 Crossfade-Editor Crossfade-Editor Seq Settings 188 Crossfades 175 Cue file 674 Cue Mode 86 Cues 86 current event 450, 453 Curve Generator 370 Cut list 698

D

DDP 600, 699 Deactivate all MIDI functions 718 DeClicker/DeCrackler 258 DeClipper 260 default pitch 662 DeHisser 261 Delay 257 DeNoiser 264 Destructive wave editing 582 display quantization 485 Display subtracks 140 Distortion 269 Dithering 745, 747 POW-r Dithering 747 Smart Dithering 747 Docker 53 Documentation and help 27 Draw the waveform with the pen tool 585 Driver system 708 Dump 679 Dynamic 247

Ε

EBU Recommendation R128 571 Economy track 713 Edit fields 453 Edit List 698 Edit menus 730 Edit object externally 175 Edit Root VIP 673 Effect routing/plug-ins dialog 230 Effects Dynamic Effects 315 Dynamics Effects 248, 296 External hardware effects integration 235 Object Effects 194 Offline effects 752 Track effects 230 Elastic Audio 277 Elastic Audio - Editing Modes 278 End multi-user operation 653 Engine modes 711 EQ116 275 Esc key stops playback and recording 83 Export 679, 693 Export MIDI files 692 Export MIDI objects 692 Export video sound 632 External FX Plug-in 236 External Tools 755 Extract controller curves from MIDI object 444

F

FFT Filter 287 Find zero crossings 123 Folder Tracks 138 Freeze 143, 169, 748 Bus 144 FX I/O Matrix 400

G

Generate MIDI triggers from transients 629 Ghost Fader 520 Grid 80

## Н

handle 71 Hanging notes 505 HD Wave Project 700 Heal/Unsplit Object 164 Help 27-28 Hide tracks 138 Hybrid Audio Engine 715

Import 674, 679, 697, 699-700 Import audio CD track(s) 587 Import Audio DVD 588 Import CD track(s) 587 Import MIDI files 440 Impulse response 307 Independence 405 Indices 591 INI Patch 753 Insert new tracks 131 Insert new Tracks 341 Installation 31 Interleaved File 563 Interleaved recording 102 Invert phase 307 INZ 753 ISRC Code 595

Κ

T

Keyboard shortcuts 730 K-Metering 571

L

Language 28 latency compensation 237 List Export 340, 342, 344, 346 Load audio file 674-675 lock symbol 246 Loop Designer 426 Loudness adjustment 292 LR-Wave 700

Μ

macro commands 650

MAGIX Auto-Update 28

MAGIX Synths 404

Makro 647

Manager 327

Clip Manager 327

File Manager 335

Marker manager 342

Object manager 338

Range Manager 344

Routing Manager 350

Soundpool Manager 354

Source Manager 349

Take Manager 346

Track Manager 340

VST Instrument Manager 349

Marker

Audio marker 118

Audio Marker 118

Marker list input 119

Marker on range borders 116

Marker track 113

Markers 113

Master automation 529

Melodyne 232

Menus 46

metadata 586

Metadata 592, 675

Metronome 388

Metronome active 388

Metronome Options 388

MIDI channel filter 452

MIDI Editor 446

MIDI Metronome 389

MIDI mixdown 693

MIDI plug-in 397

MIDI Plug-ins 401

MIDI Settings 717

Mix 246

Mix to File 530

Mixer 506

Channel strips 510

Master section 528

Mixer - Global buttons 530

Mixer - keyboard shortcuts 508

Mixer - operation with mouse and keyboard 507

Mixer setup 662

VCA groups 518

Mixer layout snapshots 533

MMC (MIDI Machine Control) 613, 619

MME 708

Monitoring mode 711

Monophonic Voice 313

Mouse mode 68

Color mode 76

Curve mode 72

Cut mode 73

Draw wave mode 75

Object mode 72

Object/Curve mode 73 Pitchshift/Timestretch mode 74 Range mode 72 Scrubbing mode 76 Spectral mode 75 Universal mode 69 Zoom mode 76 Mouse Mode Draw Volume Mode 74 Left/Right Mode 73 Move Point (Crossfade Editor) 181 MTC (MIDI Time Code) 613 Multiband Dynamics 296 Multiband Stereo Enhancer 304 Multi-core Support 724 Multifunctional input field with help functionality 49 Multi-Synchronous cut-MuSyC 213 multitrack recording 143 Multi-user operation 651 multi-user operation 651 Multi-user operation on network drive 654 MuSyC - multi-synchronous cut 213 MuSyC Commands 219 MuSyC overview project 218 MuSyC reference track 217 MuSyC system settings 223 MuSyC Take assistant 221

Network installation 35, 755 New MIDI object 440 New Virtual Project (VIP) 657 Ν

Noise elimination 264 Normalize 306 Note On Chasing 718

Ο

Object colors 167 Object editor 191 Object end to play cursor position 157 Object handles 152 Object hotspot to play cursor position 157 Object lasso 151 Object mode 161 Temporary change to other object modes 163 Object start to play cursor position 157 Object synths 413 Object to original time position 159 Object-based audio editing 150 Objects 150 Adjust object volume 71 Copy objects 165 Dissolve object group 154 Duplicate object 70, 165-166 Form object group 154 Glue objects together 171 Hotspot 160 Lasso function 70 Lock object 161 Looping objects 167 Move object 70, 156 Mute object 169 Object color 166 Object freeze 169

Object volume and length via object handle 71 Object/Fade step settings 158 Paste object 165 Replace audio file under the object 173 Reverberation tails in objects 172 Select objects 70, 151 Select Objects 151 Snap point 160 Split object 163 Trim object 168 Objekt bewegen 156 OMF 693, 697 Open 700 Option Management 753 Original position of objects 159 Overview mode 108

Ρ

Parameter dialog 396 Pause 83 PDF documentation 27 Peak meter 94 Performance 724 Pitchshifting 312 Play backwards 312 Play cursor 88 Play cut 85 Play cut 85 Play un Range/Loop 84 Play with Pre-Load 85 Playback 83 Play selected objects only 83 Playback mode Cue Mode 86 Scrubbing 90 Playback parameters 722 Playlist (.cue file) 674 Plug-in Browser 226 Plug-in buffer 750 Plug-in dialog 396 Position and zoom level 111 Post-recording 719 PowerLock (Crossfade Editor) 182 PPM 569 PPQ (Pulses per Quarter) 613 Preemphasis 595 Pre-recording 719 preset 247 presets 247 Preview Automation 363 Program Interface 45 Program preferences 707 Program settings 727 Project Append project 673 Create 657 Delete unused samples 703 Delete VIP 702-703 Project properties 659 project docker 81 Project information 665 Project options 659 Project templates 658

Project window 67

QPPM 568 Quantize 474, 626 Groove Template 478 Quantize Audio 626, 629 Quantize Object Positions 628 Remove object gaps 628

R

Q

RAM wave project 700 Range Editor 125 range marker 113 Range marker 129 Range marker track 113 Range Mixdown 130 Ranges 120, 124 Change range boundaries 120 Move a range 121 Saving and restoring ranges 129 Unselect Range 123 Raw data 679 read after write 95 Real-time wave editing 583 Record standard output 98 Recording Loop recording 103 MIDI recording 100 Punch recording with markers 104 Recording offset 717 Retrospective MIDI recording 101, 718 Recording mode Playback & editing independent of recording) 95 Punch marker mode 104 Standard mode (playback during recording) 95 Recording options 96 Reference track 140 Reference Track (Folder Track) 138 **Registration 38** Remix Agent 625 Adapt tempo 625 Apply arrangement tempo to object tempo 626 Apply object tempo to arrangement tempo 626 Remove DC offset (Offline) 290 Remove object selection 152 rename tracks 341 rendering 679 Resampling 312, 314, 748 Restart play 83 Retain musical position after tempo changes 380 Revolta 2 406 ReWire 403, 750 RF64 563 RIFF64 563 Ripple 161 Robota 430 Room simulator 307 Routing for multichannel software instruments 394

S

Sample rate 314 Save 671, 705 Scrolling 106, 109 Second Generation Protection 595 Section 112 Select MIDI controller events together with notes 449 Select objects under play cursor/range 152 Selecting tracks 132 Sends on Fader 531 Session 693 Set indexes at object edges 593 Set original time position 160 Set parameter value(s) 364 Set track indices after silence 592 Setting Container Files 753 Settings 247 Show lanes 360 Show lanes for all curves 360 Show outputs 517 sidechain bus 400 Signal flow 539 Silence Economy 396 simulate cuts 86 Skin 735 sMax11 315 SMPTE Generator 618 Snap 78 snap menu 78 Soft Auto-Scroll 722 Software Instruments 391 Inactive state for VST instruments and VST effects 404 Load Software Instruments 392 Software instruments Routing settings when loading software instruments 393 Solo / Monitor volume control 534 Solo mode global 534 Sound Cloner 287 Source Destination Cut 201 2 Point Cut) 206 3 Point Cut) 207 4 Point Cut) 208 Source Destination Cut mode (S/D special mode) 210 Source Destination Cut Settings 212 Source-destination cut General cut commands (Source-destination cut toolbar) 203 Source-Destination-Cut Multi Source Session (S/D cut with multiple projects) 209 Spacebar (play/stop) also works in background 83 Special keys 77, 163 Special Keys 538 Spectral Cleaning 316 Split objects on marker positions 164 Split objects with alternative (linear) fade 164 Split Range 112 Start selection 28 Stereo editor 521 Stereo panorama 521 Stop at position 83 Strip Silence 173 Surround Panner VST Plug-ins 548 Surround Sound 542 Automation in the Surround Editor 560 Draw surround automation curves 561 Pan Setup 551

Panorama modes in surround editor Matrix mode 555 Sound field mode 552 Panorama Modes in Surround Editor Panning-Law Mode 553 Panorama modes in Surround Editor Angle mode 554 Panorama modes in the surround editor 552 Stereo and mono signal processing in surround projects 557 Surround 548 Surround Bouncing 563 Surround control group 562 Surround Panning 546 Surround Presets 550 Surround settings 543 Surround-Downmix 559 Swap channels 291 Synchronisation APP (ASIO Positioning Protocol) 613 MIDI Clock 613 MIDI Machine Control (MMC) 613 MIDI Timecode 613 SMPTE Timecode 613 Song Position Pointer 613 Synchronisation Protocols 613 Synchronization 612 Backup recording with two programs 622 Chase Lock Sync - Velocity adjustment by resampling 617 Clock in digital systems 612 Clock signal 612 MIDI Machine Control (MMC) 619

MIDI Time Code 614 MMC receive (slave) 619 MMC send (master) 619 MTC output also in stop state 615 SMPTE settings 616 SMPTE Timecode 616 Sync Velocity 617 System Exclusive 471 System options 707, 719 System settings ASIO settings 710 Audio settings 708 Monitoring setup 711

Т

Table Of Contents 699 Take 346-348 Take Lanes 142 Tempo editing 625 Change tempo globally 378 Musical tempo adjustment 199, 384 Tempo markers 377 tempo track 382 Time signature marker 378 Tempo Editing 374 Grid Tapping 376 Tempo Map 376, 378 tempo editing tempo and beat changes 374 tempo marker 374 tempo markers 74 Temporarily switch to other mouse modes 77 Time Display 61 Time display 68 Timestretching 312 Tip of the day 28 TOC - Export 602 Toggle selection 152 Toolbars 47 tooltips 247, 274 Track color 61 Track Editor 56 Track head 60 Track height 133 Track markers 591 Track visibility 138 trackbouncing 679 Tracks Color 61 Group track controls 135 Multitrack selection 135 Paste tracks 133 Revolver tracks 141 Track Freeze 143 Track options 146 Track properties 136 tracks AUX bus 528 TrackSpeed 726 Transfer edits 641 Transients 629 Transport console 65 Trim MIDI objects 442

tutorial 247

U

Undo 565, 729 Undo history 565 Update 28 User access rights 652 user presets 247, 273

V

Value 247 Varipitch 89 Varispeed 89

vanspeed o

VBAP 555

VCA 354, 519

Velocity and MIDI channel when drawing in 454

Velocity Dynamics 491

Velocity mode 456

Vertical zooming 109

Video Setup 631

View options 737

Visualization 243, 566

Bit meter 579

Correlation meter 577

Direction meter 578

Loudness meter 571

Oscilloscope 580

Peakmeter 568

Phase oscilloscope 576

Spectrogram 579

Spectroscope 578

Surround meter 576

Tuner 580 Vita 409 Vocoder 324 VST 750 Sidechain 399 VST Plug-in Dialog 396 VST plug-in path 750 VST Plug-ins 391 Graphical Interface 396 VST plug-ins Installing VST plug-ins 391

W

Warp 386 Watch Folder 611 WaveColor Audio Search 624 Waveform 243 Waveform color 743 Waveform display 737 Waveform generator 623 Wet Level 246 Word Clock 612 Wordclock 618 Working techniques in the project window 67 Working with objects 150 Workspaces 56

Zoom 111 Zoom to selected object 108 Zooming 106 Ζ